Assessment of biofuel feedstock production in South Africa:

# Technical report on the field-based measurement, modelling and mapping of water use in biofuel crops (Volume 2)

# Report to the WATER RESEARCH COMMISSION

on the project entitled "Water use of cropping systems adapted to bio-climatic regions in South Africa and suitable for biofuel production"

by

# RP Kunz<sup>1</sup>, MG Mengistu<sup>1</sup>, JM Steyn<sup>3</sup>, IA Doidge<sup>2</sup>, MB Gush<sup>4</sup>, ES du Toit<sup>3</sup>, NS Davis<sup>5</sup>, GPW Jewitt<sup>1</sup> & CS Everson<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre for Water Resources Research (CWRR), <sup>2</sup>African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI), School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa <sup>3</sup>Department of Plant Production and Soil Science, Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa <sup>4</sup>Natual Resources and the Environment, CSIR, Stellenbosch, South Africa <sup>5</sup>Isikhungusethu Environmental Services, Pietermaritzburg, South Africa

WRC Report No. 1874/2/15 ISBN 978-1-4312-0749-7

#### November 2015



Obtainable from

Water Research Commission Private Bag X03 Gezina, 0031

orders@wrc.org.za or download from www.wrc.org.za

This report (Volume 2) is part of a three-volume series. Volume 1 is a synthesis report which focuses on the key findings of the project. Volume 2 provides more detail regarding the field work as well as the mapping and modelling components of the project. Volume 3 presents the biofuel atlas and assessment utility, a copy of which appears on the CD enclosed at the back of Volume 1.

#### DISCLAIMER

This report has been reviewed by the Water Research Commission (WRC) and approved for publication. Approval does not signify that the contents necessarily reflect the views and policies of the WRC, nor does mention of trade names or commercial products constitute endorsement or recommendation for use.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The research reported here formed part of a solicited project that was initiated, funded and managed by the Water Research Commission (WRC) in KSA 4 (Water Utilisation in Agriculture). We are sincerely grateful to the WRC for funding and managing the project. The project was managed by Dr Andrew Sanewe from April 2009 to December 2012. Thereafter, Dr Gerhard Backeberg fulfilled this role. We also wish to sincerely thank the following members of the project's reference group for their contributions and guidance:

Dr AJ Sanewe	Water Research Commission (Chairman 2009-2012)
Dr GR Backeberg	Water Research Commission (Chairman 2013-2015)
Dr S Mpandeli	Water Research Commission
Dr T Mali	SANEDI
Mr P van Heerden	PICWAT
Mr D Versfeld	Dirk Versfeld cc
Mr K Zihlangu	Department of Energy
Dr J van Dyk	African Carbon Energy
Dr M Govender	South African Sugarcane Association
Ms N Fourie	Department of Water and Sanitation
Mr X Hadebe	Department of Water and Sanitation
Dr A Singels	South African Sugarcane Research Institute
Dr S Xosa	Department of Science and Technology
Dr M Jugmohan-Nadar	Department of Science and Technology
Mr A Roux	Department of Agriculture, Western Cape
Mr AT van Coller	Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries

We also thank the Ukulinga Farm Manager, Mr Mangesh Deepa, as well as his staff for their assistance with field experiments and fire-fighting efforts. Similarly, we also thank Mr Ian Doidge from ACCI and his staff for establishing and maintaining the Ukulinga-based experiments. A number of students from the University of KwaZulu-Natal (e.g. Mr Thabani Khomo and Mr Ofentse Mokonoto) and Pretoria University (Mr Michael Ghebru and Mr Hanson Hlope) were also part of the project team and are acknowledged for their respective contributions.

## EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

#### BACKGROUND AND MOTIVATION

South Africa is following the international trend of liquid biofuel production, as noted in the South African Biofuels Industrial Strategy of 2007. This strategy highlighted the benefits of biofuel production in terms of alleviating poverty in rural areas, promoting rural economic development and stimulating agricultural production. A 2% blend of biofuels in the national liquid fuel supply, equivalent to an annual production of approximately 400 million litres of biofuel, was proposed by the former Department of Minerals and Energy. To ensure sustainable biofuel production, South Africa plans to grow feedstock on currently under-utilised arable land and preferably under rainfed conditions.

In 2006, the task team that developed the biofuels strategy urged the government to determine the impacts of biofuel feedstock production on both water quality and water quantity. The Water Research Commission (WRC) responded to this request and funded a two-year (2007-2009) scoping study on the water use of biofuel feedstocks. The main aims of the scoping study were to 1) identify suitable feedstock for the production of biofuel, 2) map areas climatically suited to feedstock cultivation, 3) determine the available knowledge on feedstock water use, 4) model the water requirements of selected feedstock, and 5) identify existing knowledge gaps.

The scoping study report concluded that both sugarcane and sweet sorghum show potential to use more water than the natural vegetation they may replace, whilst other crops (e.g. sugarbeet, canola, soybean & sunflower) do not. However, the scoping study highlighted that for the emerging feedstocks (e.g. sugarbeet & sweet sorghum), parameter values were gleaned from the international literature. The literature also provided conflicting water use figures for certain feedstocks (in particular sweet sorghum) and that knowledge is surprisingly limited for certain crops (e.g. canola). The scoping study recommended a need to better understand the water use and yield of biofuel feedstocks. In addition, a more detailed mapping approach was required to identify feedstock growth areas that considered additional site factors (not just rainfall and temperature). Based on these recommendations, the WRC initiated and funded a six-year (i.e. more comprehensive) follow-up study.

This six-year solicited project began in April 2009 and was led by the University of KwaZulu-Natal, in close collaboration with the CSIR (Natural Resources & Environment) and the University of Pretoria (Department of Plant Production & Soil Science). The aims of the follow-up study were broadly similar to those of the scoping study, except for the need to estimate crop yield and biofuel yield.

#### PROJECT OBJECTIVE AND AIMS

The overall objective of this project was to determine the water use of selected biofuel feedstocks deemed suitable for bioethanol and biodiesel production in selected high and low potential bio-climatic regions of South Africa. The specific aims of the project were as follows:

**AIM 1** - To specify and prioritise currently grown and potential alternative first and second generation crops and cropping systems including both annual and perennial crops/trees with attention to, amongst others:

- Crops and crop rotations for food and forage production,
- Crops and crop rotations for biofuel production,
- Multiple use systems e.g. food, fodder and fuel crop combinations,
- Monoculture high density crop production systems,
- Tree feedstocks in plantations, agro-forestry or alley cropping systems, and
- Cellulosic feedstocks.

**AIM 2** - To review and characterise crop parameters, water use and yield (biomass, biofuel and by-products) of crops based on existing knowledge or estimation thereof by applying existing tools with reference to those prioritised in South Africa and those which have potential as alternative biofuel crops as identified above.

**AIM 3** - To identify and describe bio-climatic regions suitable for these priority crop/tree systems for biofuel production with reference to, amongst others:

- Rainfall average and variability,
- Surface and underground water resources,
- Temperature average and extremes,
- Soil properties,
- Known pests and diseases, and
- Topography.

**AIM 4** - To determine crop parameters and model water use of specific crops/trees for biofuel that have potential but insufficient knowledge exists in South Africa to promote effective production.

**AIM 5** - To determine the biofuel yield potential of crops in the respective bio-climatic regions under rainfed and/or irrigated conditions.

**AIM 6** - To estimate or quantify the water use efficiency of these crops with reference to, amongst others, the following parameters:

- Biomass yield per m<sup>3</sup> water over the full productive cycle, and
- Biofuel yield per m<sup>3</sup> water over the full productive cycle.

**AIM 7** - To assess the impact of land use changes on the water balance, within selected key catchments of the specified bio-climatic regions and at appropriate scales, with introduction of crops suitable for biofuel production.

**AIM 8** - To develop a user-friendly, map-based software utility for the planning and management of biofuels in South Africa, drawing on findings from the specific aims listed above.

**AIM 9** - To provide training opportunities for one post doctorate, two full-time PhD and five full-time MSc students. The principal researcher was also encouraged to obtain a PhD degree (part-time).

#### METHODOLOGY

With reference to AIM 1 (to specify and prioritise feedstocks), the project was largely governed by the revised national biofuels industrial strategy, which was published by the former Department of Minerals and Energy in 2007. This strategy recommended two bioethanol feedstocks (i.e. sugarcane & sugarbeet) and three biodiesel feedstocks (i.e. soybean, canola & sunflower) for biofuel production. An inaugural symposium and workshop was held on 10<sup>th</sup> and 11<sup>th</sup> February 2010 respectively. One of the main objectives of the workshop was to identify key feedstocks for further investigation by the project team. Two feedstocks, namely sugarbeet and sweet sorghum, were highlighted for field-based research. These two crops were also recommended for further investigation in the biofuels scoping study report published in November 2009. From 2011 onwards, two potential biofuel manufacturers (i.e. Mabele Fuels & Arengo 316) expressed interest in grain sorghum. At a biofuels technical meeting held on 17<sup>th</sup> July 2012, the decision was made to measure the water use and yield of grain sorghum. Thus, the final list of prioritised crops was sugarcane, sugarbeet, sweet sorghum, grain sorghum, soybean and canola. Sunflower was not included and was replaced with grain sorghum, as agreed to at the reference group meeting on 23rd July 2014.

With reference to **AIM 2** (to evaluate and characterise feedstocks), information pertaining to, *inter alia*, crop parameters, water use and yield of the prioritised crops was gleaned from the field-based research as well as a thorough review of available literature (refer to Volume 2). The task highlighted the lack of information available for emerging feedstocks such as sugarbeet and sweet sorghum. Furthermore, surprisingly little information is also known about canola production in South Africa, which was unexpected.

**AIM 3** is referred to as the mapping component of the project, with the modelling component involving **AIM 4** (water use modelling) and **AIM 5** (crop yield modelling). In order to derive parameters for certain feedstocks, field-based research was conducted at a number of research farms. The output from the modelling component of this project largely addressed **AIM 6** (estimation of water use efficiency) and **AIM 7** (hydrological impact of feedstock cultivation). In order to meet **AIM 8**, a software program called the Biofuels Assessment Utility was developed. Lastly, a number of students from the University of KwaZulu-Natal and the University of Pretoria worked on the project over its six-year time span (**AIM 9**). The methodology developed for each of these project components is summarised next.

#### Field work

Based on recommendations from the scoping study and the inaugural workshop, initial field work focused on the emerging feedstocks, in particular sugarbeet and sweet sorghum. Thus, field trials were established in the 2010/11 season to measure the water use and yield under optimal (i.e. no stressed) conditions of a) sweet sorghum at the Ukulinga (University of KwaZulu-Natal) and Hatfield (University of Pretoria) research farms, and b) sugarbeet (Ukulinga only).

The trials were repeated in 2011/12 to obtain two seasons of water use and yield data. In 2012/13, a third sugarbeet trial was undertaken at Ukulinga as well as research on grain sorghum (at Ukulinga and Hatfield). In the final season (2013/14), the grain sorghum trial at

Ukulinga was repeated and cost over R134 100, thus highlighting the expense of field work. Water use and yield data for soybean and yellow maize was derived by another WRC-funded project (No. K5/2066). A summary of the crop coefficients used to parameterise a hydrological model is provided in this report. The model was then used to assess the hydrological impact on downstream water availability that may result from biofuel feedstock cultivation.

#### Model selection

In this study, the *ACRU* agrohydrological modelling system was selected and used to estimate the water use of selected biofuel feedstocks. This daily time-step, process-based model was used to simulate runoff response for different land covers, as the sum of both storm flow and base flow. The *ACRU* model was selected to ensure compatibility with previous studies. Furthermore, the simulated runoff response from different land covers has been widely verified against observed runoff from different catchments.

In order to estimate the yield of each prioritised feedstock, the *AQUACROP* model was used. This model, developed by the FAO based in Rome (Italy), was selected because of its sensitivity to water stress. *AQUACROP* has already been parameterised for a number of biofuel feedstocks, including sugarcane, sugarbeet, grain sorghum, soybean and sunflower. In addition, a plug-in version exists which facilitates multiple (i.e. iterative) runs for estimating regional crop yield.

AQUACROP is ideally suited to assessing the impact of water availability on crop production for both irrigated and rainfed agriculture. Daily transpiration is multiplied by a water productivity parameter (which differentiates  $C_3$  from  $C_4$  plants) in order to calculate biomass production, which is then accumulated over the growing season. Crop yield is calculated as the product of accumulated biomass and the harvest index. Finally, nutrient deficiencies and salinity effects are simulated indirectly by moderating canopy cover development over the season, and by reducing, *inter alia*, crop transpiration.

#### Quinary sub-catchments

For operational decision making, the former Department of Water Affairs delineated South Africa into 22 primary drainage basins, each of which has been sub-divided into interlinked secondary, tertiary and quaternary (i.e. 4<sup>th</sup> level) catchments. In total, 1 946 quaternary level catchments make up the contiguous area of southern Africa (i.e. RSA, Lesotho & Swaziland). Each quaternary has been assigned a single rainfall driver station deemed representative of the entire catchment area.

However, considerable physiographic heterogeneity exists within many of the quaternaries. For this reason, each catchment has been further sub-divided into three sub-catchments, according to altitude criteria. The upper, middle and lower quinaries of unequal area (but of similar topography) were sub-delineated according to "natural breaks" in altitude by applying the Jenks optimisation procedure. This resulted in 5 838 quinary sub-catchments deemed to be more homogeneous than the quaternary catchments, in terms of their altitudinal range. In this study, the quinary sub-catchment (and not the quaternary catchment) was selected as the modelling and mapping unit. The quinary sub-catchments soils database contains soils

information derived from land types developed by the former Soils and Irrigation Institute. The land types identified in each quinary were area weighted in order to derive one set of soils attributes (e.g. soil water retention parameters and soil depth) deemed to be presentative of the entire sub-catchment.

All model simulations were performed using the quinary sub-catchment climate database. This database contains 50 years (1950 to 1999) of daily climate data (rainfall, maximum temperature, minimum temperature & reference evaporation) deemed representative of each hydrological sub-catchment. The same rainfall station selected to drive each quaternary catchment was used to represent each of the three quinary sub-catchments. However, monthly adjustment factors were derived for each quinary and then applied to the daily rainfall record obtained from each quaternary rainfall driver station. In this way, a unique 50-year daily rainfall record was created for each of the 5 838 quinaries. The multiplicative adjustment factors were derived by first calculating spatial averages of all the one arc minute gridded median monthly rainfall values located within each quinary sub-catchment boundary. The ratio of these spatially averaged monthly rainfall totals to the driver station's median monthly rainfalls was then calculated to arrive at the 12 monthly adjustment factors.

A representative grid point location was chosen for each quinary sub-catchment. This was done by first calculating the mean altitude of each quinary from a 200 m Digital Elevation Model. Grid points located within a sub-catchment boundary at an altitude similar to the sub-catchment mean were then identified. From these, the grid point closest to the sub-catchment centroid was then selected to represent the quinary.

For each selected grid point, an algorithm was used to derive daily maximum and minimum temperature data from the two nearest temperature stations. A monthly lapse rate adjustment was applied to account for altitude differences between the nearest temperature stations and the altitude of the selected grid point. Daily data from each temperature station was weighted according to distance (i.e. from the grid point to each station). Daily temperature data generated for the selected grid point was then used to estimate solar radiation and relative humidity. From this, daily estimates of reference evaporation (Penman-Monteith or FAO56 equivalent) were derived assuming a default wind speed of 1.6 m s<sup>-1</sup>.

Since *ACRU* uses the A-pan evaporimeter as its reference, FAO56-based reference evaporation was adjusted to A-pan equivalent evaporation using a monthly multiplicative factor which ranged from 1.17 to 1.37 (i.e. A-pan evaporation exceeds FAO56 evaporation by 17 to 37%). This adjustment was derived from the reciprocal of a pan factor, which was calculated for a green fetch of 200 m and an average daily wind speed was 1.6 m s<sup>-1</sup>. The pan factor varied monthly according to mean monthly relative humidity estimates.

#### Revised climate database

In this study, the daily temperature dataset deemed representative of each quinary centroid was revised. The algorithm used to select two representative temperature stations for each grid point was modified. The improved algorithm considered both the distance and altitude difference between the neighbouring temperature stations. This modification allowed for the selection of stations slightly further away, but required a smaller altitude adjustment of temperature. The weighting factor was corrected to assign more influence to the "best" (but

not necessarily the closest) station. Daily reference (FAO56) evaporation estimates were then calculated from the revised temperatures values. In addition, a different technique was used to calculate monthly adjustment factors to derive unscreened A-pan equivalent evaporation from FAO56-based reference evaporation. The technique was based on a modified version of the so-called "*PENPAN*" equation, which recently has been successfully applied in Australia to estimate A-pan equivalent evaporation. The adjustments suggest that A-pan equivalent evaporation exceeds FAO56 evaporation by a factor ranging from 17 to 51% for southern Africa. Hence, the revised quinary sub-catchment climate database contains improved temperature and evaporation estimates.

#### Water use modelling

The same methodology that has been established (and accepted) in South Africa to determine the potential impact of a land use change from natural vegetation on downstream water availability, was used in this study. In essence, the *ACRU* hydrological model was parameterised for natural vegetation and used to determine long-term mean annual runoff response for baseline (i.e. historical) conditions (*MAR*<sub>base</sub>). The Acocks Veld Type map is used to represent natural vegetation or pristine conditions.

The *ACRU* model was then parameterised for each prioritised feedstock and used to estimate the runoff response for a 100% land cover change ( $MAR_{crop}$ ). Model parameter values were gleaned from 1) field work undertaken as part of this study, and 2) an extensive review of available literature.

#### Hydrological impacts of land use change

The relative reduction in annual runoff ( $MAR_{redn}$ ) that may result from the intended land use change was calculated as ( $MAR_{base} - MAR_{crop}$ )/ $MAR_{base}$ , which was expressed as a percentage change. Positive  $MAR_{redn}$  values suggest that the intended land use change may result in less water being available to downstream users. An annual reduction of 10% or more was considered significant and used to identify feedstocks that may need to be declared as Stream Flow Reduction Activities or SFRAs.

Of more concern is the impact of land use change on stream flow during the low flow period. The start of the driest three-month period (or driest quartile) was determined using the monthly stream flow estimates produced by *ACRU* for the baseline (i.e. natural vegetation). This reduction in monthly runoff over driest quartile was then determined and expressed as a percentage relative to the baseline. If this percentage exceeded 25%, the land use change may also be considered a considered a SFRA.

#### **Biofuels assessment utility**

A PC-based software utility was developed to 1) disseminate stream flow output from the *ACRU* model, and 2) assess the impact on a land use change to feedstock cultivation on downstream water availability. This utility will mainly be used by the Department of Water and Sanitation to assess a feedstock's stream flow reduction potential in any quinary sub-catchment.

#### Crop yield modelling

Previous work on national yield modelling involved the use of simple empirically-based yield models, which could not account for, *inter alia*, the so-called " $CO_2$  fertilisation effect". For example, the yield models developed by Barry Smith utilise monthly rainfall and temperature data to derive crop yield estimates. In this study, a unique approach was adopted which involved the use of a more complex, deterministic-based model to simulate crop yield at the national scale.

Due to the conservative nature of most of *AQUACROP*'s parameters, the model requires the "fine-tuning" of only a few parameters in order to provide realistic estimates of crop yield. For this project, the model was well calibrated for both sugarcane and sugarbeet, in order to better represent local growing conditions. Similarly, research conducted as part of another WRC Project (K5/2066) assisted with the calibration of soybean and yellow maize. For grain sorghum, the default crop parameter file was mainly used. Where possible, the calibrated model was validated using datasets for other locations that were not used in the calibration process.

The use of *AQUACROP* to derive estimates of crop yield at the national level involved linking the model to the quinary sub-catchment climate and soils database. Over 5 000 lines of computer code were written to facilitate and automate this process. Typical planting dates for each feedstock were obtained from a literature review. The model was used to estimate yield for each prioritised feedstock (some with two different planting dates) across all 5 838 quinary sub-catchments. This meant the model was run for areas not suited to crop growth (i.e. too cold and/or too dry), which caused *AQUACROP* to "crash". The automation process was specifically designed to re-start the model run if such an event occurred.

A variety of maps were produced from output simulated by *AQUACROP* at the quinary subcatchment scale for three bioethanol crops (sugarcane, sugarbeet & grain sorghum) and two biodiesel crops (canola & soybean). These maps included the mean and median seasonal yield as well as the inter-seasonal variation in yield. Similar maps were produced for crop water use efficiency. Other maps which show the number of years of simulated yield data and the risk of crop failure were also produced. Yield and water use efficiency derived using *AQUACROP* was then compared to that derived using the Soil Water Balance (*SWB*) model for certain quinaries located in the Western Cape.

#### **Biofuel yield potential**

The theoretical biofuel yield was estimated from the sugar, starch and seed oil content of feedstocks studied in the field. However, the stoichiometric yield of bioethanol or biodiesel is also dependent on the crop yield. To simply this calculation, the biofuel yield was also estimated from the product of the crop yield and the extraction rate. A table of biofuel extraction rates for selected feedstocks is presented in this report.

#### Land suitability mapping

For the biofuels scoping study, a literature review was undertaken to glean climate criteria for optimum crop growth. A geographic information system was then used to map areas

climatically suited to optimum feedstock cultivation. This was achieved by applying the climatic thresholds to spatial datasets of rainfall and temperature. These spatial datasets were obtained from the South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology.

In this study, the literature review was expanded to include new reference material not used in the scoping study to glean growth criteria for each crop. In addition, three additional site criteria were considered for mapping. For example, relative humidity was incorporated as an index of disease incidence. Soil depth and slope were used to eliminate shallow soils and steep slopes, which are not deemed suitable for crop production. Each site factor was weighted accordingly to indicate its overall influence on crop survival, with rainfall deemed twice as important as temperature and slope (and four times more important than relative humidity and soil depth).

A number of improvements were made to the mapping approach used in the scoping study. For example, a unique method was used to consider the timing of monthly rainfall across the growing season. The water use coefficient was used to determine in which month the crop's water requirement peaks. Similarly, more weighting was assigned to relative humidity criteria in the months where disease outbreak is more probable. The mapping approach also considered existing land use and land cover, in order to eliminate "no-go" crop cultivation areas (i.e. urban areas, water bodies and areas formally protected for their high biodiversity value).

### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

From the field work component of this project, the following information was generated for selected bioethanol feedstocks:

- Water use over the growing season, defined as accumulated total evaporation (i.e. actual evapotranspiration) measured under stress-free growing conditions.
- Final crop yield and sugar content of sugarbeet and sweet sorghum.
- Final crop yield and starch content of grain sorghum.
- Theoretical bioethanol yield derived from crop yield and sugar/starch content.
- Water use efficiency, defined as crop yield per unit water use.
- Biofuel use efficiency, or the theoretical biofuel yield per unit water use.

From WRC Project No. K5/2066, the above information was included for soybean and yellow maize. Using the available information, this list of feedstocks were ranked in terms of water use efficiency and biofuel use efficiency. The results show that sugarbeet is most water use efficient in terms of producing "more crop per drop", whilst grain sorghum is least efficient. However, in terms of biofuel use efficiency, yellow maize is the most efficient at producing more biofuel per unit of water consumed by the crop, with soybean regarded as the least efficient.

The primary outputs generated from the modelling of water use, and thus available for each of the 5 838 quinary sub-catchments, include the following:

- Estimates of daily, monthly and annual stream flow response from natural vegetation.
- Estimates of daily, monthly and annual stream flow response from a land cover of selected biofuel feedstocks.

- Maps highlighting quinaries in which a reduction in mean annual runoff of 10% or more may occur for selected feedstocks.
- Maps highlighting quinaries where a 25% or larger reduction in monthly runoff may occur during the low flow period.
- The shift in low flow period that may result from a land cover change from natural vegetation to the intended feedstock.

Based on *ACRU*'s simulated runoff output, canola is least likely to cause a significant (i.e.  $\geq$  10%) reduction in water available to downstream users, whereas sugarcane exhibits the highest SFR potential (i.e. highest crop water use). Few quinaries were flagged where a significant (i.e.  $\geq$  25%) reduction in monthly runoff accumulated over the low flow period may occur. However, all feedstock crops have the potential to shift the start of the low flow quartile (i.e. driest three months of the year), when compared to that for natural vegetated conditions. Hence, the reduction in flow flows may be exacerbated by this shift in "seasonality".

From the crop yield modelling, the following information is available for each of the 5 838 quinary sub-catchments for rainfed conditions:

- seasonal estimates of yield and water use efficiency for selected feedstocks,
- long term attainable yield and water use efficiency (mean and median),
- inter-seasonal variation in crop yield and water use efficiency,
- risk of crop failure, defined as the probability of a seasonal yield of zero dry tons per hectare,
- number of seasons of simulated yield and water use efficiency data, and
- length of the growing season.

The maps show that sugarcane is most water use efficient when produced along the coastal areas of KwaZulu-Natal and the Eastern Cape. Similarly, canola is most water use efficient when grown in the Western Cape region. Using the average crop yield estimate for a particular quinary, the biofuel yield potential can be determined using representative extraction rates. The results indicate that bioethanol feedstocks require much less arable land than biodiesel feedstocks to produce 1 000 m<sup>3</sup> of biofuel.

Land suitability maps were produced for sugarcane, sugarbeet, grain sorghum, soybean and canola. For certain feedstocks, the areas highlighted as highly suitable for crop production do not necessarily correspond to quinary sub-catchments exhibiting high crop yields. The results show a significant (i.e. ≈50%) reduction in the area considered suitable for soybean production when compared to the map published in the scoping study report. The cultivation of sugarbeet planted in winter will likely require supplemental irrigation. The canola map does not identify suitable production areas in the Free State, where cultivation is possible under rainfed conditions during the winter months.

#### INTERPRETATION OF RESULTS

With regard to assessing the stream flow reduction potential of a particular feedstock, the mean and not median runoff statistic should be used. In terms of quantifying the long-term attainable yield for a particular location, the median statistic is recommended and not the mean.

Although WUE is highly influenced by environmental factors that affect crop growth (e.g. cultivar choice, planting date, plant density etc.), the metric shows potential for highlighting optimum *vs.* sub-optimum growing areas. However, if used as a standalone metric, it can be easily misinterpreted. Hence, it is recommended that WUE is considered in relation to the expected yield for a particular location.

### CONCLUSIONS

It is important to note that research priorities changed over the project's duration due to, *inter alia*, policy amendments and new developments pertaining to South Africa's biofuels industry. For example, field work and modelling efforts shifted focus to grain sorghum, which was not considered a prioritised feedstock at the outset of the project. Nevertheless, the project contributed to the generation of new knowledge as follows:

- Monthly crop coefficients were derived for prioritised feedstocks that are deemed representative of local conditions.
- These crop coefficients were used to improve estimates of the hydrological impact of feedstock production on downstream water availability.
- The crop coefficients were also used to determine the optimum distribution of monthly rainfall over the growing season.
- A land use change to feedstock cultivation may cause a possible shift in the low flow period, which was highlighted as another potential impact on downstream water users.
- The land suitability maps provide more realistic estimates of the total land area deemed suitable for feedstock cultivation.
- The use of a deterministic-type crop model to derive estimates of attainable yield and water use efficiency at a national scale represents a major contribution to the existing knowledge base on agricultural production potential.
- Thus, the mapping and crop yield modelling approaches developed for this project are considered unique and innovative.

Using a hydrological simulation model, the potential impact on catchment water resources of large scale land use change to feedstock cultivation was assessed. In addition, a crop water productivity model was used to provide estimates of attainable yield for selected feedstock crops at the national scale. Water use efficiency (WUE = yield per unit of crop water use) was then calculated for each hydrological sub-catchment across the country. It is envisaged that the project outcomes will benefit end-users in the following manner:

- The Department of Water and Sanitation will utilise the large database of monthly and annual runoff simulations to assess the stream flow reduction potential of selected feedstocks in any quinary sub-catchment.
- The biofuel manufacturers will utilise the land suitability and crop yield maps to identify and target areas where feedstock should be cultivated.
- Agricultural extension officers will also find the crop yield maps useful for advising emerging farmers on which crop is best suited to their location.
- The Department of Energy could utilise the information to revise the country's biofuel production potential.
- WUE estimates for each biofuel feedstock may assist land use planners in striving towards the most beneficial use of available water resources.

Crop water use is incorporated into most standards that have been developed to measure agriculture sustainability. However, various metrics are used to assess this. In general, water use in agriculture usually means the total volume of rain water consumed by the crop (i.e. green water component of the "water footprint" concept), or the volume of surface water or ground water applied as irrigation (i.e. blue water component).

The results from this study highlight the diverse range in feedstocks when ranked according to their biofuel yield potential per unit land area (i.e. "land footprint") or per unit water use (i.e. "water footprint"). The output from this comprehensive six-year study has confirmed that water availability and not land availability, will limit South Africa's biofuel production potential. The environmental impact of biofuel feedstock production depends on the mix of feedstocks used to meet the volume targets set by the mandatory blending rates.

#### **RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCH**

Owing to the high cost of field experimentation, the study of emerging crops, where best agronomic practices aren't well established, is not recommended. The variability in seasonal estimates of water use efficiency derived from measurements for both sugarbeet and sweet sorghum highlight this point.

The threshold of 25% currently used to assess a significant reduction in monthly runoff over the low flow period may be too high and needs to be re-assessed. The shift in low flow period is cause for concern and should be factored into the assessment of a feedstock's potential to be declared a stream flow reduction activity.

Considerable effort is required to develop a land suitability map for a particular feedstock. Output (in particular yield and WUE) from the crop modelling component should be used as input for the mapping approach in order to improve the assessment of land suitability.

Canola was incorrectly identified as a feedstock where sufficient knowledge exists for modelling feedstock water use and yield. It is recommended that the water use and yield of canola is measured in the field to improve the current lack of knowledge pertaining to this crop. Furthermore, canola's land suitability map should be revised by modifying the rainfall thresholds in an attempt to identify suitable growing areas in the eastern parts of the Free State.

It is recommended that the stream flow database required by the biofuels assessment utility is distributed to end-users on DVDs. However, updates should be distributed via the internet using SAEON's data portal.

It is envisaged that a number of end-users will request output in a GIS-compatible format. To facilitate such requests, it is recommended that such data are made available for download via the internet from SAEON's data portal.

It is envisaged that the recommendations for future work which emanated from this project, will guide a follow-up study that was initiated and funded by the WRC. This five-year project (No. K5/2491 titled "Water use of strategic biofuel crops") began in April 2015 and will terminate in March 2020.

#### EXTENT TO WHICH OBJECTIVES WERE MET

The project was required to specify and prioritise currently grown and potential alternative first and second generation crops (**AIM 1**). In this study, no research effort was focused towards 2<sup>nd</sup> generation feedstocks. Although Napier grass was initially flagged as a potential second generation feedstock, it would be prohibited for use in biofuel production if draft regulations pertaining to alien invasive plants are promulgated. With reference to **AIM 2** (i.e. to evaluate and characterise feedstocks), information pertaining to, *inter alia*, crop parameters, water use and yield of the prioritised crops was gleaned from the field-based research as well as a thorough review of the available literature.

The terms of reference of this project required the estimation of water use of feedstocks suitable for bioethanol and biodiesel production in selected high and low potential bioclimatic regions of South Africa. For example, **AIM 7** required the impact of land use change on the water balance of selected key catchments to be assessed. In this study, feedstock water use was modelled for all regions across South Africa. The approach taken to run the models for all quinaries and not a subset of quinaries where the crop may grow (i.e. based on the land suitability map) provides the following advantages:

- The national yield maps can be used to validate and improve the land suitability maps, especially since the latter maps differentiate low from high potential production areas.
- It avoids the scenario where additional model runs may be required in the future to generate data for "missing" quinaries, which were not highlighted as suitable growing areas for a particular feedstock.

Two simulation models were used to provide estimates of crop water use (**AIM 4**) and yield (**AIM 5**) at the national scale, for multiple feedstocks and planting dates. The time and effort required to complete this computationally complex task meant that the following specific aims were not met:

- The biofuel yield potential of crops in the respective bio-climatic regions (AIM 5) was not mapped.
- Similarly, the biofuel yield per unit of water used over the full productive cycle (AIM 6) was not mapped.
- The modelling was undertaken for rainfed conditions and thus, no work was conducted for irrigated crops (**AIM 5**).

With reference to **AIM 6**, water use efficiency was defined as the utilisable crop yield (and not the biomass yield) per unit of water utilised over the full productive cycle. With reference to **AIM 3**, the availability of groundwater resources was considered in the mapping approach to identify suitable crop production areas.

Regarding **AIM 8**, a map-based software utility originally developed in 2009 to assess the stream flow reduction potential of commercial afforestation (called the SFRA Assessment Utility), was modified to meet the needs of this project. Significant improvements were made to the utility, with additional functionality added.

**AIM 9** refers to capacity building which is discussed further in the section that follows. In summary, the project did not meet the envisaged target of graduating five MSc and two PhD students.

#### CAPACITY BUILDING AND TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER

Finally, at the outset of this project, it was envisaged that two full-time PhD and five full-time MSc students would obtain their degrees through this project. To date, only two MSc students have graduated. However, two part-time students (one MSc and a PhD) are currently in the process of finalising their write-ups.

Over the six-year project duration, numerous presentations were given to both local and international audiences. The project benefitted from the knowledge gained at the Bioenergy Australia conference in 2011. In addition, the project gained exposure at the World Biofuels Markets conference at Rotterdam in 2013.

A poster was presented at SANCIAHS in 2012 and a paper at SANCIAHS in 2014. A paper was also presented at the World Soybean Research Conference in 2013 and at the SASTA Congress in 2014. Presentations were also given at the WRC research symposiums in 2011, 2013 and 2015.

Two symposiums and workshops were also organised as part of the project. The inaugural symposium and workshop took place in February 2010, with a follow-up symposium and workshop held in January 2013. The latter resulted in two popular articles which appeared in the Farmers Weekly and Landbou Weekblad magazines in February and March 2013 respectively. A popular article was published in the Water Wheel in the March/April 2014 edition as well as an online article on Engineering News in May 2014. The project was also mentioned in an article published in the Mercury newspaper on 27<sup>th</sup> March 2014. Finally, a paper emanating from the project on the water use efficiency of sweet sorghum was published in Water SA in January 2016.

#### DATA AND TOOLS

The project has generated over 1 000 gigabytes (Gb) of compressed model output pertaining to the national water use and crop yield simulations. In addition, high frequency measurements of air temperature used to estimate crop water use via the surface renewal method was also generated. The biofuels assessment utility will be used to disseminate a large database (i.e. ≈43.3 Gb) of daily stream flow simulations for natural vegetation as well as selected feedstocks. All raw and processed data is stored and archived on a fileserver located in the ICS Server Room on the main campus of the University of KwaZulu-Natal in Pietermaritzburg. All project-related data and information was backed up to an external hard drive to be stored for the next five years. Contact person: Richard Kunz (<u>kunzr@ukzn.ac.za</u>).

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKN	OWLE	DGEM	ENTS	
EXEC	UTIVE	SUMM	IARY	. IV
TABL	E OF C	ONTE	NTS>	۲II
LIST (	of fig	URES	ک	(XII
LIST (	OF TAE	BLES	Χ	XV
LIST (	of Abe	BREVIA	ATIONSX	XXI
LIST (	OF SYN	<b>NBOLS</b>	XX	XIV
1	INTRO	DUCT	ION	1
	1.1	Backg	round and Rationale	1
	1.2	Project	t Objective and Aims	2
	1.3	Approa	ach	3
	1.4	Structu	Ire of Report	3
2	PRIOF	RITISA	TION AND REVIEW OF FEEDSTOCKS	5
	2.1	Backg	round	5
		2.1.1	Definition of biofuels	5
		2.1.2	Benefits of biofuel production	5
		2.1.3	Feedstock classification	5
		2.1.4	Biofuel production	6
		2.1.5	Biofuel by-products	10
		2.1.6	Estimating the biofuel demand	10
	2.2	Issues	Influencing Feedstock Selection	14
		2.2.1	National biofuels industrial strategy (December 2007)	14
		2.2.2	Inaugural biofuels workshop (February 2010)	14
		2.2.3	Biofuel technical meeting (July 2012)	15
		2.2.4	Proposed mandatory blending rates (August 2012)	15
		2.2.5	Follow-up biofuels workshop (January 2013)	16
		2.2.6	Presentation by DoE (August 2013)	16
		2.2.7	Draft biofuels regulatory framework (January 2014)	17
		2.2.8	Proposed biofuel manufacturers (January 2014)	19
		2.2.9	Finalised mandatory blending rates (October 2015)	19
		2.2.10	Finalised framework and pricing policy (2016?)	20
		2.2.11	Twenty-year liquid fuels road map	20
		2.2.12	Sustainability Issues	20
	2.3	Shortli	sting of Bioethanol Feedstocks	23
		2.3.1	Sugarcane	23
		2.3.2	Sugarbeet	23
		2.3.3	Grain sorghum	24
		2.3.4	Sweet sorghum	25
		2.3.5	Maize	25
		2.3.6	Cassava	25
	2.4	Shortli	sting of Biodiesel Feedstocks	26

		2.4.1	Soybean	26
		2.4.2	Canola	26
		2.4.3	Sunflower	26
		2.4.4	Jatropha	26
		2.4.5	Moringa	27
	2.5	Priorit	isation of Feedstocks	27
		2.5.1	Bioethanol production	27
		2.5.2	Biodiesel production	28
		2.5.3	Second generation feedstocks	28
	2.6	Review	w of Bioethanol Feedstocks	28
		2.6.1	Sugarcane	28
		2.6.2	Sugarbeet	35
		2.6.3	Types of sorghum	38
		2.6.4	Sweet sorghum	40
		2.6.5	Grain sorghum	43
	2.7	Review	w of Biodiesel Feedstocks	49
		2.7.1	Soybean	49
		2.7.2	Canola	55
3	FEED	STOC	K WATER USE EFFICIENCY	61
	3.1	Introd	uction	61
		3.1.1	Concepts of water use	61
		3.1.2	The crop coefficient	63
		3.1.3	Water use efficiency	65
	3.2	Site D	escription	67
		3.2.1	Ukulinga	68
		3.2.2	Hatfield	70
		3.2.3	Baynesfield	71
	3.3	Trial D	Description	71
		3.3.1	2010/11 season	71
		3.3.2	2011/12 season	78
		3.3.3	2012/13 season	79
		3.3.4	2013/14 season	82
	3.4	Measu	urement of Water Use	83
		3.4.1	Reference crop evaporation	83
		3.4.2	Evapotranspiration	86
		3.4.3	Soil water content	92
	3.5	Instru	mentation	98
		3.5.1	Weather data	98
		3.5.2	Transpiration	100
		3.5.3	Evapotranspiration	102
		3.5.4	Soil water content	104
	3.6	Measu	urement of Feedstock Yield	105
		3.6.1	Feedstock growth	105
		3.6.2	Feedstock yield	106

	3.7	Estima	ation of Biofuel Yield	107
		3.7.1	Bioethanol from sugar	107
		3.7.2	Bioethanol from starch	110
		3.7.3	Biodiesel from bio-oil	114
		3.7.4	Extraction rates	115
4	PARA	METE	RS USED FOR MODELLING	117
	4.1	Introdu	uction	117
	4.2	Water	Use Parameters (ACRU)	117
		4.2.1	Background	117
		4.2.2	Rainfall/runoff	119
		4.2.3	Land cover/use	133
	4.3	Yield I	Parameters (AQUACROP)	138
		4.3.1	Model evaluation: Terminology	138
		4.3.2	Data evaluation	140
		4.3.3	Model output verification	141
		4.3.4	Model output corroboration	148
		4.3.5	Model analysis	148
	4.4	Yield I	Parameters (SWB)	151
		4.4.1	Model output verification	151
5	HYDF	ROLOG	ICAL IMPACTS OF FEEDSTOCK PRODUCTION	154
	5.1	Introdu	uction	154
		5.1.1	Definition of water use	154
		5.1.2	Modelling approach and application	155
	5.2	Appro	priate Models	156
		5.2.1	Overview of models	156
		5.2.2	The ACRU model	156
	5.3	The H	ydrological Baseline	159
		5.3.1	Mucina and Rutherford	159
		5.3.2	Acocks' Veld Types	160
		5.3.3	Model parameterisation	161
	5.4	Origin	al Quinary Sub-catchment Database	161
	5.5	Revise	ed Quinary Sub-catchment Database	162
		5.5.1	Updated temperature estimates	162
		5.5.2	Updated reference evaporation estimates	164
		5.5.3	Revised pan factors	165
		5.5.4	Adjustment of FAO56-crop coefficients	166
	5.6	Natior	al Model Runs	166
		5.6.1	Modifications to ACRU	166
		5.6.2	National runs	167
		5.6.3	Modelling approach and application	169
6	BIOF	UEL YI	ELD POTENTIAL OF FEEDSTOCKS	171
	6.1	Introdu	uction	171
		6.1.1	Definition of attainable yield	171
		6.1.2	Modelling approach and application	171
			÷ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

6.2	Approp	priate Models	172
	6.2.1	The solar-driven growth engine	173
	6.2.2	The water-driven growth engine	174
6.3	The SI	WB model	175
	6.3.1	SWB parameters (growth model)	175
	6.3.2	SWB parameters (FAO model)	177
6.4	The A	QUACROP model	177
	6.4.1	Introduction	177
	6.4.2	Water production function	178
	6.4.3	Model structure and components	182
	6.4.4	Summary	191
6.5	Nation	al Model Runs	191
	6.5.1	Revised quinary sub-catchment database	191
	6.5.2	Soils input	191
	6.5.3	Climate input	197
	6.5.4	Multiple project file	198
	6.5.5	Crop parameter files	199
	6.5.6	Growing season length	199
	6.5.7	Simulation period	202
	6.5.8	Automation of runs	202
	6.5.9	Model run times	203
	6.5.10	Yield and WUE statistics	205
	6.5.11	Runoff prediction	207
	6.5.12	Implementation verification	207
REG	IONS SI	UITABLE FOR FEEDSTOCK PRODUCTION	211
7.1	Introdu	uction	211
7.2	Factor	s Affecting Plant Growth	212
	7.2.1	Rainfall	212
	7.2.2	Temperature	214
	7.2.3	Relative humidity	214
	7.2.4	Soil depth and texture	215
	7.2.5	Soil slope	215
	7.2.6	Altitude	215
	7.2.7	Heat units	215
	7.2.8	Multiple criteria	216
7.3	GIS-ba	ased Case Studies	216
	7.3.1	Jatropha's biophysical potential (2007)	216
	7.3.2	Bioethanol-from-maize in Kenya (2008)	217
	7.3.3	Biofuels scoping study (2009)	218
	7.3.4	Bioenergy production in Africa (2011)	218
	7.3.5	Summary	219
7.4	Land S	Suitability Assessment	220
	7.4.1	Land suitability criteria	220
	7.4.2	Data sources	

7

		7.4.3	Feedstock growth criteria	
		7.4.4	Ranking of criteria	221
		7.4.5	Weighting of criteria	
		7.4.6	Total suitability score	
		7.4.7	Normalised suitability score	
		7.4.8	Summary	
	7.5	GIS A	oproach	
		7.5.1	Rainfall distribution	
		7.5.2	Data manipulation and analysis	229
		7.5.3	Present land use	231
		7.5.4	Mapping software and technology	232
		7.5.5	Summary	232
8	REFE	RENC	ES	234
9	APPE	NDIX A	۹	
10	APPE	NDIX E	3	
11	APPE	NDIX (	2	
12	APPE	NDIX D	D	
13	APPE	NDIX E	=	
14	APPE	NDIX F	=	
15	APPE	NDIX (	3	
16	APPE	NDIX F	۲	
17	APPE	NDIX I		
18	APPE	NDIX J	J	
19	APPE	NDIX P	٢	
20	APPE	NDIX L		
21	APPE		Л	

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Production flowchart for producing bioethanol from sugarcane or other feedstocks containing fermentable sugars (DME, 2006a)	7
Figure 2	Basic process of converting starch into bioethanol (Source: Mabele	
	Fuels website)	8
Figure 3	Production flowchart for producing biodiesel from vegetable oil such	
	as soybean or sunflower (DME, 2006b)	9
Figure 4	Location of South Africa's refineries (SAPIA, 2009a)	. 11
Figure 5	Petroleum consumption in South Africa from 1991 to 2010 (SAPIA,	
	2012), together with the diesel portion. Projected increases in	
	demand from 2011 to 2016 are shown as linear trend lines	. 12
Figure 6	Locations for sugarcane mills (in red), together with rainfed and	
	irrigated cane production areas shown in green and blue respectively	
	(SASA, 2012)	. 29
Figure 7	Land-use intensity for different types of biofuels, where m <sup>2</sup> /Lge	
	denotes land area in square metres per litre of gasoline equivalent	
	(IEA, 2010)	. 35
Figure 8	Seasonal grain sorghum production and consumption (x 1000 tons)	
	in South Africa from 1997/98 to 2009/10	. 48
Figure 9	Generalised crop coefficient curve based on the single crop	
	coefficient approach (Allen et al., 1998)	. 65
Figure 10	Location of the Jatropha trial site at the Ukulinga research farm as	
	well as the two 80 by 80 m research plots managed by the ACCI	. 68
Figure 11	Soil survey pits (red dot) in relation to both 80 by 80 m plots, with the	
	end of each contour marked with a yellow dot	. 69
Figure 12	Manual harvesting of the beet using forks. The leaves were stripped	
_	in the field and left to decompose	. 72
Figure 13	Sugarbeet tubers washed using pressure hoses (a) to remove	
	excess soil prior to being weighed (b)	. 73
Figure 14	Spraying of a sweet sorghum trial at Ukulinga to minimise stalk borer	
	infestation	.74
Figure 15	In-field weighing of fresh stalks, leaves and heads to determine each	
	sample plot's fresh stalk yield and the portion of leaves and heads	
_	on a fresh mass basis	.74
Figure 16	MSc student Hanson Hlope standing next to the sweet sorghum	
<b>-</b>	irrigation trial located at the Hattield experimental farm	. /5
Figure 17	Layout and design of the sweet sorghum irrigation trial located at	
-	Hattield research farm for the 2011/12 growing season	. 77
Figure 18	Grain sorghum trial planted in 2012/13 at the Ukulinga research farm	
	(picture taken on 27th February 2013)	. 80

Figure 19 Two mesh bags used to protect each grain head at Ukulinga, to prevent the unprotected heads from being completely stripped of Figure 21 Illustration of a typical sampling pattern of thermocouples within the sapwood, and the associated sapwood areas represented by each Figure 22 A diagram of the outflow pressure apparatus for measuring soil water parameters of undisturbed soil cores (after Lorentz et al., Figure 23 A diagram of the constant head method for measuring the soil hydraulic conductivity of undisturbed soil samples (after Lorentz et Figure 24 Automatic weather stations located on the Ukulinga Farm and owned Figure 25 Location of the two trial sites (Plot #1 & Plot #2), in relation to Plot #3 (Jatropha trial) and the two automatic weather stations (5 m contours Figure 27 HPV probe sets inserted in a Moringa oleifera tree at the Hatfield Figure 28 Lattice mast situated near the centre of the 80 by 80 m sugarbeet trial and rigged with a fine-wire thermocouple, sonic anemometer Figure 29 View from the steel pole which supported the SLS receiver used to measure total evaporation diagonally across two adjacent Jatropha only (i.e. weed-free) plots at Ukulinga in January 2011...... 104 Figure 30 "Before" (a) and "after" photographs (b) of the Perspex mini-rhizotron access tube and CS605 probe installation (0.1, 0.2, 0.4 and 0.6 m depths) at Ukulinga in September 2010 ...... 105 Figure 31 Comparison of monthly PENPAN evaporation and Class-A pan evaporation for 68 climate stations in Australia (McMahon et al., Figure 32 Development of the crop coefficient curve based on parameters Figure 33 Location of Ukulinga and La Mercy in quinary 4 697 and 4 719 Figure 34 The ACRU agrohydrological modelling system: General structure Figure 35 Vegetation map of southern Africa (Mucina and Rutherford, 2006)...... 160 Figure 36 Theoretical relationship between above-ground biomass and intercepted solar radiation for  $C_4$  and  $C_3$  crops. The slope of the linear relationship represents the radiation use efficiency or RUE 

Figure 37	The relationship between above-ground biomass and accumulated	
	transpiration for both $C_3$ and $C_4$ crops, after normalisation using $ET_o$	
	(Raes <i>et al.</i> , 2011)	175
Figure 38	Linear water production functions for maize subjected to water	. = 0
<b>E</b> '	deficits during different growth stages	179
Figure 39	Solar-driven crop growth engine for the dynamic AQUACROP model	404
<b>E</b> :	(Steduto <i>et al.</i> 2012)	181
Figure 40	input data required by AQUACROP which defines the environment	100
Eiguro 44	A seil prefile with one seil berizen (venting up to five) and 12 seil	103
Figure 41	A soil profile with one soil honzon (varying up to five) and 12 soil	101
Figuro 42	Progress of groop capaby cover through the life-cycle of maize	104
Figure 42	under non-stressed conditions (Stedute of al. 2012)	196
Figure 43	Increase in harvest index (HI) from flowering until physiological	100
riguic 40	maturity for fruit/grain crops (Steduto <i>et al.</i> 2012)	187
Figure 44	The stress coefficient ( $K_c$ ) for various degrees of stress and for two	101
	sample shapes of the $K_s$ curve (Steduto <i>et al.</i> , 2012)	188
Figure 45	The structural components of AQUACROP, including stress	
U	responses and the functional linkages among them (Steduto et al.,	
	2012)	190
Figure 46	(a) Water use by maize under well-watered conditions; (b) Sensitivity	
	of maize to soil water stress during each growth stage (Pannar,	
	2003)	213
Figure 47	Potential growing areas of soybean in southern Africa (Jewitt et al.,	
	2009a)	218
Figure 48	Maps of protected areas and biodiversity hotspots, slope, land cover	
	and pastureland in Tanzania in 2000 (Wicke, 2011)	219
Figure 49	Crop suitability based on rainfall and temperature thresholds for	
<b>E</b> ' <b>E</b> 0	growth (Ramirez-Villegas <i>et al.</i> , 2013)	222
Figure 50	Distribution of areas considered as permanently (N2) and currently	
	unsuitable (N1) for feedstock cultivation in South Africa (Knomo,	ഹാ
Eiguro 51	2014)	232
Figure 51	that of the group growth cycle (e.g. $22^{nd}$ March), or b) a fixed date	
	before the crop is planted (e.g. $2^{\text{st}}$ lanuary)	202
Figure 52	Option in AQUACROP to set the start of the successive simulation	500
. iguit UL	period to the day after the previous crop maturity date	304
	percente and and anter the premease or op matanty date minimum.	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Consumption of petroleum productions in 2009 by Province (Source: SAPIA website)	. 12
Table 2	Status of licenses granted by the Department of Energy for biofuel manufacturing facilities in South Africa (DoE, 2014)	. 19
Table 3	Growth criteria for sugarcane derived from values published in the literature	. 30
Table 4	Representative values for crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for unstressed ration sugarcane for the three main production areas in KwaZulu-Natal (Jewitt <i>et al.</i> , 2009b)	. 32
Table 5	FAO-based crop coefficients ( <i>K</i> <sub>c</sub> ) for unstressed planted sugarcane (FAO, 2002)	. 32
Table 6	Total commercial sugarcane production over a 10-year period (DAFF, 2011b)	. 32
Table 7	Growth criteria for sugarbeet derived from values published in the literature	. 36
Table 8 Table 9	Single crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for each sugarbeet growth stage Carbohydrate composition of different sorghums (Zegada-Lizarazu	. 37
Table 10	and Monti, 2012) Growth criteria for grain sorghum derived from values published in	. 39
Table 11	the literature Single crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for each sorghum growth stage	. 45 . 46
Table 12	Supply and demand for grain sorghum from 2007 to 2012 (Lemmer and Schoeman, 2011)	. 47
Table 13	Production of soybean per Province in South Africa from 2006 to 2010 (DAFF, 2011a)	. 50
Table 14	Growth criteria for soybean derived from values published in the literature	. 51
Table 15	Basal crop coefficients ( $K_{cb}$ ) derived from the SAPWAT3 database for soybean growth stage (Van Heerden, 2013)	. 52
Table 16 Table 17	Single crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for each soybean growth stage Supply and demand for soybean from 2007 to 2012 (Lemmer and	. 53
Table 18	Schoeman, 2011) Growth criteria for canola derived from values published in the	. 54
Table 19	Single crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for each canola growth stage (Majnooni-	.57
Table 20	Supply and demand for canola from 2007 to 2012 (Lemmer and	. 58
Table 21	Proportion of clay, silt and sand for three depths in each soil survey	. 59
	ָסָוֹד	.70

<ul> <li>Table 23 Values for the numerator (<i>C<sub>n</sub></i>) and denominator (<i>C<sub>d</sub></i>) constants in Equation 4 for a short (0.12 m) and tall (0.5 m) reference crop (Aller et al., 2005)</li> <li>Table 24 Procedure to determine <i>K<sub>c</sub></i> and <i>K<sub>cb</sub></i> values for the initial, mid-season and late season growth stages as well as the length of growth stages in days.</li> <li>Table 25 Comparison of the utilisable vield (stem. sugar &amp; bioethanol) for the stages as well as the length of growth stages as well as the length of growth stages in days.</li> </ul>	"70 า า 85 า
<ul> <li>Table 23 Values for the numerator (<i>C<sub>n</sub></i>) and denominator (<i>C<sub>d</sub></i>) constants in Equation 4 for a short (0.12 m) and tall (0.5 m) reference crop (Aller et al., 2005)</li> <li>Table 24 Procedure to determine <i>K<sub>c</sub></i> and <i>K<sub>cb</sub></i> values for the initial, mid-season and late season growth stages as well as the length of growth stages in days.</li> <li>Table 25 Comparison of the utilisable vield (stem. sugar &amp; bioethanol) for</li> </ul>	า า 85 า
<ul> <li>Equation 4 for a short (0.12 m) and tall (0.5 m) reference crop (Allel et al., 2005)</li> <li>Table 24 Procedure to determine K<sub>c</sub> and K<sub>cb</sub> values for the initial, mid-season and late season growth stages as well as the length of growth stages in days</li> <li>Table 25 Comparison of the utilisable vield (stem. sugar &amp; bioethanol) for</li> </ul>	า 85 า
<ul> <li><i>et al.</i>, 2005)</li> <li><b>Table 24</b> Procedure to determine <i>K<sub>c</sub></i> and <i>K<sub>cb</sub></i> values for the initial, mid-season and late season growth stages as well as the length of growth stages in days</li> <li><b>Table 25</b> Comparison of the utilisable vield (stem. sugar &amp; bioethanol) for</li> </ul>	85 า
<ul> <li>Table 24 Procedure to determine K<sub>c</sub> and K<sub>cb</sub> values for the initial, mid-season and late season growth stages as well as the length of growth stage in days</li></ul>	ן ז
and late season growth stages as well as the length of growth stage in days	2
in days	ر
Table 25 Comparison of the utilisable vield (stem. sugar & bioethanol) for	92
	r
sugarcane estimated for the past 14 seasons	109
Table 26 Theoretical bioethanol yield of certain grain crops (Drapcho et al	,
2008)	111
Table 27 Efficiency of the Individual (ISF) vs. Simultaneous (SSF	)
Saccharification and Fermentation process used to convert starch to	)
bioethanol (Banerjee and Kundu, 2013)	112
Table 28 Overview of starch content and expected bioethanol yield for various	3
grain feedstocks (Banerjee and Kundu, 2013)	112
Table 29 Total and extractable starch content (%) of grain sorghum	ı
(PAN8816) samples	113
Table 30 Comparison of the utilisable yield (grain, starch & bioethanol) for	r
yellow maize estimated for the past five seasons, assuming a	£
moisture content of 12.5% and a fermentation efficiency of 90.4%	113
Table 31 Oil content of soybean obtained from the annual Super Soya	£
competition in KwaZulu-Natal (Source	:
http://www.proteinresearch.net/)	115
Table 32         Biofuel production in m <sup>3</sup> (and litres) per ton of crop yield	116
Table 33         Key parameters and variables in ACRU that influence rainfall/runof	f
response	117
<b>Table 34</b> Key parameters and variables in ACRU that account for land	1 1
COVET/USE	119
<b>Table 35</b> Monthly CORPAN values $(1/K_p)$ calculated for each of the 5.833	5
quinary sub-catchments assuming a green and dry retch of 200 h	101
Table 26. Deily not language radiation (D) calculated monthly for each of the	121
<b>Table 30</b> Daily her longwave radiation $(R_{nl})$ calculated monthly for each of the 5.828 guipery, sub-estebasets using Equation 20 of Allen et a	; I
(1009: 5 52)	100
<b>Table 37</b> Histogram of daily not longwaye radiation (P.) across all 5.82	123 2
quiparies	, 123
Table 38 Histogram of monthly averaged solar radiation augmontation (L	123 N
TANK VY TISUVIANI VI NUNUNY AVELAUEU SULA LAULAUUN AUUNENAUUN $U_{\mu}$	1
across all 5.838 guinaries calculated using Fauation 42 with a	-
across all 5 838 quinaries calculated using <b>Equation 42</b> with $\alpha_s$ : 0.22	, = 125
across all 5 838 quinaries calculated using <b>Equation 42</b> with $\alpha_s$ : 0.22	, = 125 r

**Table 40**Monthly CORPAN values  $(1/K_p)$  calculated for each of the 5 838quinary sub-catchments using a modified version of the PENPANequation with parameter a set to 2.4 and 2.1129

and Swift Current to better represent local conditions147**Table 52**Comparison of soils data for Ukulinga compared to that for quinary 4<br/>697149**Table 53**SWB model growth parameters determined for sweet sorghum (cv.

**Table 59** Default CNII values for various saturated hydraulic conductivities $(K_{SAT})$  of the topsoil (Raes *et al.*, 2013)194

**Table 60**Soil textures derived from the proportion of sand and clay particlesusing the two soil classification systems developed for South Africa .... 195

```
Table 72 Single crop coefficients (K<sub>c</sub>) for each maize growth stage assuggested by FAO (FAO, 2002)214
```

- **Table 74**Suitability criteria, rankings and weightings used by Koikai (2008) to<br/>identify sites suitable for the location of a bioethanol processing plant . 217

Table 75	Sources of climatic (rainfall, temperature & relative humidity),
T-1-1- 70	edaphic (soli depth) and topographic (slope) data used in this study 221
Table 76	Seasonal rainial thresholds and rankings for each suitability class
Table 77	derived for soybean (Knomo, 2014)
Table //	Ranking of each suitability class based on thresholds of monthly
	means of daily average temperature (°C) for soybean
Table 78	Ranking of each suitability class based on thresholds of monthly
	means of daily average relative humidity (%) for soybean 224
Table 79	Ranking of each suitability class based on soil depth (mm) for
	soybean
Table 80	Ranking of each suitability class based on slope (%) for each
	feedstock (Russell, 1997)
Table 81	Weighting assigned to each suitability criterion (Bertling and Odindo,
	2013)
Table 82	Total suitability score obtained when each suitability criteria is ideally
	ranked
Table 83	Normalised total suitability score used for mapping purposes
	(Khomo, 2014)
Table 84	Preferred distribution of seasonal rainfall in each month of the
	growing season for soybean
Table 85	Ranking of seasonal rainfall in each month of the growing season
	for soybean
Table 86	Maximum rainfall suitability score when each month's rainfall is
	ideally suited to soybean cultivation
Table 87	Actual (1991-2010) and projected (2011-2020) demand for
	petroleum products in South Africa
Table 88	The 2009 per capita consumption of non-animal food groups in
	South Africa (FAOSTAT, 2009)
Table 89	Summary of decisions made at the biofuels technical meeting in July
	2012
Table 90	Growth criteria for sugarcane cultivation obtained from the literature 284
Table 91	Growth criteria for sugarbeet cultivation obtained from the literature 285
Table 92	Growth criteria for grain sorghum cultivation obtained from the
	literature
Table 93	Growth criteria for soybean cultivation obtained from the literature 287
Table 94	Growth criteria for canola cultivation obtained from the literature
Table 95	Summary of rainfall suitability criteria and ranking used to identify
	areas suitable for sugarcane cultivation, based on local (averaged)
	and FAO $K_c$ values
Table 96	Summary of other criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable
	for sugarcane cultivation
Table 97	Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas
	suitable for sugarbeet (summer), based on local $K_c$ values

Table 98	Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for sugarbeet (winter), based on local $K_c$ values	92
Table 99	Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas	03
Table 100	Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for soybean cultivation, based on local $K_c$ values	.94
Table 101	Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for canola cultivation, based on $K_c$ values from Majnooni-Heris <i>et al.</i> (2012)	95
Table 102	Ukulinga's long-term rainfall statistics based on 26 years of mostly observed rainfall data from 1959 to 1966 and 1974 to 1991 for SAWS station ID 0239700A	96
Table 103	Hatfield's long-term rainfall statistics based on 38 years of mostly observed rainfall data from 1960 to 1986 and 1989 to 1999 for	07
Table 104	Baynesfield's long-term rainfall statistics based on 28 years of mostly observed rainfall data from 1974 to 2001 for SAWS station ID	91
Table 105	Summary of the monthly weather data from September 2010 to May 2014 for the Ukulinga research farm (University of KwaZulu-Natal)2	.99
Table 106	Summary of the monthly weather data for three seasons at the Hatfield research farm (University of Pretoria)	00
Table 107	Summary of the monthly weather data for one season at Baynesfield Estate (KwaZulu-Natal Midlands)	01
Table 108	LAI measurements of sugarbeet converted to percentage canopy cover (CC) using two different equations	02
Table 109	Classification of soil texture using the volumetric water content at saturation (TPO) and at permanent wilting point (PWP), as well as the soil's plant available water (PAW) content	07
Table 110	Histogram of monthly CORPAN values across all 5 838 quinaries calculated for a green fetch of 200 m using an empirical equation proved by Allen <i>et al.</i> (1998)	13

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACCI African Centre for Crop Improvement	
ACRU Agricultural Catchments Research Institute	
AgMIP Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Proje	ect
AET Actual EvapoTranspiration	
APAN USWB Class A evaporimeter	
ARC Agricultural Research Council	
ARDA Agrarian Research and Development Agency	
ASCE American Society of Civil Engineers	
AWS Automatic Weather Station	
B5 5% biodiesel blend	
BEEH Bioresources Engineering and Environmental Hydrology (fe	ormer)
CEC Crop Estimates Committee	
CARA Conservation of Agricultural Resources Act	
CGI Crop Grains Institute or the ARC	
CN Curve Number	
CNW CaNola Winter	
CO <sub>2</sub> /CO2 Carbon Dioxide concentration	
COMPETE Competence Platform on Energy Crop and Agroforestry Sy	/stems
for Arid and Semi-arid Ecosystems	
cpl cents per litre	
CRBD Completely Randomised Block Design	
CSIR Council for Scientific and Industrial Research	
CSV Comma Separated Values	
CWRR Centre for Water Resources Research	
DAFF Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries	
DAP Days After Planting	
DDGS Distiller's Dried Grains and Solubles	
DoA Department of Agriculture (former)	
DoE Department of Energy	
DEAT Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism	
DRDLR Department of Rural Development and Land Reform	
DME Department of Minerals and Energy (former)	
DST Department of Science and Technology	
DUL Drained Upper Limit	
DWA Department of Water Affairs (former)	
DWAF Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (former)	
DWS Department of Water and Sanitation	
E2 2% bioethanol blend	
E3 3% bioethanol blend	
E8 8% bioethanol blend	
E10 10% bioethanol blend	
EMA Expectation Maximisation Algorithm	
EMAExpectation Maximisation AlgorithmESRIEnvironmental Systems Research Institute	

EVS	Early Vegetative Stage
EWRI	Environmental and Water Resources Institute
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations
FAO56	Food and Agriculture Organisation, Paper No. 56
FAOSTAT	FAO STATistics
GAIN	Global Agricultural Information Network
GDD	Growing Degree Day
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
FC	Field Capacity
GTZ	German Technical Cooperation
FDR	Frequency Domain Reflectometry
GIS	Geographic Information System
GRS	GRain Sorghum
ні	Harvest Index
HPV	Heat Pulse Velocity
HRM	Heat Ratio Method
ICRISAT	International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics
	INTernational SORghum and MILlet Collaborative Research Support
INTSORMIL	Program
IDC	Industrial Development Corporation
loA	Index of Agreement
ISCW	Institute for Soil, Climate and Water
LAI	Leaf Area Index
LFR	Low Flow Runoff
LVS	Late Vegetative Stage
MAE	Mean Absolute Error
MAP	Mean Annual Precipitation
MAR	Mean Annual Runoff (or stream flow)
MdAR	Median Annual Runoff (or stream flow)
masl	metres above sea level
MAT	Mean Annual Temperature
NLC	National Land Cover
NDA	National Department of Agriculture
NPAES	National Protected Area Expansion Strategy
NWA	National Water Act
OEM	Original Equipment Manufacturer
PAR	Photosynthetically Active Radiation
PAW	Plant Available Water
PENPAN	Penman-type equation to estimate A-pan equivalent evaporation
PWP	Permanent Wilting Point
RCBD	Randomised Complete Block Design
REW	Readily Evaporable Water
RISKMAN	Risk Manager
RMSE	Root Mean Square Error
RUE	Radiation Use Efficiency
SAAMIIP	Southern Africa Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project

SACU	Southern African Customs Union
SADC	South African Development Community
SAEON	South African Environmental Observation Network
SANBI	South African National Biodiversity Institute
SANCID	South African National Committee on Irrigation and Drainage
SAPIA	South African Petroleum Industry Association
SAS	Statistical Analysis System (Institute)
SASA	South African Sugar Association
SASRI	South African Sugarcane Research Institute
SAT	Semi-Arid Tropics
SBS	SugarBeet Summer
SBW	SugarBeet Winter
SCA	SugarCAane
SCWG	Soil Classification Working Group
SFR	Stream Flow Reduction
SFRA	Stream Flow Reduction Activity
SIRI	Soil and Irrigation Research Institute (former)
SLA	Specific Leaf Area
SLS	Surface Layer Scintillometry
SMRI	Sugar Milling Research Institute
SPH	Stems Per Hectare
SSH	Sweet Sorghum Hatfield
SSU	Sweet Sorghum Ukulinga
SNF	SuNFlower
SWB	Soil Water Balance
SYB	SoYBean
TAW	Total Available Water
тс	ThermoCouple
TDR	Time Domain Reflectometry
TFS	Total Fermentable Sugars
TPO	Total POrosity
UKZN	University of KwaZulu-Natal
UP	University of Pretoria
USA	United States of America
USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
USDoE	United States Department of Energy
USGS	United States Geological Survey
USWB	United States Weather Bureau
VEGMAP	National Vegetation Map of South Africa Project
VPD	Vapour Pressure Deficit
WAS	Water Administration System
WBGU	German Advisory Council on Global Change
WGS	World Geodetic System
WP	Water Productivity
WRC	Water Research Commission
WUE	Water Use Efficiency

## LIST OF SYMBOLS

### Roman Symbols (lowercase)

а	constant in PENPAN equation (2.4)
а	amplitude used in calculation of sensible heat H
С	velocity of the electromagnetic signal in free space (m s <sup>-1</sup> )
Cp	specific heat capacity of air (J kg <sup>-1</sup> °C <sup>-1</sup> )
Cs	specific heat capacity of soil (J kg <sup>-1</sup> °C <sup>-1</sup> )
C <sub>ds</sub>	specific heat capacity of dry soil (J kg <sup>-1</sup> °C <sup>-1</sup> )
$C_w$	specific heat capacity of water (J kg <sup>-1</sup> °C <sup>-1</sup> )
d	root depth (cm)
<b>e</b> <sub>a</sub>	actual vapour pressure (kPa)
es	saturated vapour pressure (kPa)
e <sub>s</sub> - e <sub>a</sub>	vapour pressure deficit (kPa)
k	thermal diffusivity of the wood (cm <sup>2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )
l <sub>ij</sub>	length of the soil material between ports i and j (cm)
p	depletion fraction
r <sup>2</sup>	coefficient of determination
rs	surface resistance (s m <sup>-1</sup> )
и	daily averaged wind speed at height 2 m (m s <sup>-1</sup> )
<i>U</i> <sub>2</sub>	daily averaged wind speed at height 2 m (m s <sup>-1</sup> )
U∗	wind friction velocity (m s <sup>-1</sup> )
<i>V</i> <sub>1</sub>	increases in temperature of downstream probe (°C)
<i>V</i> <sub>2</sub>	increases in temperature of upstream probe (°C)
W'	fluctuation from the mean of the vertical wind speed (m s <sup>-1</sup> )
x	distance between the heater and either temperature probe (cm)
Z	measurement height of sonic anemometer (m)
Z	elevation in masl

## Roman Symbols (uppercase)

Α	altitude (degrees decimal; always positive)
A	total cross-sectional area of the column (cm <sup>2</sup> )
ALTF	altitude factor (m)
С	cloudiness (oktas)
D	Index of Agreement
D	vapour pressure deficit (kPa)
D	drainage (mm)
DSTF	distance factor (minutes of a degree)
E	total evaporation (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
Ea	aerodynamic term of Penman-type equation (mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
Ep	unscreened A-pan equivalent evaporation using <i>PENPAN</i> method (mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
$E_{pp}$	screened A-pan equivalent evaporation (mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
E <sub>m</sub>	maximum evaporation (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
Er	reference evaporation (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )

E <sub>sm</sub>	maximum soil water evaporation (mm)
$E_{tm}$	maximum crop transpiration (mm)
ET	actual evapotranspiration (mm) accumulated over growing season
ETa	actual evapotranspiration (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
ET <sub>c</sub>	crop evapotranspiration (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
ETm	maximum evapotranspiration (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
ETo	reference crop (grass) evaporation using FAO56 method (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
$ET_{p}$	potential evapotranspiration (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
ETr	reference crop (alfalfa) evaporation using ASCE-EWRI method (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
F	term used to calculate H
FE	fermentation efficiency (%)
<i>FI<sub>PAR</sub></i>	fraction of photosynthetically active radiation intercepted by the canopy
FD	fetch distance (m)
G	soil heat flux density (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
G <sub>plate</sub>	energy flux measured using the soil heat flux plates (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
G <sub>store</sub>	energy flux stored in soil above heat flux plates (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
GDD	growing degree days (day °C)
Н	Linacre's augmentation radiation term
Н	sensible heat flux (W m <sup>-2</sup> )
Hi	total hydraulic head at port i (cm)
Hi	total hydraulic head at port j (cm)
Ĺ	irrigation (mm)
Ka	apparent dielectric constant
K <sub>c</sub>	crop coefficient (or water use coefficient)
K <sub>c end</sub>	end-season crop coefficient
K <sub>c ini</sub>	initial-season crop coefficient
K <sub>c mid</sub>	mid-season crop coefficient
K <sub>cb</sub>	basal crop coefficient
$K_{ ho}$	pan coefficient (or pan factor)
Ks <sub>ij</sub>	saturated hydraulic conductivity of the soil between port i and j (cm s <sup>-1</sup> )
L	waveguide or probe length (m)
L <sub>dev</sub>	length of the crop development stage (fraction)
L <sub>end</sub>	length of the end-season stage (fraction)
L <sub>ini</sub>	length of the initial-season stage (fraction)
L <sub>mid</sub>	length of the mid-season stage (fraction)
L <sub>a</sub>	apparent probe length (m)
Ms	dry mass of soil core (g)
MAE	mean absolute error (%)
MAR	mean annual runoff (mm day <sup>-1</sup> or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
MAR <sub>base</sub>	mean annual runoff from the baseline land cover (mm day <sup>-1</sup> or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
MAR <sub>crop</sub>	mean annual runoff from the crop surface (mm day <sup>-1</sup> or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
MAR	mean annual runoff determined using original quinary climate database
IVII (I Corg	(mm day <sup>-1</sup> or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
MAR	mean annual runoff determined using revised quinary climate database
······································	(mm day <sup>-1</sup> or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
MdAR	median annual runoff (mm day <sup>-1</sup> or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
Ν	number of observations or measurements

Ρ	atmospheric pressure (kPa)
Ρ	precipitation (mm)
Р	term used to calculate H
PAW	plant available water (m m <sup>-1</sup> or vol %)
Q	volumetric outflow rate (cm <sup>3</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )
R	runoff (mm)
$R^2$	coefficient of determination
R <sub>a</sub>	extra-terrestrial solar radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
R <sub>max</sub>	total seasonal rainfall threshold (mm), above which the crop dies
R <sub>min</sub>	total seasonal rainfall threshold (mm), below which the crop dies
R <sub>np</sub>	net energy available to an A-pan (W m <sup>-2</sup> )
R <sub>nr</sub>	net energy available to a short grass surface (W m <sup>-2</sup> )
R <sub>ns</sub>	net solar radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
R <sub>s</sub>	incoming solar radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
R <sub>so</sub>	clear-sky solar radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
R <sub>n</sub>	net radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
R <sub>nl</sub>	net longwave radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )
RANK	temperature station ranking (fraction)
RH <sub>ave</sub>	mean monthly relative humidity (%)
RH <sub>max</sub>	daily maximum relative humidity (%)
RH <sub>min</sub>	daily minimum relative humidity (%)
RMSE	root mean square error
RMSEs	systematic RMSE
RMSEu	unsystematic RMSE
S	soil water storage (mm)
Т	daily air temperature (°C)
T <sub>ave</sub>	average air temperature (°C)
Τ.	crop base temperature (°C), i.e. lower threshold temperature when crop
bse	development ceases
T <sub>upp</sub>	upper threshold temperature when crop development ceases (°C)
T <sub>a</sub> '	fluctuation of air temperature from the mean (°C)
T <sub>s</sub>	soil temperature (°C)
T <sub>c</sub>	crop transpiration (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )
T <sub>d</sub>	daily dew point temperature (°C)
T <sub>dew</sub>	monthly dew point temperature (°C)
T <sub>max</sub>	daily maximum air temperature (°C)
T <sub>min</sub>	daily minimum air temperature (°C)
T∗	temperature scale of turbulence (°C)
$V_h$	heat pulse velocity (cm hr <sup>-1</sup> )
Vs	volume of each soil core (cm <sup>3</sup> )
WUE <sub>obs</sub>	observed waster use efficiency (kg m <sup>-3</sup> )
WUE <sub>sim</sub>	simulated waster use efficiency (kg m <sup>-3</sup> )
Y	root fraction
Y	crop yield (dry kg ha ')
Ya	
	actual crop yield (dry kg na ')
### **Greek Symbols**

- *α* correction or weighting factor
- *α* albedo of evaporating surface (fraction)
- $\alpha_s$  albedo of surface surrounding the A-pan (fraction)
- $\Delta$  slope of the vapour pressure curve (kPa °C<sup>-1</sup>)
- $\gamma$  psychrometric "constant" (kPa °C<sup>-1</sup>)
- $\lambda$  latent heat of vapourisation (MJ kg<sup>-1</sup> or MJ kg<sup>-1</sup>)
- $\lambda$  inverse of the slope of the logarithmic tension-moisture curve
- $\lambda E$  latent energy flux  $\lambda E$  (W m<sup>-2</sup> or J s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>)
- $\phi$  porosity of the soil (fraction)
- $\rho_a$  density of air (kg m<sup>-3</sup>)
- $\rho_b$  bulk density of the soil (kg m<sup>-3</sup>)
- $\rho_{\rm s}$  bulk density of the soil (kg m<sup>-3</sup>)
- $\rho_w$  density of water (kg m<sup>-3</sup>)
- *r* inverse ramp frequency used in calculation of sensible heat *H*
- $\theta_{DUL}$  soil water content at the drained upper limit (m m<sup>-1</sup> or vol %)
- $\theta_{PWP}$  soil water content at the permanent wilting point (m m<sup>-1</sup> or vol %)
- $\theta_{TPO}$  soil water content at total porosity, i.e. saturation (m m<sup>-1</sup> or vol %)
- $\theta_{v}$  volumetric soil water content (m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>)

# ACRU parameters and variables

CAY	monthly crop coefficient ( $K_c$ )
CELRUN	stream flow generated from the sub-catchment, including the contribution from all upstream sub-catchments (mm $day^{-1}$ or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
COFRU	base flow recession constant (set to 0.009)
COIAM	coefficient of initial abstraction
COLON	monthly fraction of root colonisation of the B-horizon
CONST	fraction of plant available water at which total evaporation is assumed to
CORPPT	monthly precipitation adjustment factors (e.g. to account for differences in monthly rainfall between the selected driver station and spatially averaged estimates for the sub-catchment)
CORPAN	monthly APAN adjustment factors (e.g. to adjust Penman-Monteith evaporation estimates to APAN equivalent evaporation)
EFRDEP	effective soil depth for colonisation by plant roots
EVTR	determines whether transpiration and soil water evaporation are calculated as separate components ( <i>EVTR</i> =2) or combined ( <i>EVTR</i> =1)
IRUN	determines if base flow contributes to stream flow
PCSUCO	monthly fractions (expressed as a %) of the soil surface covered by crop residue
ROOTA	monthly fraction of roots in the A-horizon
RUNCO	base flow store (mm)
SIMSQ	stream flow generated from the sub-catchment (mm day <sup>-1</sup> or mm month <sup>-1</sup> )
SMDDEP	effective soil depth (in m) from which storm flow generation takes place (set to topsoil depth)
QFRESP	storm flow response fraction for the catchment (set to 0.30)

# *VEGINT* monthly interception loss (mm rainday<sup>-1</sup>)

# AQUACROP parameters and variables

В	biomass production (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )
BIO	above-ground biomass produced (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
$CC_o$	initial canopy cover at emergence (%)
CC <sub>pot</sub>	potential canopy cover under non-limited growing conditions (%)
CC <sub>x</sub>	maximum canopy cover reached (%)
CN	curve number
CFA	number of crop failures
CO2	monthly ambient $CO_2$ concentration (ppm)
CYC	length of crop cycle from germination to peak yield (days)
DRA	amount of water drained out of the soil profile (mm)
E	soil water evaporation (mm)
ETC	total amount of water evapotranspired from the crop (mm)
ETR	monthly reference evaporation (mm)
Dr	root zone depletion (mm)
GDD	growing degree days accumulated for month (°C day)
GRO	length of growing season (days)
HI	harvest index
HI <sub>o</sub>	reference harvest index
HID	harvest index (%)
INF	amount of water infiltrated into the soil profile (mm)
IRR	amount of water applied as irrigation (mm)
Ks	stress coefficient
K <sub>v</sub>	yield response factor
K <sub>SAT</sub>	saturated hydraulic conductivity (mm h <sup>-1</sup> or mm d <sup>-1</sup> )
PGDP	Provincial Growth and Development Plan
PMS	potential maximum storage (mm)
RAI	monthly rainfall (mm)
REW	readily evaporable water (mm)
RUN	amount of water lost to surface runoff (mm)
SEA	total number of seasons simulated by the model
SOI	amount of water evaporated from the soil surface (mm)
StExp	level of water stress that reduces leaf expansion (%)
Tn	daily minimum air temperature (°C)
Tr	transpiration (mm)
TRA	amount of water transpired from the crop surface (mm)
Tx	daily maximum air temperature (°C)
UPF	amount of water moved upward by capillary rise (mm)
W <sub>r</sub>	equivalent water depth (m)
WP	water productivity parameter (kg m <sup>-2</sup> mm <sup>-1</sup> )
WP*	normalised water productivity (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )
WPM	water use efficiency at maturity (kg m <sup>-3</sup> )
WPY	water use efficiency when yield peaks (kg m <sup>-3</sup> )
YLD	dry crop yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )

Z <sub>eff</sub>	effective rooting depth (m)
Z <sub>min</sub>	minimum rooting depth (m)
Z <sub>max</sub>	maximum rooting depth (m)

# SWB parameters and variables

CDM	canopy dry matter yield (kg m <sup>-2</sup> or t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
DM	dry matter production (g m <sup>-2</sup> )
DWR	dry matter water ratio (Pa)
$E_c$	radiation conversion efficiency (MJ <sup>-1</sup> )
FI or FI <sub>s</sub>	fraction of intercepted solar radiation
H <sub>c</sub>	mean maximum plant height during the period of calculation (m)
K <sub>c max</sub>	maximum crop coefficient value following rain or irrigation
Ks	canopy radiation extinction coefficient for solar radiation
HDM	harvestable dry matter yield (kg m <sup>-2</sup> or t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
LAI	leaf area index (m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>-2</sup> )
PT	potential transpiration (mm)
LDM	leaf dry matter yield (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )
Rs	daily total solar radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> )
SDM	stem dry matter yield (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )
SLA	specific leaf area (m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>-2</sup> )
TDM	total dry matter yield (kg m <sup>-2</sup> or t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
VPD	vapour pressure deficit (Pa)

This page was intentionally left blank

# **1** INTRODUCTION

# 1.1 Background and Rationale

South Africa is following the international trend of liquid biofuel production, as noted in the South African Biofuels Industrial Strategy of 2007 (DME, 2007a). This strategy highlighted the benefits of biofuel production in terms of alleviating poverty in rural areas, promoting rural economic development and stimulating agricultural production. A 2% blend of biofuels in the national liquid fuel supply, equivalent to an annual production of approximately 400 million litres of biofuel, was proposed by the former Department of Minerals and Energy (DME, 2007a). The strategy aimed to replace 240 million litres of petrol with bioethanol made from sugarcane and sugarbeet (Mbohwa and Myaka, 2011), as well as the production of 160 million litres of biodiesel from sunflower, canola and soybean. To ensure sustainable biofuel production, South Africa plans to grow feedstock on currently under-utilised arable land and preferably under rainfed conditions.

In 2006, the task team that developed the biofuels strategy urged the government to determine the impacts of biofuel feedstock production on both water quality and water quantity (DME, 2006a). The Water Research Commission (WRC) responded to this request and funded a two-year (2007-2009) scoping study on the water use of biofuel feedstocks. The study was conducted by the former School of Bioresources Engineering and Environmental Hydrology (BEEH), based at the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) in Pietermaritzburg. The main aims of the scoping study were to 1) identify suitable feedstock for the production of biofuel, 2) map areas climatically suited to feedstock cultivation, 3) determine the available knowledge on feedstock water use, 4) model the water requirements of selected feedstock, and 5) identify existing knowledge gaps around feedstocks.

In November 2009, the WRC published the scoping study report on the water use of potential biofuel feedstocks (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). The report identified 20 crops which may be utilised for biofuel production in South Africa. The water use of selected feedstocks was then simulated using the *ACRU* hydrological model developed by Schulze (1995). Of these, two feedstocks (sweet sorghum and sugarcane) may have the potential to use substantially more water than the reference natural vegetation. However, the scoping study highlighted that for the emerging feedstocks (e.g. sugarbeet & sweet sorghum), parameter values were gleaned from the international literature. The literature also provided conflicting water use figures for certain feedstocks (in particular sweet sorghum) and that knowledge is surprisingly limited for certain crops (e.g. canola). The scoping study recommended a need to better understand the water use and yield of biofuel feedstocks. In addition, a more detailed mapping approach was required to identify feedstock growth areas that considered additional site factors, i.e. not just rainfall and temperature feedstocks (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). Based on these recommendations, the WRC initiated and funded a six-year (i.e. more comprehensive) follow-up study (WRC, 2010).

In November 2008, the WRC initiated and funded a second, more detailed project entitled: "Water use of cropping systems adapted to bio-climatic regions in South Africa and suitable for biofuel production". This funding totalled R7.4 million and the project commenced in April 2009, with termination in March 2015. The This six-year solicited project was awarded to the Centre for Water Resources Research (CWRR; previously called BEEH) at UKZN, who

partnered with the University of Pretoria (UP) and the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research (CSIR). The aims of this follow-up study were broadly similar to those of the scoping study, except for the need to estimate crop yield and biofuel yield.

# 1.2 **Project Objective and Aims**

The overall objective of this project was to determine the water use of selected biofuel feedstocks deemed suitable for bioethanol and biodiesel production in selected high and low potential bio-climatic regions of South Africa. The specific aims of the project were as follows:

**AIM 1** - To specify and prioritise currently grown and potential alternative first and second generation crops and cropping systems including both annual and perennial crops/trees with attention to, amongst others:

- Crops and crop rotations for food and forage production,
- Crops and crop rotations for biofuel production,
- Multiple use systems e.g. food, fodder and fuel crop combinations,
- Monoculture high density crop production systems,
- Tree feedstocks in plantations, agro-forestry or alley cropping systems, and
- Cellulosic feedstocks.

**AIM 2** - To review and characterise crop parameters, water use and yield (biomass, biofuel and by-products) of crops based on existing knowledge or estimation thereof by applying existing tools with reference to those prioritised in South Africa and those which have potential as alternative biofuel crops as identified above.

**AIM 3** - To identify and describe bio-climatic regions suitable for these priority crop/tree systems for biofuel production with reference to, amongst others:

- Rainfall average and variability,
- Surface and underground water resources,
- Temperature average and extremes,
- Soil properties,
- Known pests and diseases, and
- Topography.

**AIM 4** - To determine crop parameters and model water use of specific crops/trees for biofuel that have potential but insufficient knowledge exists in South Africa to promote effective production.

**AIM 5** - To determine the biofuel yield potential of crops in the respective bio-climatic regions under rainfed and/or irrigated conditions.

**AIM 6** - To estimate or quantify the water use efficiency of these crops with reference to, amongst others, the following parameters:

- Biomass yield per m<sup>3</sup> water over the full productive cycle, and
- Biofuel yield per m<sup>3</sup> water over the full productive cycle.

**AIM 7** - To assess the impact of land use changes on the water balance, within selected key catchments of the specified bio-climatic regions and at appropriate scales, with introduction of crops suitable for biofuel production.

**AIM 8** - To develop a user-friendly, map-based software utility for the planning and management of biofuels in South Africa, drawing on findings from the specific aims listed above.

**AIM 9** - To provide training opportunities for one post doctorate, two full-time PhD and five full-time MSc students. The principal researcher was also encouraged to obtain a PhD degree (part-time).

# 1.3 Approach

With reference to **AIM 1** (to specify and prioritise feedstocks), the project was largely governed by the revised national biofuels industrial strategy (DME, 2007a). This strategy recommended two bioethanol feedstocks (i.e. sugarcane & sugarbeet) and three biodiesel feedstocks (i.e. soybean, canola & sunflower) for biofuel production. The final list of prioritised feedstocks considered in this study was also influenced by the recommendations in the biofuels scoping study report (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). In addition, an inaugural symposium and workshop was held on 10<sup>th</sup> and 11<sup>th</sup> February 2010 respectively. One of the main objectives of the workshop was to identify key feedstocks for further investigation by the project team. Finally, a biofuels technical meeting was held on 17<sup>th</sup> July 2012 to discuss whether grain sorghum should be included in the list of prioritised feedstocks.

With reference to **AIM 2** (to evaluate and characterise feedstocks), information pertaining to, *inter alia*, crop parameters, water use and yield of the prioritised crops was gleaned from the field-based research as well as a thorough review of available literature. **AIM 3** is referred to as the mapping component of the project, with the modelling component involving **AIM 4** (water use modelling) and **AIM 5** (crop yield modelling). In order to derive parameters for certain feedstocks, field-based research was conducted at a number of research farms. The output from the modelling component of this project largely addressed **AIM 6** (estimation of water use efficiency) and **AIM 7** (hydrological impact of feedstock cultivation). In order to meet **AIM 8**, a software program called the Biofuels Assessment Utility was developed. Lastly, a number of students from the University of KwaZulu-Natal and the University of Pretoria worked on the project over its six-year time span (**AIM 9**).

# 1.4 Structure of Report

Over the six-year project, a total of 21 deliverables were produced for the WRC which addressed the various project aims. These deliverables were combined into a final report consisting of three volumes. It is important to note that the majority of the research pertaining to crop yield and water use efficiency (WUE) modelling was conducted in 2015 and thus, was not previously reported.

**Volume 1** is a synthesis report which contains the key findings of the project. Hence, this volume is intended for a wider audience, including decision-makers. **Volume 2** (this document) represents the technical report which provides the necessary detail regarding the field-based research, as well as the methodology used for the mapping and modelling components. Hence, this volume is intended for those (i.e. scientists) requiring more detail on the methodology. **Volume 3** represents the biofuel atlas and assessment utility. It provides the output (as maps, tables, tools etc.) from the modelling and mapping work.

**Volume 1** is essentially a summarised version of **Volume 2** (this document). Thus, the chapter headings are identical in each document, which allows the reader to easily find and peruse the detailed methodology given in **Volume 2**. In **Volume 1**, each chapter contains a synthesised description of the methodology (c.f. sub-section "Approach"), which should suffice for the reader that doesn't require the necessary detail (which is included in **Volume 2**).

**Chapter 2** provides a detailed review of each prioritised feedstock, which is required to fulfil **AIM 01** and **AIM 02**. **Chapter 3** pertains to the field-based research undertaken by the project. It also includes information on soybean and yellow maize, which formed part of WRC project K5/2066. **Chapter 4** summarises the parameters used for both the modelling component, which were obtained from field-based research and gleaned from the available literature. The mapping (i.e. land suitability) component of the study is presented in **Chapter 6** respectively. Finally, the main conclusions drawn from the study are listed in **Chapter 8** in **Volume 1**.

# **2** PRIORITISATION AND REVIEW OF FEEDSTOCKS

In this section, a detailed review of local and international literature is provided. The appraisal provides guidance for the methodology developed to shortlist, motivate and prioritise selected biofuel feedstocks deemed suitable for biofuel production in South Africa. An overview of world trends in biofuel production is provided, as well as an appraisal of the country's petroleum industry, the recently released mandatory blending rates and an overview of agricultural production are discussed.

# 2.1 Background

### 2.1.1 Definition of biofuels

Bioenergy is defined as energy in the form of electricity and heat produced from organic matter on a renewable basis (Watson *et al.*, 2008). Biofuels are defined as gas, solid and liquid fuels produced from biomass (Watson *et al.*, 2008). Hence, a variety of fuels can be produced from biological feedstocks, including liquid (such as bioethanol and biodiesel) and gaseous (e.g. hydrogen and methane). Although biofuels are seen as a sustainable fuel source, they cannot completely substitute fossil fuels. This is mainly due to the significant cropping area and water required to produce sufficient biofuel feedstocks in order to meet the demand for liquid transportation fuel. However, biofuels can contribute to reduce the overall consumption of fossil-based fuels (Duke *et al.*, 2013).

### 2.1.2 Benefits of biofuel production

South Africa began phasing out the use of lead as an octane booster in petrol in 2006. Methyl tertiary butyl ether (MTBE) is another octane booster which was banned in 2000. Bioethanol can be used as an octane booster to replace harmful boosters such as lead and MTBE. In addition, biofuel production may increase agricultural production and improve food security. The demand for biofuel feedstocks is intended to bring fallow land in the former homeland areas back into agricultural production. This would require additional infrastructure (in particular roads) in rural areas in order to improve market access. A major spin-off of the biofuel industry is therefore job creation. Other benefits include improved energy security as well as contributing to South Africa's Cleaner Fuel Policy and thus its green economy.

# 2.1.3 Feedstock classification

# 2.1.3.1 First generation feedstocks

Bioethanol production is currently based on plants capable of producing starches and sugars. Currently, the global biofuels industry makes extensive use of these two agricultural products that are also primarily used in human food and farm animal feed. Thus, sugar from sugarcane underpins the Brazilian bioethanol production. Brazil is the world's largest producer of sugar and bioethanol. Brazil accounts for approximately 40% of world sugar trade and over half of the global bioethanol trade (Worldwatch Institute, 2006). Starch from maize underpins a significant proportion of US biofuels targets. Similarly, maize currently underpins fuel bioethanol production in China (IEA, 2004).

Oil plants manufacture oils which is stored in their seeds as nutritional reserves to support the growth of new seedlings after germination. Soybean is the major crop in both the US and South America, whilst canola (rapeseed) underpins the European market. Palm oil is the major crop in Indonesia and Malaysia (Worldwatch Institute, 2006). It should be noted that the lowest cost biodiesel is currently produced from recycled cooking oil and waste animal grease (Royal Society, 2008).

#### 2.1.3.2 Second generation feedstocks

Biofuel production from lignocellulosic feedstocks has considerable potential, given the amount of energy stored in the biomass and the extent of biomass availability. Sources of lignocellulose include residues, co-products and waste generated by many different sectors such as agriculture, horticulture, forestry, paper and pulp as well as food processing. Globally, there are major research efforts to develop and optimise technologies for producing biofuels from lignocellulosic feedstocks. The world's largest demonstration facility (2.5 ML capacity) of lignocellulose bioethanol (from wheat, barley straw & corn stover) was first established by the logen Corporation in Ottawa, Canada.

Attention (particularly in the US) is focused mainly on switchgrass and miscanthus, although comparisons have shown that miscanthus produces more than twice the biomass yield of switchgrass (Heaton *et al.*, 2004; cited in Royal Society, 2008). The use of miscanthus raises concerns regarding the narrow gene pool currently available and its invasive characteristics. In the UK, a sterile triploid hybrid *Miscanthus x giganteus* (a cross of *M. sinensis* and *M. sacchariflorus*) is under cultivation, but is regarded principally as an energy crop for combustion, rather than for biofuel production. Although the grass can be cultivated with low inputs on marginal land, biomass yield is linked to agricultural input. Issues which still need to be addressed include an improved understanding of its agronomy and optimisation of harvesting processes (Royal Society, 2008).

#### 2.1.4 Biofuel production

#### 2.1.4.1 Sugar-to-bioethanol conversion

The conversion of biomass containing soluble sugars to bioethanol is illustrated in **Figure 1** for sugarcane. However, the process is similar for sugarbeet and sweet sorghum. The fermentation step is similar to that described in **Section 2.1.4.2**. It is cheaper and more efficient to convert sugar crops to bioethanol than compared to starch crops. This is because the starch must first be hydrolysed using enzymes, before the fermentation process can begin using yeast (or bacteria). A by-product from the conversion process is bagasse, which is burnt to generate the energy needed in the processing plant (known as co-generation), and excess energy enables the production of electricity for the national grid. This is compared to the starch-to-bioethanol process which requires the input of fossil fuel energy (typically coal fired boilers).





### 2.1.4.2 Starch-to-bioethanol conversion

The following information was extracted from Mabele Fuels' website<sup>1</sup>. Vogelbusch GmbH, a leading Austrian bioethanol process design company, has been subcontracted by Mabele Fuels to design the Bothaville bioethanol plant. There are four important steps in producing bioethanol from starch feedstocks as shown in **Figure 2**.

**Grain milling**: Sorghum (or maize) is milled (i.e. a size-reduction step) to make it easier to handle the feedstock and the bioethanol production process more efficient. Agricultural residues go through a grinding process to achieve a uniform particle size. This passes through a control process and on to the starch conversion process. Dust from the different steps is collected in a filter system.

**Biomass conversion**: A chemical reaction called hydrolysis occurs when dilute sulphuric acid is mixed with the milled feedstock. In this hydrolysis reaction, the complex hemicellulose sugars are converted to a mix of soluble (i.e. liquefied) five-carbon (pentose) and six-carbon (glucose) sugars. The cellulose fraction of the feedstock is hydrolysed using cellulose enzymes to produce glucose. The cellulose hydrolysis step is called cellulose saccharification because it produces sugars (i.e. pentose and glucose).

**Fermentation**: The sugars are then converted to bioethanol through a process called fermentation. The fermentation reaction is caused by yeast or bacteria, which feed on the sugars to produce bioethanol and carbon dioxide. Fermentation produces bioethanol broth, from which bioethanol is separated out (i.e. bioethanol recovery step) from the other components. A final dehydration step removes any remaining water from the bioethanol.

**Distillation**: The processing plant consists of a multi-pressure distillation system, making more economic use of heat energy and thus reducing steam consumption. There are a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>http://www.mabelefuels.com/products-services/ethanol-production/</u>

number of different columns which operate at different pressure levels, so that one column can be heated with the overhead vapours of another.



Figure 2 Basic process of converting starch into bioethanol (Source: Mabele Fuels website)

In summary, the technology for the conversion of grain to bioethanol is well established and summarised as follows: "The grain is pre-cleaned and stored. From storage the grain is transported to the jet cooking and liquefaction section of the Plant to produce cooked grain mash. The cooked grain mash is sent to the fermentation section of the Plant and then pumped to the distillery where the bioethanol is distilled. The bioethanol is then dried using molecular sieve technology" (IDC, 2013).

Hot silage is stored in an intermediate storage tank, from where it is pumped to decanters for removal of solids. Solids leaving the decanters are premixed with concentrated silage and fed by the mixing system to the drier. Drying of decanter cake and concentrated silage is done in a rotary drum dryer driven by natural gas. The dried product is transported by a conveyor system to the storage area or to the pelletizer. Distiller's dried grains and solubles (DDGS) is then conditioned with steam and water in the DDGS humidifiers and after intensive mixing the humid DDGS is pressed to pellets. After the pellets have been cooled, they are stored for future consumption.

#### 2.1.4.3 Vegetable oil-to-biodiesel conversion

Biodiesel is made by the trans-esterification of vegetable oil with an alcohol, such as methanol (**Figure 3**). Various non-woody plant sources of oil include sunflower, soybean, and canola. Woody shrubs and trees can also be used to produce oil (e.g. African oil palm, Jatropha and Moringa). Other sources of biodiesel include animal fats, marine and algal oils (Tait, 2005).

A by-product of oilseed pressing is protein-rich oilcake that is used in animal feeds, as well as glycerine. Glycerine has many uses in the food and beverage industry as well as in pharmaceutical and personal care products. Glycerine is also used to produce nitroglycerine, which is an essential ingredient of gunpowder and various explosives such as dynamite, gelignite and propellants like cordite.

The energy input required to convert soybean feedstock to biodiesel is much less than the energy to produce bioethanol from maize. According to Hill *et al.* (2006), soybeans create long-chain triglycerides that are easily extracted from seeds. A soybean processing plant which produces biodiesel is more than four times cheaper to build than an bioethanol plant utilising maize (DME, 2006a).



**Figure 3** Production flowchart for producing biodiesel from vegetable oil such as soybean or sunflower (DME, 2006b)

# 2.1.5 Biofuel by-products

In general, two by-products generated by the above processes are suitable for animal feed and can be sold back to the agriculture sector. This applies to the DDGS from grain sorghum or maize, as well as the oilcake from soybeans or sunflower. However, sugarbeet and sweet sorghum processing also produce animal feed, but to a lesser extent. Bagasse from sugarcane or sweet sorghum processing can be used as a heating fuel or pulp for paper manufacture. Glycerine, another by-product from biodiesel production, is sold into a variety of markets for soap and resin manufacture, urethane foams, drugs and cosmetics as well as explosives.  $CO_2$  is produced by all processing plants and may be sold as a compressed gas product required in specialised markets (DME, 2006a).

The 90-million litre capacity bioethanol production facility at Cradock will produce fuel grade bioethanol from grain sorghum, with by-products being DDGS, carbon dioxide and fly ash. Bricks will be made from the fly ash, a waste product from the burning of coal used by the factory to generate heat. The bricks will be used to create two roads in the Cradock district, thus providing additional employment opportunities (DRDLR, 2013).

As mentioned previously, DDGS is a by-product of starch-to-bioethanol conversion is used as animal feed (or fodder). DDGS has about three times the protein content and the same energy levels as the original grain feedstock. Consequently, it receives a price in the animal feeds market of between 0.80 and 1.2 times the maize (corn) price. The South African animal feed market comprises approximately 7.3 million tons per annum. DDGS is typically used to replace yellow maize and soya meal in the animal diet. Kotze (2012b) also reported that DDGS is a medium protein component of animal feed and will reduce the country's need to import soya oilcake.

Rainbow Nation Renewable Fuels (c.f. **Section 2.2.8**) plan to establish a soybean crushing facility alongside its own biodiesel refinery. The company argues that the main product is soybean meal used in animal feed, which is deemed more valuable than the biodiesel and glycerine (i.e. the by-products).

# 2.1.6 Estimating the biofuel demand

# 2.1.6.1 The petroleum industry

South Africa's economy is highly dependent on crude oil imports. According to the Department of Energy's website<sup>2</sup>, imported crude oil supplies about 64% of South Africa's petroleum needs and the remaining 36% is made from syncrude i.e. coal and natural gas. According to the biofuels feasibility study (DME, 2006a) which accompanied the draft biofuels strategy report (DME, 2006b), South Africa spends about R120 billion each year (R300 million per day) on liquid fuels, representing almost 8% of the 2006 GDP. Crude oil imports (20% of total imports) cost about R45 billion per year. Liquid fuels constitute about 30% of South Africa's energy use and account for 70% of South Africa's total energy expenditure. The combined crude oil and syncrude refining capacity in South Africa is currently insufficient to satisfy the demand for liquid fuel products. The deficit in supply is replenished with imported petrol and diesel. The demand for liquid fuel imports was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>http://www.energy.gov.za/files/petroleum\_frame.html</u>

expected to increase by 3 to 5% per annum over the next five years, i.e. 2006 to 2010 (DME, 2006a).

According to the South African Petroleum Industry Association (SAPIA) website<sup>3</sup>, South Africa has six refineries (four coastal and two inland; **Figure 4**), of which four process crude oil and two process syncrude (gas and/or coal). The refining capacity in 2010 was 10 567 and 9 301 million litres for petrol and diesel respectively (SAPIA, 2012). However, consumption in 2010 totalled 11 874 and 9 298 million litres of petrol and diesel respectively (SAPIA, 2012). Hence, in order to address the petroleum shortfall in 2010, South Africa imported 1 571 and 2 163 thousand tons of petrol and diesel respectively (SAPIA, 2012).



Figure 4 Location of South Africa's refineries (SAPIA, 2009a)

The growing dependence on imported petroleum products is unfavourable. In response to this issue, PetroSA plans to build a crude oil refinery at Coega in the Eastern Cape. The Coega refinery will have a capacity of producing 400 000 barrels per day. The refinery will alleviate the country's dependency on imports as well as providing a blending facility for the future production of bioethanol and biodiesel in the Eastern Cape (SAPIA, 2009a).

# 2.1.6.2 Fuel supply vs. demand

The consumption of petrol and diesel in South Africa from 1991 to 2010 is given in **APPENDIX A**. Based on the latest available figures, consumption in 2010 totalled 11 874 and 9 298 million litres of petrol and diesel respectively (SAPIA, 2012). In 2009 (**Table 1**), Gauteng was the largest consumer of petrol (36.5%) and diesel (23.4%).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>http://www.sapia.org//industry-overview/fuel-industry.html</u>

 Table 1
 Consumption of petroleum productions in 2009 by Province (Source: SAPIA website<sup>4</sup>)

Province	Petroleum consumption in 2009					
Flovince	Petrol (%)	Diesel (%)				
Gauteng	36.5	23.4				
Western Cape	15.8	15.3				
KwaZulu-Natal	15.4	17.8				
Mpumalanga	7.8	13.1				
Eastern Cape	7.3	6.3				
Free State	5.6	8.7				
North West	5.5	6.7				
Limpopo	4.5	5.0				
Northern Cape	1.7	3.7				

The latest available figures show that 20 172 million litres of petroleum (petrol + diesel) was consumed in 2010 (SAPIA, 2012). Based on petroleum consumption from 1991 to 2010 (i.e. 20 years as shown in **Figure 5** and **APPENDIX A**, a linear regression model [y = 398.27(x - 1990) + 13313; R<sup>2</sup> = 0.95] was developed to estimate the petroleum demand (y in million litres) from 2011 to 2016 (x = year).



Figure 5 Petroleum consumption in South Africa from 1991 to 2010 (SAPIA, 2012), together with the diesel portion. Projected increases in demand from 2011 to 2016 are shown as linear trend lines

Since the mandatory blending rates take effect on the 1<sup>st</sup> April 2015, the estimated demand for petroleum in 2016 is therefore 23 668 million litres (i.e. 11.79% increase over the next 6 years). The portion of petroleum consumed as diesel increased from 36.55% in 1990 to 43.92% in 2010. A linear regression model [y = 0.6602(x - 1990) + 32.205;  $R^2 = 0.85$ ] was developed to estimate the diesel percentage (y) from 2011 to 2016 (x = year). Hence, the diesel fraction is projected to increase to 49.37% in 2016 (**Figure 5** and **APPENDIX A**).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> http://www.sapia.org//industry-overview/fuel-industry.html

#### 2.1.6.3 Logistics of biofuel blending

Bioethanol used in energy programmes around the world is currently denatured to render it non-palatable for human consumption. Hence, the feasibility study (DME, 2006a) recommended that in order to avoid fuel alcohol illegally entering the potable market, it must be denatured onsite and stored with a bittering agent and a suitable level of denaturant (such as 5% petrol). This practice must be developed with and agreed upon by stakeholders.

According to SAPIA (SAPIA, 2009b), the initial biodiesel blending rate should be limited to B5 to avoid vehicle warranty issues with original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). After due consideration of the technical requirements of existing diesel-engine vehicles, OEMs should support higher blending rates in the future. SAPIA (2009b) also mentioned that bioethanol could be accommodated in all grades of petrol with a blending up to 8% (E8) at the coast and 10% (E10) inland. Bioethanol blends in excess of E10 often require vehicle modifications.

SAPIA (2009b) criticised the government's biofuels strategy of 2007, stating that it is a very broad framework that does not provide the necessary details for practical implementation. The use of bioethanol and biodiesel presents challenges in blending, storage, distribution and usage, with biodiesel being much less complicated than bioethanol (due mainly to bioethanol's affinity to absorb water i.e. its hygroscopic nature). The movement of petrol (even with only a 2% bioethanol content) by pipeline which also transports jet fuel is also not permitted. This relates to the pipeline transportation by Transnet from Durban to OR Tambo International Airport. According to Njobeni (2012), SAPIA has suggested that the Department of Energy establishes a working group to deal with "practical issues" related to the uptake of biofuels. SAPIA does not want the uptake of biofuels to affect negatively the supply of fuels.

SAPIA (2009b) stated that: "A 2% (E2) blend could be produced at existing fuel depots and could be relatively easily implemented with some infrastructure changes. Capital expenditure would be required, especially for tankage, but significant investment would be needed for higher blend levels. Blending at refineries at 2% and higher levels is feasible and would also require capital investment".

In March 2012, a study was conducted to determine the investment required by the petroleum companies to purchase capital equipment necessary to blend biofuels with the fuel supply. According to Van der Westhuizen (2013), a capital investment of R278 million is required for blending at refineries and R459 million for blending at depots.

Since the blending of more than 2% bioethanol with fossil-based petrol should be done at refineries, a preliminary study conducted by Makenete *et al.* (2007) showed that Sasolburg emerged as the lowest-cost siting for a maize-to-bioethanol plant due to its proximity to the Sasol refinery. Secunda was rated as the next best location, again due to its proximity to the petroleum refinery. A sugarcane-to-bioethanol plant should ideally be located in Durban, in close proximity to the Sapref and Enref refineries.

# 2.2 Issues Influencing Feedstock Selection

Global bioethanol production is currently based on feedstocks capable of producing starches or sugars. Sugar extracted from sugarcane underpins the Brazilian bioethanol industry. Brazil is the world's largest producer of sugar and bioethanol. Starch from maize underpins a significant proportion of US biofuels targets. Similarly, maize currently underpins fuel bioethanol production in China (Royal Society, 2008). Canola is the predominant feedstock used in Europe (e.g. Germany) for biodiesel production (Swart, 2012). Hence, sugarcane, maize and canola are important feedstocks in the global biofuels industry. This section provides a timeline of publications and events which have helped shortlist or select biofuel feedstocks deemed suitable for the South African biofuels industry.

# 2.2.1 National biofuels industrial strategy (December 2007)

The revised national biofuel strategy (DME, 2007a) set a 5-year target for producing 400 million litres of biofuel. By 2013, this conservative target has yet to be realised. The reason is mainly due to the lack of incentives provided by local government to encourage biofuel production and uptake. In 2006, the chairman of the Protein Research Foundation of South Africa (Gerhard Scholtemeijer) remarked that nowhere in the world had a biofuel industry been established without a government presence (van Burick, 2006; cited by Swart, 2012). This translates into tax incentives, subsidies and policy changes to stimulate the establishment of a local biofuels industry.

The National Biofuels Task Team recommended two bioethanol feedstocks (sugarcane & sugarbeet) and three biodiesel feedstocks (soybean, sunflower & canola) for use in biofuel production. Maize is currently excluded due to food security concerns and as well as Jatropha for its possible alien invasive threat (DME, 2007a).

# 2.2.2 Inaugural biofuels workshop (February 2010)

The second deliverable of the biofuels project provided a synthesis of the main outcomes of the inaugural biofuels workshop held in February 2010. One of the workshop objectives was to recommend a list of key feedstocks for further investigation by the project. The following is a summary of the recommendations made from the workshop.

Two emerging feedstocks were highlighted for field experimentation, namely sugarbeet and sweet sorghum. Other crops identified for field work included Napier grass. Tree crops which cannot grow to full production during the project's 6-year period were rejected. This decision excluded the Chinese tallow tree from further investigation as well as two indigenous plums namely sour plum and jacket plum, originally highlighted in the biofuels feasibility study (DME, 2006a). In addition, feedstocks recognised as aggressive invaders in other parts of the world were also rejected. This excluded the Chinese tallow tree as well as switch grass from further study.

Crops where sufficient knowledge exists in South Africa, from which their water use can be modelled (and not derived from field work), include maize, sugarcane and sunflower. Other feedstocks with limited knowledge that should also be investigated include soybean, canola, cassava, Jatropha and Moringa. The latter two tree feedstocks were also highlighted in the biofuels feasibility study (DME, 2006a). The above recommendations include all the crops listed in the revised biofuels industrial strategy of South Africa (c.f. **Section 2.2.1**).

# 2.2.3 Biofuel technical meeting (July 2012)

On 17<sup>th</sup> July 2012, a biofuels technical meeting was held at UKZN in Pietermaritzburg to discuss which feedstocks exhibited sufficient knowledge to facilitate the estimation of water use and yield using appropriate simulation models. A summary of the decisions made at the meeting is shown in **Table 89** (**APPENDIX C**).

Feedstocks where insufficient knowledge currently exists to model water use and yield include sugarbeet, sweet sorghum, grain sorghum, soybean, Jatropha and Moringa. Hence, these feedstocks require further investigation involving field trials. However, due to budget constraints, the decision was made to stop monitoring the water use and oil seed yield of the Jatropha and Moringa plantations at Ukulinga and Hatfield respectively. It was agreed that an additional season of monitoring would not add to the existing knowledge base regarding these two biodiesel feedstocks.

The water use and yield of sugarcane was modelled. Other feedstocks that were modelled include soybean, canola and sunflower. However, feedback from the 2012 SANCID symposium suggested that canola is not a well-understood crop in South African growing conditions. Maize was not considered as it is currently excluded as a potential feedstock due to food security concerns. Similarly, Napier grass and Jatropha were not modelled due to their alien invasive threat.

# 2.2.4 Proposed mandatory blending rates (August 2012)

Biofuel mandates set a minimum volume of liquid biofuels to be blended with traditional fossil-based fuels for transport. The draft blending rates were released on 16<sup>th</sup> September 2011 by the Department of Energy (DoE) for public comment on or before 18<sup>th</sup> November 2011 (DoE, 2011). The draft regulations stipulated a minimum B5 (i.e. 5% biodiesel v/v) and a minimum E2 (i.e. 2% bioethanol v/v) blending ratio. On 23<sup>rd</sup> August 2012, the Department of Energy published regulations regarding the mandatory blending of biofuels in the Government Gazette (DoE, 2012b). The mandatory biodiesel blending was unchanged at B5. However, the mandatory bioethanol blending was modified to a permitted range of E2 up to E10.

In 2010, a total of 11 874 million litres of petrol was consumed (SAPIA, 2012). A minimum blending ratio of E2 requires an annual production of at least 237.5 million litres of bioethanol. However, the projected demand for petrol in 2016 is 11 983 million litres. Therefore, an E2 blend requires at least 239.7 million litres of bioethanol to be manufactured in 2016 (**Table 87** in **APPENDIX A**).

South Africa's diesel consumption was 9 298 million litres in 2010 (SAPIA, 2012). In order to achieve a minimum 5% biodiesel blend, approximately 465 million litres of biodiesel is required. However, the projected demand for diesel in 2016 is 11 685 million litres, assuming that 49.37% of the estimated petroleum demand (23 668 million litres) is for diesel (**Figure** 

5). The biodiesel demand in 2016 would then increase to 584 million litres (**Table 87** in **APPENDIX A**).

# 2.2.5 Follow-up biofuels workshop (January 2013)

With regard to the shortlisting and prioritisation of potential feedstocks, the workshop highlighted the following:

- Future biofuel-related policy should clearly identify the specific feedstocks to be used, taking into consideration developing *vs.* commercial farmers, the required blending rates and volume targets, as well as the type of biofuel to be produced.
- Consideration should be given to feedstocks with multiple uses (i.e. food, feed and/or fuel). In other words, priority should be given to biofuel feedstocks that contribute to, rather than compete with, food security. Sweet sorghum is an example of a multi-use feedstock, capable of producing food, feed/fodder, fuel and fertiliser.
- Research is urgently required that quantifies the impacts of land use change to biofuel feedstock production, which should provide guidelines and boundaries for land use planners.
- In April 2009, draft regulations dictate that Napier grass (and other high biomass grasses) may be declared an alien invasive. However, this grass shows potential as a 2<sup>nd</sup> generation bioenergy feedstock.
- A list of criteria was suggested to guide the decision making process with regard to feedstock selection. All of the suggested criteria are mentioned in this report. However, as highlighted in **Section 2.2.8**, the proposed biofuel manufacturers can strongly influence the list of viable feedstocks.
- The role of the farmer needs to be adequately addressed. Important issues are the feedstock's suitability to marginal sites, the ease and cost of cultivation and the farmer's attitude to, and familiarity with, the feedstock.

The workshop also highlighted that there are 21 policies which affect biofuel feedstock production. Furthermore, a significant disconnect between research and policy exists i.e. is policy informing research or is research informing policy? In addition, there is confusion caused by contradictions which exist between National *vs.* Provincial policies. The workshop concluded that the way forward is to focus on the opportunities associated with a viable biofuels industry.

# 2.2.6 Presentation by DoE (August 2013)

On 13<sup>th</sup> August 2013, Mr Mkhize (Chief Director: Hydrocarbons Policy) from DoE presented an update on the biofuels industrial strategy to the Portfolio Committee on Energy. The presentation<sup>5</sup> highlighted grain sorghum and sugarcane as the most appropriate commercial feedstocks for bioethanol production. Similarly, the most appropriate feedstocks for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> <u>http://www.agbiz.co.za/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=rWJOh6S%2BiMY%3D&tabid=357</u>

commercial biodiesel production are soybean and sunflower. Mr Mkhize also mentioned that no information exists in the public domain on the economic feasibility of growing sugarbeet.

# 2.2.7 Draft biofuels regulatory framework (January 2014)

### 2.2.7.1 Background

It is responsibility of the Department of Energy (DoE) to determine biofuel prices that offer "reasonable" returns for biofuel producers. This is the price that the petroleum companies will need to pay the licensed biofuel manufacturers (as listed in **Section 2.2.8**). In February 2012, the DoE appointed consultants to determine the selling price of bioethanol and biodiesel. A workshop was held in February 2012 to discuss the break-even prices as well as the blending rates that optimise the fuel octane value.

The pricing framework highlighted grain sorghum as the reference feedstock to represent the production of bioethanol from starch. Similarly, soybean was selected as the reference feedstock to represent the production of biodiesel from vegetable oil. The recommended pricing is designed to guarantee as 15% return on asset investments.

This legislation is necessary because the petroleum companies will not voluntarily blend the biofuel, as it will increase the cost of fuel (both petrol and diesel). It is expected that government will increase the fuel levy by 4 to 5c per litre, thus recouping the incentive from the public which will then be paid to the petroleum industry (Van der Westhuizen, 2013).

### 2.2.7.2 Overview of the framework

The Department of Energy (DoE) released its draft position paper on the biofuels regulatory framework on 15<sup>th</sup> January 2014 (DoE, 2014). The framework proposed a two-phase approach to biofuel manufacturing. In phase one, an E2 bioethanol blend is considered. Phase two would consider blends up to E10, based on a cost-benefit analysis undertaken by government. The optimum blending rate is determined by the petrol's oxygenate and volatility specifications.

The two proposed bioethanol plants will produce sufficient bioethanol ( $\approx$ 240 million litres) from grain sorghum ( $\approx$ 600 000 tons) to satisfy the E2 blending rate, provided both plants operate at full capacity. The immediate question that is raised is how does the sugar industry contribute to phase one of the approach? The sugar industry is hoping the biofuel (and bioenergy) demand will bring existing farms back into production.

At present, only four bioethanol and four biodiesel manufacturing licenses have been granted by the Office of the Controller of Petroleum Products. Of these, only one company (Ubuhle Renewable Energy) intends to produce 50 million litres of bioethanol from sugarcane at Jozini. Capital investment is required to modify the sugar mills to ferment bioethanol from sugarcane. This becomes economically viable if the blending rate is E10 according to the South African Cane Grower's Association (Viljoen, 2014). At present, it is more profitable for the sugar industry to sell their bioethanol to the white rum distillers (Viljoen, 2014).

Capital investment is also required to modify the petroleum depots and refineries to accommodate the blending of biofuel into the fuel supply chain. The proposed E2 blend can

be done at depots, thus reducing the cost of transporting biofuel to each of the country's six refineries. It also reduces the initial investment required by the petroleum industry, before October 2015, to manage the challenges created by bioethanol's hygroscopic (i.e. affinity to absorb water) nature.

The draft position paper focuses on the economics of biofuel production. Firstly, biofuel manufacturers will be subsidised by Treasury from funds acquired from the General Fuel Levy. The framework proposed a levy ranging from 3.5 to 4.5 cents per litre (cpl) on page 9, yet 4.5 to 6.5 cpl on page 23. The awarding of the subsidy is also dependent on the biofuel manufacturer meeting, *inter alia*, the following requirements:

- source at least 10% of its feedstock from smallholder/emerging farmers within four years of start-up (for rural upliftment),
- obtain written consent from the land owner to grow biofuel feedstocks (for protection of land rights),
- ensure that feedstock is not grown on currently productive commercial farms (for protection of food security),
- safeguard against the clearing of trees (particular indigenous) for feedstock production, unless agreed upon by relevant authorities (for protection of natural resources),
- obtain written permission from the DWA to use irrigation water for feedstock production, and
- provide detailed motivation for feedstock irrigation and that the country's water resources are not be negatively impacted.

A letter from DAFF is also required that confirms feedstock was planted in "designated areas". However, it does not apply to land acquired through the land reform process (i.e. land purchased by the Department of Rural Development and Land Reform, for example, in the Cradock region). The eligibility criteria stipulated above does affect the mapping component of the biofuels project and therefore should be taken into consideration.

The subsidy is based on each biofuel manufacturer producing 158 and 113.6 million litres of bioethanol and biodiesel respectively. These "caps" were imposed to accommodate as many players as possible into the industry. In other words, a biofuel manufacturer will only be subsidised up to these volume "caps", irrespective of the plant's total capacity.

According to the DoE (2014; Table 1 on page 8), Arengo 316 is planning a second phase of the Cradock bioethanol plant which will produce a further 90 million litres. It is believed that sugarbeet will be the preferred feedstock when the plant's capacity is expanded in the future. However, the total capacity of 180 million litres exceeds the cap for subsidy. Similarly, most (3 of the 4) of the biodiesel manufacturers exceed the subsidy cap as well.

In order to further incentivise biodiesel production, manufacturers can claim faster asset depreciation by way of tax incentives. Furthermore, they receive a 50% General Fuel Levy

exemption for quantities below 300 000 litres. At present, no similar incentives are proposed for bioethanol as it falls outside of the fuel tax net.

# 2.2.8 Proposed biofuel manufacturers (January 2014)

The Department of Energy (DoE, 2014) provided an update on the licensing of proposed biofuel facilities in South Africa. **Table 2** shows that eight companies have applied to manufacture biofuel, with a total annual capacity exceeding 1 300 million litres. The preferred bioethanol feedstocks include grain sorghum, sugarbeet and sugarcane. Similarly, the preferred biodiesel feedstocks include canola and soybean.

Company	Biofuel	Feedstock	Capacity (ML an⁻¹)	Location	License						
Mabele Fuels	Bioethanol	Sorghum	150	Bothaville, FS	Issued						
Arengo 316	Bioethanol	Sorghum	90	Cradock, EC	Approved						
Arengo 316	Bioethanol	Sugarbeet	90	Cradock, EC	Approved						
Ubuhle RE	Bioethanol	Sugarcane	50	Jozini, NL	Issued						
E10 Petroleum	Bioethanol	Sugarcane	4	Germiston, GT	Approved						
PhytoEnergy	Biodiesel	Canola	455	Port Elizabeth, EC	Applying						
Rainbow Nation	Biodiesel	Soybean	288	Port Elizabeth, EC	Issued						
Basfour 3528	Biodiesel	Soybean	170	Berlin, EC	Issued						
Exol Oils	Biodiesel	Waste oil	12	Krugersdorp, GT	Approved						

**Table 2**Status of licenses granted by the Department of Energy for<br/>biofuel manufacturing facilities in South Africa (DoE, 2014)

FS = Free State; EC = Eastern Cape; NL = KwaZulu-Natal; GT = Gauteng

There are sufficient biofuel manufacturers to produce the target volume of 824 million litres of biofuel, which is required to satisfy the minimum blending rates (see **Section 2.2.4**). If the Cradock and Bothaville bioethanol plants are completed by 2016, the total bioethanol capacity is 240 million litres from approximately 600 000 tons of grain sorghum, which is sufficient to satisfy an E2 blend. The biofuels industry could then produce up to 958 million litres of bioethanol, thus increasing the blending ratio to E10 (the maximum mandatory blending ratio).

The construction of the above-mentioned processing plants has been deferred due to the government's delay in finalising the regulated price and financial support mechanism for licensed producers (refer to **Section 2.2.10** for further detail). There are no plans to build a biofuel processing plant in Mpumalanga, which is a concern for the local government.

# 2.2.9 Finalised mandatory blending rates (October 2015)

The mandatory blending rates came into effect on 1<sup>st</sup> October 2015. This means that the petroleum industry is forced to uptake all biofuels produced as long as the volumes meet the minimum required blending rates. Hence, the minimum volume of bioethanol required is approximately 240 million litres by 2016. Similarly, the minimum volume of biodiesel is about 584 million litres.

Biofuels can only be purchased by a blender from a licensed manufacturer of biofuels (c.f. **Table 2**). The blender must pay the regulated price for the biofuel and keep records for five years concerning the volumes of biofuel purchased and from which manufacturer. Each month, such records must be submitted to the Department of Energy. A blender cannot refuse to purchase the volume of biofuel being sold unless the blender has insufficient volumes of petroleum to blend (DoE, 2012a).

# 2.2.10 Finalised framework and pricing policy (2016?)

Kotze (2012b) added that 1) legislation on a pricing structure that will determine the delivered cost of biofuels, and 2) a government-agreed incentive for biofuels producers must also still be announced, before the biofuels industry can be fully established. The National Treasury still needs to finalise the necessary "support mechanisms" (the word "incentives" is discouraged) to fund, amongst others, the capital investment required by the petroleum industry to implement the blending of biofuel into the fuel supply chain. In addition, the DoE needs to finalise the government can implement the blending rates. An update or revision of fuel tax levies is also expected for bioethanol and biodiesel production. It is hoped that government will announce the regulated price and the financial support mechanism for licensed biofuels producers in the near future.

### 2.2.11 Twenty-year liquid fuels road map

With regard to the country's 20-Year Liquid Fuels Infrastructure Road Map (DME, 2007b), the report acknowledges the impact of climate change on crop production, especially for biofuel production. Hence, climate change modelling is required to assess this impact and to develop adaptation strategies for affected areas.

The AQUACROP model is well suited to estimating the impacts of climate change of feedstock production. The model is sensitive to rising ambient  $CO_2$  levels and how this effects transpiration rates, particularly in  $C_4$  plants. This ability offers an advantage over empirically-based crop models (e.g. Barry Smith suite of crop models) which cannot account for the so-called " $CO_2$  fertilisation effect".

However, it appears that the new multi-product pipeline from Durban to Johannesburg cannot be used to transport biofuel products due to the potential contamination of jet A1 fuel (DoE, 2014). Thus, biofuel blends need to be transported by road and rail.

#### 2.2.12 Sustainability Issues

The National Biofuels Task Team is required to update the December 2007 national biofuels strategy. The task team must decide to either include or exclude the use of 2<sup>nd</sup> generation feedstocks. Furthermore, they must provide evidence to either include or exclude maize and Jatropha as permitted feedstocks. Both the Department of Science and Technology (DST) and the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) are involved in making these decisions. The DoE is not involved with feedstock cultivation as this is DAFF's responsibility.

#### 2.2.12.1 Exclusion of maize

In order to assess the potential impact on food security, it is crucial that staple food crops as well as their primary growing regions are well understood. From **Table 88** (in **APPENDIX B**), statistics compiled by the FAO are given for South Africa. They show the per capita consumption of calories derived from non-animal products in 2009 (FAOSTAT, 2009). Food groups were ranked on their calorie contribution to the average daily diet and identified maize and wheat as the most important food crops. Together, these crops account for 54.6% of the daily dietary intake. Thus, if staple food crops such as maize and/or wheat are diverted away from food production and towards the biofuels market, the likely shortage could increase food prices. This would affect both food availability and access to food by the rural poor. The production of biofuel using maize and/or wheat can potentially jeopardise food security and therefore requires careful consideration and appraisal. Based on this, it is understandable why maize is excluded as biofuel feedstock in South Africa (DME, 2007a).

Furthermore, local biodiesel production could affect food security if vegetable oils are diverted away from food needs. In total, vegetable oils contribute to 13.3% of the average daily dietary requirements, which is more than that of sugar products. The most popular cooking oil is made from sunflower seed, followed by soybean. From the list of feedstocks proposed in the country's national biofuel strategy (DME, 2007a), only canola (or rapeseed) oil and sugarbeet are non-important food crops.

#### 2.2.12.2 Exclusion of Jatropha

Alien invasive plants are widely considered as a major threat to biodiversity, human livelihoods and economic development. On 3<sup>rd</sup> April 2009, The Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism (DEAT) published Government Gazette No. 32090 (DEAT, 2009). It represents the 2<sup>nd</sup> draft of the Alien and Invasive Species Regulations of the National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No.10 of 2004). Section 70 is a draft of invasive species which lists Napier grass and *Jatropha curcas* as Category 1b and 2 plants respectively. Should the draft regulations become law, then any species designated under Section 70 will be controlled using permits. Category 1b are species deemed to have such a high invasive potential that infestations can qualify to be placed under a government sponsored invasive species control programme. No permits will be issued and such species should be removed and destroyed. Category 2 are invasive species to be regulated by area. Hence, a demarcation permit is required for the species which will not be issued if plants exist in riparian zones.

#### 2.2.12.3 Economic considerations

At present, the production of bioethanol from soluble sugars stored in sugary juice is more economical than from starch-filled grain, the latter needing an additional pre-treatment to convert starch into fermentable substrate. In addition, the lower the tannin content of starch, the cheaper the bioethanol production. Similarly, the production of bioethanol from lignocellulose (i.e. 2<sup>nd</sup> generation) material is not yet economically viable.

Swart (2012) undertook an economic feasibility study of commercial biodiesel production in South Africa. His comprehensive PhD study indicated that the cost of using soybean and sunflower as feedstocks was not economically viable since South Africa is a net importer of oil seeds and vegetable oils. Used cooking oil and inedible tallow fat are the only viable feedstocks in the Gauteng area. It is slightly cheaper to use tallow fat rather than used oil for biodiesel production.

Based on Swart's (2012) analysis, the waste oil plant to be built by Exol Oils in Krugersdrop should be more profitable than the facility planned in the Eastern Cape by Basfour (c.f. **Section 2.2.8**). Erasmus (2012) also noted that biodiesel production from fresh cooking oil is not economically viable. Used cooking oil is typically bought from restaurants and caterers because it is currently too expensive to use fresh oil. Approximately one litre of biodiesel is made from a litre of fresh, unused oil (used oil results in a biodiesel yield loss of about 10%).

Sparks (2010) conducted a study to evaluate the economic feasibility of producing on-farm biodiesel from soybeans produced in KwaZulu-Natal. The economics of biodiesel production is highly dependent on the soybean price (i.e. the feedstock input cost) and the soybean oilcake price (i.e. the highest valued by-product). Results indicated that on-farm biodiesel production is currently not economically viable at both the commercial and small-scale level. This is based on a minimum total arable land area of 440 hectares needed to warrant a small scale processing plant. It was estimated that an incentive, in the form of a minimum subsidy of R4.37 per litre of biodiesel, was required for soybean-based biodiesel production on commercial farms. However, the minimum subsidy for collective smallholder biodiesel production was conservatively estimated to be nearly three times higher (R12.14 per litre).

Sparks (2010) concluded that since South Africa historically imports soybean oilcake and soybean oil, government should rather consider promoting small-scale soybean oil crushing ventures as a means for value-adding for smallholders. Importantly, this initiative could have positive spinoffs for domestic livestock industries in terms of increased animal feed production.

At present, only small-scale biodiesel production (i.e. less than 300,000 litres per annum) is exempt from the fuel tax levy (DME, 2007a). The government also offered a fuel tax exemption for bioethanol, a 50% rebate on the fuel levy for biodiesel (> 300 m<sup>3</sup> production) and a three-year "accelerated depreciation allowance" for renewable energy projects. However, this was insufficient to lure investments in the biofuels sector, hence the need to establish a more enabling and supportive regulatory framework (Van der Westhuizen, 2013). Since there are no other incentives or subsidies provided by government for biofuel production, profit margins may be small. Hence, the cost of biofuel production will need to be subsidised by government, especially when the crude oil price is low.

#### 2.2.12.4 Land and water requirements

Of concern to environmentalists is the land and water required to produce sufficient feedstock to meet the biofuel target volumes determined by the mandatory blending rates. Few studies have been conducted which estimate the spatial extent of areas considered suitable for the sustainable production of biofuel feedstocks. Such studies are required to understand the upper bounds of biofuel supply potential as well as the extent of negative environmental consequences that may be associated with large-scale feedstock production. Biofuel supply potential is often constrained by the availability of land on which to grow feedstocks in a responsible manner. However, water scarcity rather than land availability may prove to be the key limiting factor in South Africa. Furthermore, biofuel feedstock production may impact on water use and consequently, aggravate catchment water stress.

Sustainable feedstock production therefore hinges on careful land use planning, which is considered a major challenge in securing a renewable energy future.

# 2.3 Shortlisting of Bioethanol Feedstocks

In this section (**Section 0**), key issues were reviewed which affect the selection of appropriate feedstocks for the biofuel industry. From the above review, the biofuels project focused its attention on sugarcane, sugarbeet, grain sorghum, sweet sorghum, maize, soybean, canola, sunflower, Jatropha and Moringa. In the sections that follow, a short motivation is given which justifies the shortlisting of each potential feedstock.

# 2.3.1 Sugarcane

Sugarcane is listed as one of the preferred bioethanol feedstocks in the national biofuels strategy (DME, 2007a). In addition, this feedstock was also highlighted by the DoE as one of the most appropriate commercial feedstocks for bioethanol production. Although sugarcane was not selected as the reference feedstock to represent sugar crops in the South African biofuels regulatory framework (DoE, 2014), it is believed that this crop will be included in future amendments of this policy document.

At present, only one relatively small processing plant (50 ML capacity) plans to use sugarcane as its preferred feedstock. The process of converting sugar-based feedstocks into bioethanol is cheaper and simpler than using starch-based feedstocks. However, sugarcane may be more suitable for bioenergy production using bagasse (i.e. co-generation) as opposed to biofuel production. Since starch-based feedstocks are likely to satisfy the minimum E2 blend (of 240 million litres of bioethanol), bioethanol derived from sugarcane will be used to increase the blending up to E10. At the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, the recommendation was made to model the water use and yield of sugarcane.

# 2.3.2 Sugarbeet

The decision to include sugarbeet in the national biofuels strategy (DME, 2007a) and initially as the preferred feedstock for the Cradock bioethanol project appears to be politically driven (and not based on sound agronomic and economic principles). A visit by the Project Team to Cradock in April 2012 revealed that Prof Stephan Kaffka (University of California, Davis, US) originally recommended sugarbeet as the preferred bioethanol feedstock for the Cradock region. Sugarbeet is suited to Cradock's cold and dry winter (Maclachlan, 2012) and thus, this feedstock justifies the location of the bioethanol facility at Cradock. However, supplemental irrigation will be required to establish and maintain a winter crop of sugarbeet in the Cradock region.

Kings (2012) stated that the Cradock bioethanol project has two phases, the first requiring 225 000 tons of grain sorghum. The second phase will use sugarbeet produced by emerging farmers. An IDC tender document (IDC, 2013) also states that sugarbeet is "...outside the current scope of the Project and may be considered as part of the plant's potential future expansion plans only". The Agrarian Research and Development Agency (ARDA; formerly known as Sugarbeet SA) plan is to begin sugarbeet production with designated emerging farmers on government-owned land within three years after the completion of the proposed

bioethanol plant (Maclachlan, 2012). It is believed that the Cradock farms would ultimately incorporate sugarbeet as a rotational feedstock for the bioethanol plant.

ARDA stated that sugarbeet would replace the feed crops grown in the Fish River Valley (Maclachlan, 2012). According to Dugmore (2010), maize and lucerne are mostly produced in the Cradock region. Since fresh sugarbeet contains about 75% of water by volume, the Cradock bioethanol facility plans to extract water from the sugarbeet, thus reducing the volume of water to be abstracted from the irrigation canal required for processing the feedstock into bioethanol. The processing plant will abstract water from the Marlow Irrigation Board's canal which runs diagonally across the site where the Cradock processing plant will be built.

At the biofuels inception workshop held in February 2010, it was recommended that because insufficient knowledge exists for South African growing conditions, the Project Team would measure the water use and yield of sugarbeet at Ukulinga. Excluding Ukulinga, sugarbeet has only been grown at Cradock (Dugmore, 2010; Dugmore, 2011) in the Eastern Cape and on a commercial farm near Lichtenburg in the North West Province (Dugmore, 2011).

# 2.3.3 Grain sorghum

Although grain sorghum was not considered in the national biofuels strategy as a viable bioethanol feedstock, it was also highlighted by the DoE as one of the most appropriate commercial feedstocks for bioethanol production (DoE, 2013). With maize still banned as a biofuel feedstock, grain sorghum is the preferred feedstock of choice for the proposed Bothaville and Cradock bioethanol pants. The 150-million litre facility at Bothaville requires approximately 400 000 tons of grain sorghum annually (Coleman, 2012).

An IDC tender document (IDC, 2013) clearly stated that bioethanol will initially be produced exclusively from grain sorghum at Cradock. Cradock's 90-million litre plant requires approximately 200 000 to 230 000 tons of grain sorghum annually (IDC, 2011). The decision to switch from sugarbeet to grain sorghum as the preferred feedstock is probably due to the IDC's concerns over feedstock supply. Although the former Sugarbeet SA consortium (now called ARDA) has conducted research on sugarbeet over the past 10 years, agronomic factors related to weed and disease control are not yet finalised. According to Maclachlan (2012), ARDA's main research focus is to reduce sugarbeet's high input costs, particularly if the feedstock is produced by emerging farmers.

The selection of grain sorghum as a preferred feedstock by two bioethanol producers provides sufficient motivation to consider this feedstock in the biofuel project. In addition, sorghum was selected as the reference feedstock to represent starch crops in the South African biofuels regulatory framework (DoE, 2014). It is also believed that grain sorghum will be listed as one of the preferred bioethanol feedstocks in a future update of the national biofuels strategy. At the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, the Project Team therefore recommended that grain sorghum be included in field trial research in the third season.

### 2.3.4 Sweet sorghum

The biofuels scoping study report (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a) recommended that field-based research is conducted on emerging feedstocks such as sweet sorghum (and sugarbeet). At the biofuels inception workshop held in February 2010, it was also recommended that because insufficient knowledge exists for South African growing conditions, the project should measure the water use and yield of sweet sorghum at the Ukulinga and Hatfield research farms. Sweet sorghum is also being researched at the ARC's Crop Grains Institute at Potchefstroom, Mpumalanga.

At the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, the decision was made to measure the water use and yield of ratooned sweet sorghum. Hence, the 2011/12 trial at Ukulinga was cut in July 2012 and allowed to re-establish. Fertiliser was applied and the trial was irrigated to initiate growth. However, in December 2012, the trial was abandoned due to poor growth. It is hypothesised that the ratooning trial failed due to the cold winter experienced at the Ukulinga research farm in 2012. A ratoon crop may be possible in the hotter and wetter regions of the country (e.g. along the Zululand coast).

### 2.3.5 Maize

Lemmer and Schoeman (2011) provided a summary of the events which led to maize being currently banned as a potential biofuel feedstock. The draft national biofuels industrial strategy issued on 15<sup>th</sup> December 2006 (DME, 2006b) supported the use of maize as a biofuel feedstock, as it could potentially improve food security and could contribute to more stable food prices in the economy. The maize market is limited by demand for the product (both food and feed).

Back in 2007, the Minister of Agriculture was mostly concerned about the demand for export maize by neighbouring countries, as well as the additional demand required for bioethanol production. The Director General of Agriculture added that yellow maize may be considered for bioethanol production, but white maize was not a viable feedstock due to food security concerns. In the past, maize prices have peaked at R2 000.00 per ton, resulting in sharp increases in the price of staple foods products such as maize meal. Based on this, Cabinet decided in December 2007 to exclude maize from the national biofuels industrial policy (DME, 2007a). This decision was made despite Grain SA's appeal to government that maize should not be rejected because its inclusion could ease volatilities in the domestic maize price, boost rural agricultural development and actually improve food security (Lemmer and Schoeman, 2011).

Although yellow maize is not a viable feedstock, a decision was made at the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, to assess the water use and yield of soybean at Baynesfield in conjunction with WRC Project No. K5/2066 (Mengistu *et al.*, 2014). However, the no water use or yield modelling was undertaken for this feedstock.

#### 2.3.6 Cassava

Little information exists on cassava production in South Africa, particularly at a commercial scale. At the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, it was mentioned that cassava is more

valuable as a source of industrial starch and not starch-to-bioethanol production. Based on this evidence, cassava was not considered as a viable feedstock in South Africa.

# 2.4 Shortlisting of Biodiesel Feedstocks

# 2.4.1 Soybean

Soybean is listed as one of the biodiesel feedstocks in the national biofuels strategy (DME, 2007a). This feedstock was also highlighted by the DoE as one of the most appropriate commercial feedstocks for biodiesel production (DoE, 2013). In addition, soybean was selected as the reference feedstock to represent oilseed crops in the South African biofuels regulatory framework (DoE, 2014). More importantly, Rainbow Nation Renewable Fuels are planning to utilise this feedstock for their 288 million litre capacity biodiesel plant in Coega, Eastern Cape. A report prepared by the Global Agricultural Information Network (GAIN) estimated the total feedstock required at 1.35 million tons annually, based on a biodiesel yield of 211.8 L t<sup>-1</sup> of crop (GAIN, 2009). This represents a substantial increase in soybean production from 505 000 tons in 2010. However, some studies (e.g. Sparks, 2010) have challenged the economic viability of biodiesel produced from soybean. At the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, a decision was made to assess the water use and yield of soybean at Baynesfield in conjunction with WRC Project No. K5/2066 (Mengistu *et al.*, 2014).

# 2.4.2 Canola

Canola is also listed as one of the biodiesel feedstocks in the national biofuels strategy (DME, 2007a). However, PhytoEnergy are planning to utilise this feedstock for their 455 million litre capacity biodiesel plant in Coega, Eastern Cape. Approximately 500 000 ha of planted canola is required to meet the feedstock demands of the processing plant (GAIN, 2009). In the 2010/11 season, only 37 000 tons of canola was produced from 35 000 ha predominantly in the Western Cape. At the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, a decision was made to model the water use and yield of canola.

# 2.4.3 Sunflower

Sunflower is listed as one of the biodiesel feedstocks in the national biofuels strategy (DME, 2007a). In addition, this feedstock was also highlighted by the DoE as one of the most appropriate commercial feedstocks for biodiesel production (DoE, 2013). The feedstock is well suited to marginal sites or when low rainfall is expected in a particular season. At the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, a decision was made to model its water use. However, due to time constraints, the modelling of sunflower yield was not completed.

# 2.4.4 Jatropha

*Jatropha curcas* may be declared a Category 2 alien invasive if draft regulations are promulgated, i.e. invasive species controlled by area and thus requires a permit and is not permitted to grow in riparian zones (DEAT, 2009). Jatropha is also considered an invasive species in Hawaii and Australia (GTZ, 2009; Everson *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, DAFF have yet to announce their decision on the future use of Jatropha for biodiesel production.

The scientific literature and other reports indicate a growing disappointment regarding Jatropha's performance, especially in marginal areas where it has been promoted to "thrive". For example, The German Technical Cooperation (GTZ) commissioned an extensive study of Jatropha in Kenya. The report concluded that "Jatropha currently does not appear to be economically viable for smallholder farming when grown either within a monoculture or intercrop plantation model" (GTZ, 2009). The only economically viable option for smallholders is to grow Jatropha as a natural or living fence (mainly used for animal enclosures) with very few inputs (GTZ, 2009).

Based on the above evidence, a decision was made at the biofuels technical meeting in July 2012, to stop the water use and yield monitoring of Jatropha at the Ukulinga site. The consensus was further monitoring would not change the present understanding of this feedstock's water use and yield.

# 2.4.5 Moringa

Although Moringa is considered a multi-use tree that may provide *inter alia*, food and medicinal products, its role as a potential biodiesel feedstock is questionable. Research to date at the University of Pretoria had been conducted on a lower oil-yielding variety that was sensitive to cold winters. However, a new variety from India was achieving better yields. Further research is required to identify a cultivar that is better suited to the country's cooler areas. The tree is more suited to tropical areas, particularly if grown for its oil yield. Unlike Jatropha seeds, oil derived from the Moringa tree is edible. Based on the perceived value of the oil for human consumption *vs.* biodiesel production, it is unlikely that Moringa will become a significant biofuel feedstock in South Africa.

# 2.5 **Prioritisation of Feedstocks**

Lemmer and Schoeman (2011) highlighted the importance of a multi-feedstock approach to sustainable biofuel production in South Africa. Such an approach will enable producers to select feedstocks best suited to the agro-climate of the regions where the processing plants are situated and thus, to minimise logistic costs by sourcing crops grown closest to the plants. The economic viability of producing biofuel from feedstocks which are not currently produced in sufficient quantities remains a major concern.

# 2.5.1 Bioethanol production

As highlighted in **Section 2.2.6**, the two feedstocks with the highest potential for bioethanol production in South Africa are sugarcane and grain sorghum. Of these two feedstocks, research effort was focused on grain sorghum as there are two proposed sorghum-tobioethanol factories that require over 600 000 tons of grain. At this stage, yellow maize is not considered a viable feedstock for bioethanol production, but this could change depending on whether the ban on maize is lifted in the near future. Although sweet sorghum shows potential for use in bioethanol production, further research is required to 1) improve the soluble sugar content through breeding trials, and 2) determine the best management practises to optimise biomass and sugar production. Priority for sugarbeet is considered low and depends on ARDA's future plans to incorporate this feedstock into the supply mix for the Cradock bioethanol facility. In addition, research is required to breed cultivars better suited to South Africa's dryland growing conditions. Finally, little information exists on cassava production in South Africa, particularly at a commercial scale. Hence, this feedstock exhibits the lowest priority for bioethanol production.

# 2.5.2 Biodiesel production

The two feedstocks with the highest potential for biodiesel production in South Africa are soybean and sunflower. However, the largest biodiesel plant in South Africa plans to utilise canola and for this reason, canola is deemed to have the highest potential. Due to the value of animal feed by-products derived from soybean, this feedstock is deemed to have high potential. Sunflower is well adapted to growing on marginal sites in South Africa and is thus a suitable feedstock for emerging farmers where canola and/or soybean cannot be grown. Tree feedstocks such as Jatropha and Moringa exhibit the lowest potential for biodiesel production due to their low oil yields.

# 2.5.3 Second generation feedstocks

If the draft regulations pertaining to alien invasive plants are promulgated, then Napier grass will be prohibited for use in biofuel production. Hence, research efforts focused on first generation feedstocks and a "wait-and-see" approach was adopted for second generation feedstocks.

Research effort in Australia is currently focused on cellulosic (i.e. second generation) technology, after the biofuels industry was plagued by rising feedstock prices, which led to a number of processing plants being "mothballed". Research emphasis is on the use of short-rotation coppiced eucalypt (woodchip), as well as high biomass grass hybrids. For example, energy cane hybrids currently produce 30% more biomass, but lower sugar yield. Research into drought tolerance is other focus area, particularly around wheat, sugarcane and sorghum. At present, biofuels are produced mainly from waste streams in Australia, thus avoiding food security issues. Bioethanol is made from 1) a starch-rich effluent from the processing of wheat into food, 2) sugarcane molasses and 3) grain sorghum. Biodiesel is also produced from animal fat (i.e. tallow) and used cooking oil.

# 2.6 Review of Bioethanol Feedstocks

**AIM 2** of this study is to review and characterise the prioritised feedstocks in terms of crop parameters, water use and yield (biomass, biofuel and by-products).

# 2.6.1 Sugarcane

Sugarcane belongs to genus *Saccharum officinarum* L. of the *Poaceae* (grass) family (Jewitt *et al.,* 2009a). Sugarcane is a tall perennial monocotyledon crop, with stalks 3 to 5 m tall which are 2 to 3 cm thick. The crop has not adapted to survive freezing conditions and is dependent on abundant sunshine for healthy growth. It can be cultivated in the tropical and sub-tropical regions of the world for its ability to store high concentrations of sugar in the stem. It re-emerges when cut, thus enabling multiple harvests to be obtained from a single planting. For commercial sugar production, it is considered a long-term monoculture and can be grown on a large, medium and small scale (Watson *et al.,* 2008). It is harvested in 9 to

24 month intervals, depending on the growing conditions and the variety planted (Tammisola, 2010). There are on-going investigations in South Africa into sugarcane varieties that are suitable for energy production (Jewitt *et al.,* 2009a).

### 2.6.1.1 Present distribution

Sugarcane originated in the South Pacific Islands and New Guinea (Duke, 1983). It is largely geographically distributed in the lower latitudinal areas found on either side of the Equator, with the majority being cultivated between 0° and 33° latitude (Watson *et al.*, 2008). Sugarcane is grown in 14 cane-producing areas is South Africa which extend from the Eastern Cape (Northern Pondoland) through the coastal belt of KwaZulu-Natal and the Midlands, up into the Mpumalanga Province (DAFF, 2012c). The current sugarcane mills in relation to the sugarcane production areas are shown in **Figure 6**. The map shows that sugarcane growing areas north of the Felixton mill are current irrigated.



**Figure 6** Locations for sugarcane mills (in red), together with rainfed and irrigated cane production areas shown in green and blue respectively (SASA, 2012)

Sugarcane is mainly produced as a mono crop in South Africa. About 20% of the plant is composed of tops and green leaves. Freshly cut cane tops can be fed to mature (and pregnant) beef cows (Smith, 2006). Approximately 68% of sugarcane is grown within 30 km of the eastern coastline and 17% in the high rainfall areas of Kwazulu-Natal. The remainder is grown in the northern irrigated areas that comprise the Pongola and Mpumalanga lowveld. There are 1 550 commercial growers (including more than 378 black commercial growers) who produce 84.7% of the total sugarcane production. There are 27 580 are small-scale growers mainly on tribal land, of whom 13 871 delivered cane for crushing in 2010/11, accounting for 8.6% of the total crop. Milling companies with their own sugar estates

produce 6.7% of the crop. Hence, there are 29 130 registered cane growers in South Africa (DAFF, 2011b).

The total area planted to sugarcane expanded in the mid 1990's, primarily as a result of the establishment of the Komati Mill in Mpumalanga and the relocation of the Illovo Mill to its current site in Eston. Since then, no further significant expansion has taken place, due mainly to land competition from urban expansion along the KwaZulu-Natal coastline. Since cane is a perennial crop, the area planted is less subject to fluctuations in supply compared to other crops such as maize (DAFF, 2011b).

### 2.6.1.2 Season length

According to Smith (2006), sugarcane can be planted in the northern regions (i.e. Lowveld of Mpumalanga) under irrigation in any month except for June and July (soil temperature too low for germination). In the KwaZulu-Natal Mistbelt (i.e. Midlands), planting usually takes place from mid-September to mid-October. Planting from early August to the end of October is typical along the coastal areas of KwaZulu-Natal. The season length varies from 12 to 14 month in hot areas (i.e. coastal areas), up to 18 to 24 months in cool areas (inland areas).

Owing to the larger number of ratoon crops that can be harvested from a single planting (average of 5 to 6, but up to 10), the decision was made to consider ratoon sugarcane and not a newly planted (or re-planted) crop. Hence, all months were considered for mapping suitable production areas. In this study, it is assumed that sugarcane is harvested in August and re-generates (i.e. ratoons) in September (Smith, 2006).

### 2.6.1.3 Growth criteria

A summary of growth criteria gleaned from the literature for sugarcane in given in **APPENDIX D**. From this, minimum and maximum limits for optimum, sub-optimum and absolute growth conditions were derived. In **Table 3**, a distinction was made between temperature thresholds for ripening (i.e. in latter part of the season) and those used for the remainder of the 12-month growing season.

Variable		Sub	Opt	Opt	Sub	Abs
		Minimu	n	Maximum		
Seasonal rainfall (mm)	850	1 100	1 300	1 500	1 800	2 000
Monthly mean temperature (°C): Sep-Apr	15	20	22	30	32	35
Monthly mean temperature (°C): May-Aug	8	10	12	14	20	24
Monthly mean relative humidity (%): Sep-Apr	30	70	80	85	90	95
Monthly mean relative humidity (%): May-Aug	20	35	45	65	75	85
Soil depth (mm)	400	700	1000			

**Table 3**Growth criteria for sugarcane derived from values published in the literature

The productivity of this crop is dependent on the two most important ecological requirements for efficient growth, namely adequate moisture and temperature (Tarimo and Takamura, 1998). To ensure that growing conditions are sufficiently moist, the minimum annual precipitation should be 850 mm. Sufficient water distribution over the growing season is a major requirement to satisfy sugarcane production. For optimum production, 1 300 mm of rainfall should fall per year (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). Sugarcane yield is directly proportional to the amount of water used under prevailing climatic conditions. Singels (2015) noted that sugarcane is not suited to areas where the annual rainfall is below 650 mm.

Sugarcane grows comparatively slowly during both the early and late stages of its growth cycle. The optimum mean daily temperature for rooting and sprouting of the planted stem is > 20°C. Stalk growth is optimum at 22 to 30°C and 10 to 20°C is necessary for ripening (to reduce vegetative growth and to increase sucrose levels) (Tammisola, 2010; Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). Maximum temperatures below 20°C and above 34°C result in minimum growth for sugarcane (Smith, 1998). The monthly minimum temperature for June and July should be above 5°C to avoid frost-prone areas. However, Singels (2015) suggested the average minimum temperature in July should be greater than 7°C.

According to DAFF (2012c), high humidity (80-85%) favours rapid cane elongation during the main growth period. Hence, humidity is beneficial for sugarcane growth and not a condition that triggers disease occurrence. In addition, a moderate humidity range of 45 to 65%, coupled with limited water supply, is favourable during the ripening phase. This information also appears on the website<sup>6</sup> for Netafim's Agricultural Department, which has successfully cultivated sugarcane in diverse climates and growing conditions worldwide. The website also indicated that sugarcane ripens from 270 to 360 DAP for a 12-month crop cycle (i.e. from June to August). However, in this study, the month of May was also including in the ripening phase as shown in **Table 3**.

Sugarcane prefers growing in 1 m deep soils, with available content water greater than 150 mm. However, roots may extend to a depth of 5 m. Singels (2015) noted that sugarcane is not suited shallow soils with a depth of less than 30 cm. The crop prefers a water table below 1.5 to 2.0 m, since waterlogging can increase the susceptibility to diseases and bacterial infections (Watson *et al.*, 2008). Accumulated annual sunshine duration greater than 1 200 hours is required to achieve optimum growth (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a).

Sugarcane has no special soil requirements and therefore does well under a range of soil conditions (Tammisola, 2010). Sugarcane grows best in well-structured and aerated loams and sandy soils with the optimum pH around 6.5, but the plant can survive in soils with a pH of 4.5 to 8.5 (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a; Tammisola, 2010).

# 2.6.1.4 Crop water use

Sugarcane yield is directly proportional to the amount of water used under prevailing climatic conditions. The approach adopted by Jewitt *et al.* (2009b) involved the sub-division of the sugarcane production areas in KwaZulu-Natal into three regions, *viz.* inland, northern coastal and southern coastal. The city of Durban provides the boundary between northern and southern coastal production regions. Areas with an average altitude of 400 m or above are classified as inland.  $K_c$  values for the inland region were derived from experiments conducted at Eston in the KwaZulu-Natal midlands (**Table 4**). Similarly, experiments conducted at Kearsney Manor and Umzinto represent the northern and southern coastal areas respectively (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>http://www.sugarcanecrops.com/climate/</u>

Table 4	Representative values for crop coefficients (K <sub>c</sub> ) for unstressed ratoon
	sugarcane for the three main production areas in KwaZulu-Natal (Jewitt et al.,
	2009b)

Reg <sup>1</sup>	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec
IL	1.08	1.15	1.17	1.01	0.99	0.83	0.85	0.77	0.84	0.81	0.97	0.99
NC	1.14	1.16	1.16	1.01	1.05	0.90	0.93	0.88	0.99	1.00	1.10	1.05
SC	1.12	1.16	1.16	0.99	1.03	0.85	0.88	0.82	0.98	0.89	1.06	1.01
AV	1.11	1.16	1.16	1.00	1.02	0.86	0.89	0.82	0.94	0.90	1.04	1.02

<sup>1</sup>IL - Inland region; NC - north coast region; SC - south coast region; AV - average of all three regions

In this study, the crop coefficients for each sugarcane growing region (e.g. Inland, south coast & north coast) were averaged and used to estimate sugarcane water use, which reduced the total number of national runs required. This was based on an analysis of the preliminary model runs, which showed that when the individual region *vs.* averaged crop coefficients were used, there is no significant difference in the stream flow results. Hence, the averaged K<sub>c</sub> values shown in **Table 4** were used in this study for land suitability mapping and water use modelling of sugarcane.

In addition, crop coefficients for planted sugarcane from FAO (FAO, 2002) were also considered to test the mapping approach adopted in this study (**Table 5**). The minimum and maximum length (i.e. ripening takes 30 to 60 days) of each growth stage for sugarcane corresponds to a 12- and 24-month growth cycle respectively. For the purposes of mapping areas suitable for cane production and for modelling sugarcane water use, a 12-month growth cycle was assumed in this study.

Table 5	FAO-based	crop	coefficients	$(K_c)$	for	unstressed	planted	sugarcane	(FAO,
	2002)								

Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec
1.18	1.18	1.18	0.93	0.93	0.80	0.80	0.68	0.80	0.95	1.10	1.10

2.6.1.5 Crop yield

The average cane yield for the country is 66.11 tons per harvested hectare which means about 20.25 million tons of cane is crushed each year (**Table 6**). The projected cane production figures for the previous two seasons (2012/13 & 2013/14) are also shown in **Table 6**.

	Area	Cane	Cane	Cane	Sugar	Cane/
Year	Harvested	Production	Yield	Sucrose	Production	Sugar
	ha	x 1000 t	t ha <sup>-1</sup>	%	x 1000 t	
1998/99	316 357	22 930	72.48	13.36	2 646	8.67
1999/00	313 294	21 223	67.74	13.77	2 532	8.38
2000/01	322 858	23 876	73.95	13.08	2 730	8.77
2001/02	325 704	21 157	64.96	13.11	2 396	8.83
2002/03	321 234	23 013	71.64	13.71	2 763	8.33
2003/04	325 956	20 419	62.64	13.70	2 419	8.44
2004/05	316 010	19 095	60.43	13.52	2 235	8.54

Table 6	Total commercial sugarcane	production over a 10-	vear period (DAFF, 2011b)			
	i olar ooninnorolar oagaroanio		<i>year period (2/ 11 / 20116)</i>			
	Area	Cane	Cane	Cane	Sugar	Cane/
----------	-----------	------------	--------	---------	------------	-------
Year	Harvested	Production	Yield	Sucrose	Production	Sugar
	ha	x 1000 t	t ha⁻¹	%	x 1000 t	
2005/06	318 856	21 052	66.02	13.74	2 507	8.40
2006/07	305 600	20 279	66.36	12.92	2 236	9.07
2007/08	307 380	19 724	64.17	13.47	2 282	8.64
2008/09	287 380	19 255	67.00	13.69	2 269	8.49
2009/10	278 133	18 655	67.07	13.68	2 188	8.53
2010/11	271 080	16 016	59.08	14.14	1 909	8.35
2011/12	270 705	16 800	62.06	12.94	1 822	9.17
Average	305 753	20 250	66.11	13.49	2 354	8.63
2012/13*		18 162			2 142	
2013/14*		20 727			2 370	

\*Estimate obtained from SASA website<sup>7</sup>

The table above shows that there was a decline in cane production between 2010/11 and 2011/12. According to DAFF (2011b), the major factors responsible for this decline are:

- the diminishing profitability of growing cane in terms of input costs versus financial returns,
- adverse weather conditions (particularly droughts),
- poor cane contractor performance and service,
- high contracting rates,
- limited capital availability, and
- withdrawal of cane supply support (in some regions), traditionally provided by sugar milling companies.

Harvested sugarcane is transported to 14 sugar mills situated in Kwazulu-Natal and Mpumalanga (**Figure 6**), where it is washed and chopped. The chopped fibre is mixed with water and pressed to produce cane juice. The fibrous mass left after pressing is known as bagasse, and is used for animal feed, paper manufacturing or as a bioenergy feedstock to generate heat (co-generation). The 14 sugar mills are designed for energy balance, which means the bagasse is used by the mill to generate steam and electricity.

After further heating and filtration, the cane juice goes into an evaporator and vacuum pan where much of the remaining water is removed. The resultant syrup is then centrifuged to separate sugar crystals from the molasses (thick, dark fluid rich in vitamins and minerals). Molasses is used in cattle feed and to make brewer's yeast and alcoholic drinks (e.g. cane spirits). The raw sugar crystals are further refined to remove impurities (mostly molasses), with the final product being pure white sugar (DAFF, 2011b).

The industry produces an estimated average of 2.35 million tons of sugar per season (i.e.  $\approx$ 8.62 tons of cane produces 1 ton of sugar). The sugar content varies from 12.92 to 14.14% with an average of 13.49% (**Table 6**). The projected sugar production figures for the previous two seasons (2012/13 & 2013/14) are also shown in **Table 6**. Between 50 to 60% of this sugar is marketed in the Southern African Customs Union (SACU) comprising of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> <u>http://www.sasa.org.za/sugar\_industry/FactsandFigures.aspx</u>

South Africa, Swaziland, Lesotho, Botswana and Namibia. The remainder is exported to markets in Africa, Asia and the Middle East (DAFF, 2011b).

#### 2.6.1.6 Disease incidence

In Schulze *et al.* (2010a; 2010b), maps showing the mating, maintenance and mortality indices for Chilo and Eldana moths are given. Both moths lay eggs which produce borers which attack cane stalks, causing severe loss in cane quality. The maps were derived using temperature (and not humidity) as the surrogate driver variable. A review of available literature did not reveal a relationship between humidity and sugarcane disease incidence. According to DAFF (2012c), high humidity levels favour rapid stalk elongation during the main growth period. Hence, humidity is an optimum growth criteria and not a surrogate variable for disease occurrence. The reader is referred to **Section 2.6.1.3** for further discussion.

## 2.6.1.7 Biofuels suitability

In 2011, the US became the largest supplier of bioethanol made from maize, with Brazil importing a record high 1,497 million litres of bioethanol from the US. By the end of 2012, Brazil once again dominated world bioethanol production from sugarcane, which should remain the case in 2013. However, Brazil experienced severe frosts in the early morning of the 24 and 25 July 2013 which damaged about 18% of cane standing uncut in fields<sup>8</sup>. The frost changes the composition of sugars in the cane stalk (i.e. less sucrose) which causes crystallisation problems and mills will this favour bioethanol over sugar production.

Brazil has demonstrated that sugarcane is well suited to bioethanol production. The amount of land needed to produce bioethanol from sugarcane is relatively low due mainly in advances in technologies (**Figure 7**). Goldemberg (2008) estimated that within a five-year period (2000 to 2004), the bioethanol yield in Brazil increased from 2 000 to 5 917 litres per hectare of sugarcane grown. This yield improvement was mainly attributable to new advanced hybrids and genetically modified sugarcane, new cultivation techniques and new biorefinery technologies used to extract the sugar from the cane stalk and ferment it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> <u>http://www.agweek.com/event/article/id/21358/</u>



**Figure 7** Land-use intensity for different types of biofuels, where m<sup>2</sup>/Lge denotes land area in square metres per litre of gasoline equivalent (IEA, 2010)

Bioethanol production from grain sorghum will likely satisfy the minimum 2% blend (equivalent to 240 million litres) mandated by government. The use of sugarcane would increase the bioethanol blending ratio above 2%, but capped at 10% by the mandatory blending legislation. The sugar industry could then produce up to 958 million litres of bioethanol, thus increasing the blending ratio to E10. Tongaat Hulett CEO Peter Straude estimated that a 2% blend could be achieved with 400 000 tons of sugar. He also mentioned that South Africa can produce an annual surplus of sugar between 600 000 (E3 blend) and 1 000 000 tons, which is sufficient for an E3 to E5 blend (Naidoo, 2011). Sugarcane is similar to sweet sorghum in that the sugar quality of the stalk juice degrades rapidly post-harvest and therefore should be processed into bioethanol as soon as possible. This is well documented in the literature, together with numerous solutions to minimise the cut-to-crush time.

In summary, the biofuels industry can create an alternative market for surplus cane production which will encourage expansion of the industry. According to REEEP (2007), cane sugar is exported on a regular basis from South Africa to neighbouring African countries as well as to overseas countries. It is recommended that exported cane could be the initial source for bioethanol production. There is less risk of food/fuel competition because South Africa has consistently produced a surplus of sugarcane. In addition, the sugarcane industry is committed to first meeting the needs of the food market, before any surplus is diverted to the biofuels market.

#### 2.6.2 Sugarbeet

Sugarbeet belongs to the *Chenopodiacae* family and is a deciduous single stem herb (FAO, 2007). It provides about 16% of the world's sugar production from the large tuber (FAO, 2012b). Sugarbeet has been proposed as one of the potential bioethanol feedstocks in South Africa. However, the problem facing South Africa is that there is no reliable information available for the potential production of sugarbeet in South Africa (DoE, 2012a) and it is not as widely used as sugarcane for bioethanol production (Brandling, 2010).

## 2.6.2.1 Present distribution

Although this crop originated from Asia, it is now grown in many countries (FAO, 2007). Most of the world's sugarbeet is grown in Europe's temperate regions between 30° and 60°N. France, Germany, Poland and the UK are the dominant sugarbeet producing countries in Europe. Approximately 75% of world sugar production per annum is derived from beet grown in Europe, followed by North America (11%), Asia (8%) and South America (3%). Wherever sugar beet is grown in the world, climate and soil are the two major determinants of success (Draycott, 2006).

The world's supply of sugar is obtained from only two crops, namely sugarcane and sugarbeet. Sugarbeet is mainly in temperate zones (Cattanach *et al.*, 1991), but can be grown in different climates. By comparison, sugarcane is grown in warmer, more tropical climates. For example, sugarbeet is also grown in the sub-tropics and is known for its high tolerance to saline and alkaline soils (FAO, 2012b). It is also grown as a summer crop in maritime, prairie and semi-continental climates. In addition, sugarbeet can be grown as a winter or summer crop in Mediterranean regions and some arid environments (Campbell, 2002).

## 2.6.2.2 Season length

It should be noted that the growing period for sugarbeet is dependent on the region's biophysical characteristics. From the available literature, Brandling (2010) suggested the growing period is normally from 140 days up to 200 days. FAO (2012b) indicated the season is typically 160 to 200 days long. For this study, a seven-month season (i.e. 210 days) was assumed with two different planting dates, namely 1<sup>st</sup> September (i.e. summer) and 1<sup>st</sup> June (i.e. winter). The latter planting date was also suggested by Morillo-Verlade and Ober (2006). In Cradock, the planting date will typically be May 1<sup>st</sup> (after the first frost which usually occurs in late April), with a season length of nine months (Maclachlan, 2012).

#### 2.6.2.3 Growth criteria

A summary of growth criteria gleaned from the literature for sugarbeet in given in **APPENDIX D**. From this, minimum and maximum limits for optimum, sub-optimum and absolute growth conditions were derived (**Table 7**).

Variable		Sub	Opt	Opt	Sub	Abs
		Minimum			Maximum	
Summer Seasonal Rainfall (mm)	400	500	600	800	900	1 000
Winter Seasonal Rainfall (mm)	350	450	550	750	850	950
Monthly mean temperature (°C)	5	10	15	20	25	30
Monthly maximum relative humidity (%)				60	70	80
Soil depth (mm)	500	700	900			

Table 7	Growth criteria	for sugarbeet	derived from	values	published in	the	literature
	Olowin oniona	ioi sugaibeet		values	published in	uic	niciature

According to the above table, sugarbeet is optimally suited to areas that receive between 600 to 800 mm of rainfall per summer growing season (550 to 750 mm for a winter planting). This range is similar to that given by FAO (2007) of 550 to 750 mm for total water requirement over the growing season. In high rainfall and humid areas, the plant is more susceptible to both above-ground (i.e. leaf spot) and below-ground (i.e. root rot) diseases.

The optimum daily minimum temperature for seed germination is 7 to 10°C, but seeds can also germinate at 5°C. During vegetative growth, higher day temperatures are preferred. To obtain higher sugar yields, the hourly night temperature should range between 15 and 20°C and the hourly day temperature should vary between 20 and 25°C in the latter part of the growing period (FAO, 2012b). Daily maximum temperatures greater than 30°C can greatly decrease sugar yields during this period (FAO, 2012b). In order to achieve maximum productivity, the optimum mean monthly temperature range is approximately 15°C to 25°C (Petkeviciene, 2009; Wahab *et al.*, 2012).

From the available literature, the soil depth required for the viable cultivation of sugarbeet ranges from a minimum of 500 to 600 mm, to a maximum range of 1 200 to 1 500 mm. Sugarbeet is known for its high tolerance to saline and alkaline soils (FAO, 2012b). The absolute lower and upper pH thresholds are 4 to 9 respectively, with an optimal range of 6.5 to 8 (Christenson and Draycott, 2006). Heavy textured or clay soils should be avoided as the crop is highly sensitive to root rot which is aggravated by water logged conditions (Johl, 1980).

## 2.6.2.4 Crop water use

Single crop coefficients for sugarbeet were obtained from the crop trials at Ukulinga. Summer and winter  $K_c$  values were obtained from the 2010/11 and 2013 seasons respectively, as shown in **Table 8**. The initial crop coefficient values ( $K_{c ini}$ ) at Ukulinga were higher than those reported by Morillo-Velarde and Ober (2006), which is probably due to the transplanting of seedlings. The winter  $K_c$  values did not follow a typical crop coefficient curve because irrigation was withheld to induce water stress and thus, prevent root rot disease as recommended by Maclachlan (2012).

Growth stage	Length of growth stage (days)	K <sub>c</sub> (Summer)	K <sub>c</sub> (Winter)	K <sub>c</sub> Morillo-Velarde and Ober (2006)
Initial	24-45	0.77-0.78	0.81-0.85	0.40-0.50
Development	35-75	0.78-1.05	0.75-0.85	0.75-0.85
Mid-season	50-90	1.06-1.07	0.73-0.76	1.05-1.20
Late-season	15-50	0.84-0.85	0.76-0.86	0.90-1.00

**Table 8**Single crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for each sugarbeet growth stage

## 2.6.2.5 Crop yield

According to FAO (2012b), commercial yields range from 40 to 60 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of fresh beet with 15% sugar content. Sugar yield is determined by both tuber size and sugar concentration. In mild climate regions, sugarbeet is harvested and delivered to the factory for processing within a few days. In regions with cold winters, the harvest is delayed until freezing temperatures are anticipated (Campbell, 2002). In 2011, production of sugarbeet was about 234 million tons from about 5.9 million ha (FAO, 2012b).

## 2.6.2.6 Disease incidence

Diseases can significantly reduce potential crop yield if precautionary measures are not taken. If disease occurs in the early stages of sugarbeet establishment and growth, it may destroy the entire crop. Both relative humidity and temperature can affect disease incidence.

For example, downy mildew outbreaks can occur at temperatures between 5 and 20°C and relative humidity of 80 to 90%. Similarly, powdery mildew may occur at lower humidity levels of 30 to 40% (Asher and Hanson, 2006).

In this study, a threshold of 60% for maximum (not mean) monthly relative humidity was considered low risk for disease outbreak, which concurs with the figures of 60% and 65% provided by Wood *et al.* (1980) and Maclachlan (2012) respectively. Higher humidity levels increase the possibility of disease occurrence, especially leaf spot (i.e. *Cercospora*). To avoid disease outbreaks, sugarbeet will be grown in winter at Cradock, when conditions are typically cold and dry. Sugarbeet seed should be planted into moist soil to ensure germination. Supplemental irrigation is necessary to establish the crop, thereafter irrigation is withheld to induce crop stress and minimise root rot (Maclachlan, 2012).

It is recommended that sugarbeet is only planted once every 3 to 4 years to minimise the build-up of nematodes. A cyst-forming nematode caused the closure of some sugarbeet processing factories in Germany where neighbouring farms practiced monoculture (Draycott, 2006). In addition, experience indicates that monoculture is also likely to exacerbate weed control problems by increasing the populations of some weeds that are difficult to control. Hence, sugarbeet is almost always grown in rotation with other crops. In South Africa, an autumn planting of sugarbeet followed by a summer planting of sweet sorghum would be ideal. Crops like sweet sorghum can suppress nematode infestation. However, breeding research is required to produce short-season sweet sorghum varieties to allow for this ideal rotation. The problem typically occurs in May when the beet should be planted, but the sweet sorghum is still busy maturing. Draycott (2006) reported that catch crops can also be used to control nematodes. Nematode-resistant cultivars of cruciferous green manure crops (e.g. white mustard & oil radish) are planted after sugarbeet, then ploughed in 2 to 3 months later. This technique has been widely used in some countries (e.g. Germany, Italy & Spain) to maintain soil organic matter content and conserve nitrogen in the topsoil.

## 2.6.2.7 Biofuel suitability

The interest in sugarbeet as a biofuel feedstock is due to its ability to accumulate a large quantity of sugar in its storage root. This occurs mainly in the ripening phase, resulting in the lower part of the root containing the highest concentration of sugar (16-20% of fresh weight). This concentration decreases progressively toward the upper parts of the crown, i.e. 7-9% sugar (Draycott, 2006).

The sugar content of sugarbeet tubers rapidly deteriorates post-harvest. This is similar to most crops that produce sugar (e.g. sugarcane). Hence, sugarbeet will need to be grown with a 70 to 100 km radius of the bioethanol plant (Maclachlan, 2012). This will reduce the time between harvest and juice extraction as well as minimise transportation costs. The Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries recommends that feedstocks are produced within an 80 km radius of the processing facility.

## 2.6.3 Types of sorghum

The type of sorghum grown for biofuel production depends on the type of conversion process that will be used. Biomass yield, sugar yield and grain yield of sorghum is strongly influenced by both genetic and environmental factors. Sorghums produce different amounts

of carbohydrates (structural *vs.* non-structural) which can be used to distinguish each type (**Table 9**). Structural carbohydrates include hemicellulose, cellulose, and lignin (important as a second generation feedstock), while the non-structural carbohydrates include sucrose, glucose, fructose and starch (important as a first generation feedstock). Although all types of sorghums produce lignocellulose that could serve as feedstock for second generation biofuels, energy (and fibre) sorghums contain more structural carbohydrates and are therefore more efficient for energy (and fibre) production (Zegada-Lizarazu and Monti, 2012).

2012)		
Sorghum type	Structural (%)	Non-structural (%)
Forage	59-63	22-28
Sweet	53	37
Energy/Fibre	77	20

Table 9	Carbohydrate composition of different sorghums (Zegada-Lizarazu and Monti,
	2012)

Forage and sweet sorghums are tall and grown primarily for their biomass. Sweet sorghum is bred to produce sugar levels similar to sugarcane. Both forage and sweet sorghums are thick stemmed, with typically 60 to 70% moisture (wet basis) content at harvest. Energy sorghum is forage/sweet sorghum bred for high biomass production. For the tall biomass hybrids, lodging resistance is also an important consideration. In comparison, grain sorghum is relatively short in stature (0.6-1.2 m tall) and grown for grain production (Turhollow *et al.*, 2010). Sorghums are therefore divided into four distinct types based on the amount of different carbohydrates they produce, *viz*.:

- Grain sorghum: produces large quantities of grain (approximately 50% of total biomass) and is commonly grown in regions that are more arid. The grain is composed of approximately 75% starch and may be used as a food grain, feed grain or bioethanol production.
- Forage sorghum: produces lower quantities of grain (approximately 25% of total biomass). They are used for grazing or hay production or chopped and ensiled for animal feed. Hybrids are bred to enhance forage quality and palatability. They may have application as a 2nd generation feedstock where lower lignin content is desirable.
- Sweet sorghum: produces high concentrations of soluble sugar, which is predominantly sucrose with variable levels of glucose and fructose. Hybrids are being bred as feedstocks for mainly bioethanol production. Growth can be prolific when environmental conditions allow the plants to reach their full genetic potential.
- Energy or fibre sorghum: produces high quantities of lignocellulosic biomass. These sorghums are highly photoperiod sensitive, meaning that the crop can effectively photosynthesise throughout the entire growing season. The absence of reproductive growth, particularly in temperate climates, reduces sensitivity to short periods of drought (USDoE, 2011). Energy sorghum can be used to biofuel and bioenergy production. Fibre sorghums can also be used for fibre production, in particular the manufacture of paper from cellulose (Zegada-Lizarazu and Monti, 2012).

Energy sorghums have a photoperiod shorter than the day length at the end of the growing season (i.e. first frost in temperate climates), which allows the crop to maximise biomass production. These photoperiod sensitive hybrids begin reproductive growth (i.e. flowering) when day length reaches a certain threshold (typically 11.5-13.5 hours). The absence of reproductive growth, particularly in temperate climates, means biomass production is maximised. In contrast, photoperiod insensitive sorghums initiate flowering after a set amount of time, regardless of day length. For example, grain sorghum has been bred in temperate climates to do this (Turhollow *et al.*, 2010).

## 2.6.4 Sweet sorghum

As noted in the previous section (**Section 2.6.3**), sweet sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L.) is similar to grain sorghum, except the crop has sugar-rich stalks. Sweet sorghums are distinct due to their higher sugar content in stalks (Brix 10 to 18%) from flowering to maturity. By comparison, grain sorghum has a Brix value of 9 to 11% during the same period (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009).

## 2.6.4.1 Present distribution

Sweet sorghum is the fourth major cereal crop of the world in production and fifth in planted area (after wheat, rice, maize and barley). It is mostly grown in the semi-arid tropics (SAT) of the world where production is constrained by poor soils, low and erratic rainfall as well as low inputs (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009). Sorghum and particularly sweet sorghum, is a fast growing  $C_4$  plant native to tropical zones, but with a wide adaptability to different environmental conditions. It can be grown in tropical, sub-tropical as well as temperate zones (Zegada-Lizarazu and Monti, 2012).

#### 2.6.4.2 Season length

Sweet sorghum has a relatively short crop rotation of 4 to 5 months (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009). In sub-tropical areas, farmers should benefit from two harvests per annum. Dryland farmers in the tropics can get up to three sweet sorghum crops per year. However, sorghum farmers rarely get more than one crop a year in temperate climates (ABW, 2008).

The duration from emergence of seedling to tillering is about 30 days. About 47-55 days after seedling emergence, the plants enter the jointing/elongation stage as the leaf surface area expands quickly and the plant rapidly elongates. During elongation, the soil should be fertile and weeds should be controlled. Stem height increases with daylength and therefore stems are shorter when grown at the Equator. After booting, it produces the final leaf or the flag leaf. About a week later, it then begins earing and after 2-5 days, it blooms. Maximum water use occurs at blooming and this is when irrigation water should be applied. After completing pollination, the milk stage begins and pressed seeds contain a thick milky liquid. During the wax stage, a waxy paste is expressed from pressed seeds. After 30 days from blooming, the mature stage is identified by dry and hard seed (Guiying *et al.*, 2003).

#### 2.6.4.3 Growth criteria

According to scientists at the International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), an estimated 50 percent of grain sorghum growing areas could be sown with sweet sorghum (ABW, 2008). Sweet sorghum can be grown on less fertile lands and is also drought tolerant.

Although sorghum is considered a dryland crop, sufficient moisture availability for plant growth is critically important for high yields. According to Reddy *et al.* (2008), sweet sorghum grows well in areas receiving more than 700 mm annual rainfall. Srinivasa Rao *et al.* (2009) noted that optimum rainfall is 550 to 800 mm over the growing season. While sorghum will survive with a supply of less than 300 mm rainfall over the season of 100 days, it responds favourably to additional rainfall or irrigation water. Typically, sweet sorghum needs between 500 to 1000 mm of water (rain and/or irrigation) to achieve good yields of 50 to 100 t ha<sup>-1</sup> total above ground biomass (fresh weight).

Sweet sorghum can be grown in the temperature range of 15 to 37°C with the optimum daily temperatures between is 32 to 34°C (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009). The plant thrives when daytime temperatures are above 30°C (ABW, 2008). Sorghum can be found at elevations between sea level and 1 500 m. In East Africa, it grows at altitudes of 900 to 1 500 m. Cold-tolerant varieties are grown between 1 600 and 2 500 m in Mexico.

The preferred day length is 10 to 14 hours, with relative humidity 15 to 50%. Both grain yield and stalk sugar content will decline if the crop experiences a short daylength, low night temperatures and low radiation levels. A large temperature difference between day and night, after flowering will favour the accumulation of sugar in the stalk and nutrients in the seed (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009).

Sorghum grows readily in saline or alkaline soils and can withstand stress (ABW, 2008). Sweet sorghum possesses twice as many secondary roots as maize at any one stage of growth. The secondary roots grow out from the base of the stalk node near the soil surface after the plant has produced 3 to 5 leaves (Guiying *et al.*, 2003).

#### 2.6.4.4 Crop water use

Sweet sorghum is claimed to be a water use efficient crop. For example, sugarcane requires about eight times more water to grow, compared to sweet sorghum. According to Reddy *et al.* (2008), two rotations of sweet sorghum in tropical areas will consume about 8 000 m<sup>3</sup> of water. However, as highlighted by Jewitt *et al.* (2009a), these figures are subject to much debate. In addition, there are several inconsistencies in the available literature (e.g. Mastrorilli *et al.*, 1999; Sakellariou-Makrantonaki *et al.*, 2007) regarding the water use and yield of sweet sorghum. Thus, further highlighting the need for field trials to establish the water use and yield under South African conditions.

An advantage of sorghum is that it can become dormant under adverse conditions and can resume growth after a relatively severe drought. An early drought experienced before panicle initiation will stop growth, but the plant remains vegetative. It will resume leaf production and flower when conditions again become favourable for growth. A mid-season drought can halt leaf development. The crop tolerates erratic rainfall and will recover if wilted for up to 14 days. Sorghum is, however, susceptible to sustained flooding, but will survive temporary waterlogged conditions better than maize (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009).

In subtropical and tropical environments, sweet sorghum is technically a perennial crop and is planted from seed, but typically grown and managed as an annual crop. Single cut yields are generally lower, which is likely due to increased night temperatures, but cumulative yields are higher due to the ratoon potential of the crop. Hence, two harvests are possible in

a year, compared to a single annual harvest in temperate regions (USDoE, 2011). This means the water use efficiency of sweet sorghum grown in tropical climates will differ to that grown in temperate climates.

## 2.6.4.5 Crop yield

Current sweet sorghum hybrids and varieties yield on average about 3 to 5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of grain and 50 to 80 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of biomass. This compares favourably with other C<sub>4</sub> grasses such as banana grass and miscanthus (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009).

Sweet sorghum can produce up to 2 5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of grain for either human (food), animal (feed) or bioethanol (fuel) consumption. In 2006, breeding of sweet sorghum hybrids (at the International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics or ICRISAT) was already underway. The best hybrid produced 9.15 and 3.28 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of sugar (18% Brix) and grain yield respectively. Another top performer produced 7.57 and 7.19 t ha<sup>-1</sup> of sugar (16% Brix) and grain yield respectively (Reddy *et al.*, 2007). Experiments in Inner Mongolia showed that the net return of sweet sorghum is twice of that of sugarbeet (Guiying *et al.*, 2003).

Once the main stem has been harvested, the dormant bud of the stubble can also grow into a tillering stalk. The growth period of new stalks is shorter as the carbohydrates accumulate quickly since the root system is already well established (Guiying *et al.,* 2003). Re-generated (i.e. ratooned) plants can be used for silage.

## 2.6.4.6 Disease incidence

Sweet sorghum is susceptible to biotic and abiotic stresses such as striga, shoot fly, stem borer, shoot bug, aphids, anthracnose, grain mould and leaf blight (Srinivasa Rao *et al.*, 2009). A fungal disease called *Ergot* can affect the grain production in humid areas. This was experiences at Ukulinga, which is hotter and more humid than growing conditions at Hatfield. The whiter the grain colour, the more susceptible it is to fungal diseases such as Ergot.

## 2.6.4.7 Biofuel suitability

Sorghum is considered a highly productive  $C_4$  photosynthetic grass that is well adapted to warm and dry growing conditions. Sorghum can be rotated with maize, soybean, cowpea and rye (Zegada-Lizarazu and Monti, 2012). Sorghums should be carefully selected for a region, taking into consideration photoperiod sensitivity and the goal of production (e.g. grain, sugar, biomass, sugar + grain, biomass + grain, or biomass + sugar + grain).

To produce bioethanol from sweet sorghum, the stalks (containing 10 to 15% sugars) are stripped of their leaves and crushed to extract the sugar juice, which is then distilled and transformed into bioethanol. Hence, the grain is not involved in the bioethanol process and only used for food production (ABW, 2008). Bioethanol is produced from sweet sorghum stem juice using fermentation technology similar to the molasses-based process used in the sugarcane industry (Reddy *et al.*, 2008). Srinivasa Rao *et al.* (2009) also stated that sweet sorghum-based bioethanol is sulphur-free and cleaner than molasses-based bioethanol, when mixed with gasoline.

The world's first commercial bioethanol plant using sweet sorghum as the primary feedstock is situated in India and began operation in June 2007. The plant produces about 40 kilolitres

of bioethanol daily sweet sorghum feedstock produced by some 1 000 farmers in the Andhra Pradesh region of India. India intends to use a 10 percent bioethanol blend to save an estimated 80 million litres (21 million gallons) of gasoline each year to ease the country's growing dependency for gasoline and to reduce carbon emissions (ABW, 2008).

## 2.6.4.8 By-products

Sweet sorghum is considered a multi-purpose crop that can be used for food, fuel, fodder, fibre and fertiliser production. Hence, sweet sorghum is a multi-purpose crop which can be cultivated for the simultaneous production of (ABW, 2008):

- grain from its ear head (for food, mainly flat breads and porridges),
- sugary juice from its stalk (for making syrup or bioethanol), and
- bagasse and green leaves (as an excellent fodder for animals, or as organic fertiliser, or for paper manufacturing).

Typically, sweet sorghum produces grain for human consumption and the stover (leaves and stalks) are used for livestock fodder. Freshly cut stover can be used as forage for cattle. The stover can also be preserved as silage for feeding farm animals when there is scarce supply of green grasses and other green fodder crops.

The use of stover to produce bioethanol therefore diverts biomass away from feeding livestock, potentially causing shortages of animal fodder. However, the crushed stalks (bagasse) and stripped leaves (by-products of the bioethanol production process) are also a source of animal fodder. A recent study conducted by Blümmel *et al.* (2009) concluded that sweet sorghum can provide food (grain), animal fodder (bagasse combined with leaf residues) and bioethanol at the same time. The study examined the sweet sorghum grain-bioethanol-fodder value chain involving 18 hybrids and 16 varieties (i.e. 34 cultivars) of sweet sorghum. Average yields of bagasse plus stripped leaves provided 5.8 t and 6.7 t of fodder per hectare for hybrids and varieties respectively, which is a substantial amount of feedstock. For comparison, average yields of stover provided 11.7 t ha<sup>-1</sup> and 13.9 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for hybrids and varieties respectively.

To produce organic fertiliser from sweet sorghum residues, the bagasse (pulp or dry refuse left after the juice is extracted from sweet sorghum stalks) and leaves (collected after stalk stripping) are mixed with a Compost Fungus Activator (CFA) such as *Trichoderma harzianum*. This single-celled fungus hastens the decomposition of organic materials high in lignin and cellulose (like bagasse). Hence, the composting time is shortened from three months to just three to four weeks. One hectare of sweet sorghum will yield about 50 to 75 tons of stalks and produce from 22 000 to 35 000 tons of bagasse. The bagasse can provide approximately 88 to 151 bags of organic fertiliser. Since organic fertilisers recycle nutrients from plant residue, it is a cheap alternative or supplement to inorganic fertilisers (ABW, 2010).

## 2.6.5 Grain sorghum

Sorghum belongs to the *Poaceae* family and is a perennial crop grown in temperate regions (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). The genus sorghum consists of wild and cultivated species (Menz *et al.*, 2002). The stem is succulent and solid, with a diameter of between 5 to 30 mm. Self-

pollination usually occurs in sorghum (Menz *et al.,* 2002), since only about 6% is natural cross-pollination (DAFF, 2010b).

Sorghum is native in Africa and its country of origin is Ethiopia and now it can be found in most dry areas of the world (Dicko *et al.*, 2006). Worldwide, the production of grain sorghum is approximately 70 million tons from 50 million ha of land. In South Africa, sorghum is cultivated by both smallholder and commercial farmers. The Limpopo Province produces approximately 20,000 tons of sorghum from about 25 342 ha. The Provinces of Mpumalanga, North-West, Northern Cape, Eastern Cape, KwaZulu-Natal and Free State also produce sorghum (DAFF, 2010b).

## 2.6.5.1 Present distribution

Sorghum is native to Africa, its country of origin is Ethiopia, but now it can be found in most dry areas of the world (Dicko *et al.*, 2006). Worldwide, the production of grain sorghum is approximately 70 million tons from 50 million ha of land. In South Africa, sorghum is cultivated by both smallholder and commercial farmers.

According to DAFF (2010e), sorghum was produced mainly in the Free State (57%), Mpumalanga (24%), and Limpopo (14%) Provinces during the 2007/08 season. It is important to note that no grain sorghum is produced in the Eastern Cape Province. Similar figures for the 2009/10 season (obtained from Mabele Fuels' website<sup>9</sup>) with the Free State being the largest producer (52%) of grain sorghum. Mpumalanga was second (24%), followed by Limpopo (15%), North West Province (7%) and Gauteng (2%). The Limpopo Province produces approximately 20 000 tons of sorghum from about 25 342 ha (DAFF, 2010b).

#### 2.6.5.2 Season length

According to Smith (2006), sorghum is planted from late October to mid-December. Du Plessis (2008) indicated that sorghum is normally planted from mid-October to mid-December. Since the crop is sensitive to frost, planting is usually delayed until after the last frost. If planting is delayed until mid-December, an early maturing cultivar should be planted (Smith, 2006). According to van Heerden (2013), the growing season varies from 120 days (for early maturing cultivars) to 135 days. DAFF (2010e) noted that sorghum is normally harvested from January to April. In this study, November was considered the optimum planting month for all areas, with the crop harvested during the month of March. Hence, the months from November to March were used for mapping purposes.

#### 2.6.5.3 Growth criteria

A summary of growth criteria gleaned from the literature for grain sorghum in given in **APPENDIX D**. From this, minimum and maximum limits for optimum, sub-optimum and absolute growth conditions were derived (**Table 10**).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> http://www.mabelefuels.com/products-services/grain-sorghum/

Variable		Sub	Opt	Opt	Sub	Abs
		Minimum			Maximum	
Seasonal rainfall (mm)	400	450	650	800	1 000	1 200
Monthly mean temperature (°C)	15	20	25	30	32	35
Monthly minimum relative humidity (%)				40	60	80
Soil depth (mm)	300	500	800			

# Table 10Growth criteria for grain sorghum derived from values published in the<br/>literature

Sorghum is grown in drier regions because the crop is drought-resistant, requiring < 300 units of water to produce one unit of dry matter (Smith, 1998). The crop is drought-tolerant because the leaf is covered by a thick waxy layer, which reduces transpiration (DAFF, 2010b). The adequate annual rainfall range for grain sorghum is between 300 to 750 mm (DAFF, 2010b). Floral initialisation can be stopped by early drought, whilst late drought stops leaf development (DAFF, 2010b). In the drier western parts of South Africa, about 400 mm of annual rainfall is required and in the wetter eastern parts about 800 mm is required (Du Plessis, 2008). Pannar (2011) stated that sorghum is well adapted in areas with a summer rainfall of 400 to 800 mm. However, wet and humid areas affect seed set.

The ideal growing temperature is 25 to 30°C with a minimum of 15°C. For optimum grain production, grain sorghum requires a maximum daily temperature of 25 to 30°C (Pannar, 2011). A temperature of 27 to 30°C is required for optimum growth and development. The temperature can, however, be as low as 21°C, without a dramatic effect on growth and yield (du Plessis, 2008; DAFF, 2010b). Sorghum requires warm weather for germination and growth, whilst freezing temperatures are detrimental to sorghum (du Plessis, 2008). The optimum daily maximum temperature for germination ranges between 20 and 35°C and the germination minimum temperature ranges between 7 and 10°C (du Plessis, 2008; DAFF, 2010b). The crop prefers a soil temperature of 15°C or above, with sufficient water at a preferable depth of 10 cm (du Plessis, 2008). Exceptionally high temperatures cause a decrease in yield (du Plessis, 2008). Periods with temperatures less than 15°C or greater than 35°C at flowering can cause poor seed set (Smith, 2006).

The requirements for soil depth vary in the literature from shallow (du Plessis, 2008; DAFF, 2010b) to deep (Smith, 2006; Pannar, 2011). In general, maize is usually planted on sites with deeper soils as sorghum is better adapted to shallower soils. Sorghum possesses both primary and secondary roots. Initially, the primary roots provide nutrients to the seedlings and this function is then taken over by the secondary roots. The roots can reach a depth of up to 2 m and they grow laterally and downward.

Sorghum can be grown in a wide range of soils, including loams, deep sandy loams, cracking clays and low-potential shallow soils with high clay content. Sorghum can survive in soils that are not suitable for maize production but they grow poorly on sandy soils. Sorghum can tolerate alkaline salts, unlike other crops, and the optimum pH (KCL) ranges between 5 and 8.5. The optimum clay content in soils ranges between 10 and 30%. Short periods of waterlogging can be tolerated by sorghum, compared to maize (du Plessis, 2008; DAFF, 2010b).

## 2.6.5.4 Crop water use

Single crop coefficient values obtained from FAO (FAO, 2002) and from the Ukulinga 2012/13 trial are shown in **Table 11** for grain sorghum. The values indicate that sorghum's water use is similar to that of soybean (see **Section 2.7.1.4**). However, sorghum is considered a more drought tolerant crop which can tolerate erratic rainfall and will recover even if wilted for up to 14 days (Smith, 1998). However, sorghum is sensitive to water stress during flowering, which takes place 50 to 70 days after planting. Hence, rainfall during the stress-sensitive third month should exceed 100 mm, because severe water stress during flowering causes pollination failure (Smith, 1998).

Growth stage	Length of growth stage (days)	K <sub>c</sub> (FAO, 2002)	K <sub>c</sub> Ukulinga
Initial	20-25	0.3-0.4	0.52
Development	30-40	0.7-0.8	1.00
Mid-season	40-45	1.0-1.2	1.03-1.05
Late-season	30	0.7-0.8	0.90
At harvest		0.5-0.6	0.79

**Table 11**Single crop coefficients (K<sub>c</sub>) for each sorghum growth stage

## 2.6.5.5 Crop yield

Production and consumption figures for grain sorghum were obtain from two literature sources. The Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF, 2010e) provided generalised long-term (i.e. 13-year) figures whereas Grain SA provided more detailed, short-term (i.e. 5-year) data. Both sets of figures are provided in the sections that follow.

In 2007/08, producers planted 69 000 ha of sorghum and harvested 176 000 tons, thus yielding 2.55 t ha<sup>-1</sup> on average (**Table 12**). Approximately 76 000 tons of surplus grain sorghum was carried over from the previous season and combined with 32 000 tons of imported grain, the total grain supply for 2007/08 season was 284,000 tons. Of this, 184 000 and 17 000 tons were consumed as food and feed respectively. Hence, grain sorghum is mainly used for malt/brew production and meal. The total demand was 241 000 tons (including 27 000 tons of exported grain), which left a surplus of 43 000 tons that was carried forward to the following season (i.e. 2008/09). The 2009/10 season produced the largest sorghum crop since 2004/05, with an average yield of 3.23 t ha<sup>-1</sup>. The average yield for the 2010/11 season was low due to unfavourable weather conditions. In 2011/12, competitive maize prices resulted in less sorghum being planted. The projected surplus grain was estimated at 26 000 tons for the 2011/12 season (Lemmer and Schoeman, 2011).

Year	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12*
Area planted (x 1000 ha)	69	87	86	87	69
CEC crop estimate (x 1000 ton)	176	255	277	197	160
Yield (ton/ha)	2.55	2.94	3.23	2.27	2.31
Deliveries (x 1000 ton)	176	251	279	190	160
Stocks on 1 April (x 1000 ton)	76	43	63	93	58
Imports (x 1000 ton)	32	0	4	0	44
Total supply	284	293	347	283	262
Food consumption (x 1000 ton)	184	179	182	182	183
Feed consumption (x 1000 ton)	17	15	19	22	21
Other gain/loss (x 1000 ton)	12	-1	1	-4	7
Exports (x 1000 ton)	27	37	52	24	25
Total demand	241	230	254	225	236
Surplus on 31 March (x 1000 ton)	43	63	93	58	26

Table 12Supply and demand for grain sorghum from 2007 to 2012 (Lemmer and<br/>Schoeman, 2011)

\*Estimated and not actual figures

#### 2.6.5.6 Disease incidence

Ergot is a fungal disease which affects grain yield (and quality) of sorghum. According to Montes *et al.* (2003), minimum relative humidity is highly correlated to ergot disease incidence, especially for late-maturing (i.e. long-season) hybrids. Disease incidence rose from 0 to 70% with increasing as minimum relative humidity from 30 to 100%. The risk of infection is highest at the flowering stage. Montes *et al.* (2009) reported that ergot severity increased to 40% as minimum relative humidity rose from 40 to 80%, especially 1 to 3 days after flowering initiation (i.e. anthesis). Both studies also showed that disease incidence is also correlated to maximum and minimum temperature. This is not surprising considering the inverse relationship that exists between hourly temperature and relative humidity (high RH occurs when temperatures are lowest). Hence, disease incidence is highest when conditions are cool and humid at flowering.

#### 2.6.5.7 Biofuel suitability

The South African grain sorghum production trend for the 1997/98 to 2009/10 growing season is illustrated in **Figure 8**. The seasonal fluctuation in production and consumption of grain sorghum is evident, as well as the linear trend line which shows the decline in production over the 13-year period (Lemmer, 2009). During the 2000/01 growing season, production sharply increased as a result of larger plantations, especially the bitter cultivars (Mashabela, 2012). This season illustrates that the country can provide higher quantities of grain sorghum if the demand exists. Production also increased in the 1997/98 and 2004/05 growing seasons (Lemmer, 2009), due to higher price anticipations (Mashabela, 2012). However, due to current market conditions, grain sorghum farmers are expected to decrease plantings and shift to maize because of its higher profitability (Mashabela, 2012).



Figure 8Seasonal grain sorghum production and consumption (x 1000 tons) in South<br/>Africa from 1997/98 to 2009/10

From **Figure 8**, it is evident that the grain sorghum industry requires an alternative market for their product, which Grain SA expects will be the emerging biofuels market. Large parts of South Africa are better suited to sorghum rather than maize because the crop is droughtresistant, which makes it more suitable for emerging farmers to produce (DoE, 2012a). To date, two processing plants have selected grain sorghum as their preferred feedstock (DoE, 2014). This is despite the comment made by SASOL that "it is currently not economically viable to produce bioethanol from sorghum" (DAFF, 2010e). Bioethanol production requires the use on non-bitter (i.e. tannin free) sorghum grain. Based on evidence from the research trials conducted at Ukulinga, feeding birds may become a serious problem for small-scale farmers attempting to growing tannin-free varieties. A successful crop will require birds to be frightened off daily, especially around emergence and from the grain filling stage up to maturity.

Some agronomists are concerned that the increased demand for grain sorghum will attract maize farmers to plant grain sorghum, thus decreasing the area planted to maize. The Mabele Fuels website<sup>10</sup> states that "local maize farmers will be encouraged to plant grain sorghum rather than sit with large surplus maize harvests". Mabele Fuels commissioned Grain SA to deliver an objective assessment of the impact of grain sorghum production on food security in South Africa (Lemmer and Schoeman, 2011). The reported stated that assuming and E2 blend, "the total decline in the area under maize amounts to 73 000 ha by 2020 and the price impact on both white and yellow maize seems negligible". Furthermore, the anticipated reduction in planted area would be absorbed by reduced exports to neighbouring counties and the lower demand for yellow maize used for animal feed production (offset by DDGS produced from the grain-to-bioethanol conversion process). However, Lemmer and Schoeman (2011) stated that for E5 blending, the price of white and yellow maize is expected to increase by 2020 and thus, food security may be compromised in terms of the affordability of maize consumer products.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> <u>http://www.mabelefuels.com/policies-responsibilities/food-vs-fuel/</u>

Of the 230 000 tons of grain required by the Cradock bioethanol project, a minimum of 30% must be produced by emerging (i.e. BEE) farmers predominately located in the Eastern Cape (IDC, 2011). DAFF (2010e) estimated that between 40 000 and 90 000 tons of sorghum is produced annually by developing farmers. However, no grain sorghum was produced in the Eastern Cape in 2007/08.

An advantage of using grain sorghum for bioethanol production is that the feedstock can be stored in silos prior to processing. This will assist in feedstock supply logistics, considering the bioethanol plant requires grain all year round, especially during the non-growing season. Sorghum grain is similar to maize grain and is usually dried to a moisture content of 10 to 12% (bulk density of 520 to 720 kg m<sup>-3</sup>), which allows for efficient storage and transport (Turhollow *et al.*, 2010). In addition, the feedstock can be railed to the Cradock site from the major sorghum growing areas situated in the Free State. This may be necessary if the Eastern Cape Province is unable to supply sufficient feedstock to the Cradock factory. However, this additional transport cost will increase the price of bioethanol produced at Cradock, compared to the Bothaville facility. For the Bothaville facility, road and rail will be utilised to transport the feedstock from farms to the refinery at a maximum distance of 150 km away.

## 2.6.5.8 By-products

Kotze (2012a) reported that an estimated 600 000 tons of grain sorghum required for bioethanol production will produce about 175 000 to 200 000 tons of DDGS, offsetting the sorghum ( $\approx$ 40 000 tons per annum) and maize currently used to produce animal feed. Mabele Fuels<sup>11</sup> has entered into proposed off-take agreements (Sale of DDGS Agreement). These agreements will come into effect once the Bothaville plant is in operation and endure for a fixed period of three years. The agreements are necessary to ensure that the animal feed market in South Africa will be able to absorb the entire annual production capacity of 107 000 tons of DDGS from the Bothaville facility.

Kings (2012) reported that the Cradock plant will produce 75 000 tons of animal feed as a by-product of the grain sorghum-to-bioethanol conversion process. Thus, local livestock farmers would not have to import fodder from Gauteng. No information was found in the available literature pertaining to whether or not the Cradock plant had similar agreements in place. The starch content in the grain can also be used for industrial applications (Almodares and Hadi, 2009).

## 2.7 Review of Biodiesel Feedstocks

## 2.7.1 Soybean

Soybean belongs to the *Fabaceae* family. It is a bushy, erect, leguminous annual plant that prefers short days and requires warm temperatures (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a; DAFF, 2010a). Plant height is usually 40 to 100 cm with a well-developed root system and each plant produces between 3 and 350 pods (DAFF, 2010a). The stem is round and hairy with many branches. The leaves are alternate and the inflorescence has one or two self-fertile flowers. Soybean has two growth stages: the first is from emergence to flowering (vegetative) and the second from flowering (reproductive) to maturation (Kandel, 2012). Soybean is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> <u>http://www.mabelefuels.com/products-services/ddgs/</u>

determinate in nature with a bush habitat, but some can be indeterminate, depending on the cultivator (FAO, 2012a). If the crop is planted with other crops such as maize and sorghum, it ensures nitrogen fixation for maintaining and replenishing soil fertility (Ngalamu *et al.*, 2012). Soybean can be used for livestock feed, human nutrition, industrial use and also as a source of bioenergy and is thus considered a multi-purpose crop (Chianu *et al.*, 2009).

## 2.7.1.1 Present distribution

Countries growing soybean (top producers) are mainly the USA, Brazil and Argentina, where the annual production is about 77.3, 44.5 and 30.3 million tons per year respectively. Production from these countries is more than twice Africa's average because the legume was only recently introduced to the continent (Ngalamu *et al.*, 2012). The production of soybean in South Africa ranges from 450 000 to 500 000 tons per year, with an average yield of 2.5 to 3 t ha<sup>-1</sup> under dryland conditions. **Table 13** shows the main soybean production areas in South Africa (DAFF, 2010a).

Province	Production per Province (%) by year							
FIOVINCE	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010			
Mpumalanga	49.5	37.3	43.4	50.9	42.3			
Free State	18.2	16.5	21.8	19.2	26.8			
KwaZulu-Natal	14.7	22.0	14.9	14.7	13.0			
Limpopo	8.1	12.2	7.6	8.5	8.9			
North West	6.4	8.8	9.6	3.6	4.8			
Gauteng	2.5	2.0	1.9	2.4	3.6			
Northern Cape	0.4	0.7	0.6	0.4	0.3			
Eastern Cape	0.2	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.2			

Table 13Production of soybean per Province in South Africa from 2006 to 2010 (DAFF,<br/>2011a)

In terms of crop rotations, irrigated soybean is planted in summer and is typically followed by winter wheat. Soybean is inter-cropped with maize, with a typical 1/3 soybean and 2/3 maize ratio used by KZN farmers. However, some farmers plant equal portions of soybean and maize in a rotation (Sparks, 2010).

## 2.7.1.2 Season length

According to Smith (2006), the optimum planting window for soybean grown in cooler areas is 20<sup>th</sup> October to 15<sup>th</sup> November. Similarly, the optimum planting window in warm and hot areas is 1<sup>st</sup> November to 20<sup>th</sup> November. In this project, the 1<sup>st</sup> November was considered the optimum planting date for all regions. The growth cycle of soybean is typically 150 days (Smith, 2006). According to DAFF (2010a), in South Africa the crop is planted from November to December and harvested from February to March. Hence, the months from November to March were used for mapping purposes.

## 2.7.1.3 Growth criteria

In the biofuels scoping study (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a), only rainfall and temperature were used for mapping potential areas for the different biofuel feedstocks. In this report, relative humidity and soil depth were also used as additional mapping criteria for soybean. A summary of growth criteria gleaned from the literature for soybean in given in **APPENDIX D**.

From this, minimum and maximum limits for optimum, sub-optimum and absolute growth conditions were derived (**Table 14**).

Variable		Sub	Opt	Opt	Sub	Abs
		Minimum			Maximum	
Seasonal rainfall (mm)	450	550	700	900	1 000	1 100
Monthly mean temperature (°C): Nov	10	13	15	18	25	33
Monthly mean temperature (°C): Dec-Mar	10	18	23	27	30	33
Monthly mean relative humidity (%)				60	75	80
Soil depth (mm)	200	300	500			

 Table 14
 Growth criteria for soybean derived from values published in the literature

Preference was given to growth criteria obtained from local sources, such as the Department of Agriculture, forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), the Agricultural Research Council (ARC) as well as local scientists such as Barry Smith (e.g. Smith, 2006). In addition, the field experiments provided additional information on site factors that may limit optimum growth. This is important as some of the growth criteria were obtained from the international literature. In **Table 14**, a distinction was made between temperature thresholds for germination (i.e. in November) and those used for the remainder of the five-month growing season (i.e. December to March).

Soybean is best adapted to summer rainfall regions where more than 450 mm falls in the growing season (Smith, 1998). The crop can also do well under irrigation in dry and warm regions. Soybean plants can tolerate drought because of their deep rooting system, but moisture is essential during the flowering stage (DAFF, 2010a). The plant has some degree of frost tolerance if frost occurs prior to flowering (FAO, 2012a).

The minimum required heat units for soybean should exceed 1 500 (base  $10^{\circ}$ C). The optimum heat units for soybean are around 1700, whilst heat units above 2 600 cause a severe yield reduction (Smith, 2006). The required total monthly rainfall over the growing season ranges between 550 mm and 700 mm. The required daily temperature is 20°C for the minimum and 30°C for the maximum.

Soybean's tap root may extend to over 1.5 m and all available soil water can be drawn up to 1.8 m but under normal conditions, all water is drawn from the first 0.6 to 1.3 m of the soil (FAO, 2002). Smith (2006) reported a maximum rooting depth of 1.2 meters for soybean, with an effective rooting depth of 600 mm. Therefore, soils with a depth from 600 to 1 200 mm are preferable. Nieuwenhuis and Nieuwelink (2002) observed rooting depths of 1 to 1.5 m in well-drained silt loam and clay loam soils. However, the crop can also grow on shallow soils which have a depth of 200 mm, provided moisture is not limiting to growth (Palmer and Ainslie, 2006).

# 2.7.1.4 Crop water use

 $K_{cb}$  values for soybean were obtained from the *SAPWAT3* database for cultivars of mediumseason length, i.e. 121 days (Van Heerden, 2013). *SAPWAT*<sup>12</sup> (Version 3) is a crop water use model (not a crop growth model) designed to estimate the crop water use requirements under different irrigation systems as well as management regimes. The model and its

<sup>12</sup> http://www.sapwat.org.za/

required input data (climate & basal crop coefficients) are maintained by PicWat (Van Heerden *et al.*, 2009). According to the *SAPWAT*3 database, soybean transpires at a rate 15% higher than that of the reference crop during the development- and mid-season growth stages. Transpiration rates are low when the crop emerges, indicative of small leaf area during establishment (**Table 15**). During the development and mid-season, transpiration rates remain high, then slightly decrease as the crop matures. Hence, soil water deficits during growth periods when transpiration rates are high, usually results in reduced growth and thus yield loss. It is assumed that the late-season value of 0.90 remains constant during the harvesting period (i.e. 121 to 150 DAP).

Growth stage	Length of growth stage (days)	K <sub>cb</sub> (SAPWAT3)
Initial	30	0.10
Development	30	1.15
Mid-season	60	1.15
Late-season	1	0.90

**Table 15**Basal crop coefficients ( $K_{cb}$ ) derived from the SAPWAT3 database for<br/>soybean growth stage (Van Heerden, 2013)

According to Allen *et al.* (1998),  $K_{cb}$  may be only 0.05 to 0.10 lower than  $K_c$  values during the mid-season stage. This indicates that soil water evaporation is small at full canopy cover. However, the largest difference between  $K_c$  and  $K_{cb}$  is found in the initial growth stage where evapotranspiration is predominantly in the form of soil water evaporation (i.e. crop transpiration is low).

The use of  $K_{cb}$  and  $K_c$  values to weight monthly rainfall totals was evaluated by Khomo (2014), who showed that the Free State is not suitable for soybean production when  $K_{cb}$  is used for rainfall weighting. From **Table 13**, 22% of soybean production occurred in the Free State in 2010. Based on this, Khomo (2014) concluded that the use of  $K_{cb}$  values is not recommended. Hence, monthly  $K_c$  and not  $K_{cb}$  values were used in this study to determine the optimum distribution of monthly rainfall over the growing season.

 $K_c$  values for soybean were obtained from the FAO (FAO, 2002) and from the Baynesfield Estate as shown in **Table 16**. The water use and yield of soybean under dryland conditions was studied at Baynesfield in Season #3 (2012/13) as part of another WRC-funded project (K5/2066; Mengistu *et al.*, 2014).

The initial- and late-season crop coefficients for soybean grown at Baynesfield were higher than those reported in the international literature. According to the FAO, initial  $K_c$  values (i.e.  $K_{c ini}$ ) are typically small and often less than 0.4. The initial crop coefficient value ( $K_{c ini}$ ) will be high when the soil is frequently wet from rainfall or irrigation events. The higher the evaporating power of the atmosphere (i.e.  $ET_o$ ), the quicker the soil will dry between water applications, resulting in lower  $K_c$  ini values (Allen *et al.*, 1998). Soybean is rarely grown under full irrigation, but supplemental irrigation during critical growth periods will substantially increase yields (FAO, 2002).

Month	Growth stage	Length of growth stage (days)	К <sub>с</sub> (FAO, 2002)	K <sub>c</sub> Baynesfield
November	Initial	20-25	0.3-0.4	0.72
December	Development	25-35	0.7-0.8	0.72
January/February	Mid-season	45-65	1.0-1.2	1.00-1.03
March	Late-season	20-30	0.7-0.8	0.84
April	At harvest		0.4-0.5	0.72

**Table 16**Single crop coefficients (K<sub>c</sub>) for each soybean growth stage

 $K_c$  increases rapidly during the crop development stage, reaching a maximum during the mid-season. Based on FAO's peak  $K_c$  value, soybean's water use is up to 20% higher than that of the reference crop. This is higher than the peak  $K_c$  values measured at Baynesfield in 2012/13.  $K_c$  during the mid-season remains relatively constant for most growing conditions, then its declines as the crop senesces (Allen *et al.*, 1998).

The use of international *vs.* locally derived  $K_c$  values to weight monthly rainfall totals was evaluated by Khomo (2014), who showed that the central region of Mpumalanga is not suitable for soybean production when FAO  $K_c$  is used for rainfall weighting. From **Table 13**, the majority of soybean is grown in Mpumalanga. Based on this, Khomo (2014) concluded that the use of locally derived  $K_c$  values is recommended, compared to values derived from the international literature. In addition, Allen *et al.* (1998) strongly encouraged the use of crop coefficients deemed appropriate for local conditions. Hence, monthly  $K_c$  for Baynesfield (and not FAO values) were used in this study to determine the optimum distribution of monthly rainfall over the growing season.

## 2.7.1.5 Crop yield

According to DAFF (2010a), the production of soybean in South Africa ranges from 450 000 to 500 000 tons per year, with an average yield of 2.5 to 3 t ha<sup>-1</sup> under dryland conditions. However, these production and yield figures differ to those reported by Lemmer and Schoeman (2011) in **Table 17**.

In 2007, producers planted 183 000 ha of soybean and harvested 205 000 tons of oil seed, thus yielding 1.12 t ha<sup>-1</sup> on average (**Table 17**). Approximately 132 000 tons of surplus seed was carried over from the previous season and combined with 121 000 tons of imported seed, the total oil seed supply for 2007 season was 457 000 tons. Of this, 21 000 and 192 000 tons were consumed for food and feed respectively. In addition, 134 000 tons was crushed for oil and oilcake products. Hence, the total demand was 361 000 tons (including 13 000 tons on-farm consumption & 1 000 tons exported), which left a surplus of 97 000 tons that was carried forward to the following season (i.e. 2008).

Year	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011*
Area planted (x 1000 ha)	183	165	238	311	418
CEC crop estimate (x 1000 ton)	205	282	516	566	709
Yield (ton/ha)	1.12	1.70	2.17	1.82	1.70
Deliveries (x 1000 ton)	205	264	504	535	709
Stocks on 1 April (x 1000 ton)	132	97	90	113	105
Imports (x 1000 ton)	120	16	1	2	3
Total supply	457	377	595	650	816
Food consumption (x 1000 ton)	21	28	31	34	31
Feed consumption (x 1000 ton)	192	114	172	203	180
Oil-cake production (x 1000 ton)	134	137	115	185	260
Other uses (x 1000 ton)	13	2	8	2	7
Exports (x 1000 ton)	1	5	156	121	180
Total demand	361	287	482	545	658
Surplus on 31 March (x 1000 ton)	97	90	113	105	158

Table 17Supply and demand for soybean from 2007 to 2012 (Lemmer and Schoeman,<br/>2011)

\*Estimated and not actual figures

Similar to sunflower, the planted area is determined by the profit margin of soybean compared to other summer crops. This is affected by the surplus stock from the previous season, the local crushing capacity (to extract the oil) as well as the farmer's decision to plant other crops (e.g. sunflower or maize) instead of soybean. The area planted is also affected by the demand for certain products, with a shift from feed to oil-cake protein experienced in 2008 and projected in 2011. This explains why the area planted varied substantially over the 5 years. The higher yield in 2008 offset the lower area planted, which reduced the need to import soybean to satisfy local demand. Producers planted a record 418 000 ha in 2011, with production projected at 709 000 tons. An average yield of 1.70 t ha<sup>-1</sup> is expected, with relatively high exports and ending stocks estimated at 180 000 and 158 000 tons respectively (Lemmer and Schoeman, 2011).

#### 2.7.1.6 Disease incidence

In general, most broadleaf crops that produce oilseed (e.g. sunflower, canola and soybean) should be grown once every four years to avoid disease issues, especially root rot (e.g. *Sclerotinia*). Soybean rust is caused by two fungal species, namely *Phakopsora pachyrhizi* and *Phapkopsora meibomiae*. However, *P. pachyrhizi* (also known as Asian or Australian soybean rust) is the most aggressive and widespread (Kawuki *et al.*, 2003). Soybean rust was first reported in February 2001 near Vryheid in northern KwaZulu-Natal. It then spread to other parts of KwaZulu-Natal as well as the eastern Highveld region (Pretorius *et al.*, 2001). The disease has since occurred in every season in South Africa (Jarvie, 2009).

Soybean rust reduces yield by causing premature defoliation of leaves, which decreases the number of filled pods and reduces the weight of seeds per plant (Van Niekerk, 2009). Yield losses can reach up to 60% in severe cases and depends on the time of onset (i.e. infection) and if weather conditions are favourable for the fungus to spread (Kloppers, 2002).

Soybean rust is considered a worldwide threat to soybean production due to its impact on yield reduction (Kawuki *et al.*, 2003). Moisture on the surface of the leaves is essential for spore germination and therefore, leaf wetness caused by, *inter alia*, high humidity and dew provides suitable conditions for spore germination (Van Niekerk, 2009). Caldwell *et al.* (2002) stated that rust outbreaks are most severe with relative humidity levels of 75 to 80%. According to Nunkumar (2006), disease incidence (measured as number of pustules per lesion) was significantly higher at 85% and 95% relative humidity, than compared to 75%. Hence, a relative humidity of 75% or more provides adequate moisture for the germination of soybean rust.

Caldwell *et al.* (2002) indicated that rust infection begins during or after the flowering stage and is generally not noticed until the pods are set (i.e. R3/R4 growth stage). However, Nunkumar (2006) showed that plants are most susceptible to infection at the late vegetative (V6) and early reproductive (R1) growth stages. This coincides with the onset of flowering which usually occurs 40 to 50 DAP, with the flowering period being 25 to 35 days (Smith, 2006). Van Niekerk (2009) indicated that risk increases in January, peaks in February and declines in March.

## 2.7.1.7 Biofuel suitability

The Biofuels Industrial Strategy of the Republic of South Africa identified three primary field crops to be considered as feedstocks for domestic biodiesel production, namely sunflower, canola and soybeans (DME, 2007a). Whitehead (2010; cited by Sparks, 2010) indicated that sunflower and canola are grown in relatively small quantities in KwaZulu-Natal (largely due to relatively unfavourable growing conditions). Hence, soybean is the only viable option for biodiesel production in KwaZulu-Natal.

According to Sparks (2010), the use of by-products from biofuel processing can contribute significantly to the economy of South Africa. The relatively high market value of oilcake provides soybean the greatest potential as a first generation feedstock. Hence, it is believed that the relatively high market value of soybean oilcake in particular may result in soybeans having the greatest potential as a first generation biodiesel feedstock than canola and sunflower (Meyer *et al.*, 2008).

#### 2.7.2 Canola

Canola originates from rapeseed in that it is a genetically modified version of this plant, which is not found naturally. Canola forms part of the *Brassicaceae* (mustard) family and was adopted for use in Canada during 1978 by the rapeseed industry in order to facilitate the expansion of this industry (Toxopeus and Mvere, 2004; Ehrensing, 2008). It is an annual, cruciferous herb with a taproot system. The plant produces tuber-like rutabagas below ground and exhibits rapid growth after establishment (DAFF, 2010d). Canola stem height varies from 75 to 175 cm, with primary and secondary branches. Canola is a dryland winter crop (unlike soybean, sunflower and groundnut, which are summer crops). It is therefore suitable as a rotational and a complementary crop to the existing crops in South Africa (Marvey, 2008).

## 2.7.2.1 Present distribution

*Brassica napus* originated in the Mediterranean region and Eastern Asia, abut over time has spread into Europe. Seed production started during the Middle Ages in Europe. Canola is now ranked as the second largest source (after soybean) of vegetable oil in the world. Worldwide, it has passed sunflower, peanut and cottonseed oil production during the past 20 years (Raymer, 2002). Canada, China and many western European countries are the main producers of canola. Due to fungus vulnerability, insect pests, bacteria and nematodes, canola distribution is limited to temperate and sub-temperate regions worldwide (Duke, 1983).

Canola (*Brassica napus* L.) is a relatively new crop in South Africa, which was introduced about two decades ago. Since its introduction in 1992, the canola industry has grown rapidly, especially in the southern Cape (DAFF, 2012b). Canola production in South Africa is relatively new, with only 500 tons produced in 1994, which increased to 44 200 tons in 2005 and approximately 112 000 tons in 2013 (DAFF, 2014).

Canola is mainly grown in the Western Cape as a winter crop for cooking oil and animal feed (DAFF, 2010d). This vegetable forms a significant proportion of animal feedstock, especially during months when grazing and other sources of food are not available (Raymer, 2002; Toxopeus and Mvere, 2004). Currently, canola is also produced in other areas of South Africa, such as the Northern Cape, Free State, Eastern Cape, KwaZulu-Natal, Limpopo and North West Provinces (DAFF, 2012b).

Canola is known as an excellent rotation crop for the control of crop pests and soil diseases (Booth and Gunstone, 2004). The crop is therefore often grown in rotation with broadleaf crops such as alfalfa, mainly to minimise plant diseases and weed problems in order to increase crop yields. In South Africa, canola is commonly grown in rotation with wheat to reduce the economic risk of root diseases (Tesfamariam *et al.*, 2010). Canola is a winter crop and when cultivated in rotation with maize or wheat, it enhances the yield of these crops by up to 25% (Fouché, 2015).

## 2.7.2.2 Season length

The number of growing days required for the growth of this crop varies depending on the region in which cultivation is occurring. From the available literature, the following dates and periods were indicated for the summer planting and growth of canola:

- September 1 with a 90 day growing period,
- December 15 with a 100 day growing period, and
- March 15 with a 110 day growing period (Myburgh, 1985).

These growing periods mainly apply to the Eastern Cape, Karoo, KwaZulu-Natal and winter rainfall region (Myburgh, 1985). According to Cumming *et al.* (2010), early planting promote high yields and canola can be planted in the Western and Southern Cape as early as in the middle of April, as long as there is sufficient soil moisture. According to DAFF (2010d), canola should be planted from April to May and harvested from August to September. Fouché (2012) suggested that canola in the Western Cape should be planted with the first rains of autumn/winter, i.e. February onwards. In the Free State, Eastern Cape and KwaZulu-Natal Provinces, planting should occur with the last summer rainfall from January to early April (Fouché, 2012).

## 2.7.2.3 Growth criteria

Fouché (2015) describes canola as a very hardy crop with exceptional compensation abilities, which is able to withstand extreme drought and cold conditions (including frost occurrence). A summary of growth criteria gleaned from the literature for canola in given in **APPENDIX D**. From this, minimum and maximum limits for optimum, sub-optimum and absolute growth conditions were derived (**Table 18**). Canola is considered a drought tolerant crop which requires some water at emergence (i.e. > 25 mm) and the remainder (as little as 275 mm) over the growing season. Before germination can take place, the seed first needs to absorb sufficient water (Cumming *et al.*, 2010).

Variable	Abs	Sub	Opt	Opt	Sub	Abs
Vallable	Minimum			Maximum		
Seasonal rainfall (mm)	100	300	600	900	1 200	1 500
Monthly mean temperature (°C)	5	10	15	25	30	35
Monthly minimum relative humidity (%)				80	85	90
Soil depth (mm)	500	700	1 000			

 Table 18
 Growth criteria for canola derived from values published in the literature

There are conflicting reports in the available literature regarding canola's seasonal rainfall requirements. For example, Cumming *et al.* (2010) stated that canola requires an optimum rainfall of 400 to 500 mm in the growing season, of which 200 to 210 mm should occur during the flowering stage. A seasonal rainfall of 200 to 300 mm is ideal for April to October to produce 1 to 2 t ha<sup>-1</sup> (Cumming *et al.*, 2010). Fouché (2012) noted that under dryland conditions, 200 to 450 mm of rainfall will yield 1.2 to 3 t ha<sup>-1</sup>. However, optimum rainfall of 600 to 700 mm per season will yield 4 to 6 t ha<sup>-1</sup>. If either the minimum or maximum optimum thresholds are exceeded, it may have a detrimental impact on crop yields, which could significantly affect the economic viability of production.

According to literature, canola is capable of surviving instances where these thresholds are exceeded, provided that the levels of exceedance are within a reasonable margin, as is indicated in **APPENDIX D**, where both optimum and absolute threshold values are indicated (Tesfamariam, 2004; FAO, 2006; Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a; DAFF, 2009; DAFF, 2010d; Tesfamariam *et al.*, 2010; Cumming *et al.*, 2010).

According to the literature reviewed, temperature is a significant factor with regard to the yields per hectare that can be achieved, as it can influence the rate at which photosynthesis occurs and therefore, the growth of the plant. For example, Seetseng (2008) stated there is a direct and proportional relationship between increased temperature and earlier maturity of the crop. If the absolute temperature thresholds for canola are exceeded then it is possible that the mortality rate of the crop will increase significantly, thereby decreasing yields proportionally. The absolute maximum temperature that these crops can survive is between 0 and 5°C, while the absolute maximum temperature is between 35 and 41°C. The optimum temperature range, in order to achieve the maximum productivity for these crops, is approximately 10 to 30°C (Tesfamariam, 2004; FAO, 2006; Bahizire, 2007; DAFF, 2009; Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a; Cumming *et al.*, 2010; Canola Encyclopaedia, 2013a; Nel, 2015). According to Cumming *et al.* (2010), temperatures are optimal at 20 to 25°C for photosynthesis to take place, whereas the monthly optimal temperature for germination are 15 to 20°C. The optimum mean annual temperature for canola production is between 5 and 27°C (Duke, 1983).

The soil depth required for the viable cultivation of canola ranges from 500 to 600 mm as a minimum depth. The maximum depth range is 1200 to 1500 mm. Additionally, soil pH is an important soil characteristic which can result in decreased crop yields. For canola, the absolute upper pH threshold is 8.5 and the absolute lower pH threshold is 5.5, while the optimal range of 6.5 to 7.6 (or 8). Canola is capable of growing in a wide range of soil textures ranging from light to heavy, although the optimum soil texture for best crop yield would be medium (FAO, 2006; Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a; DAFF, 2010d; Cumming *et al.*, 2010; Canola Encyclopaedia, 2013a; Canola Encyclopaedia, 2013b; Nel, 2015).

## 2.7.2.4 Crop water use

Single crop coefficient values obtained from Majnooni-Heris *et al.* (2012) are shown in **Table 19** for canola. These values were measured over two seasons (2010 & 2011) using a lysimeter at the University of Tabriz, Iran. The peak value was decreased from 1.20 to 1.15 to compensate for advection which occurs in arid and semi-arid regions such as Iran.

However, canola is sensitive to water and temperature (> 30°C) stress during anthesis, which can also impair pollination (Cumming *et al.*, 2010). Hence, rainfall during the stress-sensitive third month should exceed 100 mm, because severe water stress during flowering causes pollination failure (Smith, 1998).

Table 19	Single crop	coefficients	$(K_c)$ for	each	canola	growth	stage	(Majnooni-H	eris et
	<i>al</i> ., 2012)								

Growth stage	Length of growth stage (days)	Kc		
Initial	20-25	0.60-0.80		
Development	25-35	0.80-1.00		
Mid-season	45-65	1.00-1.15		
Late-season	20-30	0.60		

According to Cumming *et al.* (2010), the description canola's different growth stages is more complicated than that of winter cereals. The reason is the different stages cannot be easily separated from each other. The growth stages do not chronologically follow on from one another, but rather overlap partially because of the indeterminate growth pattern of the canola plant. Fouché (2015) stated that canola has a long flowering period of 4 to 10 weeks, compared to 10 to 14 days for wheat.

## 2.7.2.5 Crop yield

In 2007/08, producers planted 33 000 ha of canola and harvested 40 000 tons of oil seed, thus yielding 1.20 t ha<sup>-1</sup> on average (**Table 20**). Approximately 11 000 tons of surplus seed was carried over from the previous season and thus, the total oil seed supply for the 2007/08 season was 49 000 tons. Of this, 39 000 tons was crushed for oil and oilcake products. Hence, the total demand was 38 000 tons (including 1 000 tons on-farm consumption), which left a surplus of 11 000 tons that was carried forward to the following season (i.e. 2008/09).

The area planted to canola remained relatively constant from 2007 to 2010, with sufficient production meeting local demand. The majority of canola produced is used for oil and

oilcake products. In 2008/09, the lower yield was due to unfavourable growing conditions in the Cape production regions. Producers planted 44 000 ha in 2011/12 and with an expected average yield of 1.32 t ha<sup>-1</sup>, this could result in record canola crop of 57,000 tons. Despite some growth in domestic consumption, ending stocks are estimated at an all-time high of 20 000 tons (Lemmer and Schoeman, 2011).

Year	2007/08	2008/09	2009/10	2010/11	2011/12*
Area planted (x 1000 ha)	33	34	35	35	44
CEC crop estimate (x 1000 ton)	40	31	40	37	57
Yield (ton/ha)	1.20	0.91	1.15	1.06	1.32
Deliveries (x 1000 ton)	38	31	40	37	57
Stocks on 1 April (x 1000 ton)	11	11	11	10	9
Imports (x 1000 ton)	0	0	0	0	0
Total supply	49	42	51	46	67
Feed consumption (x 1000 ton)	0	1	1	2	2
Oil-cake production (x 1000 ton)	39	31	42	35	45
Other losses (x 1000 ton)	-1	-1	-2	0	0
Exports (x 1000 ton)	0	0	0	0	0
Total demand	38	31	41	37	47
Surplus on 31 March (x 1000 ton)	11	11	10	9	20

Table 20	Supply and demand for canola from 2007 to 2012 (Lemmer and Schoeman,
	2011)

\*Estimated and not actual figures

Dryland yields of 1.5 to 2.3 t  $ha^{-1}$  can be realistically achieved if the crop is managed correctly, which increases to 4 t  $ha^{-1}$  under irrigation. Hence, water use efficiency ranges from 0.64 to 1.12 kg m<sup>-3</sup>. This equates to a yield range of 1.92 to 3.36 t  $ha^{-1}$  from 300 mm of soil moisture. A high WUE of 0.92 kg m<sup>-3</sup> was obtained in 2012 by a farmer (Izak Smit) in the very dry Eendekuil area in northern Swartland (Fouché, 2015).

#### 2.7.2.6 Disease incidence

However, Anderson *et al.* (2003) warned that broadleaf oilseed crops (e.g. sunflower, canola and soybean) should not be grown more than once in four years on the same land to avoid possible disease problems, especially root rot (e.g. *Sclerotinia*).

Relative humidity affects both the rate of transpiration and the soil water content. The information available on relative humidity thresholds is scarce, but indications are that there is a relatively broad range within which these plants can survive of between 20 to 80% humidity (Zeleke and Wade, 2012).

## 2.7.2.7 Biofuels suitability

Globally, canola is out-competing all other biodiesel crops and about 65% of canola feedstock is already used for biodiesel. However, in the European Union countries, the figure

is even higher and 80% of canola feedstock is mainly used for biodiesel. China is also a major producer of canola, and has already started to produce biodiesel from this source (Balat and Balat, 2010). Extensive production of canola also takes place in India, where about 58% of its total yield is used for biodiesel (Ardebili *et al.*, 2011).

In South Africa, PhytoEnergy Pty (Ltd) has expressed interest in establishing canola as a viable biofuel feedstock crop. At full capacity, the processing plant requires 1.115 million tons of canola from approximately 500 000 ha for biodiesel production. However, this will require the rapid expansion (over a 5-year period) of canola production in the Free State, KwaZulu-Natal and the Eastern Cape. The location of areas that will support economically viable production of canola is dependent on various biophysical factors, which are further described in this report (DAFF, 2010d).

According to Fouché (2015), canola is a suitable biodiesel feedstock since it has a 40% or higher oil yield, compared to the 20% for soybeans. Canola oil is deemed a better biodiesel feedstock than soybean oil "due to its gel point" (Radebe, 2013). Biodiesel made from canola produces esters with properties comparable with that of conventional diesel fuel when it is burnt (Lopes and Steidle Neto, 2011).

#### 2.7.2.8 By-products

In South Africa, canola oilcake is also used as a source of protein in animal feeds and it can also be used as a high quality organic fertiliser. In the industrial market, canola oil is suitable for biodiesel production because of its good emulsifying characteristics. The oil is also an excellent insect repellent (DAFF, 2012b).

# **3** FEEDSTOCK WATER USE EFFICIENCY

As mentioned, one of the major outcomes of the biofuels project is to estimate or quantify the water use efficiency of selected biofuel feedstocks (i.e. **AIM 6**). This chapter focuses on the methodology adopted to derive the measurements of water use and yield that are required to estimate water use efficiency (WUE).

Cowan and Farquhar (1977) defined WUE as the ratio of gross primary production to transpiration, i.e. the amount of assimilated carbon per unit of water loss by transpiration. However, Rajabi *et al.* (2009) defined WUE as total dry matter (TDM) produced per unit water used. Since many different definitions of WUE exist in the literature, it is important to clarify the specific definition of WUE adopted in this report, as well as the methodology (and units) used to quantify the term.

## 3.1 Introduction

Water use and its associated impact on the environment are measured using various metrics dependent on the source of water, the process which removes the water and the degree of quality degradation. These metrics are described next in greater detail.

## 3.1.1 Concepts of water use

#### 3.1.1.1 Green vs. blue water

The concepts of blue water and green water are commonly used to define the water source. Green water is precipitation held in the unsaturated soil zone and is therefore available for plant growth. Blue water refers to surface water stored in channels (rivers and canals) and reservoirs (dams, lakes, wetlands) as well as groundwater contained in aquifers (Hoff *et al.*, 2010). By definition, irrigated agriculture receives blue water (from irrigation) as well as green water (from precipitation), whilst rainfed agriculture receives green water only. Hoeksta *et al.* (2011) defined grey water as a metric that quantifies the volume of freshwater that is required to assimilate the load of pollutants based on acceptable water quality standards.

Biofuel feedstock water use can therefore include green water, blue water (surface and groundwater) as well as grey water consumption. Conveyance and application losses can also be accounted for in water use studies (Yeh *et al.*, 2011). This project focused mainly on measuring and estimating green water consumption (i.e. total evaporation of selected feedstocks). Blue water (irrigation) is applied to the field trials because green water is deemed insufficient to meet the maximum evaporative requirements of the crop. The prerequisite for determining crop coefficients is a well-watered, non-stressed crop (Allen *et al.*, 1998). Additional research is also being conducted to separate consumptive water use (i.e. maximum evaporation) into its productive (i.e. transpiration) and non-productive (soil water evaporation and interception loss) components.

In terms of water use modelling, a land use change from natural vegetation to cultivated feedstock may result in a reduction in blue water generation. This reduction, if declared significant, may lead to the feedstock being classified as a stream flow reduction activity (or SFRA) in accordance with South African water law. Commercial forest plantations in South

Africa are declared a SFRA because exotic tree species can increase the interception of green water which then contributes to enhanced wet canopy evaporation rates. Similarly, the typically deep rooting distribution of exotic trees can lower the water table, thus affecting blue water generation.

#### 3.1.1.2 Consumptive water use

According to Yeh *et al.* (2011), consumptive water use is defined as the removal of water from the hydrological cycle and is therefore no longer available for the immediate use by humans and/or the ecosystem. Such water is "consumed" through processes such as transpiration and evaporation of free water, soil water as well as intercepted water. Water "incorporated" or "embedded" in products is another form of water removal (i.e. water harvested with crops such as sugarcane, sugarbeet and sweet sorghum). Non-consumptive water use is water that is released back to the environment (i.e. runoff, irrigation return flow, seepage and percolation), with or without a change in its quality (Yeh *et al.*, 2011).

Most studies which estimate the water requirements of biofuel feedstocks focus on consumptive use of water (i.e. actual evapotranspiration) and neglect non-consumptive use (Yeh *et al.*, 2011). Irrigation return flows from agricultural land can be used productively by a downstream farm. Deep percolation can recharge groundwater or contribute to subsurface runoff as base flow. Hence, "losses" at the field scale are not necessarily losses in the hydrological sense at larger scales (Perry *et al.*, 2009). For example, Savenije (2004) stated that evaporation of intercepted water is not considered a "loss" to the water resources system, but merely a "recycling" of rainfall. Water evaporated or transpired, although not immediately available to meet other demands, may eventually return as precipitation but not necessarily in the same watershed.

#### 3.1.1.3 Productive water use

Furthermore, water use can be classified as productive versus non-productive. Productive water use includes water that increases biomass production either directly (such as transpired water and water harvested with the crop) or indirectly (water used for frost control or leaching of salts). Non-productive water use does not contribute directly to plant growth and includes soil water evaporation as well as sprinkler and reservoir evaporation (Yeh *et al.*, 2011). Interception is also considered an unproductive flux since the water loss does not contribute to plant growth (Savenije, 2004). The use of mulch layers can reduce non-productive water use (i.e. soil water evaporation) in favour of productive water use (i.e.

Certain land use changes (i.e. conversion of fallow or waste land) may result in a shift from non-productive soil water evaporation to productive transpiration. Although a reduction in runoff may result from the increased transpiration, storm flow and sedimentation load will be lower. Hence, this reduced risk of flooding and improved water quality is beneficial for downstream water users. Soil water content and base flow may also improve from the land use change. However, the net impact of a land use change is dependent on many factors such as the spatial scale of implementation and the demand for water by downstream users as well as the characteristics of that change (e.g. evergreen vs. deciduous, deep vs. shallow rooted etc.).

## 3.1.1.4 Evaporation terminology

In order to understand crop water use, it is important to distinguish between reference crop evapotranspiration ( $ET_o$ ), potential evapotranspiration ( $ET_p$ ) and actual evapotranspiration ( $ET_a$ ). Evapotranspiration (ET) is the sum of soil water:

- taken up by roots and transpired from plant leaves, and
- evaporated directly from the soil surface.

 $ET_o$  is the evapotranspiration rate from a reference "crop", typically a hypothetical grass or alfalfa surface with defined characteristics, not short of water and well maintained.  $ET_p$ represents the upper limit of evapotranspiration under optimum conditions (i.e. well-watered and well managed) so that crop production can be maximised under the given climatic conditions.  $ET_a$  is the evapotranspiration limited by sub-optimal management practices which impacts on crop growth. Generally,  $ET_a$  is less than  $ET_p$  except under advective conditions.  $ET_a$  can be used to describe the water consumed by a crop. In the introduction, the importance of accurate estimates of crop water use was highlighted. Taylor and Gush (2014) highlighted a number of maximum evaporation ( $ET_p$ ) models applicable to annual crops and perennial fruit trees. These included the *FAO56*, *SAPWAT* and *SWBPro* models as well as the Penman-Monteith and Priestley-Taylor formulations.

The reference crop (typically short grass or dense alfalfa) provides a standard measure of evapotranspiration that can be determined easily at various locations using climate data. In the literature,  $ET_o$  and  $ET_r$  represent grass- and alfalfa-based reference evaporation respectively. Since there are two common reference surfaces, the term  $E_r$  is also used to describe reference evaporation. In addition, some textbooks (e.g. Schulze, 1995) now refer to potential evapotranspiration  $(ET_p)$  as maximum evaporation  $(E_m)$ . Similarly, actual evapotranspiration  $(ET_a)$  is sometimes referred to as total evaporation (E). The latter terminology (i.e.  $E_r$ ,  $E_m$  and E) is preferred, but both are used throughout this document. This decision is related to the debate that the term "evapotranspiration" is outdated because it:

- describes two different processes (i.e. evaporation vs. transpiration),
- highlights our inability to conceptualise these processes separately, and
- excludes the role of interception which is often considered only a small proportion of total evaporation (Savenije, 2004).

On a similar note, the term soil evaporation is avoided as the soil itself cannot evaporate, only the water stored within the soil. Hence, the term soil water evaporation is preferred. Various factors affect crop water use (i.e. total evaporation) including crop characteristics, management practices and environmental conditions related to the site's climate, soils and terrain.

#### 3.1.2 The crop coefficient

#### 3.1.2.1 Definition

A commonly used procedure for estimating consumptive water use of irrigated crops is based on the crop coefficient approach. The single crop coefficient ( $K_c$ ) approach combines soil water evaporation and crop transpiration, whereas the basal crop coefficient ( $K_{cb}$ ) describes plant transpiration only.

The ratio of crop transpiration ( $T_c$ ) to reference crop evaporation ( $ET_o$ ) is called the basal crop coefficient ( $K_{cb}$ ). However, in this project, crop water use is defined as total evaporation (transpiration + soil water evaporation + interception loss) from the biomass, accumulated over the full productive cycle. The ratio of crop water use ( $ET_a$ ) to reference crop evaporation ( $ET_o$ ) is called the single crop coefficient ( $K_c$ ). Hence, soil water evaporation from the topsoil horizon is excluded in  $K_{cb}$  but included in  $K_c$  calculations. The evaporation of soil water is considered a non-consumptive use of available soil water, since the loss does not directly contribute to plant growth. Allen *et al.* (1998) describe the methodology for estimating  $K_c$  for crops that are not well-watered, but due to the uncertainty it introduces into the estimate, the approach was not adopted in this study.

Crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) are normally calculated at research sites by relating the measured crop evapotranspiration under well-watered conditions (i.e. potential evapotranspiration,  $E_m$  or  $ET_p$ ) with the calculated reference crop evaporation  $E_r$  (i.e.  $K_c = E_m/E_r$ ). Thus, differences in the crop canopy and aerodynamic resistance relative to the hypothetical reference crop are accounted for by the crop coefficient. Hence, there is no need to determine these parameters for the cropped surface as  $K_c$  serves as an aggregation of the physical and physiological differences between various crops and the reference for a well-watered crop. The crop coefficient concept describes the variation in water use over the growing season and facilitates the comparison of water use between crops.

Under well-watered conditions, much of the uncertainty introduced by site-specific conditions is reduced, allowing for the estimation of a generic crop coefficient which is intended to be applied not only where it was derived. Crop coefficients provide a means to estimate the crop's potential evapotranspiration relative to the reference crop evapotranspiration. The value of the crop coefficient depends on crop type, stage of growth and type of reference crop used (FAO56, alfalfa, grass or A-pan).

#### 3.1.2.2 Reference crop evaporation

Reference crop evaporation ( $E_r$ ) is calculated for a grass (i.e.  $E_r = ET_o$ ) or alfalfa (i.e.  $E_r = ET_r$ ) reference crop and is then multiplied by an empirical crop coefficient ( $K_c$ ) to produce an estimate of crop evaporation (E or  $ET_c$ ). Allen *et al.* (1998) attempted to standardise reference crop evaporation, thus providing a common basis for computing crop coefficients. This allows for the transfer of crop coefficient values in both space and time. Hence, the *de facto* standard for estimating reference crop evaporation is a method originally developed by Penman in 1948 and subsequently modified by Penman in 1963, with further improvements suggested by Monteith from 1965 onwards. Monteith's improvements to the Penman equation have been extensively researched by the Food and Agricultural Organisation, FAO (Allen *et al.*, 1998). Their modifications are commonly referred to as the FAO Penman-Monteith equation or the FAO56 procedure which is presented in **Section 3.4.1.1**.

#### 3.1.2.3 Generalised $K_c$ curve

The rate of water use varies over the crop's growth cycle (**Figure 9**). The rate at which the crop develops and the time to reach full canopy cover are affected by weather conditions, in particular mean daily air temperature. Therefore, the length of time between planting and full canopy cover varies with climate, latitude, elevation, planting date as well as cultivar (crop variety). Thereafter, the rate of further phenological development (flowering, seed development & ripening) is more dependent on plant genotype and less dependent on

weather. Stress caused by high temperatures or lack of soil water can shorten the mid- and late-season growing periods (Allen *et al.,* 1998).



Figure 9 Generalised crop coefficient curve based on the single crop coefficient approach (Allen *et al.*, 1998)

While the crop coefficient approach provides a simple and convenient way to estimate crop water requirements for a variety of crops, some uncertainties do exist. Firstly, the crop coefficient approach is not well suited to crops with sparse canopies exhibiting a high spatial variability of soil and vegetation coverage (e.g. row crops, orchards and vineyards). Secondly (and more importantly), many  $K_c$  values reported in the international literature are often not adapted to local conditions (Ortega-Farias *et al.*, 2009). Crop coefficients are influenced by numerous non-linear interactions of the soil, crop and atmospheric conditions, as well as irrigation management practices. Therefore, locally "calibrated" crop coefficients are required. As highlighted above,  $K_c$  is defined for pristine conditions with no water or other stresses (e.g. disease) that will reduce crop water use. Hence, experiments designed to estimate crop coefficients need to be irrigated and well managed.

#### 3.1.3 Water use efficiency

#### 3.1.3.1 Background

Many different definitions of WUE exist in the literature, consequently it is important to clarify the specific definition of WUE being referred to at any particular time, as well as the methods used to determine it and the units employed. The bio-physical WUE of a plant relates some measure of growth (e.g. carbon assimilation or gross primary production), to some measure of water use (e.g. transpiration or total evaporation), over a particular time period. The links and trade-offs between carbon uptake and water loss that take place through photosynthesis and stomatal control have been well researched (Jarvis, 1981; Whitehead, 1998; Law *et al.*, 2002). However, the estimation of WUE may be conducted at vastly different spatial and temporal scales, which requires different measurement approaches (Lindroth and Cienciala, 1996; Tu *et al.*, 2008).

At the molecular level, ratios of stable carbon isotopes (e.g. <sup>13</sup>C/<sup>12</sup>C) combined with an estimate of the leaf-to-air vapour pressure difference, provide a measure of the efficiency of water use in photosynthesis (Farquhar *et al.*, 1982; Farquhar and Richards, 1984; Marshall and Zhang, 1994; Dawson *et al.*, 2002).

In leaf-level studies, instantaneous WUE may be determined through a combination of gasexchange measurement techniques consisting of  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$  measurements using instruments such as porometers and infra-red gas analysers (or IRGAs). These describe a plant's demand for water relative to its photosynthetic production (Cernusak *et al.*, 2007).

At the single-tree or stand scale, water use and growth measurements are usually conducted on a number of individual trees over a certain period, typically using heat dissipation or sap flow measurement techniques (Gyenge *et al.*, 2008) and are scaled up according to the planting density (Hatton and Wu, 1995; Wullschleger *et al.*, 1998).

At a canopy scale, estimates of WUE are possible using micrometeorological measurements of carbon and water fluxes (Lamaud *et al.*, 1997; Law *et al.*, 2002). For example, Krishnan *et al.* (2006) described WUE at this scale as a measure of the amount of Carbon taken up during photosynthesis (*P*) relative to the water lost by the ecosystem (*E*) (WUE = *P*/*E*). Similarly, Lamaud *et al.* (1997) defined WUE as the ratio of photosynthesis over canopy transpiration, representing the loss in water associated with the gain of carbon. In the absence of specific measurements of photosynthesis and transpiration rates, they suggest the use of carbon uptake (net CO<sub>2</sub> flux) and water loss (ET) by the vegetation as surrogates.

At wider regional scales, estimates of WUE are possible using remotely sensed data from which values of total evaporation and biomass production (e.g. gross primary production) may be derived (Lu and Zhuang, 2010). At all scales, the period of measurement is ideally a year or longer, to incorporate seasonal variation, however this may not always be practically feasible, and instantaneous or short term estimates of WUE may result. The slope between changes in biomass accumulation (growth) and water-use represents a measure of WUE. It is thus a ratio that can be altered through changes in growth rate and/or changes in water use.

#### 3.1.3.2 Definition

Since it is mostly the above-ground biomass that provides the economic benefit in biofuel production, it is common for WUE to be defined as above-ground biomass increment per unit of water consumed (Dye, 2000). However, in the case of sugarbeet, below-ground biomass accumulation (i.e. the tuber) is of economic importance.

For the purpose of this study, WUE is defined as the economic yield per unit of water use. Economic yield refers to the utilisable portion of the biomass that contains sugar (stem or tuber), starch (grain) or vegetable oil (seed). Water use is defined as total evaporation (transpiration + soil water evaporation + interception loss) from the biomass, accumulated over the full productive cycle (i.e. growing season).

#### 3.1.3.3 Choice of units

In describing bio-physical WUE, units applicable to the variables of interest, namely feedstock yield and water use, need to be employed. As noted above, the choice of units

depends on the application and purpose of WUE studies. Gush and Dye (2009) suggested that grams or kilograms may be used to describe mass of yield produced, whilst kilograms or mm may be used to describe the water transpired or evaporated by the crop, at whatever scale (ha; m<sup>2</sup>, km<sup>2</sup>) is appropriate. Strictly speaking, an efficiency should have the same unit of measure for both the numerator and denominator (Jones, 2004). Hence, crop yield and water use should both be expressed in kg, with WUE in kg kg<sup>-1</sup>. However, WUE can equate to a very small number because of the small numerator and large denominator values. Thus, crop yield is expressed in g and not kg (i.e. WUE in g kg<sup>-1</sup>).

The project's terms of reference stated that water use should be expressed as a volume in  $m^3$ . With the denominator in  $m^3$ , the numerator (i.e. crop yield) is expressed in kg. The use of tons should be avoided since WUE in t  $m^{-3}$  is typically a small number (due to the magnitude of the numerator relative to the denominator). Strictly speaking, this choice of units (i.e. kg  $m^{-3}$ ) indicates a water productivity (WP) and not a water use efficiency (WUE; in kg kg<sup>-1</sup>). This argument is the main justification for the change in nomenclature from WUE to WP as noted in the literature (Molden, 1997; Singh, 2005).

#### 3.1.3.4 Calculation of WUE

WUE is defined as the portion of biomass utilised for biofuel production, per unit amount of water consumed by the biomass. In terms of first generation feedstocks, water use efficiency (*WUE* in kg m<sup>-3</sup>) is therefore calculated as stem, tuber, grain or oilseed yield (Y in kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) divided by feedstock water use (i.e. total evaporation or actual evapotranspiration, *ET* in m<sup>3</sup>):

This definition is similar to that provided by Zhang *et al.* (2010). The main technique used in this study to measure feedstock water use (e.g. surface renewal) estimates total evaporation in mm. A simple adjustment is made to accommodate ET measurements in mm:

$$WUE = Y/(ET * 10)$$
 Equation 2

This conversion is based on 1 mm of water being equivalent to 1 litre or 1 kg of water per square meter of ground. Transpiration data from sampled trees is scaled up to stand level using planting density and then expressed as mm equivalent depth. **Equation 2** was used to convert WUEs obtained from the literature in kg mm<sup>-1</sup> to kg m<sup>-3</sup> to facilitate comparison with figures derived in this study.

Finally, it is also important to be specific about the nature of the yield (e.g. fresh or dry mass, in-shell, de-husked etc.). Where possible, WUE will be calculated for both fresh (i.e. green or wet) mass as well as the mass of dry matter (usually obtained after drying the fresh utilisable mass in an 80°C oven for 48 hours). This aspect sometimes complicates the comparison of WUEs gleaned from the available literature.

#### 3.2 Site Description

In this study, field-based experiments designed to estimate feedstock water use efficiency were conducted at the Ukulinga research farm (Pietermaritzburg) as well as the Hatfield research farm (Pretoria University). In addition, data were obtained for soybean and yellow

maize from experiments undertaken at Baynesfield Estate in the KwaZulu-Natal Midlands (Mengistu *et al.*, 2014). A brief description of each site is given next.

## 3.2.1 Ukulinga

The Ukulinga research farm (29°40'S; 30°24'E; altitude 809 m) at receives an average annual rainfall of 750 mm over 113 rain days, with 23% of the MAP falling during the winter months (**Table 102** in **APPENDIX E**). The two wettest months are January and February which receive average monthly totals of 108 and 103 mm respectively. Ukulinga experiences warm to hot summers and mild winters with occasional frost (Camp, 1997). The estimated mean annual temperature is 18.3°C and the hottest and coldest months on average are February (26.5°C) and July (8.0°C) respectively. A summary of the monthly weather data from September 2010 to May 2014 is presented in **Table 105 (APPENDIX F**).

The agronomic requirements of the sugarbeet, sweet sorghum and grain sorghum trials at Ukulinga were managed by the African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI). Two 80 by 80 m plots located on land 5B were used for the experiments. **Figure 10** shows the location of the two plots in relation to the Jatropha trial.



**Figure 10** Location of the Jatropha trial site at the Ukulinga research farm as well as the two 80 by 80 m research plots managed by the ACCI

## 3.2.1.1 Soils data

Experiments were conducted in two plots situated in Land 5B at Ukulinga. The Ukulinga Soils Map of 1982 showed that both plots are dominated by the Westleigh soil form (We: orthic-A over soft plinthic-B). A soil survey was conducted at Ukulinga in august 2010 with the results given next.
## Soil type and depth

The topsoil depth is approximately 10 to 15 cm and varies because the site has been previously ploughed and disked. The soil depth decreased diagonally across the plots and down the slope, from 100 cm to 60 cm.

## Bulk density

Bulk density is directly related to soil porosity and indicates the degree of soil compaction. It is considered a good measure of soil quality as it affects the ease at which roots can penetrate the soil. Three undisturbed bulk density samples were taken (at the first survey pit) using a 5 cm diameter cylindrical core (10 cm in length) for the topsoil (AP horizon, where P represents a ploughed A-horizon). These samples represent the top 10 cm of the soil profile. Similarly, three samples were taken at a depth of 20 to 30 cm to represent the upper B-horizon, and another three samples from 40 to 50 cm for the lower B-horizon. This exercise was repeated for the second soil survey pit.

All 18 bulk density samples were weighed and placed in a drying oven (at  $104^{\circ}$ C) over a weekend. UKU1.x represents samples taken from the first pit (indicated by •1 in **Figure 11**) and UKU2.x for samples from the second pit (pit •2 in **Figure 11**). Bulk densities varied from 1.31 to 1.50 g cm<sup>-3</sup> for the first pit and from 1.09 to 1.45 g cm<sup>-3</sup> for the second soil pit. These bulk density values are high, considering values higher than 1.7 are deemed critical, rendering the soil unsuitable for agriculture. If the density of rock is 2.7, porosity values ranged from 59 to 44% for bulk densities of 1.1 to 1.5 g cm<sup>-3</sup>. The moisture content of the soil varied from 4.1 to 10.2% in pit #1 and 5.6 to 13.0% in pit #2.



Figure 11 Soil survey pits (red dot) in relation to both 80 by 80 m plots, with the end of each contour marked with a yellow dot

# Soil texture

Particle size distribution (dispersed) was determined by the pipette method (Gee and Bauder, 1986). The soil texture analysis was conducted by the Department of Soil Science at UKZN. The proportion of clay, silt and sand for each of the six soil samples is given in **Table 21**. The clay percentage increases with depth at both survey pits. This clay distribution type (increasing with depth) results from a vertical movement of clay particles due to leaching effects.

	Pit no.	Depth (cm)	Clay (%)	Silt (%)	Sand (%)	Total (%)	Texture	
	1	0-10	29.15	42.98	27.87	100.00	Clay loam	
	1	20-30	30.67	42.11	27.22	100.00	Clay loam	
	1	40-50	32.75	44.96	22.28	100.00	Clay loam	
	2	0-10	29.30	46.89	23.82	100.00	Clay loam	
	2	20-30	34.83	48.09	17.08	100.00	Silty clay loam	
	2	40-50	35.20	29.22	35.58	100.00	Clay loam	

Table 21	Proportion of clay.	silt and sand for three	depths in each	soil survev pit
	r toportion of oldy,			Son Survey pre

## Soil water retention

Six soil samples were taken using a stainless steel 5 cm diameter cylindrical core (5 cm in length). A hammer was used to insert the core into the soil at the correct depth. The hardness of the soil (high bulk densities) limited the number of samples taken. The soil samples were saturated with water and then exposed to various tensions to determine the water retained in the soil at -0, -33 and -1 500 kPa. These values represent the total porosity, drained upper limit and lower limit of soil water available for plant growth (**Table 22**). For more information on the procedure used, refer to Lorentz *et al.* (2001) and Moodley *et al.* (2004).

Table 22Soil water retention values representing total porosity (TPO), drained upper<br/>limit (DUL) and permanent wilting point (PWP) for the two soil survey pits at<br/>Ukulinga

Dit no	Depth	TPO	DUL	PWP
Fit no.	(cm)	(m m⁻¹)	(m m⁻¹)	(m m <sup>-1</sup> )
1	0-10	0.412	0.226	0.187
1	20-30	0.417	0.233	0.194
1	40-50	0.435	0.228	0.172
2	0-10	0.398	0.265	0.212
2	20-30	0.410	0.272	0.226
2	40-50	0.446	0.243	0.207

# 3.2.2 Hatfield

The Hatfield experiment farm (25°45'S; 28°16'E; altitude 1 327 m) is in the country's summer rainfall region characterised by high intensity and short duration rainfall events with sunny periods between rains. The farm receives an average annual rainfall of 702 mm over 85 rain days, with 14% of the MAP falling during the winter months (**Table 103** in **APPENDIX E**). The two wettest months are December and January which receive average monthly totals of

123 and 137 mm respectively. The estimated mean annual temperature is  $17.6^{\circ}$ C and the hottest and coldest months on average are January (28.0°C) and June (3.4°C) respectively. Frost spells may occur during winter. A summary of Hatfield's monthly weather data for three seasons is given in **Table 106** (**APPENDIX F**). The soil is a sandy clay loam with a permanent wilting point and field capacity of 128 and 240 mm m<sup>-1</sup> respectively.

# 3.2.3 Baynesfield

For WRC Project K5/2066 (Mengistu *et al.*, 2014), field measurements were carried out at Baynesfield Estate (29°46'S; 30°20'E; altitude 850 m), approximately 20 km south of Pietermaritzburg in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Baynesfield climate is classified as subhumid with dry and cool winters and warm and rainy summers. The crops grown mainly at the study site are maize, soybean, sugarcane and avocados. The Baynesfield Estate receives an average annual rainfall of 839 mm over 129 rain days, with 22% of the MAP falling during the winter months (**Table 104** in **APPENDIX E**). The two wettest months are December and January which receive average monthly totals of 130 and 124 mm respectively. The estimated mean annual temperature is 17.5°C and the hottest and coldest months on average are February (26.4°C) and July (5.5°C) respectively. The mean monthly air temperature ranges from a maximum of 21.1°C in January to a minimum of 13.3°C in June. The predominant wind direction is easterly. The farm is situated at an altitude of approximately 850 m and the predominant wind direction being easterly. A summary of the monthly weather data for the 2012/13 growing season (October 2012 to April 2013) is presented in **Table 107 (APPENDIX F**).

# 3.3 Trial Description

Trials were conducted over four seasons at the Ukulinga and Hatfield research farms. The African Centre for Crop Improvement (ACCI; based at UKZN) managed all agronomy-related aspects of the field-based research undertaken at Ukulinga. For example, the ACCI advised which cultivars were grown, the preferred planting densities and planting dates as well as the harvesting method. The ACCI also conducted Brix (i.e. total soluble sugar content) determinations for all sugar-based feedstocks harvested at both Ukulinga and Hatfield. In addition, research undertaken at Baynesfield in 2012/13 (i.e. season #3) was deemed relevant for this project and thus, is included in the trial descriptions which are detailed next.

# 3.3.1 2010/11 season

# 3.3.1.1 Sugarbeet

The sugarbeet trial (variety EB 0809) was planted at Ukulinga over a two-week period in mid-September 2010 and finally harvested in early April 2011. The agronomic practices adopted to establish and maintain the trial, as well as the weather conditions experienced over the growing season are described next. In addition, the harvesting process and procedure used to analyse sugar content is also discussed.

The 80 by 80 m trial site was disked in July 2010 in preparation for the transplanting of the sugarbeet seedlings. Fertiliser was mechanically spread on 3<sup>rd</sup> September 2010. A total of 300 kg of 2:3:4 (or 20% N: 30% P: 40% K) fertiliser was applied, as the soils had not been tilled or fertilised for some time. A final disking was done to incorporate the fertiliser into the

topsoil and then the trial site was irrigated. The trial site was then sprayed with a preemergent herbicide (Acetochlor) on 10<sup>th</sup> September 2010 and made ready for planting the following week. The land was not rotavated to minimise the risk of heavy soil erosion (and loss) if heavy spring rains should occur.

Sugarbeet seed was sown at the beginning of July 2010 in seedling trays (undertaken by Sunshine Seedlings). The initial germination rate was about 85% and after thinning, improved to 90%. A cold spell experienced during the week of the 9-13 August 2010 delayed seedling growth and the planting date. Planting of the seedlings commenced on the 14<sup>th</sup> September 2010 and was staggered over a two-week period to decrease the risk of crop failure. Seedlings were transplanted with an inter-row spacing of 50 cm and a between plant spacing of 30 cm (i.e. 66 666 plants per hectare).

In 2010, there are no registered herbicides for sugarbeet in South Africa, so weed control was a labour-intensive manual exercise. Morning Glory and Blackjack were the dominant obnoxious weeds in the sugarbeet trial. During the growing season, LAN fertiliser was applied at a rate of 140 kg N per hectare. The crop was sprayed regularly with fungicides to reduce the level of *Cercospora* (leaf spot) infection. Insecticides were used to control army worm. Drip irrigation was used to maintain optimum soil water conditions in order to maximise crop yield.

In early April, nine sugarbeet samples plots were identified and harvested. The sizes of the plots were as follows: two  $(20 \times 6 \text{ m})$ ; two  $(10 \times 5 \text{ m})$ ; and five  $(10 \times 3 \text{ m})$ . The beets were harvested in each plot with forks using manual labour and placed in labelled bags (**Figure 12**).



**Figure 12** Manual harvesting of the beet using forks. The leaves were stripped in the field and left to decompose

Each harvested line per sample plot was individually washed and weighed (**Figure 13**). The number of tubers per line was recorded, together with the general condition of each tuber. Tuber damage was caused mainly by root rot, with the weed, pest and disease problems affecting the overall yield. Finally, laboratory samples were taken, thus enabling total Brix (i.e. total sugar) yield to be determined.





## 3.3.1.2 Sweet sorghum

The sweet sorghum trial (variety Sugargraze) was planted at Ukulinga over a two-week period in early December 2010 and finally harvested in early May 2011. The agronomic practices adopted to establish and maintain the trial are described next. In addition, the harvesting process and procedure used to analyse sugar content are also discussed.

The 80 by 80 m trial site was disked in November 2010 in preparation for seed planting. Fertiliser was mechanically spread at the same rate used for the sugarbeet trial. A final disking was done to incorporate the fertiliser into the topsoil and then the trial site was irrigated. Planting commenced on 7<sup>th</sup> December 2010. Plant rows were spaced 0.9 m apart, with an in-row spacing of about 0.14 m, resulting in a plant population of about 80 000 plants per hectare (on average). Drip irrigation was used to supplement rainfall in order to ensure optimal growing conditions.

A pre-emergence herbicide (Acetochlor 700) was applied to the soil soon after planting and weeds that emerged later were controlled manually. Some difficulties with bird damage were experienced at the time of emergence, resulting in the replanting of certain portions of the trial. Additional nitrogen in the form of LAN was applied at the knee-high stage and pyrethroid insecticide was used. Weed control using Basagran took place and applied with tractor and hand sprayers.

At flowering, a fungicide was sprayed to reduce infection levels of northern leaf blight and anthracnose as well as an insecticide for the control of stalk borer. This was done during the week of 21<sup>st</sup> to 25<sup>th</sup> February 2011 and a helicopter was used to spray the trial due to the height of the sweet sorghum stems (**Figure 14**). A systemic insecticide was also applied

during February 2011 to control aphids on the sorghum leaves. No other pest and disease control measures were needed.



Figure 14 Spraying of a sweet sorghum trial at Ukulinga to minimise stalk borer infestation

The harvesting process began on  $19^{th}$  May 2011. A thunderstorm three days prior to harvest resulted in lodging, which meant the sample plots were carefully selected to minimise storm damage effects. A total of 10 sweet sorghum sample plots were selected in the 80 × 80 m trial for harvesting. The sizes of the plots were as follows: six (20 × 10 m); and four (10 × 10 m). The sweet sorghum stems were harvested with secateurs using manual labour. A total of 12 lines in each plot were sampled (i.e. plot width of approximately 11 m).

The leaves and heads were stripped from the stalks and placed in labelled bags for weighing. This was done to determine the portion of leaves and heads as a percentage of the total biomass on a fresh mass basis. Each line of harvested stems was then bundled and weighed in the field to determine the yield of fresh stalk per plot (**Figure 15**).



Figure 15 In-field weighing of fresh stalks, leaves and heads to determine each sample plot's fresh stalk yield and the portion of leaves and heads on a fresh mass basis

One line per each sample plot was then placed in ovens for 24 hours at 80°C to dry to constant mass. Once dried, the samples were re-weighed to determine the total dry matter yield per plot as well as the dry matter yield of each component (stalks, leaves & heads). The sixth line of each sample plot was then transported to ACCI's laboratory and placed in an oven for 24 hours at 80°C. Once dried, the biomass was re-weighed to determine the total dry matter yield per plot as well as the dry matter yield of each component (stalks, leaves and heads). A total of 20 sugar yield analyses were undertaken using stalks not damaged by pests (e.g. stalk borer) for the Ukulinga trial.

#### 3.3.1.3 Sweet sorghum (Hatfield)

The sweet sorghum variety Sugargraze was planted in a uniform block of 80 by 80 m (**Figure 16**). This trial was identical to that conducted at the Ukulinga experiment farm, with the aim of creating favourable growing conditions to achieve optimum growth and stalk yield. Drip irrigation was installed to supplement rainfall when needed in order to ensure optimal growing conditions. The trial was planted on 7<sup>th</sup> December 2010. Plant rows were spaced 0.9 m apart, with an in-row spacing of about 0.2 m, giving a plant population of about 55 000 plants per hectare. The trial was conducted during a wet season (total rainfall of 757 mm over the growing period). During the first six weeks, conditions were very wet and no irrigation was necessary. The plants were harvested when the sweet sorghum crop reached the hard dough stage in May 2011.



**Figure 16** MSc student Hanson Hlope standing next to the sweet sorghum irrigation trial located at the Hatfield experimental farm

The harvesting process adopted by Pretoria University at their Hatfield experimental farm was almost identical to that followed at Ukulinga. A randomised sampling technique was used to identify 10 blocks, each 20 m along the row and about 10 m wide. Since the row spacing was approximately 0.8 to 0.9 m, 12 lines were selected in each block. Each block was harvested by line (or row) and stalks were cut just above ground level. Hence, each 20 m line was bundled together and labelled, with the number of stalks recorded. The bundled line was then weighed to obtain the fresh mass and used to estimate the total fresh biomass

yield. In order to obtain the dry matter yield, approximately 10% of the stalks from each block were sampled. This was done by selecting two representative lines in each block. For each of the two selected lines, the leaves and heads were stripped from the known number of stalks and weighed to determine the fresh mass of each component. The heads were not threshed to remove the grain. A sub-sample of 2 kg fresh stalks was taken, placed in paper bags and dried at 70°C until constant mass, thereafter it was re-weighed. The same was done for the leaves and heads, from which the dry matter content (%) of each component was calculated. This was then used to calculate the dry matter yields per sample and plot from the total fresh yields.

For sugar content (Brix) determination, 20 cleared stalks of about 1 m in length (about 5 to 6 kg) were taken per sample, tied into bundles and placed in labelled polypropylene bags. These were kept cool until they were sent to ACCI's laboratory (at Ukulinga) by overnight courier for chaff cutting and stalk Brix determination.

## 3.3.1.4 Sweet sorghum (drought)

This trial was planted on 7<sup>th</sup> December 2010 with sweet sorghum (variety Sugargraze) and consisted of four different irrigation treatments. Drip irrigation was used to irrigate the experiment. Water meters recorded the exact amounts of irrigation that was applied to each treatment as follows:

- Treatment 1: Control irrigated once per week. The soil profile was refilled to field capacity, based on neutron probe measurements.
- Treatment 2: Dryland irrigated only if needed during establishment, thereafter the crop depended on rainfall.
- Treatment 3: Supplementary irrigation only during the early vegetative stage (EVS). Regime during this period was the same as for the control.
- Treatment 4: Supplementary irrigation at late vegetative stage (LVS). Regime during this period was the same as for the control.

The experiment was laid out in a randomised complete block design (RCBD) with four replications. Each plot was 6 m long and 7.2 m wide and consisted of eight plant rows that were spaced 0.9 m apart, and with an in-row spacing of 0.12 m between plants (**Figure 17**).

During the first six weeks, conditions were very wet and no irrigation was necessary. Destructive growth analyses were conducted at Hatfield once every two weeks to monitor growth in response to each of the four irrigation treatments. One plant was sampled from the end of the six middle rows of each plot (leaving one border row on either side), giving a sample size of six plants per plot per sampling. After sampling, the plants were immediately taken to the field laboratory, where they were separated into leaves, stems and heads for further analysis.



research farm for the 2011/12 growing season

The plants were finally harvested when the sweet sorghum crop was in the hard dough stage. The average height of ten randomly selected stalks in each row was determined using a measuring tape. Plants were then hand harvested with sickles by cutting the stalks just above ground level. All remaining plants (after growth analysis) from the six middle rows per plot were harvested for final yield determination. Each 4.5 m row length was harvested and the number of stalks recorded, thereafter bundled together and labelled. The total bundle was weighed immediately after harvesting to obtain the total fresh biomass yield. Two representative bundles were then selected from each plot and transported to the field laboratory to determine the stalk, leaf and head mass per sample (bundle). The procedures followed for yield and quality determinations were the same as described in **Section 3.3.1.3**.

# 3.3.1.5 Jatropha

The Jatropha trial was planted in February 2005 as a randomised block design (three blocks) with six treatments per block, i.e. three replicates per treatment, with a total of 18 plots. Each plot had a large area (50 m × 25 m or 0.1 ha) to enable the use of certain micrometeorological techniques and for grazing by livestock. The whole trial was 265 m long × 110 m wide (an area of 29 150 m<sup>2</sup> or 2.915 ha). Trees were planted at a density of 1 100 plants ha<sup>-1</sup>, in single rows and in aggregate rows called "sets" with wide alleys for forage production.

Seed should be collected when the capsules begin to blacken and split open. Collection is best done by picking seeds directly from the tree or shaking the branches to drop seeds to the ground. For the 2010/11 season, seed was harvested from the Jatropha only (i.e. weed free) plots. An additional harvest was undertaken in May 2011 due to the unusual wet weather experienced during April and May 2011 at Ukulinga as the trees had not yet entered

their dormant stage and were still producing seed. The stored seed was then left to dry sufficiently before the de-husking process started.

# 3.3.1.6 Moringa

*Moringa oleifera* seedlings developed directly from seeds were planted at two densities (1 m by 3.5 m and 3 m by 3.5 m). The trial was designed as a complete randomised block design consisting of 12 plots divided into three blocks. In each block, there were four plots (two for each density treatment). The plants were watered regularly and fertiliser was applied. Once the plants were established, watering was terminated for three plots from each planting density treatment. The other three plots per treatment continued to receive irrigation according to neutron probe measurements (deficit refilled to field capacity once per week, except during winters) until June 2011. Data were collected on two/four-week basis depending on the season and performance of the plants.

Leaf fresh mass was measured once in summer by stripping all the leaves in sample branches and converted to per plant. The number of newly formed inflorescences and pods were counted once every two weeks. Seed yield was measured after harvesting all the seeds from the pods produced by the plant. Seed yield was measured after harvesting all the pods per plant. The seed oil content was determined using two soxhlet solvent extractors. Hexane was used as solvent to extract the oil. Seed samples were weighed, ground and placed in Whatman single-thickness cellulose extraction thimbles of the soxhlet. The soxhlet system was run for 24 hours. The solvent was then removed through evaporation and the residual oil weighed. The oil content was then calculated as a percentage of the initial seed weight prior to extraction.

# 3.3.2 2011/12 season

# 3.3.2.1 Sugarbeet

For the second growing season, transplanting of sugarbeet seedlings commenced on 22<sup>nd</sup> June 2011, which was completed in early July 2011. The drip irrigation was terminated on 23<sup>rd</sup> December 2011 in preparation for the harvesting which commenced on 30<sup>th</sup> January 2012 (and finished on the February 3<sup>rd</sup>), after 7 months of growth. The agronomy of the trial was very similar to that undertaken in the first season and thus, the description is not repeated here.

# 3.3.2.2 Sweet sorghum

The second growing season ran from December 2011 to the May 2012. Plant rows were spaced 0.9 m apart, with an in-row spacing reduced to about 8-9 cm to increase the plant population from 80 000 in the first season to 125 000 sph. Again, the agronomy of the trial was very similar to that undertaken in the first season and thus, the description is not repeated here.

# 3.3.2.3 Sweet sorghum (Hatfield)

The second growing season also ran from December 2011 to May 2012. Plant rows were spaced 0.9 m apart, with an in-row spacing reduced to about 10 cm to increase the plant population around 100 000 sph. Again, the agronomy of the trial was very similar to that undertaken in the first season and thus, the description is not repeated here.

#### 3.3.2.4 Sweet sorghum (drought)

The drought trial coincided with the main 80 by 80 m trial. Since the treatments were identical to those of the first season trial, the description is not repeated here.

## 3.3.3 2012/13 season

#### 3.3.3.1 Sugarbeet

An autumn planting of sugarbeet began in May 2013 at Ukulinga. Seed for the same subtropical variety (EB0809) was sourced from Syngenta on 28<sup>th</sup> February 2013 and a germination test was conducted by ACCI in the first week of March 2013. These tests showed germination was problematic due to the age of the seed (same seed used in the first trial in 2010). The seed was then sent to Sunshine Seedlings in mid-March 2013, which was treated (i.e. inoculated) with *Trichoderma* to help improve soil disease tolerance. The seed was then germinated in their controlled temperature environment to prepare approximately 60 000 seedlings for transplanting at Ukulinga. Three seeds were planted in each tray compartment to ensure germination due to the age of the seed used. The ratooned sweet sorghum plot (Plot #1) was then mowed and sprayed in mid-March with Roundup to kill the emerging weeds. The field was then disked in preparation for the seedlings. A new irrigation manifold line was installed and dripperlines laid 50 cm apart in preparation for the transplanting. The seedlings arrived from Sunshine two weeks later than expected, due to the germination problems experienced. Transplanting commenced in mid-May 2013 and seedlings were placed in between the drippers (30 cm apart) to reduce the risk of root rot.

Goltix 700 SC (a registered sugarbeet herbicide) was used to combat weeds which. This herbicide was also used in the Cradock trials conducted by the former Sugarbeet SA and the Department of Agriculture. The first application took place in late July 2013 at a rate of 4 L ha<sup>-1</sup> for post-emergent weed control. A small portion of the trial was sprayed at 8 L ha<sup>-1</sup> to assess signs of toxicity to Goltix use (which was positive at the higher rate). Unfortunately, Goltix had little impact on Blackjack so manual weeding was then initiated. A post-fertiliser application was done in early August 2013 using LAN 28 at a rate of 140 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>. A second fertiliser application of LAN 28 was done about a month later, followed by another herbicide application (4.0 L of Goltix) on 11<sup>th</sup> September. In addition, the trial was sprayed twice with a micro-nutrient foliar feed (using 1.6 L ha<sup>-1</sup> of Supreme Foliar Feed) to improve growth. A third foliar spray was completed on 2<sup>nd</sup> October 2013.

The trial was manually watered to avoid problems with root rot that could result from overirrigation. The TDR system was used to check carefully the profile water content for signs of waterlogging. Irrigation was applied less frequently and for longer periods to avoid the topsoil from being saturated. The trial also received regular applications of fungicide to prevent leaf spot incidence which became a problem in the summer months, due to the associated increase in temperature and humidity. The trial was finally harvest in December 2013.

# 3.3.3.2 Grain sorghum

On 23<sup>rd</sup> November 2012, the project took delivery of 25 kg of PAN8816 seed, the same zerotannin variety tested at Cradock. In the previous week, Plot #2 at Ukulinga was fertilised using 270 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> of LAN 2:3:2 (22) and sprayed with pre-emergent herbicide (Dual Gold). On 27<sup>th</sup> November 2012, seeds were planted 20 cm apart and 50 cm between rows to give a final density of 100 000 sph. The typical planting density for grain sorghum ranges from 65 000 sph (dryland) to 125 000 sph (irrigated). Emergence was noted on 5<sup>th</sup> December 2012 which unfortunately attracted feeding birds. During December, casual staff monitored the trial site from 4:45 am to 5:00 pm each day to chase the birds. However, portions of the trial were replanted up to 18<sup>th</sup> December.

The trial was sprayed with herbicide on 9<sup>th</sup> January 2013, followed by a fertiliser application 5 days later. On 25<sup>th</sup> January, the trial was treated with fungicide to help prevent leaf blight which was first noticed on 15<sup>th</sup> February when the crop entered the booting stage. Flowering occurred on 22<sup>nd</sup> February (day 87), about a week later than expected. The official data for the PAN8816 variety indicates that flowering occurs 79 to 81 days after planting. At the end of February 2013, the trial was approaching the grain filling stage (**Figure 18**) and grain heads required bagging to prevent yield loss by feeding birds.



**Figure 18** Grain sorghum trial planted in 2012/13 at the Ukulinga research farm (picture taken on 27th February 2013)

Due to the increased cost of fine mesh bags (from R0.65 to R1.20 per bag), only 25% of the grain heads were protected. **Figure 19** clearly illustrates why grain head protection is a necessary expense for grain sorghum trials. The low tannin grain sorghum variety planted at Ukulinga and Hatfield is particularly palatable to birds due to its non-bitter taste. A total of six sample blocks were demarcated and each grain head was protected with two (old & new) mesh bags. In April 2013, the grain sorghum trial at Ukulinga was unfortunately damaged by bushpig when the electric fence failed.



**Figure 19** Two mesh bags used to protect each grain head at Ukulinga, to prevent the unprotected heads from being completely stripped of seed by feeding birds (photograph taken on 17<sup>th</sup> April 2013)

The official data for the PAN8816 variety indicates the crop is harvested at 135 to 142 days after planting (but not before 15<sup>th</sup> April for Ukulinga). A decision was made to prematurely harvest the trial on Friday 10<sup>th</sup> May 2013, before additional sample blocks were damaged by bushpig. The grain heads were harvested from the three remaining sample blocks and stored in bags for subsequent analysis.

# 3.3.3.3 Grain sorghum (drought)

A grain sorghum drought trial was conducted at Hatfield during the 2012/13 summer season. The trial was planted on 4<sup>th</sup> December 2012, using the grain sorghum cultivar PAN8816 at a seed rate of about 100 000 plants ha<sup>-1</sup> at an inter-row spacing of 0.9 m. The experiment was laid out as a completely randomised block design (CRBD) with four water treatments that were replicated four times, giving a total of 16 plots. Each plot measured 5 m in length by 7.2 m wide and comprised of eight rows oriented in an east-west direction. Mineral fertiliser rates were based on soil analysis results and applied before planting at the rate of 130 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N, 25 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> P and 130 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> K. Another further nitrogen top dressing of 56 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> N was applied to all plots on 30 December 2012. Agazine at a rate of 2.5 litres per hectare and 0.75 litres per hectare of 2.4D were applied as post emergence herbicides 14 days after emergence.

A drip irrigation system was installed and water meters used to record the exact amounts of water applied to each treatment. Four irrigation treatments were used, similar to that used for the sweet sorghum drought trial. Neutron probe access tubes were installed in the middle of each plot. A neutron probe (Hydroprobe®, Model 503 DR, Martinez, CA, USA) was used to monitor soil water content at 20 cm depth increments to a depth of 1.5 m.

Unfortunately, substantial rainfall occurred directly after application of a herbicide, which resulted in phytotoxic damage and death of some seedlings. Consequently, the plant

population was substantially lower than the targeted 100,000 plants ha<sup>-1</sup>. Gaps were filled in and surviving plants recovered well over time, but growth and development were substantially delayed. The Hatfield trial also experienced problems caused by feeding birds, especially once the sorghum started flowering. Owing to the smaller trial area compared to the Ukulinga trial, the entire trial area was covered with bird net. The trial was treated for stalk borer and aphids when required. Assessments of growth and biomass production were done on 24, 64, 87, 115, 149 and 178 days after planting (DAP). Irrigation was stopped to allow the crop to physiologically mature towards the end of the growing season. The Hatfield trial was harvested on 30<sup>th</sup> May 2013 (178 days after planting).

## 3.3.3.4 Yellow maize

The Baynesfield Estate is a commercial dryland farm with adequate fetch for the eddy covariance system used to measure crop water use. The eddy covariance equipment needed for this trial was provided by project K5/2066 (Mengistu *et al.*, 2014). The maize crop (yellow maize variety PAN3Q222) was planted on the 22<sup>nd</sup> October 2012 and started emerging in the first week of November 2012. Seedlings were planted with an inter-row spacing of 76 cm and a between-plant spacing of 22 cm (i.e. 60,000 plants per hectare). The field was sprayed with Dual Gold before emergence and with Acetachlor 900ec, Lambda, and 2.4D after emergence. Nitrogen (40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (P), and 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (K) fertiliser was applied. Flux measurements at the maize experimental site were discontinued on the 15<sup>th</sup> of April 2013, by then most plants were dry and ready to be harvested. The maize crop was left in the field to dry out before it was harvested mechanically in May 2013 using a combine harvester.

## 3.3.3.5 Soybean

The soybean crop (variety PAN1666) was planted on the 15<sup>th</sup> of October 2012 and started emerging in the first week of November 2012. Soybean plant density was approximately 365,500 plants per ha (spacing was 76 cm between rows and 3.6 cm between plants). The field was sprayed with Round Up, Classic and Lambda herbicides two weeks after emergence and three weeks later with the same chemicals. Nitrogen (10 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>), 30 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (P), and 40 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> (K) fertiliser was applied. Flux measurements at the soybean site were discontinued on the 22<sup>nd</sup> of April 2013. The soybean crop was harvested mechanically using a combine harvester in the second week of May 2013.

# 3.3.4 2013/14 season

# 3.3.4.1 Grain sorghum

Planting of the second grain sorghum trial began at Ukulinga on 5<sup>th</sup> December 2013. A new irrigation manifold line and irrigation dripperline  $(1 \text{ L hr}^{-1})$  were installed. The establishment of this trial was plagued by feeding birds and thus, seed was re-planted several times which resulted in staggered growth. This was despite efforts to establish a trap crop next to the trial, the use of Bitrex to coat the re-planted seed and the hiring of labour to chase birds from 4:45 am to 5:00 pm each day.

On 24<sup>th</sup> February 2014, a large thunderstorm occurred in Pietermaritzburg between 5:00 and 6:00 pm. The maximum wind speed recorded at the nearby airport was 45.4 m s<sup>-1</sup> (i.e. 163 km h<sup>-1</sup> at 17h25), which resulted in significant damage to buildings and crops at Ukulinga. The high winds and hail experienced during the storm caused leaf stripping and lodging in

the grain sorghum trial. Since the trial was more susceptible to pest and disease problems (due to the storm damage), the crop was immediately sprayed with fungicide to minimise Northern Leaf Blight outbreak. However, yield losses due Leaf Blight still occurred, as well as grain losses due to African bollworm. The trial was finally harvested on 4<sup>th</sup> June 2014.

# 3.4 Measurement of Water Use

Scientists are still trying to find simple techniques to measure evapotranspiration (ET), which is affected by many factors including, *inter alia*, wind, vapour pressure and radiation. Plants add complexity with issues such as stomatal resistance. Evapotranspiration is measured to determine crop coefficients which are required to establish irrigation scheduling and to quantify the impact of land use change.

There have been significant advances over the past two to three decades in instrumentation, data acquisition systems and remote data access. This has culminated in the availability of "off-the-shelf" evaporation measurement instruments which can be used to enhance the understanding of crop evaporation and its relation to microclimatic conditions (Ortega-Farias *et al.*, 2009).

The various methods used to measure ET are influenced by what is being measured (surface type), the area being measured (spatial scale) and the length of measurements required (temporal scale). The different techniques include the use of lysimeters, porometers at leaf level, heat pulse velocity for individual trees and micrometeorological methods based on the simplified energy balance equation (e.g. Bowen ratio, eddy covariance, scintillometry, surface renewal & temperature variance). A description of the evaporation measurement techniques adopted for use in this project are described next.

# 3.4.1 Reference crop evaporation

The main climatic factors which affect water use efficiency are evaporative demand of the atmosphere, solar radiation, and rainfall. The evaporative demand of the atmosphere is largely driven by the vapour pressure deficit (VPD) and net irradiance available at the surface. Reference crop evaporation ( $ET_o$ ) and VPD are good indicators of the atmospheric demand of the atmosphere. However,  $ET_o$  is considered as a better normalising factor for evaporative demand than VPD. Climate data that are used for calculating  $ET_o$  include solar radiation, air temperature, relative humidity, and wind speed. The measurement of climatic factors which affect water use efficiency, specifically those which affect crop yield and total evaporation, are discussed in the following sections.

# 3.4.1.1 The FAO56 approach

The Penman-Monteith equation (**Equation 3**) calculates  $E_r$  (in mm day<sup>-1</sup>) for a hypothetical grass surface of uniform height (0.12 m) that is green (albedo of 23%), actively growing, completely shading the ground and is not short of water (i.e. irrigated to minimise soil water stress). This definition simplifies the estimation of "potential" evaporation from a reference grass surface. For example, the uniform height of 0.12 m minimises the turbulent effects above the grass surface. Hence, the aerodynamic resistance factor is simply a function of wind speed ( $u_2$ ) measured at 2 m. Similarly, since there is little or no soil water evaporation

occurring, the surface resistance (to transpired water) under well-watered conditions for a uniform crop height becomes fixed at 70 s m<sup>-1</sup> (Allen *et al.*, 1998).

$$ET_{o} = \frac{0.408\Delta(R_{n} - G) + \gamma \frac{900}{T + 273}u_{2}(e_{s} - e_{a})}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + 0.34u_{2})}$$
 Equation 3

The Penman-Monteith equation (Allen *et al.*, 1998) requires daily weather data from a nearby climate recording station that measures net radiation ( $R_n$  in MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>), air temperature (T in °C), wind speed ( $u_2$  in m s<sup>-1</sup>) and relatively humidity measured at 2 m above the ground. For daily estimates of  $E_n$ , the soil heat flux density (G in MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) is presumed to be zero. The saturated vapour pressure ( $e_s$  in kPa) is calculated from daily maximum and minimum air temperature, from which the actual vapour pressure ( $e_a$  in kPa) is estimated using relative humidity. The term ( $e_s - e_a$ ) represents the vapour pressure deficit (kPa),  $\Delta$  is the slope of the vapour pressure curve (kPa °C<sup>-1</sup>) and  $\gamma$  is the psychrometric "constant" (kPa °C<sup>-1</sup>). The atmospheric pressure (P in kPa) at the site is required for determining  $\gamma$  ( $\gamma = 0.0016286P/\lambda$ , where  $\lambda = 2.501-0.002361T$ ; Shuttleworth, 2007). Allen *et al.* (1998) suggested a value of 70 s m<sup>-1</sup> for the surface resistance ( $r_s$ ) of a short grass reference in daily calculations of  $ET_o$ . However, Allen *et al.* (2006) recommended new  $r_s$  values of 50 and 200 s m<sup>-1</sup> for hourly (or shorter time-step) calculations during the day and night respectively.

The Penman-Monteith equation includes all parameters that govern energy exchange and water vapour flux from uniform expanses of vegetation. Hence, the Penman-Monteith method provides unambiguous reference evaporation estimates which are consistent in all regions and climates. The FAO56 equation is a close, simple representation of the physical and physiological factors governing the evapotranspiration process. Crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) can be calculated for research trials by relating the measured crop evapotranspiration under well-watered conditions (i.e. maximum evaporation,  $E_m$ ) to the calculated reference  $E_r$  (i.e.  $K_c = E_m/E_r$ ) using the FAO Penman-Monteith method.

Allen *et al.* (2000) compared simulated evapotranspiration ( $ET_o * K_c$ ) with lysimeter-based ET measurements for three crops in Idaho (US). They showed that predictive accuracy for any single day was about ±15% (for 70% of the time). Accuracy for a series of days would improve due to cancelling of random errors. For this level of precision, locally derived  $K_c$  values must be determined for pristine conditions having no water or other ET reducing stresses.

Differences in the crop canopy and aerodynamic resistance relative to the hypothetical reference crop are accounted for by the crop coefficient. In other words, the crop coefficient distinguishes the crop from the reference (i.e. grass or alfalfa) surface in terms of difference in height, albedo and surface resistance. Hence, there is no need to determine these parameters for the cropped surface as  $K_c$  serves as an aggregation of the physical and physiological differences between various crops and the reference for a well-watered crop. Under well-watered conditions, much of the uncertainty introduced by site-specific conditions is reduced, allowing for the estimation of a generic crop coefficient which is intended to be applied not only where it was derived.

Allen *et al.* (2005) have also recommended the adoption of a second (hypothetical) standardised reference surface, equivalent to a 0.5 m tall crop of dense, full-cover alfalfa (i.e. lucerne). The alfalfa reference is described next in more detail.

## 3.4.1.2 The ASCE-EWRI approach

In 2005, the Environmental and Water Resources Institute (EWRI) of the American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) produced a report (Allen *et al.*, 2005) which provided a standardised approach for calculating reference evaporation, allowing for the direct comparison and transferability of crop coefficients. The report promoted the use of standardised reference evaporation equation based on the FAO Penman-Monteith approach given in the ASCE Manual 70, but for two reference surfaces namely a:

- short, smooth crop (*ET*<sub>o</sub> for a cool-season grass clipped to 0.12 m) and
- taller, rougher crop ( $ET_r$  for a full cover of alfalfa with a height of 0.50 m).

Standardised methods were also provided for computing  $E_r$  for hourly and daily time steps. The standardised reference evaporation equation (**Equation 4**) uses  $C_n$  and  $C_d$  to differentiate between the two reference surfaces (i.e. short vs. tall crop) as well as the time step (i.e. hourly vs. daily).  $C_n$  also considers the aerodynamic roughness of the surface, whilst  $C_d$  considers both the bulk surface and aerodynamic resistances.

$$ET_o \text{ or } ET_r = \frac{0.408\Delta(R_n - G) + \gamma \frac{C_n}{T + 273}u_2(e_s - e_a)}{\Delta + \gamma(1 + C_d u_2)}$$
 Equation 4

**Table 23** provides standardised values for both constants at hourly and daily time steps for each reference surface. Air temperature and relative humidity should be measured 1.5 to 2.5 m above ground level, with wind speed measured at 2 m above a short, grass surface. **Equation 4** assumes a zero plane displacement height of 0.08 m. If the wind speed is measured over a surface having vegetation taller than 0.3 m, then the zero plane displacement should be varied or alternatively, the wind speed adjusted according to guidelines provided by Allen *et al.* (2005). The constants given in **Table 23** correspond to a surface resistance of 30 s m<sup>-1</sup> for hourly or shorter calculation time-steps (during daytime) and 45 s m<sup>-1</sup> for daily calculations.

Timo ston	С	'n	C <sub>d</sub>		Units of	Units of
Time step	Short	Tall	Short	Tall	ET	<i>R</i> <sub>n</sub> & <i>G</i>
Daily	900	1600	0.34	0.38	mm d <sup>-1</sup>	MJ m <sup>-2</sup> d <sup>-1</sup>
Hourly (during daytime)	37	66	0.24	0.25	mm h <sup>-1</sup>	MJ m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>
Hourly (during the night)	37	66	0.96	1.70	mm h⁻¹	MJ m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup>

**Table 23**Values for the numerator  $(C_n)$  and denominator  $(C_d)$  constants in **Equation 4**for a short (0.12 m) and tall (0.5 m) reference crop (Allen *et al.*, 2005)

Crop coefficients in the literature are commonly referenced to either a grass or alfalfa surface. Without appropriate adjustment, grass-referenced  $K_c$  values are not directly comparable with alfalfa-referenced coefficients. Furthermore, grass-based  $K_c$  values should be used with  $ET_o$  calculated for short grass and similarly, alfalfa-based  $K_c$  values should be used with  $ET_r$  calculated for alfalfa. Allen *et al.* (2005) also raised the concern that differences in a) rainfall patterns, b) irrigation type and application frequency, as well as c)

soil drying and storage characteristics between the site where the crop coefficient values were derived and the intended study site could cause error in total evaporation estimates. In addition, Allen *et al.* (2005) do not recommend the application of reference crop evaporation and crop coefficients during non-growing (i.e. dormant) seasons. Since Allen *et al.* (2005) promote two common reference surfaces (i.e. grass and alfalfa), the term  $E_r$  is preferred in this document to indicate reference evaporation. Hence,  $E_r = ET_o$  for a short grass reference and similarly,  $E_r = ET_r$  for a taller alfalfa reference.

#### 3.4.2 Evapotranspiration

Water use estimates for the Jatropha trees were determined using sap flow measurement techniques (e.g. heat pulse velocity) for transpiration (T), and energy balance techniques (e.g. surface layer scintillometry) for total evaporation (ET). Water use estimates for the Moringa trees were determined using sap flow measurements (heat pulse velocity) and the soil water balance equation using *SWB* model simulations.

#### 3.4.2.1 Heat pulse velocity

The heat pulse velocity (HPV) technique is essentially a tracer method which measures the rate of flux with which heat pulses applied to the conductive xylem portion of woody stems are transmitted vertically by the flow of sap through the stem. It is recognised internationally as an accepted method for the measurement of sap flow in woody plants and has been extensively applied in South Africa (Dye and Olbrich, 1993; Dye *et al.*, 1996; Dye, 2000; Gush, 2008; Gush and Dye, 2009). The heat ratio method (HRM) of the HPV technique (Burgess *et al.*, 2001) was selected for this study because of its ability to measure accurately low rates of sap flow (Gush, 2008). The HRM requires a line-heater, which is typically 60 mm long and made from 1.8 mm outside-diameter stainless steel tubing enclosing a constantan filament, to be inserted into the xylem of the selected tree at the vertical midpoint (commonly 5 mm) between two temperature sensors (thermocouples), which are 2 mm in diameter. All drilling is performed with a battery-operated drill using a drill guide strapped to the tree, to ensure that the holes are as close to parallel as possible (**Figure 20**).



Figure 20 Typical installation of an HPV system to measure sap flow

The velocity of the heat pulse (**Equation 5**) is determined by recording the ratio of the increase in temperature measured by the upstream and downstream thermocouples, following the release of a pulse of heat by the line heater (Marshall, 1958), calculated as:

$$V_h = \frac{k}{x} \ln\left(\frac{v_1}{v_2}\right) 3600$$

#### **Equation 5**

where  $V_h$  is the heat pulse velocity (cm hr<sup>-1</sup>), *k* is thermal diffusivity of the wood, *x* is distance (cm) between the heater and either temperature probe, and  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  are increases in temperature (from initial temperatures) at equidistant points downstream and upstream, respectively. Thermal diffusivity (*k*) is assigned a nominal value of 2.5 × 10<sup>-3</sup> cm<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> (Marshall 1958). The thermocouple (TC) probes are inserted to different depths below the cambium to sample different regions of the sapwood, as sap flow velocities are known to vary laterally across the xylem. The TC insertion depths are typically determined by sampling the sapwood depth using an increment borer (Haglöf, Sweden), and then arranging the measurement positions accordingly (**Figure 21**).



**Figure 21** Illustration of a typical sampling pattern of thermocouples within the sapwood, and the associated sapwood areas represented by each thermocouple

Measured heat-pulse velocities were corrected for sapwood wounding caused during the drilling procedure, using wound correction coefficients described by Burgess *et al.* (2001). The corrected heat-pulse velocities were then converted to sap-flux densities according to the method described by Marshall (1958). Finally, the sap-flux densities were converted to whole-tree total sap flow volumes by calculating the sum of the products of sap-flux density and cross-sectional area for individual tree stem annuli (ring-shaped areas determined by below-bark individual probe insertion depths and sap-wood depth). Hourly sap-flow volumes were aggregated into daily, monthly and annual totals. Units of transpired water were mm, which required the scaling up of individual tree sap flow measurements to mm equivalent units, based on the planting density of the trees.

#### 3.4.2.2 Eddy covariance and surface renewal

Total evaporation was estimated using the eddy covariance and the surface renewal methods as the residual of the shortened energy balance equation. Neglecting advection and the stored canopy heat, the shortened energy balance equation was used to estimate the latent energy flux  $\lambda E$  (W m<sup>-2</sup>) which is the energy equivalent of total evaporation as:

$$\lambda E = R_n - G - H$$

#### **Equation 6**

where  $R_n$  is the net irradiance (W m<sup>-2</sup>), *G* the soil heat flux density (W m<sup>-2</sup>), and *H* the sensible heat flux (W m<sup>-2</sup>).

The latent energy flux  $\lambda E$  (W m<sup>-2</sup>) is the result of total evaporation, and condensation at the surface and is the product of the specific latent heat of vapourisation  $\lambda$  (in J kg<sup>-1</sup>) and the water vapour flux density E (kg s<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>). The half-hourly latent energy flux  $\lambda E$  (W m<sup>-2</sup>) was converted into an equivalent total evaporation (ET) in units of mm by multiplying by a factor 0.000733. This factor equals the number of seconds in the half-hour (1800 s) divided by the value of  $\lambda$  (2.45 × 10<sup>6</sup> J kg<sup>-1</sup>). The half-hourly ET (mm) was then converted to daily ET by summing the values of the half-hourly ET values for daylight hours when the values of  $R_n$  are

positive. The seasonal water use of the crop was then estimated by summing the daily ET values for the growing period.

An Applied Technologies, Inc. (ATI) Sonic Anemometer ("Sx" style probe) was used as an eddy covariance system to measure three dimensional wind velocity components, sensible heat flux density, and indirectly the latent energy flux as a residual of the shortened energy balance equation. The sonic anemometer was connected to a CR3000 datalogger (Campbell Scientific Inc., Logan, Utah, USA). All eddy covariance data were sampled at a frequency of 10 Hz and data processed online in the datalogger. The high frequency data, the two-minute, and thirty-minute averages of the covariances between wind speed (u, v & w), sonic temperature,  $T_a$  and wind direction were calculated and stored for further analysis. For a sufficiently long averaging period of time over horizontally uniform surface, the sensible heat flux (H) is usually expressed as (Meyers and Baldocchi, 2005):

$$H = \rho_a c_p w' T_a'$$
 Equation 7

where  $\rho_a$  is the density of air,  $c_p$  is the specific heat capacity of air, *w*' denotes the fluctuation from the mean of the vertical wind speed, and  $T_a$ ' is the fluctuation of air temperature from the mean. The vertical wind speed is responsible for the flux across a plane above a horizontal surface.

For the surface renewal method, one unshielded type-E fine-wire thermocouple (75-µm diameter) was used to measure air temperature placed at a height of 0.5 m above the crop surface. Thermocouple measurement was done differentially and air temperature data was sampled at a frequency of 10 Hz. Time lags of 0.40 s and 0.80 s were used for the surface renewal analysis before forming the second, third and fifth order of air temperature structure function values as required by the Van Atta (1977) approach. The data were then averaged and stored every two minutes in the datalogger. Structure functions using the time lags and the analysis technique from Van Atta (1977) were used to determine the amplitude *a* and the inverse ramp frequency  $\tau$  characterising temperature fluctuations as presented by Snyder *et al.* (1996). The sensible heat flux density (*H*) at measurement height *z* above the soil surface was determined as:

$$H = \alpha z \rho_a c_p \frac{a}{\tau}$$
 Equation 8

where  $\alpha$  is a correction or weighting factor,  $\rho_a$  is the air density,  $c_p$  is the specific heat capacity of dry air at constant pressure. The surface renewal method was calibrated using the eddy covariance system and a correction factor  $\alpha = 1$  was used for the sugarbeet canopy to estimate *H* at 1.0 m above the soil surface.

Additional measurements included the remaining components of the energy balance. Net irradiance was measured using a Q\*7 net radiometer (REBS, Seattle, Washington, USA) placed at 1.50 m above the ground surface. Two Hukse flux plates (HFP01-15, Delft, The Netherlands) were used to measure soil heat flux density at a depth of 80 mm and a system of parallel-thermocouples at depths of 20 and 60 mm were used to calculate the heat stored above the plates.

The soil heat flux (*G*) was estimated as the sum of the flux measured using the soil heat flux plates ( $G_{plate}$ ) at a depth of 80 mm and the energy flux stored in soil above the plates ( $G_{store}$ ):

$$G = G_{plate} + G_{store}$$
 Equation 9

The stored heat flux density was estimated from measurements of the temporal change in soil temperature and the specific heat capacity of the soil above the soil heat flux plate. The stored flux  $G_{store}$  was calculated as (Savage *et al.*, 2004):

$$G_{store} = \rho_s c_s \Delta T_s \Delta z / \Delta t$$
 Equation 10

where  $\rho_s$  is the bulk density of the soil (kg m<sup>-3</sup>),  $c_s$  is the specific heat capacity of the soil (J kg<sup>-1</sup> °C<sup>-1</sup>),  $\Delta z$  is the difference in soil depth,  $\Delta T_s$  is the average soil temperature difference (between 20 and 60 mm) during a measurement interval  $\Delta t$ . The volumetric heat capacity of the soil was calculated as:

$$\rho_s c_s = \rho_s c_{ds} + \rho_w c_w \theta_v$$
 Equation 11

where  $c_{ds}$  is the dry soil specific heat capacity ( $\approx 800 \text{ J kg}^{-1} \text{ °C}^{-1}$ ),  $\rho_w$  is the density of water (1000 kg m<sup>-3</sup>),  $\theta_v$  the volumetric soil water content (m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>), and  $c_w$  is the specific heat capacity of water (4 190 J kg<sup>-1</sup> °C<sup>-1</sup>).

#### 3.4.2.3 Surface layer scintillometry

А surface scintillometer (model SLS40-A, Scintec dual-beam layer Atmosphärenmessetechnik, Tübingen, Germany), was used to measure the sensible heat flux density every 2 minute. The surface layer scintillometer (SLS) was positioned at a height of 2.4 m above the soil surface and the path length between the receiver and transmitter units was 65 m. The SLS40-A model employs a diode laser source with an output wavelength of 670 nm and 1 mW (2 mW peak) mean output power. A laptop computer was connected to the signal processing unit of the scintillometer through the serial port. The beam displacement and detector separation distances are 2.5 mm each with a detector diameter of 2.7 mm. Software together with an instrument allows online measurements at a frequency of 1 kHz and subsequent calculation of micrometeorological parameters such as: the structure parameter for refractive index of air; structure parameter for temperature; the inner scale of turbulence as indicated by the inner scale of refractive index fluctuations; kinetic energy dissipation rate; sensible heat flux density H; momentum flux density and the Obukhov length  $L_{o}$  (Thiermann and Grassl, 1992). The two-minute estimates of all SLScalculated parameters were stored on a computer hard drive for further analysis.

The SLS sensible heat flux is determined as (Hill, 1997):

$$H = \rho_a c_p T_* u_*$$
 Equation 12

where  $T_*$  is temperature scale of turbulence, and  $u_*$  is the friction velocity. The same set of energy balance instruments used for the Applied Technologies eddy covariance system were used to measure the remaining energy balance components. The 2-minute sensible

heat flux estimates were averaged into half-hourly values for the latent energy flux calculations.

Net irradiance was measured using a pyrradiometer (Philipp Schenk GmbH, Wein, Austria). The soil heat flux was measured using three Hukse flux plates (HFP01-15, Delft, The Netherlands) which were placed at a depth of 50 mm below the soil surface. The soil heat flux plates are designed to minimize heat flow disturbance and are calibrated to take in to account the heat stored above the plates. The pyrradiometer and the soil heat flux plates were connected to a CR10X datalogger. The half-hourly latent energy flux  $\lambda E$  (W m<sup>-2</sup>) was calculated as a residual of the shortened balance equation and converted into total evaporation ET (mm). The annual water use of the Jatropha trees was then estimated by summing the daily ET values for the hydrological year (2006 to 2011).

#### 3.4.2.4 Soil water balance method

Total evaporation (ET) was calculated using the soil water balance equation as:

$$ET = \Delta S + P + I - D - R$$
 Equation 13

where  $\Delta S$  = the change in soil water storage, P = rainfall, I = irrigation, D = drainage below the bottom of the root zone and R = runoff, with all variables in mm. P was obtained from the rain gauge measurements, I was obtained from water meter readings, and R was assumed to be zero.  $\Delta S$  was calculated from neutron probe measurements. If the trial was conducted during a very wet season, it was difficult to determine drainage from neutron probe measurements alone and thus, *SWB* model simulations were used to help estimate drainage.

#### 3.4.2.5 SWB simulation of water use

Therefore, the FAO model in *SWB* was used to estimate the water use of Moringa using the approach described next. Crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) were calculated as follows:

$$K_c = ET_c / ET_o$$
 Equation 14

where  $ET_o$  is reference evaporation, estimated using the FAO56 Penman-Monteith method (Allen *et al.*, 1998). Crop maximum evaporation ( $E_m$ ) was calculated as follows:

$$E_m = ET_o * K_{c max}$$
 Equation 15

where  $K_{c max}$  represents the maximum value for  $K_c$  following rain or irrigation. It is selected as the maximum of the following two expressions (Allen *et al.*, 1998):

$$K_{c max} = 1.2 + [0.04 \cdot (u_2 - 2) - 0.004 \cdot (RH_{min} - 45)] \cdot (H_c / 3)^{0.3}$$
 Equation 16

**Equation 17** 

or

$$K_{c max} = K_{cb} + 0.05$$

where:

 $u_2$  = mean daily wind speed at 2 m height (m s<sup>-1</sup>),  $RH_{min}$  = daily minimum relative humidity (%),  $H_c$  = mean maximum plant height during the period of calculation (m), and  $K_{cb}$  = basal crop coefficient value. Maximum evaporation ( $E_m$ ) for the crop is partitioned into maximum crop transpiration ( $E_{tm}$ ) and maximum soil water evaporation ( $E_{sm}$ ).

$$E_{tm} = K_{cb} * ET_o$$
  

$$E_{sm} = (1 - FI) \cdot E_m$$
Equation 18

The fraction of canopy cover (FI) is estimated following the method of Allen et al. (1998):

$$FI = E_{tm} / E_m$$
 Equation 19

Daily  $K_{cb}$  values are then calculated from FI,  $E_m$  and  $ET_o$  using the following equation:

$$K_{cb} = (FI * E_m) / ET_o$$
 Equation 20

The procedure given in **Table 24** is used to determine  $K_c$  and  $K_{cb}$  values for the initial, midseason and late season growth stages as well as the length of growth stages in days, according to Allen *et al.* (1998) unless indicated otherwise.

Table 24	Procedure to determine $K_c$ and $K_{cb}$ values for the initial, mid-season and late
	season growth stages as well as the length of growth stages in days

Growth stage	Description of procedure
Initial	Runs from planting date to approximately 10% ground cover ( $FI = 0.1$ ).
	The $K_{cb}$ for the initial growth stage is equal to the daily calculated $K_{cb}$ at FI
	= 0.1
Crop	Runs from end of initial stage until FI is 90% of maximum FI. Allen et al.
development	(1998) recommended the beginning of mid-season when the crop has
	attained 70 to 80% ground cover. If a treatment did not attain 70% ground
	cover, the beginning of the mid-season was taken as the day at which FI
	is 90% of the maximum <i>FI</i> following Jovanovic and Annandale (1999).
Mid-season	Runs from effective full cover (end of the development stage) to the start
	of maturity. The start of maturity is assumed to be when FI drops to the
	same value it had at the beginning of the mid-season (Jovanovic and
	Annandale, 1999). $K_c$ and $K_{cb}$ equal to average daily $K_c$ and $K_{cb}$ ,
	respectively during the mid-season stage.
Late season	Runs from end of mid-season stage until end of the growing season. Daily
	$K_c$ and $K_{cb}$ for late season is equal to the calculated $K_c$ and $K_{cb}$
	respectively, at end of growing season.

#### 3.4.2.6 Summary

A summary of which method was used for each crop studied at the three trial sites is given in **Volume 1**.

#### 3.4.3 Soil water content

#### 3.4.3.1 Neutron probe

At Hatfield, a neutron probe (Hydroprobe®, Model 503 DR, Martinez, CA, USA) was used to monitor soil water content at 20 cm depth increments to a depth of 1.5 m. The probe is lowered into a metal tube which is inserted into the soil. The probe contains a sealed

radioactive source and a detector. Fast neutrons are emitted by the radioactive source, which are then converted to slow neutrons by hydrogens atoms in the soil water. The amount of soil neutrons is related to the soil's water content. The probe measures soil water content of a volume of soil about 30.5 cm wide and 15 cm deep. It is recommended that neutron probes are calibrated using volumetric soil water content measurements (Prichard *et al.*, 2004).

#### 3.4.3.2 Diviner probe

The Sentek Diviner 2000 utilises the dielectric properties of the soil to measure soil volumetric water content by means of FDR (Frequency Domain Reflectometry). The measurements are recorded using a capacitance sensor at different depths within a PVC access tube inserted into the soil profile. It is a light and portable system (a cable connects the rod with the capacitance sensor to the datalogger) and may readily be used to quickly sample a number of soil moisture monitoring sites. The probe at the end of the rod is inserted by hand into the access tube, and the soil water content is measured and recorded at 10 cm increments. Data is stored to the attached datalogger, and may be downloaded for further analysis. Once the diviner probe has been calibrated, the accuracy is  $\pm 0.5\%$  (Charlesworth, 2005).

#### 3.4.3.3 Time domain reflectometry

 $\Delta t = \frac{2L\sqrt{K_a}}{C}$ 

Time Domain Reflectometry (TDR) system transmits a very short rise time electromagnetic pulse along a coaxial system which includes a TDR probe for soil water measurements and samples and digitises the resulting reflection waveform for analysis or storage. The elapsed travel time and pulse reflection amplitude contain information used by the on-board processor to quickly and accurately determine soil volumetric water content, soil bulk electrical conductivity, rock mass deformation or user-specific, time-domain measurement.

TDR is a relatively new method of measuring soil moisture. TDR methodology was previously used in the telecommunications industry to identify discontinuities in cables. An electromagnetic wave is propagated down a cable and reflected indicating discontinuities or breaks in the cable. Using time travel analysis, it is possible to determine the point of discontinuity or damage to the cable. Development of TDR technique in the 1980's for measuring volumetric soil water content is presented in Topp *et al.* (2003).

The time travel of a propagated signal is dependent on the velocity of the signal and the length of the waveguide or cable. The velocity of the electromagnetic wave is in turn dependent on the dielectric constant of the material surrounding the waveguide and can be expressed as:

#### **Equation 21**

where  $K_a$  is the apparent dielectric constant, *c* is the velocity of the electromagnetic signal in free space, *L* is the waveguide length, and  $\Delta t$  is the travel time. The apparent probe length which is the actual unit measured by TDR devices can be defined as:

$$L_a = \frac{c\Delta t}{2}$$
 Equation 22

In terms of the dielectric constant ( $K_a$ ), the two equations above can be simplified as the ratio of the apparent probe length ( $L_a$ ) to the real probe length (L).

$$\sqrt{K_a} = \frac{L_a}{L}$$
 Equation 23

TDR can be used to estimate soil moisture because the dielectric constant of water relative to other soil constituents is high. Consequently, it is possible to develop a relationship between changes in dielectric constant and volumetric soil water content ( $\theta_v$ ). The relationship between dielectric constant and volumetric water content has been described by Topp *et al.* (1980) and Ledieu *et al.* (1986) empirically using polynomial and linear equations. This empirical relationship was first described by Topp *et al.* (1980) as:

$$\theta_v = -5.3^{*}10^{-2} + 2.92^{*}10^{-2} \cdot K_a - 5.5^{*}10^{-4} \cdot K_a^{-2} + 4.3^{*}10^{-6} \cdot K_a^{-3}$$
 Equation 24

and later developed further by Ledieu et al. (1986) as:

$$\theta_v = 0.1138 \cdot K_a^{0.5} - 0.1758$$
 Equation 25

These empirical relationships provide a good estimation of soil moisture in mineral soils where  $\theta_v < 0.5 \text{ m}^3 \text{ m}^{-3}$  which covers the entire range of interest in most soils with an estimation error of 0.013 (Jones *et al.*, 2002). Soils with  $\theta_v > 0.5 \text{ m}^3 \text{ m}^{-3}$  or with high organic or clay contents may require soil specific calibration. An alternative is the dielectric mixing approach which uses dielectric constants and volume fractions for each soil constituent to derive a relationship describing the composite dielectric constant. This physically based approach was used by Roth *et al.* (1990) and Friedman (1998) but estimates of porosity are required for this technique.

The high frequency pulse (Giga Hertz) that is sent down a cable attached to the TDR100 is reflected and the reflected waveform digitised. A probe consisting of metal rods is attached to the end of a coaxial cable. The probe is identified as a discontinuity in cable impedance which causes a change in wave amplitude. This makes it possible to identify the start points and end points of the probe. The travel time is used together with the velocity to gather distance information across the length of the probe. This apparent length of the probe is dependent on water content of the soil around the probe.

TDR has number of advantages over other techniques used for volumetric soil moisture measurement. The main advantages are: (i) superior accuracy; (ii) calibration under normal conditions is minimal; (iii) TDR has excellent spatial and temporal resolution; (iv) measurements are easily automated using loggers and multiplexers; (v) soil disturbance is minimal and there is no danger to hazardous exposure of radiation offered by other techniques such as neutron probes (Jones *et al.*, 2002). The results are usually accurate within an error limit of approximately 1 to 2% (Anisko *et al.*, 1994; Jones *et al.*, 2002; Chandler *et al.*, 2004).

A critical limitation of the TDR system that can affect the accuracy of volumetric soil moisture content is the air gap effect (Dobriyal *et al.*, 2012). This occurs when there is a poor electrical contact between the probes and the soil. This problem can be created during

installation. Patterson and Smith (1985) recommend the use of narrow pilot holes drilled into the soil to prevent gaps created by the insertion of the probes at an inconsistent angle. This can be particularly useful in hard soils where probe insertion may be difficult. This also reduces compaction of the soil when the probe is inserted, although the Campbell Scientific TDR Probe Instruction Manual states that the soil will experience rejuvenation of soil structure with time from wetting/drying cycles.

The volumetric soil moisture content is assumed to be uniform around the vicinity of the probe, with the measurement being the average soil moisture of the material surrounding the probe. However, this may in reality not be the case and a study by Chan and Knight (1999) shows that signal noise may be created if soil moisture is not evenly distributed across the length of the probes.

## 3.4.3.4 Soil water retention characteristics

Soil water parameters (i.e. total porosity, field capacity and permanent wilting point) were estimated using the outflow pressure method, shown in **Figure 22**. It is designed to measure soil water parameters between 0 and 1 bar (or 100 kPa). Conventional methods of determining soil water retention parameters are dependent on monitoring the equilibration of the volumetric water content. However, in this method, they are determined by monitoring the time to equilibration of the matric potential (Lorentz *et al.*, 2001). The advantage of this is it allows for the water outflow to be controlled rather than just letting it flow until equilibration is reached (i.e. no water outflow), thus saving time for the observer.



**Figure 22** A diagram of the outflow pressure apparatus for measuring soil water parameters of undisturbed soil cores (after Lorentz *et al.*, 2001)

Before the soil samples were analysed, both the samples and the ceramic discs (no. **15** in **Figure 22**) were saturated. The ceramic discs were considered saturated after being submerged in water for at least 24 hours. This was done to remove air bubbles that could potentially disrupt the flow of water during measurements. The bottom of the soil cores were first sealed with permeable ceramic discs (**15**) to ensure no soil fell out during the saturation procedure. Thereafter, a glass container was half-filled with water so that the soil cores were not fully submerged in water. Following that, an electric pump was used to remove as much air as possible, thus creating a vacuum which ensured the soil cores were saturated.

After the saturation process, the following procedure was used for each soil sample:

- The soil sample was weighed on a sensitive balance with an accuracy of up to 0.001 g.
- The pressure cell base (13) was filled with water to remove any air bubbles.
- The stop-cock (23) of the burette (24) was opened to allow water and air bubbles to flow into the outflow burette.
- The soil sample was placed into the pressure cell housing (12).
- The pressure cell ring was then used to retain the sample (14).
- Finally, the soil sample was enclosed (11).

Air pressure (2) was then applied to the sample so water (e.g. 5 mm) could drain into the burette (known as the drainage phase). When no more water drained out, the stopcock was closed until equilibration was reached between the applied air pressure and the liquid in the soil sample. This is known as the equilibration phase (or steady state) and at this point, the matric potential remained constant. The pressure transducer (26) measured the difference in pressure between the pores of the sample and the air pressure applied. This was monitored by observing the changes in matric potential values displayed on a computer monitor. Air pressure was applied at different levels throughout this experiment to vary the matric potential. The amount of water that is available for plant use is retained at matric potentials of between -10 to -1 500 kPa. The low matric potential (33 kPa) correspond to porosity and the field capacity respectively. For lower matric potentials, the water manometer (6) was used for observations. At higher matric potentials, the mercury manometer (7) was used.

At a matric potential of -1 500 kPa, most crops wilt because the soil water is not available for plant uptake (Schulze *et al.*, 1995). Each soil core was carefully removed and weighed again, then transferred to a pressure pot that was operated at 15 bars (-1 500 kPa) of pressure to ascertain the wilting point. Before using this technique (similar to **Figure 22**), a ceramic disc that could withstand pressures of 15 bars was saturated with water for over 24 hours. A similar approach for the free drainage phase and equilibrium state was used, but in this instance, the water was allowed to drain out of the samples until an equilibration state was reached. Once equilibrium was reached (i.e. no more water dripped out into the burette), the soil sample was weighed, then oven dried for 48 hours and finally re-weighed. Measurements were then used to calculate the dry bulk density of the soil (**Equation 26**), from which the porosity of the soil was calculated (**Equation 27**):

$$\rho_b = M_s / V_s$$

**Equation 26** 

$$\Phi = 1 - (\rho_b / 2.65)$$

## **Equation 27**

where  $\rho_b$  is the soil bulk density (g cm<sup>-3</sup>),  $M_s$  is the dry mass of soil core (g),  $V_s$  is the volume of each soil core (cm<sup>3</sup>),  $\Phi$  is the porosity of the soil (fraction) and 2.65 is the normal particle density (g cm<sup>-3</sup>).

Using a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet, calculations were done using porosity, bulk density and readings recorded from the burette to obtain the soil water content at the different applied pressures. These values corresponded to the soil water content at saturation (i.e. porosity), field capacity and permanent wilting point.

#### 3.4.3.5 Saturated hydraulic conductivity

The saturated hydraulic conductivity of the three soil samples was determined using the constant head method (**Figure 23**). This method works by applying Darcy's law, (**Equation 28**) across the permeameter pressure ports. This law describes the basic flow of liquids in permeable materials (Singh *et al.*, 2011):

$$Ks_{ij} = \left(\frac{\Delta l_{ij}}{H_i - H_j}\right) \times \left(\frac{Q}{A}\right)$$
 Equation 28

where:

Ks <sub>ij</sub>	=	saturated hydraulic conductivity of the soil between port i and j (cm s <sup>-1</sup> ),
l <sub>ij</sub>	=	length of the soil material between ports i and j (cm),
Hi	=	total hydraulic head at port i (cm),
Hj	=	total hydraulic head at port j (cm),
Q	=	volumetric outflow rate (cm <sup>3</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> ) and
Α	=	total cross-sectional area of the column (cm <sup>2</sup> ).

This technique was selected due to the following advantages: 1) it is simple and easy to set up, and 2) it is a direct application of Darcy's law, thus giving reliable results that mimic field conditions (Lorentz *et al.*, 2001). However, the disadvantages include: 1) the soil material may be disturbed which does not reflect actual field conditions, 2) the manometer tubes can periodically block due to air bubbles which affects the results, and 3) the soil must have a uniform structure to get a consistent hydraulic conductivity across the ports. The reader is referred to Lorentz *et al.* (2001) for the steps that were taken to calculate the saturated hydraulic conductivity using this method.



**Figure 23** A diagram of the constant head method for measuring the soil hydraulic conductivity of undisturbed soil samples (after Lorentz *et al.*, 2001)

## 3.5 Instrumentation

#### 3.5.1 Weather data

#### 3.5.1.1 Ukulinga

The climatic variables required to calculate reference evaporation (solar or net radiation, air temperature, relative humidity and wind speed) were measured by automatic weather stations (AWS) located over natural grassland (i.e. mixed grass) that is rainfed (i.e. non irrigated). The grass was cut at least once a month (but preferably every 2<sup>nd</sup> week) during the summer rainfall season. The two AWSs located at the Ukulinga research farm are owned and maintained by the CSIR (**Figure 24a**) and the ARC (**Figure 24b**).



(a)

(b)

# **Figure 24** Automatic weather stations located on the Ukulinga Farm and owned by the a) CSIR and b) the ARC

The ARC's weather station is located along the main farm road (30.40615E; -29.66740S; XY in degrees decimal) at an altitude of 805 m (**Figure 25**). Similarly, the CSIR's weather station is located in Plot #3 (30.41332E; -29.66959S; XY in degrees decimal) at an altitude of 782 m. Plots #1 and #2 are roughly located between the 780 and 785 m contours as shown in **Figure 25**.



Figure 25 Location of the two trial sites (Plot #1 & Plot #2), in relation to Plot #3 (Jatropha trial) and the two automatic weather stations (5 m contours shown as white lines)

The ARC's AWS is approximately 615 and 640 m from the centre of plots #1 and #2 respectively. In comparison, the CSIR's AWS is about 605 and 685 m from the respective centres of Plot #1 and #2. The two weather stations are about 735 m apart. Since there are two AWS located on the Ukulinga Farm, data from one station could be used to patch the other if errors (i.e. missing data) occurred due to equipment failure or battery problems. For example, the ARC's faulty tipping bucket rain gauge was replaced in May 2011 and rainfall data for a three-month period was replaced with observations recorded by the CSIR's rain gauge.

The Campbell Scientific AWS (Campbell Scientific, Logan UT, USA) situated at the Jatropha trial (Plot #3) comprised of the following sensors:

- Vaisala HMP35C sensor for measuring relative humidity and air temperature,
- RM Young cup-anemometer for measuring wind speed (R.M. Young, Inc., USA),
- LI-200X pyranometer for measuring solar radiation (LI-COR Corporation, Nebraska, USA),
- Texas Instruments tipping bucket rain gauge (TE525 Texas Instruments, USA), and a

• CR10X datalogger (Campbell Scientific, Inc., Utah, USA).

Stored climate data were downloaded weekly using a laptop computer. The datalogger also calculated saturated vapour pressure, ambient vapour pressure, vapour pressure deficit and reference evaporation (FAO Penman-Monteith method).

The second Campbell Scientific AWS owned by the ARC utilised weather sensors that were practically identical to the CSIR's station. As shown in **Figure 24**, the main difference between the two weather stations was the enclosure housing the air temperature and relative humidity sensor (standard Stevenson screen which is not ideal, compared to the preferred heat shield). Stored climate data are downloaded daily via a telemetry link by the Agricultural Research Council (ARC) based at the Department of Agriculture at Cedara (located approximately 29 km from Ukulinga). The climate data are received from the ARC via e-mail requests every two months.

#### 3.5.1.2 Hatfield

Daily weather data were collected from an AWS located 1 372 m above sea level, at 28.25968E and -25.74920S (XY in degrees decimal). The station is located about 100 m from the trial sites (sorghum and Moringa). The automatic weather station instruments consist of an Apogee silicon pyranometer (Apogee, Logan, Utah, USA) to measure solar radiation, an electronic cup anemometer (R.M. Young, Inc., USA) to measure average wind speed, an electronic tipping bucket rain gauge (TE525 Texas Instruments, USA), a Vaisala HMP50 electronic temperature and relative humidity sensor and a CR200 datalogger (Campbell Scientific, Inc., Utah, USA). Weather data was downloaded once a week using a laptop computer. This AWS is therefore similar to that owned and managed by the CSIR at Ukulinga.

#### 3.5.1.3 Baynesfield

Meteorological data (solar radiation, air temperature, wind speed, relative humidity, and atmospheric pressure) was obtained from an automatic weather station located at Baynesfield (Mengistu *et al.*, 2014). The instrumentation used was also very similar to that used at Ukulinga and Hatfield.

#### 3.5.2 Transpiration

#### 3.5.2.1 Jatropha (Ukulinga)

A CR10X or CR1000 data-logger connected to AM16/32 multiplexers (Campbell Scientific, Logan UT, USA) may be programmed to initiate the hourly heat pulses and record data from the respective thermocouple pairs, while the heater probes are connected to a relay control module and 12VDC battery (**Figure 26**). Heat pulse velocity data require correction for sapwood wounding caused by the drilling procedure, using wound correction coefficients described by Swanson and Whitfield (1981). The corrected heat pulse velocities are then converted to sap flux densities by accounting for wood density and sapwood moisture content (Marshall, 1958). Finally, the sap flux densities are converted to whole-tree total sap flow by calculating the sum of the products of sap flux density and cross-sectional area for individual tree stem annuli (determined by below-bark TC insertion depths and sapwood depth). The final analysis involves the conversion of the hourly HPV values to total daily sap flow (in litres and millimetres).





## 3.5.2.2 Moringa (Hatfield)

The heat ratio method (HRM) of the HPV technique (Burgess *et al.*, 2001) was used for estimating water use from the Moringa trees. Sample plants were selected from irrigated and non-irrigated treatments. Three probe sets were radially inserted to different depths in the sapwood of each plant 5 mm below the cambium (**Figure 27**). Each probe set consisted of a central line heater and two temperature measuring probes at equidistant (5 mm) downstream and upstream from the line heater. A CR1000 datalogger was connected to two AM16/32 multiplexers (Campbell Scientific, Logan UT, USA). The control module/datalogger was programmed to provide a heat pulse and measurements were recorded every hour. All estimates of sap velocity were corrected for probe implantation effects (Swanson and Whitfield, 1981) based on an estimated wound width of 4 mm. HRM configuration, correction for wounding and other operational details are given by Burgess *et al.* (2001).



Figure 27 HPV probe sets inserted in a *Moringa oleifera* tree at the Hatfield experimental farm, University of Pretoria

3.5.3 Evapotranspiration

## 3.5.3.1 Annual crops

Water use was estimated as the actual evapotranspiration from the cropped surface, accumulated from planting date to harvest date. It is expressed as the total evaporation (soil water evaporation + transpiration + interception) in mm or m<sup>3</sup> for the growing period. Total evaporation was estimated using the surface renewal method as the residual of the shortened energy balance equation. The latent energy flux was determined indirectly as the residual of the shortened energy balance equation.

The eddy covariance method was also used to calibrate the surface renewal method and obtain the weighting factor ( $\alpha$ ). A sonic anemometer was used as an eddy covariance system to measure three dimensional wind velocity components and sensible heat flux density every 30 minutes (**Figure 28**). The sonic anemometer was connected to a CR3000 datalogger (Campbell Scientific Inc., Logan, Utah, USA) and 12V DC (90 Ah) battery housed in the strongbox.

For the surface renewal method, one unshielded type-E fine-wire thermocouple (75-µm diameter) was used to measure air temperature placed at a height of 0.5 m above the canopy surface (**Figure 28**). The fine wire prevents the sensor from absorbing direct solar radiation and heating up, thus introducing error. This thermocouple was used for estimating the sensible heat flux and high frequency measurements. Thermocouple measurement was done differentially and air temperature data was sampled at a frequency of 10 Hz. Time lags of 0.40 s and 0.80 s were used for the surface renewal analysis before forming the second, third and fifth order of air temperature structure function values as required by the Van Atta

(1977) approach. The data were then averaged and stored every two minutes in the CR3000 datalogger.

Additional measurements included the remaining components of the energy balance. Net irradiance was measured using a Q\*7 net radiometer (REBS, Seattle, Washington, USA) placed at 1.50 m above the ground surface (**Figure 28**). Two Hukse flux plates (HFP01-15, Delft, The Netherlands) were used to measure soil heat flux density at a depth of 80 mm and a system of parallel-thermocouples at depths of 20 and 60 mm were used to calculate the heat stored above the plates.



**Figure 28** Lattice mast situated near the centre of the 80 by 80 m sugarbeet trial and rigged with a fine-wire thermocouple, sonic anemometer and net radiometer

#### 3.5.3.2 Jatropha (Ukulinga)

Four months of ET data was obtained from February to May 2011 using a Surface Layer Scintillometer (SLS). The SLS transmitter and receiver were mounted and secured to steel poles, in order to measure total evaporation diagonally across two adjacent Jatropha only (i.e. weed-free) plots at Ukulinga (**Figure 29**).



Figure 29 View from the steel pole which supported the SLS receiver used to measure total evaporation diagonally across two adjacent Jatropha only (i.e. weed-free) plots at Ukulinga in January 2011

## 3.5.3.3 Moringa (Hatfield)

The soil water balance equation (**Equation 13**) and *SWB* model simulations were used to estimate crop water use. If the trial was conducted during a very wet season (e.g. 2010/11), it was difficult to determine drainage from neutron probe measurements alone and thus, *SWB* model simulations were used to help estimate drainage.

## 3.5.4 Soil water content

#### 3.5.4.1 Ukulinga

A Campbell Scientific TDR100 system (Campbell Scientific, Logan UT, USA) connected to an RR1 battery was used to measure volumetric soil water content. The TDR system consisted of a TDR100 Time Domain Reflectometer, a Campbell Scientific CR1000 datalogger, three SDMX50 coaxial multiplexers and 16 TDR probes. Eight CS605 probes were installed in the first plot (i.e. Plot #1 in **Figure 25**) and the remaining eight in Plot #2.

The probes were installed by excavating a pit 1 m deep (in each plot) to measure volumetric soil water content at different depths. Narrow holes were drilled into the soil prior to installation of the probes because the soil was hard and impenetrable. Four CS605 probes were installed at depths of 0.1 m, 0.2 m, 0.4 m and 0.6 m into the south-facing of the pit and another duplicate set of four probes at the same depths into the north-facing of the pit (**Figure 30**). Finally, the pit was then backfilled with soil without mixing the different horizons. Half-hourly and daily volumetric water content was then calculated from the dielectric constant using the Ledieu *et al.* (1986) equation.




**Figure 30** "Before" (a) and "after" photographs (b) of the Perspex mini-rhizotron access tube and CS605 probe installation (0.1, 0.2, 0.4 and 0.6 m depths) at Ukulinga in September 2010

#### 3.6 Measurement of Feedstock Yield

The growth of each annual crop was monitored over the growing season using a variety of instrumentation as explained below.

#### 3.6.1 Feedstock growth

#### 3.6.1.1 Leaf area

Leaf Area Index (LAI) is the ratio of total upper leaf surface of vegetation divided by the surface area of the land on which the vegetation grows. LAI is a dimensionless value, typically ranging from 0 for bare ground to 6 for a dense forest.

Random samples of leaves at emergence (or just after transplanting) were used to determine initial leaf area using an LI-3100C Portable Leaf Area Meter (LI-COR, USA). According to its designers, once the meter has been calibrated, it has a combined accuracy and precision of 99% (LI-COR, 2009). This value is required to determine the initial canopy cover ( $CC_o$ ) for crop models such as AQUACROP.

Once plant leaves reach a sufficient size after successful crop establishment, a LAI-2200 plant canopy analyser (LI-COR, USA) was used to measure leaf area index. Initially, measurements are taken regularly (i.e. weekly) until maximum LAI was reached. Thereafter, measurements were taken fortnightly due to slow canopy growth. The advantage of the LAI-2200 over similar instruments (e.g. AccuPAR LP-80 ceptometer) is that it does not require calibration. However, LAI-2200 readings can be affected by non-uniform cloud cover and direct sunlight. These limitations can be overcome by following procedures given in the manual (LI-COR, 2009).

#### 3.6.1.2 Plant senescence

A chlorophyll meter (Minolta SPAD 502) was used to derive an index of chlorophyll content of the crop. These measurements were related to the time taken for the plant to senescence (i.e. when chlorophyll content begins to decline). Measurements were taken from the upper surface (i.e. ad axial) of the mature leaves. The measurements from the chlorophyll meter are based on comparing leaf transmittance at two wavelengths, namely 650 nm and 940 nm. Therefore, the obtained values are proportional to the chlorophyll content of the leaves (Manetas *et al.*, 1998; Pinkard *et al.*, 2006). The design of the chlorophyll meter is based on the assumption that changes in the ratio of transmittance between the two wavelengths are purely based on chlorophyll levels. However, this is not always the case, since certain plants change leaf colour at different development stages (Manetas *et al.*, 1998). The time to the start of senescence is another parameter required by crop models such as *AQUACROP*.

#### 3.6.1.3 Photosynthetic active radiation

Data on plant growth was collected at weekly (or bi-weekly) intervals for annual crops and at monthly intervals for perennial crops (i.e. trees). The fraction of photosynthetically active radiation (*PAR*) intercepted by the canopy ( $FI_{PAR}$ ) was measured using a Sunfleck ceptometer (Decagon Devices, Washington, USA). PAR measurements consisted of three series of measurements conducted in rapid succession on cloudless days. A series of measurements consisted of one reference reading above and ten readings beneath the canopy, which were then averaged.  $FI_{PAR}$  was calculated as follows:

$$FI_{PAR} = 1 - \frac{PAR \ below \ canopy}{PAR \ above \ canopy}$$

#### **Equation 29**

#### 3.6.1.4 Root development

The minimum effective rooting depth was obtained from measuring the root length of emerged plants (or transplanted seedlings). The maximum effective rooting depth was obtained using a 3D mini-rhizotron scanner (CI-600 Digital Root Imager; CID Inc., Washington, USA.). This technique allowed for non-destructive measurements of root growth over time. This was achieved by installing transparent (i.e. clear) perpex access tubes into the soil profile. The scanner was inserted into these tubes to record images at various depths. Before using the scanner, it was calibrated by inserting the camera into a non-transparent tube (to mimic the darkness in the soil) to ensure it revolved completely (i.e. 360 degrees). Mini-rhizotrons have been used to study root development, root turnover, root parasitism and proliferation by fungal hyphae (Faget *et al.*, 2010). The minimum ( $Z_{min}$ ) and maximum ( $Z_{max}$ ) rooting depth is required by hydrological and crop yield models.

#### 3.6.2 Feedstock yield

A destructive sampling technique was used for taking periodic measurements of both fresh and dry biomass (leaf, stem, head and/or tuber). These measurements are used to convert from fresh to dry yield weight. Fresh weight was determined by weighing samples on a scale (accurate to 3 decimals of a gram). The sample was deemed dry after reaching constant mass after oven drying for over 48 hours at temperatures ranging from 65 to 75°C. Final biomass, yield and the harvest index (HI) were all determined at harvest time.

In order to minimise labour costs, only a portion (e.g. 50%) of the entire trial was typically harvested. The sample plots were chosen in areas where damage (caused by weeds, pets and/or diseases) as minimal and also to avoid "edge effects". Finally, plants near the irrigation system's main manifold line (i.e. centre of the trial) were also excluded. This avoided plants exposed to fine water leaks from the saddles which connect the dripperlines to the manifold, which may have influenced the yield of neighbouring plants.

## 3.7 Estimation of Biofuel Yield

In order to meet one of the aims of the biofuels project (**AIM 6**), water use efficiency was also expressed in terms of biofuel yield per unit of water consumed by the total biomass. In the context of biofuels, *biofuel use efficiency* (m<sup>3</sup> m<sup>-3</sup>) is defined as the biofuel yield (in m<sup>3</sup>), relative to the water used to produce the feedstock (m<sup>3</sup>). Where possible, bioethanol yield is determined from the sugar content (**Section 3.7.1**) or starch content (**Section 3.7.2**). Similarly, biodiesel yield is determined from the oilseed yield (**Section 3.7.3**). Alternatively, feedstock yields can be converted to biofuel yields using conversion ratios typically reported in the local and international literature (**Section 3.7.4**).

## 3.7.1 Bioethanol from sugar

#### 3.7.1.1 Juice extraction

Reddy *et al.* (2007) suggested that stripped sweet sorghum or sugarcane stems should be squeezed in a roller press to extract the sugar juice. The resultant juice extract and bagasse can then be weighed to record the respective yields. Hence, the bagasse and juice extract yields (in t ha<sup>-1</sup>) must correspond to the stem yield. Sugar yield is calculated as a product of Brix (%) and juice extract yield. The bagasse plus leaves can be used for animal fodder production. For example, Miller and Ottman (2010) reported an extraction percentage of juice (i.e. juice weight divided by stalk weight) of 43% for sweet sorghum stalks. This value is typically lower than may be expected with a commercial press, and thus bioethanol yields may be underestimated.

The use of roller mills to extract sugar juice, which is common in India, has three undesirable side-effects. Firstly, the extracted yield will vary with variety, depending on the stem structure. Secondly, the extracted yield also depends on the moisture content of the stalk (i.e. the "wetter" the stalk, the higher the percentage of sugar that can be removed). Finally, it is difficult to replicate results and depends on the mill settings on the day which influences how much of the sugar can be extracted.

The use of roller mills was not adopted at Ukulinga (or Hatfield) because pressing does not remove all sugar from the stem (approximately 10% remains in the bagasse). The preferred method of sugar extraction is via a diffusion process as described in **Section 3.7.1.3**.

## 3.7.1.2 Biofuel yield

The following equation (**Equation 30**) was used to calculate theoretical bioethanol yield from fresh mass and Brix content. The equation is similar to that published by Zhao *et al.* (2009), who referenced the Institution of Japan Energy (IJE, 2006). The equation below uses fresh mass and not dry mass (there is no difference in calculating theoretical bioethanol yield based on wet or oven dried samples). For example, sweet sorghum stalks normally have a dry sugar content of between 45 and 65% with a dry matter content of between 20 and 35%.

bioethanol yield (L ha<sup>-1</sup>) = Brix (%) \* 0.85 \* fresh yield (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) \* 10 \* 0.511 \* FE/0.79 Equation 30 Similar equations have also been published by Sakellariou-Makrantonaki *et al.* (2007) who referenced Lipinski (1978). Vasilakoglou *et al.* (2011) also published an equation recently and referenced Sakellariou-Makrantonaki *et al.* (2007) and Zhao *et al.* (2009). Compared to the above method, the equations provided by Zhao *et al.* (2009) and Sakellariou-Makrantonaki *et al.* (2007) tend to underestimate the bioethanol yield, whereas the Vasilakoglou *et al.* (2011) equation over-estimates bioethanol production.

Brix \* 0.85 provides the approximate Total Fermentable Sugars (TFS) and is based on results from the Sugar Milling Research Institute (SMRI). Hence, Brix is a measure of fermentable sugars including sucrose, glucose and fructose. The remaining 15% of the Brix is non-fermentable i.e. pentose sugars, mitochondria, ash etc. This value varies with variety and peaks around 85%. Almodares and Hadi (2009) also stated that sweet sorghum juice is assumed to be converted to bioethanol at 85% of theoretical, or 54.4 L bioethanol per 100 kg fresh stalk yield.

The constant 0.51 represents the theoretical bioethanol yield from sugar on a mass basis (i.e. 2 kg sugar produces 1 kg bioethanol; Shuler and Kargi, 2002). This value is based on the stochiometry of the conversion of a six-carbon sugar (1 glucose;  $C_6H_{12}O_6$ ) to 2 bioethanol (2CH<sub>3</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>OH) and 2 carbon dioxide (2CO<sub>2</sub>) molecules. Although this gives a conversion factor of 0.51, actual fermentation results vary between 44 and 48 g bioethanol from 100 g glucose. This gives a fermentation efficiency (FE) of 0.86 to 0.94. Fermentation efficiency is typically determined from the difference between observed and theoretical bioethanol production. Values of 0.93 and 0.90 were used for sugarbeet and sweet sorghum respectively. Finally, the factor of 10 accounts for the units (e.g. yield in t ha<sup>-1</sup>; Brix in %) and the constant 0.79 kg L<sup>-1</sup> is the density of bioethanol required to convert the bioethanol yield to a volume basis.

For sugarcane, sucrose and not Brix (i.e. total fermentable sugar) was used to derive the theoretical bioethanol yield. Sucrose is important to the sugar industry (and not Brix) since it is the main component of table sugar. Hence, the bioethanol yields are slightly underestimated because the calculation excludes other fermentable sugars (e.g. fructose and glucose). The equation used did not include the conversion factor from Brix to fermentable sugars of 0.85. Furthermore, a fermentation efficiency of 0.90 was selected (c.f. **Equation 31**).

**Table 25** shows that the mean cane yield derived from 14 seasons (1998 to 2012) is 66.11 t  $ha^{-1}$ . The average sucrose content is 13.5% which provides a mean sucrose yield of 8.9 t  $ha^{-1}$ . The average bioethanol yield is 5 179 L  $ha^{-1}$  which is equivalent to an extraction rate of 78.4 litres of bioethanol per ton of cane. This agrees favourable with the value of 80 L t<sup>-1</sup> given in the draft regulatory position paper (DoE, 2014).

Season	Fresh cane yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	Sucrose content (%)	Sucrose yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )	Bioethanol yield (L ha <sup>-1</sup> )	Extraction rate (L t <sup>-1</sup> )
1998/99	72.48	13.36	9.68	5 626	77.6
1999/00	67.74	13.77	9.33	5 420	80.0
2000/01	73.95	13.08	9.67	5 620	76.0
2001/02	64.96	13.11	8.52	4 948	76.2
2002/03	71.64	13.71	9.82	5 706	79.7
2003/04	62.64	13.70	8.58	4 986	79.6
2004/05	60.43	13.52	8.17	4 747	78.6
2005/06	66.02	13.74	9.07	5 271	79.8
2006/07	66.36	12.92	8.57	4 981	75.1
2007/08	64.17	13.47	8.64	5 022	78.3
2008/09	67.00	13.69	9.17	5 329	79.5
2009/10	67.07	13.68	9.18	5 331	79.5
2010/11	59.08	14.14	8.35	4 854	82.2
2011/12	62.06	12.94	8.03	4 666	75.2
Average	66.11	13.49	8.91	5 179	78.4

Table 25Comparison of the utilisable yield (stem, sugar & bioethanol) for sugarcane<br/>estimated for the past 14 seasons

# 3.7.1.3 Sugar content

The total Brix yield of crops containing sugar (e.g. sugarbeet and sweet sorghum) was determined in the ACCI laboratory at Ukulinga. One degree Brix (°Bx) is equivalent to 1 gram of sucrose in 100 grams of aqueous solution and gives an indication of the ratio of total soluble sugars to water in the sample. Hence, a 25°Bx sample contains 25 g of soluble sugar and 75 g of water. By definition, Brix values can also be reported as per cent values. The determination of Brix is based on a method used by the Eston Sugar Mill Laboratory (but excludes sucrose determination).

Brix determination should be conducted soon after the crop is harvested. To delay the reduction in sugar properties after harvesting, the samples were kept cool in fridges. The sample's Brix content was determined by chopping the sample into small pieces (approximately 1 cm long) using a chaff cutter, then mixed thoroughly and labelled. Then water (2 litres) was added to the chopped sample (1 kg) and mixed for twenty minutes in a specialised high speed blender called a cold digester. Thereafter, the mixture was sieved and filtered using filter paper and Celite powder to remove the fibre. Finally, the filtered liquid was then tested using a laboratory refractometer, which was calibrated using sucrose, to give a reading in degrees Brix.

Total soluble sugar content (%) can be determined from stalk or tuber Brix (%) using the Liu *et al.* (2008) method (**Equation 31**).

However, the Liu *et al.* (2008) equation should not be used to convert Brix into total sugar content because the formula only performs well for higher Brix values (and higher sucrose levels), but not for lower sucrose levels, which is the case for the Sugargraze variety of sweet sorghum.

## 3.7.1.4 Sugar degradation

The advantage of producing bioethanol from grain (sorghum or maize) is related to postharvest logistics. McCorkle *et al.* (2007) reported that field trials in Texas, US (from 2001 to 2003) showed that silage production from sorghum required 40 to 53% less water than using maize. Sorghum grain is similar to maize grain and is usually dried to a moisture content of 10 to 12% (bulk density of 520 to 720 kg m<sup>-3</sup>), which allows for efficient storage and transport (Turhollow *et al.*, 2010). Sweet sorghum is similar to sugarcane in that the sugar stored in the stalk juice needs to be processed fairly rapidly because it degrades rapidly post-harvest. Reddy *et al.* (2007; 2008) showed that sugar yield (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) decreased by 5.7 and 16.8% only one and two days after harvest, respectively.

Zegada-Lizarazu and Monti (2012) reported a sugar concentration of approximately 20°Bx containing 15% sucrose at the ripe stage for sweet sorghum. However, a delayed harvest can lead to reduced °Bx and stem sucrose content. Chopping of stalks into smaller stems does not reduce °Bx and sucrose up to 48 hours after harvesting. However, 50% of fermentable sugars are lost after one week of harvest in chopped material. In addition, sweet sorghum exhibits a narrow harvesting window of 20 to 40 days, which adds to the challenge of getting the feedstock to the processing plant with the maximum sugar content.

#### 3.7.2 Bioethanol from starch

## 3.7.2.1 Biofuel yield

The following equation (**Equation 32**) was used to estimate theoretical bioethanol yield from starch-based feedstocks. It was derived by the Institution of Japan Energy in 2006 (cited by Zhao *et al.*, 2009). This equation is based on 1 gram of starch being hydrolysed into 1.11 grams of glucose, with each gram of glucose generating 0.51 grams of bioethanol.

bioethanol yield (L ha <sup>-1</sup> ) =	extractable starch content (%) *	
	dry grain yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> ) *	Equation 32
	10 * 1.11 * 0.511 * FE / 0.79	

In the above equation, it is important to take into account the moisture content on the grain product. The moisture content is determined using an oven-dried method (72 hours at 103°C). Hence, the dry grain mass must be adjusted to remove the mass of water before the conversion to bioethanol takes place. This is achieved using this simple equation:

dry grain yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> ) =	dry grain yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> ) -	
	[dry grain yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> ) *	Equation 33
	moisture content (% w/w) / 100]	

Starch can be hydrolysed by enzymes to produce the monomeric sugar glucose, which is readily metabolised by the yeast to produce bioethanol. Using the average starch content of each grain crop, the theoretical bioethanol yield can be determined by considering that 1 g of

starch produces 1.11 g of glucose (via hydrolysis) and 0.511 g of bioethanol is produced per g of glucose. Finally, 1 g of bioethanol is equivalent to 1.266 mL of bioethanol. Hence, the theoretical bioethanol yield of grain crops is given in **Table 26**.

Grain crop	Average starch (%)	Starch range (%)	Theoretical bioethanol yield (mL g <sup>-1</sup> or L kg <sup>-1</sup> )
Maize	72	65-76	0.52
Wheat	77	66-82	0.55
Barley	57	55-74	0.41
Sorghum	72	68-80	0.52
Oat	58	45-69	0.42
Rice	79	74-85	0.57

Table 26	Theoretical bioethanol	yield of certain grain of	crops (Drapcho et al., 2008)
		j.e.a. e. ee.ta g.a	

The theoretical bioethanol yield given in **Table 26** does not take into account any conversion efficiencies (e.g. fermentation efficiency) associated with the industrial processes used. Excluding the food *vs.* fuel debate (i.e. food security concerns), the table shows that rice and wheat exhibit the highest bioethanol yield. This information also highlights the sensitivity of bioethanol yield to starch content.

## 3.7.2.2 Fermentation efficiency

In this study, a value of 0.909 was used for the fermentation efficiency (FE). Görgens (2013) indicated that the FE ranges from 90 to 95% (when compared to the theoretical maximum, which can be achieved under industrial conditions). Grain samples from the 2012/13 trials at Ukulinga and Hatfield as well as the 2013/14 trial at Ukulinga, were sent to Stellenbosch University for analysis (**Table 29**). The average bioethanol produced was 90.9% of the theoretical value, which represented an average of nine samples (six in 2012/13 & three in 2013/14). The analysis used the Simultaneous Saccharification and Fermentation (SSF) process to convert starch to bioethanol. The FE value of 0.91 is similar to barley as shown by the following study.

Banerjee and Kundu (2013) determined the fermentation efficiency of two different processes used to convert starch to bioethanol for three feedstocks, *viz.* rice, potato & barley (**Table 27**). Samples were dry milled in a laboratory to duplicate a typical hammer mill in which the grain is ground down so that 60 to 90% has a particle size of 250-350  $\mu$ m. The ground samples were then mixed with water to form a mash, which is then treated with enzymes to convert the liquefied starch to a pre-saccharified state. The mash was then fermented using yeast without stopping the enzymatic action. Thus, the simultaneous enzymatic saccharification and fermentation (SSF) action yielded slightly more sugar and subsequently more bioethanol. This process was compared to the traditional method of allowing the enzymatic process to first complete, before the slurry is fermented to produce alcohol (i.e. Individual Saccharification and Fermentation or ISF).

Table 27Efficiency of the Individual (ISF) vs. Simultaneous (SSF) Saccharification and<br/>Fermentation process used to convert starch to bioethanol (Banerjee and<br/>Kundu, 2013)

Foodstock	Fermentation efficiency (%)			
recusiock	ISF	SSF		
Potato	94.5	96.0		
Rice	91.7	93.9		
Barely	89.8	91.2		

Figures for starch content and expected bioethanol yield were also provided by Banerjee and Kundu (2013) in **Table 28**. These expected bioethanol yields appear to consider the fermentation efficiency associated with the technology used to convert starch into bioethanol. This highlights the range in starch contents and bioethanol yields reported in the available literature. Where possible, locally derived starch contents for a particular crop variety should be used in the equation presented above.

Table 28	Overview of starch content and expected bioethanol yield for various grain
	feedstocks (Banerjee and Kundu, 2013)

Grain cron	Starch	Expected bioethanol	
Grain crop	range (%)	yield (mL g <sup>-1</sup> or L kg <sup>-1</sup> )	
Maize	60-63	0.38-0.40	
Wheat	58-62	0.36-0.39	
Barley	54-65	0.34-0.41	
Sorghum	55-65	0.36-0.42	
Triticale	63-69	0.40-0.44	
Rye	55-62	0.35-0.37	

## 3.7.2.3 Starch content

A review of the literature revealed that Adetunji and Taylor (2012) developed a database on the quality attributes of improved sorghum varieties and cultivars, in order to boost sorghum utilisation in South Africa. This database was obtained from the International Sorghum and Millet Collaborative Research Support Program (INTSORMIL) website (<u>http://intsormil.org/</u>). The database provided a grain extract content (measure of grain starch content and availability as % dry basis) of 74.2% for PAN8816 (Chiremba, 2010). Wang *et al.* (2009) reported a sorghum starch content range of 64 to 74% (grain dry mass). Since grains with higher starch content should produce higher bioethanol yields (Wang *et al.*, 2009), grain starch content should be measured.

Görgens (2013) warned of the inaccuracy associated with using a theoretical yield equation, compared to a laboratory study. He added that a relatively simple method exists for conducting laboratory-scale fermentations for grain starch. Unfortunately, ACCI does not have the laboratory equipment to measure extractable starch content. However, grain starch content can be measured by a number of laboratories in the country (e.g. Stellenbosch University; SA Grains in Pretoria). Grain samples from the 2012/13 trials at Ukulinga and Hatfield were sent to Stellenbosch University for analysis. The analysis was repeated for the 2013/14 Ukulinga trial. The actual fermentable starch contents are shown in **Table 29** below.

C:40	Comula	Veer	Total	Extractable	Fermentation
Site	Sample	rear	starch (%)	starch (%)	efficiency
Ukulinga	1	2012/13	66.1	64.8	0.906
	2	2012/13	66.5	66.5	0.898
	3	2012/13	65.9	64.3	0.917
		Average	66.2	65.2	0.907
Hatfield	1	2012/13	71.2	69.5	0.919
	2	2012/13	71.3	70.2	0.913
	3	2012/13	68.8	68.4	0.913
		Average	70.4	69.4	0.915
Ukulinga	1	2013/14	63.5	61.9	0.897
	2	2013/14	62.6	63.8	0.901
	3	2013/14	65.4	61.8	0.915
		Average	63.8	62.5	0.904

Table 29Total and extractable starch content (%) of grain sorghum (PAN8816)<br/>samples

According to the South African Grain Laboratory, the 10-year weighted average<sup>13</sup> for white and yellow maize is 72.0 and 72.6% respectively (**Table 30**). In general, yellow maize has a higher starch content than white maize. The starch content of South Africa's maize crop varies seasonally with the average starch content of yellow maize decreasing from 74.2% in 2010/11 to 73.0% 2011/12. The average starch content of 72.6% for yellow maize was converted to extractable starch content using a factor of 0.926. Patzek (2006) determined the mean starch content of 71.46% and mean extractable starch of 66.18% from over 700 samples of maize analysed (i.e. 66.18/71.46 = 0.926).

Table 30Comparison of the utilisable yield (grain, starch & bioethanol) for yellow maize<br/>estimated for the past five seasons, assuming a moisture content of 12.5%<br/>and a fermentation efficiency of 90.4%

	Grain	Grain	Extractable	Starch	Bioethanol	Extraction
Season	Yield	starch	starch	Yield	Yield	rate
	(t ha⁻¹)	(%)	(%)	(t ha⁻¹)	(L ha⁻¹)	(L t <sup>-1</sup> )
2002/03		72.0	66.7			
2003/04		71.1	65.8			
2004/05		71.7	66.4			
2005/06		71.5	66.2			
2006/07		73.3	67.9			
2007/08	3.03	72.3	67.0	1.78	1 159	382.4
2008/09	4.92	73.2	67.8	2.92	1 905	387.1
2009/10	5.62	73.4	68.0	3.34	2 182	388.2
2010/11	4.87	74.2	68.7	2.93	1 911	392.4
2011/12*	4.70	73.0	67.6	2.78	1 815	386.1
Average	4.63	72.6	67.2	2.75	1 794	387.2

\*Estimated and not actual figures

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> http://www.sagl.co.za/Portals/0/Maize%20Crop%202011%202012/Page%2049.pdf

According to Patzek (2006), total starch content can be used to estimate bioethanol yield for processing plants using the dry grind process. However, for those using wet milling, extractable starch should be used. Extractable starch is therefore the amount of starch that can be expected to be recovered in a wet milling operation. This value is lower than the starch content and is affected by grain variety, environmental conditions and management practices (e.g. nitrogen application rate).

#### 3.7.3 Biodiesel from bio-oil

#### 3.7.3.1 Biofuel yield

The following equation (**Equation 34**) was used to determine the theoretical biodiesel yield from oilseed crops. The equation assumes that all of the bio-oil can be extracted from the seed (i.e. the equation provides the theoretical biodiesel yield).

biodiesel yield (L ha<sup>-1</sup>) = bio-oil content (%) \* dry seed yield (t ha<sup>-1</sup>) \* Equation 34 10 \* 0.95 / 0.92

The conversion efficiency was assumed to be 95% (Nolte, 2007), but it depends on the process used to convert the bio-oil into biodiesel (Achten *et al.*, 2008):

- homogeneous alkali catalysed alcoholysis.
- enzymatic catalysed alcoholysis (60-70% efficiency) and
- supercritical alcoholysis (90% efficiency).

The density of oil also varies amongst feedstocks. The value of 0.92 kg L<sup>-1</sup> is typical for soybean, canola, sunflower and Jatropha. However, the density of *Moringa oleifera* oil is 0.90 g cm<sup>-3</sup> or (0.90 kg L<sup>-1</sup> 0.90 g ml<sup>-1</sup>) which is equivalent to 1.111 L kg<sup>-1</sup> (Atabani *et al.*, 2013).

The recoverable oil fraction is clearly affected by the pressing technology used. For hand powered small scale pressing, about 60% of the total oil is extractable. With mechanised pressing equipment, about 75% of the oil can be recovered. Commercially available pressing systems used for large-scale crushing can reach up to 90%. Industrial extraction with organic solvents (mainly hexane) yield near 100% of the oil content (Jongschaap *et al.*, 2007). According to Jongschaap *et al.* (2007), an extraction efficiency of 75% is normally used for Jatropha oil. Similarly, Sparks (2010) stated that the 6% of the oil remains in soybean oilcake (i.e. 94% extraction efficiency).

#### 3.7.3.2 Bio-oil content

The bio-oil content was not measured in this study, except for Moringa. Hence, typical values were obtained from the literature. The oil contents adopted in this study are as follows:

- canola: 40% (Fouché, 2015),
- sunflower: 38% (Nolte, 2007),
- soybean: 18% (Nolte, 2007),
- Jatropha: 35% (Jongschaap et al., 2009; Atabani et al. (2013), and
- Moringa: 31% (measured).

The seed oil content for Moringa was determined using two soxhlet solvent extractors. Hexane was used as solvent to extract the oil. Seed samples were weighed, ground and placed in Whatman single-thickness cellulose extraction thimbles of the soxhlet. The soxhlet system was run for 24 hours. The solvent was then removed through evaporation and the residual oil weighed. The oil content was then calculated as a percentage of the initial seed weight prior to extraction. Oil extraction results showed that that Moringa seeds contained about 31% oil by mass for the irrigated and dryland treatments. This was lower than previous reported results of 35 to 41% (Rashid *et al.*, 2008; Da Silva *et al.*, 2010; Abdulkareem *et al.*, 2011).

The average soybean oil content was extracted from the Protein Research Foundation's website, based on results obtained from the annual Super Soya competition in KwaZulu-Natal (**Table 31**). No oil content (only protein level) was available prior to the 2008/09 season. Based on these values, the average soybean oil content is approximately 20%, slightly higher than the 18% assumed in this study.

Voar (Pogion)	Soybean oil content (%)				
Teal (Region)	Range	Average			
2008/09 (S-KZN)	20.5-22.3	21.3			
2008/09 (N-KZN)	13.2-28.1	20.8			
2007/08 (S-KZN)	19.7-23.2	21.3			
2008/09 (N-KZN)	18.3-22.7	20.5			

 
 Table 31
 Oil content of soybean obtained from the annual Super Soya competition in KwaZulu-Natal (Source: <u>http://www.proteinresearch.net/</u>)

## 3.7.4 Extraction rates

The draft national biofuels strategy (DME, 2006a; 2006b) reported that a ton of sugarcane (fresh mass), maize (dry mass) and soybean (dry mass) can produce 81, 402 and 171 litres of biofuel respectively. Similarly, Meyer *et al.* (2008) reported comparable figures of 78, 402 and 194 litres of biofuel per ton of sugarcane, maize and soybean respectively. A literature review produced a range of biofuel extraction rates for various feedstocks as shown in **Table 32**. It is important to note that the extraction rates for starch-based crops (e.g. grain sorghum & maize) are higher than values given in the literature because the moisture content of the crop was not considered.

It is important to note that biofuel extraction rates are continuously improving with time. Goldemberg (2008) estimated that within a five-year period (2000 to 2004), the bioethanol yield in Brazil increased from 2 000 to 5 917 litres per hectare of sugarcane grown. This improvement was mainly attributable to new advanced hybrids and genetically modified sugarcane, new cultivation techniques as well as new bio-refinery technologies. Hence, the conversion ratios mentioned above are dependent on the technology used to produce the biofuel and therefore "improve" with time.

Feedstock	Extraction rates for fresh yields		Source	
	(m <sup>3</sup> t <sup>-1</sup> )	(L t <sup>-1</sup> )		
Sugarcane	0.081	81.4	(DME, 2006a)	
	0.078	78.0	Meyer et al. (2008)	
	0.068	68.0	Garoma et al. (2011)	
	0.080	80.0	DoE (2014)	
	0.078	78.4	Theoretical biofuel equation	
Sugarbeet	0.074	75.0	Maclachlan (2012)	
	0.084	83.5	Theoretical biofuel equation	
Sweet sorghum	0.074	74	Smith and Frederiksen (2000)	
Ŭ	0.069	69	Prasad <i>et al.</i> (2007)	
	0.054	54.4	Almodares and Hadi (2009)	
	0.060	59.7	Theoretical biofuel equation	
Cassava	0.170	170	Duke (1983)	
	0.070-0.110	70-110	Asiedu (1989)	
	0.150-0.200	150-200	Wang (2002)	
	0.100-0.150	100-150	Phillips et al. (2004)	
	0.100	100	Adeoti (2010)	
	000			
Feedstock	Extraction rat	tes for dry vields	Source	
Grain sorghum	0.380	380	Du Preez <i>et al.</i> (1985)	
	0.372	372	Smith and Frederiksen (2000)	
	0.370	370	BFAP (2008)	
	0.400	400	Lemmer and Schoeman (2011)	
	0.417	417	Kotze (2012b)	
	0.417	416.7	$D_0 E(2014)$	
	0.384	383.6	Theoretical biofuel equation	
	0.001			
Maize	0.402	402.3	DME (2006a)	
	0.387	387	Smith and Frederiksen (2000)	
	0.402	402	Meyer et al. (2008)	
	0.373-0.417	372.6-417.3	Drapcho et al. (2008)	
	0.360	360	Garoma <i>et al</i> . (2011)	
	0.436	435.8	Theoretical biofuel equation	
Soybean	0.171	171.4	DME (2006a)	
	0.194	194.0	Meyer et al. (2008)	
	0.212	211.8	GAIN (2009)	
	0.185	185.2	DoE (2014)	
	0.154	185.9	Theoretical biofuel equation	
Sunflower	0.398	398	Meyer <i>et al.</i> (2008)	
-	0.392	392.4	Theoretical biofuel equation	
Canola	0.413	0.413	Theoretical biofuel equation	
Jatropha	0.380	380.4	Jongschaap et al. (2009)	
· · · · ·	0.361	361.4	Theoretical biofuel equation	
			· ·	
Moringa	0.327	327.2	Theoretical biofuel equation	
			•	

**Table 32**Biofuel production in m<sup>3</sup> (and litres) per ton of crop yield

# 4 PARAMETERS USED FOR MODELLING

This chapter provides a description of the parameters required by the hydrological and crop models used in this study. A summarised version of the parameter values is provided in **Volume 1**. This section therefore pertains to **AIM 4** and **AIM 5** of this project's terms of reference.

# 4.1 Introduction

Taylor *et al.* (2008) reviewed a number of models designed to estimate crop water use. Their findings showed that a number of parameters and variables are common to these different models. For example, the crop coefficient (or crop factor) is required by the *SAPWAT*, *SWB* and *ACRU* models. Variables describing the water holding capacity of the soil (e.g. soil texture and depth) are also common. Pereira *et al.* (2006) stated that if soil water is not limiting, transpiration will largely be governed by the leaf area. Hence, a number of models require information on leaf area index. In the following sections, these parameters and variables are described in more detail.

# 4.2 Water Use Parameters (ACRU)

Hydrological models such as *ACRU* require various input parameters and variables which are used to represent sub-catchment physiographic conditions as well as certain characteristics of the land use under consideration. A *parameter* is considered as any input where only one value represents the sub-catchment, whereas a *variable* has more than one value.

## 4.2.1 Background

## 4.2.1.1 Rainfall/runoff response

Schulze and Horan (2011) noted that runoff response is most sensitive to rainfall, reference evaporation and certain soil characteristics. Thus, key parameters and variables that influence runoff generation in *ACRU* are shown in **Table 33**.

Variable	Definition
	Monthly precipitation adjustment factors (e.g. to account for differences in
CORPPT	monthly rainfall between the selected driver station and spatially averaged
	estimates for the sub-catchment).
COPDAN	Monthly APAN adjustment factors (e.g. to adjust Penman-Monteith evaporation
CORFAN	estimates to APAN equivalent evaporation).
EFRDEP	Effective soil depth for colonisation by plant roots.
SMDDED	Effective soil depth from which storm flow generation takes place (set to topsoil
SNIDDLF	depth).
QFRESP	Storm flow response fraction for the catchment (set to 0.30).
COFRU	Base flow recession constant (set to 0.009).

**Table 33**Key parameters and variables in ACRU that influence rainfall/runoff response

Mean annual runoff estimates are extremely sensitive to rainfall input, especially in high intensity rainfall areas (Schulze, 1995). Therefore, it cannot be over-emphasised that great

care must be taken when deriving the monthly adjustment factors (i.e. *CORPPT* variable). These factors are applied to point rainfall data (observed at a rainfall recording station) to improve its representativeness of "average" catchment conditions (Schulze, 1995).

If CORPPT > 1, it indicates that the sub-catchment's rainfall is higher than the station's rainfall. Similarly, CORPPT < 1 suggests that the sub-catchment's rainfall is consistently lower than that of the driver rainfall station. Similarly, the *SMDDEP* parameter also exhibited extreme sensitivity in areas with shallow soils and high rainfall intensities.

Monthly *CORPAN* factors are necessary since *ACRU* is an APAN driven agrohydrological model, despite the fact that FAO56 (i.e. the Penman-Monteith) has become the *de facto* reference evaporation since 1998. Furthermore, Schulze (1995) suggested that when in doubt, CAY values should be over-estimated rather than under-estimated.

The effective rooting depth (*EFRDEP*) is used to determine the thickness of soil which is "active" in the soil water budget as well as the maximum depth that roots can "extract" water. It is assumed to be the total soil depth (i.e. sum of depth of A- and B-horizon depths), with no impeding layer which restricts root growth (e.g. stone lines, plough or hard pans).

The effective soil depth which is considered to be contributing to storm flow generation is specified by the parameter *SMDDEP* in *ACRU*. This depth accounts for the different dominant runoff producing mechanisms which may vary in different climates, as well as with land use, tillage practice, litter/mulch cover and soil conditions.

#### 4.2.1.2 Land cover/use

Land cover and land use affect hydrological responses through canopy and litter interception, infiltration of rainfall into the soil and the rates of soil water evaporation and transpiration from the vegetation layer. The key parameters and variables that account for land cover/use are shown in **Table 34**. *CONST, COIAM, CAY (or ELAIM), VEGINT* and *ROOTA* should be the minimum set of parameters specified for each land use type.

For most situations, Schulze (1995) recommends that transpiration and soil water evaporation are calculated as separate components (i.e. EVTR = 2). Variables such as *PCSUCO* and *COLON* are only valid when EVTR = 2. This means that soil water evaporation is higher for EVTR = 1 as there is no suppression due to the presence of a soil cover (i.e. crop residue). However, transpiration should be lower when EVTR = 1, but overall, *AET* should be similar for both *EVTR* values.

In *ACRU*, the variable *COIAM* takes cognisance of surface roughness (e.g. after ploughing) and initial infiltration before storm flow commences. Higher values of *COIAM* under forests, for example, reflect enhanced infiltration while lower values on grassland in summer months are the result of higher rainfall intensities (and consequent lower initial infiltrations) experienced during the thunderstorm season.

Table 34	Rey parameters and variables in ACAD that account for land cover/use
Variable	Definition
FOREST	Option to simulate enhanced canopy evaporation above forest canopies.
EVTR	Option for estimation of total evaporation as an entity or by soil water
	evaporation and plant transpiration computed separately.
	Fraction of plant available water at which plant stress sets in. The plant's
CONST	physiological characteristics determine the onset of wilting in response to drier
	soil conditions.
	The coefficient of the initial abstraction, which accounts for vegetation, soil
COLAM	surface and climate influences on storm flow generation. This monthly
00// 00/	coefficient is used to estimate the rainfall abstracted by interception, surface
	storage and infiltration before storm flow commences.
	A monthly consumptive water use (or "crop") coefficient, which reflects the ratio
CAY	of water use by vegetation under conditions of freely available soil water to the
	evaporation from a reference surface (e.g. APAN equivalent).
FLAIM	Monthly leaf area index (LAI) values. Can be used to calculate monthly
	interception losses and/or determine the crop's consumptive water use.
	Monthly interception loss values, which can change during a plant's annual
VEGINT	growth cycle. They estimate the magnitude of rainfall that is intercepted by the
	plant's canopy on a rainy day.
	The fraction of plant roots that are active in extracting soil moisture from the A-
ROOTA	horizon in a given month. This fraction is linked to root growth patterns during a
	year and periods of senescence brought on, for example, by a lack of soil
	moisture or by frost.
	Extent of colonisation of plant roots if the B-horizon. Determines the amount of
	water that may be extracted by the plant from the B-Horizon. Hence, this
COLON	variable reflects the extent to which the subsoil is "colonised" by roots.
	Total evaporation from the B-horizon is suppressed by the fraction COLON/100.
	Default in ACRU: 100%.
	The fraction (expressed as a %) of the soil surface covered by a mulch or litter
PCSUCO	layer. This layer suppresses soil water evaporation. However, 20% of the soil
	water evaporation still takes place with 100% cover. Default in ACRU: 0%.

Table 24 Key parameters and variables in ACRU that account for land cover/use

While the living roots of a crop can withdraw water from the soil profile, the majority of water uptake occurs where the density of roots is greatest. Where root concentrations are high, the water held in the soil can be removed more easily and at a faster rate than it can where root concentrations are low (Schulze, 1995). Information on rooting distribution is provided using two variables in ACRU, viz. ROOTA and COLON. The values used to assess the water use of various biofuel feedstocks is presented in the sections that follow.

#### 4.2.2 Rainfall/runoff

In this section, a new method is proposed to estimate A-pan equivalent evaporation. The method is called the PENPAN equation, which was originally developed by Linacre (1994). Evaporimeters are mainly used to determine the effect of climate on the evaporation from open water surfaces such as dams and lakes. According to Allen et al. (1998), pans integrate the effect of radiation, temperature, humidity and wind on free water evaporation. The authors recommended that evaporimeters should be installed inside a short green cropped area that is at least 15 by 15 m in size. The pan should not be installed in the centre, rather at a distance of at least 10 m from the green crop edge in the general upwind direction.

#### 4.2.2.1 The need for pan coefficients

Pan coefficients are influenced by the pan's geometry. In *ACRU*, the Class A evaporimeter (or A-pan) is used to drive various evaporation processes in the hydrological cycle. This pan is commonly used in South Africa and is different to the micro-pans used mainly in China. McVicar *et al.* (2007, p. 209) showed that pan coefficients derived for Chinese micro-pans are lower than Class A-pan coefficients, but with a seasonal range being similar to that of an A-pan.

Pans have also been used to estimate the evaporation loss from vegetated surfaces. For example, pan coefficients ( $K_p = ET_o/E_p$ ) allow evaporation from pans ( $E_p$ ) to be used for estimating reference crop evaporation ( $ET_o$ ) for periods of 10 days or longer (but preferably every 30 days, i.e. monthly). Although evaporation from a vegetated surface is largely governed by the same climatic factors affecting open water (and pan) evaporation, several factors explain why  $K_p$  values are not unity (i.e. 1). For a 10 m fetch of short green crop, Allen *et al.* (1998) provided pan coefficients which ranged from 0.45 to 0.85.  $K_p$  increases with rising humidity values and decreasing wind speeds (i.e.  $K_p$  was highest at high humidity and low wind speed).  $K_p$  also increases with increasing green fetch distance, especially at low humidity levels. If the pan is surrounded by dry fallow conditions,  $K_p$  varied from 0.45 to 0.85 to 0.85 for a 10 m dry fetch.  $K_p$  was also highest at high humidity and low wind speed. However,  $K_p$  decreased with increasing dry fetch distance.

In *ACRU*, the reciprocal of the pan coefficient (i.e.  $E_p/ET_o$ ) is used to adjust Penman-Monteith reference crop evaporation estimates ( $ET_o$ ) to A-pan equivalent values ( $E_p$ ), since the model is driven by the latter (and now outdated) evaporation reference. This adjustment varies monthly (usually higher in winter) and spatially. For a 10 m fetch, typical *CORPAN* values would range from 1.18 to 2.22. In general,  $K_p < 1$  and *CORPAN* > 1, indicating evaporation rates from a vegetated surface are less than that from pans.

Owing to the uncertainty regarding pan coefficient calculations, a possible solution is to adopt an "average" *CORPAN* value (e.g. 1.15 or 1.20) for all months and all locations. However, a review of pan coefficients in the literature (e.g. McVicar *et al.*, 2007; McMahon *et al.*, 2013) revealed that values vary both spatially and seasonally. Pan coefficients are particularly sensitive to the microclimate and in particular the wind speed and humidity level. As noted earlier, the geometry of the pan also affects the coefficient. Hence, locally calibrated pan coefficients are preferred, but unfortunately, beyond the scope of this study.

#### 4.2.2.2 Previous CORPAN values

Various techniques have been published in the literature to determine pan coefficients ( $K_p$ ). For example, Cuenca (1989) and Snyder (1992) proposed empirical equations which use mean daily wind speed relative humidity as well as upwind fetch to estimate  $K_p$ . Allen *et al.* (1998) provided similar regression equations to estimate  $K_p$  from wind speed, relative humidity and fetch distance, for both a green and dry fetch. These equations were programmed and tested against Example 22 given on page 86 of Allen *et al.* (1998). **Equation 35** produces a  $K_p$  value of 0.83 for a green fetch distance (*FD*) of 1 000 m, a wind speed (*u*) of 1.9 m s<sup>-1</sup> and mean RH (*RH*<sub>ave</sub>). Thus, the corresponding *CORPAN* value required by the *ACRU* model is 1.20 (i.e. 1/0.83).

 $K_p = 0.108 - 0.0286u + 0.0422\ln(FD) + 0.1434\ln(RH_{ave}) - 0.000631[\ln(FD)]^2 \cdot \ln(RH_{ave})$ 

#### **Equation 35**

Assuming a fetch of 200 m for a typical A-pan in South Africa (Schulze, *pers. comm.*), values of  $E_p/ET_o$  (i.e.  $1/K_p$ ) were estimated for each quinary sub-catchment using the revised temperature and evaporation database. The results in **Table 35** show higher *CORPAN* values for a dry fetch, due to the greater evaporative demand of the drier, hotter air moving over the pan's water surface. The range in monthly values is also higher for the dry fetch, compared to that of the green fetch. As noted earlier, there is a slight increase in *CORPAN* values in winter (April - September) compared to summer.

Month	Green fetch of 200 m		Dry fetch	of 200 m
wonth	Range	Mean	Range	Mean
January	1.18-1.38	1.25	1.42-1.90	1.61
February	1.18-1.38	1.24	1.42-1.91	1.61
March	1.18-1.34	1.24	1.43-1.83	1.60
April	1.19-1.33	1.25	1.44-1.81	1.62
May	1.19-1.32	1.25	1.45-1.79	1.64
June	1.19-1.39	1.26	1.45-1.93	1.66
July	1.19-1.38	1.26	1.45-1.91	1.65
August	1.19-1.36	1.27	1.45-1.88	1.67
September	1.19-1.38	1.27	1.44-1.90	1.68
October	1.19-1.36	1.26	1.43-1.87	1.65
November	1.18-1.39	1.26	1.43-1.92	1.65
December	1.18-1.38	1.25	1.43-1.90	1.63

Table 35	Monthly CORPAN values $(1/K_p)$ calculated for each of the 5 838 quinary sub-
	catchments assuming a green and dry fetch of 200 m and no bird screen

In previous studies, a decision was made to adopt the more conservative *CORPAN* values derived for a green fetch. Although a green fetch of 1 000 m produces lower *CORPAN* values (e.g. range = 1.17 to 1.34; mean = 1.23 for November), this fetch buffer was considered unrealistic for A-pans in South Africa. The histogram of monthly *CORPAN* values across all quinary sub-catchments calculated for a green fetch of 200 m shows that 79.9% of values range from 1.23 to 1.29 (**Table 110** in **APPENDIX M**). However, 15.4% of all monthly *CORPAN* values exceed 1.29.

An alternative method was sought to estimate *CORPAN* values in order to verify the range observed in the above table. Snyder *et al.* (2005) also developed a set of empirical equations relating unscreened Class A-pan evaporating to reference crop evaporation, using the upwind grass fetch. According to Snyder *et al.* (2005), the method is suitable for semi-arid conditions and would require calibration for humid or windier climates. For this reason, the technique was not considered in this study.

Linacre (1994) developed an equation to provide A-pan equivalent evaporation by modifying an equation he developed in 1993 (Linacre, 1993) for open water evaporation. This equation is termed the *PENPAN* equation and is discussed next.

#### 4.2.2.3 Linacre's PENPAN equation

Linacre developed an equation to estimate open water evaporation, which was based on the original Penman (1948) equation. In other words, Linacre made a number of assumptions in order to simplify the Penman equation. For example, Penman's net energy term ( $R_n$ ) was simplified to ( $0.80 \cdot R_s - 40$ ) W m<sup>-2</sup> which is based on a lake albedo (a) of about 0.07. Linacre assumed a constant net longwave radiation loss ( $R_n$ ) of 40 W m<sup>-2</sup>. The aerodynamic term accounts for the transfer of heat from the evaporating surface to the overlying atmosphere. Linacre (1993) simplified this term to  $2.5 \cdot F \cdot u(T - T_d)$ , where F is calculated as ( $1.0 - z \cdot 8.7/10^5$ ), u is the mean wind speed at height 2 m in m s<sup>-1</sup>. Furthermore, ( $T - T_d$ ) is the difference between mean air temperature (T) and the dew point temperature ( $T_d$ ). At higher altitudes, the thinner air results in less advective heat transfer. This is taken into consideration using F, which proportionally decreases the air density ( $\rho$ ) with elevation (z in metres). Finally, Linacre's (1993) equation to estimate open water evaporation is given as:

$$E_{dam} = (0.015 + 0.00042T + z/10^6)[0.8R_s - 40 + 2.5F \cdot u(T - T_d)]$$
 Equation 36

with temperatures (*T*, *T<sub>d</sub>*) in °C, *F* derived from elevation (*z*) in meters, incoming solar radiation (*R<sub>s</sub>*) in W m<sup>-2</sup> and wind speed (*u*) in m s<sup>-1</sup>, to give evaporation estimates in mm day<sup>-1</sup>. Linacre also developed an equation to estimate (*T* - *T<sub>d</sub>*) from daily temperature extremes, which he used to simplify the calculation of the vapour pressure deficit (*D*).

Linacre then modified the above equation to give A-pan equivalent evaporation, which involved taking into consideration the geometry of the circular pan since it affects both solar irradiance and advective heat transfer. For example, the energy term ( $R_n$ ) was simplified to (0.71 $R_s$  - 40) W m<sup>-2</sup> which is based on a water albedo ( $\alpha$ ) of about 0.14. This term was derived as the available energy "halfway" between the respective values for water (0.8 $R_s$  - 40) and green vegetation (0.63 $R_s$  - 40), with the latter derived for an albedo of 0.22 representing short grass.

Assuming an advective heat transfer of 2.5u (taken from **Equation 36**), Linacre (1994) combined this with a convective heat transfer coefficient (*h*) of  $4 \cdot u$  W m<sup>-2</sup> to estimate an effective coefficient for the entire pan as 5.9u W m<sup>-2</sup>. This was calculated from [( $1.15 \cdot 2.5$ ) +  $(0.97 \cdot 4)u$ ]/1.15 which takes into account the pan's geometry. The US Class A-pan is 1.21 m in diameter and a wall height of 255 mm, which equates to a water surface area of  $1.15 \text{ m}^2$  and an outside area of is  $0.97 \text{ m}^2$ . Finally, Linacre's (1993) equation to estimate A-pan equivalent evaporation is given as:

$$E_{pan} = [0.71R_s - 40 + 5.9F \cdot u(T - T_d)] / (28.4 + 68.2 \cdot \gamma / \Delta)$$
 Equation 37

with temperatures (*T*, *T<sub>d</sub>*) in °C, *F* derived from elevation (*z*) in meters, incoming solar radiation ( $R_s$ ) in W m<sup>-2</sup> and wind speed (*u*) in m s<sup>-1</sup>, to give pan evaporation estimates in mm day<sup>-1</sup>. In the above equation, (0.71 $R_s$  - 40) represents the net energy available at the pan's evaporating surface. However, Linacre (1994) argued that this term must accommodate the additional energy (i.e. heat) which is transferred through the pan's outer wall.

#### 4.2.2.4 Outgoing longwave radiation

Linacre assumed a constant net longwave radiation loss ( $R_{nl}$ ) of 40 W m<sup>-2</sup> (or 3.46 MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) when estimating the evaporative loss from an A-pan. The daily net longwave radiation values ( $R_{nl}$ ) calculated for each month across all quinaries are given in **Table 36**. The monthly means are higher in winter than compared to summer. This is expected in the summer rainfall regions of South Africa, since there is less cloud cover during the winter months. However, the mean values are above 3.46 MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>, which indicates that Linacre's simplification of the net radiation term results in slighter higher evaporation estimates (and higher *CORPAN* factors, particularly in the winter months).

Month	Daily net longwave radiation (MJ m <sup>-2</sup> day <sup>-1</sup> )			
	Range	Mean		
January	0.50 - 7.26	3.98		
February	0.38 - 7.09	3.93		
March	0.60 - 6.31	4.07		
April	0.82 - 6.23	4.42		
May	1.34 - 6.71	4.86		
June	1.67 - 7.71	5.34		
July	1.81 - 7.82	5.10		
August	1.60 - 7.34	4.88		
September	0.94 - 7.23	4.69		
October	0.61 - 6.56	4.07		
November	0.59 - 7.00	4.05		
December	0.55 - 6.99	4.41		

**Table 36**Daily net longwave radiation ( $R_n$ ) calculated monthly for each of the 5 838quinary sub-catchments using Equation 39 of Allen *et al.* (1998; p 52)

The histogram of  $R_{nl}$  values across all quinary sub-catchments is given in **Table 37**. The results show that there are no negative net longwave radiation values as this was corrected (c.f. **Section 5.5.2.3**).

Table 37	Histogram of	f daily net	longwave radiation	ا ( <i>R<sub>nl</sub></i> ) across all ا	5 838 quinaries
----------	--------------	-------------	--------------------	--	-----------------

R <sub>nl</sub>	Count	% of total	Accum. %
< 0.00	0	0.00	0.00
0.00 - 1.00	90	0.13	0.13
1.00 - 2.00	815	1.16	1.29
2.00 - 3.00	4525	6.46	7.75
3.00 - 4.00	17254	24.63	32.38
4.00 - 5.00	24431	34.87	67.25
5.00 - 6.00	18548	26.48	93.73
6.00 - 7.00	3913	5.59	99.31
7.00 - 8.00	480	0.69	100.00
> 8.00	0	0.00	100.00
Total	70 056	100.00	

The distribution is bell-shaped with the majority (86%) of values between 3 and 6 MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>. This highlights Linacre's average value of 3.46 MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> is a good approximation for only 24.6% of all quinary sub-catchments. Based on these results, the decision to ignore the "default" value of 40 W m<sup>-2</sup> and replace it with calculated  $R_{nl}$  values is well justified.

Based on the above analysis, a decision was made to ignore the "default" value of 40 W m<sup>-2</sup> in **Equation 37** and replace it with calculated values. Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) also ignored Linacre's (1994) assumption of a fixed value for net longwave radiation irradiance, arguing it "seems too inflexible for climate-change studies". Hence, Linacre's equation for an A-pan is re-written as:

$$E_{pan} = [0.71R_s - R_{nl} + 5.9F \cdot u(T - T_d)] / (28.4 + 68.2 \cdot \gamma/\Delta)$$
 Equation 38

#### 4.2.2.5 Augmentation of incoming solar radiation

There are two main sources of heat absorption through the pan's outer wall, namely via advection from the wind and from incoming solar radiation. This regard to the latter, there are four factors to consider:

- exposure of the wall to direct sunshine,
- diffuse radiation from the sky onto the wall,
- solar radiation reflected onto the wall from the ground below, and
- longwave radiation from the surroundings.

In order to estimate the contribution of direct radiation, Linacre (1994) developed a pan radiation factor (P) as a function of latitude (A in degrees decimal) such that:

$$P = 1.32 + A \cdot 4 / 10^4 + A^2 \cdot 8 / 10^5$$

# The fraction of $R_s$ that is direct depends on the cloudiness *C*. Linacre (1994) assumed that *F* was proportional to the fraction of the sky that is not covered by cloud, e.g. 0.9(1 - C/8). From Linacre (1993), *C* is defined as the average number of eighths of the sky occupied by cloud at the time of observation (called oktas), which can be estimated from $C = (0.85 - R_s/R_a)/0.047$ . Combining these two equations produces:

$$F = -1.14 + 2.39 \cdot R_s / R_a$$
 Equation 40

**Equation 39** 

which does not match that given by Linacre (1994) as  $(-1.5 + 2 \cdot R_s / R_a)$ . The range in  $R_s / R_a$  from 0.47 (*C*=8) to 0.85 (*C*=0) is wider than that suggested by Allen *et al.* (1998) of 0.25 to 0.75. In this study, the lower limit of  $R_s / R_a$  was set to 0.23, which means the above equation produces a negative *F* value, which is meaningless. It was therefore decided to replace Linacre's equation with one used by McMahon *et al.* (2013) and Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) as follows:

#### $F = -0.11 + 1.31 \cdot R_s / R_a$ Equation 41

where *F* ranges from 0.22 to 0.87 for  $0.23 \le R_s / R_a \le 0.75$ . Linacre (1994) stated that the pan's outer wall is equally exposed to the sky above and the ground below. Thus, the diffuse radiation from the sky above equates to 0.5(1 - F), which is then adjusted by the pan's wall area, relative to its water area (i.e. 0.97/1.15). This equates to 0.42(1 - F).

Linacre (1994) estimated the reflection of solar irradiance ( $R_s$ ) from the pan's surroundings onto the pan's wall as  $0.42\alpha$  (where  $\alpha$  is the albedo of ground surface, i.e.  $\approx 0.22$  for grass; 0.30 for bare soil). He then combined the direct, diffuse and reflected radiation terms to derive the following relationship:

$$H = F \cdot P + 1.42(1 - F) + 0.42\alpha_s$$
 Equation 42

The three terms in the above equation account for direct, diffuse and reflected radiation respectively. Thus, the incoming solar radiation is augmented by the above fraction. When the sky is completely overcast,  $R_s/R_a$  is about 0.25, *F* is 0.22 and the above equation solves to a factor of 1.50 for a pan surrounded by short green grass (i.e.  $\alpha_s = 0.22$ ), irrespective of location. When the sky is clear,  $R_s/R_a$  is about 0.75 and *F* solves to 0.87 and the radiation augmentation factor varies from 1.47 to 1.52 for the latitude range 22°S (*P*=1.37) to 35°S (*P*=1.43).

A histogram showing Linacre's monthly averaged augmentation factor (*H*) across all quinaries (i.e.  $5\,838\,x\,12 = 70\,056$  values) is given in **Table 38**. The majority of values (85%) occur in the range 1.49 - 1.51, indicating that the incoming shortwave irradiance reaching the pan (*H*·*R*<sub>s</sub>) is 1.5 times the global solar irradiance (*R*<sub>s</sub>) due to the pan's geometry.

C	quinalies calculated using <b>Equation 42</b> with $u_s = 0.2$				
Ī	Н	Count	% of total	Accum. %	
Ī	1.47	390	0.56	0.56	
ľ	1.48	4907	7.00	7.56	
ľ	1.49	18295	26.11	33.68	
ľ	1.50	18912	27.00	60.67	
Ī	1.51	22349	31.90	92.57	
Ī	1.52	5203	7.43	100.00	
	Total	70 056	100.00		

**Table 38**Histogram of monthly averaged solar radiation augmentation (*H*) across all<br/>5 838 quinaries calculated using **Equation 42** with  $\alpha_s = 0.22$ 

The figures given in the above table for South Africa are comparable to those for Australia (due mainly to the similar latitudes of both countries). Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) reported that the augmentation ranged from 1.46 in the far north of Australia to 1.54 over Tasmania (with the surround albedo also set to 0.22). Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) indicated that the increase in shortwave irradiance relative to that at the ground is substantial. Thus, the adoption of Linacre's augmentation factor will significantly affect the calculation of *ACRU's CORPAN* variable.

4.2.2.6 Net energy available for pan evaporation

The ratio of the net energy available to an A-pan ( $R_{np}$ ) compared to that for a reference grass ( $R_{nr}$ ) was discussed by Shuttleworth (2010). He defined this ratio as:

$$\frac{R_{np}}{R_{nr}} = \frac{(1-\alpha_p)R_s - R_{nl}}{(1-\alpha_r)R_s - R_{nl}}$$
 Equation 43

where  $\alpha_p$  and  $\alpha_r$  are the albedo values of the A-pan (= 0.14) and reference grass (= 0.23) respectively. Ignoring  $R_{nl}$  in the above equation (i.e.  $R_{nl} = 0$ ), the ratio  $(R_{np} / R_{nr})$  equates to 1.12. Shuttleworth (2010) varied  $R_s$  between 100 and 500 W m<sup>-2</sup> and  $R_{nl}$  from 0 to 100 W m<sup>-2</sup> and concluded that, for the majority of likely climatic conditions,  $(R_{np} / R_{nr})$  varies from 1.10 and 1.20, with 1.15 being the "mid-range" value.

Thom *et al.* (1981) developed their wind function for an A-pan using measurements taken at the University of Grenoble (France) during the autumn of 1979. The A-pan was surrounded by clipped, freely transpiring, but non-irrigated grass cover. Thom *et al.* (1981) showed that the measured net energy available for pan evaporation was 1.31 times that observed for the surrounding (but non-irrigated) grass cover. This figure does not agree with Shuttleworth's (2010) argument that the net energy ratio approximates 1.15. The approach taken by Shuttleworth (2010) accounts for differences in albedo, but does not acknowledge the additional energy that is absorbed through the pan wall which Linacre (1994) proposed. For example, Riley (1966; cited by Linacre, 1994) reported a 29% reduction in evaporation if the wall and base on the pan are insulated.

Linacre's (1994) net solar radiation term  $0.71H \cdot R_s$  for an A-pan solves to  $1.07R_s$  using a median value of 1.50 for *H* (c.f. **Section 4.2.2.5**). For a reference grass, the net solar radiation term ( $R_{ns}$ ) is  $0.77R_s$  and thus, the ratio  $1.07R_s / 0.77R_s$  equates to 1.39 (assuming  $R_{nl}$  is zero). When computed  $R_{nl}$  is considered, the actual minimum  $R_{ns}$  value is 1.41. This is well outside the range (1.1 - 1.2) proposed by Shuttleworth (2010) and higher than the ratio (of 1.31) measured by Thom *et al.* (1981). This may suggest that the *PENPAN* equation may tend to over-estimate PAN-equivalent evaporation.

## 4.2.2.7 Augmentation of longwave radiation

Linacre (1994) also proposed an additional longwave irradiance from the ground into the sides of the pan in "dry" (i.e.  $P < 2.5T_{ave}$ ) months. When Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) applied this adjustment, they found that the *PENPAN* equation tended to over-estimate  $E_p$ . Based on this, the authors omitted the adjustment, arguing that Linacre (1994) unrealistically assumed that the pan wall radiates as a black body. In this study, the suggested augmentation of longwave radiation was also ignored.

## 4.2.2.8 The modified PENPAN equation

Linacre (1994) referred to his simplified version of the Penman equation for A-pan equivalent evaporation (i.e. **Equation 38**) as the "*PENPAN*" Equation. He showed the equation gave excellent agreement between measured and calculated monthly pan evaporation for a limited number of sites in Australia, but also for sites in the US (Wyoming), South Africa (Cedara) and Hong Kong.

Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) used a modified version of the *PENPAN* model to estimate monthly Apan equivalent evaporation rates driven by GCM output. Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) combined Linacre's (1994) augmented solar irradiance component (**Equation 42**) with an aerodynamic component described by Thom *et al.* (1981). The wind function given by Thom *et al.* (1981; Equation 34 on p 723) for an A-pan is as follows:

$$f(u) = 0.1201(1 + 1.35u)$$

 $f(u) = 1.39/10^8(1 + 1.35u)$ 

where f(u) is in mm day<sup>-1</sup> hPa<sup>-1</sup> and u is the daily averaged wind speed in m s<sup>-1</sup>. Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) provided the same equation but in SI units (Eqn 3 on p L17715) as:

#### Equation 45

Equation 44

where f(u) is in kg m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> Pa<sup>-1</sup> and u is m s<sup>-1</sup>. This equation provides the rate of pan evaporation in kg m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> which is equivalent to mm s<sup>-1</sup>. It is multiplied by (60.60.24.100) to adjust the evaporation rate to mm day<sup>-1</sup>, with pressure in hPa (or mb) as provided by **Equation 44**. McMahon *et al.* (2013) used:

$$f(u) = 1.201 + 1.621u$$
 Equation 46

where f(u) is in mm day<sup>-1</sup> kPa<sup>-1</sup> and u is the daily averaged wind speed in m s<sup>-1</sup>.

Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) also recommended a monthly time step so that heat storage in the pan's water can be neglected. Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) obtained very good agreement between measured monthly and annual pan evaporation for Australian sites when using observed radiation, wind speed, humidity and air temperature data. However, they reported the equation tends to overestimate  $E_p$  for smaller values of  $E_p$ . The authors also adjusted the modelled output by 0.93 to suppress the evaporation (by 7%) caused by a bird guard or screen.

Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) adopted the same albedo values used by Linacre (1994), i.e.  $\alpha_s$  of 0.22 to represent a short, green grass surrounding the A-pan and 0.14 for the pan's water surface. However, the noticeable difference in their approach was in the calculation of net irradiance ( $R_n$ ). Linacre (1994) used (0.71H· $R_s$  - 40), whereas Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) adopted (0.86H· $R_s$  -  $R_{nl}$ ). The constant 0.86 represents the absorption of solar irradiation by the pan's water surface (i.e. 1 - 0.14). The difference between 0.71 and 0.86 will have a large impact on calculated evaporation values. Note that the replacement of 40 W m<sup>-2</sup> with calculated values was discussed earlier. The *PENPAN*-type equation used by Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) is as follows:

$$\lambda E_p = \frac{\Delta R_n + \lambda a \gamma D f(u)}{\Delta + a \gamma}$$

#### Equation 47

where f(u) is a wind function derived from Thom *et al.* (1981). The "constant" *a* represents the ratio of the effective surface areas for heat and water vapour transfer. Linacre (1994) derived a value of 2.4 from the resistance values [i.e. (200+280)/200], with other values given in **Table 39**. Thom *et al.* (1981) derived a = 2.1 by considering the total area of heat exchange between the pan and the atmosphere, in relation to the surface area. Hence, a

value of 1 is assigned to the water surface, with the outside wall being 0.85 (i.e. 0.97/1.15 m<sup>2</sup>) and 0.25 for the base of the pan (i.e. 1.00 + 0.85 + 0.25 = 2.10). It assumes that heat exchange between the pan's base and the underlying air occurs on 50% of the area not resting on wooden planks (i.e.  $0.50 \times 0.5 = 0.25$ ).

Parameter a	Source
2.5	Kohler <i>et al.</i> (1955)
2.1	Thom <i>et al</i> . (1981)
2.4	Linacre (1994)
2.4	Rotstayn <i>et al</i> . (2006)
2.75	Rayner (2007)
2.4	Roderick et al. (2007)
2.4	Johnson and Sharma (2010)
2.4	McMahon <i>et al</i> . (2013)

**Table 39**The ratio of effective surface areas for heat and water vapour transfer (a) for<br/>the Class A evaporation pan

4.2.2.9 CORPAN derived using the PENPAN equation

McMahon *et al.* (2013) provided a concise summary of commonly used techniques for estimating daily and monthly actual, potential, reference crop and pan evaporation. The form of the *PENPAN* equation given by McMahon *et al.* (2013) and Roderick *et al.* (2007) for unscreened A-pan evaporation was used in this study, namely:

$$E_p = \frac{\Delta}{\Delta + a\gamma} \frac{R_n}{\lambda} + \frac{a\gamma}{\Delta + a\gamma} \frac{E_a}{1}$$

#### **Equation 48**

where  $E_a$  is the aerodynamic term  $f(u) \cdot D$ . Equation 46 (from Thom *et al.*, 1981) was used for the wind function and the vapour pressure deficit (*D*) was calculated as per Allen *et al.* (1998) in kPa. Since *u* is set to 2 m s<sup>-1</sup> in this study, f(u) is constant at 4.44 mm day<sup>-1</sup> kPa<sup>-1</sup>. Parameter *a* was set to 2.4 to per **Table 39**. Net radiation was estimated according to the procedure determined by Linacre (1994), i.e.  $R_n = 0.71 \text{H} \cdot R_s - R_{nl}$ . Hence, the version of  $R_n$ adopted by Rotstayn *et al.* (2006) was not used in this study, i.e.  $R_n = 0.86 \text{H} \cdot R_s - R_{nl}$ .

The procedure was then repeated with constant *a* in **Equation 48** set to 2.1. From **Table 40**, the analysis showed that the *PENPAN* equation is sensitive to this parameter, affecting the range of *CORPAN* values, more so than the mean. Based on this, the decision was made to select 2.4 as the value for parameter *a*, which represents the ratio of effective surface areas for heat and water vapour transfer (c.f. **Table 39**).

Table 40Monthly CORPAN values  $(1/K_p)$  calculated for each of the 5 838 quinary sub-<br/>catchments using a modified version of the PENPAN equation with parameter<br/>a set to 2.4 and 2.1

Month	a = 2	.4	<i>a</i> = 2.1		
Month	Range	Mean	Range	Mean	
January	1.18 - 1.45	1.34	1.26 - 1.44	1.37	
February	1.17 - 1.47	1.35	1.25 - 1.45	1.37	
March	1.20 - 1.46	1.36	1.27 - 1.44	1.38	
April	1.22 - 1.46	1.39	1.28 - 1.45	1.40	
May	1.27 - 1.49	1.42	1.32 - 1.47	1.42	
June	1.32 - 1.51	1.43	1.36 - 1.48	1.43	
July	1.31 - 1.50	1.42	1.35 - 1.47	1.42	
August	1.25 - 1.44	1.38	1.31 - 1.43	1.39	
September	1.20 - 1.43	1.37	1.27 - 1.41	1.38	
October	1.17 - 1.42	1.34	1.25 - 1.41	1.36	
November	1.17 - 1.44	1.34	1.25 - 1.42	1.36	
December	1.18 - 1.44	1.33	1.26 - 1.43	1.36	

With parameter *a* set to 2.4, 75.5% of the *CORPAN* values used in this study range from 1.32 to 1.42 as shown in **Table 41**. The empirical equation provided by Allen *et al.* (1998) in **APPENDIX M** was used to derive *CORPAN* adjustments for the original quinary catchment climate database (Schulze *et al.*, 2011), where 75.6% of the values ranges from 1.09 to 1.18 (**Table 109**). Thus, the modified *PENPAN* equation produces higher monthly A-pan equivalent evaporation estimates than the Linacre (1994) equation. Given that the *PENPAN* equation is a more physically-based approach to estimating *CORPAN*, the empirical equation may tend to under-estimate A-pan equivalent evaporation.

CORPAN	Count	% of total	Accum %
1 17	2		
1 1 2	10	0.00	0.00
1 10	10	0.01	0.02
1.19	13	0.02	0.04
1.20	12	0.01	0.03
1.21	10	0.02	0.07
1.22	10	0.02	0.09
1.23	50	0.03	0.14
1.24	121	0.08	0.22
1.25	204	0.17	0.39
1.20	204	0.29	0.09
1.27	68/	0.30	2.16
1.20	1288	1.84	2.10
1.29	2028	2.80	4.00
1.30	3075	2.09 // 30	11 28
1.31	3060	4.39	16.95
1.32	4263	5.07 6.09	23.03
1.33	4203	6.47	23.03
1.34	5220	7.46	29.30
1.35	5678	8 10	45.07
1.30	5666	8.00	53 15
1.37	5371	7.67	60.82
1.30	5001	7.07	68.09
1.00	4821	6.88	74 97
1.40	4442	6.34	81 31
1.41	3821	5 45	86.76
1.12	2940	4 20	90.96
1.10	2302	3 29	94 25
1.45	1605	2.29	96.54
1.46	1077	1.54	98.07
1.47	704	1.00	99.08
1.48	384	0.55	99.63
1.49	192	0.27	99.90
1.50	61	0.09	99.99
1.51	8	0.01	100.00
Total	70 056	100.00	

**Table 41**Histogram of monthly CORPAN values across all 5 838 quinaries using a<br/>modified version of the PENPAN equation with  $R_n = 0.71 H \cdot R_s - R_{nl}$ 

#### 4.2.2.10 Verification of the *PENPAN* equation

A number of studies (e.g. Rotstayn *et al.*, 2006; Roderick *et al.*, 2007; Johnson and Sharma, 2010; McMahon *et al.*, 2013) have used the *PENPAN* equation to estimate PAN-equivalent evaporation in Australia. These studies used  $R_n = 0.86H \cdot R_s - R_{nl}$  for the pan's net radiation term, which is different to that adopted in this project (i.e.  $R_n = 0.71H \cdot R_s - R_{nl}$ ). Thus, monthly pan evaporation estimates would be higher (as well as *CORPAN* adjustments) if the Australian version of  $R_n$  was used here.

Rotstayn *et al.* (2006), Johnson and Sharma (2010) as well as McMahon *et al.* (2013) reported that the *PENPAN* equation tends to over-estimate A-pan evaporation, particularly for lower monthly evaporation totals. These studies suppressed the monthly *PENPAN*-modelled evaporation by 7% to account for the shading effect of bird screens, before comparing with observed A-pan data. However, McMahon *et al.* (2013) calculated monthly ratios of *PENPAN* evaporation ( $E_{pp}$ ; screened) for 68 sites across Australia. They found the averaged  $E_{pp} / E_p$  ratio to be 1.078 as shown in **Figure 31**, which highlights the tendency of the *PENPAN* equation to over-estimate A-pan evaporation. Hence, McMahon *et al.* (2013) also recommended that computed *PENPAN* evaporation is downward adjusted by a further 7% to account of this bias.



**Figure 31** Comparison of monthly *PENPAN* evaporation and Class-A pan evaporation for 68 climate stations in Australia (McMahon *et al.*, 2013)

McMahon *et al.* (2013) highlight the importance of appropriately specifying the microclimate around a pan in order to estimate representative pan coefficients and hence, reference crop evaporation estimates. For example, pans surrounded by poor grass cover or dry bare soil are exposed to higher air temperatures and lower relative humidity levels, which increases the evaporation rate (Doorenbos and Pruitt, 1983).

McMahon *et al.* (2013) provided data for six Australian sites, from which  $K_p (ET_o / E_p)$  and *CORPAN* ( $E_p/ET_o$ ) were estimated. From **Table 42**,  $E_p$  exceeds  $ET_o$  by a factor ranging from 1.28 to 1.60.

Table 42	Comparison of annual Class A-r 2010), for six site	computed F pan evapora s in Australia	AO56 referent tion ( $E_{\rho}$ ; for a (McMahon	ence crop the period <i>et al</i> ., 2013	evaporatic January 1 )	on ( <i>ET<sub>o</sub></i> ) 979 to M	with arch
	Location	<i>ET</i> <sub>o</sub> (mm)	<i>E<sub>p</sub></i> (mm)	$ET_o/E_p$	$E_p/ET_o$		
	Dorth	1 567	2 000	0.75	1 22		

Location	<i>⊏1</i> ₀(mm)	<i>⊏</i> <sub>p</sub> (mm)	$EI_0/E_p$	
Perth	1 567	2 090	0.75	1.33
Darwin	1 823	2 548	0.72	1.40
Alice Springs	2 012	3 210	0.63	1.60
Brisbane	1 427	1 937	0.74	1.36
Melbourne	1 361	1 757	0.77	1.29
Grove	770	987	0.78	1.28

This evidence highlights the importance of determining pan coefficients for local conditions. Based on these figures, it appears that *CORPAN* values well above 1.2 are justified. This concurs with calculations made using data monthly provided by Sumner and Jacobs (2005).

Sumner and Jacobs (2005) measured actual evapotranspiration  $(ET_a)$  from a pasture site within a commercial farm in Florida (USA) over a 17-month period. ET measurements were made in the pasture using eddy correlation (three-dimensional sonic anemometer and krypton hygrometer). A nearby weather station provided Class A-pan evaporation data as well as climate data, from which reference crop evaporation was computed. The data were used to compute pan coefficients and *CORPAN* values as shown in **Table 43**. The results highlight the range in monthly *CORPAN* ( $E_p/ET_o$ ) adjustments.

**Table 43**Class A pan evaporation  $(E_p)$  and computed reference crop evaporation  $(ET_o)$ <br/>over a 15-month period (no evaporation data for two months; Sumner and<br/>Jacobs (2005)

YYYY/MM	<i>ET</i> <sub>o</sub> (mm)	$E_{\rho}$ (mm)	ET <sub>o</sub> /E <sub>p</sub>	$E_p/ET_o$
2000/10	3.12	4.33	0.72	1.39
2000/11	2.11	2.77	0.76	1.31
2001/01	1.59	1.91	0.83	1.20
2001/02	2.62	3.37	0.78	1.29
2001/03	3.10	4.64	0.67	1.50
2001/04	4.15	6.33	0.66	1.53
2001/05	4.91	6.81	0.72	1.39
2001/06	4.97	6.22	0.80	1.25
2001/07	4.23	5.16	0.82	1.22
2001/08	2.97	4.02	0.74	1.35
2001/09	2.67	3.89	0.69	1.46
2001/10	2.09	3.05	0.69	1.46
2001/11	1.70	2.19	0.78	1.29
2001/12	1.65	2.06	0.80	1.25
2002/01	2.23	2.93	0.76	1.31

#### 4.2.2.11 APAN adjustment factor

If monthly crop coefficients are derived using FAO56 as the reference (as is the case in this study), they must be adjusted before being used as model input. FAO56 reference evaporation is less than APAN evaporation, due mainly to differences in albedo and wind turbulence above these two reference surfaces. FAO56 assumes a hypothetical grass surface with an albedo of 0.23, whereas a value of 0.14 is suggested by Linacre (1992) for an APAN. Furthermore, the aerodynamic resistance to wind over an evaporimeter (small, flat water body) is different to that of a short (0.12 m tall) grass surface. Finally, there is an additional resistance to water moving through the plant's stomata as well as other resistances to water evaporating from the soil surface. Hence, FAO56 evaporation was adjusted to APAN evaporation using a monthly multiplicative factor. This factor was based on an estimate of APAN equivalent evaporation derived using the so-called *PENPAN* equation.

#### 4.2.3 Land cover/use

## 4.2.3.1 Crop coefficient

The crop coefficient accounts for differences in the canopy and aerodynamic resistances of the crop being simulated, relative to the reference crop. In other words,  $K_c$  serves as an aggregation of the physical and physiological differences between crops and takes into account canopy properties and the aerodynamic resistance of the crop (Taylor *et al.*, 2008). The *ACRU* model uses the single crop coefficient which is calculated as the ratio of maximum evaporation ( $E_m$ ) from the plant at a given stage of plant growth, to the reference crop evaporation ( $E_r$ ). Hence, the dual crop coefficient approach (Allen *et al.*, 1998) is not used, which separates evaporation of soil water from vegetation transpiration.

The monthly crop coefficients (called *CAY* in *ACRU*) determine other secondary functions in the model, such as providing a basis for interception of rainfall and the extent of coverage (or shading) of the soil surface by plant leaves. The monthly crop coefficients used to estimate the water use of each feedstock is summarised **Volume 1**. However, generalised crop coefficient values are provided in the following section. The parameters should be considered a strong simplification of reality since the variability of growing characteristics between different crops and also between varieties of the same crop is large.

#### Published crop coefficients

Crop coefficient curves should be compared against published values and differences should be described, explained and justified. Allen *et al.* (1998) provided crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for non-stressed, well-managed crops in sub-humid climates ( $RH_{min} \approx 45\%$ ,  $u_2 \approx 2 \text{ m s}^{-1}$ ) for use with FAO Penman-Monteith method. The relative length of each crop development stage as well as typical crop coefficient values are provided in **Table 44** for potential biofuel feedstock crops.

**Table 44**Length of each crop development stage (L) as a fraction of the whole growing<br/>period as well as crop coefficient ( $K_c$ ) for the initial period (ini), crop<br/>development (dev), mid-season (mid) and end of season (end) periods (Allen<br/>et al., 1998)

Crop class	Relative length of crop development stage					Crop coefficients		
Crop class	L <sub>ini</sub>	L <sub>dev</sub>	L <sub>mid</sub>	L <sub>end</sub>	K <sub>c ini</sub>	$K_{c mid}$	K <sub>c end</sub>	
Maize	0.17	0.28	0.33	0.22		1.20	0.35	
Millet	0.14	0.21	0.39	0.25		1.00	0.30	
Sorghum -	0.16	0.29	0.22	0.24		1.10	0.55	
grain		0.20	0.32					
Sorghum -						1 20	1.05	
sweet						1.20	1.05	
Soybean	0.14	0.25	0.43	0.18		1.15	0.50	
Sunflower	0.19	0.27	0.35	0.19		1.15	0.35	
Cassava	0.10	0.19	0.43	0.29	0.30	0.80	0.30	
Sugarbeet	0.28	0.22	0.28	0.22	0.35	1.20	0.70	
Canola						1.15	0.35	
Sugarcane -	0.09	0.15	0.47	0.30	0.40	1 25	0.75	
virgin		0.15	0.47	0.30	0.40	1.20	0.75	
Sugarcane -	0.00	0.09 0.25	0.48	0.18				
ratoon	0.09	0.20	0.40	0.10				

In **Table 45**, Portmann *et al.* (2010) produced three generalised crop coefficients for 26 crop classes using the MIRCA2000 data set, as well as the length of each crop development stage as a fraction of the growing period. The crop coefficient values were defined according to guidelines by Allen *et al.* (1998).

**Table 45**Length of each crop development stage (L) as a fraction of the whole growing<br/>period as well as crop coefficient ( $K_c$ ) for the initial period (ini), crop<br/>development (dev), mid-season (mid) and end of season (end) periods<br/>(Portmann *et al.*, 2010)

Crop class	Relative length of crop development stage				Crop coefficients		
Crop class	L <sub>ini</sub>	L <sub>dev</sub>	L <sub>mid</sub>	L <sub>end</sub>	K <sub>c ini</sub>	K <sub>c mid</sub>	K <sub>c end</sub>
Maize	0.17	0.28	0.33	0.22	0.30	1.20	0.40
Millet	0.14	0.22	0.40	0.24	0.30	1.00	0.30
Sorghum	0.15	0.28	0.33	0.24	0.30	1.10	0.55
Soybean	0.15	0.20	0.45	0.20	0.40	1.15	0.50
Sunflower	0.19	0.27	0.35	0.19	0.35	1.10	0.25
Cassava	0.10	0.20	0.43	0.27	0.30	0.95	0.40
Sugarbeet	0.20	0.25	0.35	0.20	0.35	1.20	0.80
Canola	0.30	0.25	0.30	0.15	0.35	1.10	0.35

The length of each crop development stage (L) as a fraction of the crop growing period corresponds with that shown in **Figure 32**. As a general rule-of-thumb, the change from the initial to the crop development stage occurs when the canopy cover is approximately 10%. Similarly, the mid-season growth stage occurs between 70 to 80% canopy cover (Schulze, 1995).



Figure 32 Development of the crop coefficient curve based on parameters listed in Table 44 and Table 45 (Siebert and Döll, 2010)

#### 4.2.3.2 Leaf area index

Leaf Area Index is the ratio of total upper leaf surface of vegetation divided by the surface area of the land on which the vegetation grows. LAI is a dimensionless value, typically ranging from 0 for bare ground to 6 for a dense forest.

In *ACRU*, it is optional (although hydrologically desirable) to utilise LAI as a growth/consumptive water use parameter, rather than the crop coefficient concept. The user needs to provide typical monthly values (called *ELAIM*) via the menu or daily values (*ELAID*) via the composite file. The 12 monthly values of crop coefficient (*CAY*) or leaf area index (*ELAIM*) are converted internally in *ACRU* to 365 (or 366 for leap years) daily values using Fourier analysis.

#### 4.2.3.3 Interception loss

Shuttleworth (2007) defined interception loss as the difference between the gross rainfall (measured above the canopy or in a nearby clearing) and net rainfall (the sum of through fall and stem flow measured below the canopy at ground level). The problem with troughs placed below the canopy to measure through fall is the systematic error introduced with wetting the surface troughs, resulting in under-estimated interception losses.

According to Savenije (2004), interception is one of the most under-estimated processes in analysis of runoff production from rainfall. The international literature (Calder, 1990; Beven, 2001; Bulcock and Jewitt, 2012) Field data collection and analysis of canopy and litter interception in commercial forest plantations in the KwaZulu-Natal Midlands, South Africa has shown that evaporation of water intercepted by the vegetation's canopy can be a significant component of the water balance in certain environments. The evaporation of intercepted water occurs immediately after the rainfall event, usually on the same day in warm climates or within a day if cooler conditions prevail. For example, Shuttleworth (1993) observed that half of the evaporation of intercepted water occurred during the storm itself. If

a significant portion of the energy available for evaporation (i.e. latent heat) is consumed by intercepted water, then less energy is available for the evaporation of transpired water as well as soil water.

Shuttleworth (1993) also stated that evaporation of water intercepted by forest stands can often exceed the rate of open water evaporation, owing to the role of turbulence in enhancing the evaporation process. Shuttleworth (2007) highlighted the need for separate modelling of the transpiration and interception components, especially for wet forest canopies. Based on this recommendation, interception loss will be modelled for the biofuel feedstocks studied in field experiments.

The monthly interception losses (called *VEGINT* in *ACRU*) represent the amount of rainfall that is evaporated after a rainfall event. In *ACRU*, it is assumed that rainfall events occur in the late afternoon. Hence, rainfall stored by the land cover's canopy is evaporated the following morning, thus reducing the evaporation demand (which governs the potential evapotranspiration rate). The monthly *VEGINT* values used in this study for each feedstock are summarised in **Volume 1**.

In this project, the initial intention was to use the variable storage Gash model (Bulcock, 2011) to estimate interception loss for each feedstock. This model requires daily climate data as well as monthly leaf area indices for each feedstock. However, this approach was abandoned because *ACRU* does not include the evaporation of intercepted water as part of total evaporation from the crop surface. Hence, total evaporation (i.e. actual evapotranspiration) is the sum of transpired water and water evaporated from the soil surface (and excludes evaporation of intercepted water). Furthermore, stream flow estimated using the *ACRU* model is only slightly sensitive to changes in monthly *VEGINT* values (Schulze, 1995; p AT23-6).

#### 4.2.3.4 Soil depth

*ACRU* is a two soil horizon hydrological model requiring soils information for both the topsoil (A-horizon) and subsoil (B-horizon). *ACRU* requires the thickness (in metres) of both the topsoil (*DEPAHO*) and subsoil (*DEPBHO*) horizons. *ACRU* also requires the effective total rooting depth (*EFRDEP*), defaulted to *DEPAHO* + *DEPBHO*. The effective rooting depth is used to determine the thickness of soil which is "active" in the soil water budget and the maximum depth that roots can "extract" water.

The proportion of active roots (**Section 4.2.3.5**) and the degree of colonisation of roots (**Section 4.2.3.6**) in each soil horizon are commonly used to describe rooting patterns. These two variables indicate from where within the soil profile, the vegetation is able to extract its soil moisture and are discussed next in more detail.

#### 4.2.3.5 Rooting distribution

Soil water extraction under rainfed conditions takes place simultaneously from both soil horizons and in proportion to the assumed active rooting mass distributions within the respective horizons. The *ACRU* model requires the fraction of active root mass in the topsoil horizon and since it varies seasonally, 12 typical monthly values are needed (*ROOTA*). The corresponding fraction of roots in the subsoil-horizon is then computed by *ACRU* (Schulze, 1995). During periods of plant senescence or when no active root water update occurs (for

example, in bare fallow or ploughed situations), the topsoil root fraction is set at 1.00, designating that effectively soil water evaporation from only the topsoil layer, and no transpiration, takes place.

In this study, the rooting distribution was not varied monthly for the perennial crops (especially for ratooned sugarcane) as well as for the shallow-rooted annual feedstocks, e.g. sugarbeet and soybean. For the deeper-rooted annual feedstocks, the fraction of roots in the A-horizon was based on field observations from the trial series. The values were decreased over the growing season to reflect root elongation into the B-horizon, especially for feedstocks with a long tap root system (e.g. sunflower). The monthly *ROOTA* values used in this study for each feedstock are summarised in **Volume 1**.

## Published rooting depths

The rooting depth of irrigated and rainfed biofuel feedstocks is provided in **Table 46** (Portmann *et al.*, 2010). They do not represent the effective rooting depth which is often limited by soil characteristics that impede root development such as stone lines. The table also shows the reduction is potential rooting depth that typically results from irrigation.

Crop	Rooting depth (m)			
Стор	Irrigated	Rainfed		
Sugarcane	1.2	1.8		
Soybean	0.6	1.3		
Sunflower	0.8	1.5		
Canola	1.0	1.5		

Table 46	Typical rooting depths of biofuel feedstocks grown under irrigated and rainfed
	conditions (Portmann <i>et al</i> ., 2010)

## 4.2.3.6 Root colonisation

While all the living roots of a crop can withdraw water from the soil profile, the majority of water uptake occurs where the density of roots is greatest. Where root concentrations are high, the water held in the soil can be removed more easily and at a faster rate than it can where root concentrations are low.

Root colonisation may be defined as that fraction of the soil matrix under consideration to which roots have ready access to any soil moisture available in that horizon (Schulze, 1995). In *ACRU*, it is assumed that the topsoil is 100% colonised, i.e. roots can utilise/extract all soil water stored in the A-horizon. Hence, the variable *COLON* in *ACRU* represents the root colonisation of the B-horizon. However, colonisation of the subsoil is difficult to characterise given the paucity of root data under farming conditions in South Africa. If no values are input, *ACRU* uses a default value of 100%. Total evaporation (actual evaporation) from the B-horizon is reduced if roots do not colonise the entire subsoil horizon (reduction is by the fraction *COLON*/100). It can be assumed that as *ROOTA* decreases, *COLON* increases. The average depth of the B-horizon for all 5 838 quinaries is 0.338 m.

#### 4.2.3.7 Surface cover fraction

The *ACRU* model is particularly sensitive to this variable (*PCSUCO*), which represents the surface cover beneath the vegetative canopy that can suppress evaporation of soil water stored in the top 10 cm of the soil profile. Surface covers such as mulching layers, litter layers and crop residues (e.g. sugarcane or maize stover) can significantly suppress soil water evaporation if they completely cover the soil surface (e.g. cover fraction = 100%). However, 20% of the soil water evaporation still takes place with 100% cover (the default in *ACRU* is 0%). The values used in the model runs for *PCSUCO* are summarised in **Volume** 1. It is important to note that this variable does not taken into consideration the shading effects of the vegetative canopy.

#### 4.2.3.8 Onset of water stress

The parameter *CONST* in *ACRU* represents the fraction of plant available water (PAW) at which total evaporation is assumed to drop below maximum evaporation, i.e. the onset of plant water stress. The value provides an indication of the plant's susceptibly to water or drought stress. Thus, values approaching zero indicate the plant is drought tolerant. Schulze (2011) noted at *CONST* is typically set to 0.5 for most vegetation types.

#### 4.2.3.9 Coefficient of initial abstraction

The coefficient of initial abstraction (*COIAM*), is a term used in the SCS storm flow equation. It refers to the initial amount of rainfall that does not contribute to the generation of storm flow because of the processes of initial infiltration, interception or temporary surface storage in hollows. The default value is *ACRU* is 0.2, but is increased to over 0.3 in months when the soil is ploughed or under afforested conditions. Thus, this variable indicates the infiltrability into the soil profile. Low values during the wet season will result in more rainfall being converted to runoff, i.e. low *COIAM* equates to low infiltration and therefore greater runoff (Smithers and Schulze, 1995).

## 4.3 Yield Parameters (AQUACROP)

#### 4.3.1 Model evaluation: Terminology

In essence, a model is a simplified representation of a real world system. For example, *AQUACROP* is a simplified interpretation of the effects of water stress on crop productivity. The key challenge is to show the model can realistically predict observations, but more importantly, for the right reasons (Augusiak *et al.*, 2014). In order to trust the model's output for decision making purposes, it is important to show the model is not "built on oversimplified and unrealistic assumptions about natural processes" (Pilkey and Pilkey-Jarvis, 2007). The first step involves using a mechanistic-type model, which is considered superior to a statistical- or descriptive-type model. The second step is to calibrate, validate and verify the selected mechanistic model.

Calibration is an iterative process of refining model parameters until the output meets specified performance criteria, i.e. the model is capable of mimicking a predefined dataset (Augusiak *et al.*, 2014). Model validation often refers to the comparison of model output against an independent dataset that was not used to calibrate the model (Augusiak *et al.*, 2014). Model verification determines whether the model implements the assumptions correctly and that the model is error-free (Sargent, 2011).

According to Farahani *et al.* (2009), a model is initially parameterised for a new crop. Thereafter, the model is calibrated where certain model parameters are adjusted to make the model match the measured values at the given location. Hence, parameterisation is a higher-level adjustment of specific model parameters than calibration. However, Farahani *et al.* (2009), noted that these two terms are used interchangeably in some literature. In this document, the term "parameterisation" refers to the development of a new crop parameter file, which was not undertaken in this study. The term "calibration" refers to the "tweaking" of specific parameter values to improve the outcome of yield simulations.

Sinclair and Seligman (2000) noted that validation is a demonstration that model output more or less fits a set of observed data. However, the process is not necessarily a sufficient indication of validity, particularly when the validation was undertaken after calibration. Thus, validation does not imply universality, where a calibrated model can be readily applied to all scenarios where the crop has, is and will be grown. The development of a universal crop model has proven to be elusive and is inspired by its major benefit, i.e. to relieve the need for laborious field experimentation (Bowen *et al.*, 1973).

Scientists have argued that a model can give the right answers, but for the wrong reasons. For example, Oreskes and Belitz (2001) noted that a combination if incorrect input parameters and process representations can still result in good agreement between modelled and observed data. Others (e.g. Shugart, 1984) have argued that models cannot be validated, only falsified. Hence, decision makers should be confident in a model's appropriateness for application if the model that has yet to be falsified.

According to Augusiak *et al.* (2014), a major obstacle in determining whether a model represents the real world sufficiently well is the confusion caused by terminology used to evaluate model performance. The confusion arises due to the use of ambiguous terms such as validation and verification (Refsgaard and Henriksen, 2004). In practice, verification often overlaps (or blends into) validation (Ormerod and Rosewell, 2006). If a comparison of measured data with modelled data suggests that model predictions are similar to real world observations, then the mechanistic model is assumed to be both a verified implementation of the assumptions made and a valid representation of the real world system. In addition, the terms validation and verification have not been used consistently in the literature, since the understanding of these terms varies amongst scientific authors. Augusiak *et al.* (2014) recently proposed a new set of terminology for evaluating the performance of a model as follows:

- Data evaluation critical assessment of both quantitative (i.e. numerical) and qualitative (i.e. expert knowledge) data to be used to design, parameterise and calibrate a model.
- Model analysis (i.e. sensitivity analysis) assessment of 1) how sensitive model output is to changes in model parameters and 2) how well the emergence of model output has been understood.
- Model output verification (i.e. calibration) critical assessment of 1) how well model output matches observations and 2) to what degree calibration and effects of environmental drivers were involved in obtaining good fits of model output and data.

- Model output corroboration (i.e. validation) the comparison of model output with independent data that were not used whilst the model was developed, parameterised and verified.
- Implementation verification (i.e. verification) critical assessment of 1) the model's computer code to check for errors (including bugs and oversights) and 2) whether the model performs as indicated by its description.

Without the availability of appropriate and accurate datasets, a model cannot be conceptualised, built, parameterised, validated and verified. Augusiak *et al.* (2014) pointed out that data quality is determined by measurement errors (e.g. quality of instruments used; frequency of calibration, data logging interval, etc.), experimental design (e.g. choice of sampling site; sample sizes, etc.), as well as and natural heterogeneity and variability inherent in all environmental systems. In addition, experimental data are typically measured for one site over a particular period, which represents only one of the many states of the ecosystem (Augusiak *et al.*, 2014).

If model calibration required the "fine-tuning" of a large number of parameters, the higher the risk that successful verification was enforced by unrealistic parameter combinations, i.e. the model produced a representative outcome, but from a combination of factors which does not occur in the real-world system. A sensitivity analysis identifies subsets of parameters that have strong effects on the model outputs. The aim is to understand the model and thus avoid drawing the wrong conclusions from model output. Model evaluations which do not include a sensitivity analysis, are therefore considered too limited (Augusiak *et al.*, 2014).

In terms of model output corroboration, the emphasis on new, independent datasets is important because it minimises the risk that the model has been "tweaked" to do the right thing for the wrong reasons. Modellers usually resort to comparing model output with data that already exists, but were not used by the modeller. An ideal form of new data pertains to results of new and specifically designed experiments, which are then used to validate model output. This step strengthens a model's credibility by showing that the model is capable of predicting systems that could not have influenced the model's development (Augusiak *et al.*, 2014).

## 4.3.2 Data evaluation

Sugarcane yield data for eight different planting dates (from 1990 to 1991) was obtained from SASRI. This La Mercy dataset forms part of the Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project, or AgMIP (Rosenzweig *et al.*, 2013). In brief, AgMIP is a major international effort linking the climate, crop, and economic modelling communities with cutting-edge information technology in order to produce, *inter alia*, improved crop and economic models and the next generation of climate impact projections for the agricultural sector.

Sugarbeet yield data was sourced from the third trial undertaken at Ukulinga in 2013. Soybean yield data measured at Baynesfield Estate was obtained from WRC Project K5/2066 (Mengistu *et al.*, 2014). These datasets were used to calibrate the *AQUACROP* model. Two additional datasets derived at Pongola (1968 to 1971) and Komatipoort (2011 to
2012) were then used to validate the calibrated model for sugarcane and sugarbeet respectively.

### 4.3.3 Model output verification

The crop parameters files used in this study were obtained from different sources as indicated in **Table 47**. It must be noted that for canola and grain sorghum, the parameterisation was not carried out in South Africa, but is assumed to be applicable to local growing conditions.

Сгор	Location	Country	Year	Source	
Canala	Pincher Creek	Canada	Linknown	Kienzle	
Carlola	Alberta	Canada	UTIKITOWIT	(2015)	
Canala	Swift Current	Canada		Kienzle	
Carloia	Saskatchewan	Canada	UTIKITOWIT	(2015)	
Sugarboot	Ukulinga	South Africa	05/2013-	Mokonoto	
Sugarbeet	KwaZulu-Natal	South Anica	12/2013	(2015)	
Sugarcane	La Mercy	South Africa	06/1989-	Mokonoto	
	KwaZulu-Natal	South Anica	12/1990	(2015)	
Souboon	Baynesfield	South Africa	10/2012-	Moyo and	
Subbean	KwaZulu-Natal	South Anica	04/2013	Savage (2014)	
Maize	Baynesfield	South Africa	11/2012-	Moyo and	
	KwaZulu-Natal	South Anica	04/2013	Savage (2014)	
	Bushland	LISA	05/1002	AOUACROP	
	Texas	USA	00/1990	AQUACAUP	

**Table 47**Source of crop parameter files used in study

Crop models like AQUACROP already have default parameter values (derived from model parameterisation) for simulating outputs such as crop yield, water use and water use efficiency. However, calibrating a crop model that can incorporate local conditions and management practices is necessary to assess impacts and adaptability to a changing environment climate across various spatial scales. According to Vanuytrecht *et al.* (2014) and this FAO publication<sup>14</sup>, AQUACROP's default crop parameters should be "fine-tuned" for local conditions (i.e. calibrated) and ideally, for non-limiting growing conditions (i.e. no soil water or soil fertility stress). Steduto *et al.* (2012; Table 2 on p 44) also recommended that the following crop parameters should be adjusted for each cultivar to reflect local conditions, *viz.*:

- planting date,
- planting density,
- maximum canopy cover (varies with plant density and cultivar),
- maximum rooting depth ( $Z_{max}$ ),
- the time required to reach  $Z_{max}$ ,
- response to soil fertility,
- reference harvest index and
- length of certain phenological growth stages (cultivar specific).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> <u>http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/aquacrop\_exd\_crop.pdf</u>

The following sub-sections list the parameters that were adjusted in order to improve the simulation of crop yield for local growing conditions. For all crops, the planting date, maturity date and planting density were adjusted to reflect local growing conditions. However, calibrations that are more detailed were carried out for sugarbeet and sugarcane as described below.

#### 4.3.3.1 Sugarcane

Although AQUACROP is parameterised for sorghum, the overall "goodness" of the parameterisation is not described by Raes *et al.* (2012c; c.f. Annex I). The AQUACROP model was originally parameterised for sugarcane with the assistance of SASRI in 2009 using a dataset derived at La Mercy from June 1989 to December 1990. The reader is referred to Steduto *et al.* (2012; *c.f.* Section 3.4; p 174-183) for a description of sugarcane and its parameter values. A decision was made to calibrate AQUACROP using the La Mercy trial data. This exercise was also conducted by Mokonoto (2015) and the reader is again referred to his dissertation for more detail.

Differences in parameter values obtained from the original La Mercy parameterisation and the calibration done by Mokonoto (2015) are shown in **Table 48**. The difference in plant type (leafy vegetable *vs.* root/tuber crop) requires further explanation. *AQUACROP* is currently restricted to herbaceous species and simulates yield of fruit/grain crops, leafy vegetables as well as root/tuber crops. According to Vanuytrecht *et al.* (2014), the modelling of forage crops is currently underway at FAO. Alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) was selected as the test crop, since good experimental data are readily available for testing and parameterisation.

	Mokonoto	Raes et al.
Parameter	(2015)	(2012c)
Туре	Calibration	Parameterisation
Plant group	root/tuber	leafy vegetable
Planting method	Transplanted	Transplanted
Determination of crop cycle length	Thermal	Calendar
Temperature range (°C) for:		
Crop development	13-30	09-32
Pollination	-	08-40
Crop cycle length (GDD)	3150	-
Minimum temperature required for full biomass		
production (°C - day)	10	12
Soil water depletion factor for canopy expansion:		
Upper threshold	0.25	0.25
Lower threshold	0.60	0.55
Soil water depletion factor for canopy expansion:		
Upper threshold	0.98	0.90
Crop coefficient when canopy is complete	1.15	1.10
Decline of crop coefficient (% per day)	0.30	0.15
Soil surface area covered by an individual seedling at		
90% emergence (cm <sup>2</sup> )	10.0	6.50
Number of plants per hectare	133 000	140 000
Canopy growth coefficient		
Fraction per calendar day	0.029050	0.125480
Fraction per growing-degree day	0.004205	-
Maximum canopy cover	0.90	0.95
Canopy decline coefficient:		
Fraction per calendar day	0.010280	0.076150
Fraction per growing-degree day	0.002222	-
Reference Harvest Index (%)	65	35
Allowable maximum increase of specified HI (%)	20	-
Building up of Harvest Index		
Starting at root/tuber enlargement (days)	279	73
During yield formation (GDD)	2255	-
Transplanting to recovered transplant (days/GDD)	015/0040	007/-
Transplanting to maximum rooting depth (days/GDD)	204/1154	060/-
Transplanting to start senescence (days/GDD)	439/2914	330/-
Transplanting to maturity (days/GDD)	490/3150	365/-
Transplanting to start of flowering/yield formation (days/GDD)	130/0541	000/-

Table 48Differences between AQUACROP's default parameterisation for sugarcane<br/>and the local calibrated version (La Mercy in 1989)

#### 4.3.3.2 Sugarbeet

Although *AQUACROP* is parameterised for sugarbeet (Raes *et al.*, 2012c; c.f. Annex I), the overall "goodness" of the parameterisation is described as minimal. Crop growth data were obtained from Foggia (41°27'N; 15°35'E, at 90 masl) in southern Italy for March (i.e. Spring) 2000 (Rinaldi and Vonella, 2006). Foggia's climate is described by Rinaldi and Vonella (2006) as hot summers with temperatures exceeding 40°C and A-pan evaporation above 10 mm day<sup>-1</sup>. Temperatures in winter drop below 0°C and most of the annual rainfall (mean of 550 mm) is concentrated during the winter months. Thus, the sugarbeet experiment was irrigated and fertilised to determine yield under non-limited growing conditions.

It is unknown why the spring 2000 growth data was used to calibrate *AQUACROP*, when the autumn 2001 dataset produced superior tuber and sugar yields (Rinaldi and Vonella, 2006). In addition, Foggia represents a winter rainfall area. Hence, a decision was made to calibrate *AQUACROP* using the data from the sugarbeet trial planted at Ukulinga in May 2013. This exercise was conducted by Mokonoto (2015), who is currently finalising his MSc dissertation. The reader is referred to his dissertation for more detail, with a summarised version given next for convenience.

A transplanting of sugarbeet seedlings was undertaken at Ukulinga in May 2013. An automatic weather station situated near the sugarbeet trial was used to measure daily climatic variables such as rainfall, minimum and maximum temperature, minimum and maximum relative humidity, solar radiation, wind speed and wind direction. These variables were then used to compute reference crop evaporation ( $ET_o$ ) using the Penman-Monteith equation as described in Allen *et al.* (1998).

Soil samples taken at various depths were used to estimate (using laboratory-based techniques) soil texture and the soil water retention parameters as well as the soil's saturated hydraulic conductivity. A LI-COR portable leaf area meter (Model LI-3100C) was used to measure the area of 10 randomly selected sugarbeet seedlings in order to determine the  $CC_o$  parameter (i.e. the canopy cover of the crop at 90% emergence). The  $Z_{min}$  (minimum effective rooting depth) parameter was also obtained by measuring the roots of the selected seedlings. A LI-COR plant canopy analyser (model LAI-2200) was used to measure leaf area index weekly until the maximum value was reached (thereafter, bi-weekly measurements were taken). An equation provided by Hsiao et al. (2009) for maize was used to convert LAI measurements to canopy cover estimates in order to obtain  $CC_x$  (the maximum canopy cover and the time to reach it). Similar canopy cover values were also obtained using an equation provided by García-Vila et al. (2009) as shown in Table 108 (APPENDIX G). A Minolta chlorophyll meter (Model SPAD 502) was used to measure leaf chlorophyll content in order to determine the start of crop senescence. The  $Z_{max}$  (maximum effective depth) parameter was obtained using a mini-rhizotron camera (i.e. non-destructive sampling method). Destructive sampling was used to measure the difference between fresh and oven-dried plant material (i.e. leaf, stem and tuber). Final biomass, yield and the harvest index (HI) were determined at harvest time in December 2013 (i.e. 189 DAP). Finally, a Campbell Scientific time domain reflectometer system (TDR100 model) was used to measure the volumetric water content of the soil, which was then compared to the simulations done by the model.

The measurements described above were then used to calibrate the *AQUACROP* model for sugarbeet grown in South Africa, which is considered superior than using the parameterisation performed at Foggia in Italy. Differences in parameter values obtained from the Foggia and Ukulinga calibrations of sugarbeet are shown in **Table 49**. The table highlights the number of parameters that were adjusted to improve the performance of the model for local conditions. It must be noted that the Foggia experiment was sown, whereas the Ukulinga trial was transplanted.

Table 49Differences between AQUACROP's default parameterisation for sugarbeet<br/>(Foggia, Italy in 2000) and the local calibration (Ukulinga, South Africa in<br/>2013)

Parameter	Ukulinga	Foggia
	(05/2013)	(03/2000)
Туре	Calibration	Parameterisation
Planting method	Transplanted	Sown
Crop cycle length (GDD)	2394	2203
Soil water depletion factor for canopy expansion:		
Upper threshold	0.10	0.20
Lower threshold	0.45	0.60
Minimum effective rooting depth (m)	0.20	0.30
Soil surface area covered by an individual seedling		
at 90% emergence (cm <sup>2</sup> )	5.00	1.00
Number of plants per hectare	66 000	100 000
Canopy growth coefficient		
Fraction per calendar day	0.058010	0.120690
Fraction per growing-degree day	0.005105	0.010541
Maximum canopy cover	0.84	0.98
Time to reach maximum canopy (GDD)	1625	916
Canopy decline coefficient:		
Fraction per calendar day	0.051000	0.054990
Fraction per growing-degree day	0.003540	0.003857
Building up of Harvest Index		
Starting at root/tuber enlargement (days)	121	93
During yield formation (GDD)	1569	1301
Sowing to emergence (GDD)		23
Transplanting to recovered transplant (GDD)	45	
Sowing/transplanting to maximum rooting depth	925	109
(GDD)	020	400
Sowing/transplanting to start senescence (GDD)	1861	1704
Sowing/transplanting to maturity (crop cycle length in	2204	2202
GDD)	2394	2203
Sowing/transplanting to start of tuber formation (GDD)	825	865

### 4.3.3.3 Sorghum

Although AQUACROP is parameterised for sorghum, the overall "goodness" of the parameterisation is not described by Raes *et al.* (2012c; c.f. Annex I). The calibration was undertaken using data obtained from Bushland (Texas, USA) for May 1993. In this study, the

*SWB* model was only parameterised for grain sorghum (and sweet sorghum). As explained earlier, the *SWB* model is not suitable for multiple runs due to its design and thus could not be used for yield estimation at the national scale. Owing to time constraints, the *AQUACROP* was not calibrated for grain sorghum. Hence, no adjustments were made to the *AQUACROP* parameter file for this crop.

#### 4.3.3.4 Maize

Although AQUACROP is parameterised for maize, the overall "goodness" of the parameterisation is described by Raes *et al.* (2012c; c.f. Annex I) as good. However, since maize is currently excluded as a biofuel feedstock due to food security concerns, a national simulation was not carried out.

### 4.3.3.5 Soybean

Although *AQUACROP* is parameterised for soybean (Raes *et al.*, 2012c; c.f. Annex I), the overall "goodness" of the parameterisation is described as medium. The parameterisation was undertaken using data obtained from Patancheru (India) for June 1996. A soybean parameter file was obtained from Mabhaudhi (2015). It is based on observations of crop yield and water use (total evaporation) undertaken at Baynesfield Estate (near Richmond) in KwaZulu-Natal. This 9 300 ha farm produces maize, soybean, sugarcane and avocados. The farm typically rotates maize and soybean, with the land lying fallow in-between each rotation. According to Mengistu *et al.* (2014), the Baynesfield climate is classified as sub-humid with dry and cool winters and warm and rainy summers. Mean monthly air temperatures range from a maximum of 21.1°C in January to a minimum of 13.3°C in June. The mean annual precipitation is 844 mm and the predominant wind direction is easterly.

**Table 50** highlights the slight adjustments made to three crop parameters based on yield observations at Baynesfield Estate during the 2012/13 crop season. This emphasises the robustness of the model. This is echoed by Vanuytrecht *et al.* (2014) who added that realistic simulations of maize production were achieved in three different countries using the default model parameters (with minor or no adjustments).

Table 50	Slight	differences	between	AQUACROP's	default	parameterisation	for
	soybea	an (Patanche	ru, India) a	nd the local calib	ration (B	aynesfield in 2012/	13)

Parameter	Baynesfield (11/2012)	Patancheru (06/1996)
Туре	Calibration	Parameterisation
Number of plants per hectare	328 947	330 000
Canopy growth coefficient (fraction per calendar day)	0.10497	0.10569
Reference harvest index (%)	45	40

The reference harvest index (HI) represents the portion of crop biomass that produces the yield, i.e. the portion containing either sugar, starch or vegetable oil that is converted into biofuel. The model adjusts the reference HI depending on the level of water and/or temperature stress experienced during the crop growth cycle. However, Steduto *et al.* (2012) warned that the reference harvest index should not be altered without good reason, because

changing this value requires the re-calibration of the parameters modulating water stress effects on HI.

### 4.3.3.6 Canola

In this project, the intention was to use the *SWB* model to simulate canola yield since version 4.0 of the *AQUACROP* model does not have a default crop parameter file for canola. However, the *SWB* model cannot be run in "batch mode" which means that model runs must be done manually. A decision was then made to use *AQUACROP* instead of *SWB* for estimates of canola yield. However, the FAO version of *AQUACROP* is not packaged with a parameter file for canola.

Since canola was not studied in the field as part of this research project, a parameter file was sourced from Canada. According to Kienzle (2015), Pincher Creek is cooler and wetter than the Swift Current location (i.e. warmer and drier in comparison). Hence, growing conditions at Pincher Creek were assumed to be representative of winter canola grown in the Western Cape region using a medium-season cultivar. On the other hand, the Swift Creek calibration was assumed to represent a short-season cultivar which would typically be harvested just before the start of spring. Kienzle (2015) noted that the canola parameter file was recently run for a total of 10 584 simulations to provide spatial estimates of yield using nine years of daily climate data.

The planting density in the canola parameter files obtained from Canada was set to 2 500 000 plants per hectare (i.e. 250 plants per m<sup>2</sup>). This very high value was queried since the Canola Council of Canada<sup>15</sup> recommends a target population of 70-100 plants per m<sup>2</sup> to maximise yield potential. In addition, 200 or more plants per square metre produces very thin stems and pods mostly at the top of the plants. Thus, plants are more likely to lodge, which can create a suitable micro-environment for diseases such as *Sclerotinia*. A decision was made to reduce the planting density to 350 000 and 250 000 sph for the Pincher Creek and Swift Current canola parameter files respectively (**Table 51**). These values were based on recommendations by Fouché (2012) of 20 to 40 plants per m<sup>2</sup> for dryland conditions (50-70 plants per m<sup>2</sup> under irrigation). Since the parameter file for Swift Current (Saskatchewan, Canada) is based on a short growing season, the plant population was decreased to reduce competition for available resources.

Table 51	Modifications made to the canola parameter file for Pincher Creek and Swift
	Current to better represent local conditions

Parameter	Pincher Creek	Swift Current	
Number of plants per hectare (original)	2 500 000	2 500 000	
Number of plants per hectare (modified)	350 000	250 000	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> <u>http://www.canolacouncil.org/canola-encyclopedia/crop-establishment/plant-population/</u> <u>http://www.canolacouncil.org/canola-encyclopedia/crop-establishment/seeding-rate/</u>

### 4.3.4 Model output corroboration

Two additional datasets derived at Pongola (1968 to 1971) and Komatipoort (2011 to 2012) were then used to validate the parameterised model for sugarcane and sugarbeet respectively.

### 4.3.5 Model analysis

A sensitivity analysis to model input was conducted using sugarbeet and sugarcane. These two crops were selected due to the extensive calibration that was undertaken using observed growth and yield data measured at Ukulinga and La Mercy. The model was tested for two planting dates (i.e. summer and winter) chosen for each crop. The sugarbeet simulations were conducted for quinary 4 697 in which Ukulinga is located. Similarly, La Mercy is located in quinary 4 719, which was thus used for sugarcane (**Figure 33**).



Figure 33 Location of Ukulinga and La Mercy in quinary 4 697 and 4 719 respectively

## 4.3.5.1 Standalone vs. GUI version

Testing was initially done using actual soil parameters for Ukulinga and La Mercy. Climate data was derived from the original quinary sub-catchment climate database (Schulze *et al.*, 2011) for the respective quinaries. The 50 years of climate data (from 1950 to 1999) was used so that the long term attainable yield could be simulated. As expected, the standalone version of the model produced identical yield and WUE results to the full version (with the Graphic User Interface or GUI).

According to Steduto *et al.* (2012), in order to determine the long-term attainable yield at a location, at least 20 years of daily climate data should be used for simulations. However, 30 years of data is considered the *de facto* standard. The 30-year mean and median statistics of yield and water use efficiency were then compared to that derived from the entire (i.e. 50-year) time series. Since no significant differences in statistics were found, a 30-year

simulation would offer considerable savings in computational time compared to the 50-year simulation.

## 4.3.5.2 Input soils data

The actual soil parameters for Ukulinga and La Mercy (e.g. SAT, FC, WP, K<sub>sat</sub> and depths for each soil horizon) were then replaced with the quinary-averaged data derived from the quinary sub-catchment soil database. The mean yields for sugarcane for both planting dates were very similar ( $\leq 0.46$  t ha<sup>-1</sup> difference), despite a deep soil with five horizons for La Mercy compared to a shallower two-layered soil for the sub-catchment. However, the yields decreased for sugarbeet by 1.0 and 1.7 t ha<sup>-1</sup> for the September and June plantings respectively. This result was not expected considering the soils information for Ukulinga is similar to that for quinary 4 697 as shown in **Table 52**, except for the soil water content at saturation (SAT).

Horizon	Soil parameter	Ukulinga	Quinary 4697
A-horizon	Depth (m)	0.20	0.30
	SAT (vol %)	36.5	42.2
	FC (vol %)	30.0	26.8
	WP (vol %)	17.5	17.8
	K <sub>sat</sub> (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )	228	207
B-horizon	Depth (m)	0.60	0.49
	SAT (vol %)	36.1	42.6
	FC (vol %)	32.0	29.8
	WP (vol %)	20.8	20.5
	K <sub>sat</sub> (mm day <sup>-1</sup> )	108	119

### **Table 52** Comparison of soils data for Ukulinga compared to that for quinary 4 697

### 4.3.5.3 Climate data

For the next test, the original climate data for both quinaries was replaced with the revised climate data. The revised climate exhibits higher reference evaporation ( $ET_o$ ) which caused a reduction in sugarcane yield of 11.5 and 10.3% for the February and April plantings respectively. However, the number of crop failures (i.e. seasonal yield = 0.00 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) increased from 0 to 6 for sugarbeet planted in September (and from 2 to 7 for the June planting).

A yield of 0.00 t ha<sup>-1</sup> was selected to represent a crop failure and not a higher yield threshold. A simulated yield of 0.50 t ha<sup>-1</sup> may be deemed a failure for crops with a high harvest index (e.g. sugarcane), but could be economically viable for crops with a low harvest index (e.g. canola). Hence, this threshold is not only crop specific, but also depends on the intended use. For example, a yield of 0.5 t ha<sup>-1</sup> may be adequate for subsistence farming but not economically viable for a commercial farm.

### 4.3.5.4 Calendar vs. thermal maturity

In *AQUACROP*, the season length can be expressed in calendar days or calculated using thermal time (i.e. based on growing degree days or GDD). The impact on yield output was

assessed by changing the season length from calendar days to thermal time. The analysis showed that the model will under-estimate the yield if the calendar-day season is less than the GDD-based season. For example, a yield reduction of 11.3% was simulated for sugarbeet planted in winter due to the calendar season of 198 days being less than the range of 216 to 245 days derived using the GDD concept.

One major drawback of using a variable season (based on thermal time) and not a fixed season length (based on calendar days) is the substantial increase in model run (i.e. execution) time. Although the use of thermal time added to the computational complexity of the model run, more realistic yield estimates should be derived, in particular for cooler areas.

#### 4.3.5.5 Initial soil water conditions

By default, the model assumes the soil water content is at field capacity for the start of the simulation period (Raes *et al.*, 2013). This assumption was deemed unrealistic for dryland agriculture. Hence, the model's sensitivity to initial soil water conditions was tested by changing the value from field capacity (the default) to 50% of plant available water (PAW). This resulted in very significant yield reductions of 64.3 and 74.8% for the respective February and April plantings. This was due to the substantial increase in the number of crop failures from 0 to 32 (February) and 36 (April).

Further investigation revealed that the model is particularly sensitive to the availability of moisture in the first growth stage. *AQUACROP* outputs *StExp* which represents the level of water stress that reduces leaf expansion (expressed as a percentage). If this water stress indicator approaches 100% for the start of the 2<sup>nd</sup> growth stage, the crop dies and no biomass or yield is produced. The decision was therefore made not to change the default option and to leave the initial soil water level at field capacity. However, Steduto *et al.* (2012) suggested setting the simulation start time as the end of the last significant rain. The assumption is made that the field will be kept fallow and weed free and the initial soil water content at planting should be more realistic of field conditions.

#### 4.3.5.6 Start of simulation period

The next test involved setting the start of the simulation period to January (**Figure 51b** in **APPENDIX H**) and not to the set planting date (**Figure 51a** in **APPENDIX H**). AQUACROP assumes fallow conditions before the start of the crop cycle, with rainfall and soil water evaporation adding and removing soil water respectively. Hence, the soil water content at planting (i.e. start of the cropping period) should be more realistic of actual field conditions. This option was therefore chosen to account for the "model warmup" period. It had a significant impact on the yield of sugarbeet planted in June (reduction of 28.4%) due to the large increase in the number of crop failures (from 7 to 33). Another option was tested with the simulation period starting one month prior to the crop planting date. This also resulted in a high number of crop failures.

If the simulation period is started before the crop is planted, soil water evaporation from the bare soil dries out the A-horizon, resulting in high leaf expansion stress at the start of the second growth stage, which kills the crop (i.e. zero yield). The decision was therefore made to link the simulation period to the cropping period (i.e. start of simulation period = start of cropping period = crop planting date).

A perusal of a forum<sup>16</sup> dedicated to the DSSAT suite of crop models revealed similar issues being experienced by other model users. Users in the forum suggested that the start of the simulation should be the sowing or transplanting date. If the start of the simulation period occurred before the planting date, it resulted in higher maize and wheat yield predictions.

### 4.3.5.7 Linked simulations runs

AQUACROP accommodates another option where the start of the next simulation period is the day after the previous crop maturity date (**Figure 52** in **APPENDIX H**). This option accounts for the effects of rainfall and soil water evaporation from the previous harvest date to the next planting date. This option resulted in significant yield reductions, in particular for the June and April planting of sugarbeet and sugarcane respectively. Of more concern was the large increase in crop failures and thus, this option was not used.

### 4.3.5.8 Summary

It is evident (but not surprising) that the model is sensitive to climate and soils input. In this study, the revised quinary sub-catchment climate database was used for all modelling involving *ACRU*, *AQUACROP* and *SWB*. The sensitivity analysis showed that for the regional simulations of yield, the crop season length should be based on thermal time and not calendar days. Although this decision improved the reliability of yield estimates, it added considerable complexity to model implementation. With regard to all other model options tested, the "KISS principle" was adopted. In other words, a "Keep It Simple and Straightforward" approach to setting up *AQUACROP* was preferred. Hence, the model's default options of 1) assuming the soil is at field capacity at planting, and 2) setting the simulation period equal to the cropping period were selected for the regional simulations.

### 4.4 Yield Parameters (SWB)

### 4.4.1 Model output verification

### 4.4.1.1 Sweet sorghum

The *SWB* model growth parameters determined for sweet sorghum (cv. Sugargraze) from the Hatfield 2010/11 trial are presented in **Table 53** below. These parameters were used to produce the *SWB* simulations shown in **Volume 1** (c.f. Section 4.3.6).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> <u>https://groups.google.com/forum/#!msg/dssat/yL-3JztB7kw/tktqrDw\_fvEJ</u> <u>https://groups.google.com/forum/#!msg/dssat/XcyZAszyCI0/RyOXPahDthwJ</u>

Specific crop growth parameter	Value
Canopy radiation extinction coefficient	0.58
Corrected dry matter-water ratio (Pa)	6.8
Radiation conversion efficiency (kg MJ <sup>-1</sup> )	0.0020
Base temperature (°C)	10
Temperature for optimum growth (°C)	25
Cut-off temperature (°C)	36
Emergence degree days (d °C)	90
Degree days to flowering (d °C)	900
Degrees days to maturity (d °C)	1 600
Transition period degree days (d °C)	200
Degree days for leaf senescence (d °C)	1 100
Maximum crop height (m)	3.45
Maximum root depth (m)	1.4
Fraction of total dry matter translocated to heads	0.05
Canopy storage (mm)	2
Leaf water potential at maximum transpiration (kPa)	-1 500
Maximum transpiration (m)	10
Specific leaf area (m <sup>2</sup> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	12
Leaf stem partition parameter (m <sup>2</sup> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	1.4
Total dry matter at emergence (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	0.02
Fraction of total dry matter partitioned to roots	0.15
Root growth rate (m <sup>2</sup> kg <sup>-0.5</sup> )	4.0
Stress index	0.95

Table 53SWB model growth parameters determined for sweet sorghum (cv.<br/>Sugargraze) from the Hatfield 2010/11 trial

### 4.4.1.2 Canola

A trial conducted at Hatfield in the winter of 2002 measured the water use efficiency of canola. The trial was conducted under an automated rain shelter to prevent rainfall interference. A second trial was conducted in an open field during the 2003 winter. Both trials had four water treatments, namely unstressed (the control) and stress applied during the vegetative, flowering and seed filling growth stages (Tesfamariam, 2004; Tesfamariam *et al.*, 2010). The *SWB* model growth parameters determined for canola from the 2002 trial are presented in **Table 54** below. The 2003 trial was used to validate the *SWB* model. The results of the calibration and validation are shown in Section 4.3.6 of **Volume 1**.

Specific crop growth parameter	Value
Canopy radiation extinction coefficient	0.60
Corrected dry matter-water ratio (Pa)	5.8
Radiation conversion efficiency (kg MJ <sup>-1</sup> )	0.00180
Base temperature (°C)	5.0
Temperature for optimum growth (°C)	25.0
Cut-off temperature (°C)	30.0
Emergence degree days (d °C)	77
Degree days to flowering (d °C)	997
Degrees days to maturity (d °C)	1 742
Transition period degree days (d °C)	200
Degree days for leaf senescence (d °C)	900
Maximum crop height (m)	2.0
Maximum root depth (m)	1.0
Fraction of total dry matter translocated to heads	0.05
Canopy storage (mm)	2
Leaf water potential at maximum transpiration (kPa)	-1 500
Maximum transpiration (m)	7.0
Specific leaf area (m <sup>2</sup> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	22.8
Leaf stem partition parameter (m <sup>2</sup> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	1.8
Total dry matter at emergence (kg m <sup>-2</sup> )	0.0005
Fraction of total dry matter partitioned to roots	0.2
Root growth rate (m <sup>2</sup> kg <sup>-0.5</sup> )	3.8
Stress index	0.95

**Table 54**SWB model growth parameters determined for canola from the Hatfield 2002<br/>trial (Tesfamariam, 2004)

# 5 HYDROLOGICAL IMPACTS OF FEEDSTOCK PRODUCTION

This chapter addresses the following two project aims, viz.:

- To determine crop parameters and model water use of specific crops/trees for biofuel that have potential but insufficient knowledge exists in South Africa to promote effective production.
- To assess the impact of land use change on the water balance of selected catchments deemed suitable for biofuel feedstock cultivation.

In this chapter, the approach adopted in South Africa to assess feedstock water use as a possible stream flow reduction activity is given. In addition, the latest revision to the quinary sub-catchment climate database is discussed. However, the final parameters used in the *ACRU* hydrological model (Schulze, 1995) to assess stream flow reduction are provided in **Volume 1**.

#### 5.1 Introduction

#### 5.1.1 Definition of water use

Section 36 of the National Water Act (NWA) declares land that is used for commercial afforestation to be a Stream Flow Reduction Activity (SFRA), and also makes provision for other activities (i.e. land uses) to be so declared if this should prove justified. This would be based on such an activity being "likely to reduce the availability of water in a watercourse to the Reserve, to meet international obligations, or to other water users significantly". Thus, "water use" is defined as the difference in runoff generated by the feedstock under consideration and that generated under natural conditions. This builds on the definition accepted for commercial forestry, i.e. the water used by afforestation is the reduction in stream flow compared with the stream flow that would have occurred from natural vegetation.

The current approach taken by the former DWA with regard to SFRAs is to "measure" or "weight" the impact of a change in land use in terms of water use relative to the situation that would have existed under "natural conditions". Thus, "water use" in the context of SFRA assessments is always defined as a mean annual value for the feedstock relative to a "baseline". Furthermore, it does not reflect the consumptive water use of the feedstock over its growth cycle (i.e. total evaporation accumulated over its growth cycle). In order to determine the water use resulting from a land use change, it is necessary to first define the baseline vegetation against which the water use of new land cover should be compared.

#### 5.1.1.1 Evapotranspiration

It is important to note that *ACRU* does not include the evaporation of intercepted water as part of total evaporation from the crop surface. Hence, total evaporation (i.e. actual evapotranspiration) is the sum of transpired water and water evaporated from the soil surface. This is an important consideration when comparing:

 measurements of total evaporation obtained using micrometeorological techniques such as surface layer scintillometry, eddy covariance or surface renewal (which includes interception loss), and • simulated total evaporation from hydrological models such as *ACRU* (which excludes evaporation of intercepted water).

#### 5.1.1.2 Stream flow reduction

"Water use" in the context of SFRA assessments is defined as the difference in mean annual stream flow (MAR) resulting from a change in land use from the baseline (i.e. natural vegetation) to the cultivation of biofuel feedstock (or crop). This difference ( $MAR_{base} - MAR_{crop}$ ) is then expressed as a percentage of the baseline stream flow ( $MAR_{base}$ ). The definition of a SFRA in the NWA provides ambiguity in at least two aspects. The first of these concerns the use of the word "significantly" and the various interpretations thereof and the other concerns the consideration of the impact on the Reserve.

If the impact exceeds 10%, the proposed land use change may be declared as an SFRA (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009b). The results provide an indication of whether there would be a positive or negative impact on the sub-catchment's water resources if the "virgin" land cover was replaced by a particular biofuel feedstock and grown under dryland (i.e. non-irrigated) conditions. However, Scott and Smith (1997) highlighted the fact that stream flow reductions during low flow periods may be proportionately greater than for total annual flows. In order to determine the hydrological impact of land use change to feedstock production, it is necessary to first define the baseline vegetation against which the water use comparisons are made.

### 5.1.2 Modelling approach and application

It is virtually impossible to measure crop water use under all the possible combinations of climate, soils and management conditions in South Africa. Hence, it is necessary to use a model which can accurately simulate water use of crops across all conditions. It is important that crop water use models are able to extrapolate water use over a wide range of conditions and management practices. Hence, it is necessary to use a mechanistic approach that is based on a thorough understanding of the mechanisms driving transpiration. This need eliminates models based on empirical relationships, which can seldom be used in conditions outside the environment in which they were originally calibrated. A review of appropriate hydrological models is given in **Section 5.2**.

The definition of water use adopted in this project (c.f. **Section 5.1.1.2**) requires the comparison of stream flow generated from a sub-catchment under the proposed land use, compared to than from natural vegetation. Although there are now other "natural" vegetation classification systems and maps available (e.g. Mucina and Rutherford, 2006), the classification by Acocks (Acocks, 1953) and subsequent modifications (Acocks, 1975; Acocks, 1988) remains the most widely used baseline vegetation classification and has been used as the basis for estimates of water use by commercial forestry species since 1999.

Furthermore, national water resources planning strategies in South Africa also assess water use and availability against a natural baseline condition, i.e. "naturalised flow" as generated by the Pitman Model. Thus, in line with methods developed to estimate the water of commercial afforestation, the baseline against which feedstock water use is assessed (and hence it's potential to be declared a SFRA) is the Acocks Veld Type. This is discussed further in **Section 5.3**.

In **Section 5.2.2.2**, the importance of estimating APAN equivalent evaporation is stated. Hence, considerable effort was spent on revising the temperature and evaporation estimates for each quinary sub-catchment. This work is detailed in **Section 5.4**. The running of the selected hydrological model at the national level is discussed in **Section 5.6**. The results of the hydrological impact study are presented in **Volume 3**.

## 5.2 Appropriate Models

The Water Research Commission has funded the development of a number of models designed to promote the improved management of water resources in South Africa. These include the *ACRU* (Agricultural Catchments Research Unit) which is now linked to *MIKE BASIN*, *WAS* (Water Administration System), *SAPWAT* (Crop Water Use Model), *SWB* (Soil Water Balance) and *RISKMAN* (Risk Manager) models. These models were reviewed by Taylor *et al.* (2008) and Pott *et al.* (2008). A summary of their findings is given next.

### 5.2.1 Overview of models

ACRU is a rainfall-runoff model, whereas *MIKE BASIN* is a node-and-channel network model. *ACRU's* stream flow output is used as input the *MIKE BASIN* model to quantify the extent of over-allocation of water resources in South Africa's catchments. Pott *et al.* (2008) recommended the *ACRU-MIKE BASIN* model combination as a useful platform to assess the hydrological impacts of various operating rules and license allocation decisions on catchment water use. This is particularly useful to water resource managers studying catchments where water resources are already over-allocated. Pott *et al.* (2008) also recommended further development of the *SWBPro-RISKMAN* model linkage to assess the economic impacts of operating rules and license allocations. Based on these recommendations, the decision was made to focus research efforts on using the *ACRU* and *SWB* models to meet the water use modelling objectives of this project. However, since SWB cannot be run in "batch mode", the model cannot be used for national scale assessments of crop water use. Thus, the *ACRU* model was selected to assess the hydrological impacts of land use changes to feedstock production on downstream water availability.

## 5.2.2 The ACRU model

### 5.2.2.1 Model description

Under the leadership of Prof Roland Schulze, the *ACRU* model (Schulze, 1995) was initially developed by the former School of Bioresources Engineering and Environmental Hydrology based at the University of KwaZulu-Natal in Pietermaritzburg. *ACRU* is an integrated agrohydrological modelling system capable of, *inter alia*:

- water resource assessments,
- design flood estimations,
- crop yield assessments and
- irrigation water demand and supply evaluations.

ACRU is primarily a catchment-scale, daily time-step hydrological rainfall-runoff model. ACRU has been linked to the *MIKE BASIN* model developed by the Danish Hydraulic Institute. ACRU is used to generate stream flow from non-irrigated (i.e. rainfed) lands in a catchment. The simulated stream flow is then used by *MIKE BASIN* to compute the supply and demand interactions in catchments for given operating rules. The irrigated lands are managed by *MIKE BASIN* and not *ACRU*, as the irrigated lands are subject to operating rules (which rainfed land uses are not) which are easily represented in *MIKE BASIN* (Pott *et al.*, 2008).

*ACRU* is a physical-conceptual, multi-level and multi-purpose model (**Figure 34**), with various outputs which have been widely verified against observations in many countries and conditions. *ACRU* was considered appropriate for meeting the objectives of the biofuels project as the model operates as a process-based, multi-soil layer water budget which is sensitive to land management and changes thereof. The model can output, *inter alia*, the following for each catchment or sub-catchment:

- daily storm flows, base flows and total runoff,
- peak discharge, sediment yields and recharge to groundwater,
- daily soil water content and evapotranspiration, and
- accumulated daily stream flows from all upstream sub-catchments.



Figure 34 The ACRU agrohydrological modelling system: General structure (after Schulze, 1995)

The output from the ACRU model can then be used, inter alia, for:

- reservoir yield analyses,
- inter-basin transfer and abstraction analyses,
- irrigation demand and supply (including return flows),
- wetland responses, and
- crop yields for selected crops.

#### 5.2.2.2 Parameterisation

The *ACRU* model has been used frequently to assess the impact of land use change on stream flow generation. For example, hydrological response from the riparian zone is particularly sensitive to land use change (Schulze, 1995). The list of parameters and variables in *ACRU* which determine rainfall /runoff response are presented in **Section 4.2**. A *parameter* is considered any input where only one value represents the sub-catchment, whereas a *variable* has more than one value (i.e. values that vary monthly). From this comprehensive list, the sensitive variables are discussed next in more detail.

Since rainfall is the main driving factor in most hydrological models, most attention should be given to this input variable especially in high intensity rainfall areas (Schulze, 1995). In other words, rainfall-runoff models are particularly sensitive to rainfall input and any errors in rainfall are amplified in stream flow simulations (Schulze, 1995). Therefore, it cannot be over-emphasised that great care must be taken when deriving the monthly adjustment factors (i.e. *CORPPT* variable). These factors are applied to point rainfall data (observed at a rainfall recording station) in order to improve its representativeness of "average" catchment conditions (Schulze, 1995).

Schulze and Horan (2011) also noted that runoff response is most sensitive to rainfall, reference evaporation and certain soil characteristics. Similarly, a sensitivity analysis undertaken by Angus (1989) using the Cedara catchment (situated in the KwaZulu-Natal midlands at an altitude of 1 067 m) revealed that total stream flow output from *ACRU* is extremely sensitive to changes in rainfall input. Angus (1989) showed that stream flow output is highly sensitive to changes in:

- A-pan evaporation,
- crop coefficients,
- soil horizon depths (particularly for shallow soils), and
- depth of the soil that contributes to storm flow generation (SMDDEP).

Monthly *CORPAN* factors are necessary since *ACRU* is an APAN driven agrohydrological model, despite the fact that FAO56 (i.e. Penman-Monteith) has become the *de facto* reference evaporation since 1998. Schulze (1995) concluded that:

- care must be taken in the determination of realistic APAN equivalent (and crop coefficient) values and
- when in doubt, rather over-estimate than under-estimate these values.

An over-estimation of catchment evaporative demand will result in an under-estimation of runoff generation and thus, planning is based on less water than actually is available (with fewer consequences compared to the corollary being true). Considerable effort was spent on deriving the new (and arguably, more realistic) A-pan evaporation estimates used in this study (c.f. **Section 5.5**).

The effective soil depth which is considered to be contributing to storm flow generation is specified by the parameter *SMDDEP* in *ACRU*. Stream flow generation is extremely sensitive to *SMDDEP*, particularly for sites with shallow soils and high rainfall intensities (Schulze, 1995). *SMDDEP* is often under-estimated in drier locations, which results in over-estimated stream flow (Schulze, 1995). This parameter accounts for the dominant runoff producing mechanisms which may vary in different climates, as well as with land use, tillage

practice, litter/mulch cover and soil conditions. For all hydrological simulations in this project, *SMDDEP* was defined as the thickness of the topsoil, which is the suggested default value (Smithers and Schulze, 1995). Schulze (2011) also set *SMDDEP* to the thickness of the topsoil.

Land cover and land use affect hydrological responses through canopy and litter interception, infiltration of rainfall into the soil and the rates of soil water evaporation and transpiration from the vegetation layer. The sensitivity analysis undertaken by Angus (1989) showed that stream flow output is sensitive to changes in crop coefficients. For this reason, this project spent considerable effort in deriving crop coefficient values for selected feedstocks from field-based observations (c.f. **Chapter 3**).

### 5.3 The Hydrological Baseline

The definition of water use adopted in this project requires the comparison of stream flow generated from a sub-catchment under the proposed land use, compared to than from natural vegetation. Although there are now other "natural" vegetation classification systems and maps available (e.g. Mucina and Rutherford, 2006), the classification by Acocks (Acocks, 1953) and subsequent modifications remains the most widely used baseline vegetation classification and has been used as the basis for estimates of water use by commercial forestry species since 1999.

It may be argued that the impact of conversion of one land use to another, on the available water resources in that area, is best assessed relative to the land use it is replacing, which is rarely natural vegetation. In order to cultivate virgin land (i.e. natural vegetation), the land owner must be granted written permission by the Executive Officer (except if approval was granted under Section 4A of the 1972 Forest Act). Virgin soil is defined as land that has not been cultivated in the previous ten years and thus is referred to as "undeveloped" by the Executive Officer (Niemand, 2011). This is in accordance with the Conservation of Agricultural Resources Act (CARA) 43 of 1983.

However, it must be noted that the approach followed in this project is consistent with that used to regulate commercial forestry as an SFRA. Furthermore, it should be noted that national water resources planning strategies in South Africa also assess water use and availability against a natural baseline condition, i.e. "naturalised Flow" generated by the Pitman Model. Thus, in line with methods developed to estimate the water of commercial afforestation, the baseline against which feedstock water use is assessed (and hence it's potential to be declared a SFRA) is the Acocks Veld Type.

### 5.3.1 Mucina and Rutherford

A collaborative initiative entitled the National Vegetation Map of South Africa Project (VEGMAP) produced a definitive map of the natural vegetation types of southern Africa in 2006. The project was managed by the South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) with funding from the local government and Norway. This map includes 435 zonal and azonal vegetation types mapped at a working scale of 1:250,000 and sometimes higher resolution (**Figure 35**).





It is noteworthy that the WRC has recently funded a new three-year project (WRC Project No. K5/2437), which started in April 2015, to update *ACRU* parameters from those representing the Acocks baseline to those representing the more detailed Mucina and Rutherford (2006) vegetation. This vegetation map includes 435 zonal and azonal vegetation types mapped at a working scale of 1:250 000. It provides more detail on plant characteristics and is considered more spatially explicit than that of Acocks.

### 5.3.2 Acocks' Veld Types

To date, the Acocks (1988) veld types (70 in total) are the most commonly used indicator of baseline land cover in South African hydrology. Acocks' initiatives in the 1940's and 1950's to document and map the vegetation of South Africa had a significant effect on ecology in the country. Acocks' classification soon became the standard reference for indigenous vegetation of South Africa. Despite the value of Acocks' veld types, it has nevertheless remained unchanged since it was first published about fifty years ago. It is envisaged that the Mucina and Rutherford (2006) vegetation map will replace the Acocks (1988) veld type map, and become the new indicator of baseline land cover for all South African hydrology studies that consider the water use and potential for stream flow reduction of non-irrigated crops.

For each quinary, *ACRU* simulations were performed for the dominant Acocks Veld Type (i.e. that veld type covering the largest area in each quinary). This provided baseline stream flow volumes for each sub-catchment against which estimated stream flow reductions resulting from a land use change to feedstock production could be assessed. Stream flow reductions were therefore assumed to be the difference between stream flow simulated for a quinary where 100% of the dominant Acocks Veld Type is replace by a biofuel feedstock.

Reductions in mean and median annual stream flow totals and low flow indices (driest three months) were calculated in this manner.

### 5.3.3 Model parameterisation

*ACRU* input parameters and variables for Acocks Veld Types were obtained from the COMPOVEG database maintained by the CWRR. Model parameters representing Acocks were characterised in accordance with guidelines from the National Botanical Institute. Further explanation on the derivation of these values for the 70 baseline land cover types was provided by Schulze (2004) and Schulze (2008). If the dominant land cover is grassland, the model parameterisation represents the average state of grassland in a particular quinary sub-catchment.

### 5.4 Original Quinary Sub-catchment Database

In this section, a summary is given of the derivation of the quinary sub-catchments by Schulze and Horan (2011). In addition, a summary of the quinary sub-catchment database developed by Schulze *et al.* (2011) is also given.

For operational decision making, South Africa has been delineated into 22 primary catchments, each of which has been sub-divided into interlinked and hydrologically cascading quaternary catchments. A total of 1 946 quaternaries (originally delimited by the former Water Affairs Department) make up the contiguous area of the RSA, Lesotho and Swaziland (Schulze and Horan, 2011).

Quinary sub-catchments are topographically based sub-divisions of the national quaternary catchments. Each quaternary (4<sup>th</sup> level) catchment was divided into three quinary (5<sup>th</sup> level) sub-catchments according to altitude criteria. The upper, middle and lower quinaries of unequal area (but of similar topography) were sub-delineated according to "natural breaks" in altitude by applying the Jenks' optimisation procedure. This resulted in 5 838 quinary sub-catchments deemed to be more homogeneous than the quaternaries in terms of their altitudinal range (Schulze and Horan, 2011). This implies that the terrain unit classification and dominant soil types are likely to be similar across the quinary.

The rainfall station previously selected to "drive" the hydrological response of each quaternary catchment was also selected to represent the three quinary sub-catchments within the parent quaternary. However, the driver station for 11 quaternaries (i.e. 33 quinaries) was changed in order to improve the representation of rainfall in those catchments (Schulze *et al.*, 2011). In total, daily rainfall values from 1 240 stations are used to "drive" the hydrology of the 1 946 quaternaries. By implication, one rainfall station often "drives" the hydrology of numerous quaternaries.

Multiplicative rainfall adjustment factors (called *CORPPT* in *ACRU*) were then determined for each sub-catchment and applied to the driver station's daily records in order to render the driver station's daily rainfall to be more representative of that of the quinary. Thus, a unique 50-year daily rainfall record was created for each of the 5 838 quinaries. The adjustment factors were derived by first calculating the 12 spatial averages of all the one arc minute ( $\approx$ 1.6 by 1.8 km) gridded median monthly rainfall values (determined by Lynch, 2004) within

each quinary. The ratio of these sub-catchment average median monthly rainfalls to the driver station's median monthly rainfalls was then calculated to arrive at 12 monthly adjustment factors.

The daily temperature database developed by Schulze and Maharaj (2004) for each one arc minute of a degree (latitude/longitude) grid point across southern Africa, was used to derive representative data for each quinary. The grid point with an altitude similar to that of the sub-catchment mean, and located as close as possible to the sub-catchment centroid, was selected to represent each quinary (Schulze *et al.*, 2011).

Southern Africa lacks an adequate network of solar radiation stations, each with a long quality controlled record. Hence, solar radiation was estimated from temperature data as described by Chapman (2004) and Schulze and Chapman (2007). From this, daily estimates of reference evaporation (Penman-Monteith or FAO56 equivalent) were derived, as described by Schulze *et al.* (2007d). A default wind speed of 1.6 m s<sup>-1</sup> was used to derive the FAO56-based evaporation estimates.

Multiplicative evaporation adjustment factors (called *CORPAN* in *ACRU*) were then determined for each sub-catchment and applied to the FAO56 evaporation estimates in order to obtain PAN equivalent values. An equation given by Allen *et al.* (1998; p 82) was used, whereby monthly pan coefficients ( $K_p$ ) are estimated for a Class A-pan surrounded by a 200 m fetch of short, green vegetation. The method requires the average wind speed (1.6 m s<sup>-1</sup>), green fetch distance (200 m) and mean relative humidity (%) to calculate monthly  $K_p$ , from which the reciprocal (i.e.  $1/K_p$ ) is used for *CORPAN* in *ACRU*.

Thus, the quinary sub-catchment database consists of 50 years (1950-1999) of daily climate data for each of the 5 838 quinaries. Hence, daily rainfall, maximum and minimum temperature, reference evaporation (Penman-Monteith), incoming solar radiation as well as maximum and minimum relative humidity are available for each sub-catchment.

Values for the hydrological soils variables required by *ACRU* were derived from the SIRI land types identified in each quinary (on an area-proportioned basis). Thus, one set of area-averaged soils attributes has been derived for the entire quinary sub-catchment (Schulze *et al.*, 2011). For a more detailed description of the quinary sub-catchment database, the reader is referred to Schulze *et al.* (2011).

### 5.5 Revised Quinary Sub-catchment Database

In this section, the quinary sub-catchment climate database was revised to improve estimates of temperature and reference evaporation for each quinary. A number of anomalies in the climate database were discovered and corrected.

### 5.5.1 Updated temperature estimates

The quinary sub-catchment climate database (as described briefly in the previous section) contains daily estimates of maximum and minimum temperature derived by Schulze and Maharaj (2004). These estimates were derived using an algorithm originally developed by Schulze and Maharaj (2004). This algorithm used the 1) altitude difference, and 2) the

distance between the temperature station and the point of interest to select two representative stations accordingly. The two stations with the highest weighting are then chosen for the point of interest. Finally, adiabatic lapse rates are used to adjust for altitude differences between the two selected stations and the point of interest.

The algorithm developed by Schulze and Maharaj (2004) was significantly improved by assigning more emphasis to distance rather than altitude difference. In essence, the algorithm uses these two factors to rank initially the five most suitable temperature stations for a particular quinary. The centroid of the quinary is selected as the "point of interest", from which the distance to each surrounding temperature station is computed. The quinary's spatially averaged altitude is then compared to the altitude of the surrounding temperature stations.

This suitability ranking (*RANK*) is more sensitive to the distance factor (*DSTF*, i.e. based on the distance between the station location and the quinary centroid), rather than the altitude factor (*ALTF*, i.e. based on the difference between the station's height and the quinary mean altitude). In other words, the distance factor is assigned far more weighting than the altitude factor as follows:

$$RANK = (10 \cdot DSTF) + (1 \cdot ALTF)$$

#### Equation 49

For simplicity, distances are calculated in minutes of a degree (not kilometres) and altitude differences in masl. Any station more than 250 minutes of a degree (or  $250 \times 1.7 \text{ km} = 434 \text{ km}$ ) away from the quinary centroid is assigned the same factor of 0.1. A station located at the same location as the quinary centroid is assigned a distance factor of 1.0. The distance threshold of 250 minutes was determined through a "trial and error" process where the algorithm was repeatedly run until it produced the same station section as was chosen manually. Similarly, all stations more than 1 500 m above or below the quinary mean is assigned a factor of 0.1 (and 1.0 for zero altitude difference). Again, this threshold was determined by comparing the automated station selection *vs.* manual selections for a range of different quinary sub-catchments.

In another study (Lumsden *et al.*, 2011), the station selection algorithm was also used to derive temperature data for each quinary using the output from numerous GCMs for 404 station locations. A distance threshold of 350 minutes was used in this study due to the paucity of stations with future climate record. Ideally, the above-mentioned distance and altitude thresholds should be small as possible. However, there are only 973 climate stations that record temperature across southern Africa. The other problem is the stations are not uniformly spread across the country. There are 123 stations at the same location as another station, with two locations having four stations and 14 locations exhibiting 3 stations.

From the five identified stations, two are then selected as the "best" and used to generate daily temperature data deemed representative of the quinary centroid. The five stations are re-ranked relative to the station furthest away and the station with the greatest altitude difference. This ensures that the "worst" of the five stations exhibits the lowest ranking. However, more weighting is assigned to the altitude factor as follows:

#### $RANK = (10 \cdot DSTF) + (3 \cdot ALTF)$

This allows for a station slightly further away from the sub-catchment centroid to be selected if the altitude difference is much smaller than the closest station. Once the two most presentative stations for each centroid location were finalised, lapse-rate adjusted temperature estimates were derived. Finally, quality control checks were performed to ensure that, *inter alia*, maximum temperatures are non-negative and higher than minimum temperatures. The reader is referred to Lumsden *et al.* (2011) for additional information on the methodology.

#### 5.5.2 Updated reference evaporation estimates

To re-cap, the original quinary sub-catchment climate database consists of FAO56 evaporation estimates derived using a default wind speed of 1.6 m s<sup>-1</sup>. PAN equivalent evaporation values (as required by the *ACRU* model) are obtained using a monthly multiplicative factor based on an equation developed by Allen *et al.* (1998). Once the temperature estimates for each quinary sub-catchment were updated (c.f. **Section 5.5.1**), they were used to derive new FAO56-based reference evaporation values. However, this methodology was modified to account for the research findings of Allen *et al.* (1998), Shuttleworth (2010) and a number of Australian studies (e.g. Rotstayn *et al.*, 2006; McMahon *et al.*, 2013).

#### 5.5.2.1 The calculation of net radiation

The calculation of daily net radiation ( $R_n$ ) is required by the Penman-Monteith (or FAO56) equation to estimate reference crop evaporation (or  $ET_o$ ). According to Shuttleworth (2010), it defines the net energy available for evaporation to occur.  $R_n$  is calculated as the difference between incoming shortwave radiation ( $R_s$ ) that is absorbed (1-  $\alpha$ ) by the evaporating surface and the net outgoing longwave radiation ( $R_{nl}$ ; assumed to be independent of the surface):

$$R_n = (1 - \alpha) \cdot R_s - R_{nl}$$
 Equation 51

In the above equation, alpha ( $\alpha$ ) represents the albedo of the evaporating surface and (1 -  $\alpha$ )· $R_s$  the net shortwave radiation ( $R_{ns}$ ). It was noticed that negative outgoing longwave radiation values were being estimated for certain sub-catchments. This meant that instead of  $R_{nl}$  being an energy loss (i.e. unavailable for evaporation), it was a gain. Further investigation revealed that negative  $R_{nl}$  values occurred when  $R_s$  estimates were less than 9.4 MJ m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>, which resulted in relative shortwave radiation ( $R_s/R_{so}$ ) estimates below 0.259. Hence, the term (1.35· $R_s/R_{so}$  - 0.35) used in the calculation of  $R_{nl}$  becomes negative. This term represents the portion of outgoing longwave radiation that is absorbed by clouds and reradiated back towards the earth's surface.

#### 5.5.2.2 Incoming shortwave radiation adjustments

Incoming solar radiation ( $R_s$ ) was estimated from the daily temperature range using the Bristow and Campbell (1984) equation. However, Schulze and Chapman (2007) made two modifications to the original Bristow and Campbell (1984) equation. The modifications were shown to improve estimates of 1) extra-terrestrial radiation ( $R_a$ ) and 2) estimates of  $R_s$  on cloudy and rainy days, across southern Africa.

During clear sky conditions,  $R_s / R_{so}$  approaches unity (i.e. 1) which equates to a large net outgoing energy flux ( $R_{nl}$ ) and thus, less energy available for evaporation.  $R_{so}$  is the portion of incoming solar radiation ( $R_s$ ) that reaches the evaporating surface during cloudless (i.e. clear sky) conditions. According to Allen *et al.* (1998; p 42), the ratio  $R_s / R_{so}$  represents the degree of cloud cover, with typical values ranging from about 0.3 (dense cloud cover) to 1.0 for clear skies. Allen *et al.* (1998) recommends that  $R_s / R_{so}$  is limited to 1 (i.e.  $R_s \leq R_{so}$ ), but does not mention a check for  $R_s < 0.3 \cdot R_{so}$ . This check was implemented during the calculation of  $R_{nl}$  which revealed a total of 1 414 579 daily instances affecting 3 835 quinaries. These anomalies were then corrected by adjusting  $R_s$  to 0.3  $\cdot R_{so}$ . No events of  $R_s$  exceeding  $R_{so}$  were found.

Allen *et al.* (1998; p 60) also noted that the fraction of extra-terrestrial radiation ( $R_a$ ) that reaches the earth's surface (i.e.  $R_s / R_a$ ) ranges from about 0.25 on a day with dense cloud cover to about 0.75 for clear skies. Roderick (1999) found that the clearness index ( $R_s / R_a$ ) ranged from 0.26 (totally overcast) to a high of 0.77 to 0.79. Chapman (2004; p109) stated that the upper limit for  $R_s / R_a$  is about 0.77 for South Africa. Although this check was implemented, no daily events were noted when generating  $R_s$  values for each of the 5 838 quinaries. However, a total of 2 277 605 daily occurrences of  $R_s < 0.23 \cdot R_a$  were found, which were corrected. Almost all quinaries (5 834 out of 5 838) were affected by this anomaly.

#### 5.5.2.3 Corrected outgoing longwave radiation

The above-mentioned adjustments to estimated  $R_s$  values (i.e.  $R_s > 0.3 \cdot R_{so} \& R_s > 0.23 \cdot R_a$ ) ensured that  $R_s/R_{so} > 0.30$ , thus preventing negative  $R_{nl}$  values from being generated. Hence, these checks improved the estimates of net radiation used by the FAO56 method.

#### 5.5.2.4 Dew point temperature check

The dew point temperature was calculated from actual vapour pressure estimates on a monthly basis using equation 3.11 from Allen *et al.* (1998). A check was implemented to test if the average temperature ( $T_{ave}$ ) was 4°C above the dew point temperature ( $T_{dew}$ ) on a monthly basis. This difference was suggested by Linacre (1992). A total of 213 795 daily occurrences where  $T_{ave} - T_{dew} < 4$ °C were noted, but not corrected.

#### 5.5.2.5 Default wind speed

Shuttleworth (2010) suggested that a wind speed of 2.0 m s<sup>-1</sup> should rather be used in the absence of observed data. This concurs with Allen *et al.* (1998; p 63) who noted that 2 m s<sup>-1</sup> is the average wind speed for over 2 000 climate stations across the world. Hence, the wind speed was adjusted from the default 1.6 m s<sup>-1</sup> used in the original quinary sub-catchment climate database (c.f. **Section 5.4**) to 2.0 m s<sup>-1</sup> for this study.

#### 5.5.3 Revised pan factors

The *PENPAN* equation was applied at the monthly time step so that heat storage in the pan's water could be neglected. Hence, pan coefficients ( $K_p$ ) were derived for each quinary sub-catchment as the ratio of  $ET_o$  and  $E_p$  calculated using the FAO56 and *PENPAN* equations respectively. From this, monthly *CORPAN* values were calculated as the reciprocal of  $K_p$ .

#### 5.5.4 Adjustment of FAO56-crop coefficients

In the *SFRA* project (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009b) and the biofuels scoping study (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a), all crop coefficients derived using the FAO56 reference were divided by 1.20 to adjust them to the PAN-equivalent reference, before being used as input for the *ACRU* model.

In this study, PAN-equivalent crop coefficients [ $K_c(PAN)$ ] were derived by dividing the monthly FAO56-based crop coefficients [ $K_c(FAO)$ ] for each feedstock, by the monthly *CORPAN* (i.e.  $1/K_p = E_p/ET_o$ ) values derived for each quinary (**Equation 52**) and thus, represents a unique approach.

$$K_c(FAO) = \frac{E_m}{ET_o} x \frac{ET_o}{E_p} = \frac{E_m}{E_p} = K_c(PAN)$$
 Equation 52

#### 5.6 National Model Runs

In **Chapter 4.2**, the parameters used to run the *ACRU* model were given for each feedstock. In addition, the revision of the quinary sub-catchment climate database were also discussed in **Section 5.5**. This section focuses on the changes that were made to the version of the *ACRU* model used in this study. In addition, the logistics of running the model at the national scale are discussed.

#### 5.6.1 Modifications to ACRU

For the final stream flow simulations presented in **Volume 3**, *ACRU* version 3.37 was used. The changes made to the model from version 3.33 (used in previous studies) to 3.37 are briefly highlighted below.

Owing to readily available estimates of daily maximum and minimum temperature, changes were made to version 3.33 of *ACRU* to replace the use of monthly temperatures with daily values. Approximately 19 000 lines of code were scanned for the use of monthly temperature. The most significant change was made in the Ritchie subroutine which is invoked when transpiration and soil water evaporation are estimated as separate components (i.e. when parameter *EVTR* is set to 2). In this subroutine, the daily crop coefficient value is reduced when the plant experiences soil water stress. When this stress is relieved through rainfall (or irrigation), the crop coefficient recovers at a rate determined by the mean monthly air temperature (Kunz, 1994). This recovery was modified to use mean daily air temperature instead. Similarly, the calculation of effective transpiration was also modified to use daily and not monthly temperature. Finally, the calculation of primary productivity was changed to use daily, rather than monthly temperature.

Version 3.34 (and above) of the *ACRU* model was configured to run a maximum of 6 000 sub-catchments, each with 200 years of daily data. This configuration accommodates the current projects undertaken by the Centre (CWRR) which involve running *ACRU* at the quinary level (5 838 sub-catchments), with up to 140 years of daily climate data (1961-2100) derived from GCM output.

In *ACRU* version 3.35, a significant change was also made to a variable called *COFRU*. It represents the coefficient of base flow response, which determines the fraction of daily groundwater store that is released as base flow, which then contributes to stream flow (when *IRUN* is set to 1). On days where drainage doesn't contribute to the base flow store, *COFRU* determines the amount of groundwater store that is released as base flow. In other words, *COFRU* controls the rate of base flow from the groundwater store and was set to 0.009 for the *ACRU* runs.

The user-specified *COFRU* value is adjusted within *ACRU*, depending on whether the base flow store (*RUNCO* in mm) is relatively "full" or relatively "empty". Hence, *COFRU* is now modified using *RUNCO*, based on an exponential function, i.e. *COFRU* increases exponentially from 0.001 to 0.020 as *RUNCO* increases from 0.001 to ≈150 mm. In general, the modification generates more base flow store (*RUNCO*), but releases less base flow. However, when the base flow store is "full", more base flow is released (than compared to before the modification).

A minor correction was also made to set the minimum base flow store (*RUNCO*) to 0.001 mm and not 1.1 mm. This anomaly was noted in dry sub-catchments where little or no base flow is generated (e.g. quinary 2 613). Hence, the base flow store averaged 1.1 mm per day, which over-estimated the runoff generation from the sub-catchment. *RUNCO* was set to 0.001 mm so not to affect stream flow "trickle", but also to avoid division by zero errors (which occurs when other related variables become zero in the model).

*ACRU* version 3.36 was updated with a new approach to estimate primary productivity for grasslands. However, this modification does not influence the output presented in this report and thus, is not discussed further. Version 3.36 was re-compiled using Intel's FORTRAN compiler software (v14) to produce a new 64-bit version (called 3.37). The Intel compiler was used to create two 64-bit versions of the model, namely one suited to run on a Core 2 Duo PC and the other optimised for a Core I7 PC. However, the new FORTRAN compiler detected a number of variables that were not initialised properly, which were then corrected. Hence, 12 (out of 177) subroutines as well as the main program were modified accordingly.

Both CPU versions of the *ACRU* model were thoroughly tested on drainage basins M and P, to ensure that floating point calculations were the same as those produced by the previous version (i.e. 3.36). However, the new version "crashed" whilst running at the national scale (i.e. for all basins) on drainage basins A, E, G, H, J and Q, affecting 1 512 of the 5 838 quinary sub-catchments. The model was re-compiled to ignore floating point errors to temporarily correct this anomaly.

#### 5.6.2 National runs

Although *ACRU* has been setup to run for all 5 838 quinaries, it cannot complete all quinaries in a single run. In order to simplify the complexity of this task, *ACRU* is run at the primary drainage basin level. Primary basins C and D cannot be run separately as quinary 1 431 (basin C) flows into quinary 1 929 (basin D). Hence, the model runs for each of the 21 basins, since primary's C and D are run together (**Table 55**). This approach improves the time required to complete all 5 838 runs, with the model running fastest for primary M (24 quinaries) and slowest for primary CD (1 443 quinaries).

Primary	Start	End	No. of
catchment	quinary	quinary	quinaries
A	1	417	417
В	418	852	435
CD	853	2 295	1 443
E	2 296	2 520	225
F	2 521	2 625	105
G	2 626	2 799	174
Н	2 800	3 006	207
J	3 007	3 282	276
K	3 283	3 402	120
L	3 403	3 576	174
М	3 577	3 600	24
N	3 601	3 708	108
Р	3 709	3 756	48
Q	3 757	3 969	213
R	3 970	4 059	90
S	4 060	4 233	174
Т	4 234	4 635	402
U	4 636	4 821	186
V	4 822	5 079	258
W	5 080	5 526	447
Х	5 527	5 838	312
Total			5 838

 
 Table 55
 The relationship between each primary drainage basin and the quinary subcatchments

For national scale simulations, the "norm" was to run the model manually for each drainage basin as user intervention was required in-between each step. This resulted in significant time being "wasted" between basin runs. For example, the national runs usually started with primary CD, as this represented the most complex (and longest) task. The run was started in the late afternoon and allowed to complete overnight. The next basin run was started manually the following day and this process was repeated until all subsequent basin runs were completed.

However, considerable effort was devoted to automating the procedure whereby *ACRU* runs non-stop for all 21 basins. This effort has significantly improved efficiency by reducing the overall time required to complete a national run. Furthermore, the automation allows for a feedstock to be re-run if 1) errors are discovered during the analysis, or 2) parameters are refined based on new evidence. Thus, much effort was also spent on ensuring the automation procedure runs smoothly and correctly.

In the past, a national run completed in approximately 26 hours on a Core 2 Duo PC. The automation procedure has since been further optimised, reducing the run time down to 19 hours. No further optimisation is deemed possible and thus, the current automation technique is considered highly efficient (i.e. computational expense is minimised). It is also

important to note that the PC's anti-virus software was disabled whilst the model was executing the national runs. This considerably reduces the time to completion.

### 5.6.3 Modelling approach and application

The approach followed in this project is consistent with that used in the past to estimate the water use of commercial forestry and sugarcane (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009b), as well as selected biofuel feedstocks (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). All these studies used the *ACRU* modelling system to assess the impact of proposed land use changes on stream flow generation, relative the stream flow generated from a land cover of natural vegetation as depicted by the Acocks Veld Type map. Hence, no changes were made to the parameters used to estimate the baseline runoff response. However, numerous other changes were made in this study as summarised below:

- The parameters used for sugarcane differ to those used in the SFRA study undertaken by Jewitt *et al.* (2009b). The values used for the three growing regions (North Coast, South Coast and Inland) were averaged to provide one set of "generic" crop-specific parameters and variables.
- Similarly, the original parameters used for sugarbeet, sorghum, canola, soybean and sunflower in the scoping study (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a) were refined extensively.
- If crop coefficients for a particular feedstock were derived using FAO56 as the reference, they were adjusted to PAN equivalent values using new pan coefficients that vary spatially.
- The rainfall adjustment factors (called *CORPPT* in *ACRU*) used in this study are those described by Schulze *et al.* (2011), which differ to that used in the SFRA and scoping studies.
- Daily estimates of reference evapotranspiration for each quinary were derived using the Penman-Monteith (FAO56) method. Solar radiation was estimated using the technique summarised by Schulze *et al.* (2011). Wind speed was assumed to be 2.0 m s<sup>-1</sup>.
- New APAN adjustment factors were determined (called *CORPAN* in *ACRU*) using a unique approach (the modified *PENPAN* equation), which may indicate that APAN evaporation was under-estimated in previous studies.
- The monthly *CORPAN* adjustments were applied to the Penman-Monteith reference evaporation estimates to ensure that the APAN reference crop coefficient values used for natural vegetation were applicable.
- Significant improvements were made to optimise model runs at the national scale in order to reduce computational expense.
- The *ACRU* model was run at the national scale for all 5 838 quinaries, regardless of whether the feedstock can be successfully grown in the quinary.

- For each quinary, ACRU simulations were performed for the dominant Acocks Veld Type (i.e. that veld type covering the largest area in each quinary). This provided baseline stream flow depths for each sub-catchment against which estimated stream flow reductions resulting from a land use change to feedstock production could be assessed.
- Feedstock water use was calculated relative to that of natural vegetation, i.e. water use is considered the difference between stream flow generated by the proposed land use and that of Acocks.
- Stream flow reductions were therefore assumed to be the difference between stream flow simulated for a quinary where 100% of the dominant Acocks Veld Type is replace by a biofuel feedstock. Reductions in mean annual stream flow totals and low flow indices (driest three months) were calculated in this manner.
- The model was run in "distributed" mode and not "lumped" mode, which allows for the estimation of stream flow that includes contributions from upstream sub-catchments.
- Output was presented in a form compatible with the utilities and tools used for the management and assessment of existing SFRAs, i.e. for commercial forestry.

The main reason for running the model for all quinaries was to avoid the scenario where, if a land suitability map for a particular feedstock is updated or refined, additional model runs may then be required for quinaries not previously highlighted as being suitable for the production of that feedstock.

In order to run *ACRU* in "distributed" mode, the quinary immediately downstream of the subcatchment under consideration must be known. For example, the upper quinary "flows" into the "middle" quinary, which then flows into the "lower" quinary. The lower quinary (which now represents the outlet of the original quaternary) flows into the outlet (i.e. lower quinary) of the downstream quaternary, which could then, for example, flow into the sea. This allows the output from the *ACRU* runs to be used for other purposes (other than to meet the objectives of the biofuels project).

# **6** BIOFUEL YIELD POTENTIAL OF FEEDSTOCKS

This chapter provides a description of the methodology used to derive national estimates of attainable yield for five prioritised feedstocks. This section therefore pertains to **AIM 5** of this project's terms of reference, which requires the determination of biofuel yield potential. In order to determine biofuel yield potential, an estimate of biofuel feedstock yield is first required.

### 6.1 Introduction

### 6.1.1 Definition of attainable yield

In thus study, attainable yield is defined as the utilisable portion of the plant biomass that contains sugar, starch or vegetable oil which can be converted into biofuel. This yield was obtained under dryland farming conditions which may be water stressed and thus, is referred to as a water-limited yield potential. Although the crop may be water stressed, it is assumed that soil fertility is not limiting to plant growth and that no competition from weeds exists.

Furthermore, it is also important to be specific about the nature of the yield (e.g. wet or fresh vs. dry mass, in-shell vs. de-husked etc.). Yield and water use efficiency depend on crop physiology ( $C_3$  vs.  $C_4$  crop and variety used), agronomy (planting density and planting date), site conditions (climate, soils and terrain) as well as other management practices (site preparation, irrigation use, fertiliser use & weeding control). By definition, quantification of water use efficiency requires knowledge of the feedstock's yield as well as the water use.

### 6.1.2 Modelling approach and application

Since it is virtually impossible to measure crop yield (and water use) for all possible combinations of climate, soils and management conditions in South Africa, it is necessary to either develop a new model, or use an existing model. The model should accurately simulate attainable yield of biofuel feedstocks across a wide range of growing conditions and management practices.

According to Teixeira (2008), the most common methods for estimating crop production include calculations range from simple empirical methods, to complex mechanistic crop growth models. By definition, a model is a simplified representation of a real world system. A crop model should be complex enough to comprehensively represent the system, yet simple enough to be applied and used. To date, a single universal crop model does not exist. Instead, numerous crop yield models have been developed that simulate, *inter alia*, different crops, processes and environmental conditions (Steduto, 2006).

## 6.1.2.1 Empirically-based models

Empirical yield models include equations which predict yield using various agrometeorological indices such as, *inter alia*, rainfall, temperature, growing degree days and vapour pressure deficits. Typically, such equations are developed using a multiple regression analysis of agro-meteorological indices as independent variables to predict crop yield. Ideally, empirical crop models should not be used in conditions outside the environment in which they were developed. Smith (1994; 1998; 2006) developed a suite of empirical models to estimate crop yield in South Africa. This was done for a range of crops according to climatic criteria (effective rainfall; accumulated heat units) adjusted for 1) different levels of management, and 2) soils characteristics. These equations should not be applied outside the climatic criteria for optimum growth for a particular crop, nor can they account for the effects of  $CO_2$  on crop yield.

#### 6.1.2.2 Mechanistic-type models

Most crop models are mechanistic, which implies that in a given context, defined by the set of variables, a unique output is calculated (Gary *et al.*, 1998). The mechanistic approach is based in a thorough understanding of the mechanisms driving crop growth and yield. However, mechanistic-type models need to be parameterised for each crop cultivar.

Although most mechanistic models have distinctive features, they are based on common principles for estimating crop yield. All crop growth models are based on a "growth engine" that simulates the production of biomass from captured resources, such as solar radiation, carbon dioxide water and nutrients (Steduto, 2006). Most of the growth engines used by different crop models can be grouped into the following three categories:

- Carbon-driven: growth is based on the assimilation of carbon by leaves during the photosynthetic process. These complex models simulate carbon partitioning, root development as well as various other feed-back and feed-forward mechanisms. Parameterisation is quite demanding in terms of time and resources for new crop cultivars.
- Solar-driven: based on a linear relationship between biomass production and intercepted solar radiation, with the slope of this line called the radiation use efficiency or RUE. However, this linear relationship is lost (i.e. becomes non-linear) under water stressed and nutrient deficient conditions.
- Water-driven: based on a linear relationship between biomass production and cumulative transpiration (called the water productivity term). However, the relationship also loses its linearity under water stressed, nutrient deficient or highly saline conditions, similar to the solar-driven growth engine (Steduto, 2006).

### 6.2 Appropriate Models

The use of Barry Smith's simple empirical models was not considered appropriate for this study because the models are largely based on experience from KwaZulu-Natal. Thus, extrapolating the results to other Provinces such as the winter rainfall region of the Western Cape may be problematic. Furthermore, Smith has not developed models for canola or sugarbeet as these crops are not grown in KwaZulu-Natal.

Owing to the complexity of carbon-driven models, they were not considered for use in this study. Of the two remaining growth engines, Steduto (2006) stated that water-driven crop models are the most robust and most promising of the three growth engines highlighted. Such models exhibit low sensitivity to stresses and are less prone to errors, provided leaf expansive growth (i.e. leaf area) and conductance are properly simulated. Based on this recommendation, the *AQUACROP* model developed by the FAO was selected for yield

simulation. This model is based on a water-driven growth engine. Similarly, the *SWB* model developed by the University of Pretoria was also selected for use, which has a solar-driven growth engine model.

### 6.2.1 The solar-driven growth engine

Since solar radiation is the primary driving force for all growth engines, some crop models derive the biomass directly from the intercepted solar radiation through a single synthetic coefficient. Such models are therefore based on the solar-driven growth engine. Solar-driven models differ from carbon-driven models as there are no intermediary steps required to estimate biomass accumulation. This does not mean that the underlining processes are absent, but only that they are synthetically incorporated into a coefficient called radiation use efficiency (RUE or  $\epsilon$ ).

RUE is used to estimate biomass production directly from solar radiation, without the intermediate steps to calculate photosynthesis and respiration. RUE is defined as the ratio of above-ground biomass production (g m<sup>-2</sup>) to intercepted PAR (MJ m<sup>-2</sup>) and represents a linear relationship under non-stressed conditions (**Figure 36**). Numerous RUE values are available for different crops and locations in the literature. Sinclair and Muchow (1999) described how to experimentally determine and measure RUE and summarised (with critical analysis) all literature values for a large number of crops (Steduto, 2006).



**Figure 36** Theoretical relationship between above-ground biomass and intercepted solar radiation for  $C_4$  and  $C_3$  crops. The slope of the linear relationship represents the radiation use efficiency or RUE (after Gosse *et al.*, 1986)

The main disadvantage of this type of growth engine is related to the diversity in biomass sampling and intercepted solar radiation measurement techniques, which affect the determination of RUE. Furthermore, the slope of the relationship shown in **Figure 36** loses

its linearity under water stressed and nutrient deficient conditions. This non-linearity also occurs when the dry matter produced contains high energy-content compounds such as lipids (Steduto, 2006).

### 6.2.2 The water-driven growth engine

There is a strong relationship between cumulative biomass production and cumulative canopy transpiration (Tanner and Sinclair, 1983). This relationship is based on the premise that carbon assimilation occurs when the plant is actively transpiring. Hence, stomatal conductance exhibits a similar impact on both the assimilation and transpiration processes. These two processes are controlled by the concentration gradients of  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$  between the ambient air and the intercellular air spaces. The difference between assimilation and transpiration and transpiration is related to the biochemical carboxylation capacity of the leaves (Steduto, 2006).

The relationship between assimilation and transpiration observed at leaf scale is retained at crop scale, provided that respiration remains a constant proportion of carbon assimilation under different environmental conditions. Hence, dry matter production is estimated from transpiration using the biomass/transpiration (or B/T) ratio, which is also referred to as the water productivity (or water use efficiency) value. Hence, the ratio of biomass production (in g) to transpiration loss (in kg) represents a linear relationship under non-stressed conditions (Tanner and Sinclair, 1983). However, the relationship also loses its linearity under water stressed, nutrient deficient or highly saline conditions, similar to the solar-driven growth engine (Steduto, 2006).

Another disadvantage of this approach is the difficulty in estimating actual transpiration loss from the crop canopy. It is recommended that transpiration is divided by the evaporative demand of the atmosphere ( $E_r$  or  $ET_o$ ), in order to normalise climatic variability across different locations (**Figure 37**). The normalisation appears ineffective when carried out using vapour pressure deficit (Steduto, 2006). It is important to note that carbon assimilation utilises the photosynthetic active component of the captured radiation (i.e. PAR), whilst transpiration utilises all intercepted solar radiation. In general, PAR is a fairly constant proportion ( $\approx$ 50%) of the incident solar radiation (Monteith, 1972).



Sum(Tr/ET0)



#### 6.3 The SWB model

The Soil Water Balance (*SWB*) model (Annandale *et al.*, 1999) is a mechanistic-type, daily time step, irrigation scheduling model. Although *SWB* was originally developed as a tool for irrigation management, the model is also capable of simulating yield. The user has the option to choose between the crop growth model or a FAO crop factor model. The FAO model cannot simulate crop growth and yield, but an estimation of yield reduction due to water stress is possible. The crop growth model requires the determination of crop-specific model parameters for each crop in order to simulate growth, water use and dry matter production (yield). A description of the parameters required by the crop growth model and the FAO model is given next.

#### 6.3.1 SWB parameters (growth model)

The crop-specific parameters required by *SWB*'s growth mode reflect the species' or cultivar's canopy characteristics, degree days to different phenological stages and potential dry matter production (which in turn are affected by a cultivar's genotype and the growing conditions). Model growth parameters for different crops are usually determined from growth analysis data collected from field experiments.

The canopy radiation extinction coefficient for solar radiation ( $K_s$ ) was determined using a basic equation that describes the transmission of solar radiation through the plant canopy, according to Bouguer's law (Campbell and Van Evert, 1994):

$$FI_s = 1 - exp(-K_s \cdot LAI)$$

**Equation 53** 

where  $FI_s$  is fractional interception of solar radiation and *LAI* is leaf area index (m<sup>2</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>). The light extinction coefficient for solar radiation ( $K_s$ ) is used by *SWB* to predict radiation-limited dry matter production (Monteith, 1977) and for partitioning evapotranspiration into evaporation from the soil surface and crop transpiration (Ritchie, 1972).

Radiation use efficiency ( $E_c$  in MJ<sup>-1</sup>) is determined based on a linear relationship established by Monteith (1977) between accumulated crop dry matter and intercepted solar radiation, which is:

$$DM = E_c \cdot Fl_s \cdot R_s$$
 Equation 54

where *DM* is dry matter production (g m<sup>-2</sup>),  $FI_s$  is fractional interception for total solar radiation, and  $R_s$  is daily total incident solar radiation (MJ m<sup>-2</sup>). The  $E_c$  value was determined by fitting a linear regression equation between cumulative biomass production and cumulative  $R_s$  interception. The slope of the regression line forced through the origin represents  $E_c$ .

The leaf-stem partitioning parameter was determined as a function of specific leaf area (*SLA* in m<sup>2</sup> kg<sup>-1</sup>), leaf area index (*LAI* in m<sup>2</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) and canopy dry matter yield (*CDM* in kg m<sup>-2</sup>) (Jovanovic *et al.*, 1999). The slope of the regression line represents the leaf-stem partitioning parameter in m<sup>2</sup> kg<sup>-1</sup>.

$$LDM = CDM / (1 + p \cdot CDM)$$
 Equation 55

Canopy dry matter (*CDM*) is calculated as follows:

*LDM* is used to calculate *LAI* as follows:

$$LAI = SLA \cdot LDM$$
 Equation 57

where *LDM* is leaf dry matter (kg m<sup>-2</sup>), *CDM* is canopy dry matter (kg m<sup>-2</sup>) and *SDM* is stem dry matter (kg m<sup>-2</sup>). The vapour pressure deficit-corrected dry matter/water ratio (*DWR*) is calculated as follows (Tanner and Sinclair, 1983):

$$DWR = (DM \cdot VPD) / PT$$
 Equation 58

where *DM* (kg m<sup>-2</sup>) is above-ground biomass measured at harvest, whilst *VPD* represents the seasonal average vapour pressure deficit. Both *VPD* and *DWR* are in units of Pascal (Pa). *PT* (mm) is potential transpiration and is calculated from potential evapotranspiration (i.e. maximum evaporation) and canopy cover following Allen *et al.* (1998).

Daily *VPD* calculated from measurements of maximum air temperature ( $T_{max}$ ), minimum air temperature ( $T_{min}$ ), maximum relative humidity ( $RH_{max}$ ) and minimum relative humidity ( $RH_{min}$ ) adopting the following procedure recommended by the FAO56 report (Allen *et al.*, 1998):
$$VPD = \left(\frac{e_s(T_{\text{max}}) + e_s(T_{\text{min}})}{2}\right) - e_a$$
 Equation 59

The term  $e_a$  is the actual vapour pressure (kPa) and calculated from measured daily  $T_{max}$  and  $T_{min}$  (in °C) as well as  $RH_{max}$  and  $RH_{min}$  (in %) using the following equation (Allen *et al.*, 1998):

$$e_a = \left(\frac{e_s(T_{\max}) \frac{RHmax}{100} + e_s(T_{\min}) \frac{RHmin}{100}}{2}\right)$$
 Equation 60

In the above equation,  $e_s(T_{max})$  and  $e_s(T_{min})$  are the saturated vapour pressures (in kPa) at maximum ( $T_{max}$ ) and minimum air temperatures ( $T_{min}$ ) respectively. Saturated vapour pressure ( $e_s$ ) at maximum and minimum air temperature are calculated by replacing *T* with  $T_{max}$  and  $T_{min}$  (°C) in the following equation (Allen *et al.*, 1998):

$$e_s = 0.6108 \cdot exp\left[\frac{17.27T}{T + 237.3}\right]$$
 Equation 61

Growing degree days (*GDD* in d °C) is determined from daily average air temperature ( $T_{ave}$  in °C) following Monteith (1977):

$$GDD = (T_{ave} - T_{bse}) \cdot \Delta t$$
 Equation 62

where  $T_{bse}$  is the temperature (°C) below which development is assumed to cease and  $\Delta t$  is the time step (i.e. one day). The value of  $T_{bse}$  is crop dependent.

#### 6.3.2 SWB parameters (FAO model)

For tree crops, the FAO basal crop coefficient approach is used in *SWB* for simulation of crop water use, since tree growth is complex and difficult to simulate when using a generic crop model such as *SWB*. Therefore, the FAO model in *SWB* was used in the current study to estimate the water use of Moringa.

#### 6.4 The AQUACROP model

#### 6.4.1 Introduction

AQUACROP calculates crop biomass based on the amount of water transpired. Then, it estimates crop yield as the proportion of biomass that goes into the harvestable parts (e.g. stem, grain, oilseed, tuber etc.). The model separates non-productive consumption of water (soil water evaporation) from the productive consumption of water (transpiration). Furthermore, the timescale used in AQUACROP is daily, in order to better represent the dynamics of crop response to water. The model can be used to:

- assess the effect of water shortages on crop production,
- compare the results of several water allocations plans,
- optimise irrigation scheduling (either full, deficit or supplementary), and
- enhance management strategies for increased water productivity and water savings.

The model can also assess crop response to different climate change scenarios in terms of altered soil water, temperature regimes and elevated atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentration. *AQUACROP* simulates daily crop growth, productivity and water use as influenced by changing water availability and environmental conditions. Model results obtained to date provide grounds for confidence in its performance.

Overall, AQUACROP can be used to investigate the efficiency and productivity of water use in herbaceous crop production. It is not designed for use with trees and vines. AQUACROP is applicable to all major herbaceous crop types: fruit or grain crops; root and tuber or stemstorage crops; leafy or floral vegetable crops, and ratoon forage crops. The model has been paramteterised for the following 14 crops:

- barley (Hordeum vulgare L.),
- cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.),
- maize (Zea mays L.),
- potato (Solanum tuberosum),
- quinoa (Chenopodium quinoa Willd.),
- rice (Oryza sativa L.),
- soybean (*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.),
- **sugarbeet** (*Beta vulgaris* L.),
- sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum),
- **sorghum** (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench),
- **sunflower** (*Helianthus annuus* L.),
- tef (Eragrostis tef (Zucc.) Trotter),
- tomato (Solanum lycopersicum L.), and
- wheat (Triticum aestivum L.; Triticum turgidum durum).

Excluding food security concerns, the feedstocks highlighted in bold are considered biofuel feedstocks. Unfortunately, canola is missing from this list. The model developers are currently working on adding other crops (Vanuytrecht *et al.*, 2014). Their goal is to provide an overview of each crop's physiology and agronomy, to assist in applying the model at a given location. The crop description includes growth and development, water use and productivity, responses to water deficits as well as expected yields.

# 6.4.2 Water production function

AQUACROP is based on the water production function (**Equation 63**) where relative yield (Y) reduction is related to the corresponding relative reduction in evapotranspiration (*ET*):

$$\left(1 - \frac{Y_a}{Y_x}\right) = K_y \left(1 - \frac{ET_a}{ET_x}\right)$$

# **Equation 63**

where  $Y_x$  and  $Y_a$  is the maximum and actual yield,  $ET_x$  and  $ET_a$  is the maximum and actual evapotranspiration, and  $K_y$  is a yield response factor representing the effect of a reduction in evapotranspiration on yield losses. **Equation 63** can be applied to all agricultural crops, i.e. herbaceous, trees and vines. The relationship has shown remarkable validity and allowed a workable procedure to quantify the effects of water deficits on yield.

#### 6.4.2.1 Yield response factor

The yield response factor ( $K_y$ ) captures the essence of the complex linkages between production and water use by a crop. Hence, it represents many biological, physical and chemical processes.  $K_y$  values are therefore crop specific and vary over the growing season according to growth stage. The information provided in **Table 56** helps understand the yield response factor. For example,  $K_y$  for sorghum is 0.9 (i.e. drought tolerant), compared to 1.25 for maize.

Table 56	Interpretation of $K_y$ value (Steduto <i>et al.</i> , 2012)
Value	Meaning
K > 1	Crop response is very sensitive to water deficit, with proportional larger
$n_y > 1$	yield reductions when water use is reduced because of stress
K - 1	Crop is more tolerant to water deficit, and recovers partially from stress,
$n_y < 1$	exhibiting less than proportional reductions in yield with reduced water use
$K_y = 1$	Yield reduction is directly proportional to reduced water use

As mentioned,  $K_y$  varies with time to depict the crop's sensitivity to water stress at different phenological stages. **Figure 38** shows that maize is sensitive to water stress at the flowering and yield formation stages. The higher the  $K_y$  values (i.e. the steeper the slope), the greater

the yield reduction for a given reduction in ET (Steduto et al., 2012).



**Figure 38** Linear water production functions for maize subjected to water deficits during different growth stages

Stress occurring in the ripening phase has a limited impact, as in the vegetative phase (provided the crop is able to recover from stress in subsequent stages). This approach and the calculation procedures for estimating yield response to water were originally published in the FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper No. 33 (Doorenbos and Kassam, 1979), considered one of FAO's milestone publications.

#### 6.4.2.2 Estimating maximum yield

Maximum yield ( $Y_x$ ) is calculated using available local data or from maximum biomass and a corresponding harvest index, assuming agronomic factors (e.g. water, fertilisers, pest and diseases) are not limiting. Refer to Doorenbos and Kassam, 1979) for further information if required.

# 6.4.2.3 Maximum crop evapotranspiration

Maximum crop evapotranspiration  $(ET_x)$  is calculated from the product of crop-reference evaporation  $(ET_o)$  and the crop coefficient (or crop factor,  $K_c$ ), assuming that crop water requirements are fully met.  $ET_o$  is a model input, allowing the user to decide which method to calculate this value (e.g. Penman-Monteith or Hargreaves and Samani).

#### 6.4.2.4 Actual crop evapotranspiration

Actual crop evapotranspiration  $(ET_a)$  is calculated by considering the available water supply to the crop. Water balance calculations are used to estimate the available soil water content in the root zone on a daily basis. If soil water is readily available to the crop, then  $ET_a = ET_x$ . When a critical soil moisture level is reached, defined as a fraction of the total plant available water (*p*), transpiration is reduced because the stomata close and thus  $ET_a < ET_x$ . When the soil water content reaches the permanent wilting point,  $ET_a$  approaches zero. This critical soil-water content (*p*) is estimated from soil, crop and rooting characteristics and from the  $ET_o$  rate. Depletion of soil-water content between *p* and the permanent wilting point will result in a proportional reduction of  $ET_a$ .

#### 6.4.2.5 Actual crop yield

Actual crop yield ( $Y_a$ ) is calculated using **Equation 63**, using the proper selection of the response factor ( $K_y$ ) for the full growing season or over the different growing stages. However, for planning and management studies, the yield reduction is expressed in relative terms as a fraction or percentage  $(1 - Y_a/Y_x)$ , rather than an absolute value ( $Y_a$ ).

#### 6.4.2.6 Limitations

The simplification introduced by using an empirical yield response factor ( $K_y$ ) to integrate the complex linkages between production and water use by a crop limits its applicability for making accurate estimates of yield responses to water. In addition, other factors also affect crop response to water (e.g. nutrients, different cultivars, etc.) Hence,  $K_y$  reflects crop- and site-specific responses to water.

If the aim is to increase efficiency and productivity of water use, **Equation 63** is of limited use and predictions that are more accurate are required for yield response under actual field conditions. *AQUACROP* provides a valid alternative for herbaceous crops, allowing more accurate estimation of actual crop growth and yield under various soil water availability, climate and soil fertility conditions.

#### 6.4.2.7 The improved model

AQUACROP is a dynamic crop-growth model developed to predict yield response of herbaceous crops to water availability. The basic concepts and fundamental calculation procedures are briefly described next.

Intercepted solar radiation is the driving force for both photosynthesis and transpiration, with a direct relationship existing between transpiration and biomass production. Hence, water stress reduces transpiration which then decreases biomass production, which finally reduces crop yield. The key is to separate non-productive soil water evaporation (*E*) from productive crop transpiration (*Tr*).

Biomass production (*B* in kg m<sup>-2</sup>) is then estimated directly from accumulated crop transpiration (*Tr* in mm; summed over the time period in which biomass is produced) via a water productivity parameter (*WP* in kg m<sup>-2</sup> mm<sup>-1</sup>). Hence,  $B = WP \cdot \sum Tr$  which is at the core of the *AQUACROP* growth engine. For most crops, only part of the biomass produced is partitioned to the harvested organs to give yield, and the ratio of yield (*Y*) to biomass (*B*) is known as the harvest index (*HI*), hence  $Y = HI \cdot B$ . Model robustness is enhanced by:

- quantifying the harvest index day-by-day over the yield formation period, and
- normalising WP (designated WP\*) using evaporative demand.

*WP*\* behaves conservatively, remaining virtually constant over a range of environments. The daily time step allowed the important change from a static approach to a dynamic growth model. A schematic representation of *AQUACROP*'s growth engine is given in **Figure 39**.



**Figure 39** Solar-driven crop growth engine for the dynamic *AQUACROP* model (Steduto *et al.* 2012)

The above diagram illustrates the relationship (a') between crop yield and crop water use (i.e. crop evapotranspiration), via the  $K_{y}$  parameter (**Equation 63**). It also shows how the

AQUACROP model has evolved, based on separation of soil water evaporation (*E*) from crop transpiration and the estimation of yield from biomass via the harvest index (*HI*).

# 6.4.3 Model structure and components

The above description focused on *AQUACROP*'s crop (i.e. growth and yield processes) and soil (i.e. water balance) components. In addition, the model has two other components, namely:

- climate (rainfall, temperature, evaporation, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration), and
- management practices (including irrigation, fertilisation and mulching).

Hence, *AQUACROP* simulates yield response to water under various management and environmental conditions, including climate change scenarios. However, like most crop models, it cannot account for the effects of pests and diseases. Each component is described next, with emphasis on the model's input data requirements.

AQUACROP uses a relative small number of parameters and fairly intuitive input variables, either widely used or largely requiring simple methods for their determination. Inputs consist of climate data, crop and soil characteristics, and management practices that define the environment in which the crop will develop. These inputs are summarised schematically in **Figure 40** and are stored in climate, crop, soil and management files. The values can be easily retrieved from AQUACROP's database and adjusted within the user interface (Steduto *et al.*, 2012).



**Figure 40** Input data required by *AQUACROP* which defines the environment in which the crop develops

# 6.4.3.1 Climate

The climate component requires daily rainfall, maximum and minimum air temperature, reference-crop evaporation ( $ET_o$ ) as well as annual mean carbon dioxide concentration ( $CO_2$ ) of the atmosphere. Temperature influences crop development (phenology), in particular extreme values (i.e. very cold or very hot). Rainfall and evaporation determine the water balance of the root zone and hence water stress.

# 6.4.3.2 Soil

A description of the soil profile and characteristics of the groundwater are required. The depth to the groundwater table below the soil surface and the groundwater salinity are two important characteristics. In *AQUACROP*, the soil can be subdivided by the user into five horizons of variable depth, with each horizon (or layer) accommodating different soil physical characteristics as follows:

- the upper limit of water content under gravity, commonly referred as field capacity (FC; or drained upper limit),
- the lower limit of water content when the crop reaches its permanent wilting point (PWP), and

• hydraulic conductivity at saturation (*K*<sub>SAT</sub>).

Internally, the model subdivides the entire soil profile into 12 soil compartments as shown in **Figure 41**. The total number of compartments always remains 12, regardless of the number of horizons (Steduto *et al.*, 2012). The thickness of each compartment ( $\Delta z$ ) increases exponentially with depth, so that infiltration, soil water evaporation and transpiration from the top soil layers can be described with sufficient detail. The soil-water content is updated at the end of the daily time step in each of the 12 compartments. From this approach, *AQUACROP* derives other parameters governing surface runoff, capillary rise, internal drainage and deep percolation. The reader is referred to the *AQUACROP* reference manual for full details (Raes *et al.*, 2012a; 2012b).



Figure 41 A soil profile with one soil horizon (varying up to five) and 12 soil compartments

A soil water balance is performed by keeping track of the incoming (rainfall, irrigation & capillary rise) and outgoing (runoff, evapotranspiration & deep percolation) water and salt fluxes. When calculating the soil water balance, the amount of water stored in the root zone can be expressed as an equivalent water depth ( $W_r$ ) or as root zone depletion ( $D_r$ ). At field capacity,  $D_r$  is zero and at permanent wilting point,  $D_r$  is equal to total available water (i.e. TAW = FC - PWP).

# 6.4.3.3 Rooting depth

Root water uptake is simulated by defining effective rooting depth ( $Z_{eff}$ ) and the water extraction pattern.  $Z_{eff}$  at planting to near emergence is the soil depth from which the germinating seed or the young seedling can extract water. A minimum effective rooting depth of 0.2 to 0.3 m ( $Z_{min}$ ) at the beginning is generally considered appropriate.

Under optimal conditions (i.e. with no soil restrictions), the maximum effective rooting depth ( $Z_{max}$ ) is typically reached when canopy senescence begins (i.e. at maturity). The maximum rooting depth might not be attained due to a soil layer restricting root growth (i.e. stone line), or a shallow groundwater table.

Water extraction by roots follows a typical pattern of 40% from the upper quarter of  $Z_{eff}$ , 30% and 20% from the middle two quarters and 10% from the lower quarter of  $Z_{eff}$  (when water content is adequate). This pattern can be changed by the user, if warranted by specific physical or chemical characteristics of the soil.

# 6.4.3.4 Crop

After emergence, the crop grows and develops over its growth cycle by expanding the canopy and deepening the root system, transpiring water and cumulating biomass, while progressing through its phenological stages. The harvest index alters the portion of biomass that will be harvestable. No other partitioning among the various plant organs takes place, thus avoiding the complexity associated with partitioning processes (which remain the most difficult to model). Hence, the crop component of the model includes the following sub-components:

- phenology,
- canopy cover,
- rooting depth (see description given above),
- crop transpiration,
- soil water evaporation,
- biomass production, and
- harvestable yield.

**Phenology:** AQUACROP uses growing degree days (GDD) to account for effects of temperature regimes on phenology and therefore the crop's base temperature is required. The key developmental stages are:

- emergence,
- start of flowering (anthesis),
- root/tuber/stem-storage initiation,
- time when maximum rooting depth is reached,
- start of canopy senescence, and
- physiological maturity.

The calibrated values for each crop serve as a solid starting point. Some parameters may need to be adjusted for different crop cultivars. Calibrations should be done on crops which are not limited by the major nutrients (N, P & K).

**Canopy cover:** One of the distinctive features of AQUACROP is the expression of foliage amount using canopy cover (in fraction or percentage) and not leaf area index (LAI). The initial canopy cover ( $CC_o$ ) and the canopy growth coefficient (CGC) are required as inputs. These values account for effects of plant density on canopy size. As the crop approaches maturity, green canopy cover begins to decrease due to leaf senescence. This decline is characterised by an empirical canopy decline coefficient (CDC). This parameter is used to either lengthen or shorten the time span from start of senescence to no remaining green canopy (i.e. CC = 0). The starting time for senescence is critical because it determines how long the canopy is most effective in photosynthesis. Calibration of senescence requires accurate field observation (or measurement of LAI) during the late phase near maturity. A typical canopy cover curve is shown in **Figure 42** for maize.



**Figure 42** Progress of green canopy cover through the life-cycle of maize under nonstressed conditions (Steduto *et al.*, 2012)

**Crop transpiration:** Transpiration per unit land area is dependent on the fraction of land area covered by the canopy (*CC*) when stomatal opening is not limited by stress. The model requires the crop coefficient ( $K_c$ ) when the canopy fully covers the ground (i.e. when *CC* approaches 1). This value is used to calculate transpiration (*Tr*) from *ET*<sub>o</sub>.

**Soil water evaporation:** Soil water evaporation (*E*) takes place from the non-shaded soil surface (i.e. 1 - *CC*). When the soil surface is fully wet, the Stage I potential evaporation rate is 10% more than  $ET_o$  and lasts about a day (can be user defined). Thereafter, Stage II evaporation occurs and is calculated by adjusting the potential evaporation rate by an exponentially declining coefficient. At the onset of canopy senescence, a simple factor is applied to reduce the shading effect of the dying canopy.

**Biomass production:** The biomass water productivity (*WP*) is fundamental to the operation of *AQUACROP* and is remarkably conservative (remaining nearly constant) when normalised for  $ET_o$ , provided nutrients (particularly N) are not limiting.

$$WP^* = \frac{B}{\sum \left(\frac{Tr}{ET_o}\right)}$$

#### **Equation 64**

This equation is directly applicable when Tr and  $ET_o$  data are for daily time intervals. When the time interval is larger than daily, this normalisation requires caution. In the literature, WPis commonly normalised for vapour pressure deficit (VPD) instead of  $ET_o$ . Using  $ET_o$  is superior as it accounts for advective energy transfer, which is ignored when VPD is used. **Harvestable yield:** The partitioning of biomass (*B*) into harvestable yield (*Y*) is simulated by means of a harvest index (*HI*). The ratio HI = Y/B is typically at maturity or harvest time. *HI* is increased within the model from zero (at flowering for fruit/grain crops) to an upper reference HI value (*HI*<sub>o</sub>). The rate of increase starts slowly over a short lag phase and then accelerates with time before reaching a steady phase at maturity (**Figure 43**). Calibrated *HI*<sub>o</sub> values can be changed based on good data for a particular cultivar.



**Figure 43** Increase in harvest index (HI) from flowering until physiological maturity for fruit/grain crops (Steduto *et al.*, 2012)

**Management:** AQUACROP encompasses two categories of management practices namely the irrigation management (which is quite complete in its various features) and the field management (limited to selected aspects and is relatively simple in approach).

**Irrigation management:** The model can assess crop yield response under rainfed or irrigated conditions. An additional feature is the estimation of full water requirement of a crop in a given climate. Management options include the selection of water application methods (sprinkler, surface, or drip either surface or underground). The determination of irrigation schedules is done by specifying the time, depth and quality of the irrigation water of each application, or letting the model automatically generate the schedule based on fixed:

- time interval,
- depth per application, or
- fixed percentage of allowable water depletion.

**Field management:** Three aspects considered by AQUACROP include:

- fertility of the soil for growing the crop, whether native or by fertilisation,
- mulching of the soil to reduce soil water evaporation, and
- use of soil bunds (i.e. small dykes) to pond water or control surface runoff and enhance infiltration.

AQUACROP does not simulate the effects of fertility on crop growth. Instead, it provides for adjustment of default values pertaining to pivotal crop parameters (e.g. *CGC*, *CC* and *WP\**) based on fertility categories (ranging from near optimal to poor). These adjustments are based on the pattern of canopy evolution, photosynthesis, and WP at different fertility levels reported in several studies. A local calibration is preferred, which involves observing biomass production and canopy development at different fertility levels.

Mulching is considered only for its effect on reducing soil water evaporation (E) and is specified by the user in terms of the percentage of soil surface covered and effectiveness of the mulching material. Finally, a bund and its height can be specified to prevent runoff and force all water from rain or irrigation to infiltrate the soil. Bunds also allow the simulation of crops under ponding water such as paddy rice. For soils that are especially permeable, it is also possible to choose "no runoff" without building bunds.

**Dynamics of crop response to stress:** Abiotic environmental stresses such as water and temperature can have major negative impacts on canopy development, biomass production and yield. The impact depends on the timing of occurrence, severity and duration. *AQUACROP* is primarily designed to simulate crop responses to water, but with sufficient attention given to temperature. The model also takes an indirect approach to stress induced by mineral nutrient deficiencies or the presence of salts in the root zone.

**Stress response functions:** Any type of stress is described in *AQUACROP* by means of a stress coefficient ( $K_s$ ). In essence,  $K_s$  modifies its target model parameter, and ranges in value from one (no stress) to zero (full stress). The relative stress level is 0.0 at the upper threshold and 1.0 at the lower threshold. The shape of most  $K_s$  curves is typically convex and the degree of curvature is set during model calibration (**Figure 44**).



**Figure 44** The stress coefficient ( $K_s$ ) for various degrees of stress and for two sample shapes of the  $K_s$  curve (Steduto *et al.*, 2012)

For water stress, the shape of the curve can vary between very convex to linear. Conceptually, the more convex the curve, the higher is the crop's capacity to adjust and acclimate to the stress. A linear relationship indicates minimal or no drought tolerance. The stress thresholds, as well as the curve shape, are set by calibration and should be based on knowledge of the crop's drought resistance or tolerance.

The degree of soil fertility is the indicator for soil fertility stress. It varies from 0% (i.e. soil fertility is non-limiting;  $K_s = 1$ ), to 100% (i.e. crop production is no longer possible;  $K_s = 0$ ). This avoids the need to simulate nutrient balances, further adding to model complexity. The electrical conductivity of the soil water in the root zone (*ECe*) determines salinity stress. At the lower threshold of soil salinity,  $K_s$  becomes smaller than 1 and the stress starts to affect biomass production.  $K_s$  becomes zero at the upper threshold for soil salinity and the stress are discussed next in more detail.

**Temperature stress:** By using GDD as the thermal clock, much of the temperature effects on crops, such as on phenology and canopy expansion rate, are presumably accounted for. Indicators for air temperature stress are growing degrees (GDD), minimum air temperatures (cold stress) or maximum air temperatures (heat stress). For example, temperature stress affects pollination, which is inhibited by temperatures either too high or too low.

**Aeration stress:** Aeration stress is caused by excessive water in the soil profile. A stress coefficient approach is used to modulate Tr, hence biomass production and ET. The percentage of soil pore volume occupied by air in the root zone is important, with a settable upper threshold and the lower threshold fixed at zero (i.e. fully saturated soil). When the percentage air volume drops below the upper threshold,  $K_s$  starts to decrease below 1.0, causing proportional reduction in Tr. Hence, the sensitivity of the crop to waterlogging is specified by setting this upper threshold and by indicating the number of days that waterlogging is present before the stress becomes fully effective.

**Water stress:** Water stress refers to the stress caused by a lack of water. The threshold for water stress is the soil water depletion  $(D_r)$  from the root zone. The upper threshold refers to the soil water that can be depleted before the stress starts to affect the process, while the lower threshold is the root zone depletion at which the stress inhibits the process completely. Water stress affects canopy growth, stomatal conductance, canopy senescence, root growth and the harvest index, but not the normalised water productivity (as shown in the literature). The impact of water stress on each of these components is briefly discussed next.

The plant water status depends not only on soil water status, but also on the rate of transpiration (as determined by atmospheric evaporative demand). Hence, the crop is more sensitive to soil water depletion on days of high  $ET_o$  (> 5 mm) and less on days of low  $ET_o$  (< 5 mm) AQUACROP adjusts the thresholds of the  $K_s$  curve according to  $ET_o$ . Leaf expansion (hence the canopy) is most sensitive to water stress. On the other hand, stomatal conductance and leaf (hence canopy) senescence are substantially less sensitive.

Root growth is substantially less sensitive to water stress than leaves. In fact, the root to shoot ratio is enhanced by mild to moderate water stress). In *AQUACROP*, there is no link

between roots and shoot (canopy and biomass) except indirectly via the effect of root zone water depletion on components of the production process.

Yield also depends on *HI* and the impact of water stresses on HI can be pronounced (wither negative or positive), depending on the timing and extent of stress during the crop cycle. Water stress reduces pollination and fruit (or grain) set, thus decreasing the number of "pods" that can be filled with the available photosynthetic assimilate.

The structural components of *AQUACROP*, including stress responses and the functional linkages between them are shown schematically in **Figure 45**. The numbers represent water stress response functions for (1) leaf expansion, (2) senescence, (3) stomatal conductance and (4) harvest index, as discussed above. The diagram shows the main components of the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum and the parameters driving phenology, canopy cover, transpiration, biomass production and final yield. Solid lines indicate direct links between variables and processes. Dotted lines indicate feedbacks.



**Figure 45** The structural components of *AQUACROP*, including stress responses and the functional linkages among them (Steduto *et al.*, 2012)

The symbols used in **Figure 45** are as follows: I = irrigation; Tn = minimum air temperature; Tx = maximum air temperature;  $ET_o = reference evapotranspiration$ ; E = soil water evaporation; Tr = canopy transpiration;  $g_s = stomatal conductance$ ; WP = water productivity; HI = harvest index; and  $CO_2 = atmospheric carbon dioxide concentration.$ 

#### 6.4.4 Summary

Similar to other crop-growth models, *AQUACROP* includes various components which simulate the soil-plant-atmosphere continuum. These components deal with climatic (e.g. rainfall, evaporative demand) and atmospheric conditions (CO<sub>2</sub> concentration, exchange fluxes), soil water levels, crop development as well as growth and yield. Crop management, including agronomic practices such as irrigation and fertilisation, is also considered. Simulations are executed at the daily time step, using either calendar days or growing degree days (FAO, 2012c).

Soil water content is simulated by balancing incoming and outgoing water fluxes at the boundaries, considering the soil as a water storage reservoir with multiple layers. *AQUACROP* uses canopy ground cover instead of a leaf area index. Canopy development, stomatal conductance, canopy senescence and the harvest index are the key physiological crop responses to water stress. Evapotranspiration is simulated as crop transpiration and soil water evaporation and the daily transpiration is used to derive daily biomass gain via the normalised biomass water productivity value of the crop. Normalisation is based on reference evapotranspiration and CO<sub>2</sub> concentration to make the model applicable to diverse concentration to make the model applicable to diverse locations and seasons, including future climate scenarios. *AQUACROP* also accommodates different water management systems (e.g. rainfed agriculture, supplemental, deficit and full irrigation) (FAO, 2012c). For additional information, the reader is referred to the *AQUACROP* Reference Manual (Raes *et al.*, 2012a; 2012b).

# 6.5 National Model Runs

The methodology developed and followed in this study to estimate crop yield at the national scale is described next. *AQUACROP* was run nationally to estimate the attainable yield and water use efficiency under dryland conditions.

# 6.5.1 Revised quinary sub-catchment database

The reader is referred to Schulze and Horan (2011) for further explanation on how the quinary sub-catchments were delineated. Similarly, the reader is referred to Schulze *et al.* (2011) for more detail on how the original climate and soils quinary sub-catchment databases were developed. A summarised version is given in **Section 5.4** for the reader's convenience. However, in this study, a modified version of the quinary sub-catchment climate database was used. The reader is referred to **Section 5.5** for more detail. The soils information required by *AQUACROP* was derived from the quinary sub-catchments soil database as described next.

# 6.5.2 Soils input

According to Raes *et al.* (2013), the *AQUACROP* model requires the major physical characteristics for each soil horizon. The soils (.SOL) file provides the model with the soil water content (expressed as a volume %) at saturation (i.e. total porosity), field capacity (i.e. drained upper limit) and the permanent wilting point (i.e. lower limit). These soil water retention parameters were obtained from the original quinary sub-catchment soils database

as described by Schulze *et al.* (2011). In brief, values for these parameters were derived by Schulze and Horan (2007b) using the *AUTOSOILS* decision support tool (Pike and Schulze, 1995 and updates). This tool was applied to the ISCW soils database (SIRI, 1987 and updates) for each of the soil mapping units (called land types) which cover South Africa. Then, the hydrological properties of all soil series within an individual land type were area-weighted. For each quinary, the values for each parameter were then derived from the land types occurring in that sub-catchment, again on an area-proportioned basis. Values for both the A- and B-horizon for each soil water retention parameter were converted from a soil water content per unit of soil depth (i.e. m m<sup>-1</sup>) to a volume % (e.g. 241 mm m<sup>-1</sup> = 0.241 m m<sup>-1</sup> = 24.1%).

A utility was developed using the FORTRAN programming language to extract the soil water retention parameters from the quinary sub-catchment soils database and re-format them to that required by the *AQUACROP* model. An example for *AQUACROP's* soils (.SOL) file is given in APPENDIX I for sub-catchment 4 696. The model also requires the initial soil water content of the soil profile given in the .SWO file. A total of 11 676 (5 838 \* 2) soil-related files were produced to run the model at a national scale.

An example of a .SW0 file is also provided in **APPENDIX I**, the initial soil water content is taken as the average of the field capacity (FC) and wilting point (WP) values for each of the two soil horizons (expressed as a volume %). As shown in **APPENDIX I**, the *AQUACROP* model requires a number of other soil-related parameters. These are explained in more detail in the sections that follow, together with the methodology used to derive their values.

#### 6.5.2.1 Saturated hydraulic conductivity

The AQUACROP model also requires the saturated hydraulic conductivity ( $K_{SAT}$ ) of each soil horizon. According to Raes *et al.* (2012a),  $K_{SAT}$  expresses the property of the soil to conduct water through a soil. When the soil is saturated, all pores are filled with water and the value for the hydraulic conductivity is at its maximum. The saturated hydraulic conductivity or permeability defines the rate for the soil layer to transmit water through the saturated soil under the influence of gravity.

Since this soils parameter is not required by *ACRU*, it was not available in the quinary subcatchment soils database. Hence, a pedotransfer function was developed to estimate  $K_{SAT}$  for the soil water retention parameters. Saxton and Rawls (2006) provided a table of useful equations (Table 1; p 1571) to estimate  $K_{SAT}$  (in mm h<sup>-1</sup>) as follows:

$$K_{SAT} = 1930(\theta_{TPO} - \theta_{DUL})^{[3-\lambda]}$$

#### **Equation 65**

where  $\theta_{TPO}$  and  $\theta_{DUL}$  are the soil water contents at total porosity (i.e. saturation) and the drained upper limit respectively. The units for each parameter is m m<sup>-1</sup> and not volume % as indicated by Saxton and Rawls (2006; c.f. Table 1). The term  $\lambda$  represents the inverse of the "slope of the logarithmic tension-moisture curve" and is calculated as follows:

$$\lambda = [ln(\theta_{DUL}) - ln(\theta_{PWP})] / [ln(1500) - ln(33)]$$
 Equation 66

where  $\theta_{PWP}$  is the soil water content at the permanent wilting point (in m m<sup>-1</sup>). The two constants 33 and 1 500 represent the matric potentials (in kPa) at the drained upper limit

(DUL) and permanent wilting point (PWP) respectively. A utility was developed in FORTRAN to estimate  $K_{SAT}$  for each soil horizon in mm day<sup>-1</sup> using the above two equations, with soil water retention parameters extracted from the quinary sub-catchments soils database.

# 6.5.2.2 Comparison with other $K_{SAT}$ values

In order to validate the above two equations for common South African soils, "typical" particle size distributions (e.g. clay % and sand %) for 11 soil textural classes were used to estimate soil water retention values using various equations provided by Saxton and Rawls (2006; Table 1; p 1571). Owing to their complexity, these equations are not reproduced here and the reader is referred to the reference provided. The estimated soil water retentions and the derived  $K_{SAT}$  values (from **Equation 65** and **Equation 66**) are shown in **Table 57**. The percentage of sand and clay for each soil texture is discussed further in **Section 6.5.2.5**.

Table 57	Soil water retentions and saturated hydraulic conductivity estimated for 11
	common soil texture classes in South Africa using various equations provided
	by Saxton and Rawls (2006)

Texture class	<i>θ<sub>PWP</sub></i> (m m <sup>-1</sup> )	<i>θ<sub>DUL</sub></i> (m m <sup>-1</sup> )	<i>θ<sub>τΡΟ</sub></i> (m m <sup>-1</sup> )	λ	<i>К<sub>SAT</sub></i> (mm h <sup>-1</sup> )	<i>K<sub>SAT</sub></i> (mm d⁻¹)
Clay	0.297	0.422	0.479	0.092	0.5	11
Silty clay	0.295	0.428	0.510	0.098	1.4	33
Silty clay loam	0.199	0.350	0.445	0.148	2.3	55
Sandy clay loam	0.163	0.248	0.393	0.110	7.3	175
Sandy clay	0.242	0.347	0.421	0.094	1.0	24
Clay loam	0.193	0.307	0.414	0.122	3.1	74
Sand	0.023	0.063	0.444	0.265	137.2	3292
Loamy sand	0.047	0.097	0.422	0.192	82.6	1983
Sandy loam	0.068	0.139	0.417	0.188	52.5	1259
Loam	0.114	0.217	0.406	0.168	17.4	417
Silty loam	0.117	0.283	0.427	0.230	9.0	216

The calculated values shown in the above table were then compared to that provided in the *ACRU* Theory (Schulze *et al.*, 1995; Table 5.6.1; p AT5-16) and User Manuals (Smithers *et al.*, 1995; Table 6.12.1; p AM6.12-42) as shown in **Table 58**. A comparison of **Table 57** with **Table 58** shows good agreement between the soil water retention parameters, with differences ranging from 0.010 to 0.068 m m<sup>-1</sup> (i.e. 1 to 6.8%). The calculated  $K_{SAT}$  values (using **Equation 65**) were generally higher than those provided by Schulze *et al.* (1995), except for the sandy soil, where a significant reduction was noticed (210.0 to 127.2 mm h<sup>-1</sup>).

Hence, the derivation of  $K_{SAT}$  from the soil water content ( $\theta$ ) at the permanent wilting point, drained upper limit and total porosity using the Saxton and Rawls (2006) equations was deemed acceptable for use in this study. However,  $K_{SAT}$  values were "capped" at 2 000 mm day<sup>-1</sup> based on the recommended range of 1 to 2 000 mm day<sup>-1</sup> suggested by Raes *et al.* (2013). This upper limit was deemed appropriate as it is unlikely that agricultural crops would be grown in "pure" sandy soils and thus, high  $K_{SAT}$  values (> 2 000 mm day<sup>-1</sup>) are unrepresentative.

Table 58Default soil water retentions and typical saturated hydraulic conductivity for 11<br/>common soil texture classes extracted from the ACRU Theory (Schulze et al.,<br/>1995; Table 5.6.1) and User Manuals (Smithers et al., 1995; Table 6.12.1)

Texture class	<i>θ<sub>PWP</sub></i> (m m <sup>-1</sup> )	<i>θ<sub>DUL</sub></i> (m m <sup>-1</sup> )	<i>θ<sub>τΡΟ</sub></i> (m m <sup>-1</sup> )	<i>К<sub>SAT</sub></i> (mm h <sup>-1</sup> )	<i>K</i> <sub>SAT</sub> (mm d <sup>-1</sup> )
Clay	0.298	0.416	0.482	0.6	14
Silty clay	0.253	0.390	0.480	0.9	22
Silty clay loam	0.190	0.335	0.473	1.5	36
Sandy clay loam	0.159	0.254	0.402	4.3	103
Sandy clay	0.228	0.323	0.423	1.2	29
Clay loam	0.195	0.312	0.468	2.3	55
Sand	0.050	0.112	0.430	210.0	5040
Loamy sand	0.068	0.143	0.432	61.0	1464
Sandy loam	0.093	0.189	0.448	26.0	624
Loam	0.128	0.251	0.464	13.0	312
Silty loam	0.121	0.272	0.495	6.8	163

#### 6.5.2.3 Curve number (CN)

As shown in **APPENDIX I**, the AQUACROP model requires the curve number (CN) for the simulation of surface runoff and its value refers to antecedent moisture class II (i.e. CNII). Although a soil's curve number is a function of its type, slope and relative wetness of the topsoil slope, it also depends on the land use and land cover. Raes *et al.* (2013) provided default CNII values based on  $K_{SAT}$  of the A-horizon as shown in **Table 59**.

**Table 59**Default CNII values for various saturated hydraulic conductivities ( $K_{SAT}$ ) of the<br/>topsoil (Raes *et al.*, 2013)

Typical soil texture	K <sub>SA7</sub> (mm day⁻¹)	CNII
Silty clayey	< 10	85
Sandy clayey	10 - 50	80
Loamy	50 - 250	75
Sandy	> 250	65

The results in the above table show that the soil's runoff producing potential is highest (i.e. 85) for silty clayey textured soils, which conduct water slowly through the soil profile (i.e. more runoff production due to reduced infiltration). Hence, the saturated hydraulic conductivity estimated for the A-horizon (using **Equation 65**) was used to derive the curve number input for *AQUACROP*, which is stored in the soils (.SOL) file for each quinary subcatchment.

#### 6.5.2.4 Readily evaporable water (REW)

REW expresses the maximum amount of water (mm) that can be extracted during stage I evaporation from a "thin" soil surface layer (0.04 m). Raes *et al.* (2013) provided an equation to derive REW (in mm) from the A-horizon's soil water content at field capacity ( $\theta_{DUL}$  in volume %) and permanent wilting point ( $\theta_{PWP}$  in volume %):

$$REW = 0.04(\theta_{DUL} - \theta_{PWP}/2) \cdot 10$$

Equation 67

*REW* values were derived for each quinary sub-catchment and stored in the soils (.SOL file). The range of acceptable values was limited to 15 mm (and no values below 0 mm), based on recommendations by Raes *et al.* (2013).

# 6.5.2.5 Soil textural classes

Raes *et al.* (2013) provided default values for soil water retention parameters as well as saturated hydraulic conductivity for typical soil textural classes. However, these soil texture classes are based on the USDA<sup>17</sup> soil textural triangle, which is different to that adopted by the South Africa's binomial classification system (MacVicar *et al.*, 1977), but identical to that used in the taxonomic classification (SCWG, 1991). Furthermore, the size distribution for silt particles was changed from 0.020 - 0.002 mm (MacVicar *et al.*, 1977) to 0.050 - 0.002 mm (SCWG, 1991). The latter matches that used by the USDA soil classification system.

Hence, a soil classified into a particular textural class using the binomial classification may not necessarily match that classified using the taxonomic (or USDA) classification as illustrated in **Table 60**. The typical percentages of clay and sand shown in **Table 60** were obtained from Schulze *et al.* (1995; Table 5.6.1; p AT5-16). However, the sand fraction for a typical clay soil was corrected from 13 to 31% (as the value was identical to the silty clay soil in the same table).

Typ percen	bical tages of	Textural classification system					
Sand	Clay	Binomial (1977)	Taxonomic (1991)				
31	50	Clay	Clay				
13	50	Silty clay	Clay				
21	33	Silty clay loam	Clay loam				
65	27	Sandy clay loam	Sandy clay loam				
55	40	Sandy clay	Sandy clay				
46	32	Clay loam	Sandy clay loam				
93	03	Sand	Sand				
86	07	Loamy sand	Loamy sand				
75	10	Sandy loam	Sandy loam				
57	18	Loam	Sandy Loam				
27	18	Silty loam	Silty loam				

Table 60	Soil textures derived from the proportion of sand and clay particles using the
	two soil classification systems developed for South Africa

In this study, the soil textural classes based on the binomial classification system (MacVicar *et al.*, 1977) are used. The reason is that this classification system and not its successor *viz.* the South African taxonomic soils classification (SCWG, 1991), was used for the land type surveys (Fanourakis, 2012). These surveys were conducted in the early 1970s by the former Soil and Irrigation Research Institute (SIRI), which is now the Institute for Soil, Climate and Water (ISCW) of the Agricultural Research Council. The quinary sub-catchment soils database was developed from data obtained from these land types.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/?cid=nrcs142p2\_054167

It is also important to note that methodology given by Saxton and Rawls (2006) to derive the soil water content from the particle size distribution also requires the soil's organic matter percentage. For the values given in **Table 57**, an organic matter content of 2.5% was assumed for all textural classes, as used by Saxton and Rawls (2006; Table 3; p 1577). However, for the soil water retentions given in **Table 58**, the organic matter content for each soil texture was derived from the typical percentage of organic carbon provided by Schulze *et al.* (1995; Table 5.6.1). This organic carbon percentage was by multiplied by 1.724 (known as Van Bemmelen's factor) and is based on the assumption that soil organic matter contains 58% organic carbon (Howard, 1965). The estimated organic carbon content ranged from 0.17 to 1.22%, which is deemed low for agricultural soils. Hence, this variation in organic matter will partly account for differences in the soil water retention parameters between **Table 57** and **Table 58**.

#### 6.5.2.6 Derivation of soil textural class

The soil water retention parameters stored in the quinary sub-catchment soils database represent spatially averaged conditions and were derived from land types that were also averaged. Owing to this procedure, the "average" soil textural class for each quinary soil horizon is not available. Hence, an innovative method was developed for this study to "reverse engineer" the textural class, based on the soil's water retention characteristics. The textural class was then stored in *AQUACROP*'s soils (.SOL) file for each of the two soil horizons.

The methodology was adapted from an approach given by Raes *et al.* (2013). The soil's volumetric water content at saturation (i.e. TPO) and at the drained lower limit (i.e. PWP), as well as the plant available water content (i.e.  $PAW = \theta_{DUL} - \theta_{PWP}$ ) were used to classify the soil's texture. The first step involved classifying the soil as a sandy, loamy or clayey texture using its PWP value. For example, clayey soils generally exhibit a PWP value greater than 16.5%. Hence, soils with  $\theta_{PWP} \le 16.5\%$  are either a sandy or a loamy texture. Next, PAW is used to differentiate between sandy ( $PAW \le 10.5\%$ ) and loamy (PAW > 10.5%) soils. Similarly,  $\theta_{TPO}$  is used to differentiate between sandy clayey ( $\theta_{TPO} \le 45.5\%$ ) and silty clayey ( $\theta_{TPO} > 45.5\%$ ) soils. Once the soil has initially been classified into one of four general classes (i.e. sandy, loamy, sandy clayey or silty clayey), it is finally classified as one of 12 textures. For example, specific ranges of  $\theta_{PWP}$  (as shown in **Table 61**) are used to classify the soil as a silt, silt loam, loam, silty clay loam, silty clay or clay.

The soil water content thresholds given in the above table were derived for 54 "hypothetical" soils, where the sand and clay percentage were varied from 5 to 95% in 5% intervals. The textural class was derived for each soil using the textural triangle according to the binomial classification. The volumetric water contents at TPO, DUL and PWP were calculated using the equations provided by Saxton and Rawls (2006) assuming an organic matter content of 2.5%. The estimated values are shown in **Table 109** in **APPENDIX J** and ranked according to  $\theta_{PWP}$ . The table highlights the threshold of 16.5% used to distinguish clayey soils from loamy or sandy soils.

			$\theta_{PWP}$		θ	PO	PAW		
Step	Textura		(vo	l %)	(vo	l %)	(vol %)		
	General	Specific	Lower	Upper	Lower	Upper	Lower	Upper	
1	Sandy or loamy		5.0	16.5					
1	Clayey		16.5	52.8					
	, , ,								
2	Sandy		5.0	16.5			3.9	10.5	
2	Loamy		5.0	16.5			10.5	26.2	
3	Sandy clayey		16.5	52.8	41.6	45.5			
3	Silty clayey		16.5	52.8	45.5	61.0			
4	Sandy	Sand	5.0	16.5			3.9	5.0	
4	Sandy	Loamy sand	5.0	16.5			5.0	7.0	
4	Sandy	Sandy loam	5.0	16.5			7.0	10.5	
5	Loamy	Silt	5.0	10.0					
5	Loamy	Silt Ioam	10.0	16.4					
5	Loamy	Loam	16.4	16.5					
6	Sandy clayey	Sandy clay loam	16.5	52.8	41.0	43.0			
6	Sandy clayey	Sandy clay	16.5	52.8	43.0	44.0			
6	Sandy clayey	Clay loam	16.5	52.8	44.0	45.5			
7	Silty clayey	Silty clay loam	16.5	24.0					
7	Silty clayey	Silty clay	24.0	32.5					
7	Silty clayey	Clay	32.5	52.8					

**Table 61**Thresholds of volumetric water content at saturation ( $\theta_{TPO}$ ) and at permanent<br/>wilting point ( $\theta_{PWP}$ ), as well as plant available water (*PAW*), used to determine<br/>a soil's textural class

#### 6.5.3 Climate input

Raes *et al.* (2013) provided a detailed description of the input files required by the latest version (i.e. version 4.0) of FAO's *AQUACROP* model. The model requires a climate (.CLI) file which contains the names of the daily air temperature (.TMP), reference evaporation (.ETo), rainfall (.PLU) and atmospheric  $CO_2$  (.CO2) files. An example of the climate file and its required format is given in **APPENDIX K** for quinary sub-catchment 4696. The format of the .TMP, .ETo and .PLU files is similar, with an example of the temperature (.TMP) file given in **APPENDIX K**.

The revised quinary sub-catchment database consists of 5 838 climate files, each containing 50 years of daily climate data stored in the format required by the *ACRU* model. A utility was developed using the FORTRAN programming language to convert the climate files from *ACRU's* composite file format into the format required by the *AQUACROP* model. During this conversion process, two additional files (.DSC and .DTA files) were created as required by FAO's *ET*<sub>o</sub> *CALCULATOR*<sup>18</sup>. *ET*<sub>o</sub> *CALCULATOR* (version 3.2) is a software utility developed by FAO's Land and Water Division. Its purpose is to calculate reference evaporation (*ET*<sub>o</sub>) according to FAO standards (i.e. as described by Allen *et. al.*, 1998). In total, 35 028 (i.e. 5 838 \* 6) climate-related files were created in order to run *AQUACROP* at the national scale.

Two quaternary catchments were selected in KwaZulu-Natal, each consisting of three quinary sub-catchments which represent UKZN's Ukulinga research farm (sub-catchment's 4 696-4 698) and SASRI's La Mercy research farm (sub-catchment's 4 717-4 719). The  $ET_o$  *CALCULATOR* program was used to generate daily reference (i.e. FAO56 or Penman-Monteith) evaporation data using the description (.DSC) and climate data (.DTA) files as input. The output  $ET_o$  data were compared to that calculated for the quinary sub-catchments using the methodology described in **Section 5.5**. Daily  $ET_o$  values were accumulated over the 50-year climate record, with slight differences in totals ranging from -104.8 to +3.8 mm as shown in **Table 62**. These differences are considered insignificant and are due to minor variations in daily estimates of only ±0.1 mm, with the majority of daily values being identical. The largest difference in accumulated  $ET_o$  data occurred in the upper (i.e. higher altitude) quinaries, namely sub-catchments 4 697 and 4 719 which are associated with cooler temperatures.

Sub-catchmont	Accumulated <i>ET</i> <sub>o</sub> estimates (mm)						
number	Revised quinary climate database	ET <sub>o</sub> Calculator	Difference				
4 696	66 145.8	66 250.6	-104.8				
4 697	72 554.4	72 611.4	-57.0				
4 698	73 232.6	73 256.3	-23.7				
4 717	63 350.1	63 370.7	-20.6				
4 718	60 445.2	60 452.3	-7.1				
4 719	62 346.9	62 343.1	3.8				

Table 62Comparison of daily reference evaporation estimates derived using FAO's<br/> $ET_o$  calculator utility, with those obtained from the revised quinary climate<br/>database

# 6.5.4 Multiple project file

In order to run the yield model for successive seasons across multiple quinaries, a multiple project file was first developed. A utility was written in FORTRAN to generate an *AQUACROP* project file for multiple simulations (known as a .PRM file). For each crop season, this file contains, *inter alia*:

• default model parameters for each simulation (e.g. depth of the soil profile from which soil water evaporation can occur; default = 30 cm),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> http://www.fao.org/nr/water/eto.html

- first and last day of each simulation period, and ٠
- first and last day of each cropping period (i.e. the crop growing season).

The .PRM also contains the location and name of the:

- climate (.CLI) file,
- temperature (.TMP), reference evaporation (.ETo) and rainfall (.PLU) files, •
- soils (.SOL) file,
- crop (.CRO) and atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentration (.CO2) files, and •
- initial conditions (.SW0) file.

In addition, the user can also specify other management practices related to irrigation, fertilisation and the use of mulching layers, as well as conditions during the off season (i.e. fallow period). Thus, the above information was generated for each crop and its particular growing season (i.e. 49 to 50 seasons over the historical period 1950-1999), as well as for each of the 5 838 quinaries. For certain crops (e.g. sugarcane, sugarbeet and canola), two different planting dates were set. Owing to the large number of .PRM files required to run AQUACROP at a national scale for multiple crops with different planting dates, considerable effort was spent on automating this procedure to generate the .PRM files required by AQUACROP.

#### 6.5.5 Crop parameter files

Та	able 63 Feedstock	planting dates assumed for the DP model	simulation of yield using th			
	Feedstock	Crop parameter filename	Source			
	Canola - winter	CanolaPC.CRO	Kienzle (2015)			
	Canola - summer	CanolaSC.CRO	Kienzle (2015)			
	Sugarbeet - winter	Sugarbeet_crop_Ukulinga.CRO	Mokonoto (2015)			
	Sugarbeet - summer	Sugarbeet_crop_Ukulinga.CRO	Mokonoto (2015)			
	Sugarcane - winter	Sugarcane_crop_LaMercy.CRO	Mokonoto (2015)			

Mokonoto (2015)

AQUACROP

Moyo and Savage (2014)

Sugarcane\_crop\_LaMercy.CRO

Soybean\_Baynesfield\_GDD.CRO

Sorghum\_GDD.CRO

The crop	parameter files	s used in thi	s study were	obtained from	different source	s as detailed
in <b>Table</b>	63.					

Table 63	Feedstock	planting	dates	assumed	for	the	simulation	of	yield	using	the
	AQUACRO	P model									

#### 6.5.6 Growing season length

For all crops, the planting date and maturity date were adjusted to reflect local growing conditions. The dates used in this study are discussed next.

#### 6.5.6.1 Planting date

Sugarcane

Grain sorghum

summer Sovbean

The planting dates used for the AQUACROP model runs are given in Table 64. DAFF (2010d) suggested that canola should be planted from early April to mid-June in order to achieve the highest yields. Short season cultivars (70 days) should be used for plantings in June, whereas longer season (120 days) cultivars are suited to April or May plantings (DAFF, 2010d). Since the Pincher Creek parameter file has a crop season length of 116 days, it is assumed to best represent a slower growing variety in the Western Cape region, with a typical planting date of 1<sup>st</sup> April (where the majority of canola is currently produced). Similarly, the canola file for Swift Current has a crop cycle length of 75 days and is assumed to best represent a faster growing variety, with a typical planting date of 1<sup>st</sup> June. However, Fouché (2012) suggested that canola in the Western Cape should be planted when the first autumn/winter rainfall from February onwards. In the Free State, KwaZulu-Natal and Eastern Cape Provinces, winter canola should be planted just before the last summer rains, which is January to early April.

Table 64	Feedstock	planting	dates	assumed	for	the	simulation	of	yield	using	the
	AQUACRO	P model									

Feedstock	Planting date	Crop parameter filename
Canola - winter	1 <sup>st</sup> April	CanolaPC.cro
Canola - summer	1 <sup>st</sup> June	CanolaSC.cro
Sugarbeet - winter	1 <sup>st</sup> June	Sugarbeet_crop_Ukulinga.CRO
Sugarbeet - summer	1 <sup>st</sup> September	Sugarbeet_crop_Ukulinga.CRO
Sugarcane - winter	1 <sup>st</sup> April	Sugarcane_crop_LaMercy.CRO
Sugarcane - summer	1 <sup>st</sup> February	Sugarcane_crop_LaMercy.CRO
Soybean	1 <sup>st</sup> November	Soybean_Baynesfield_GDD.CRO
Grain sorghum	1 <sup>st</sup> November	SorghumGDD.CRO

For sugarbeet, two planting dates were also used, with the winter crop representing the expected planting conditions in the Cradock area. According to Maclachlan (2012), planting near Cradock should typically occur from May onwards, after the first frost. Planting too early (i.e. in April) can cause a portion of the plants to bolt (i.e. begin flowering) after a sufficient cold stimulus (i.e. frost). Bolting is unfavourable as it reduces tuber yield and creates infestations of "weed" beet in later years (i.e. the seeds produced are viable). However, simulated yields are expected to be low since an autumn or winter planting would require supplemental irrigation to establish the crop and maintain adequate growth during the dry season. For a summer crop, sugarbeet should be planted in early spring (i.e. soon after the start of the summer rainfall season) so that the crop can be harvested in late summer (i.e. March), thus allowing for a winter crop rotation.

Based on the La Mercy dataset that was used to calibrate sugarcane, the two treatments which produced the highest yields were the 1<sup>st</sup> February (Treatment #5) and 1<sup>st</sup> April (Treatment #6) plantings. Hence, these two planting dates were selected to represent a summer (i.e. February) and winter (i.e. April) crop. However, these two planting dates may produce a crop maturity date which does not coincide with the sugar mill season. Mills are typically operational from early April to late December and close for 3 months for maintenance. Sugarcane should be harvested from April to October and thus, additional planting dates may need to be simulated.

A planting data of 1<sup>st</sup> November was selected for soybean. This was based on the recommendation by DAFF (2010a) that planting from early to mid-November is the most appropriate for optimum seed production in South Africa. In relatively warm areas where

high temperatures enhance growth rate, planting as late as the end of December can still produce satisfactory yields. According to the de Beer and de Klerk (2014), the optimum planting date is usually during November. In warmer areas though, soybean can be planted until the first week of January. A planting date during October, especially in areas with a higher altitude, is possible when soil and air temperatures reach acceptable levels early in the growing season.

A planting data of 1<sup>st</sup> November was also selected for grain sorghum. According to DAFF (2010e), sorghum is typically planted in South Africa from mid-October to mid-December. This concurs with PANNAR (2011) which stated that in most areas planting should take place during late October and November. However, grain sorghum may still be grown successfully as late as January, depending on the climatic conditions, length of growing season available and that required by the cultivar.

# 6.5.6.2 Maturity date

In *AQUACROP*, the following phenological growth stages need to be expressed in either calendar or thermal time:

- time to emergence (i.e. germination),
- start of flowering,
- length of flowering period,
- start of canopy senescence, and
- time to reach crop maturity (i.e. length of the crop cycle).

The determination of the crop cycle length is set in the crop parameter file (i.e. 0=by growing degree-days; 1=by calendar days). For this study, it was preferential to determine the crop maturity date using thermal time and not calendar days (**Table 65**). The main reason for this is the crop cycle length is dependent on the local climate (and the cultivar choice).

	Season	
Feedstock	length	(days)
	GDD	Days
Canola - winter	1 086	116
Canola - summer	1 086	75
Sugarbeet - winter	2 394	198
Sugarbeet - summer	2 394	198
Sugarcane - winter	3 150	490
Sugarcane - summer	3 150	490
Soybean	2 700	130
Grain sorghum	1 760	147

Table 65	Crop cycle length (or length of the crop growing season) in calendar days and
	growing degree days for each crop

AQUACROP uses the growing degree day (*GDD*) concept to account for temperature effects on phenology. *GDD* are calculated using a method described by McMaster and Wilhelm (1997), with the exception that no adjustment is made of the minimum temperature when it drops below the base temperature. This is believed to better represent the damaging or

inhibitory effects of cold on plant processes. In *AQUACROP*, this method of calculating *GDD* is known as "METHOD 3" which is detailed next.

*GDD* are calculated by subtracting the base temperature ( $T_{bse}$ ) from the average air temperature ( $T_{ave}$ ), i.e. *GDD* =  $T_{ave} - T_{bse}$ . The base temperature is the temperature below which crop development ceases. In *AQUACROP*, an upper threshold temperature ( $T_{upp}$ ) is also considered and specifies the temperature above which crop development also ceases. The maximum air temperature ( $T_{max}$ ) is adjusted to fall in the range  $T_{bse}$  to  $T_{upp}$ . Similarly, the minimum air temperature ( $T_{min}$ ) cannot exceed  $T_{upp}$ .  $T_{ave}$  is then calculated from the adjusted  $T_{max}$  and  $T_{min}$  values and set to  $T_{bse}$  if below the base temperature.

The utility that was developed to produce the multiple project file (c.f. **Section 6.5.4**) was modified to read in  $T_{bse}$  and  $T_{upp}$  from the crop parameter file. The following rules (i.e. pseudo code) were then used to calculate and accumulate *GDD* from the set planting date:

if  $T_{max} > T_{upp}$ , then  $T_{max} = T_{upp}$ if  $T_{max} < T_{bse}$ , then  $T_{max} = T_{bse}$ if  $T_{min} > T_{upp}$ , then  $T_{min} = T_{upp}$  $T_{ave} = (T_{max} + T_{min})/2$ if  $T_{ave} < T_{bse}$ , then  $T_{ave} = T_{bse}$  $GDD = GDD + (T_{ave} - T_{bse})$ 

The crop cycle length (in *GDD*) is also obtained from the crop parameter file (**Table 65**) and used to determine the crop maturity date. For each season, daily maximum and minimum temperatures are read in from the quinary climate file and used to accumulate *GDD* from the planting date, until they equal or exceed the crop cycle length. This is repeated for each of the 50 possible seasons from 1950 to 1999.

# 6.5.7 Simulation period

In *AQUACROP*, the simulation period is either linked to the crop growth cycle (i.e. start of simulation period = start of crop period) or can be longer (i.e. the simulation period starts before the set planting date). The model's sensitivity to changing the start of the simulation period was tested in **Section 4.3.5.7**.

#### 6.5.8 Automation of runs

A decision was made to run *AQUACROP* at the primary basin level in order to keep the methodology consistent with the approach used for the *ACRU* model runs. For the *ACRU* runs, primary basins C and D cannot be run separately as quinary 1 431 (basin C) flows into quinary 1 929 (basin D). Hence, the model runs for each of the 21 basins, considering primary's C and D are run together. However, Primary's C and D were run separately for the yield modelling as shown in **Table 66**. Hence, the model runs fastest for primary M (24 quinaries) and slowest for primary D (864 quinaries).

Considerable effort was devoted to automating the procedure whereby AQUACROP runs non-stop for each of the 22 basins. This effort has significantly improved efficiency by reducing the overall time required to complete a national run. Furthermore, the automation allows for a feedstock to be re-run if 1) errors are discovered during the analysis, or 2)

parameters are refined based on new evidence. Thus, much effort was spent on ensuring the automation procedure ran smoothly and correctly.

Primary	Start	End	No. of
catchment	quinary	quinary	quinaries
A	1	417	417
В	418	852	435
С	853	1 431	579
D	1 432	2 295	864
E	2 296	2 520	225
F	2 521	2 625	105
G	2 626	2 799	174
Н	2 800	3 006	207
J	3 007	3 282	276
K	3 283	3 402	120
L	3 403	3 576	174
М	3 577	3 600	24
N	3 601	3 708	108
Р	3 709	3 756	48
Q	3 757	3 969	213
R	3 970	4 059	90
S	4 060	4 233	174
Т	4 234	4 635	402
U	4 636	4 821	186
V	4 822	5 079	258
W	5 080	5 526	447
Х	5 527	5 838	312
Total			5 838

**Table 66**The relationship between each primary drainage basin and the quinary sub-<br/>catchments

The decision to run the yield model for all quinaries and not a subset of quinaries where the crop may grow (i.e. based on the land suitability maps), is to facilitate the use of the national yield maps for validation of the land suitability maps, especially since they differentiate low from high potential production areas. Due to time constraints, this approach was not followed in this study but is recommended for future research.

#### 6.5.9 Model run times

# 6.5.9.1 Canola in the Western Cape

The running of *AQUACROP* for multiple seasons across numerous quinaries was tested using canola for the same 113 sub-catchments identified in the Western Cape (1<sup>st</sup> April planting date). Two Core i7 PCs with different CPU clock speeds were used for the initial model runs. It was noted that CPU speed affected the execution speed, but disabling the antivirus software did not significantly improve model performance (**Table 67**). When the model runs, it creates a number of temporary files in the *SIMUL* folder and writes the main

output files to the *OUTP* folder. The antivirus software settings were modified to prevent scans of new files created in these two folders.

PC	Lapsed time (HH:MM:SS)	Number of quinaries	Antivirus software
Core i7 (PC #1)	00:39:02	113	Enabled
Core i7 (PC #2)	00:57:16	113	Enabled
Core i7 (PC #2)	00:55:40	113	Disabled

# Table 67Computational performance of the AQUACROP model running on two Core i7PCs with different clock speeds

# 6.5.9.2 Calendar vs. thermal maturity

The advantages of calculating the crop maturity date using thermal time compared to a fixed season length were discussed in **Section 4.3.5.4**. However, the main disadvantage is a considerable increase in the computational time required to perform a national run. This is illustrated using soybean, where the model was run for all 5 838 quinaries for a fixed season length of 130 days, compared to a variable season length based on thermal time. The lapsed times shown in **Table 68** include the additional time required to generate the multiple project file for the thermal time option, considering the temperature file (containing 50 years of daily data) needs to be accessed for each quinary sub-catchment.

Table 68Computational performance of the AQUACROP model with soybean's<br/>maturity date set to 130 days after planting, compared to a variable season<br/>length based on thermal time

PC	Run time (HH:MM:SS)	Number of quinaries	Maturity date
Core i7 (PC #1)	02:00:39	5 838	Calendar
Core i7 (PC #1)	89:19:09	5 838	Thermal

The results show that the *AQUACROP* model runs significantly slower when estimating yields with crop cycle length based on thermal (i.e. growing degree-days) time than compared to calendar days. For example, the model took 1.24 seconds (calendar) *vs.* 55.08 seconds (thermal) to complete each quinary. However, there is also a difference in the output produced by the model. This is discussed further in **Volume 1**.

# 6.5.9.3 National runs

Based on the initial testing of *AQUACROP* on 113 quinaries in the Western Cape (**Table 67**), it was projected that a national run would take approximately 1.40 to 2.05 days (or 33.61 - 49.31 hours) to complete. By comparison, *ACRU* took approximately 9 hours for each national water use run. From **Table 69**, *AQUACROP* ran for a total of 1 100 hours (or 46 days) and required almost 1 500 model re-starts to provide yield estimates for five crops (some with two planting dates).

Feedataala	Planting date	Ru	n time	Number of
reeastock		days	hours	re-starts
Canola	1 <sup>st</sup> April	1.46	35.02	44
Canola	1 <sup>st</sup> June	1.71	40.93	37
Grain sorghum	1 <sup>st</sup> November	2.57	61.77	73
Soybean	1 <sup>st</sup> November	3.72	89.32	113
Sugarbeet	1 <sup>st</sup> September	3.80	91.29	112
Sugarbeet	1 <sup>st</sup> June	6.01	144.33	189
Sugarcane	1 <sup>st</sup> April	10.40	249.72	392
Sugarcane	1 <sup>st</sup> February	16.13	387.19	506
	Total	45.82	1 099.57	1 466

 
 Table 69
 Computational time required to complete the national yield estimates using the standalone version of AQUACROP model

The sugarcane simulation for a February planting took 5.73 days (or 137.47 hours) longer than the April planting due to the issue discussed in **Section 6.5.12.4**. To re-cap, the crop season length was limited to a maximum of 730 days for the April simulation. In general, the number of times the model needs to be automatically re-started after a division-by-error occurs, the longer the overall simulation time.

#### 6.5.10 Yield and WUE statistics

A utility was developed to extract specific monthly and seasonal variables from *AQUACROP*'s output files, which included, amongst others, the following:

RAI	=	monthly rainfall (mm)
ETR	=	monthly reference evaporation (mm)
	=	based on Penman-Monteith or FAO56 evaporation (Allen et al., 1998)
GDD	=	growing degree days accumulated for month (°C day)
	=	calculated with "METHOD 3"
CO2	=	monthly ambient CO <sub>2</sub> concentration (ppm)
IRR	=	amount of water applied as irrigation (mm)
RUN	=	amount of water lost to surface runoff (mm)
	=	(RAI - 0.2·PMS) <sup>2</sup> / (RAI + PMS - 0.2·PMS)
PMS	=	potential maximum storage (mm)
INF	=	amount of water infiltrated into the soil profile (mm)
	=	RAI - RUN
DRA	=	amount of water drained out of the soil profile (mm)
UPF	=	amount of water moved upward by capillary rise (mm)
SOI	=	amount of water evaporated from the soil surface (mm)
TRA	=	amount of water transpired from the crop surface (mm)
ETC	=	total amount of water evapotranspired from the crop (mm)
	=	SOI + TRA
CYC	=	length of crop cycle, from germination to peak yield (days)
BIO	=	above-ground biomass produced (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )
HID	=	harvest index (%), and
YLD	=	dry crop yield (t ha <sup>-1</sup> )

= HID \* BIOWPY = yield produced per unit water evapotranspired (kg m<sup>-3</sup>) = YLD/ETC

In addition, the number of crop failures (*CFA*, defined as YLD = 0.00 t ha<sup>-1</sup>) was determined for each 50-year simulation and this figure was doubled to express the risk of crop failure as a percentage. For example, a 70% risk of crop failure means that a zero yield was simulated for 35 of the 50 seasons. The total number of seasons (*SEA*) that were simulated was also extracted. If the model run ended prematurely due to a division-by-zero error, then *SEA* is less than the maximum. Typically, the maximum number of seasons is 50, but is reduced to 49 if the crop matures in the year 2000 (or 48 in the case for sugarcane).

In terms of the crop cycle length, the figure calculated by *AQUACROP* (i.e. peak yield attained 203 days after emergence) and the crop maturity length (345 days) were also extracted for each season, from which the mean and median statistics were calculated. For example, *AQUACROP* simulated cycle lengths ranging from 175 to 367 over the 49 seasons, with a mean and median of 228 and 221 days respectively. The crop maturity length (or crop growing cycle) ranged from 337 to 376 days, with a mean and median of 358 and 357 days respectively. It is important to note the differences between these two season lengths.

The calculation of *WPY* by *AQUACROP* was investigated further using sugarcane transplanted on 1<sup>st</sup> February in quinary 732. The transplanted seedling (i.e. ratoon crop) recovered on 4<sup>th</sup> February after 40 GDD were accumulated and moved to growth stage 2. On the 15<sup>th</sup> March (43 DAP), the start of yield formation began (growth stage 4) after 541 GDD were accumulated. Yield formation began on the 28<sup>th</sup> March (56 DAP) and maximum rooting depth was achieved on 14<sup>th</sup> May (103 DAP) after the accumulation of 1 154 GDD. On the 24<sup>th</sup> October (266 DAP), the build-up of the harvest index began. Senescence began on 22<sup>nd</sup> December (324 DAP) after 2 914 GDD were accumulated and finally, the crop matured on 11<sup>th</sup> January (345 DAP) after the accumulation of 3150 GDD. The maximum yield of 3.94 t ha<sup>-1</sup> was realised on 26<sup>th</sup> August (207 DAP) after 281.3 mm of *ETC* was accumulated. Hence, WPY calculated by the model was 1.40 kg m<sup>-3</sup> (i.e. 3 943 kg of *YLD* from 2 813 m<sup>3</sup> of *ETC*). The crop cycle length was calculated as 203 days (207 - 4 days for recovery/emergence).

From 208 to 345 DAP (when the crop matured), a further 129.6 mm of soil water evaporation (*SOI*) took place, but no transpiration (*TRA*) and thus no further biomass (*BIO*) or yield (*YLD*) was produced. The total *ETC* accumulated over the growing period of 345 days was 410.90 mm (281.3 + 129.6 mm). This equates to a WUE of 0.96 kg m<sup>-3</sup> (i.e. 3943 kg of *YLD* from 4 109 m<sup>3</sup> of *ETC*) at maturity. This WUE is labelled as "at maturity" or *WPM* and will always be less than *WPY* which represents the WUE calculated by *AQUACROP* when the maximum (labelled "at peak") yield is attained (i.e. *WPY* = 1.40 kg m<sup>-3</sup>). If these two WUEs differ substantially, the site should not be considered suitable for crop production. Both WUE values were extracted for each season (maximum of 50 in total), from which the mean, median and coefficient of variation statistics were calculated. *WPY* ranged from 0.99 to 2.18 kg m<sup>-3</sup>, with a mean and median of 1.59 and 1.62 kg m<sup>-3</sup> respectively. Similarly, the mean *WPM* is 1.07 kg m<sup>-3</sup> (median = 1.06 kg m<sup>-3</sup>) and the range is 0.47 to 2.08 kg m<sup>-3</sup>.

This quinary was selected to illustrate the large difference between these two WUE estimates using an area which is too hot and dry for viable sugarcane production. For this quinary, the amount of above-ground biomass per unit of evapotranspiration was calculated as 3.26 kg m<sup>-3</sup> (peak) and 2.23 kg m<sup>-3</sup> (maturity) for the first season. These figures are below the typical range of 3.5 to 5.5 kg m<sup>-3</sup> reported by Steduto *et al.* (2012) for sugarcane. The biomass WUE at maturity ranged from 1.17 to 3.20 kg m<sup>-3</sup> (mean and median of 2.28 and 2.20 kg m<sup>-3</sup> respectively).

#### 6.5.11 Runoff prediction

In AQUACROP, the estimation of runoff is based on the curve number (*CN*) method which is used to calculated the potential maximum storage in mm [*PMS* = 254(100/*CN* - 1)]. Once the water content of the topsoil (to a depth of 0.3 m) is saturated (0.2·*PMS* in mm), any additional rainfall becomes surface runoff. Hence, (0.2·*PMS*) represents the amount of rainfall that must infiltrate before surface runoff begins (i.e. initial abstraction). A soil with a high *CN* will have a *PMS* and thus, most of the rainfall (*RAI*) is converted to runoff (*RUN*). The maximum amount of water (rainfall or irrigation) that can infiltrate the soil (*INF*) is limited by the saturated hydraulic conductivity of the topsoil (Raes *et al.*, 2012b). After the subtraction of surface runoff, the remaining part of rainfall and irrigation water will infiltrate into the soil profile (i.e. *INF* = *RAI* - *RUN*). Infiltrated water is stored in the root zone and if a threshold soil water content is exceeded, excess water percolates out of the root zone reservoir and is lost as deep percolation (i.e. *DRA*). The process of evapotranspiration (*ETC* = *SOI* + *TRA*) removes water from this reservoir. Since, *SOI* and *TRA* are calculated from daily *ET<sub>o</sub>* values, reference evaporation (*ETR*) is therefore a key input for the model.

Since the simulation of final crop yield is sensitive to the timing and magnitude of water stress in the root zone, *AQUACROP* must adequately simulate the soil water balance. Vanuytrecht *et al.* (2014) stated that efforts are currently underway to improve the algorithms that account for root elongation and runoff generation. In addition, future versions of the model will allow the soil to be described more adequately, by extending the required input of soil characteristics and field management practices. In this study, the average runoff predicted by the model was not calculated, nor mapped. The runoff output from the *ACRU* model is considered far superior.

# 6.5.12 Implementation verification

Before running AQUACROP at the national scale for all 5 838 quinaries, a number of tests were carried out to verify the output from the model. The issues that were discovered are described next.

# 6.5.12.1 AQUACROP vs. SWB

As explained earlier, the *SWB* model was not designed to be run in "batch" mode. In other words, there is no version that is equivalent to *AQUACROP*'s standalone model. A decision was made to run manually the *SWB* model for a subset of quinary sub-catchments located in the Western Cape where the majority (≈98%) of canola is produced. The sub-catchments were selected using a GIS analysis where the portion of the quinary identified as a canola farm was determined, then expressed as a percentage of the total quinary area and finally, ranked from largest to smallest. Thus, quinaries with at 10% of their area classified as actual

canola farms were extracted, which totalled 113 sub-catchments. The canola farm boundaries were supplied by the Department of Agriculture (Western Cape), which were derived from an aerial survey conducted in 2013.

Soils and location data (centroid & altitude) for the 113 identified quinaries were extracted from the quinary soils database, with climate data obtained from the revised version of the quinary climate database. A utility was developed to output the data into the format required by the *SWB* model (**APPENDIX L**). The *SWB* model was then run manually for each subcatchment, assuming a 1<sup>st</sup> April planting date. Students at the University of Pretoria took five weeks to complete this task.

The *SWB* model was used to determine the attainable canola yield as well as water use (i.e. actual evapotranspiration accumulated over the growing season). Hence, the model was run for a single point (i.e. the centroid of each quinary sub-catchment), at an altitude that is representative of the average altitude across the entire quinary, using climate data that is also deemed representative of the quinary's centroid location. From the model output, the water use efficiency (WUE=yield/water use) was calculated and expressed in kg m<sup>-3</sup>).

The *AQUACROP* model was run in batch mode for each quinary sub-catchment comprising of the 22 drainage basins. However, when the model was run for the first time at the national level, a number of problems were encountered. These topics are discussed next.

#### 6.5.12.2 Low first season yield

During the testing phase, it was noticed that *AQUACROP* would simulate low yields in the first season than compared to the next. In order to find a solution to this problem, the two-layer soil profile was converted to a single layer soil for the quinary sub-catchment. This was achieved by weighting the soil water retention parameters using the depth of each horizon relative to the total soil depth. However, this has no effect on the low yield simulated in the first season. Another solution is to increase the minimum effective rooting depth ( $Z_{min}$ ) to prevent yield loss due to high soil water evaporation which results in low soil water content of the topsoil. Steduto *et al.* (2012) suggested a  $Z_{min}$  range of 0.2 to 0.3 m, with a value of 0.30 m set in all default crop parameter files. Hence,  $Z_{min}$  refers to the soil depth from which the germinating seed can extract water. However, this option was not attempted in this study.

# 6.5.12.3 Division by zero errors

When *AQUACROP* was run at the national scale (i.e. for all 5 838 quinaries), the model produced a number of "division-by-zero" errors for selected sub-catchments as listed in **Table 70** for canola. This problem did not occur when the model was tested for the 113 quinaries containing canola farms in the Western Cape. When the error occurred for a particular catchment, the model would stop running, thus requiring user intervention to close the error dialog box and manually stop the model runs. Unfortunately, this type of error prevented the automatic execution of the model at the national scale. Considerable effort was therefore spent on trying to find the cause of this error by testing the model on the affected sub-catchments list in **Table 70**.

Table 70List of quinary sub-catchments that resulted in division-by-zero errors when<br/>simulating canola planted on 1<sup>st</sup> April and 1<sup>st</sup> June using the AQUACROP<br/>model

Сгор	Quinary sub-catchment ID					
	0202, 0315, 0327, 0329, 0465, 0492, 0510, 0713, 0876,					
	0889, 0986, 1148, 1297, 1518, 1634, 1709, 1851, 2022,					
Canola (April)	2048, 2051, 2124, 2142, 2254, 2278, 2468, 2953, 3075,					
	3238, 3573, 3585, 3829, 4071, 4275, 4395, 4409, 4428,					
	4619, 4760, 4857, 4908, 4911, 5310, 5467, 5731					
	0126, 0248, 0522, 0523, 0670, 0705, 0711, 0990, 1126,					
Canola (June)	1260, 1386, 1403, 1417, 1529, 1647, 1766, 1854, 1934,					
	2025, 2154, 2180, 2431, 2781, 2924, 3086, 3223, 3528,					
	3664, 3888, 4185, 4374, 4503, 4790, 4971, 5252, 5422, 5695					

The first step involved running the affected sub-catchments with the GUI version of the model, which also produced the same division-by-zero error. However, this error occurred more frequently (i.e. for other quinaries not listed in **Table 70**) if the simulation period was started before the planting date (i.e. on 1<sup>st</sup> January). Similarly, the error was made worse when the initial soil water content was set to 50% of PAW (and not at field capacity, being the default option). These findings indicate the division-by-zero error is probably related to the soil water content of the topsoil approaching a zero value. Thus, the initial soil water content (or .SW0) input file was carefully scrutinised for possible errors.

An incorrect setting was found which set the initial soil water content to a specified depth and not for a specific soil layer. This error was fixed and the .SW0 file was re-generated for each quinary sub-catchment. The model was re-tested to ascertain if the division-by-zero error was eliminated. Unfortunately, the error still occurred on some, but not all affected quinaries. It was also found that by increasing or decreasing the  $K_{SAT}$  value, the division-by-zero error was eliminated. However, this "workaround" could not be justified and was therefore not considered a "solution". The decision was therefore made to link the simulation period to the crop growth cycle and to assume the soil is at field capacity at planting. The experience gained during the model testing phase confirmed that it is best to keep each simulation as simple as possible.

Considerable effort was spent on developing an automated procedure to monitor the execution of the standalone version of *AQUACROP*. If a division-by-zero error occurred when simulating a particular quinary within a basin run, the model was automatically terminated and re-started on the next quinary. In total, over 2 400 lines of computer code was written to run the model at the national scale. An additional 2 851 lines of code was developed to prepare the input files required to run the model.

#### 6.5.12.4 Maximum season length

During the testing phase, an issue was discovered where the computational time for the *AQUACROP* model to complete multi-season yield simulations was unacceptably high (i.e. too long) for certain quinaries. Further investigation revealed that unrealistic season lengths were calculated for high altitude sub-catchments. This is explained further using two extreme cases found. For quinary 4 840 (average altitude 2 955 m) and 4 489 (average altitude 2 755

m), the length of the first season was calculated as 7 368 and 10 579 days respectively (**Table 71**). The standalone version of the *AQUACROP* model then ran for approximately 20 to 29 years, generating little to no yield (due to the cold temperatures experienced in these mountainous sub-catchments). The main problem was the length of time the model took to complete the yield simulation for such quinaries, given the multiple seasons, each 20 to 29 years in length. Thus, an upper limit of 730 days was set to prevent an unrealistic season length from being calculated in very cold areas. This is based on sugarcane and pineapple which have the longest cycle lengths at 720 and 790 days respectively (Raes *et al.*, 2012d; c.f. Annex II; Allen *et al.*, 1998).

Season	Quinary 4840	Length (days)	Quinary 4489	Length (days)
₁ st	1950/02/01	7 269	1950/02/01	10 570
1	1970/04/04	7 300	1979/01/18	10 57 9
2 <sup>nd</sup>	1951/02/01	7 295	1951/02/01	10.266
2	1971/01/11	7 200	1979/03/11	10 200
2rd	1952/02/01	7 614	1952/02/01	10 555
3	1972/12/05	7 014	1980/12/24	10 555

**Table 71**Length of the first three sugarcane seasons for two quinaries, with the<br/>planting date set to 1<sup>st</sup> February

#### 6.5.12.5 Number of seasons

An error was discovered in the algorithm to determine the crop cycle length using thermal time. The problem occurred for crops when the calculated maturity date extended beyond the end of the climate data record (i.e. 1999/12/31). For example, sugarcane planted on 1<sup>st</sup> February in quinary 4 719 (La Mercy) would typically mature 414 days later. However, the algorithm was designed to limit the maturity date to the last day of climate record (31<sup>st</sup> December 1999). Hence, when *AQUACROP* ran for the 50<sup>th</sup> season, it was therefore programmed to start on 1999/02/01 and end on 1999/12/31. However, the yield simulated for this season was lower than the attainable yield since the growing season was incomplete (i.e. too short). In order to prevent yield estimates for incomplete seasons affecting the calculation of the long-term average yield, they were discarded. Hence, the average and median yield for quinary 4 719 was derived from 49 (and not 50) seasons of yield estimates for sugarcane. This error did not occur when the model was tested for canola, since the last crop season ran from 1<sup>st</sup> June 1999 to 13<sup>th</sup> August 1999 (i.e. 74 DAP).

It was also discovered that if the maturity date was erroneously set to occur before the planting date, the model went into an infinite loop and would simulate zero yields for each successive year beyond 1999. This severely affected the computational time to complete each quinary. It appears that the model does minimal error-checking of user input data. Hence, it is important that input data are thoroughly checked for errors in order to prevent the "garbage-in, garbage out" syndrome.

# **7** REGIONS SUITABLE FOR FEEDSTOCK PRODUCTION

The main aim of this chapter is to identify and describe bio-climatic regions suitable for crop/tree systems suitable for biofuel production with reference to, *inter alia*:

- rainfall average and variability,
- surface and underground water resources,
- temperature average and extremes,
- soil properties,
- known pests and diseases, and
- topography.

In order to achieve the objective, a land suitability assessment was completed to identify both high potential (optimum) and low potential (sub-optimum) bio-climatic regions deemed suitable for feedstock cultivation. However, the sub-optimum class was split into two categories, namely moderately suitable and marginally suitable for crop growth.

#### 7.1 Introduction

Land is required for different uses or purposes, namely to provide food, fibre, housing and energy as well as conserving nature and its biodiversity. Escobar *et al.* (2009) stated that because the amount of available land in the world for agriculture is limited, it is necessary to define and identify the fraction of farmland that could be used for the production of biofuels. The selection of land on which to grow the feedstocks is a critical component determining the sustainability of the biofuels industry.

Feedstock demand can be met by 1) an increase in the area under cultivation, and/or 2) through an increase in feedstock yields. Owing to the high volumes of feedstock required for biofuel production in South Africa (e.g. an additional 600 000 tons of grain sorghum), a large increase in the planted area is required to satisfy the demand. Feedstock derived from gains in crop yields and the diversion of feed (not food) crops to biofuel production is insufficient to meet the demand. In other words, the intensification of agricultural production on existing land is deemed insufficient to produce the required volume of feedstock required for biofuel production.

The outcome of this project is to identify land which can be used for feedstock cultivation, taking into consideration present land use. This involves an assessment of land suitability to identify areas suitable for the cultivation of biofuel feedstocks. According to the FAO (2007), land evaluation was developed to comprehensively assess land performances when used for different purposes. Any farmland expansion (whether for food, feed or energy production), should not occur at the expense of valuable ecosystem services and high value natural ecosystems (e.g. forests and areas of high biodiversity). Agro-ecological zoning can be used to distinguish land with the potential for biofuel production from that of high value for food production and biodiversity (Lerner *et al.*, 2010). There is considerable interest in the use of less productive land (i.e. marginal land) for cultivation of biofuel feedstock. Marginal lands are those with least (i.e. marginal) economic value. However, the land may have higher social, environmental or ecological value. Once these social, environmental and ecological aspects have been considered, the land may be considered less "marginal".

The FAO published guidelines for land evaluation (FAO, 1983), which describe the sequence of activities and procedures used in land suitability assessments. These guidelines formed the basis for the methodology used in this project. The first step involved the identification of feedstocks considered appropriate for biofuel production in South Africa (c.f. Section 2.5). The next step required the determination of climatic, edaphic and biotic factors which limit feedstock production (Section 2.6 & Section 2.7). These factors were then applied to spatial datasets (Section 7.4.2) using the methodology described in Section 7.4 and Section 0.

# 7.2 Factors Affecting Plant Growth

According to Manske (2001), plant growth factors are controlled by internal regulators (i.e. within the plant) that are modified by environmental conditions. Hence, the long-term climatic conditions across a region largely determine the vegetation types found in that region (Manske, 2001). The important climatic factors influencing plant growth are rainfall and temperature, since these abiotic site factors control the moisture supply and demand at a particular location. Similarly, relative humidity is a surrogate variable that can be used to assess biotic factors affecting planting growth, in particular disease risk.

# 7.2.1 Rainfall

Water usually accounts for 80% of the weight of the herbaceous plant and is a principal component of the plant cell. Water is biochemically important since it is also the principal component of physiological processes that occur within the plant (Manske, 2001). According to Manske (2001), water is essential for maintenance of the rigidity of plant tissues. When water is limited, biological processes such as temperature control, nutrients and metabolite transport can be negatively affected and this can impact plant grow and development (Manske, 2001).

# 7.2.1.1 Seasonal rainfall total

Mokonoto (2012) showed that mean annual rainfall (MAP) should not be used to identify areas suitable for crop cultivation. Similarly, mean annual temperature (MAT) is not suitable as an index of moisture demand for plant growth. Such statistics (e.g. MAP & MAT) provide no information about seasonality. The intra-year distribution of rainfall, as described by monthly totals, can explain why two sites with similar seasonal rainfall can exhibit significantly different crop yields. However, plant growth is not only affected by total seasonal rainfall, but also the distribution of rainfall over the growing season.

# 7.2.1.2 Seasonal rainfall distribution

Schulze and Maharaj (2007b) highlighted that plant growth is affected by the duration of the rainy season, i.e. whether the rainfall is concentrated over a short period of the year or spread over a longer period. The rainfall concentration index, determined using Markham's (1970) methodology, calculates a value ranging from 0 to 100%. An index of 100% implies that all rainfall falls in a concentrated time period, e.g. one month. On the other hand, a concentration index of 0% implies a similar rainfall amount in each month. Hence, rainfall concentration describes the duration of the rainy season and varies spatially across southern Africa.
Schulze and Maharaj (2007b) calculated rainfall concentrations for each quaternary catchment, whereas Schulze and Kunz (2010a) repeated the exercise at the quinary catchment scale. Both studies highlighted that the highest and lowest rainfall concentrations are found in the Limpopo and Western Cape Provinces respectively. The rainfall concentration index indicates the distribution of rainfall across the rainy season and is useful in identifying for example, the all-year rainfall season along the southern and eastern coastal areas (Schulze and Maharaj, 2007e). However, the index does not indicate in which month crop water use is highest and thus, in which month the majority of seasonal rainfall should fall. For this, the crop coefficient can be used, which is discussed next using maize as the example crop.

## 7.2.1.3 The crop coefficient approach

According to Seckler (2003), most crops are sensitive to water stress at both the vegetative growth and fruit/grain development stages. This is illustrated in **Figure 46b** which shows that maize is "extremely sensitive" to water stress during its vegetative growth stage (35 days after planting or DAP) and during pollination/flowering (70 DAP). Thus, maize requires (and uses) more water during its flowering period than any other growth stage. In other words, low rainfall during the second month and especially in the third month could result in the highest loss of attainable yield.





(a) Water use by maize under well-watered conditions; (b) Sensitivity of maize to soil water stress during each growth stage (Pannar, 2003)

The length or each growth stage in relation to a generalised crop coefficient curve is shown in **Figure 9** (c.f. **Section 3.1.2.3**). According to Allen *et al.* (1998), the initial crop coefficient value ( $K_{c ini}$ ) varies with the frequency of wetting events during the initial growth period, i.e.  $K_c$ *ini* is large when the soil is wet from frequent rainfall or irrigation events and is low when the soil is dry. Maize's water use peaks in the third month (i.e. 70 DAP as shown in **Figure 46a**) which coincides with the peak crop coefficient value (i.e.  $K_{c mid}$ ). According to the FAO (FAO, 2002),  $K_{c mid}$  for maize ranges from 1.05 to 1.20 during the 3<sup>rd</sup> and 4<sup>th</sup> month of its growth cycle (**Table 72**). Hence, maize needs most of its seasonal rainfall requirement to fall in the 3<sup>rd</sup> month.

Growth stage	Length of growth stage (days)	K <sub>c</sub> (FAO, 2002)
Initial	15-30	0.30-0.50
Development	30-45	0.70-0.85
Mid-season	30-45	1.05-1.20
Late-season	10-30	0.80-0.90
At harvest		0.55-0.50

**Table 72**Single crop coefficients ( $K_c$ ) for each maize growth stage as suggested by<br/>FAO (FAO, 2002)

An innovative approach adopted in this study involved the use of crop coefficients to determine the optimum distribution of rainfall over the growing season on a monthly basis. As noted earlier, the peak  $K_c$  value (i.e.  $K_{c mid}$ ) indicates the month in which crop water use is highest. If this peak demand for soil water cannot be met, a reduction in attainable yield may occur. However, the approach assumes that rainfall is the only supply of moisture for plant growth. It also neglects the supply of soil moisture from capillary rise, which can be significant for clay soils above perched (or shallow) groundwater tables. Furthermore, the crop coefficient approach does not factor in the soil's ability to retain surplus moisture in one month and make it available for growth in the following month.

## 7.2.2 Temperature

Temperature plays an important role in the daytime process of plants to synthesise carbohydrates via photosynthesis. According to Smith (2006), photosynthesis increases from 5°C to an optimum leaf temperature of 30 to 35°C. Hence, maximum daytime temperatures of up to 35°C increase the rate of photosynthesis. If the temperatures are too high, plant growth can be negatively affected, e.g. above 35°C for maize flowering (Smith, 2006). However, high maxima can have either a negative effect (e.g. maize) or positive effect (e.g. strawberries) on plant growth (Schulze and Maharaj, 2007a).

The variation of monthly mean temperatures influences the geographic range and the optimum growing areas for certain crop species, in particular for those with a lifecycle extending one year or less (Schulze and Maharaj, 2007a). From the perspective of crop survival, the climatic distribution of a crop is mostly described by minimum temperature. Most sub-tropical crops may die at 5°C and below, even if there is no frost. The term hardiness refers to a crop's tolerance to low temperatures (Schulze and Maharaj, 2007a).

## 7.2.3 Relative humidity

Relative humidity (RH) plays an important role in plant production. High RH has both positive and negative benefits for plant growth. High humidity levels create favourable conditions for the growth of certain micro-organisms (Schulze, 2007), as well as increase the presence of parasites and weeds (Schulze *et al.*, 1997). Extended high humidity (75-80%) coupled with extended periods of cloudy weather during the growing season would favour soybean rust infection and eventual epidemics (Caldwell *et al.*, 2002). On the other hand, salt sensitive crops can benefit from being grown in areas of higher relative humidity (An *et al.*, 2001).

Basically, increased relative humidity decreases transpiration, which reduces sodium uptake and translocation to plant leaves.

Humidity levels also directly influence the water use of a plant by regulating the transpiration rate. High humidity therefore reduces crop water use, thus enhancing water productivity (Smith, 2006). Relative humidity also indirectly affects leaf growth, leaf water potential, photosynthesis and disease incidence. When relative humidity is high, turgor pressure is also high due to reduced transpiration. Similarly, high humidity levels reduce  $CO_2$  uptake by the leaf, thus indirectly affecting photosynthesis.

#### 7.2.4 Soil depth and texture

The soil provides water, air, nutrients and stability to plants (Hewitt, 2004). Adequate soil conditions, including sufficient water and nutrient supply, are required for plant development and successful crop production (Pessarakli, 1994). Soil texture and effective rooting depth are important factors to consider when determining plant available water (Smith, 2006).

#### 7.2.5 Soil slope

Gentle slopes allow more time for water to percolate into the soil profile, whilst steeper slopes result in greater runoff (i.e. less percolation) and increased soil erosion (Schulze and Horan, 2007a). According to Sys *et al.* (1991), steep slopes pose more difficulties to cultivation than flat land. Steep slopes are also subject to higher rates of water runoff and soil erosion (FAO-IIASA, 2007).

#### 7.2.6 Altitude

In this study, altitude was not considered a mapping criterion because sites with a similar temperature (i.e. MAT isotherm of 16°C) occur at different altitudes in South Africa (i.e. ranging from 900 to 1700 m). Furthermore, altitude is often used as a surrogate for temperature when temperature data are unavailable.

#### 7.2.7 Heat units

Mokonoto (2012) developed a soybean suitability map by identifying areas with a seasonal rainfall of 550 to 700 mm (from October to March) and monthly mean temperatures of 20 to 30°C. These constraints for optimum growth were obtained from the biofuels scoping study (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). He then derived a heat unit map by applying the optimum heat unit range (1 500 to 2 600 GDD) to accumulated heat units (base 10°C) for October to March. The heat unit map was superimposed on the optimum growing areas (i.e. rainfall & temperature) map resulting in no loss in potential cultivation area. Mokonoto (2012) then visually compared the temperature and heat unit maps and found very little difference (spatially) between the two datasets. He concluded that either temperature or heat units could be used as mapping criterion, but not both. Based on this evidence, the decision was made to exclude heat units and only consider temperature constraints for growth.

## 7.2.8 Multiple criteria

The study conducted by Mokonoto (2012) showed that relative humidity (optimum range of 60 to 70%) is the main constraint which limits soybean cultivation. **Table 73** highlights a 50.1% reduction in potential soybean cultivation area after the relative humidity criterion was applied. Soil depth (> 600 mm) was considered next, resulting in a further loss of 18.9% in potential area.

**Table 73**Reduction in optimum growing areas deemed climatically suitable for soybean<br/>cultivation, caused by applying additional climatic and edaphic constraints to<br/>growth (Mokonoto, 2012)

Rainfall & temperature	Heat units	Relative humidity	Soil depth	% area remaining
Y				100.0
Y	Y			100.0
Y	Y	Y		49.1
Y	Y	Y	Y	30.2

This result highlights the sensitivity of the mapping approach to certain criterion, in particular relative humidity, which is used as a surrogate variable for disease incidence (as explained in **Section 7.2.3**). However, the study assumes that each criterion is equally important in terms of plant growth. This is not the case, which is discussed in **Section 7.4.5**.

# 7.3 GIS-based Case Studies

A Geographic Information System (GIS) is a computer-based tool for solving problems and is defined as a tool for capturing, storing, retrieving, manipulating, analysing and displaying spatial data (Malczewski, 2004). It is typically made up of five components, *viz.* computer hardware, computer software, spatial data, personnel and procedures. GIS has emerged as a powerful tool for overlaying large amounts of spatial information. Land suitability assessment is concerned with the availability of land resources in a given area, in relation to that required by a particular land use. GIS is a useful tool in "matching" land characteristics in a given area with the site requirements of a particular land cover. Four GIS-based studies related to the mapping of bioenergy feedstocks are considered next.

# 7.3.1 Jatropha's biophysical potential (2007)

A study funded by the Water Research Commission (WRC) assessed the water use and biophysical potential of *Jatropha curcas* (Holl *et al.*, 2007). A literature review was conducted to glean the biophysical requirements that influence the feedstock's survival and growth. The study used rainfall, temperature, soils, slope and frost information to map areas suitable for Jatropha production. A conservative approach was adopted when defining cut-off limits (or threshold values) for each mapping variable. This was based on the decision that Jatropha should not be planted in marginal areas. Altitude was not used as a mapping criterion as it is strongly correlated with temperature (see **Section 7.2.6** for more information).

Holl *et al.* (2007) adopted a two-phase approach to their mapping exercise. Firstly, the five mapping criteria were used to eliminate areas not suitable for Jatropha production. For example, areas with an MAP < 300 mm and an MAT <  $11^{\circ}$ C or >  $38^{\circ}$ C were eliminated as

potential growth areas. Spatial data was sourced from the South African Atlas of Agrohydrology and Climatology (Schulze *et al.*, 1997).

Secondly, the mapping criteria were weighting according to their importance in determining (or influencing) the survival and growth of Jatropha. Rainfall was considered the main driver and therefore weighted 40%. Temperature was also considered important and assigned a weighting of 35%. Soil fertility was given a 10% weighting, with frost, slope and altitude set to 5%. Each mapping variable was then re-classified into specific indices representing marginal, adequate and optimal growing conditions. The exact procedure that was followed was not given in the report by Holl *et al.* (2007).

## 7.3.2 Bioethanol-from-maize in Kenya (2008)

According to Koikai (2008), land suitability evaluation involves "calculating optimal site locations by identifying possible influential factors, creating new datasets from existing data, reclassifying data to identify areas with high suitability and finally, aggregating these data into one logical result of optimal suitability". In essence, Koikai (2008) identified regions with high maize productivity potential in the Nyanza Province (western Kenya), where potential bioethanol processing plants could be located.

The spatial data layers used to identify sites suitable for the location of a bioethanol processing plant are shown in **Table 74**. Potential sites located in close proximity (< 1.0 mile) were considered highly suitable and assigned a ranking of 3. Each criterion was also assigned a normalised weighting, with proximity to a railway, river and airport considered of lower importance than the other criteria. Hence, a site was deemed highly suitable for a processing plant if it was located in close proximity to a major road, town, power line and existing maize farm.

		Ranking	Woighting				
Suitability	3	2	1	weighting			
criterion	High	Medium	Low	Assigned	Decimal		
	suitability	suitability	suitability	weighting	weighting		
Major road	< 0.5 mi	0.5-1.0 mi	> 1.0 mi	3	0.176		
Railway	< 1.0 mi	1.0-3.0 mi	> 3.0 mi	2	0.118		
Town	< 1.0 mi	1.0-3.0 mi	> 3.0 mi	3	0.176		
Power line	< 0.5 mi	0.5-1.0 mi	> 1.0 mi	3	0.176		
Maize field	< 1.0 mi	1.0-3.0 mi	> 3.0 mi	3	0.176		
River	< 1.0 mi	1.0-3.0 mi	> 1.0 mi	2	0.118		
Airport	< 1.0 mi	1.0-5.0 mi	> 5.0 mi	1	0.059		
Total				17	1.000		

Table 74	Suitability criteria, rankings and weightings used by Koikai (2008) to identify
	sites suitable for the location of a bioethanol processing plant

## 7.3.3 Biofuels scoping study (2009)

The biofuels scoping study (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a) identified all crops/trees that can be used for biofuel production and included all feedstocks highlighted in the national biofuels strategy (DME, 2007a). The scoping study undertook an extensive literature review and summarised climatic thresholds for optimum growth of selected biofuel feedstocks. For example, the reported that soybean's optimum seasonal rainfall range is 550 to 700 mm. Similarly, the crop is best suited to areas where the monthly mean temperature ranges from 20 to 30°C. The crop is typically planted around the 1<sup>st</sup> November and the season length of 150 days.

Optimum growing areas were mapped using a commercial GIS package, with soybean shown as an example in **Figure 47**. The procedure mainly took into consideration 1) monthly rainfall (accumulated over the growing season from November to March), and 2) mean monthly temperature. Various tools and spatial databases, such as the South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology (Schulze, 2007), were used to develop the maps produced by Jewitt *et al.* (2009a). The approach did not consider other site criteria such as soil depth.



Figure 47 Potential growing areas of soybean in southern Africa (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a)

The scoping study recommended that further investigation was required to differentiate between optimal and marginal land for crop production. The scoping study also highlighted the need for a more detailed mapping/input of biophysical conditions, if the benefit and impact of biofuels is to be adequately assessed at local scales (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). In addition, the scoping study did not consider current land use, or future land use needs.

## 7.3.4 Bioenergy production in Africa (2011)

Wicke (2011) used a GIS approach to assess the current bioenergy production potential of semi-arid and arid regions in sub-Saharan Africa. The aim of the project was to identify land

that is suitable for biomass production for energy, by filtering out land that is not available or not suitable for inclusion in future bioenergy land use scenarios.

**Figure 48** highlights the areas deemed unsuitable for bioenergy production (which were "filtered" out using GIS), based on current land use in Tanzania (one of eight countries considered in the study). Unsuitable areas included high biodiversity areas (e.g. protected areas, biodiversity hotspots, forests & wetlands), agricultural land for food production (including pastureland) as well as other unsuitable land uses (e.g. such as cities, deserts & steep slopes). This study found that land available for bioenergy production in Tanzania was limited mostly by agricultural land use, but also by biodiversity protection and steep slopes (Wicke, 2011).



**Figure 48** Maps of protected areas and biodiversity hotspots, slope, land cover and pastureland in Tanzania in 2000 (Wicke, 2011)

Although current land use was considered, (Wicke, 2011) highlighted that it is also important to recognise the future demand for food and feed production, which may require additional land (due to population growth and dietary changes). This may reduce the availability of land for bioenergy production, assuming that bioenergy should not compete with food production.

## 7.3.5 Summary

From the four case studies reviewed in the previous section (**Section 7.3**), the following approaches were highlighted:

- weighting of criteria by Holl et al. (2007),
- ranking and classification of criteria by Koikai (2008), and

• consideration of present land use by Wicke (2011).

The above aspects were incorporated into the approach used in the study to map regions that are optimally and sub-optimally suited to biofuel feedstock cultivation. The six main steps followed in the land suitability assessment were as follows:

- identification of land suitability criteria,
- acquisition of required spatial datasets,
- determination of feedstock growth criteria,
- ranking of suitability criteria,
- weighting of each criterion, and finally
- consideration of present land use.

#### 7.4 Land Suitability Assessment

#### 7.4.1 Land suitability criteria

The criteria used in this study were seasonal rainfall (index of moisture supply), monthly temperature (index of moisture demand), relative humidity (surrogate index for disease risk), soil depth (index of moisture supply) and slope (minimise risk of soil erosion; consideration of mechanical harvesting). These five criteria were derived from due cognisance of the:

- criteria suggested in AIM 3 (Section 1.2),
- literature review of factors affecting plant growth (Section 7.2),
- criteria used to map suitable areas for Jatropha production (Section 7.3.1), and
- recommendations of the biofuels scoping study to include other criteria (Section 7.3.3).

#### 7.4.2 Data sources

In order to derive land suitability maps for biofuel feedstock production, five important spatial datasets were collected from different sources. These include monthly rainfall totals, monthly means of daily temperature and relative humidity as well as soil depth and slope. The updated South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology (Schulze, 2007) provided a valuable source of climatic, edaphic and topographic information. The gridded databases of monthly rainfall, temperature, and relative humidity were of particular importance to this study.

**Table 75** summarises the various data sources used for land suitability mapping. For additional information pertaining to each data set, the reader is referred to **Volume 3**. The sub-section that follows describes the methodology used in this study to evaluate the suitability of land to grow biofuel feedstocks.

Table 75Sources of climatic (rainfall, temperature & relative humidity), edaphic (soil<br/>depth) and topographic (slope) data used in this study

Datasets	Description	<sup>1</sup> Source	Reference
Rainfall	Monthly rainfall totals	CWRR	Lynch (2004)
Temperature	Means of daily maximum, minimum & average temperature	CWRR	Schulze and Maharaj (2007a)
Relative humidity	Means of daily average & minimum relative humidity	CWRR	Schulze <i>et al</i> . (2007a)
Slope	Digital elevation model	ARC	Weepener et al. (2011)
Soil depth	Depth of topsoil and subsoil horizons	CWRR	Schulze (2007)
Land use	Land use in South Africa	SANBI	Bhengu <i>et al</i> . (2008)
Protected Areas	Formal and informal protected areas in South Africa	SANBI	Bradshaw (2010)

<sup>1</sup>Note: Centre for Water Resources Research (CWRR) Agricultural Research Council (ARC) South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI)

## 7.4.3 Feedstock growth criteria

The growth criteria for each selected feedstock were based on rainfall, temperature, relative humidity, slope and soil depth constraints. The growth criteria were derived from a literature review conducted by Khomo (2014) for sugarcane, grain sorghum and soybean. It followed on from the review of literature undertaken for the biofuels scoping study (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). Hence, literature was sourced from 2008 onwards and then ranking from highest to lowest applicability to South African growing conditions. Hence, local and newer information sources were ranked higher than older references or international literature. A distinction was made between a primary information source (e.g. Smith, 2006) and a secondary source (e.g. Jewitt et al., 2009a), which cited the primary source. Thus, secondary information sources were ranked lower than the primary source (i.e. Smith). The sources of information that were considered in this study are presented in **APPENDIX D** for each feedstock. From these tables, a final set of growth criteria were derived which are presented in **Section 2.6** and **Section 2.7** for bioethanol and biodiesel feedstocks respectively (refer to the section heading "**Growth criteria**").

## 7.4.4 Ranking of criteria

The next important step involved ranking the growth criteria to identify optimum, suboptimum and marginal growth areas. Soybean is used as an example feedstock to explain the methodology that was followed.

An approach developed by Ramirez-Villegas *et al.* (2013) was adopted to identify climatic thresholds that distinguish between suitable (optimum and marginal) *vs.* unsuitable growing areas as depicted in **Figure 49**. When rainfall and temperature conditions are beyond the absolute thresholds, the location is not suitable for crop production (white area in **Figure 49**). If climate conditions are within the optimum range (light grey area in **Figure 49**), the site is highly suitable for crop production. When conditions are between the optimum and absolute

thresholds (dark grey area in **Figure 49**), the site is marginally suited to crop growth. A decision was made to include a sub-optimum growing area into the approach. This sub-optimum class introduced a "buffer" zone in-between the optimum and marginal classes.



**Figure 49** Crop suitability based on rainfall and temperature thresholds for growth (Ramirez-Villegas *et al.*, 2013)

## 7.4.4.1 Rainfall

As shown in **Table 93** in **APPENDIX D**, the recommended seasonal rainfall total for soybean obtained from various sources is as follows:

- 450 to 700 mm (Smith, 1994),
- 550 to 700 mm (Smith, 1998; Smith, 2006), and
- 500 to 900 mm (DAFF, 2010a).

In the scoping study, the range indicated by Smith (1998) and Smith (2006) was selected (i.e. 550-700 mm). However, this optimum range eliminates the Free State as climatically suitable for potential soybean production as shown in **Figure 47** in **Section 7.3.3**. According to **Table 13** in **Section 2.7.1.1**, 26.8% of total soybean production occurred in the Free State in 2010. In order to determine the lower threshold ( $R_{min}$  in **Figure 49**) for soybean cultivation, Mokonoto (2012) selected 450 mm, as suggested by Smith (1994), which then highlighted the eastern Free State as being suitable for soybean production. Hence, the absolute rainfall threshold ( $R_{min}$ ) was set to 450 mm as given in **Table 14** (**Section 2.7.1.3**). The upper threshold ( $R_{max}$ ) was set to 1 100 mm to avoid waterlogged conditions with high disease incidence.

The seasonal rainfall thresholds chosen to distinguish between optimum (Opt), sub-optimum (Sub) and marginal (Abs) growing conditions are given in **Table 76** for soybean. The inclusion of the sub-optimum class is important if one considers a seasonal rainfall total of 699 mm (or 901 mm), which is now classified as sub-optimal and not marginal. In other words, it solves a practical issue related to using discrete class intervals on continuous

datasets. Finally, a ranking was then assigned to each of the four suitability classes as shown in **Table 76**. The higher the ranking, the more suitable the site is for soybean cultivation.

Code	Seasonal rainfall range (mm)	Ranking
Not	< 450	0
Abs	450 - 550	1
Sub	550 - 700	2
Opt	700 - 900	3
Sub	900 - 1 000	2
Abs	1 000 - 1 100	1
Not	> 1 100	0

Table 76	Seasonal rainfall thresholds and rankings for each suitability class derived for
	soybean (Khomo, 2014)

Hence, soybean is unlikely to survive, due to severe water stress, if grown in areas where the seasonal rainfall total (i.e. monthly totals accumulated from November to March) is below 450 mm ( $R_{min}$  in **Figure 49**). Similarly, survival is deemed low due to high risk of disease incidence (e.g. soybean rust) when soybean is grown in very wet areas ( $R_{max} > 1$  100 mm in **Figure 49**).

As noted by Holl *et al.* (2007), it is important to realise that the growth thresholds were derived from a subjective assessment of values gleaned from a literature review. Thus, these estimates are not absolute and should only be used as a definitive guide to where the crop may be grown in South Africa. In general, such estimates may "improve" with time as more data becomes available on each feedstock, especially if it is grown extensively in South Africa.

## 7.4.4.2 Temperature

A similar exercise was conducted to develop the ranking metric for temperature. As highlighted in **Section 7.2.2**, all plants have lower and upper temperature limits, beyond which the plant can stop growing. These temperature limits differ with species and from one growth stage to another (Schulze *et al.*, 1997). The temperature suitability classes derived for soybean from November to March are summarised in **Table 77**. A distinction is made between the temperature thresholds for germination and those deemed appropriate for the remainder of the growing season.

Code	Not	Abs	Sub	Opt	Sub	Abs	Not
Suitability Class	N1	S3	S2	S1	S2	S3	N1
Ranking	0	1	2	3	2	1	0
Nov	< 10	10 - 13	13 - 15	15 - 18	18 - 25	25 - 33	> 33
Dec-Mar	< 10	10 - 18	18 - 23	23 - 27	27 - 30	30 - 33	> 33

 Table 77
 Ranking of each suitability class based on thresholds of monthly means of daily average temperature (°C) for soybean

#### 7.4.4.3 Relative humidity

In this study, it was important to assess the risk of disease occurrence using relative humidity as a surrogate climate variable. The relative humidity suitability classes and scores are summarised in the tables below for soybean (**Table 78**). The thresholds were based on evidence presented in **Section 2.7.1.6** for rust, a fungal disease which affects the leaves of soybean plants.

	Γ		Suit	ability	<b>∆</b> vera	de rela	tive					
	daily	v averaç	ge rela	ative hum	idity (%	) for so	ybea	an				
Table 78	Ran	king of	each	suitabilit	y class	based	on	thresholds	of	monthly	means	of

Code	Suitability class	Average relative humidity (%)	Ranking
Opt	S1	< 60	3
Sub	S2	60 - 75	2
Abs	S3	75 - 80	1
Not	N1	> 80	0

#### 7.4.4.4 Soil depth

According to Camp (1995; cited by Sibanda, 2008), the evaluation and examination of soil factors (e.g. soil depth and slope) should be important criteria in land evaluation studies. However, a lack of spatial data at an appropriate scale is often cited as the reason why soils are excluded in assessments of land suitability (Jewitt *et al.*, 2009a). Due to data limitations, only soil depth was evaluated in this study. **Table 79** summarises the soil depth suitability classes and rankings (i.e. scores) used for soybean.

Code	Suitability class	Ranking	
Opt	S1	> 500	3
Sub	S2	300 - 500	2
Abs	S3	200 - 300	1
Not	N1	< 200	0

 Table 79
 Ranking of each suitability class based on soil depth (mm) for soybean

#### 7.4.4.5 Slope

McRae and Burnham (1981) identified slope, aspect and elevation as important topographical features for consideration in land suitability evaluations. As noted in **Section 7.2.6**, altitude was excluded as a mapping criterion in this study. Slope is an important land characteristic that influences its use for agricultural purposes. Usually, steeper areas are not cultivated due to high risk of soil erosion from increased runoff. Furthermore, steeper slopes are more difficult and costly to cultivate than flat land (Santos *et al.,* 2000; cited by Sibanda, 2008).

**TABLE 80** summarises the slope suitability classes and rankings used in this study for all feedstocks.

	Suitability	Soil slo			
Code	class	Sugarcane	All other crops	Ranking	
Opt	S1	< 10	< 4	3	
Sub	S2	10 - 15	4 - 8	2	
Abs	S3	15 - 30	8 - 10	1	
Not	N2	> 30	> 10	0	

Table 80Ranking of each suitability class based on slope (%) for each feedstock<br/>(Russell, 1997)

The maximum slope for cultivation allowed by the Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF) is 30% (Holl *et al.*, 2007). Due to the erosion hazard, all areas with a slope exceeding 30% must be excluded as non-arable for sugarcane and commercial forestry. Russell (1997) stated that a slope greater than 10% is considered too steep for production of annual row crops, assuming conventional methods of cultivation and conservation.

#### 7.4.5 Weighting of criteria

Based on the above approach, five suitability criteria were selected for use in the mapping approach. These five criteria were then assigned weightings according to their relative importance in determining feedstock survival at a particular location. These subjective weightings were based on expert opinion (Bertling and Odindo, 2013) and ranged from most important (40%) to least important (10%), as shown in **Table 81**. The weightings are similar to those used by Holl *et al.* (2007) in the Jatropha study (c.f. **Section 7.3.1**).

According to Bertling and Odindo (2013), rainfall is most important to crop survival, because plants cannot grow without an adequate water supply. Temperature and slope are not as important as rainfall but are more important than relative humidity and soil depth. Relative humidity and soil depth are least important because diseases can be prevented (by spraying with fungicides) and soil depth can be modified using tillage. These weightings were then normalised (i.e. dividing by the summed weightings) to create a decimal weighting for each criterion. This approach is similar to that used by Koikai (2008) as given in **Section 7.3.2**.

Suitability criteria	Relative weighting (%)	Decimal weighting		
Rainfall	40	0.4		
Temperature	20	0.2		
Relative humidity	10	0.1		
Soil depth	10	0.1		
Slope	20	0.2		
Total	100	1.0		

Table 81	Weighting assigned to e	ach suitability criterior	n (Bertling and Odindo	, 2013)
----------	-------------------------	---------------------------	------------------------	---------

#### 7.4.6 Total suitability score

FAO's Land Evaluation Guidelines for Dryland Agriculture (FAO, 1983) recommends four methods to combine individual suitability ratings as follows:

- Subjective combination: defines overall suitability based on an understanding of the interaction between different land qualities.
- Limiting combination: overall suitability is defined mostly by limitations in one land quality.
- Arithmetic procedures: overall suitability is obtained by multiplying or adding values assigned to each suitability class.
- Modelling method: uses models to predict crop yields, based on the relationship between crop requirements and land qualities.

In this study, the arithmetic procedures method was used to determine the overall land suitability score. In **Table 82**, the suitability score is the product of the ranking and the decimal weighting. The five suitability scores are then summed to derive the overall land suitability score. Hence, if a particular site is ideally suited to the optimum growth of a feedstock, it is assigned an overall suitability score of 3. Similarly, a ranking of 1 assigned to each suitability criteria would produce an overall suitability score of 1.

Suitability	Panking	Decimal	Suitability
criteria	Kalikilig	weighting	score
Rainfall	3	0.4	1.2
Temperature	3	0.2	0.6
Relative humidity	3	0.1	0.3
Soil depth	3	0.1	0.3
Slope	3	0.2	0.6
Total		1.0	3.0

 Table 82
 Total suitability score obtained when each suitability criteria is ideally ranked

#### 7.4.7 Normalised suitability score

As highlighted in **Section 0**, the total suitability score is the sum of five suitability scores and ranges from 0 (not suitable) to 3 (optimally suited). The final step involved the normalisation of the total suitability score (i.e. dividing by 3) to produce a range from 0 (not suitable) to 1 (ideally suited to feedstock cultivation). The normalised values were then grouped into four classes for mapping purposes as shown in **Table 83**. For the mapping of sugarbeet, the lower threshold was increased from 0.60 to 0.63, to eliminate unsuitable areas in the Northern Cape Province.

Normalised	Suitability for	FAO (1976)						
suitability score	feedstock cultivation	classification						
0.00 - 0.60	Not suitable	N1 or N2						
0.60 - 0.65	Marginally suitable	S3						
0.65 - 0.75	Moderately suitable	S2						
0.75 - 1.00	Highly suitable	S1						

**Table 83**Normalised total suitability score used for mapping purposes (Khomo, 2014)

These class intervals were derived by comparing observed soybean yields collated at magisterial district level from commercial soybean producers under dryland conditions. This was done to adjust the highly suitable class interval so that the majority of the optimum growing areas were located within the boundaries of magisterial districts that reported high soybean yields. Similarly, the marginally suitable class interval was modified so highlighted areas coincided with low yielding farms (Khomo, 2014).

Each suitability class was then equated to the land suitability classification proposed in 1976 by the Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations (FAO). According to FAO (1976), land suitability ""is the fitness of a given type of land for a defined use". Land can be classified as suitable (S) or unsuitable (N) for a particular use. Suitable means sustained use is expected to give positive results. Similarly, not suitable means land qualities are considered inappropriate for a particular use.

The degree of suitability is reflected by different land suitability classes. The classes are numbered in a sequence where the highest number represents the least suitable and the lowest number represents the most suitable. According to FAO (1976), the relationship between inputs and benefits mainly determines the differences in the degree of suitability. The FAO recommends three suitability classes, with the following denominations:

- Class S1: Highly suitable
- Class S2: Moderately suitable
- Class S3: Marginally suitable

The land can be classified as not suitable based on, for example, environmental considerations (e.g. potential damage to biodiversity), technical considerations (e.g. soil depth and slope) or economic considerations (e.g. revenues). There are normally two classes for not suitable as follows:

- Class N1: Currently not suitable
- Class N2: Permanently not suitable

## 7.4.8 Summary

The main aim of the mapping component of this project was to complete a land suitability assessment at a national and provincial scale, in order to produce maps showing areas optimally and sub-optimally suited to the production of biofuel feedstocks. However, the sub-optimal areas were split into two classes, namely moderately suitable and marginally suitable.

## 7.5 GIS Approach

## 7.5.1 Rainfall distribution

**Table 81** in **Section 7.4.5** considered rainfall as the most important suitability criterion. As noted in **Section 7.2.1.2**, the timing or distribution of rainfall over the growing season can affect crop growth. For example, the optimum seasonal rainfall range for soybean is 700 to 900 mm (accumulated from November to March) as given in **Section 7.4.4.1**. However, soybean yield would be significantly different if the seasonal rainfall 1) was evenly distributed over the 5-month growing season (i.e. 140 to 180 mm per month), compared to 2) the majority of rainfall occurring over a 2-month period.

Based on this evidence, a decision was made to apply an additional weighting factor to monthly rainfall over the growing season. The monthly rainfall weightings are based on crop coefficients values, as opposed to using the rainfall concentration index. The largest monthly crop coefficient indicates the month in which crop water use is highest. Thus, a lack of rainfall in this month could result in a significant yield reduction. This approach is further explained using soybean as an example feedstock.

The single crop coefficients derived at Baynesfield Estate as shown in **Table 16** (Section **2.7.1.4**) for each month were normalised (i.e. division by the sum of 4.31) and then multiplied by each of the seasonal rainfall thresholds given in **Section 7.4.4.1**. For example, a minimum of 450 mm of seasonal rainfall is required for soybean cultivation. Based on peak water use ( $K_c$  of 1.03 mid-season), 105 of the 450 mm should fall in February. Similarly, 90 mm of rainfall is ideal in March, with 75 mm required in November for germination.

Month	Growth		K <sub>c</sub>	Monthly rainfall thresholds (mm)							
Month	stage		norm	Abs	Sub	Opt	Opt	Sub	Abs		
November	Ini	0.72	0.167	75	90	115	150	165	185		
December	Dev	0.72	0.167	75	90	115	150	165	185		
January	Mid	1.00	0.232	105	130	160	210	230	255		
February	Mid	1.03	0.239	105	135	175	215	245	260		
March	End	0.84	0.195	90	105	135	175	195	215		
Total		4.31	1.000	450	550	700	900	1 000	1 100		

Table 84Preferred distribution of seasonal rainfall in each month of the growing season<br/>for soybean

For simplicity, the monthly rainfalls shown in the above table were rounded to the nearest 5 mm. The values were then summed to ensure that the rainfall thresholds assigned to each suitability class remained unaltered. If discrepancies occurred, the monthly values representing peak water use (i.e. in February) were adjusted accordingly, as highlighted by italicised values in **Table 84**.

In this study, a seasonal rainfall range of 700 to 900 mm is considered optimum for soybean cultivation. Based on the single crop coefficient approach, the majority of seasonal rainfall should occur in February to satisfy the peak water requirements of the crop. Hence, a ranking of 3 is assigned to areas where February's rainfall total ranges from 175 to 215 mm.

If February's total is in the range 135-175 mm or 215-245 mm, the location is considered sub-optimal for soybean cultivation and assigned a ranking of 2. Marginal sites (ranked 1) exhibit monthly rainfall totals of 105-135 mm or 245-260 mm. Finally, the location is considered unsuitable for soybeans if February's rainfall is below 105 mm or above 260 mm (**Table 85**).

	Monthly rainfall ranges (mm) per suitability class										
Ranking	0	1	2	2	1	0					
November	< 75	75-90	90-115	115-150	150-165	165-185	> 185				
December	< 75	75-90	90-115	115-150	150-165	165-185	> 185				
January	< 105	105-130	130-160	160-210	210-230	230-255	> 255				
February	< 105	105-135	135-175	175-215	215-245	245-260	> 260				
March	< 90	90-105	105-135	135-175	175-195	195-215	> 215				
Seasonal	~ 150	450-550	550-700	700-000	900-1 000	1 000-1 100	<b>&gt; 1 100</b>				
total (mm)	< 450	400-000	550-700	100-900	300-1 000	1000-1100	> 100				

Table 85	Ranking	of	seasonal	rainfall	in	each	month	of	the	growing	season	for
	soybean											

This approach produces a ranked value for each month in the growing season. Khomo (2014) then used the monthly crop coefficient (again) to weight the relative importance of each month's ranking. Thus, the rainfall suitability score is the ranking multiplied by the decimal weighting, then summed to give a total score for the five-month growing season (**Table 86**). February was assigned the highest weighting because crop water use is highest in this month. If the rainfall total is within the ideal range for each of the five months in the growing season, a ranking of 3 assigned to each month which produces a maximum rainfall suitability score of 1.2 out of 3 (since rainfall contributes 40% tot the total suitability score).

Table 86	Maximum rainfall suitability score when each month's rainfall is ideally suited
	to soybean cultivation

Month	Optimum	Pank	ĸ	Relative	Decimal	Suitability
WOITH	range (mm)	Nalik	n <sub>c</sub>	weighting	weighting	score
November	115-150	3	0.72	0.67	0.067	0.20
December	115-150	3	0.72	0.67	0.067	0.20
January	160-210	3	1.00	0.93	0.093	0.28
February	175-215	3	1.03	0.96	0.096	0.29
March	135-175	3	0.84	0.78	0.078	0.23
Total	700-900		4.31	4.00	0.400	1.20

## 7.5.2 Data manipulation and analysis

New datasets were generated using the Re-classify tool in Spatial Analyst. Each monthly rainfall grid (for November to December) was re-classified to produce five new datasets using the Re-classify tool in Spatial Analyst. The Re-classify tool reads in the class intervals from an ASCII text file. The text file used to classify soybean's monthly rainfall in February is given below as an example:

 $\begin{array}{ccccccc} 0 & 105 & : & 0 \\ 105 & 135 & : & 1 \\ 135 & 175 & : & 2 \\ 175 & 215 & : & 3 \\ 215 & 245 & : & 2 \\ 245 & 260 & : & 1 \\ 260 & 999 & : & 0 \end{array}$ 

The re-classified cell values ranged from 0 (i.e. unsuitable for feedstock growth) to 3 (optimally suited to feedstock growth). The Raster Calculator in Spatial Analyst was then used to weight each new re-classified rainfall grid (called Rfl\_Rec\_xx; where xx = month). The new grids were then summed to calculate the rainfall suitability score (Rfl\_Sum) using the following expression:

	+	0.067)	*	<pre>Rfl_Sum = ([Rfl_Rec_11]</pre>
	+	0.067)	*	([Rfl_Rec_12]
Equation 68	+	0.093)	*	([Rfl_Rec_01]
	+	0.096)	*	([Rfl_Rec_02]
		0.078)	*	([Rfl_Rec_03]

This exercise was repeated for the other raster-based climate datasets (e.g. temperature and relative humidity). The relative temperature weightings assigned to each month indicate soybean is more sensitive to temperature stress early in the season (i.e. November-January). Hence, a total of five new re-classified temperature grids were generated (Tmp\_Rec), then weighted and summed to calculate the temperature suitability score (Tmp\_Sum) using the following expression:

	+	0.050)	*	$Tmp\_Sum = ([Tmp\_Rec\_11])$	
	+	0.050)	*	([Tmp_Rec_12]	
Equation 69	+	0.050)	*	([Tmp_Rec_01]	
	+	0.030)	*	([Tmp_Rec_02]	
		0.020)	*	([Tmp_Rec_03]	

A similar approach was followed for relative humidity. Van Niekerk (2009) indicated that risk of soybean rust outbreak increases in January, peaks in February and declines in March. Based on this evidence, the relative weighting assigned to each month shows that the crop is most susceptible to soybean rust in January and February. Finally, a total of five new reclassified humidity grids were generated (Hum\_Rec), then weighted and summed to calculate the humidity suitability score (Hum\_Sum) using the following expression:

Hum_Sum = ([Hum_Rec_11] *	0.010) +	
([Hum_Rec_12] *	0.010) +	
([Hum_Rec_01] *	0.030) +	Equation 70
([Hum_Rec_02] *	0.030) +	
([Hum_Rec_03] *	0.020)	

The soil depth and slope grids were also re-classified, then weighted accordingly. Thereafter, all five re-classified grids were summed and normalised (i.e. division by 3) using

the Raster Calculator in Spatial Analyst, to produce a land suitability grid with values ranging from 0 to 1 on a continuous scale.

#### 7.5.3 Present land use

The approach used in this study was further extended by considering existing land use. Land use describes how mankind utilises land, e.g. for urban living and agricultural food production. The legend of the land use dataset obtained from SANBI (c.f. Section 2.8.1 of **Volume 3**) contains explicit classifications which in this study, were divided into two categories, *viz.* absolute "no-go" areas and functional "no-go" areas.

Absolute "no-go" areas comprise of land uses that are physically unsuitable for feedstock production. According to the FAO classification (c.f. **Section 7.4.7**), such areas are classed as N2 (i.e. permanently not suitable) and include mining areas, urban areas and water bodies. Similarly, all formal protected areas identified by SANBI were classified as N2, which includes, *inter alia*, nature reserves, national parks, natural world heritage sites and protected forest areas.

Functional "no-go" areas refer to land uses deemed currently not suitable for feedstock cultivation (c.f. **Section 7.4.7**) and include, *inter alia*, commercial forest plantations, natural and degraded land. These land uses were categorised as N1 (i.e. currently unsuitable for feedstock production).

All areas that were classified as suitable for feedstock cultivation (S1, S2 or S3), but which overlapped with land use areas classified as N2 (permanently unsuitable), were excluded (or filtered out) using GIS. Thus, the consideration of present land use reduced the total arable land available for feedstock cultivation. A decision was made not to exclude land classified as N1 (i.e. currently unsuitable). **Figure 50** highlights areas classified as N1 and N2, which shows a significant portion of the eastern seaboard would be considered unviable for feedstock production.



**Figure 50** Distribution of areas considered as permanently (N2) and currently unsuitable (N1) for feedstock cultivation in South Africa (Khomo, 2014)

## 7.5.4 Mapping software and technology

Spreadsheet software developed by Microsoft (Excel Version 2010) was used to develop, test and refine the land suitability model used in this study. The GIS software used to perform the land suitability evaluation was developed by the Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI) based in Redlands, California (US). ESRI's ArcGIS (Version 9.3.1) software consists of two components that were used extensively *viz*. ArcMap and Spatial Analyst. The spatial datasets used in this study were projected to the Cape datum using the ArcGIS 9.3.1 project wizard tool in the Toolbox.

## 7.5.5 Summary

The overall aim was to map areas suitable for selected feedstocks and to improve the mapping approach used in previous land suitability studies. The methodology developed and implemented in this study is broadly similar to that adopted in the four case studies presented in **Section 7.3**. To re-cap, a literature review of feedstock growth criteria added to that undertaken in previous studies (e.g. the biofuels scoping study). Spatial rainfall data were classified into different suitability classes according to each feedstock's crop water requirements, using the crop coefficient concept. Similarly, spatial temperature was also categorised into different classes to separate optimum from sub-optimum growing areas. The rainfall and temperature datasets were then combined and weighted in order to identify land climatically suited to feedstock production.

Holl *et al.* (2007) adopted a two-phase approach to their mapping exercise (c.f. **Section 7.3.1**). Firstly, areas where the MAP < 300 mm and MAT <  $11^{\circ}$ C or >  $38^{\circ}$ C were eliminated as potential growing areas for Jatropha. Secondly, the remaining suitable areas were then classified as marginal to optimal, based on the selected criteria. In this study, areas considered too dry or too cold (or hot) for crop production were not specifically eliminated

and thus, may be classified as marginal (instead of unsuitable). For example, the approach did not eliminate frost-prone areas for sugarcane using the average minimum temperature is June and/or July (c.f. **Section 2.6.1.3**).

The approach then made use of a range of "filters" which were applied to the climatically suitable areas in order to highlight areas realistically suitable for crop production. For example, relative humidity was used (as a surrogate variable) to exclude areas with a high risk of disease incidence, thus minimising the risk of crop failure. Soil depth and slope data were also used to exclude areas with shallow soils and steep slopes that cannot support sustainable agriculture. Land use datasets were used to exclude areas that are classified as built-up, mining and water bodies as well as those areas protected by law for their biodiversity. It was important to eliminate these so-called "no-go" areas in order to identify land area realistically available to feedstock production. This approach helped to obtain a more realistic map of areas that can be planted to biofuel feedstocks. Although the latest available datasets were utilised, small patches of land may have been ignored (i.e. not highlighted as suitable) due to the coarseness of input climate data, which cannot account for microclimate effects.

The approach included relative humidity and soil depth, and is unique in that these two additional sites factors were not considered in previous GIS mapping studies. However, the most innovative aspect of this study is the use of crop coefficients to quantify the feedstock's optimum distribution of rainfall over the growing season.

# 8 REFERENCES

ABDULKAREEM AS, UTHMAN H, AFOLABI AS and AWENEBE OL (2011) Extraction and optimization of oil from *Moringa oleifera* seed as an alternative feedstock for the production of biodiesel. [Internet]. In: Nayeripour M & Kheshti M (Eds), *Sustainable growth and application in renewable energy sources*, 243-268. ISBN: 978-953-307-408-5. Available from:

http://www.intechopen.com/books/sustainable-growth-and-applications-in-renewable-energy-sources/extractionand-optimization-of-oil-from-moringa-oleifera-seed-as-an-alternative-feedstock-for-the-pr [Accessed 30 August 2013]

ABW (2008) Sweet sorghum: A new "smart biofuel crop". [Internet]. Agriculture Business Week (ABW) Online, 30<sup>th</sup> June 2008. Available from: <u>http://www.agribusinessweek.com/sweet-sorghum-a-new-smart-biofuel-crop/</u> [Accessed 16 October 2010]

ABW (2010) Sweet sorghum residues make good bio-organic fertilizer. [Internet]. Agriculture Business Week (ABW) Online, 11<sup>th</sup> October 2010.

http://www.agribusinessweek.com/sweet-sorghum-residues-make-good-bio-organic-fertilizer/ [Accessed 16 October 2010]

ACHTEN WMJ, VERCHOT L, FRANKEN YJ, MATHIJS E, SINGH VP, AERTS R and MUYS B (2008) Jatropha bio-diesel production and use. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 32(12): 1063-1084.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0961953408000767

ACOCKS JPH (1953) Veld Types of South Africa (Second Edition). Botanical Research Institute, Pretoria, RSA. *Memoirs of the Botanical Society* 28.

ACOCKS JPH (1975) Veld Types of South Africa (Second Edition). Botanical Research Institute, Pretoria, RSA. *Memoirs of the Botanical Society* 40.

ACOCKS JPH (1988) Veld Types of southern Africa. Botanical Research Institute, Pretoria, RSA. *Botanical Survey of South Africa Memoirs* 57. 146 pp.

ADEOTI O (2010) Water use impact of ethanol at a gasoline substitution ratio of 5% from cassava in Nigeria. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 34(7): 985-992. ISSN: 0961-9534. DOI:10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.02.006 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0961953410000619

ADETUNJI AI and TAYLOR JRN (2012) Development of a database on the quality attributes of released improved sorghum varieties and cultivars in southern Africa. *Journal of Quality Assurance and Safety of Crops & Foods* 4(3): 141-151. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-837X.2012.00145.x ALLEN RG, PEREIRA LS, RAES D and SMITH M (1998) Crop evapotranspiration -Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. FAO Irrigation and drainage paper 56, Chapter 6. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/ag/agl/aglw/cropwater/docs/method.pdf [Accessed 10 October 2007]

ALLEN RG, PEREIRA LS, HOWELL TA and JENSEN ME (2011a) Evapotranspiration information reporting: I. Factors governing measurement accuracy. *Agricultural Water management* 98: 899-920.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377411000023

[Accessed 07 September 2011]

ALLEN RG, PEREIRA LS, HOWELL TA and JENSEN ME (2011b) Evapotranspiration information reporting: II. Recommended documentation. *Agricultural Water management* 98: 921-929.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377411000035 [Accessed 7 September 2011]

ALLEN RG, PRUITT WO, WRIGHT JL, HOWELL TA, VENTURA F, SNYDER R, ITENFISU D, STEDUTO P, BERENGENA J, BASELGA YRISARRY J, SMITH M, PEREIRA LS, RAES D, PERRIER A, ALVES I, WALTER I and ELLIOTT R (2006) A recommendation on standardized surface resistance for hourly calculation of reference ET<sub>o</sub> by the FAO56 Penman-Monteith method. *Agricultural Water Management* 81(1-2): 1-22.

DOI:10.1016/j.agwat.2005.03.007

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037837740500154X

ALLEN RG, SMITH M, PEREIRA LS, RAES D and WRIGHT JL (2000) Revised FAO Procedures for Calculating Evapotranspiration - Irrigation and Drainage Paper No. 56 with Testing in Idaho. In: Flug M, Frevert D and Watkins DW (Eds), *ASCE Proceedings of Watershed Management and Operations Management*, 20-24 June 2000, Fort Collins, Colorado, USA. doi:10.1061/40499(2000)125

http://www.winrockwater.org/docs/Allen\_Revised%20FAO%20procedures.pdf [Accessed 23 August 2011]

ALLEN RG, WALTER IA, ELLIOTT RL, HOWELL TA, ITENFISU D, JENSEN ME and SNYDER RL (2005) *The ASCE Standardized Reference Evapotranspiration Equation.* American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE). Reston, VA. 59 pp with supplemental appendices.

ALMODARES A and HADI MR (2009) Production of bioethanol from sweet sorghum: A review. *African Journal of Agricultural Research* 4(9): 772-780. http://www.academicjournals.org/ajar/pdf/pdf%202009/Sep/Almodares%20and%20Hadi.pdf [Accessed 05 October 2013]

AMINZADEH B, TORKIHARCHEGANI M, AHMADI A and GORGI MRN (2014) Modeling of climate effects on sugar beet growth in Kurdistan province. *International Journal of Advanced Biological and Biomedical Research* 2(4): 1217-1225.

AN P, INANAGA S, KAFKAFI U, LUX A and SUGIMOTO Y (2001) Different effect of humidity on growth and salt tolerance of two soybean cultivars. *Biologia Plantarum* 44(3): 405-410.

http://www.springerlink.com/content/h17472489473471t/

ANDERSON RL, TANAKA DL and MERRILL SD (2003) Yield and water use of broadleaf crops in a semiarid climate. *Agricultural Water Management* 58(3): 255-266. DOI:10.1016/S0378-3774(02)00085-9 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377402000859

ANGUS GR (1989) Sensitivity of ACRU model input. In: Schulze RE (Ed), ACRU: Background: Concepts and Theory. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 154/1/89. pp AT18-1 to AT18-21.

ANISKO T, NESMITH DS and LINDSTROM OM (1994) Time-domain Reflectometry for Measuring Water Content of Organic Growing Media in Containers. *Horticultural Science* 29(12): 1511-1513.

http://hortsci.ashspublications.org/content/29/12/1511.full.pdf

ANNANDALE JG, BENADÉ N, JOVANOVIC NZ, STEYN M and DU SAUTOY N (1999) Facilitating irrigation scheduling by means of the soil water balance model. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 753/1/99.

ANNANDALE JG, JOVANOVIC NZ, STEYN JM, SOUNDY P and BACKEBERG GR (2002) Technology transfer of the Soil Water Balance (SWB) model for irrigation scheduling. Workshop organised by FAO-ICID, 24<sup>th</sup> July 2002, Montreal, Canada. 23 pp.

ARC-GCI (1999) Sorghum production guide. Agricultural Research Council (ARC), Grain Crops Institute, Potchefstroom, RSA. 46 pp.

ARDEBILI MS, GHOBADIAN B, NAJAFI G and CHEGENI A (2011) Biodiesel production potential from edible oil seeds in Iran. *Renewable and Sustaintable Energy Reviews* 15(6): 3041-3044.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032111001031

ASHER MJC and HANSON LE (2006) Fungal and Bacterial Diseases. In: Draycott AP (Ed), *Sugar Beet*, Chapter 12, 286-315. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK. Online ISBN: 9780470751114. DOI:10.1002/9780470751114.

ASIEDU JJ (1989) *Processing tropical crops - a technological approach*. Macmillan, London, UK.

ATABANI AE, MAHLIA TMI, BADRUDDIN IA, MASJUKI HH, CHONG WT and LEE KT (2013) Investigation of physical and chemical properties of potential edible and non-edible feedstocks for biodiesel production, a comparative analysis. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 21: 749-755. DOI:10.1016/j.rser.2013.01.027 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1364032113000580

AUGUSIAKA J, VAN DEN BRINK PJ and GRIMM V (2014) Merging validation and evaluation of ecological models to 'evaludation': A review of terminology and a practical approach. *Ecological Modelling* 280: 117-128.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304380013005450

BAHIZIRE FB (2007) Effect of Salinity on Germination and Seedling Growth of Canola (*Brassica napus L*). Study leader: Prof. GA Agenbag. Thesis in partial fulfilment of Degree of Master of Agricultural Sciences, University of Stellenbosch, RSA.

BALAT M and BALAT H (2010) Progress in biodiesel processing. *Applied Energy* 87(6): 1815-1835.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306261910000255

BALL-COELHO B, SAMPAIO EVSB, TIESSEN H and STEWART JWB (1992) Root dynamics in plant and ration crops of sugar cane. *Plant and Soil* 142(2): 297-305. DOI:10.1007/BF00010975

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2FBF00010975

BANERJEE S and KUNDU D (2013) A comparative overview of ethanol production from cereal grains and potato by enzymatic treatment. *International Journal of Research in Engineering and Advanced Technology* 1(2): 1-11. http://www.ijreat.org/Papers%202013/Issue2/IJREATV112019.pdf

BARAN R, BASSEREAU D and GILLET N (1974) Measurement of available water and root development on an irrigated sugar cane crop in the Ivory Coast. *Proceedings of the International Society of Sugar Cane Technologists* 15: 726-735.

BASSAM NE (2010) Handbook of Bioenergy Crops: A Complete Reference to Species, Development and Applications. Earthscan Ltd, London, UK.

BERTLING I and ODINDO AO (2013) Personal communication. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA, 20<sup>th</sup> April 2013.

BEVEN KJ (2001) *Rainfall-runoff modelling, the primer.* John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.

BFAP (2008) Impact analysis of the Biofuels Industrial Strategy on the South African Agricultural and Biofuel Subsectors. [Internet]. Bureau for Food and Agricultural Policy, Pretoria, RSA. BFAP Biofuels Report 03/2008. Available from:

http://www.bfap.co.za/reports/BFAP\_Biofuels\_report\_no3.pdf

[Accessed 13 December 2009]

BHENGU S, SCHULZ C and GROBLER J (2008) GIS metadata: detailed report. [Internet]. South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI), Cape Town, RSA. Available from: <u>http://196.21.45.151/imf-aims50/sites/BGIS/nlc\_metadata\_2009.pdf</u> [Accessed 15 June 2014]

BLACKBURN F (1984) Sugar-cane. Longman, New York. ISBN: 0-582-46028-X. 414 pp.

BLÜMMEL M, RAO SS, PALANISWAMI S, SHAH L and REDDY BVS (2009) Evaluation of sweet sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) used for bio-ethanol production in context of optimising whole plant utilisation. *Animal Nutrition and Feed Technology* 9(1): 1-10. http://openaccess.icrisat.org/bitstream/10731/1636/1/AniNutFeedTech%209 1 1-10 2009.pdf [Accessed 16 October 2010]

BOOTH EJ and GUNSTONE FD (2004) Rapeseeds and rapeseed oil: Agronomy, production, and trade. In: Gunstone FD (Ed), *Rapeseed and canola oil production, processing, properties and uses, 1-16.* Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK.

BOWEN HD, COLWICK RF and BATCHELDER DG (1973) Computer simulation of crop production: potential and hazards. *Agricultural Engineering* 54(10): 42-45.

BRADSHAW P (2010) GIS informal and formal protected areas metadata: Detailed report. [Internet]. South African National Parks (SANParks), Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://bgis.sanbi.org/protectedareas/protectedAreas.asp</u> [Accessed 24 June 2014]

BRANDLING J (2010) Production of ethanol from tropical sugar beet. Unpublished MSc thesis, Faculty of Engineering Sciences (Chemical and Minerals Engineering), North-West University, Potchefstroom, RSA.

BRISTOW KL and CAMPBELL GS (1984) On the relationship between incoming solar radiation and daily maximum and minimum temperature. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 31(2): 159-166.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0168192384900170

BROWN KF and BISCOE PV (1985) Fibrous root growth and water use of sugar beet. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 105: 679-691.

BULCOCK HH (2011) An assessment of canopy and litter interception in commercial forest plantations and an indigenous forest in the KwaZulu-Natal Midlands, South Africa. Unpublished PhD thesis. School of Bioresources Engineering and Environmental Hydrology. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA.

BULCOCK HH and JEWITT GPW (2012) Field data collection and analysis of canopy and litter interception in commercial forest plantations in the KwaZulu-Natal Midlands, South Africa. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 16: 3717-3728. http://www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/16/3717/2012/hess-16-3717-2012.html

BURGESS SSO, ADAMS MA, TURNER NC, BEVERLY CR, ONG CK, KHAN, AAH and BLEBY TM (2001) An improved heat pulse method to measure low and reverse rates of sap flow in woody plants. *Tree Physiology* 21(9): 589-598.

CALDER IR (1990) Evaporation in the uplands. John Wiley and Sons, Chichester, UK.

CALDWELL PM, LAING MD and WARD J (2002) *The threat to SA soya crop continues*. Farmer's Weekly, Republican Press, Johannesburg, RSA.

CAMP KGT (1995) Valley Bushveld of KwaZulu-Natal: Natural Resources and Management. Department of Agriculture, Cedara, KwaZulu-Natal, RSA. Cedara Report No. N/A/95/2.

CAMP KG (1997) *The Bioresource Groups of KwaZulu-Natal*. Department of Agriculture, Cedara, KwaZulu-Natal, RSA. Cedara Report No. N/A/97/6.

CAMPBELL LG (2002) Sugarbeet Quality Improvement. *Journal of Crop Production* 5(1-2): 395-413. DOI:10.1300/J144v05n0116

CAMPBELL GS and VAN EVERT FK (1994) Light interception by plant canopies: Efficiency and architecture. p. 35-52. In: Monteith JL, Scott RK & Unsworth MH (Eds), *Resource Capture by Crops*. Nottingham University Press.

CANOLA ENCYCLOPAEDIA (2013a) Environmental effects. [Internet]. Available from: http://www.canolacouncil.org/canola-encyclopedia/crop-development/growth-stages/ [Accessed 17 January 2015]

CANOLA ENCYCLOPAEDIA (2013b) Environmental effects. [Internet]. Available from: <u>http://www.canolacouncil.org/canola-encyclopedia/field-characteristics/effects-of-soil-characteristics/</u> [Accessed 17 January 2015]

CATTANACH AW, DEXTER AG and OPLINGER ES (1991) Alternative field crops manual: Sugarbeets. [Internet]. Available from: <u>http://www.hort.purdue.edu/newcrop/afcm/sugarbeet.html</u> [Accessed 27 March 2012]

CERNUSAK LA, ARANDA J, MARSHALL JD and WINTER K (2007) Large variation in whole-plant water-use efficiency among tropical tree species. *New Phytologist* 173: 294-305.

CHAN CY and KNIGHT RJ (1999) Determining water content and saturation from dielectric measurements in layered materials. *Water Resources Research* 35(1): 85-93. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/1998WR900039/full

CHANDLER M, SEYFRIED M, MURDOCK M and MCNAMARA JP (2004) Field Calibration of Water Content Reflectometers. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 68(5): 1501-1507. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/sssaj/abstracts/68/5/1501

CHAPMAN RD (2004) Estimation of Vapour Pressure and Solar Radiation in South Africa. MSc dissertation, School of Bioresources Engineering and Environmental Hydrology, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA.

CHARLESWORTH P (2005) Soil water monitoring. An information package, 2nd edition. [Internet]. National Program for Sustainable Irrigation. CSIRO/CRC Irrigation Futures - Land and Water Australia. Available from:

http://www.lwa.gov.au/downloads/publications\_pdf/PR050832.pdf

[Accessed 17 June 2011]

CHIANU JN, OHIOKPEHAI O, VANLAUWE B, ADESINA A, DE GROOTE H and SANGINGA N (2009) Promoting a Versatile but yet Minor Crop: Soybean in the Farming Systems of Kenya. *Journal of Sustainable Development in Africa* 10(4): 1520-5509.

CHIREMBA C (2010) Personal Communication. Research Scientist, Agricultural Research Council, Potchefstroom, RSA.

CHRISTENSON DR and DRAYCOTT AP (2006) Nutrition - Phosphorus, Sulphur, Potassium, Sodium, Calcium, Magnesium and Micronutrients - Liming and Nutrient Deficiencies. In: Draycott AP (Ed), *Sugar Beet*, Chapter 9, 185-220. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK. Online ISBN: 9780470751114. DOI:10.1002/9780470751114.

COLEMAN A (2012) R1,7 billion bio-ethanol plant in FS. [Internet]. Farmers Weekly, 30 March 2012. http://www.farmersweekly.co.za/news.aspx?id=16363&h=Biofuels-Free-State [Accessed 03 April 2012]

COMPETE (2009) Improved agricultural practices in farming systems of semi-arid and arid Africa in view of future possibilities for bioenergy production: Experiences from the COMPETE Network. Competence Platform on Energy Crop and Agroforestry Systems for Arid and Semi-arid Ecosystems: Africa (COMPETE), ANNEX2-2-1 of Deliverable D2.1, the Second Periodic Activity Report (January-December 2008). Dornburg V, Smeets E & Faaij A (Eds). Department of Science, Technology and Society, Copernicus Institute, Utrecht University, Utrecht, the Netherlands.

COOREVITS L (2010) Calibration and validation of green beans for the AquaCrop Model. Master Research. Inter-University Programme for Water Resources Engineering (IUPWARE), Brussels-Leuven, Belgium.

COWAN IR and FARQUHAR GD (1977) Stomatal function in relation to leaf metabolism and environment. In: Jennings DH (Ed), *Integration of Activity in the Higher Plant*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 471-505.

CUENCA RH (1989) *Irrigation system design: An engineering approach*. Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey. 552 pp.

CUMMING C, HARDY M, BRAND T, LAMPRECHT S, TRIBE G, AGENBAG GA and LOMBARD P (2010) Canola Manual. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Western Cape, RSA. Available from:

http://www.overbergagri.co.za/documents/agri/Canola%20manual.pdf [Accessed 30 September 2014]

CURT MD, FERNANDEZ J and MARTINEZ M (1995) Productivity and water use efficiency of sweet sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) cv. "Keller" in relation to water regime. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 8(6): 401-409.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0961953495000364

DA SILVA JPV, SERRA TM, GOSSMANN M, WOLF CR, MENEGHETTI MR and MENEGHETTI SMP (2010) *Moringa oleifera* oil: Studies of characterization and biodiesel Production. *Journal of Biomass and Energy* 34(10): 1527-1530. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0961953410001200

DAFF (2009) Canola. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), Pretoria, RSA. Available from: http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Brochures/canola.pdf

[Accessed 21 September 2012]

DAFF (2010a) Soya beans: production guideline. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/brochures/soya-beans.pdf</u> [Accessed 20 September 2012]

DAFF (2010b) Sorghum: production guideline. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Brochures/prodGuideSorghum.pdf</u> [Accessed 27 September 2012]

DAFF (2010c) Sunflower: production guideline. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Brochures/prodGuideSunflower.pdf</u> [Accessed 20 September 2012]

DAFF (2010d) Canola: production guideline. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF), Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Brochures/prodGuideCanola.pdf</u> [Accessed 20 September 2012]

DAFF (2010e) Grain sorghum market value chain profile. [Internet]. National Department of Agriculture (NDA), Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/AMCP/GrnSorghumMVCP2009-2010.pdf</u> [Accessed 16 October 2010]

DAFF (2011a) Soybean market value chain profile 2010/2011. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/amcp/soyabeanmvcp2010-2011.pdf</u> [Accessed 20 September 2012]

DAFF (2011b) A profile of the South African sugar market value chain. [Internet]. Sector trade performance review (ATPR). Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). Pretoria, RSA. Available from:

http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/AMCP/SUGARMVCP2011-12.pdf [Accessed 21 September 2012] DAFF (2012a) Abstract of agricultural statistics: 2012. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). Pretoria, RSA. Available from:

http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/statsinfo/Ab2012.pdf [Accessed 21 September 2012]

DAFF (2012b) Canola market value chain profile 2011/2012. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/AMCP/CanolaMVCP2011.pdf</u> [Accessed 20 September 2012]

DAFF (2012c) Sugarcane. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). Pretoria, RSA. Available from: http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Brochures/sugarcane.pdf [Accessed 30 January 2013]

DAFF (2014) Canola Market Value Chain Profile. [Internet]. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (DAFF). Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/doaDev/sideMenu/Marketing/Annual%20Publications/Commodity%20Profiles/field%20cr</u> <u>ops/Canola%20Market%20Value%20Chain%20Profile%202014.pdf</u>

[Accessed 21 July 2015]

DAWSON TE, MAMBELLI S, PLAMBOECK AH, TEMPLER PH and TU KP (2002) Stable isotopes in plant ecology. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 33: 507-559. http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.33.020602.095451

DE BEER AS and DE KLERK N (2014) Soybean cultivar recommendations 2014/2015. [Internet]. ARC-Grain Crops Institute, Potchefstroom, RSA. Available from: http://www.arc.agric.za/arc-gci/Documents/Soybeans/soyrecom14-15.pdf [Accessed 24 August 2015]

DE JAGER JM (1994) Accuracy of vegetation evaporation ratio formulae for estimating final wheat yield. *Water SA* 20(4): 307-317.

DE VILLIERS G (1975) Reënvalonderskeppingsverliese in die Republiek van Suid Afrika - 'n Streekstudie. Unpublished PhD thesis. Department of Geography, University of the Orange Free State, Bloemfontein. 219 pp.

DEAT (2009) List 3: List Of Invasive Species In Terms Of Section 70 of the National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No. 10 of 2004). [Internet]. Government Gazette No. 32090, Notice 350 of 2009. Department of Environmental Affairs and Tourism (DAET), Pretoria, RSA. Available from:

http://acdb.co.za/uploads/File/Documents/Government%20Notice%20-%20Version%209.pdf [Accessed 30 January 2013]

DENT MC, LYNCH SD and SCHULZE RE (1989) Mapping Mean Annual and Other Rainfall Statistics over Southern Africa. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 109/1/89. 230 pp.

DERCAS N, KAVADAKIS G and LIAKATAS A (2001) Evaluation of productivity, water and radiation use efficiency of two sweet sorghum varieties under Greek conditions. 1<sup>st</sup> World Conference on Biomass for Energy and Industry: Proceedings for the conference held in Sevilla, Spain, 5-9 June 2000. 1654-1657.

DICKO MH, GRUPPEN H, TRAORÉ AS, VORAGEN AGV and VAN BERKEL WJH (2006) Sorghum grain as human food in Africa: relevance of content of starch and amylase activities. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 5(5): 384-395.

DME (2006a) National Biofuels Study: An investigation into the feasibility of establishing a biofuels industry in the Republic of South Africa. [Internet]. Final report prepared to assist the development of an industrial strategy. 114 pp. Available from:

http://www.dme.gov.za/pdfs/energy/bio\_feasible\_study.pdf

[Accessed 17 November 2009]

DME (2006b) Draft biofuels industrial strategy of the Republic of South Africa. [Internet]. Department of Minerals and Energy (DME), Pretoria, RSA. 16 pp. Available from: <u>http://www.dme.gov.za/pdfs/energy/renewable/Biofuels\_Strategy\_SA.pdf</u> [Accessed 17 November 2009]

DME (2007a) *The South African National Biofuels Industrial Strategy*. [Internet]. Department of Minerals and Energy, Pretoria, RSA. Available from: http://www.info.gov.za/view/DownloadFileAction?id=77830

[Accessed 19 March 2012]

DME (2007b) *Energy Security Master Plan - Liquid Fuels*. [Internet]. Annexure B released for public comment, Department of Minerals and Energy, RSA. 21<sup>st</sup> August 2007. Available from:

http://www.polity.org.za/article/energy-security-master-plan-liquid-fuels-august-2007-2007-08-21 [Accessed 25 September 2012]

DOBRIYAL P, QURESHI A, BADOLA R, and HUSSAIN SA (2012) A review of the methods available for estimating soil moisture and its implications for water resource management. *Journal of Hydrology* 458-459: 110-117.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022169412005069

DoE (2011) Draft regulations regarding the mandatory blending of biofuels with petrol and diesel. [Internet]. Government Gazette No. 34610, 16 September 2011. Amendment no. R.745 of the Petroleum Products Act of 1977, Pretoria, RSA. 3-7. Available from: http://www.info.gov.za/view/DownloadFileAction?id=150835

[Accessed 26 September 2011]

DoE (2012a) Biofuels pricing and manufacturing economics. [Internet]. Department of Energy, Pretoria, RSA. Available from:

http://www.energy.gov.za/files/esources/renewables/BiofuelsPricingAndManufacturingEconomics.pdf [Accessed 31 March 2013] DoE (2012b) Regulations regarding the mandatory blending of biofuels with petrol and diesel. [Internet]. Government Gazette No. 35623, 23 August 2012. Amendment no. R.671 of the Petroleum Products Act of 1977, Pretoria, RSA. 3-7. Available from: http://www.info.gov.za/view/DownloadFileAction?id=173022 [Accessed 29 August 2012]

DoE (2013) Presentation by Mr Mkhize (Chief Director: Hydrocarbons Policy) to the Portfolio Committee on Energy regarding an update on the biofuels industrial strategy. 13<sup>th</sup> August 2013. Available from:

http://slideplayer.com/slide/4730169/ [Accessed 18 January 2014]

DoE (2014) Draft position paper on the South Africa biofuels regulatory framework. [Internet]. Department of Energy (DoE), Pretoria, RSA. Government Gazette, Vol. 583 (No. 37232), Notice 24 of 2014, 15 January 2014. Available from:

http://www.energy.gov.za/files/policies/Draft position paper on the SA Biofuels Reg Frmwrk.pdf [Accessed 20 January 2014]

DOORENBOS J and KASSAM AH (1979) *Crop water requirements*. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper No. 33. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy.

DOORENBOS J and PRUITT WO (1983) Yield response to water. FAO Irrigation and drainage paper, 2nd revised edition.

DRAPCHO CM, NGHIÊM NP and WALKER T (2008) Biofuel feedstocks. [Internet]. In: *Biofuels Engineering Process Technology*, Chapter 4. McGraw-Hill Publishers, USA. ISBN: 0071487492/9780071487498. Available from:

http://www.mhprofessional.com/downloads/products/0071487492/DrapchoCh4.pdf [Accessed 29 September 2013]

DRAYCOTT AP (2006) *Sugar Beet*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK. Online ISBN: 9780470751114. DOI:10.1002/9780470751114. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/book/10.1002/9780470751114

DRDLR (2013) Minister Nkwinti lambasts the lazy. [Internet]. Department of Rural Development and Land Reform (DRDLR), Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.dla.gov.za/phocadownload/stories/2013/sugar\_hand\_over\_cradock090412.pdf</u> [Accessed 02 September 2013]

DU PLESSIS J (2008) Sorghum production. [Internet]. National Department of Agriculture, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.nda.agric.za/docs/Infopaks/FieldCrops\_Sorghum.pdf</u> [Accessed 07 May 2012]

DU PREEZ JC, DE JONG F, BOTS PJ and LATEGAN PM (1985) Fermentation alcohol from grain sorghum starch. *Biomass* 8(2): 101-117. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0144456585900216 DU TOIT JL (1954) Weather report for year 1<sup>st</sup> June 1953, to 31<sup>st</sup> May 1954. [Internet]. *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technology Association* 1954: 62-66. Available from:

http://www.sasta.co.za/wp-

content/uploads/Proceedings/1950s/1954 Du%20Toit Weather%20Report%20For%20Year.pdf
[Accessed 07 October 2015]

DUGMORE H (2010) The great Fish River sugar beet plan. Farmers Weekly, 20<sup>th</sup> August 2010. 50-52.

DUGMORE H (2011) The great Fish River sugar beet plan. Farmers Weekly, 04<sup>th</sup> March 2011. 66-67.

DUKE JA (1983) Handbook of energy crops. [Internet]. Centre for New Crops and Plant Products, Purdue University. Available from: http://www.hort.purdue.edu/newcrop/Indices/index\_ab.html

[Accessed 12 August 2007]

DUKE CS, POUYAT RV, ROBERTSON GP and PARTON WJ (2013) *Ecological Dimensions of Biofuels.* [Internet]. Issues in Ecology, Report No. 17, The Ecological Society of America, Washington DC, USA. Available from:

http://www.esa.org/esa/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/issue17.pdf [Accessed 12 August 2015]

DUNHAM RJ (1993) Water Use Requirements. In: Cooke DA & Scott RK (Eds), *The Sugarbeet Crop: Science into practice*, 279-309. Chapman and Hall, London, UK. 675 pp.

DWA (1986) *Management of the Water Resources of the Republic of South Africa*. Department of Water Affairs (DWA), Pretoria, RSA. CTP Book Printers, Cape Town. ISBN: 0 621 11004 3.

DYE PJ (2000) Water-use efficiency in South African Eucalyptus plantations: a review. *South African Forestry Journal* 189: 17-25.

DYE PJ and OLBRICH BW (1993) Estimating transpiration from 6-year-old *Eucalyptus grandis* trees: development of a canopy conductance model and comparison with independent sap flux measurements. *Plant Cell Environment* 16: 45-53.

DYE PJ, SOKO S and POULTER AG (1996) Evaluation of the heat pulse velocity method for measuring sap flow in *Pinus patula*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 47: 975-981.

EFETHA A (2012) Irrigation Scheduling for Sugar Beet in Southern Alberta. [Internet]. Agdex 171/561-1. Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development. Available from: http://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$department/deptdocs.nsf/all/agdex13524/\$file/171\_561-1.pdf?OpenElement [Accessed 27 March 2015] EHRENSING DT (2008) Canola. [Internet]. Department of Crop and Soil Science, Oregon State University, Oregon, USA. Available from:

http://extension.oregonstate.edu/catalog/pdf/em/em8955-e.pdf [Accessed 01 May 2012]

ERASMUS D (2012) SA far from reaching biofuels target. [Internet]. Farmers Weekly, 29 September 2012. Available from: http://www.farmersweekly.co.za/news.aspx?id=29229&h=SA-far-from-reaching-biofuels-target [Accessed 08 October 2012]

ESCOBAR JC, LORA ES, VENTURINI OJ, YANEZ EE, CASTILLO EF and ALMAZAN O (2009) Biofuels: Environment, technology and food security. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 13: 1275-1287. DOI:10.1016/j.rser.2008.08.014 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6VMY-4TMC2CG-2/2/b379897a8199e1f00d52c60c1e86d9b3 [Accessed 18 February 2011]

EVANS H (1964) The root system of sugarcane-an evaluation of its salient features. Indian Journal of Sugarcane Research Development 8: 161-171.

EVERSON C, EVERSON T and GHEZEHEI SB (2009) Jatropha curcas, the wonder biodiesel plant: Fact or fiction? 2<sup>nd</sup> World Congress of Agroforestry, Nairobi, Kenya, August 2009.

EVERSON CS, GHEZEHEI SB, EVERSON TM and ANNANDALE J (2012) Agroforestry systems for improved productivity through the efficient use of water. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA, WRC Report No. 1480/1/12, ISBN: 978-1-4312-0261-4. http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Research%20Reports/1480-1-12.pdf [Accessed 25 November 2012]

FAGET M, LIEDGENS M, STAMP P, FLÜTSCH P and HERRERA JH (2010) A minirhizotron imaging system to identify roots expressing the green fluorescent protein. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture 74(1): 163-167.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168169910001274

FANOURAKIS GC (2012) Estimating soil plasticity properties from pedological data. Journal of the South African Institution of Civil Engineering 54(2): 117-125. http://reference.sabinet.co.za/sa\_epublication\_article/civileng\_v54\_n2\_a14

FAO (1976) A Framework for Land Evaluation. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. FAO Soils Bulletin No. 32.

FAO (1983) Guidelines: Land Evaluation for Rainfed Agriculture. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. FAO Soils Bulletin No. 52.

FAO (2002) Crop water information. [Internet]. Available from: http://ecocrop.fao.org/ [Accessed 13 October 2007]

FAO (2006) Ecocrop info. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. Available from: <u>http://ecocrop.fao.org/</u> [Accessed 12 September 2007]

FAO (2007) Land evaluation: Towards a revised framework. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/</u> [Accessed 23 May 2013]

FAO (2012a) Soybean. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/ag/AGP/AGPC/doc/gbase/data/soybean.htm</u> [Accessed 18 March 2012]

FAO (2012b) Sugarbeet. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO) Rome, Italy. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/nr/water/cropinfo\_sugarbeet.html</u> [Accessed 07 March 2012]

FAO (2012c) A compilation of tools and methodologies to assess the sustainability of modern bioenergy. In: Beall E, Cadoni P & Rossi A (Eds), *Environment and Natural Resources*. [Internet]. Working Paper No. 51, Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. 127 pp. ISBN: 978-92-5-107150-2. Available from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/015/i2598e/i2598e.pdf [Accessed 28 September 2012]

FAO-IIASA (2007) *Mapping biophysical factors that influence agricultural production and rural vulnerability.* Food and Agriculture Organisation-International Institute for Applied Systems (FAO-IIASA). Poverty Mapping, Rome.

FAOSTAT (2009) Food Balance Sheet for South Africa: 2009. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. Available from: http://faostat.fao.org/site/368/DesktopDefault.aspx?PageID=368#ancor [Accessed 01 November 2012]

FARAHANI HJ, IZZI G and OWEIS TY (2009) Parameterization and evaluation of the AquaCrop model for full and deficit irrigated cotton. *Agronomy Journal* 101(3): 469-476. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/101/3/469

FARLEY RF and DRAYCOTT AP (1974) Growth and yield of sugar beet in relation to potassium and sodium supply. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 26: 385-392.

FARQUHAR GD and RICHARDS RA (1984) Isotopic composition of plant carbon correlates with water use efficiency of wheat genotypes. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology* 11: 539-552.

FARQUHAR GD, O'LEARY MH and BERRY JA (1982) On the relationship between carbon isotope discrimination and the intercellular carbon dioxide concentration in leaves. Australian *Journal of Plant Physiology* 9: 121-137.

FORNSTROM KJ and POCHOP LO (1976) Climatic Periods and Thresholds Important to Sugarbeet Production. *Journal of the American Society of Sugar Beet Technologists* 19(1), Fort Collins, Colorado, USA.

FOUCHÉ P (2012) Best practice canola farming: The means towards economic growth for the farmers of South Africa. [Internet]. PhytoEnergy Group, Höhenkirchen, Germany. Available from:

http://config.phyto-energy.me-cms.de/index.php?id=/imageconvert&dlid=108 [Accessed 02 December 2014]

FOUCHÉ P (2015) Personal communication. Chief Executive Officer, PhytoFarming (Pty) Limited, Strand, RSA. 12<sup>th</sup> August 2015.

FRIEDMAN SP (1998) A saturation degree-dependent composite spheres model for describing the effective dielectric constant of unsaturated porous media. *Water Resources Research* 34(11): 2949-2961.

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/98WR01923/abstract

GALE MR and GRIGAL DF (1987) Vertical root distributions of northern tree species in relation to successional status. *Canadian Journal of Forestry Research* 17: 829-834. http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/x87-131

GAIN (2009) Biofuels annual report. [Internet]. Report prepared by Dirk Esterhuizen for the Global Agricultural Information Network (GAIN), USDA Foreign Agricultural Service. Available from:

http://gain.fas.usda.gov/Recent GAIN Publications/General Report Pretoria South Africa -Republic of 5-28-2009.pdf

[Accessed 13 November 2009]

GAN Y, CAMPBELL CA, LIU L, BASNYAT P and MCDONALD CL (2009) Water use and distribution profile under pulse and oilseed crops in semiarid northern high latitude areas. *Agricultural Water Management* 96(2): 337-348. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377408002047

GARCÍA-VILA M, FERERES E, MATEOS L, ORGAZ F, STEDUTO P (2009) Deficit irrigation optimization of cotton with AquaCrop. *Agronomy Journal* 101(3): 477-487. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/101/3/477

GARY C, JONES JW and TCHAMITCHIAN M (1998) Crop modeling in horticulture: state of the art. *Scientia Horticulturae* 74: 3-20.

GAROMA T, BEN-KHALED M and BEYENE A (2011) Comparative resource analyses for ethanol produced from corn and sugarcane in different climatic zones. *International Journal of Energy Research* 36(10): 1065-1076. DOI:10.1002/er.1853 http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/er.1853/abstract
GEE GW and BAUDER JW (1986) Particle size analysis. In: Klute A (Ed), *Methods of Soil Analysis*, *Part 1*, Agronomy No. 9 (2<sup>nd</sup> edition), 383-411. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin.

GLOVER J (1967) The simultaneous growth of sugarcane roots and tops in relation to soil and climate. *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists Association 42: 133-135.* Mount Edgecombe, RSA.

GOLDEMBERG J (2008) The Brazilian biofuels industry. *Biotechnology for Biofuels* 1(6): 1-7. DOI:10.1186/1754-6834-1-6. <u>http://www.biotechnologyforbiofuels.com/content/1/1/6</u> [Accessed 26 July 2011]

GÖRGENS J (2013) Personal communication. Professor of Chemical Engineering, Department of Process Engineering, Stellenbosch University. 16<sup>th</sup> January 2013.

GOSSE G, VARLET-GRANCHER C, BONHOMME R, CHARTIER M, ALLIRAND JM and LEMAIRE G (1986) Maximum dry matter production and solar radiation intercepted by a canopy. *Agronomie* 6: 47-56.

GTZ (2009) Jatropha Reality Check: A field assessment of the agronomic and economic viability of Jatropha and other oilseed crops in Kenya. [Internet]. Study conducted by Endelevu Energy in collaboration with the World Agroforestry Centre and Kenya Forestry Research Institute. German Technical Cooperation (GTZ), Germany. Available from: http://www.worldagroforestry.org/downloads/publications/PDFs/B16599.PDF

[Accessed 28 October 2010]

GUIYING L, WEIBIN G, HICKS A and CHAPMAN KR (2003) Training manual for sweet sorghum. [Internet]. FAO Project TCP/CPR/0066. Available from: <u>http://ecoport.org/ep?SearchType=earticleView&earticleId=172&page=-2</u> [Accessed 29 September 2012]

GUSH M (2008) Measurement of water use by *Jatropha curcas* L. using the heat pulse velocity technique. *Water* SA 34(5): 579-583. http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Water%20SA%20Journals/Manuscripts/2008/04/Wate rSA\_2008\_04\_2211.pdf

GUSH MB and DYE PJ (2009) Water-use efficiency within a selection of indigenous and exotic tree species in South Africa as determined using sap flow and biomass measurements. ISHS *Acta Horticulturae* 846: 323-330. http://www.actahort.org/books/846/846\_37.htm

GYENGE J, FERNÁNDEZ ME, SARASOLA M and SCHLICHTER T (2008) Testing a hypothesis of the relationship between productivity and water use efficiency in Patagonian forests with native and exotic species. *Forest Ecology and Management* 255: 3281-3287. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112708001515 HATTON TJ and WU HI (1995) Scaling theory to extrapolate individual tree water use to stand water use. *Hydrological Processes* 9: 527-540. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.3360090505/abstract

HEATON E, VOIGT T and LONG SP (2004) A quantitative review comparing the yields of two candidate  $C_4$  perennial biomass crops in relation to nitrogen, temperature and water. Biomass and Bioenergy 27(1): 21-30.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0961953403001910

HENG LK, HSIAO TC, EVETT SR, HOWELL TA and STEDUTO P (2009) Testing of FAO AquaCrop model for rainfed and irrigated maize. *Agronomy Journal* 101(3): 488-498. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/101/3/488

HEWITT A (2004) Soil properties for plant growth: a guide to recognising soil attributes necessary to plant growth and selection. Landcare Research Science Series No. 26. Manaaki Whenua Press, Lincoln, New Zealand. ISBN: 0-478-09362-4. http://www.mwpress.co.nz/store/downloads/LRSciSeries26\_4web.pdf

HILL RJ (1997) Algorithms for obtaining atmospheric surface-layer fluxes from scintillation measurements. *Journal of Atmospheric and Oceanic Technology* 14: 456-467.

HILL J, NELSON E, TILMAN D, POLASKY S and TIFFANY D (2006) Environmental, economic, and energetic costs and benefits of biodiesel and ethanol biofuels. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (PNAS)* 103(30): 11206-11210. http://www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.0604600103/ [Accessed 17 November 2009]

HOEKSTRA AY, CHAPAGAIN AK, ALDAYA MM and MEKONNEN MM (2011) *The water footprint assessment manual: Setting the global standard.* [Internet]. Earthscan, Washington, DC, USA. Available from:

http://doc.utwente.nl/78458/1/TheWaterFootprintAssessmentManual.pdf

[Accessed 30 November 2015]

HOFF H, FALKENMARK M, GERTEN D, GORDON L, KARLBERG L and ROCKSTRÖM J (2010) Greening the global water system. *Journal of Hydrology* 384(3-4): 177-186. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022169409003576

HOLL MA, GUSH MB, HALLOWES J and VERSFELD DB (2007) Jatropha curcas in South Africa: An assessment of its water use and bio-physical potential. [Internet]. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1497/1/07. ISBN: 978-1-77005-593-3. http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge Hub Documents/Research Reports/1497-1-07.pdf [Accessed 04 February 2010]

HOWARD PJA (1965) The carbon-organic matter factor in various soil types. *Oikos* 15: 229-236. DOI:10.2307/3565121.

http://www.jstor.org/stable/3565121?origin=crossref&seq=1#page\_scan\_tab\_contents

HSIAO TC, LEE H, STEDUTO B, BASILIO RL, RAES D and FERERES E (2009) AquaCrop - The FAO crop model to simulate yield response to water: III. Parameterization and testing for maize. *Agronomy Journal* 101(3): 448-459.

https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/101/3/448

IDC (2011) Expressions of interest for grain sorghum feedstock supply for the Cradock ethanol project. [Internet]. Industrial Development Corporation (IDC), Johannesburg, RSA. Available from:

http://www.agbiz.co.za/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=7TuUUJnWjZc%3D&tabid=362 [Accessed 30 January 2012]

IDC (2013) Request for proposals for the blasting and excavation for the Cradock ethanol project. [Internet]. Tender document T41/06/13 issued by the Industrial Development Corporation of SA Ltd (IDC), Johannesburg, RSA. Available from:

http://www.idc.co.za/tenders/T41-06-13\_RFP\_Blasting\_and\_Excavation\_for\_the\_Cradock\_Ethanol\_Project.pdf [Accessed 02 September 2013]

IEA (2004) *Biofuels for transport: an international perspective*. Organisation for Economic Cooperation & Development (OECD), Paris, France. ISBN-10: 9264015124. ISBN-13: 978-9264015128. 216 pp.

IEA (2010) *Energy Technology Perspectives 2010: Scenarios and strategies to 2050.* The International Energy Agency Publications (IEA), France. ISBN: 978-92-64-08597-8. 706 pp.

IJE (2006) *Biomass Handbook*. Institution of Japan Energy (IJE), Chemistry Industry Press, Beijing, 166-167, 172 (in Chinese). Hua ZZ and Shi ZP (Translators).

JACKSON RB, CANADELL J, EHLERINGER JR, MOONEY HA, SALA OE and SCHULZE ED (1996) A global analysis of root distributions for terrestrial biomes. *Oecologia* 108(3): 389-411.

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF00333714

JARVIE JA (2009) A review of soybean rust from a South African perspective. *South African Journal of Science* 105(3-4): 103-108. http://www.sajs.co.za/index.php/SAJS/article/view/55

JARVIS PG (1981) Stomatal conductance, gaseous exchange and transpiration. In: Grace J, Ford ED & Jarvis PG (Eds), *Plants and their atmospheric environment*. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK.

JEWITT GPW, KUNZ RP, WEN HW and VAN ROOYEN AM (2009a) Scoping study on water use of crops/trees for biofuels in South Africa. [Internet]. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1772/1/09. ISBN: 978-1-77005-884-2. Available from:

http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge Hub Documents/Research Reports/1772-1-09 Agricitural Water Management.pdf

[Accessed 08 May 2012]

JEWITT GPW, LORENTZ SA, GUSH MB, THORNTON-DIBB S, KONGO V, WILES L, BLIGHT J, STUART-HILL SI, VERSFELD D and TOMLINSON K (2009b) Methods and guidelines for the licensing of SFRAs with particular reference to low flows. [Internet]. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1428/1/09. ISBN: 978-1-77005-877-4. Available from:

http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Research%20Reports/1428-1-09.pdf [Accessed 08 May 2012]

JOHL SS (1980) Irrigation and Agricultural Development. Pergamon Press.

JOHNSON F and SHARMA A (2010) A comparison of Australian open water body evaporation trends for current and future climates estimated from class A evaporation pans circulation models. Journal of Hydrometeorology 11: 105-121. and general DOI:10.1175/2009JHM1158.1

http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/2009JHM1158.1

JØKER D and JEPSEN J (2003) Jatropha curcas L. Danida Forest Seed Centre (DFSC), Seed Leaflet 83.

JONES H (2004) What is water use efficiency? In: Bacon MA (Ed), Water use efficiency in plant biology. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, Oxford, UK, 27-41.

JONES SB, WRAITH JM and OR D (2002) Time domain reflectometry measurement principles and applications. Hydrological Processes 16(1): 141-153. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.513/abstract

JONGSCHAAP REE, BLESGRAAF RAR, BOGAARD TA, VAN LOO EN and SAVENIJE HHG (2009) The water footprint of bioenergy from Jatropha curcas L. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA (PNAS) 106(35): E92. http://www.pnas.org/content/106/35/E92.full

JONGSCHAAP REE, CORRÉ WJ, BINDRABAN PS and BRANDENBURG WA (2007) Claims and facts on Jatropha curcas L.: Global Jatropha curcas evaluation, breeding and propagation programme. [Internet]. Report 158. Plant Research International BV, Wageningen. The Netherlands and Stichting Het Groene Woudt, Laren, The Netherlands. http://library.wur.nl/way/bestanden/clc/1858843.pdf

[Accessed 17 October 2010]

JOVANOVIC NZ and ANNANDALE JG (1999) An FAO type crop factor modification to SWB for inclusion of crops with limited data: Examples for vegetable crops. Water SA 25(2): 181-189.

http://www.wrc.org.za/Lists/Knowledge%20Hub%20Items/Attachments/4287/1999 April apr99 p181 ABSTRAC T.pdf

JOVANOVIC NZ, ANNANDALE JG and MHLAULI NC (1999) Field water balance and SWB parameters determination of six winter vegetable species. Water SA 25(2): 191-196. http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Water%20SA%20Journals/Manuscripts/1999/02/Wate rSA\_1999\_02\_apr99\_p191.pdf

JOVANOVIC NZ, ANNANDALE JG and NEL AA (2000) Calibration and validation of the SWB model for sunflower (*Helianthus annuus* L.). South African Journal of Plant and Soil 17(3): 117-123. DOI:10.1080/02571862.2000.10634881 http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/02571862.2000.10634881

KANDEL H (2010) Soybean Production Field Guide for North Dakota and Northwestern Minnesota. [Internet]. NDSU Extension Services, North Dakota State University, Fargo, North Dakota, USA. Available from:

http://www.ag.ndsu.edu/pubs/plantsci/rowcrops/a1172.pdf [Accessed 07 May 2012]

KARUNARATNE S, AZAM-ALI SN, IZZI G and STEDUTO P (2011) Calibration and validation of FAO-AquaCrop model for irrigated and water deficient bambara groundnut. *Experimental Agriculture* 47(3): 509-527.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0014479711000111

KAWUKI RS, ADIPULA E, LAMO J and TUKAMUHABWA P (2003) Responding to the soybean rust epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa: A review. *African Crop Science Journal* 11(4): 301-318.

http://www.ajol.info/index.php/acsj/article/view/27580

KENTER C, HOFFMANN CM and MÄRLÄNDER B (2006) Effects of weather variables on sugar beet yield development (*Beta vulgaris* L.). *European Journal of Agronomy* 24(1): 62-69.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1161030105000547

KHOMO T (2014) Spatial assessment of optimum and sub-optimum growing areas for selected biofuel feedstocks in South Africa. Unpublished MSc. School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal, RSA. Dissertation available from: http://researchspace.ukzn.ac.za/xmlui/handle/10413/12307

KIDD M (2011) *Environmental Law.* 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, Juta and Company, Ltd., Cape Town, RSA. 368 pp. ISBN: 9780702185458.

KINGS S (2012) Biofuel plant backfires on community. [Internet]. Mail & Guardian Online, Johannesburg, RSA. Available from:

http://mg.co.za/article/2012-07-12-biofuel-plant-backfires-on-community

[Accessed 02 September 2013]

KIPTUM CK, KIPKORIR EC, MUNYAO TM and NDAMBUKI JM (2013) Application of AquaCrop model in deficit irrigation management of cabbages in Keiyo Highlands. *International Journal of Water Resources and Environmental Engineering* 5(7): 360-369. http://www.academicjournals.org/journal/JJWREE/article-abstract/C5B33D21381

KIENZLE S (2015) Personal communication. Professor at the Department of Geography, University of Lethbridge, Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. 10<sup>th</sup> March 2015.

KIKER GA and CLARK DJ (2001) *The development of a java-based, object-oriented modeling system for simulation of southern African hydrology*. Proceedings of the American Society of Agricultural Engineers (ASCE). ASCE Meeting Paper No. 01-2030. St. Joseph, Michigan, USA.

KIKER GA, CLARK DJ, MARTINEZ CJ and SCHULZE RE (2006) A java-based, objectorientated modelling system for southern African hydrology. *Transactions of the ASABE* 49(5): 1419-1433. DOI:10.13031/2013.22057 https://elibrary.asabe.org/abstract.asp?aid=22057

KLOPPERS R (2002) New soybean disease in South Africa. [Internet]. Available from: http://www.saspp.org/new\_disease/soybean\_2001.php [Accessed 02 June 2012]

KOHLER MA, NORDENSON TJ and FOX WE (1955) Evaporation from pans and lakes. [Online]. US Department of Commerce, Washington, DC. Research Paper 38. 19 pp. Available from: http://docs.lib.noaa.gov/rescue/wb\_researchpapers/QC852U55no38.pdf

[Accessed 02 March 2015]

KOIKAI JS (2008) Utilizing GIS-based suitability modelling to assess the physical potential of bioethanol processing plants in western Kenya. [Internet]. Volume 10, Papers in Resource Analysis. 12 pp. Saint Mary's University of Minnesota University Central Services Press, Winona, MN. Available from:

http://www.gis.smumn.edu/

[Accessed 28 November 2012]

KOTZE C (2012a) DoE's mandatory blending regulations welcomed by grain producers. [Internet]. Engineering News 32(06), 21-27 September 2012, p 67. Creamer Media (Pty) Ltd, Johannesburg, RSA. Available from:

http://www.engineeringnews.co.za/article/does-mandatory-blending-regulations-welcomed-by-grain-producers-2012-09-21

[Accessed 22 September 2012]

KOTZE C (2012b) SA biofuels industry awaits implementation of regulations. Engineering News 32(06), 21-27 September 2012, p 68. Creamer Media (Pty) Ltd, Johannesburg, RSA.

KRISHNAN P, BLACK TA, GRANT NJ, BARR AG, HOGG EH, JASSAL RS and MORGENSTERN K (2006) Impact of changing soil moisture distribution on net ecosystem productivity of a boreal aspen forest during and following drought. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 139(3-4): 208-223.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168192306001626

KRUGER FJ and BOSCH JM (2002) Criteria for identifying activities that qualify as Stream Flow Reduction Activities. Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, Pretoria, RSA.

KUNZ RP (1994) Techniques to assess possible impacts of climate change in southern Africa. Unpublished MSc dissertation. University of Natal, Pietermaritzburg, Department of Agricultural Engineering. 172 pp.

KUTTI V (2010) Moringa: world highest yield Moringa variety PKM 1 seeds. [Internet]. Available from:

http://moringaseed.blogspot.com/2010/01/world-highest-yield-moringa-variety-pkm.html [Accessed 15 May 2012]

LAMAUD E, BRUNET Y and BERBIGIER P (1997) Radiation and water use efficiencies of two coniferous forest canopies. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth* 21(5-6): 361-365. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S007919469781124X

LAW BE, FALGE E, GU L, BALDOCCHI DD, BAKWIN P, BERBIGIER P, DAVIS K, DOLMAN AJ, FALK M, FUENTES JD, GOLDSTEIN A, GRANIER A, GRELLE A, HOLLINGER D, JANSSENS IA, JARVIS P, JENSEN NO, KATUL G, MAHLI Y, MATTEUCCI G, MEYERS T, MONSON R, MUNER W, OECHEL W, OLSON R, PILEGAARD KP, THORGEIRSSON H, VALENTINI R, VERMA S, VESALA T, WILSON K and WOFSY S (2002) Environmental controls over carbon dioxide and water vapor exchange of terrestrial vegetation. *Agricultural and Forestry Meteorology* 113: 97-120. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168192302001041

LEDIEU J, DE RIDDER P, DE CLERCK P and DAUTREBANDE S (1986) A method of measuring soil moisture by time-domain reflectometry. *Journal of Hydrology* 88(3-4): 319-328.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0022169486900971

LEMMER W (2009) The impact of biofuels production on food security on biofuels production. [Internet]. Food vs. Fuel Debate Forum, Halevy Heritage Hotel, Bloemfontein, RSA, 11-12 March 2009. Available from:

http://www.saba.za.org/export/sites/saba/content/downloads/Lemmer\_FOOD\_VS\_FUEL\_DEBATE\_FORUM\_FIN AL\_PRESENTATION.ppt

[Accessed 14 November 2011]

LEMMER W and SCHOEMAN B (2011) An assessment of the food security impact in South Africa and the world due to the South African Biofuels industry rollout. [Internet]. Report by Grain SA, Bothaville, Free State, RSA. September 2011. Available from:

http://www.mabelefuels.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/12/Sorghum.pdf

[Accessed 03 September 2013]

LERNER A, MATUPA O, MOTHLATHLEDI F, STILES G and BROWN R (2010) SADC biofuels state of play study: An assessment of the biofuel sector development in the Southern African Development Community. [Internet]. Study commissioned by the SADC Biofuel Taskforce, funded by the German Technical Cooperation (GTZ) and their Programme for Basic Energy Conservation (ProBEC). Available from:

http://www.probec.org/fileuploads/fl11092010040316\_SADC\_BIOFUELS\_STATE\_OF\_PLAY\_STUDY.pdf [Accessed 05 March 2011] LI-COR (2009) LAI-2200 Plant Canopy Analyzer. Instruction manual. [Internet]. LI-COR, Inc. Lincoln, Nebraska, USA. Publication Number 984-10633. http://www.licor.co.za/manuals/LAI-2200 Manual.pdf [Accessed 14 May 2014]

LINACRE ET (1992) Climate Data and Resources. Routledge. 366 pp.

LINACRE ET (1993) Data-sparse estimation of lake evaporation, using a simplified Penman equation. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 64(3-4): 237-256. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/016819239390031C

LINACRE ET (1994) Estimating U.S. Class A pan evaporation from few climate data. *Water International* 19(1): 5-14.

http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02508069408686189

LINDROTH A and CIENCIALA E (1996) Water use efficiency of short-rotation *Salix viminalis* at leaf, tree and stand scales. *Tree Physiology* 16: 257-262.

LIPINSKI ES (1978) *Sugar crops as a source of fuels*, vol. II. Processing and Conversion, Research Dept. of Energy. Final Report. Battelle Columbus Labs, OH, USA.

LIU R, LI J and SHEN F (2008) Refining bioethanol from stalk juice of sweet sorghum by immobilized yeast fermentation. *Renewable Energy* 33(5): 1130-1135. DOI:10.1016/j.renene.2007.05.046 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960148107002121

LOPES DC and STEIDLE NETO AJ (2011) Potential Crops for Biodiesel Production in Brazil: A Review. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 7(2): 206-217. http://www.idosi.org/wjas/wjas7(2)/17.pdf

LORENTZ S, GOBA P and PRETORIUS J (2001) Hydrological processes research: experiments and measurements of soil hydraulic characteristics. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 744/1/01. 69 pp.

LORITE IJ, GARCÍA-VILA M, SANTOS C, RUIZ-RAMOS M and FEDERES E (2013) AquaData and AquaGIS: two computer utilities for temporal and spatial simulations of waterlimited yield with AquaCrop. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture* 96: 227-237. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168169913001300

LU X and ZHUANG Q (2010) Evaluating evapotranspiration and water-use efficiency of terrestrial ecosystems in the conterminous United States using MODIS and AmeriFlux data. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 114(9): 1924-1939. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0034425710001124

LUMSDEN TG, KUNZ RP, SCHULZE, RE, KNOESEN DM and BARICHIEVY KR (2011) Methods 4: Representation of grid and point scale regional climate change scenarios for national and catchment level hydrological impacts assessments. In: Schulze RE, Hewitson BC, Barichievy KR, Tadross M, Kunz RP, Horan MJC & Lumsden TG. Methodological Approaches to Assessing Eco-Hydrological Responses to Climate Change in South Africa, Chapter 9, 89-99. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1562/1/10. ISBN: 978-1-4312-0050-4.

LUMSDEN TG and SCHULZE RE (2012) Development and applications of rainfall forecasts for agriculturally-related decision-making in selected catchments of South Africa. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. TT 538/12. ISBN: 978-1-4312-0333-8. 207 pp.

LYNCH SD (2004) Development of a raster database of annual, monthly and daily rainfall for southern Africa. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1156/1/04. 78 pp.

MABHAUDHI T, MODI AT and BELETSE YG (2013) Parameterization and testing of AquaCrop for a South African bambara groundnut landrace. *Agronomy Journal* 106(1): 243-251.

https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/106/1/243

MABHAUDHI T, MODI AT and BELETSE YG (2014) Parameterisation and evaluation of the FAO-AquaCrop model for a South African taro (*Colocasia esculenta* L. Schott) landrace. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 192/193: 132-139. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168192314000811

MABHAUDHI T (2015) Personal communication. Post-doctoral student at the University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA. 3<sup>th</sup> July 2015.

MACLACHLAN R (2012) Personal communication. Senior Farm Support and Development Manager, Agrarian Research & Development Agency (ARDA), Eastern Cape, RSA.

MACVICAR CN, DE VILLIERS JM, LOXTON RF, VERSTER E, LAMBRECHTS JJN, MERRYWEATHER FR, LE ROUX J, VAN ROOYEN TH and HARMSE HJ von M (1977) Soil Classification - A Binomial System for South Africa. Department of Agricultural Technical Services, Soil and Irrigation Research Institute, Pretoria, RSA. 150 pp.

MAJNOONI-HERIS A, SADRADDINI AA, NAZEMI AH, SHAKIBA MR, NEYSHABURI MR and TUZEL IH (2012) Determination of single and dual crop coefficients and ratio of transpiration to evapotranspiration for canola. *Annals of Biological Research* 3(4): 1885-1894.

http://scholarsresearchlibrary.com/ABR-vol3-iss4/ABR-2012-3-4-1885-1894.pdf

MAKENETE A, LEMMER W and KUPKA J (2007) The impact of biofuel production on food security: A briefing paper with a particular emphasis on maize-to-ethanol production. [Internet]. South Africa Biofuels Association, Gauteng, RSA. Available from:

http://www.saba.za.org/export/sites/saba/content/downloads/impact\_of\_biofuels\_on\_food\_security.pdf

[Accessed 13 December 2009]

MALCZEWSKI J (2004) GIS-based land-use suitability analysis: a critical overview. *Progress in Planning* 62(1): 3-65. DOI:10.1016/j.progress.2003.09.002 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0305900603000801

MANETAS Y, GRAMMATIKOPOULOS G and KYPARISSIS A (1998) The use of the portable, non-destructive, SPAD-502 (Minolta) chlorophyll meter with leaves of varying trichome density and anthocyanin content. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 153(3-4): 513-516. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S017616179880182X

MANSKE LL (2001) Grassland ecosystem monitoring: A non-quantitative procedure for assessing rangeland performance status. [Internet]. Dickinson Research Extension Center, North Dakota State University, Fargo, North Dakota, USA. Range Management Report DREC 01-1034. 16 pp. Available from:

http://www.ag.ndsu.edu/archive/dickinso/research/2001/range01j.htm [Accessed 15 November 2013]

MARKHAM CG (1970) Seasonality of precipitation in the United States. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers* 60: 593-597.

MARSHALL DC (1958) Measurement of sap flow in conifers by heat transport. *Plant Physiology* 33: 385-396.

MARSHALL JD and ZHANG J (1994) Carbon isotope discrimination and water-use efficiency in native plants of the north-central Rockies. *Ecology* 75: 1887-1895.

MARVEY BB (2008) Sunflower-based feedstocks in non-food applications: Perspectives from Olefin Metathesis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 9(8): 1393-1406. DOI:10.3390/ijms9081393 http://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/9/8/1393

MASHABELA T (2012) *An analysis of South African's grain sorghum industry*. Industrial Development Corporation of South Africa Limited, Johannesburg, RSA. IDC Report No. 987-1-920639-02-0.

MASTRORILLI M, KATERJI N and RANA G (1999) Productivity and water use efficiency of sweet sorghum as affected by soil water deficit occurring at different vegetative growth stages. *European Journal of Agronomy* 11: 207-215.

http://publications.tamu.edu/FORAGE/PUB\_forage\_Economic%20Benefits%20of%20Forage.pdf

MBOHWA C. and MYAKA N (2011) Social Life Cycle Assessment of Biodiesel in South Africa: An Initial Assessment sugar cane. [Internet]. Department of Quality and Operations Management, University of Johannesburg, RSA. Available from:

http://www.lcm2011.org/papers.html?file=tl\_files/pdf/paper/13\_Session\_Life\_Cycle\_Sustainability\_Assessement\_I/8\_MbohwaS ocial\_Life\_Cycle\_Assessment\_of\_Biodiesel\_in\_South\_Africa-769\_b.pdf

[Accessed 14 April 2012]

MCCORKLE D, HANSELKA D, BEAN B, MCCOLLUM T, AMOSSON S, KLOSE S and WALLER M (2007) *The economic benefits of sorghum silage as an alternative crop.* MKT-3557L 05/07. AgriLife Extension, Texas A&M System.

MCMAHON TA, PEEL MC, LOWE L, SRIKANTHAN R and MCVICAR TR (2013) Estimating actual, potential, reference crop and pan evaporation using standard meteorological data: a pragmatic synthesis. Hydrology and Earth System Sciences 17:1331-1363. http://www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/17/1331/2013/hess-17-1331-2013.html

MCMASTER GS and WILHELM WW (1997) Growing degree-days: one equation, two interpretations. Agricultural and Forestry Meteorology 87(4): 291-300. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168192397000270

MCRAE SG and BURNHAM CP (1981) Land Evaluation. Oxford University Press, New York, USA.

MCVICAR TR, VAN NIEL TG, LI L-T, HUTCHINSON MF, MU X-M and LIU Z-H (2007) Spatially distributing monthly reference evapotranspiration and pan evaporation considering topographical influences. Journal of Hydrology 338(3-4): 196-220. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S002216940700114X

MENGISTU MG, EVERSON CS, MOYO NC and SAVAGE MJ (2014) The validation of the variables (evaporation and soil moisture) in hydrometeorological models. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 2066/1/13.

http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Research%20Reports/2066-1-13.pdf

MENZ MA, KLEIN RR, MULLET JE, OBERT JA, UNRUH NC and KLEIN PE (2002) A highdensity genetic map of Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench based on 2926 AFLP, RFLP and SSR markers. Plant Molecular Biology 48(5): 483-499. http://link.springer.com/article/10.1023%2FA%3A1014831302392

MEYER F, STRAUSS PG and FUNKE T (2008) Modelling the impacts of macro-economic variables on the South African biofuels industry. Agrekon 47(3): p 1-19. http://www.up.ac.za/dspace/bitstream/2263/8427/1/Mever\_Modelling%282008%29.pdf [Accessed 12 December 2009]

MEYERS TP and BALDOCCHI DD (2005) Current micrometeorological flux methodologies with applications in agriculture. In: Hatfield JL & Baker JM (Eds), Micrometeorology in Agricultural Systems Agronomy Monograph 47: 381-396.

MILLER AN and OTTMAN MJ (2010) Irrigation frequency effects on growth and ethanol yield in sweet sorghum. Agronomy 102(1):60-70. DOI:10.2134/agronj2009.0191 https://www.agronomy.org/publications/aj/abstracts/102/1/60 [Accessed 05 March 2012]

MOKONOTO O (2012) Mapping areas potentially suitable for soybean feedstock growth for biodiesel production. Unpublished Hydrology Honours project, School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences (SAEES), University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA.

MOKONOTO O (2015) Parameterisation and validation of AquaCrop for sugarcane and sugarbeet in South Africa. MSc dissertation in preparation. School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA.

MOLDEN D (1997) Accounting for water use and productivity. SWIM Paper 1. International Irrigation Management Institute, Colombo, Sri Lanka.

MONTEITH JL (1972) Solar radiation and productivity in tropical ecosystems. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 9: 747-766.

MONTEITH JL (1977) Climate and efficiency of crop production in Britain. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society London* 281: 277-294.

MONTES GN, ODVODY GN and WILLIAMS AH (2003) Relationship between climatic variables and *Claviceps africana* incidence on sorghum hybrids in northern Mexico. In: Leslie JF (Ed), *Sorghum and Millets Diseases*, Chapter 20, 111-112. Iowa State Press, Iowa, USA.

MONTES GN, PROM LK, WILLIAMS AH and ISAKEIT T (2009) Effect of temperature and relative humidity on sorghum ergot development in northern Mexico. *Australasian Plant Pathology* 38(6): 632-637.

http://link.springer.com/article/10.1071%2FAP09049#page-1

MOODLEY M, JOHNSTON MA, HUGHES JC and TITSHALL LW (2004) Effects of water treatment residues, lime, gypsum, and polyacrylamide on the water retention and hydraulic conductivity of two contrasting soils under field conditions in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *Australian Journal of Soil Research* 42: 273-282.

MORGAN J (2012) Crop file tuning for local conditions. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Land and Water Division, Rome Italy. Available from: http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/aquacrop\_exd\_crop\_solution.pdf [Accessed 01 August 2015]

MORILLO-VERLADE R and OBER ES (2006) Water Use and Irrigation. In: Draycott AP (Ed), *Sugar Beet*, Chapter 10, 221-255. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, UK.

MORRIS C (2015) Personal communication. Agricultural Research Council - Animal Production Institute (ARC-API). School of Life Sciences, University of KwaZulu-Natal. 25<sup>th</sup> August 2015.

MOYO NC and SAVAGE MJ (2014) Energy flux and water use efficiency measurements in a maize and soybean cropping system. Poster presented at the Post-graduate Research Day, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, RSA in December 2014.

MUCINA L and RUTHERFORD MC (2006) The vegetation of South Africa, Lesotho and Swaziland. *Strelitzia* 19, South African National Biodiversity Institute, Pretoria, RSA. 807 pp.

MUOK BO, NYABENGE M, OUMA BO, ESILABA AO, NANDOKHA T and OWUOR B (2010) [Internet]. Environmental suitability and agro-ecological zoning of Kenya for biofuel production. UNEP Publication, Nairobi, Kenya. Available from:

http://www.acts.or.ke/dmdocuments/books/PISCES\_UNEP\_ZONING\_Study\_Book.pdf [Accessed 25 June 2013] MYBURGH J (1985) Criteria for Vegetables. Estimated Irrigation Requirements of Crops in South Africa. Part1: Eastern Cape Region, Karoo Region, Natal Region, Winter Rainfall Region. In: Green GC (Ed), Memoirs on the Agricultural Natural Resources of South Africa No. 2. Soil and Irrigation Research Institute. Department of Agriculture and Water Supply, Pretoria, RSA.

NAIDOO B (2011) Tongaat sees big potential for jobs in ethanol and power projects. [Internet]. Engineering News, Creamer Media (Pty) Ltd. 14<sup>th</sup> November 2011. Available from: http://www.engineeringnews.co.za/article/ethanol-and-power-projects-from-sugarcane-could-save-and-createlocal-jobs-2011-11-14 [Accessed 21 September 2012]

[Accessed 21 September 2012]

NDONG R, MONTREJAUD-VIGNOLES M, GIRONS OS, GABRIELLE B, PIROT R, DOMERGUE M and SABLAYROLLES C (2009) Life cycle assessment of biofuels from *Jatropha curcas* in West Africa: a field study. *GCB Bioenergy* 1: 197-210. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2009.01014.x/pdf

NEL A (2015) Personal communication. Grains Crop Institute, Agricultural Research Council, Potchefstroom, RSA. 28<sup>th</sup> January 2015.

NGALAMU T, MESEKA S and ASHRAF M (2012) Performance of soybean (*Glycine max* L Merrill) genotypes under different planting dates in Sennar State of the Sudan. *Journal of Applied Biosciences* 49: 3363-3370.

NIELSEN DC (1997) Water use and yield of canola under dryland conditions in the central Great Plains. *Journal of Production Agriculture* 10(2): 307-313. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/jpa/abstracts/10/2/307

NIEMAND B (2011) Transformation of agricultural and undeveloped land in the Boland region of the Western Cape. Unpublished MSc dissertation. University of Stellenbosch, Stellenbosch, RSA.

NIEUWENHUIS R and NIEUWELINK J (2002) Soya and other leguminous crops. Agromisa Foundation, Wageningen, The Netherlands. ISBN: 90-77073-28-0. http://teca.fao.org/sites/default/files/technology\_files/Soya%20and%20other%20leguminous%20.pdf

NJOBENI S (2012) Oil companies to spend R39bn on refineries as SA moves to cleaner fuels. [Internet]. Business Day Live (Online), BDFM Publishers (Pty) Ltd. 20<sup>th</sup> August 2012. Available from:

http://www.bdlive.co.za/business/energy/2012/08/20/oil-companies-to-spend-r39bn-on-refineries-as-sa-moves-tocleaner-fuels

[Accessed 29 August 2012]

NOLTE M (2007) Commercial biodiesel production in South Africa: A preliminary economic feasibility study. Unpublished MSc Eng dissertation. Department of Process Engineering, University of Stellenbosch, Cape Town, RSA.

http://scholar.sun.ac.za/handle/10019.1/1797

NUNKUMAR A (2006) Studies on *Phakopsora pachyrizi*, the causal organism for soybean rust. Unpublished MSc dissertation, Discipline of Plant Pathology, School of Biochemistry, Genetics, Microbiology and Plant Pathology, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA. Available from:

http://researchspace.ukzn.ac.za/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10413/4503/Nunkumar\_Archana\_2006.pdf [Accessed 17 October 2012]

NYAKUDYA IW and STROOSNIJDER L (2014) Effect of rooting depth, plant density and planting date on maize (*Zea mays* L.) yield and water use efficiency in semi-arid Zimbabwe: Modelling with AquaCrop. Agricultural Water Management 146: 280-296. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377414002637

OLIVIER F (2014) Irrigation Scientist. Plant and Environment Resource Centre, Mpumalanga Research Station, Komatipoort. 21<sup>st</sup> August 2014.

ORESKES N and BELITZ K (2001) Philosophical issues in model assessment. In: Anderson MG & Bates PD (Eds), Model validation: *Perspectives in Hydrological Science*, Chapter 3, 23-41. John Wiley and Sons Ltd.

http://history.ucsd.edu/\_files/faculty/oreskes-naomi/PhillssuesModelAssessOreskes.pdf

ORMEROD P and ROSEWELL B (2006) Validation and Verification of Agent-Based Models in the Social Sciences. In: Squazzoni F (Ed), *Epistemological Aspects of Computer Simulation in the Social Sciences*, 130-140. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Germany.

ORTEGA-FARIAS S. IRMAK S and CUENCA RH (2009) Special issue on Science evapotranspiration measurement and modelling. Irrigation 28: 1-3. DOI:10.1007/s00271-009-0184-x012 http://www.springerlink.com/content/m517k10k7305kxur/fulltext.pdf

PALMER T and AINSLIE A (2006) South Africa: Country pasture/forage resource profiles. [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Rome, Italy. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/ag/AGP/AGPC/doc/Counprof/PDF%20files/SouthAfrica\_English.pdf</u> [Accessed 20 September 2012]

PANNAR (2003) Know the maize plant. [Internet]. Pannar Seed (Pty) Ltd, Greytown, South Africa. Available from: <u>http://www.pannar.com/admin/tech\_article/Know%20the%20Maize%20Plant.pdf</u> [Accessed 23 August 2011]

PANNAR (2011) Grain sorghum production guide. [Internet]. Pannar Seed (Pty) Ltd, Greytown, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.flipbookcafe.com/pdfs/pannarseed\_528372393c74d.pdf</u> [Accessed 14 June 2013] PAREDES P, DE MELO-ABREU JP ALVES I and PEREIRA LS (2014) Assessing the performance of the FAO AquaCrop model to estimate maize yields and water use under full and deficit irrigation with focus on model parameterization. Agricultural Water Management 144: 81-97.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377414001784

PATTERSON DE and SMITH MW (1985) Unfrozen water content in saline soils: Results using time domain reflectometry. Canadian Geotechnical Journal 22(1): 95-101. http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.1139/t85-009#.VnVJUfl97RY

PATZEK TW (2006) A statistical analysis of the theoretical yield of ethanol from corn starch. Natural Resources Research 15(3): 205-212. http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11053-006-9022-5

PENMAN HL (1948) Natural evaporation from open water, bare soil and grass. Proceedings of the Royal Society London A(194)S, 120-145.

PEREIRA AR, GREEN S and VILLA NOVA NA (2006) Penman-Monteith reference evapotranspiration adapted to estimate irrigated tree transpiration. Agricultural Water Management 83(1-2): 153-161.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377405003616

PERRY C, STEDUTO P, ALLEN RG and BURT CM (2009) Increasing productivity in irrigated agriculture: Agronomic constraints and hydrological realities. Agricultural Water Management 96(11): 1517-1524.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377409001668

PESSARAKLI M (1994) Handbook of Plant and Crop Physiology. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York, 1024 pp.

PETKEVICIENE B (2009) The effects of climate factors on sugar beet early sowing timing. Agronomy Research 7(1): 436-443. http://agronomy.emu.ee/vol07Spec1/p7sI46.pdf

PGDP (2012) Provincial Growth and Development Plan: February 2012. [Internet]. KwaZulu-Natal Provincial Planning Commission. Office of the Premier, Pietermaritzburg, KwaZulu-Natal. RSA. Available from:

http://www.kznppc.gov.za/Portals/0/Documents/12-05-21 PGDPFinalPrinted Version 17.pdf [Accessed 17 October 2012]

PHILLIPS TP, TAYLOR DS, SANNI L and AKORODA MO (2004) A cassava industrial revolution in Nigeria: the potential for a new industrial crop. [Internet]. Available from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/007/y5548e/y5548e00.htm

[Accessed 09 September 2012]

PICCINNI G, JONGHAN KO, MAREK T and HOWELL T (2009) Determination of growthstage-specific crop coefficients (K<sub>c</sub>) of maize and sorghum. *Agricultural Water Management* 96(12): 1698-1704.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377409001954

PIKE A and SCHULZE RE (1995) AUTOSOIL Version 3: A Soils Decision Support System for South African soils. Department of Agricultural Engineering, University of Natal, Pietermaritzburg.

PILKEY OH and PILKEY-JARVIS L (2007) Useless Arithmetic: Why Environmental Scientists Can't Predict the Future. Columbia University Press, New York, USA.

PINKARD EA, PATEL V and MOHAMMED C (2006) Chlorophyll and nitrogen determination for plantation-grown *Eucalyptus nitens* and *E. globulus* using a non-destructive meter. *Forest Ecology and Management* 223(1-3): 211-217.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378112705007103

PORTMANN FT, SIEBERT S and DÖLL P (2010) MIRCA2000-Global monthly irrigated and rainfed crop areas around the year 2000: A new high-resolution data set for agricultural and hydrological modelling. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 24: 1011-1034. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/2008GB003435/abstract

POTT A, BERNADÉ N, VAN HEERDEN PS, GROVÉ B, ANNANDALE JG and STEYN M (2008) Technology transfer and the integrated implementation of Water Management models in commercial farming. Water Research Commission, Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report TT 267/08. 122 pp.

PRASAD S, SINGH A, JAIN N and JOSHI HC (2007) Ethanol production from sweet sorghum syrup for utilization as automotive fuel in India. *Energy Fuels* 21: 2415-2420. http://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ef060328z

PRETORIUS ZA, KLOPPERS FJ and FREDERICK RD (2001) First Report of Soybean Rust in South Africa. *Plant Disease* 85(12): 1288. DOI:10.1094/PDIS.2001.85.12.1288C http://apsjournals.apsnet.org/doi/abs/10.1094/PDIS.2001.85.12.1288C

PRICHARD T, HANSON B, SCHWANKL L, VEREGAAL P and SMITH R (2004) Deficit irrigation of quality winegrapes using micro-irrigation techniques. [Internet]. University of California Cooperative Extension, Department of Land, Air and Water Resources, University of California Davis, USA.

http://cesanluisobispo.ucanr.edu/files/89518.pdf [Accessed 08 May 2014]

PRUITT WO, FERERES E and SYNDER RL (1986) *Reference evapotranspiration (ET<sub>o</sub>) for California*. Division of Agricultural and Natural Resources Bulletin 1922. University of California.

RADEBE H (2013) Oilseed processing investment rises in SA amid higher demand. [Internet]. Business Day Online, BDFM Publishers (Pty) Ltd, Johannesburg, RSA. 24<sup>th</sup> September 2013. Available from:

http://www.bdlive.co.za/business/agriculture/2013/09/24/oilseed-processing-investment-rises-in-sa-amid-higherdemand

[Accessed 30 September 2013]

RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC and FERERES E (2009) AquaCrop-The FAO crop model to simulate yield response to water: II. Main algorithms and software description. *Agronomy Journal* 101(3): 438-447.

https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/pdfs/101/3/438

RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC and FERERES E (2011) FAO crop water productivity model to simulate yield response to water. [Internet]. AquaCrop Reference Manual, Chapter 1, 19 pp. Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations, Rome, Italy. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/aquacropv31pluschapter1.pdf [Accessed 22 October 2015]

RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC and FERERES E (2012a) AquaCrop Version 4.0 Reference Manual: Chapter 2 (Users guide). [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Land and Water Division, Rome Italy. Updated June 2012. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/aquacropv40chapter2.pdf

[Accessed 11 March 2014]

RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC and FERERES E (2012b) AquaCrop Version 4.0 Reference Manual: Chapter 3 (Calculation procedures). [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Land and Water Division, Rome Italy. Updated June 2012. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/aquacropv40chapter3.pdf [Accessed 11 March 2014]

RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC and FERERES E (2012c) AquaCrop Version 4.0 Reference Manual: Annex I (Crop parameters). [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Land and Water Division, Rome Italy. Updated June 2012. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/aquacropv40annexes.pdf [Accessed 11 March 2014]

RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC and FERERES E (2012d) AquaCrop Version 4.0 Reference Manual: Annex II (Indicative values for lengths of cop development stages). [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Land and Water Division, Rome Italy. Updated June 2012. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/aquacropv40annexes.pdf

[Accessed 11 March 2014]

RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC and FERERES E (2013) AquaCrop Version 4.0 Reference Manual: Update of Section 2.21 on Input Files (Chapter 2). [Internet]. Food and Agricultural Organisation (FAO), Land and Water Division, Rome Italy. Updated August 2013. Available from:

http://www.fao.org/nr/water/docs/Section2\_21InputFiles\_3\_.pdf [Accessed 11 March 2014]

RAJABI A, OBER ES and GRIFFITHS H (2009) Genotypic variation for water use efficiency, carbon isotope discrimination and potential surrogate measures in sugar beet. *Field Crops Research* 112(3-5): 172-181. DOI:10.1016/j.fcr.2009.02.015 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378429009000653

RAMIREZ-VILLEGAS J, CHALLINOR AJ, THORNTON PK and JARVIS A (2013) Implications of regional improvement in global climate models for agricultural impact research. *Environmental Research Letters* 8(2): 12 pp. IOP Publishing (open access). DOI:10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/024018.

http://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/024018

RANA G and KATERJIL N (2008) Direct and indirect methods to simulate the actual evapotranspiration of an irrigated overhead table grape vineyard under Mediterranean conditions. *Hydrological Processes* 22: 181-188. DOI:10.1002/hyp.6570 <a href="http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.6570/pdf">http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.6570/pdf</a>

RANKINE D, COHEN JE, TAYLOR MA, COY AD, SIMPSON LA, STEPHENSON T and LAWRENCE JL (2015) Parameterizing the FAO AquaCrop model for rainfed and irrigated field-grown sweet potato. *Agronomy Journal* 107(1): 375-387. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/citation-manager/prev/zt/aj/107/1/375

RASHID U, ANWAR F, MOSER BR and KNOTHE G (2008) *Moringa oleifera* oil: A possible source of biodiesel. *Bioresource Technology* 99(17): 8175-8179. DOI:10.1016/j.biortech.2008.03.066 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0960852408003039

RAYMER PL (2002) Canola: An emerging oilseed crop. In: Janick J & Whipkey A (Eds), *Trends in new crops and new uses*, 122-126. ASHS Press, Alexandria, VA, USA.

RAYNER DP (2007) Wind run changes: the dominant factor affecting pan evaporation trends in Australia. *Journal of Climate* 20: 3379-3394. DOI:10.1175/JCLI4181.1. http://journals.ametsoc.org/doi/abs/10.1175/JCLI4181.1

REDDY BVS, KUMAR AA and RAMESH S (2007) Sweet sorghum: A Water Saving Bio-Energy Crop. [Internet]. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India. Available from: http://www.icrisat.org/Biopower/BVSReddyetalSweetSorghumWatersavingJan2007.pdf

[Accessed 16 October 2010]

REDDY PS, REDDY BVS, KUMAR AA and RAO PS (2008) Standardisation of nitrogen fertiliser rate for sugar yield optimisation in sweet sorghum. *Journal of SAT Agricultural Research* 6. An open access journal published by ICRISAT (ejournal.icrisat.org) <a href="http://openaccess.icrisat.org/bitstream/10731/157/1/standardizationofnitrogen6%281%29.pdf">http://openaccess.icrisat.org/bitstream/10731/157/1/standardizationofnitrogen6%281%29.pdf</a> [Accessed 16 October 2010]

REEEP (2007) REEEP looks at complexity of producing biofuels in South Africa. [Internet]. REEEP, Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.reeep.org/publications</u> [Accessed 25 August 2013]

REFAY YA (2010) Root yield and quality traits of three sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) varieties in relation to sowing date and stand density. *World Journal of Agricultural Sciences* 6(5): 589 -594.

http://www.idosi.org/wjas/wjas6(5)/17.pdf

REFSGAARD JC and HENRIKSEN HJ (2004) Modelling guidelines - terminology and guiding principles. *Advances in Water Resources* 27(1): 71-82. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0309170803001489

RILEY JJ (1966) The heat balance of a class A evaporation pan. *Water Resources Research* 2: 223-226.

RINALLDI M and VONELLA AV (2006) The response of autumn and spring sown sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) to irrigation in Southern Italy: Water and radiation use efficiency. *Field Crops Research* 95(2-3): 103-114.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378429005000973

RITCHIE JT (1972) Model for predicting evaporation from a row crop with incomplete cover. *Water Resources Research* 24: 1121-1213.

RODERICK ML (1999) Estimating the diffuse component from daily and monthly measurements of global radiation. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 95(3): 169-185. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168192399000283

RODERICK ML, ROTSTAYN LD, FARQUHAR GD and HOBBINS MT (2007) On the attribution of changing pan evaporation, *Geophysical Research Letters* 34: L17403-L174408. DOI:10.1029/2007GL031166

http://www.agu.org/pubs/crossref/2007/2007GL031166.shtml

ROSENZWEIG C, JONES JW, HATFIELD JL, RUANE AC, BOOTE KJ, THORBURN P, ANTLE JM, NELSON GC, PORTER C, JANSSEN S, ASSENG S, BASSO B, EWERT F, WALLACH D, BAIGORRIA G and WINTER JM (2013) The Agricultural Model Intercomparison and Improvement Project (AgMIP): Protocols and pilot studies. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 170: 166-182.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0168192312002857

ROTH K, SCHULIN R, FLUHLER H and ATTINGER W (1990) Calibration of time domain reflectometry for water content measurements using a composite dielectric approach. Water Resources Research 26(10): 2267-2273.

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/WR026i010p02267/abstract

ROTSTAYN LD, RODERICK ML and FARQUHAR GD (2006) A simple pan-evaporation model for analysis of climate simulations: Evaluation over Australia. Geophysical Research Letters 33(17), L17715 (5 pages). DOI:10.1029/2006GL027114. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1029/2006GL027114/abstract

ROUX A (2015) Director of Sustainable Resource management. Department of Agriculture, Western Cape Government, Elsenburg. 20th March 2015.

ROYAL SOCIETY (2008) Sustainable biofuels: prospects and challenges. Royal Society Policy Document 01/08. ISBN: 978 0 85403 662 2. http://royalsociety.org/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=5501

[Accessed 09 February 2011]

RUSSELL WB (1997) Reducing rainfall and runoff erosion on cultivated land. [Internet]. KwaZulu-Natal Department of Agriculture, Pietermaritzburg, RSA. Available from: http://agriculture.kzntl.gov.za/publications/production guidelines

[Accessed 17 December 2013]

SAKELLARIOU-MAKRANTONAKI M, PAPALEXIS D, NAKOS N and KALAVROUZIOTIS IK (2007) Effects of modern irrigation methods on growth and energy production of sweet sorghum (var. Keller) on a dry year in central Greece. Agricultural Water Management 90(3): 181-189.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377407000698

SANTOS HR, THUROW AP and THUROW TL (2000) Linkages between investment in extension services and farmers, adoption of soil conservation practices in Sothern Honduras. Technical Bulletin No. 2000-2, USAID-Soil Management CRSP/Texas and M university, Texas, USA.

SAPIA (2009a) SAPIA 2008 Annual Report. [Internet]. South African Petroleum Industry Association (SAPIA), Johannesburg, RSA, Available from: http://www.sapia.co.za/\_literature\_48414/SAPIA\_2008\_Annual\_Report [Accessed 21 September 2011]

SAPIA (2009b) SAPIA position on the uptake of biofuels into the liquid fuels market. [Internet]. South African Petroleum Industry Association (SAPIA), Cape Town, RSA. Published September 2009. Available from:

http://www.sapia.co.za/ffuels/docs/SAPIA-Position-on-the-uptake-of-Biofuels-into-the-Liquid-Fuels-Market.pdf [Accessed 21 December 2009]

SAPIA (2012) SAPIA 2011 Annual Report. [Internet]. South African Petroleum Industry Association (SAPIA), Johannesburg, RSA. Available from: http://www.sapia.co.za/\_literature\_141171/SAPIA\_2011\_Annual\_Report

[Accessed 25 September 2012]

SARGENT RG (2011) Verification and validation of simulation models. In: Jain S, Creasey RR, Himmelspach J, White KP & Fu M (Eds), *Proceedings of the 2011 Winter Simulation Conference*, 183-198. Phoenix, Arizona, USA. 11-14 December 2011. ISBN: 9781457721076.

http://www.informs-sim.org/wsc11papers/014.pdf

SASA (2011) The South African Sugar Industry Directory. [Internet]. An annual publication produced by the South African Sugar Association (SASA), Mt. Edgecombe, KwaZulu-Natal, RSA. Available from:

http://www.sasa.org.za/files/Industry%20Directory%202011-2012.pdf [Accessed 23 August 2011]

SASA (2012) The South African Sugar Industry Directory. [Internet]. An annual publication produced by the South African Sugar Association (SASA), Mt Edgecombe, KwaZulu-Natal, RSA. Available from:

http://www.sasa.org.za/Files/Industry%20Directory%202013%20-%202014.pdf [Accessed 01 May 2013]

SAVAGE MJ, EVERSON CS, ODHIAMBO GO, MENGISTU MG and JARMAIN C (2004) Theory and practice of evapotranspiration measurement, with special focus on SLS as an operational tool for the estimation of spatially-averaged evaporation. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1335/1/04. 204 pp. ISBN: 1-77005-247-X.

SAVENIJE HHG (2004) The importance of interception and why we should delete the term evapotranspiration from our vocabulary. *Hydrological Processes* 18(9): 1507-1511. DOI:10.1002/hyp.5563. <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/hyp.5563/abstract</u>

SAXTON KE and SAWLS WJ (2006) Soil water characteristic estimates by texture and organic matter for hydrologic solutions. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 70(5): 1569-1578. DOI:10.2136/sssaj2005.0117 https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/sssaj/abstracts/70/5/1569

SCHULZE RE (1995) Hydrology and Agrohydrology: A Text to Accompany the ACRU 3.00 Agrohydrological Modelling System. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report TT 69/9/95.

SCHULZE RE (2004) Determination of Baseline Land Cover Variables for Applications in Assessing Land Use Impacts on Hydrological Responses in South Africa. In: Schulze RE & Pike A (Eds), Development and Evaluation of an Installed Hydrological Modelling System, Chapter 2, 37-50. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1155/1/04.

SCHULZE RE (2007) Relative humidity: General Background. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 12.1. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE (2008) Personal communication. School of Bioresources Engineering and Environmental Hydrology, Pietermaritzburg, University of KwaZulu-Natal, RSA. 14<sup>th</sup> August 2008.

SCHULZE RE (2011) Methods 3: Modelling impacts of climate change on the hydrological system: Model requirements, selection of the *ACRU* model, its attributes and computations of major state variables and outputs. In: Schulze RE, Hewitson BC, Barichievy KR, Tadross M, Kunz RP, Horan MJC & Lumsden TG (2011) Methodological Approaches to Assessing Eco-Hydrological Responses to Climate Change in South Africa, Chapter 8, 75-88. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1562/1/10. ISBN: 978-1-4312-0050-4.

SCHULZE RE (2014) Personal communication. Centre for Water Resources Research (CWRR), University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN), Pietermaritzburg, RSA. 14<sup>th</sup> August 2014.

SCHULZE RE and CHAPMAN RD (2007) Estimation of Daily Solar Radiation over South Africa. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 5.2. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1489/1/07.

SCHULZE RE and HORAN MJC (2007a) Altitude and relative relief. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 3.1. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE and HORAN MJC (2007b) Soils: Hydrological attributes. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 4.2. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE and HORAN MJC (2011) Methods 1: Delineation of South African Lesotho and Swaziland into quinary catchments. In: Schulze RE, Hewitson BC, Barichievy KR, Tadross M, Kunz RP, Horan MJC & Lumsden TG (Eds), Methodological Approaches to Assessing Eco-Hydrological Responses to Climate Change in South Africa, Chapter 6, 55-62. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1562/1/10. ISBN: 978-1-4312-0050-4.

SCHULZE RE and KUNZ RP (2010a) Climate Change 2010 and Rainfall Concentration. In: Schulze RE (Ed), Atlas of Climate Change and the South African Agricultural Sector: A 2010 Perspective, Chapter 3.9. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, RSA.

SCHULZE RE and KUNZ RP (2010b) Climate change and 2010 and sugarcane production. In: Schulze RE (Ed), Atlas of Climate Change and South African Agricultural Sector: A 2010 Perspective, Chapter 5.5. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, RSA.

SCHULZE RE and KUNZ RP (2010c) Climate change and 2010 and sorghum yields. In: Schulze RE (Ed), Atlas of Climate Change and South African Agricultural Sector: A 2010 Perspective, Chapter 5.3. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, RSA. SCHULZE RE and KUNZ RP (2010d) Climate change and 2010 and soybean yields. In: Schulze RE (Ed), Atlas of Climate Change and South African Agricultural Sector: A 2010 Perspective, Chapter 5.4. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, RSA.

SCHULZE RE and MAHARAJ M (2004) Development of a database of gridded daily temperatures for Southern Africa. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1156/2/04. 83 pp.

SCHULZE RE and MAHARAJ M (2007a) Daily mean temperatures. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 7.7. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE and MAHARAJ M (2007b) Rainfall concentration. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 6.4. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE and MAHARAJ M (2007c) Sorghum yield estimation. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Chapter 16.4. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE and MAHARAJ M (2007d) Soybean yield estimation. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Chapter 16.8. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE and MAHARAJ M (2007e) Rainfall seasonality. In: Schulze RE (Ed), *South* African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 6.5. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE and SCHÜTTE S (2015) Local and accumulated downstream impacts of dryland sugarcane on streamflows in three South African catchments: Can a case be made for sugarcane to become a "stream flow reduction activity"? *Proceedings of the South African Sugar Technologists' Association*. In press. Paper at the SASTA Congress, 18-20 August 2015, Durban South Africa.

SCHULZE RE, HUTSON JL and CASS A (1985) Hydrological characteristics and properties of soils in Southern Africa: Soil water retention models. *Water SA*: 11, 129-135.

SCHULZE RE, CHAPMAN RD and MAHARAJ M (2007a) Daily minimum, maximum and mean relative humidity. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 12.2. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1489/1/07.

SCHULZE RE, HORAN MJC, LUMSDEN TG and WARBURTON ML (2007b) Runoff and Streamflow and their Variability. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 21.4. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1489/1/07.

SCHULZE RE, HULL PJ and MAHARAJ M (2007c). Sugarcane yield estimation. In: Schulze RE (Ed). South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 16.3. Water Research Commission, Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1489/1/06.

SCHULZE RE, MAHARAJ M and MOULT N (2007d) Reference Crop Evaporation by the Penman-Monteith Method. In: Schulze RE (Ed), South African Atlas of Climatology and Agrohydrology, Section 13.3. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report 1489/1/07.

SCHULZE RE, KUNZ RP and HULL PJ (2010a) Climate change 2010 and the spotted sugarcane stalk borer, *Chilo sacchariphagus*. In: Schulze RE (Ed), Atlas of Climate Change and the South African Agricultural Sector: A 2010 Perspective, Chapter 8.2. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, RSA.

SCHULZE RE, KUNZ RP and HULL PJ (2010b) Climate change 2010 and the African Sugarcane stalk borer, *Eldana saccharina*. In: Schulze RE (Ed), Atlas of Climate Change and the South African Agricultural Sector: A 2010 Perspective, Chapter 8.3. Department of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Pretoria, RSA.

SCHULZE RE, ANGUS GR and GUY RM (1995) Soils. In: Schulze RE (Ed), A Text to Accompany the ACRU 3.00 Agrohydrological Modelling System, Chapter 5, AT5-1 to AT5-28. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report TT 69/9/95.

SCHULZE RE, HORAN MJC, KUNZ RP, LUMSDEN TG and KNOESEN DM (2011) Methods 2: Development of the southern African quinary catchments database. In: Schulze RE, Hewitson BC, Barichievy KR, Tadross M, Kunz RP, Horan MJC & Lumsden TG (Eds), Methodological approaches to assessing eco-hydrological responses to climate change in South Africa, Chapter 7, 63-74. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. Report No. 1562/1/10. ISBN: 978-1-4312-0050-4.

SCHULZE RE, MAHARAJ M, LYNCH SD, HOWE B and MELVIL-THOMSON B (1997) South African Atlas of Agrohydrology and Climatology. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. TT82/96.

SCOTT DF and SMITH RE (1997) Preliminary empirical models to predict reductions in annual and low flows resulting from afforestation. *Water SA* 23(2): 135-140. http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Water%20SA%20Journals/Manuscripts/1997/02/WatersA 1997 02 1042%20abstract.pdf

SCWG (1991) Soil Classification - Taxonomic System for South Africa. Soil Classification Working Group (SCWG). Department of Agricultural Development, Pretoria, RSA. 257 pp.

SECKLER D (2003) Appendix A: A note on transpiration. In: Kijne, JW, Barker, R & Molden D (Eds), *Water Productivity in Agriculture: Limits and Opportunities.* CAB International, Wallingford, UK.

SEETSENG KA (2008) Effect of water application and plant density on Canola (*Brassica napus* L.) in the Free State. Unpublished MSc Agriculture dissertation. Department of Soil, Crop and Climate Sciences, Faculty of Natural and Agricultural Sciences, University of the Free State, Bloemfontein, RSA.

SHABALALA MM (2015) Modelling the impact of different reference crop evaporation standards on streamflow response. Unpublished BSc (Honours) project. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg.

SHUGART HH (1984) A Theory of Forest Dynamics: The Ecological Implications of Forest Succession Models. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, USA.

SHULER ML and KARGI F (2002) *Bioprocess Engineering: Basic concepts.* 2nd edition. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.

SHUTTLEWORTH WJ (1993) Evaporation. In: Maidment DR (Ed), *Handbook of Hydrology,* Chapter 4, 4.1-4.53. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA.

SHUTTLEWORTH WJ (2007) Putting the "vap" into evaporation. *Hydrological and Earth System Sciences* 11(1): 210-244. http://www.hydrol-earth-syst-sci.net/11/210/2007/hess-11-210-2007.pdf

SHUTTLEWORTH WJ (2010) Back to the basics of understanding ET. In: Khan S, Savenije HHG, Demuth S & Hubert P (Eds), *Hydrocomplexity: New Tools for Solving Wicked Water Problems*, Chapter 1, 13-34. IAHS Publication No. 338. ISBN: 978-1-907161-11-7.

SIBANDA DP (2008) A land suitability assessment of Zimbabwe for sugarcane and sweet sorghum as bioenergy crops. Unpublished MSc dissertation. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Durban, RSA.

SIEBERT S and DÖLL P (2010) Quantifying blue and green virtual water content using global crop production as well as potential production losses without irrigation. *Journal of Hydrology* 384: 198-217. DOI:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.07.031 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022169409004235

SINCLAIR TR and MUCHOW RC (1999) Radiation Use Efficiency. *Advances in Agronomy* 65: 215-265.

SINCLAIR TR and SELIGMAN N (2000) Criteria for publishing papers on crop modelling. *Field Crops Research* 68(3): 165-172. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S037842900001052

SINGELS A (2014) Personal communication. South African Sugarcane Research Institute (SASRI), Mt. Edgecombe, RSA. 23<sup>rd</sup> October 2014.

SINGELS A (2015) Personal communication. South African Sugarcane Research Institute (SASRI), Mt. Edgecombe, RSA. 25<sup>th</sup> November 2015.

SINGH R (2005) Water productivity analysis from field to regional scale: Integration of crop and soil modelling, remote sensing and geographical information. [Internet]. Unpublished PhD thesis. Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands. 160 pp. Available from: http://edepot.wur.nl/121640

[Accessed 24 August 2011]

SINGH VP, SINGH P, HARITASHYA UK (2011) *Encyclopedia of Snow, Ice and Glaciers.* Springer, The Netherlands. ISBN: 978-90-481-2642-2 http://www.springer.com/978-90-481-2641-5

SIRI (1987) Land Type Series. Department of Agriculture and Water Supply, Pretoria, RSA, Soil and Irrigation Research Institute. Memoirs on the Agricultural Natural Resources of South Africa.

SMITH JMB (1994) Crop, Pasture and Timber Yield Index. Natal Agricultural Research Institute, Cedara, RSA. Cedara Report, N/A/94/4. 82 pp.

SMITH JMB (1998) Handbook for Agricultural Advisors in KwaZulu-Natal. KwaZulu-Natal Department of Agriculture, Cedara, RSA. 277 pp.

SMITH B (2006) *The Farming Handbook*. University of KwaZulu-Natal Press, Pietermaritzburg, RSA.

SMITH CW and FREDERIKSEN RA (2000) Sorghum: Origin, history, technology, and production. John Wiley and Sons, New York, USA

SMITH DM, INMAN-BAMBER NG and THORBURN PJ (2005) Growth and function of the sugarcane root system. *Field Crops Research* 92(2-3): 169-183. DOI:10.1016/j.fcr.2005.01.017 http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378429005000298

SMITHERS JC and SCHULZE RE (1995) ACRU Agrohydrological Modelling System: User Manual Version 3.00. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report TT 70/95.

SMITHERS JC, SCHULZE RE, LECLER NL, KIENZLE SW, LORENTZ SA and KUNZ RP (1995) User guidelines for setting up information. In: Smithers JC and Schulze RE (Eds), A Text to Accompany the ACRU 3.00 Agrohydrological Modelling System, Chapter 6, AM6-1 to AM6.27-190. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report TT 69/9/95.

SNYDER RL (1992) Equation for evaporation pan to evapotranspiration conversion. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering* 118(6): 977-980. DOI:10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9437(1992)118:6(977)

SNYDER RL, SPANO D and PAW U KT (1996) Surface renewal analysis for sensible heat and latent heat flux density. *Boundary-Layer Meteorology* 77(3): 249-266. http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2FBF00123527 SNYDER RL, ORANG M, MATYAC S and GRISMER ME (2005) Simplified estimation of reference evapotranspiration from pan evaporation data in California. Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering 131(3): 249-253.

http://ascelibrary.org/doi/pdf/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9437(2005)131:3(249)

SOLTANI A (2013) Modelling regional land use e the quest for the appropriate method. PhD Research. CT de Wit Graduate School for Production Ecology and Resource Conservation, Wageningen University, The Netherlands.

SPARKS GD (2010) The economic feasibility of on-farm biodiesel production in KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. Unpublished MSc dissertation. [Internet]. School of Agricultural Sciences and Agribusiness. University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA. Available from: http://researchspace.ukzn.ac.za/xmlui/handle/10413/8543 [Accessed 23 May 2011]

SQUIRE GR (1990) The Physiology of Tropical Crop Production. CABI, Wallingford, 236 pp.

SRINIVASA RAO P, RAO SS, SEETHARAMA N, UMAKANTH AV, REDDY PS, REDDY BVS and GOWDA CLL (2009) Sweet sorghum for biofuel and strategies for its improvement. [Internet]. Information Bulletin No. 77. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Andhra Pradesh, India. 83 pp. ISBN: 978-92-9066-518-2. http://oar.icrisat.org/1354/1/295\_2009\_IB77\_SS\_for\_biofuel.pdf [Accessed 16 October 2010]

STEDUTO P (2006) Biomass water productivity: comparing the growth engines of crop models, [Internet], Land & Water Development Division, FAO, Rome, Italy, http://www.distagenomics.unibo.it/wuemed/P\_steduto\_biomass.pdf [Accessed 24 August 2011]

STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC, RAES D and FERERES E (2009) AguaCrop - The FAO crop model to simulate yield response to water: I. Concepts and underlying principles. Agronomy Journal 101(3): 426-437.

https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/101/3/426

STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC, FERERES E and RAES D (2012) Crop yield response to water. [Internet]. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper No. 66. Rome, Italy. Available from: http://www.fao.org/docrep/016/i2800e/i2800e00.htm [Accessed 04 December 2012]

STEWART BA, MUSICK JT and DUSEK DA (1983) Yield and water use efficiency of grain sorghum in a limited irrigation-dryland farming system. Agronomy Journal 75(4): 629-634. DOI:10.2134/agronj1983.00021962007500040013x

STEYN AJ (2011) Farmers urged to report queleas. [Internet]. Farmers Weekly, 16 November 2011.

http://www.farmersweekly.co.za/article.aspx?id=10946&h=Farmersurgedtoreportqueleas [Accessed 08 October 2012]

SUMNER DM and JACOBS JM (2005) Utility of Penman-Monteith, Priestley-Taylor, reference evapotranspiration, and pan evaporation methods to estimate pasture evapotranspiration. Journal of Hydrology 308(1-4): 81-104. DOI:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2004.10.023

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022169404005244

SWANSON RH and WHITFIELD DWA (1981) A numerical analysis of heat pulse velocity theory and practice. Journal of Experimental Botany 32: 221-239.

SWART WJ (2012) The economic feasibility of commercial biodiesel production in South Africa including sensitivity analyses of important production and related parameters. [Internet]. Unpublished PhD thesis. Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Stellenbosch. Available from:

http://scholar.sun.ac.za/handle/10019.1/19998 [Accessed 18 July 2012]

SYS IC, VAN RANST E and DEBAVEYE IJ (1991) Land Evaluation. Part I-III. Agricultural Publications, General Administration for Development Cooperation, Brussels, 199 pp.

TAIT B (2005) Requirements and viability for biofuels in South Africa. [Internet]. Manager of Alternative Energy, Sasol Technology. Paper presented at the FSSA 6<sup>th</sup> Annual Congress, 27<sup>th</sup> May 2005. Pretoria. Available from:

http://www.fssa.org.za/pebble.asp?relid=317&t=33

[Accessed 02 December 2009]

TAMMISOLA J (2010) Towards much more efficient biofuel crops - Can sugarcane pave the way? [Internet]. Department of Agricultural Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland. Available from:

http://www.landesbioscience.com/journals/gmcrops/02TammisolaGMC1-4.pdf [Accessed 21 April 2012]

TANNER CB and SINCLAIR TR (1983) Efficient water use in crop production: research or re-search. In: Taylor, HM, Jordan, WR & Sinclair TR (Eds), Limitations to efficient water use *in crop production*, 1-27. American Society of Agronomy.

TARIMO AJP and TAKAMURA YT (1998) Sugarcane production, processing and marketing in Tanzania. African Study Monographs 19(1): 1-11.

TAYLOR NJ and GUSH MB (2014) The water use of selected fruit tree orchards (Volume 1): Review of available knowledge. [Internet]. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. 1770/1/14. ISBN: 978-1-4312-0574-5. http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Research%20Reports/1770-1-14.pdf [Accessed 16 October 2015]

TAYLOR N, ANNANDALE J, ETISSA E and GUSH M (2008) Draft report on potential evapotranspiration models. Deliverable of Project K5/1770 to the Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA.

TESFAMARIAM EH (2004) Modelling the soil water balance of canola *Brassica napus* L. (Hyola 60). [Internet]. Unpublished MSc (Agric) dissertation. Department of Plant Production and Soil Science, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, RSA. Available from: <a href="https://www.crops.org/publications/aj/abstracts/102/2/658">https://www.crops.org/publications/aj/abstracts/102/2/658</a> [Accessed 14 June 2012]

TESFAMARIAM EH, ANNANDALE JG and STEYN JM (2010) Water stress effects on winter canola growth and yield. *Agronomy* 102(2): 658-666. DOI:10.2134/agronj2008.0043. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/102/2/658

TEIXEIRA AH DE C (2008) Measurements and modelling of evapotranspiration to assess agricultural water productivity in basins with changing land use patterns: A case study in the São Francisco river basin, Brazil. Unpublished PhD thesis, Wageningen University and the International Institute for Geo-information Science and Earth Observation (ITC). <u>http://www.itc.nl/PDF/Research/MWS/decastroteixeira.pdf</u> [Accessed 23 August 2011]

THIERMANN V and GRASSL H (1992) The measurement of turbulent surface-layer fluxes by use of bichromatic scintillation. *Boundary-Layer Meteorology* 58(4): 367-389. http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2FBF00120238

THOM AS, THONY JL and VAUCLIN M (1981) On the proper employment of evaporation pans and atmometers in estimating potential transpiration, *Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society* 107: 711-736.

TOHIDLOO G, GHALEBI S, TALEGHANI D, SADEGHIAN SY and CHEGINI MA (2004) Poster presentation at the 4<sup>th</sup> International Crop Science Congress. [Internet]. 26<sup>th</sup> September to 1<sup>st</sup> October 2004, Brisbane, Australia. Available from: <u>http://www.cropscience.org.au/icsc2004/poster/1/5/1090 tohidloog.htm</u> [Accessed 09 June 2010]

TOPP GC, DAVIS JL and ANNAN AP (1980) Electromagnetic determination of soil water content using TDR: I. Applications to wetting fronts and steep gradients. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 46(4): 672-678.

TOPP GC, DAVIS JL and ANNAN AP (2003) The early development of TDR for Soil measurements. *Vadose Zone Journal* 2(4): 492-499. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/vzj/abstracts/2/4/492

TOXOPEUS H and MVERE B (2004) *Brassica napus* L. [Internet]. Record from PROTA4U. In: Grubben GJH & Denton OA (Eds), *Plant Resources of Tropical Africa*, PROTA, Wageningen, The Netherlands. Available from: <u>http://www.prota4u.org/search.asp</u> [Accessed 01 July 2015]

TU K, KNOHL A, MAMBELLI S, MA S, BALDOCCHI D and DAWSON T (2008) Observations and scaling of water use efficiency from leaf to globe. *Geophysical Research Abstracts* 10: EGU2008-A-07012.

TURHOLLOW AF, WEBB EG and DOWNING ME (2010) Review of sorghum production practices: Applications for bioenergy. [Internet]. ORNL/TM-2010/7. Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Tennessee, USA. Available from: http://info.ornl.gov/sites/publications/files/Pub22854.pdf [Accessed 02 June 2011]

USDoE (2011) U.S. Billion-Ton Update: Biomass Supply for a Bioenergy and Bioproducts Industry. RD Perlack and BJ Stokes (Leads), ORNL/TM-2011/224. United States Department of Energy, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, Oak Ridge, TN. 227 pp.

VAN ATTA CW. 1977. Effect of coherent structures on structure functions of temperature in the atmospheric boundary layer. *Archives of Mechanics* 29: 161-171.

VAN BURICK N (2006) Biobrandstof: Staatsbeleid nou dringend nodig. Landbouweekblad No. 87, p 71. 6<sup>th</sup> October 2006.

VAN DER WESTHUIZEN L (2013) Biofuel industry struggling in South Africa. [Internet]. Frontier Market Network. Global Africa Network Pty Ltd, Cape Town, RSA. Available from: <u>http://www.frontiermarketnetwork.com/article/1858-biofuel-industry-struggling-in-south-africa</u> [Accessed 06 September 2013]

VAN HEERDEN P (2013) Personal communication. SAPWAT3 Database, Bloemfontein, RSA. 12<sup>th</sup> April 2013.

VAN HEERDEN PS, CROSBY CT, GROVÉ B, BENADÉ N, THERON E, SCHULZE RE and TEWOLDE MH (2009) Integrating and upgrading of SAPWAT and PLANWAT to create a powerful and user-friendly irrigation water planning tool. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. TT 391/08.

http://www.wrc.org.za/Knowledge%20Hub%20Documents/Research%20Reports/TT-391-08.pdf

VAN NIEKERK LM (2009) Development of climatic soybean rust model and forecasting framework. Unpublished MSc Eng dissertation, School of Bioresources Engineering and Environmental Hydrology, University of KwaZulu-Natal, Pietermaritzburg, RSA. http://researchspace.ukzn.ac.za/xmlui/handle/10413/2115

VANUYTRECHT E, RAES D, STEDUTO P, HSIAO TC, FERERES E, HENG LK, GARCÍA-VILA M and MORENO PM (2014) AquaCrop: FAO's crop water productivity and yield response model. *Environmental Modelling and Software* 62:351-360. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S136481521400228X

VASILAKOGLOU I, DHIMA K, KARAGIANNIDIS N and GATSIS T (2011) Sweet sorghum productivity for biofuels under increased soil salinity and reduced irrigation. *Field Crops Research* 120(1): 38-46.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378429010002285

VILJOEN A (2014) Time to talk biofuels. *Wheels Supplement, Witness*. 6<sup>th</sup> February 2014. p 10.

WAHAB AA and SALIH AA (2012) Water requirements of Sugar Beet *Beta vulgaris* under heavy cracking clay soils. *Journal of Agricultural Science and Technology* B 2: 865-874. http://www.davidpublishing.com/davidpublishing/Upfile/9/23/2012/2012092382884673.pdf

WANG W (2002) Cassava production for industrial utilization in China - present and future perspectives. [Internet]. Available from:

http://www.ciat.cgiar.org/asia\_cassava/pdf/proceedings\_workshop\_02/33.pdf [Accessed 21 July 2013]

WANG D, BEAN S, MCLAREN J, SEIB P, MADL R, TUINSTRA, M, SHI Y, LENZ M, WU X and ZHAO R (2009) Grain sorghum is a viable feedstock for ethanol production. *Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology* 35(5): 313-320. http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10295-008-0313-1

WATSON HK, GARLAND GG, PURCHASE B, JOHNSON FX, GRIFFEE P and DERCAS N (2008) Bioenergy for Sustainable Development and Global Competitiveness: the case of Sugar Cane in southern Africa. Thematic Report 1. Stockholm Environment Institute, Stockholm, Sweden.

WBGU (2004) *World in Transition: Towards Sustainable Energy Systems*. German Advisory Council on Global Change (WBGU). Earthscan, London, UK.

WEEPENER HL, VAN DEN BERG HM, METZ M and HAMANDAWANA H (2011) The development of a hydrologically improved Digital Elevation Model and derived products for South Africa based on the SRTM DEM. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. WRC Report No. K5/1908.

WELLENS J, RAES D, TRAORE F, DENIS A, DJABY B and TYCHON B (2013) Performance assessment of the FAO AquaCrop model for irrigated cabbage on farmer plots in a semi-arid environment. *Agricultural Water Management* 127: 40-47. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377413001315

WENT FW. 1957. *Environmental Control of Plant Growth*. Ronald Press Company, New York, USA.

WHITEHEAD D (1998) Regulation of stomatal conductance and transpiration in forest Canopies. *Tree Physiology* 18: 633-644.

WHITEHEAD ENC (2010) Personal communication. Regional Agricultural Economist, KwaZulu-Natal Department of Agriculture, Environmental Affairs and Rural Development, Cedara, South Africa.

WICKE B (2011) Bioenergy production on degraded and marginal land: Assessing its potentials, economic performance, and environmental impacts for different settings and geographical scales. [Internet]. Published PhD Dissertation, Faculty of Science, Copernicus Institute, Group Science, Technology and Society, Utrecht University, Netherlands. ISBN: 978-90-8672-050-7. Available from:

http://igitur-archive.library.uu.nl/dissertations/2011-0412-200703/UUindex.html

[Accessed 15 November 2013]

WOOD DW, SCOTT RK and LONGDEN PC (1980) The effects of mother plant temperature on seed quality in *Beta vulgaris* L. (sugar beet). In: Hebblethwaite PD (Ed), *Seed Production,* 257-270. Butterworths, London, UK.

WORLDWATCH INSTITUTE (2006) Biofuels for transport: global potential and implications for energy and agriculture. Prepared by Worldwatch Institute for the German Ministry of Food, Agriculture and Consumer Protection in coordination with the German Agency for Technical Cooperation and the German Agency of renewable resources. Earthscan, London, UK.

WRC (2010) Abridged Knowledge Review 2009/10 - Growing Knowledge for South Africa's Water Future. Water Research Commission (WRC), Pretoria, RSA. 59-60.

WULLSCHLEGER SD, MEINZER FC and VERTESSY RA (1998) A review of whole-plant water use studies in trees. *Tree Physiology* 18: 499-512.

YEH S, BERNDES G, MISHRA GS, WANI SP, NETO AE, SUH S, KARLBERG L, HEINKE J and GARG KK (2011) Evaluation of water use for bioenergy at different scales. *Biofuels, Bioproduction and Biorefining* 5:361-374. DOI:10.1002/bbb.308 <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/bbb.308/abstract</u> [Accessed 14 July 2011]

ZEGADA-LIZARAZU W and MONTI A (2012) Are we ready to cultivate sweet sorghum as a bioenergy feedstock? A review on field management practices. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 40: 1-12. DOI:10.1016/j.biombioe.2012.01.048.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0961953412000700

ZELEKE KT and WADE LJ (2012) Evapotranspiration estimation using soil water balance, weather and crop data. In: Irmak A (Ed), *Evapotranspiration - Remote Sensing and Modeling*, Chapter 3, 41-58. InTech Europe, Croatia. ISBN: 978-953-307-808-3. http://cdn.intechweb.org/pdfs/26099.pdf [Accessed 01 October 2012]

ZELEKE KT, LUCKETT D and COWLEY R (2011) Calibration and testing of the FAO AquaCrop Model for canola. *Agronomy Journal* 103(6): 1610-1618. https://dl.sciencesocieties.org/publications/aj/abstracts/103/6/1610

ZHANG X, CHEN S, SUN H, WANG Y and SHAO L (2010) Water use efficiency and associated traits in winter wheat cultivars in the North China Plain. *Agricultural Water Management* 97(8): 1117-1125. DOI:10.1016/j.agwat.2009.06.003. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378377409001632

ZHAO YL, DOLAT A, STEINBERGER Y, WANG X, OSMAN A and XIE GH (2009) Biomass yield and changes in chemical composition of sweet sorghum cultivars grown for biofuel. *Field Crops Research* 111(1-2): 55-64.

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378429008002116

## 9 APPENDIX A

Petrol, diesel and total (petrol + diesel) consumption in South Africa from 1991 to 2010 in million litres per annum (SAPIA, 2012), as well as the projected demand for petroleum products from 2011 to 2020 (**Table 87**). Diesel is expressed as a portion of the total petroleum consumption, together with estimated values for the future. Refer to **Figure 5** (c.f. **Section 2.1.6.2**) for the linear trend lines that were used to produce the estimates from 2011 onwards.

	pr	oducts ir	n South A	Africa					
	М	illion litre	es per ani	num	Perc	entage	Million litres per a		annum
Year	Potrol	Discol	Total	Total	Diesel	Diesel	E2	E10	B5
	Fello	Diesei	Actual	Estimate	Actual	Estimate			
1991	8 906	5 130	14 036		36.55		178.1	890.6	256.5
1992	9 171	4 950	14 121		35.05		183.4	917.1	247.5
1993	9 202	4 940	14 142		34.93		184.0	920.2	247.0
1994	9 630	5 110	14 740		34.67		192.6	963.0	255.5
1995	10 153	5 432	15 585		34.85		203.1	1 015.3	271.6
1996	10 566	5 759	16 325		35.28		211.3	1 056.6	288.0
1997	10 798	5 875	16 673		35.24		216.0	1 079.8	293.8
1998	10 883	5 959	16 842		35.38		217.7	1 088.3	298.0
1999	10 861	5 993	16 854		35.56		217.2	1 086.1	299.7
2000	10 396	6 254	16 650		37.56		207.9	1 039.6	312.7
2001	10 340	6 488	16 828		38.55		206.8	1 034.0	324.4
2002	10 335	6 831	17 166		39.79		206.7	1 033.5	341.6
2003	10 667	7 263	17 930		40.51		213.3	1 066.7	363.2
2004	10 985	7 679	18 664		41.14		219.7	1 098.5	384.0
2005	11 165	8 115	19 280		42.09		223.3	1 116.5	405.8
2006	11 279	8 708	19 987		43.57		225.6	1 127.9	435.4
2007	11 558	9 755	21 313		45.77		231.2	1 155.8	487.8
2008	11 069	9 762	20 831		46.86		221.4	1 106.9	488.1
2009	11 321	9 437	20 758		45.46		226.4	1 132.1	471.9
2010	11 874	9 298	21 172		43.92		237.5	1 187.4	464.9
2011	11 690	9 986		21 677		46.07	233.8	1 169.0	499.3
2012	11 759	10 315		22 075		46.73	235.2	1 175.9	515.8
2013	11 823	10 650		22 473		47.39	236.5	1 182.3	532.5
2014	11 882	10 990		22 871		48.05	237.6	1 188.2	549.5
2015	11 935	11 335		23 270		48.71	238.7	1 193.5	566.7
2016	11 983	11 685		23 668		49.37	239.7	1 198.3	584.2
2017	12 026	12 040		24 066		50.03	240.5	1 202.6	602.0
2018	12 063	12 401		24 465		50.69	241.3	1 206.3	620.1
2019	12 096	12 767		24 863		51.35	241.9	1 209.6	638.4
2020	12 123	13 139		25 261		52.01	242.5	1 212.3	656.9

Table 87Actual (1991-2010) and projected (2011-2020) demand for petroleum<br/>products in South Africa

ш
×
Δ
Ζ
Щ
Б
₹
0
_

Food group		Production	Consumption	Import	Export	Calorie share	%	Accum.
- · (x 1000 ton)	(x 1000 ton)		(x 1000 ton)	(x 1000 ton)	(x 1000 ton)	(kcal day )		%
Maize 12 050	12 050		9 599	36	1 887	889	34.9	34.9
Wheat 1 958	1 958		3 148	1 351	162	499	19.6	54.6
Sugar (raw equivalent) 2 330	2 330		1 463	139	952	277	10.9	65.4
Sunflower oil 335	335		396	118	56	149	5.9	71.3
Rice 2	2		738	763	33	146	5.7	77.0
Soybean oil 33	33		213	138	8	104	4.1	81.1
Potatoes 1 867	1 867		1 910	84	41	57	2.2	83.4
Maize germ oil 77	17		77	0	0	37	1.5	84.8
Palm oil 0	0		417	423	9	24	0.9	85.8
Soybean 516	516		303	2	162	10	0.4	86.2
Sorghum 277	277		271	0	5	14	0.6	86.7
Groundnuts 70	20		69	12	12	11	0.4	87.1
Palm kernel oil 0	0		33	33	0	80	0.3	87.5
Groundnut oil 12	12		16	0	0	7	0.3	87.7
Oil crops oil (other) 7	7		24	23	5	4	0.2	87.9
Sweet potatoes 63	63		60	0	8	3	0.1	88.(
Cottonseed oil 11	11		10	3	13	ю	0.1	88.
Olive oil 0	0		5	5	0	2	0.1	88.2
Non-animal products (total)						2 544		
Animal products (total)						473		
Total						3 017		

The 2009 per capita consumption of non-animal food groups in South Africa (FAOSTAT, 2009) Table 88

PENDIX C	Summary of d
11 AF	Table 89

6	2
,	È
2	~
(	. \
	>
	-
	Ξ
•	-
	_
•	_
	С
	Ē
•	Ξ
	à
	¥
	7
	۲
	_
	đ
	55
	Ξ
	2
	?
	3
	Ľ.
	١.
	U.
	d,
	4
	-
1	7
	$\leq$
	C
	-
	đ
	С
1	+
,	+
	π
	<u>a</u>
	d U
	C
	π
	P
	"
	~
	≍
	2
1	Ū
•	ž
	ç
	ď
	C
,	-
1	C
	Ξ
	>
	۲
	ā
	F
	Ξ
	╘
	Ē
,	ī
•	۶.
	_
(	0
(	C
	•
	-
1	-

					FIE	d trial research				
Feedstock	Seasc	n #1	Sease	on #2		Season #3			Season #4	
	(2010	(11)	(2011	1/12)		(2012/13)			(2013/14)	
	Ukulinga	Hatfield	Ukulinga	Hatfield	Ukulinga	Hatfield	Baynesfield	Ukulinga	Hatfield	Baynesfield
<b>Bioethanol:</b>										
Sugarcane										
Sunarheet	Done		Done		Trichoderma Plant 05/13 Harvest 11/13					
	2		2		Water stressed					
Sweet sorghum (well-watered)	Done	Done	Done	Done						
Sweet sorghum (drought trial)		Done		Done						
					Cut in 07/12					
Sweet sorghum (ratoon trial)					Irrigate 08/12 Abandon					
					12/12					
					Plant 11/12	Plant in 12/12		Plant 11/13	Plant 11/13	
Grain sorghum					Harvest 05/13 Well-watered	Drought stressed		Well- watered	Drought stressed	
<b>Biodiesel:</b>										
Sunflower										
Canola										
							Plant 10/12 Harvest			Plant 10/13
Soybean							05/13			Dryland
							Dryland			
Jatropha	Done		Stopped							
Moringa		Done		Stopped						

## 12 APPENDIX D

	n obtained from the literature	
	cultivatior	
-	Growth criteria for sugarcane (	ס
	lable 90	

(	ю	00 3	3	2	90	0 2	-	0	3	4	4	4	on; Dry =
dept (mr		> 100	100	100	> 15(	1000	1000 1500	> 40	1000				criteri
RH <sub>ave</sub> (%)	< 70					< 70 Rip	80-85 Opt	< 70	< 70				= Absolute
T <sub>max</sub> (°C)					< 37 Opt < 41 Abs			< 38 Abs					terion; Abs
T <sub>min</sub> (°C)		Jun > 5 Jul > 5	Jun > 5 Jul > 5	Jun > 5 Jul > 5	> 24 Opt > 15 Abs	Jun > 5 Jul > 5		> 15 Abs					optimum cri
T <sub>ave</sub> (°C)	22-32 Opt 20-34 Abs	22-30 Opt 10-20 Rip	22-30 Opt 10-20 Rip	22-30 Opt 10-20 Rip		22-32 Opt 10-20 Rip	20-35	26-34 Opt 10-20 Rip	22-32 Opt 10-20 Rip		22-30 Opt 10-20 Rip	20-30 Opt 12-38 Sub	Sub = Sub-
МАТ (°С)			> 18 OPT	> 18 OPT									n criterion;
Monthly total (mm)	120					120			120				= Optimur
Annual rainfall (mm)	850 Min 1300 Opt	850-1500	850-1500	850-1500	1500-2000 Opt 1000-5000 Abs	850 Min 1300 Opt	1100-1500	1200-1500	850 Min 1300 Opt	1500-1800 Dry 2500 Wet	1500-2500	1000-1800 Sub 1200-1800 Opt	um criterion; Opt
Source	Jewitt <i>et al.</i> (2009a)	Smith (1994)	Smith (1998)	Smith (2006)	FAO (2006)	Schulze <i>et al.</i> (2007c)	DAFF (2012c)	Watson <i>et al.</i> (2008)	Schulze and Kunz (2010b)	Bassam (2010)	Tammisola (2010)	Muok <i>et al.</i> (2010)	Note: Min = Minimu

Ideal for drier regions; Wet = Ideal for wetter regions; Ger = ideal for germination; Flo = ideal for flowering; Rip = ideal for ripening; Jan = Month of January; Jun = Month of June; Jul = Month of July
	Annual	Seasonal	+			
Source	rainfall	rainfall	l <sub>ave</sub> (°C)	КН <sub>мах</sub> (%)	Soli deptn (mm)	Rank
	(mm)	(mm)				
Jewitt <i>et al.</i> (2009a)	250-1000 Abs 400-700 Opt		15-25 Opt 7-30 Abs		>1500 Opt 500-1500 Abs	3
Fornstrom and Pochop (1976)			OPT20-22			12
Went (1957)			ABS5-30			1
Petkeviciene (2009)			15-25 Opt			6
			SOA C <			
FAO (2002)		550-750	7-30 Abs 15-25 Opt		700-1200 Opt	2
Kenter et al. (2006)			18-26 Opt			10
Wahab e <i>t al.</i> (2012)			5-30 Abs 20-25 Opt			8
Morillo-Verlade and Ober (2006)		350-550 Opt 350-1000 Abs	3-48 Abs	< 80		-
Johl (1980)			10-30 Abs 18 - 22 Opt			11
Efetha (2012)		500			500-1000	5
Aminzadeh <i>et al.</i> (2014)			16-30 Opt 0-30 Abs			9
Wood <i>et al.</i> (1980)			15-20 Opt < 35 Abs	60-70		4
Chegini <i>et al.</i> (2010)		524				7
Note: Min = Minimum criterion; (	Opt = Optimum	criterion; Sub = \$	Sub-optimum c	riterion; A	Abs = Absolute cri	terion;

 Table 91
 Growth criteria for sugarbeet cultivation obtained from the literature

Dry = Ideal for drier regions; Wet = Ideal for wetter regions; Ger = ideal for germination; Flo = ideal for flowering; Rip = ideal for ripening; Jan = Month of January; Jun = Month of June; Jul = Month of July

Source	Annual rainfall (mm)	Seasonal rainfall (mm)	T <sub>ave</sub> (°C)	T <sub>min</sub> (°C)	T <sub>max</sub> (°C)	RH <sub>ave</sub> (%)	Soil depth (mm)	Rank
Jewitt <i>et al.</i> (2009a)		450-650 Opt	20-25 Jan > 21					3
Smith (1994)	650-800	450-650 Opt	> 10 Opt > 25 Ger Jan = 21 Ger Jul < 16 Ger	> 15 Flo	< 35 Flo	Not hot/ humid	1 000-1 500	3
Smith (1998)	650-800	450-650	> 25 Opt Jan > 21	> 15 Flo	< 35 Flo	Not hot/ humid		3
Smith (2006)	650-800	450-650	> 25 Opt Jan > 21	> 15 Flo	< 35 Flo	Not hot/ humid		2
FAO (2006)	500-1 000 Opt 300-3 000 Abs	400-600 opt 300-700 abs	27-35 Opt 8-40 Abs	> 8	< 40		500-1 500	4
Schulze and Maharaj (2007c)	> 600	300-1200 600 OPT	25 Opt Jan > 21	> 15 Flo	< 35 Flo	< 60 Not hot/ humid		3
Du Plessis (2008)	> 400 dry > 800 wet		27-30 Opt 20-30 Sub > 21 Sub	7-10 Ger			> 250	<del>, -</del>
DAFF (2010b)	300-750		27-30 Opt 20-30 Sub > 21 Sub	7-10 Ger			> 250	~
Bassam (2010)	400-600		27-30 Opt	8-10				4
Schulze and Kunz (2010c)	600	300-1200	25 Opt Jan > 21	> 15 Flo	< 35 Flo	< 60 Not hot/ humid		3
Pannar (2011)		400-800	25-30 Opt > 15 Abs		25-30 Rip	Not cool/humid	Deep	1
Note: Min = Minim	um criterion; Op	ot = Optimum	criterion; Sub	= Sub-optir	num criterio	n; Abs = Absolu	ute criterior	i; Dry =

 Table 92
 Growth criteria for grain sorghum cultivation obtained from the literature

Ideal for drier regions; Wet = Ideal for wetter regions; Ger = ideal for germination; Flo = ideal for flowering; Rip = ideal for ripening; Jan = Month of January; Jun = Month of June; Jul = Month of July

	Americal	Cocco						
Source	rainfall (mm)	rainfall (mm)	T <sub>ave</sub> (°C)	Frost tolerance	RH <sub>ave</sub> (%)	HU (GDD) Base 10°C	Soil depth (mm)	Rank
Jewitt <i>et al.</i> (2009a)		550-700 Opt	20-30 Opt 18-35 Sub			> 1500		3
Smith (1994)	002 <	450-700	18-35 Sub Jan > 19 Abs			1100-2400		3
Smith (1998)	> 700	> 450 550-700		Medium			250-400	ю
Smith (2006)		550-700					600-1200	2
FAO (2006)	600-1500 Opt 450-1800 Abs		20-33 Opt 10-38 Abs					9
Schulze and Maharaj (2007d)	> 600		Jan > 18			> 1500 1000-2600 (Oct-Mar)		5
Nunkumar (2006)					< 75			4
Schulze and Kunz (2010d)	> 600		Jan > 18			1000-2600 (Oct-Mar)		5
DAFF (2010a)		200-900	13-30 25 Opt				300-500	1
DAFF (2010a) - at planting			15-18					-
Bassam (2010)	500-750		24-25 Opt 20-25 Sub				300-400	7
Note: Min = Minimun	n criterion; Opt =	Optimum cr	iterion; Sub = {	Sub-optimum	criterio	n; Abs = Abso	olute criterion	; Dry =

 Table 93
 Growth criteria for soybean cultivation obtained from the literature

Ideal for drier regions; Wet = Ideal for wetter regions; Ger = ideal for germination; Flo = ideal for flowering; Rip = ideal for ripening; Jan = Month of January; Jun = Month of June; Jul = Month of July

Source	Annual rainfall (mm)	Seasonal rainfall (mm)	T <sub>ave</sub> (°C)	RH <sub>ave</sub> (%)	Soil depth (mm)	Rank
Jewitt <i>et al.</i> (2009a)	500-1000 Opt 400-2800 Abs	400-560	15-25 Opt 5-41 Abs		500-1500	4
DAFF (2009)		400-500	12-25 Opt 5-27 Abs			9
DAFF (2010d)		> 300	10-30 Opt <10 >30 Abs			2
Tesfamariam <i>et al.</i> (2010)		> 300				e
Canola Encyclopaedia (2013a; 2013b)			> 2 Abs > 10 Opt		600-1200	7
Nel (2015)		> 300	0-30 Abs 21 Opt		> 600	-
Bahizire (2007)			15-25 Opt			6
Tesfamarian (2004)		> 300	5-30 Abs 12-30 Opt		< 1800 Abs 600-1200 Opt	5
FAO (2006)			-4 Abs			11
Cumming <i>et al.</i> (2010)		<ul> <li>&gt; 300 Abs</li> <li>400-500 Opt</li> <li>200-210 Flo</li> </ul>	15-20 Ger 20-25 Opt 5-30 Abs			8
Gan <i>et al.</i> (2009)					> 600	10
Zeleke and Wade (2012)				20-80		12
<b>Jote</b> : Min = Minimum crit	erion; Opt = Op	timum criterion;	Sub = Sub-opt	timum cr	iterion; Abs = Ab	solute

Growth criteria for canola cultivation obtained from the literature

Table 94

criterion; Dry = Ideal for drier regions; Wet = Ideal for wetter regions; Ger = ideal for germination; Flo = ideal for flowering; Rip = ideal for ripening; Jan = Month of January; Jun = Month of June; Jul = Month of July.

	_																														
			Decimal	weigni	0.031	0:030	0.035	0.034	0.037	0.039	0.039	0.034	0.034	0.029	0:030	0.028	0.400		0.028	0.033	0.038	0.038	0.041	0.041	0.041	0.032	0.032	0.028	0.028	0.023	0 400
			Relative	weigning	0.31	0.30	0.35	0.34	0.37	0.39	0.39	0.34	0.34	0.29	0.30	0.28	4.00		0.28	0.33	0.38	0.38	0.41	0.41	0.41	0.32	0.32	0.28	0.28	0.23	4 00
		fficients	Unsuitable	0	> 155	> 150	> 175	> 170	> 185	> 195	> 195	> 170	> 170	> 145	> 150	> 140	> 2 000	(mm)	> 140	> 165	> 190	> 190	> 205	> 205	> 190	> 160	> 160	> 140	> 140	> 115	< 2 000
		ged) crop coel	Marginal	~	140-155	135-150	155-175	155-170	170-185	175-195	175-195	150-170	155-170	130-145	135-150	125-140	1 800-2 000	p coefficients (	125-140	145-165	170-190	170-190	180-205	180-205	185-190	145-160	145-160	125-140	125-140	105-115	1 800-2 000
	and ranking	ng local (avera	Sub- optimum	2	120-140	115-135	130-155	130-155	140-170	145-175	140-175	125-150	130-155	110-130	110-135	105-125	1 500-1 800	using FAO cro	105-125	125-145	140-170	140-170	150-180	150-180	155-185	120-145	120-145	105-125	105-125	85-105	1 500-1 800
	itability criteria	l per month usi	Optimum	ო	100-120	100-115	115-130	110-130	120-140	125-145	130-140	110-125	110-130	95-110	95-110	90-105	1 300-1 500	ned per month	90-105	105-125	125-140	125-140	130-150	130-150	130-155	105-120	105-120	90-105	90-105	75-85	1 300-1 500
$K_c$ values	Su	ils apportioned	Sub- optimum	2	85-100	85-100	95-115	95-110	105-120	105-125	105-130	95-110	95-110	80-95	80-95	75-90	1 100-1 300	otals apportior	75- 90	90-105	105-125	105-125	110-130	110-130	110-130	90-105	90-105	75-90	75-90	65-75	1 100-1 300
ged) and FAC		Rainfall tota	Marginal	-	65-85	65-85	75-95	70-95	80-105	80-105	85-105	70-95	75-95	60-80	65-80	60-75	850-1 100	Rainfall t	60-75	20- 90	80-105	80-105	85-110	85-110	80-110	70-90	70-90	60-75	60-75	50-65	850-1 100
local (avera			Unsuitable	0	< 65	< 65	< 75	< 70	< 80	< 80	< 85	< 70	< 75	< 60	< 65	< 60	< 850		< 60	< 70	< 80	< 80	< 85	< 85	< 80	< 70	< 70	< 60	< 60	< 50	2 850
			Suitability class	Ranking	September	October	November	December	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August			September	October	November	December	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	

Summary of rainfall suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for sugarcane cultivation, based on

Table 95

_																																		
		Decimal	weight	0:030	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.020	0.020	0.020	0.020	0.020	0.015	0.015	0.010	0.200		200.0	0.005	0.005	0.005	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.010	0.100		0.100		0.200
		Relative	weigning	0.30	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.15	0.15	0.10	2.00		0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	1.00		1.00		2.00
	C)	Unsuitable	0	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 24	> 24	> 24	> 24			> 95	> 95	> 95	> 95	> 95	> 95	> 95	> 95	> 85	> 85	> 85	> 85					> 30
	nperature (°	Marginal	<del></del>	32-35	32-35	32-35	32-35	32-35	32-35	32-35	32-35	20-24	20-24	20-24	20-24		humidity (%)	90-95	90-95	90-95	90-95	90-95	90-95	90-95	90-95	75-85	75-85	75-85	75-85					15-30
and ranking	average ter	Sub- optimum	2	30-32	30-32	30-32	30-32	30-32	30-32	30-32	30-32	14-20	14-20	14-20	14-20		ige relative I	06-58	85-90	06-58	06-58	85-90	85-90	85-90	85-90	92-29	62-75	92-29	92-29		(mm)		(mr	10-15
oility criteria	eans of daily	Optimum	с	22-30	22-30	22-30	22-30	22-30	22-30	22-30	22-30	12-14	12-14	12-14	12-14		f daily avera	80-85	80-85	80-85	80-85	80-85	80-85	80-85	80-85	45-65	45-65	45-65	45-65		Soil depth	> 1 000	Slope (n	< 10
Suital	Monthly me	Sub- optimum	2	20-22	20-22	20-22	20-22	20-22	20-22	20-22	20-22	10-12	10-12	10-12	10-12		thly means o	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	35-45	35-45	35-45	35-45			700-1 000		
		Marginal	-	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	08-10	08-10	08-10	08-10		Mon	30-70	30-70	30-70	30-70	30-70	30-70	30-70	30-70	20-35	20-35	20-35	20-35			400-700		
		Unsuitable	0	< 15	< 15	< 15	< 15	< 15	< 15	< 15	< 15	< 08	< 08	< 08	< 08			< 30	< 30	< 30	< 30	< 30	< 30	< 30	< 30	< 20	< 20	< 20	< 20			< 400		
		Suitability class	Ranking	September	October	November	December	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August			September	October	November	December	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August			All season		All season

Summary of other criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for sugarcane cultivation Table 96

Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for sugarbeet (summer), based on local  $\mathcal{K}_c$  values Table 97

			SI	uitability crit	eria and rank	ting			
Suitability class	Unsuitable	Marginal	Sub- optimum	Optimum	Sub- optimum	Marginal	Unsuitable	Relative	Decimal
Ranking	0	1	2	3	2	1	0	weignung	weigni
	Rainf	fall totals ap	portioned p	er month us	ing local (Uk	ulinga) crop co	efficients (mn	(u	
September	<50	50-60	60-70	70-95	95-110	110-120	>120	0.48	0.048
October	<50	50-60	60-75	75-95	95-110	110-120	>120	0.49	0.049
November	<65	65-80	80-100	100-130	130-145	145-165	>165	0.65	0.065
December	<65	65-85	85-95	95-140	140-145	145-170	>170	29.0	0.067
January	<65	65-85	85-100	100-130	130-150	150-165	>165	0.66	0.066
February	<55	55-65	65-80	80-105	105-120	120-130	>130	0.53	0.053
March	<50	50-65	65-80	80-105	105-120	120-130	>130	0.52	0.052
	< 400	400-500	500-600	600-800	800-900	900-1 000	> 1 000	4.00	0.400
			Monthly me	ans of daily	average tem	perature (°C)			
September	<u> </u>	5-10	10-15	15-20	20-25	25-30	> 30	0.05	0.005
October	<u> </u>	5-10	10-15	15-20	20-25	25-30	> 30	0.10	0.010
November	<u> </u>	5-10	10-15	15-20	20-25	25-30	> 30	0.10	0.010
December	<u> </u>	5-10	10-15	15-20	20-25	25-30	> 30	0.40	0.040
January	< 5	5-10	10-15	15-20	20-25	25-30	> 30	09.0	0.060
February	<u> </u>	5-10	10-15	15-20	20-25	25-30	> 30	02'0	0.070
March	<u> </u>	5-10	10-15	15-20	20-25	25-30	> 30	0.05	0.005
								2.00	0.200
		Ŭ	onthly mean	s of daily m <sup>a</sup>	aximum relat	ive humidity (%	(0		
September				< 60	02-09	70-80	> 80	00'0	0.000
October				< 60	02-09	70-80	> 80	00'0	0.000
November				< 60	02-09	70-80	> 80	00'0	0.000
December				< 60	60-70	70-80	> 80	0.15	0.015
January				< 60	60-70	70-80	> 80	0.25	0.025
February				< 60	02-09	70-80	> 80	0.50	0.050
March				< 60	60-70	70-80	> 80	0.10	0.010
								1.00	0.100
				Soil de	pth (mm)				
All season	< 500	500-700	006-002	> 900				1.00	0.100
				Slo	pe (%)				
All season				< 4	4-8	8-10	> 10	2.00	0.200
Total								10.00	1.000

Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for sugarbeet (winter), based on local  $\mathcal{K}_c$  values Table 98

-	η		1	r	r —	r		r	r	-			1	r		1	r	r	r —		r	r			-	-	-	-			<u> </u>		<u> </u>	
	Decimal	weigni		0.059	0.062	0.054	0.055	0.053	0.055	0.062	0.400		0.005	0.010	0.010	0.040	0.060	0.070	0.005	0.200		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.015	0.025	0.050	0.010	0.100		0.100		0.200	1.000
	Relative	weigning	(-	0.59	0.62	0.54	0.55	0.53	0.55	0.62	4.00		0.05	0.10	0.10	0.40	0.60	0.70	0.05	2.00		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.15	0.25	0.50	0.10	1.00		1.00		2.00	10.00
	Unsuitable	0	efficients (mn	>140	>145	>130	>130	>125	>130	>150	> 950		> 30	> 30	> 30	> 30	> 30	> 30	> 30			> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80					> 10	
ing	Marginal	<del>.</del>	ulinga) crop co	125-140	130-145	115-130	125-130	110-125	115-130	130-150	850-950	oerature (°C)	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30		ve humidity (%	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80	70-80					8-10	
eria and rank	Sub- optimum	2	ing local (Uku	110-125	115-130	100-115	105-125	100-110	105-115	115-130	750-850	average tem	20-25	20-25	20-25	20-25	20-25	20-25	20-25		aximum relati	02-09	02-09	02-09	60-70	60-70	02-09	02-09		epth (mm)		pe (%)	4-8	
uitability crit	Optimum	3	er month us	80-110	85-115	75-100	75-105	75-100	75-105	85-115	550-750	ans of daily	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20		s of daily ma	< 60	< 60	< 60	< 60	< 60	< 60	< 60		Soil de	> 900	Slo	< 4	
S	Sub- optimum	2	portioned p	65-80	70-85	60-75	65-75	60-75	60-75	70-85	450-550	Monthly me	10-15	10-15	10-15	10-15	10-15	10-15	10-15		onthly mean										006-002			
	Marginal	-	fall totals ap	50-65	55-70	50-60	45-65	45-60	50-60	22-70	350-450		5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10		Ň										500-700			
	Unsuitable	0	Rain	<50	<55	<50	<45	<45	<50	<55	< 350		< ភូ	< ح 5	< 5	< ح 5	< 5 <	< 5 <	< ح 5												< 500			
	Suitability class	Ranking		June	July	August	September	October	November	December			June	July	August	September	October	November	December			June	July	August	September	October	November	December			All season		All season	Total

Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for grain sorghum cultivation, based on local  $K_c$  values Table 99

	Decimal	weight			0.046	0.046 0.089	0.046 0.089 0.093	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.092	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.092 0.080	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.080 0.080	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.080 0.080	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.080 0.400	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.092 0.080 0.400 0.020	0.046 0.089 0.092 0.080 0.400 0.050 0.050	0.046 0.089 0.092 0.080 0.080 0.092 0.092 0.092 0.092 0.050 0.020	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.092 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.092 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.092 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050	0.046 0.089 0.093 0.092 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.020 0.020 0.020 0.020 0.030 0.020	0.046 0.089 0.092 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.010	0.046           0.089           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.033           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.093           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.030           0.030	0.046 0.089 0.092 0.080 0.400 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.080 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.050 0.030 0.030 0.010 0.010	0.046           0.089           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.080           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.030           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.030           0.030           0.040           0.010	0.046           0.089           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.033           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.030           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.030           0.030           0.030           0.030           0.030           0.030           0.040           0.010           0.010	0.046           0.089           0.089           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.033           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.030           0.030           0.030           0.030           0.040           0.010           0.010           0.010           0.010	0.046           0.089           0.089           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.033           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.050           0.033           0.030           0.030           0.030           0.040           0.040           0.040           0.040           0.010           0.010           0.010	0.046           0.089           0.089           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.020           0.020           0.020           0.030           0.030           0.040           0.040           0.040           0.010           0.010           0.010           0.010	0.046           0.089           0.083           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.093           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.092           0.020           0.020           0.020           0.030           0.040           0.010           0.010           0.010           0.010
	Relative	weigning	(r	0.46	0.89	0.93	0.92	0.80	4.00		0.50	0.20	0.50	0:30	0:20	2.00		0.10	0:30	0.40	0.10	0.10	1.00		1.00		
	Unsuitable	0	efficients (m	> 140	> 265	> 280	> 275	> 240	> 1 200		> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35			> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80					
ing	Marginal	-	ulinga) crop co	115-140	220-265	235-280	230-275	200-240	1 000-1 200	perature (°C)	32-35	32-35	32-35	32-35	32-35		ve humidity (%	60-80	60-80	60-80	60-80	60-80					
eria and rank	Sub- optimum	2	ing local (Uku	90-115	180-220	185-235	185-230	160-200	800-1 000	average temp	30-32	30-32	30-32	30-32	30-32		inimum relativ	40-60	40-60	40-60	40-60	40-60		pth (mm)		101	be (%)
iitability crit	Optimum	e	er month us	75-90	145-180	150-185	150-185	130-160	650-800	ans of daily	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30		s of daily m	< 40	< 40	< 40	< 40	< 40		Soil de	> 800	C	
Su	Sub- optimum	2	portioned pe	50-75	100-145	105-150	105-150	90-130	450-650	<b>Monthly me</b>	20-25	20-25	20-25	20-25	20-25		inthly means								500-800		
	Marginal	-	all totals ap	45-50	90-100	95-105	90-105	80-90	400-450		15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20	15-20		Mo								300-500		
	Unsuitable	0	Rainf	< 45	06 ×	< 95	<ul><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li><li></li></ul>	< 80	< 400		< 15	< 15	< 15	< 15	< 15										< 300		
	Suitability class	Ranking		November	December	January	February	March			November	December	January	February	March			November	December	January	February	March			All season		

Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for soybean cultivation, based on local  $\mathcal{K}_{
m c}$  values Table 100

	Decimal	weight		0.067	0.067	0.093	0.096	0.078	0.400		0.050	0.050	0.050	0.030	0.020	0.200		0.010	0.010	0:030	0:030	0.020	0.100		0.100		0.200	1.000
	Relative	weignting	(m	0.67	0.67	0.93	0.96	0.78	4.00		0.50	0.50	0.50	0.30	0.20	2.00		0.10	0.10	0.30	0:30	0.20	1.00		1.00		2.00	10.00
	Unsuitable	0	oefficients (m	> 185	> 185	> 255	> 260	> 215	> 1 100		> 33	> 33	> 33	> 33	> 33			> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80	> 80					> 10	
ing	Marginal	-	esfield) crop co	165-185	165-185	230-255	245-260	195-215	1 000-1 100	oerature (°C)	25-33	30-33	30-33	30-33	30-33		e humidity (%)	75-80	75-80	75-80	75-80	75-80					8-10	
eria and ranki	Sub- optimum	2	ig local (Bayn	150-165	150-165	210-230	215-245	175-195	900-1 000	average temp	18-25	27-30	27-30	27-30	27-30		/erage relativ	60-75	60-75	60-75	60-75	60-75		pth (mm)		)е (%)	4-8	
iitability crite	Optimum	ю	month usin	115-150	115-150	160-210	175-215	135-175	700-900	ans of daily	15-18	23-27	23-27	23-27	23-27		is of daily av	< 60	< 60	< 60	< 60	< 60		Soil de	> 500	Slop	< 4	
Su	Sub- optimum	. 2	ortioned per	90-115	90-115	130-160	135-175	105-135	550-700	Monthly me	13-15	18-23	18-23	18-23	18-23		onthly mean								300-500			
	Marginal	-	II totals appo	75-90	75-90	105-130	105-135	90-105	450-550		10-13	10-18	10-18	10-18	10-18		Š								200-300			
	Unsuitable	0	Rainfa	< 75	< 75	< 105	< 105	<ul><li>60</li></ul>	< 450		< 10	< 10	< 10	< 10	< 10										< 200			
	Suitability class	Ranking		November	December	January	February	March			November	December	January	February	March			November	December	January	February	March			All season		All season	Total

Summary of suitability criteria and ranking used to identify areas suitable for canola cultivation, based on  $K_c$  values from Majnooni-Heris *et al.* (2012) Table 101

	Decimal	weigni		0.074	0.092	0.106	0.074	0.055	0.400		0.060	0.060	0.040	0.020	0.020	0.200		0.010	0.010	0.040	0:030	0.010	0.100		0.100		0.200	1.000
	Relative	weignung		0.74	0.92	1.06	0.74	0.55	4.00		0.60	0.60	0.40	0.20	0.20	2.00		0.10	0.10	0.40	0.30	0.10	1.00		1.00		2.00	10.00
	Unsuitable	0	(mm)	> 275	> 345	>395	>280	>205	> 1 500		> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35	> 35			> 95	> 95	> 95	> 95	> 95					> 10	
nq	Marginal	-	op coefficients	220-275	275-345	315-395	225-280	165-205	1 200-1 500	erature (°C)	30-35	30-35	30-35	30-35	30-35		e humidity (%)	85-95	85-95	85-95	85-95	85-95					8-10	
eria and ranki	Sub- optimum	2	onth using cr	165-220	205-275	240-315	165-225	125-165	900-1 200	average temp	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30	25-30		nimum relativ	80-85	80-85	80-85	80-85	80-85		oth (mm)		oe (%)	4-8	
itabilitv crite	Optimum	ę	ioned per m	110-165	140-205	160-240	105-165	85-125	006-009	ans of daily	15-25	15-25	15-25	15-25	15-25		s of daily mi	< 80	< 80	< 80	< 80	< 80		Soil de	> 1000	Slop	< 4	
Su	Sub- optimum	2	totals apport	55-110	70-140	80-160	55-105	40-85	300-600	Monthly me	10-15	10-15	10-15	10-15	10-15		onthly means								700-1000			
	Marginal	÷	Rainfall	20-55	25-70	25-80	15-55	15-40	100-300		5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10	5-10		ž								500-700			
	Unsuitable	0		< 20	< 25	< 25	< 15	< 15	< 100		< 5	< 5	< 5	< 5	< 5										< 500			
	Suitability class	Ranking		April	May	June	July	August			April	May	June	July	August			April	May	June	July	August			All season		All season	Total

### **APPENDIX E** <del>1</del>3

197	
1966 and	
1959 to .	
ainfall data from	
y observed ra	
ears of mostl	
26 ¥	
LO	
based	A
II statistics	D 0239700
rainfal	ation II
long-term	SAWS sti
Ukulinga's	to 1991 for
102	
Table	

	5	6	2	ò	0	9		2	Þ.	4	S.	Q	ŝ	5
ANN	749.5	168.7	22.5	526.4	1174.8	N	ANN	576.2	598.4	632.1	733.2	796.9	866.3	1005.6
DEC	99.38	57.39	57.74	17.50	274.70	26	DEC	43.82	57.42	68.52	86.75	122.56	134.63	157.97
NON	96.48	45.95	47.63	45.80	265.30	26	NOV	56.8	61.43	80.12	91.00	99.15	107.92	137.35
ост	77.78	48.61	62.50	23.90	203.60	26	ост	28.28	35.41	42.08	67.85	90.63	119.85	153.06
SEP	50.82	75.51	148.57	1.00	397.30	26	SEP	9.91	12.18	19.88	36.35	45.10	63.95	85.16
AUG	23.83	21.11	88.58	0.00	69.60	26	AUG	1.08	2.87	8.56	22.8	32.96	43.14	55.40
JUL	11.65	17.58	150.88	0.00	85.20	26	JUL	0.00	1.16	3.12	5.55	8.46	19.83	23.89
NUL	10.93	15.20	139.15	0.00	64.60	26	NUL	0.00	0.60	1.65	5.95	12.44	15.89	26.42
МАҮ	30.09	70.29	233.59	0.00	368.00	26	МАҮ	0.04	2.65	7.42	16.25	23.38	30.32	38.92
APR	44.29	28.15	63.57	16.80	132.40	26	APR	18.86	24.89	27.6	39.25	47.64	55.41	59.95
MAR	93.02	53.35	57.36	9.70	195.40	26	MAR	23.54	40.88	65.19	90.90	111.2	143.86	165.73
FEB	103.37	70.26	67.97	11.00	350.80	26	FEB	27.67	63.70	69.04	87.55	126.97	139.54	164.78
JAN	107.87	49.48	45.87	27.80	238.40	26	JAN	49.31	64.08	86.31	97.70	118.88	158.79	163.06
Statistic	Mean	St. dev	% C.V	Minimum	Maximum	No. of obs.	Percentile	10%	20%	33%	20%	67%	80%	%06

The percentiles with their equivalent approximations are as follows (Schulze, 1995):

Worst year in 10 (1:10 recurrence value). This value is exceeded 90% of occasions (18 times out of 20). 10%:

Worst (driest) year in 5. 20%: 33%:

The value exceeded as often as it is not exceeded. Worst (driest) year in 3. 50%:

The wettest value occurring once in 3 years. 67%:

The wettest value every 5 years. 80%:

The wettest value expected every 10 years. :%06

Hatfield's long-term rainfall statistics based on 38 years of mostly observed rainfall data from 1960 to 1986 and 1989 to 1999 for SAWS station ID 0513465W (i.e. 1987 and 1988 were missind) Table 103

	ANN	702.06	160.95	22.92	376.60	1073.00	38	ANN	504.78	581.81	617.61	704.80	752.46	850.10	921.36
	DEC	123.47	47.47	38.45	46.00	219.10	38	DEC	58.48	71.69	99.76	126.75	142.23	159.12	190.16
	NON	105.19	53.81	51.15	31.30	252.70	38	NON	45.07	53.40	68.82	97.00	117.84	154.52	174.43
	ОСТ	71.17	43.83	61.60	11.80	174.70	38	ОСТ	19.28	34.99	51.92	58.10	76.45	117.84	143.39
<i>JI</i>	SEP	16.56	18.23	110.10	0.00	82.60	38	SEP	0.00	0.50	3.59	11.75	22.64	29.13	40.91
	AUG	4.39	5.90	134.51	00.00	29.20	38	AUG	00.00	00.00	0.20	2.50	5.43	9.08	10.96
	JUL	2.53	5.49	216.67	00.0	25.50	38	JUL	00.0	00.0	00.00	00.0	06.0	3.38	9.26
1 3 0 1 al 10	NUL	7.51	16.94	225.56	0.00	84.30	38	NUL	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.75	2.56	11.33	18.80
יסיול אאטט	МΑΥ	13.80	21.24	153.90	0.00	103.60	38	МАҮ	0.00	0.21	1.01	6.45	13.06	21.22	37.34
	APR	53.77	42.33	78.73	0.20	166.20	38	APR	5.85	17.38	23.52	47.45	69.24	97.68	115.24
ם סומווטוו	MAR	80.97	60.04	74.15	5.30	327.00	38	MAR	22.00	34.54	57.30	68.00	85.07	116.95	138.59
	FEB	85.73	62.00	72.32	7.80	318.00	38	FEB	28.31	35.90	52.71	71.70	98.79	121.01	172.86
10100	JAN	136.99	92.98	67.88	17.30	542.80	38	JAN	46.78	58.06	97.53	113.10	155.40	202.19	233.50
	Statistic	Mean	St. dev	% C.V	Minimum	Maximum	No. of obs.	Percentile	10%	20%	33%	20%	%29	80%	%06

The percentiles with their equivalent approximations are as follows (Schulze, 1995):

Worst year in 10 (1:10 recurrence value). This value is exceeded 90% of occasions (18 times out of 20). 10%:

20%: Worst (driest) year in 5.

33%: Worst (driest) year in 3.

50%: The value exceeded as often as it is not exceeded.

67%: The wettest value occurring once in 3 years.

80%: The wettest value every 5 years.

90%: The wettest value expected every 10 years.

Baynesfield's long-term rainfall statistics based on 28 years of mostly observed rainfall data from 1974 to 2001 for SAWS station ID 0239585W Table 104

	ANN	838.73	165.67	19.75	555.10	1280.30	28	ANN	626.15	688.62	760.24	816.95	899.89	980.57	1030.87
	DEC	130.48	68.21	52.28	51.00	354.00	28	DEC	59.60	82.60	93.53	128.20	141.57	161.17	202.72
	NOV	106.46	56.71	53.27	40.10	320.20	28	NOV	47.24	63.43	79.40	97.65	113.86	138.48	167.20
	ост	89.34	39.26	43.94	23.00	168.80	28	ост	35.27	53.70	72.70	87.95	105.02	122.59	150.79
	SEP	59.36	86.28	145.33	0.00	464.40	28	SEP	6.33	18.86	25.81	38.90	55.83	76.80	118.63
	AUG	24.77	23.91	96.52	00.0	91.60	28	AUG	00.0	4.88	9.03	18.50	30.71	40.44	61.94
	JUL	15.00	26.67	177.83	0.00	135.00	28	JUL	0.00	0.50	2.27	5.95	11.20	22.59	37.70
	NUL	13.85	15.58	112.51	0.00	58.00	28	NUL	0.00	1.53	3.37	10.75	14.98	20.33	39.10
	МАΥ	19.88	16.84	84.71	0.00	59.70	28	МАΥ	1.93	8.14	9.69	12.30	24.26	32.61	49.05
~ ~	APR	49.47	26.07	52.70	12.50	112.50	28	APR	19.64	29.19	38.15	42.75	50.71	70.42	94.99
00000000	MAR	101.20	49.11	48.53	33.00	218.40	28	MAR	47.94	59.01	73.87	94.55	112.07	130.33	183.07
סומווטוו וב	FEB	105.11	56.27	53.53	24.50	212.10	28	FEB	39.72	47.19	76.37	96.30	119.54	156.64	201.45
00000	JAN	123.82	44.51	35.94	67.80	226.50	28	JAN	76.60	84.11	94.52	114.70	136.96	166.89	178.88
	Statistic	Mean	St. dev	% C.V	Minimum	Maximum	No. of obs.	Percentile	10%	20%	33%	50%	67%	80%	%06

The percentiles with their equivalent approximations are as follows (Schulze, 1995):

Worst year in 10 (1:10 recurrence value). This value is exceeded 90% of occasions (18 times out of 20). 10%:

20%:

Worst (driest) year in 5. Worst (driest) year in 3. 33%:

The value exceeded as often as it is not exceeded. 50%:

The wettest value occurring once in 3 years. 67%:

The wettest value every 5 years. 80%:

The wettest value expected every 10 years. :%06

### 14 APPENDIX F

		R <sub>s</sub>	T <sub>max</sub>	T <sub>min</sub>	RH <sub>max</sub>	$\mathbf{RH}_{\min}$	Rain	ET。
Year	Month	(MJ m <sup>-2</sup> )	(°C)	(°C)	(%)	(%)	(mm)	(mm)
		Total	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Total	Total
2010	09	468.8	28.0	12.5	87.4	28.9	6.0	99.1
2010	10	474.3	28.0	14.4	88.7	44.3	92.4	91.2
2010	11	500.8	29.0	14.4	91.1	46.8	95.4	97.4
2010	12	545.9	29.9	17.4	96.7	59.0	136.0	88.7
2011	01	585.8	31.5	18.0	97.3	56.1	145.7	96.5
2011	02	553.9	32.4	18.6	99.8	47.3	63.3	99.7
2011	03	515.7	31.4	17.8	96.0	38.5	53.8	109.1
2011	04	405.0	30.4	15.0	96.2	49.3	71.8	66.0
2011	05	348.6	21.3	12.5	86.5	33.4	48.3	56.8
2011	06	333.9	20.7	7.5	89.4	30.6	18.9	56.2
2011	07	340.9	17.8	7.1	87.0	39.4	53.7	57.0
2011	08	436.4	24.7	12.2	85.1	31.6	17.0	85.6
2011	09	476.4	23.8	11.7	91.2	36.2	40.7	94.2
2011	10	527.1	23.9	13.2	98.0	52.4	61.1	101.4
2011	11	512.8	25.1	13.5	96.2	48.6	87.0	95.7
2011	12	534.0	27.0	15.8	97.7	53.2	76.0	101.2
2012	01	587.1	29.3	17.2	96.7	46.8	61.4	116.3
2012	02	478.9	30.1	17.8	96.7	45.5	31.9	98.3
2012	03	480.1	28.4	15.8	96.2	41.8	103.1	97.3
2012	04	430.9	25.4	11.7	94.6	36.3	20.2	80.9
2012	05	338.6	24.9	11.7	91.9	32.0	14.2	64.2
2012	06	318.6	22.1	8.1	85.5	24.9	12.3	58.0
2012	07	370.5	21.9	8.2	86.0	25.3	8.8	68.9
2012	08	392.3	23.7	10.1	85.4	32.5	82.7	81.8
2012	09	424.0	21.8	10.6	95.7	46.4	130.5	74.4
2012	10	411.2	22.6	13.1	97.0	57.6	114.2	72.4
2012	11	466.2	23.6	13.7	97.1	57.1	71.9	83.4
2012	12	631.8	27.4	16.6	96.9	53.1	57.0	115.7
2013	01	578.0	27.9	16.8	97.4	53.7	85.7	110.2
2013	02	542.0	28.9	16.4	97.9	48.2	68.9	103.3
2013	03	476.9	26.6	15.7	97.8	50.5	59.4	90.0
2013	04	455.1	26.6	12.8	92.0	35.9	74.1	85.9
2013	05	385.0	24.2	10.6	87.9	31.5	23.5	68.4
2013	06	346.7	23.0	8.4	80.0	23.3	17.3	63.5

**Table 105**Summary of the monthly weather data from September 2010 to May 2014 for<br/>the Ukulinga research farm (University of KwaZulu-Natal)

2013	07	351.6	21.9	9.1	92.6	35.4	5.0	60.8
2013	08	467.5	24.0	8.8	87.4	23.8	11.9	95.5
2013	09	477.0	25.7	10.4	92.7	30.3	21.9	93.8
2013	10	522.4	25.2	11.9	93.2	41.9	99.9	101.8
2013	11	575.6	26.4	14.2	96.6	46.2	80.6	112.0
2013	12	526.8	24.9	15.4	97.2	58.9	75.9	100.3
2014	01	632.2	29.5	17.3	98.2	45.6	57.7	131.2
2014	02	571.0	29.8	17.3	98.1	42.1	75.6	116.3
2014	03	513.6	27.6	16.3	97.9	48.7	107.2	101.0
2014	04	476.3	26.0	12.4	94.6	34.0	8.8	87.5
2014	05	386.5	25.9	11.0	91.1	28.5	1.9	72.7

**Table 106**Summary of the monthly weather data for three seasons at the Hatfield<br/>research farm (University of Pretoria)

		Rs	T <sub>max</sub>	T <sub>min</sub>	RH <sub>max</sub>	$\mathbf{RH}_{\min}$	Rain	EΤ。
Year	Month	(MJ m <sup>-2</sup> )	(°C)	(°C)	(%)	(%)	(mm)	(mm)
		Total	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Total	Total
2010	12	443.9	28.2	15.9	85.3	32.7	199.2	131.4
2011	01	405.8	27.7	16.9	87.4	41.0	222.6	113.8
2011	02	438.6	28.6	16.2	82.0	25.8	36.3	118.3
2011	03	651.2	29.2	15.9	81.5	29.4	247.5	128.0
2011	04	444.0	23.8	12.4	84.9	35.3	47.4	85.0
2011	05	476.5	22.5	8.1	84.0	26.7	17.7	70.0
2011	12	621.6	28.0	16.3	82.6	30.2	103.7	129.4
2012	01	675.1	29.6	16.5	82.6	25.7	68.3	149.3
2012	02	604.6	30.5	17.1	80.5	23.5	85.0	113.0
2012	03	618.2	30.0	15.1	76.8	15.3	31.5	118.2
2012	04	523.2	26.1	10.2	83.3	20.8	15.4	98.9
2012	05	464.0	25.5	8.7	72.9	12.7	0.0	66.9
2012	12	592.7	28.7	16.2	80.6	26.0	138.5	151.9
2013	01	599.7	30.0	16.9	77.5	24.4	53.5	157.1
2013	02	559.2	31.5	16.3	75.3	16.8	54.9	136.7
2013	03	480.2	29.3	14.9	76.4	18.4	30.8	123.4
2013	04	411.6	25.5	10.3	74.5	20.1	69.6	93.9
2013	05	383.2	23.5	6.7	68.4	13.1	0.4	83.1
2013	06	255.4	22.2	4.7	64.2	10.3	0.0	62.3

		Rs	T <sub>max</sub>	T <sub>min</sub>	RH <sub>max</sub>	$\mathbf{RH}_{\min}$	Rain	ET。
Year	Month	(MJ m⁻²)	(°C)	(°C)	(%)	(%)	(mm)	(mm)
		Total	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Total	Total
2012	10	358.5	21.5	12.2	96.6	62.8	119.9	71.5
2012	11	437.3	22.5	12.7	96.9	63.6	94.5	85.5
2012	12	561.9	26.6	15.6	96.5	58.1	74.4	114.4
2013	01	507.3	26.7	16.0	97.0	59.5	122.2	106.3
2013	02	482.8	27.4	15.3	97.2	55.8	80.3	100.0
2013	03	438.6	26.7	14.6	96.9	54.7	53.8	91.0
2013	04	402.7	25.4	10.6	93.3	41.8	99.8	86.5

 Table 107
 Summary of the monthly weather data for one season at Baynesfield Estate (KwaZulu-Natal Midlands)

### 15 APPENDIX G

		García-Vila	Hsiao
DAP	LAI	<i>et al</i> . (2009)	<i>et al</i> . (2009)
		CC (%)	CC (%)
42	0.2	7.3	7.0
59	0.3	11.5	11.6
62	0.5	17.1	17.8
69	0.8	31.4	33.2
70	0.8	30.0	31.8
79	0.9	33.4	35.3
84	1.2	43.8	45.8
92	1.5	53.2	54.8
100	1.7	58.6	60.0
112	2.0	63.5	64.3
127	2.3	71.6	71.7
136	2.7	78.0	77.4
142	3.3	85.4	84.1
148	3.0	82.4	81.4
169	3.1	83.2	82.1
182	2.4	72.7	72.0
189	2.2	68.9	69.9

Table 108LAI measurements of sugarbeet converted to percentage canopy cover (CC)<br/>using two different equations

### 16 APPENDIX H

- Climate	Successive years of cultivation Number of years 50	
Crop	>>> Calendar	
- Irrigation	Graphical display Crop growing cycle Simulation period	
- Field	Alachi Alachi I an Feb Mar dor May Ivo Ivi Avn Sep Ort Nov Der	
- Soil profile	1950	Isua .
Groundwater	1951	
Period	1952	
Pellou	1954	
- Initial	crop growing cycle simulation period	
Calendar	M Carel	
ap conclude	Create	



(b)

**Figure 51** Option in *AQUACROP* to set the start of the simulation period to a) that of the crop growth cycle (e.g. 22<sup>nd</sup> March), or b) a fixed date before the crop is planted (e.g. 1<sup>st</sup> January)

– Climate	Successive years of cultivation Number of years 50
- Crop	
Irrigation	Graphical display Crop growing cycle Simulation period
- Field	MAACC MAACCI Issun us Issun us Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec JAN ▼
- Soil profile	1950
– Groundwater	1951
ulation	1952
- Period	1953
– Initial	1954
- Off-season	rop growing cyde simulation period

**Figure 52** Option in *AQUACROP* to set the start of the successive simulation period to the day after the previous crop maturity date

### 17 APPENDIX I

Example showing the format of AQUACROP's soils (.SOL) file for quinary sub-catchment 4696

Quinary sub-catchment 4696

: Depth (m) of restrictive soil layer inhibiting root zone expansion - None : Readily evaporable water from top layer (mm) Sandy clay loam description Sandy loam AquaCrop Version (August 2012) : number of soil horizons ---(vol %)---- (mm/day) 184.0 77.5 SAT DUL PWP K<sub>SAT</sub> : CN (Curve Number) 40.9 26.3 16.2 42.0 31.1 20.0 Thickness ---( m ) ----0.30 0.62 -9.00 3.0 75 5 7

where

- saturation (total porosity or TPO) expressed as a volume % (for both soil horizons) II SAT
- drained upper limit (field capacity) expressed as a volume % П DUL
- PWP = permanent wilting point expressed as a volume %
- saturated hydraulic conductivity (in mm day $^{-1}$ ) for both soil horizons II  $\mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{SAT}}$

Example showing the format of AQUACROP's initial conditions (.SW0) file for quinary sub-catchment 4696

Quinary sub-catchment 4696

- : water stored between soil bunds (if present) AquaCrop Version (August 2012) 7 0 0 3 7 0 0 3
- : soil water content specified for specific layers
- : number of soil layers considered

Soil depth (m) Soil water content (vol%)

- 21.25 0.30
  - 25.55 0.62

where

- average depth of the A-horizon (m) 0.30 =
- average depth of the B-horizon (m) 0.62 =
- 0/٥ 0/٥ initial soil water content of the A-horizon (i.e.  $(\theta_{DUL} + \theta_{PWP})/2)$  expressed as a volume 21.25 =
  - soil water content of the B-horizon (i.e.  $(\theta_{DUL}$  +  $\theta_{PWP})/2)$  expressed as a volume initial П 25.25

### APPENDIX J

Table 109Classification of soil texture using the volumetric water content at saturation<br/>(TPO) and at permanent wilting point (PWP), as well as the soil's plant<br/>available water (PAW) content

Broad		Porconf	ano of:	Organic	Volun	netric w	ater	
Classification	Textural class	reicen	aye or.	matter	cont	ent (vol	%)	FAW
Classification		Sand	Clay	(%)	PWP	DUL	TPO	(mm)
Silty clayey	Clay	0.05	0.95	2.50	52.8	54.0	61.0	1.2
Silty clayey	Clay	0.15	0.85	2.50	48.1	53.9	56.7	5.8
Silty clayey	Clay	0.05	0.85	2.50	47.5	51.3	59.3	3.7
Silty clayey	Clay	0.25	0.75	2.50	43.2	52.3	52.7	9.0
Silty clayey	Clay	0.15	0.75	2.50	42.8	50.5	55.2	7.7
Silty clayey	Clay	0.05	0.75	2.50	42.3	48.7	57.8	6.3
Silty clayey	Clay	0.35	0.65	2.50	38.2	49.1	49.1	10.8
Silty clayey	Clay	0.25	0.65	2.50	37.9	48.1	51.5	10.2
Silty clayey	Clay	0.15	0.65	2.50	37.5	47.1	53.8	9.6
Silty clayey	Clay	0.05	0.65	2.50	37.1	46.1	56.2	9.0
Silty clayey	Clay	0.45	0.55	2.50	33.1	44.4	45.9	11.4
Silty clayey	Clay	0.35	0.55	2.50	32.8	44.2	48.1	11.5
Silty clayey	Clay	0.25	0.55	2.50	32.5	44.0	50.3	11.6
Silty clayey	Silty clay	0.15	0.55	2.50	32.2	43.8	52.5	11.6
Silty clayey	Silty clay	0.05	0.55	2.50	31.9	43.6	54.8	11.7
Sandy clayey	Sandy clay	0.55	0.45	2.50	27.8	38.6	43.5	10.8
Silty clayey	Clay	0.45	0.45	2.50	27.5	39.1	45.4	11.6
Silty clayey	Silty clay	0.35	0.45	2.50	27.3	39.6	47.4	12.3
Silty clayey	Silty clay	0.25	0.45	2.50	27.1	40.1	49.4	13.0
Silty clayey	Silty clay	0.15	0.45	2.50	26.9	40.7	51.4	13.8
Silty clayey	Silty clay	0.05	0.45	2.50	26.7	41.2	53.3	14.5
Sandy clayey	Sandy clay loam	0.65	0.35	2.50	22.3	31.8	41.9	9.5
Sandy clayey	Sandy clay	0.55	0.35	2.50	22.1	32.9	43.6	10.7
Sandy clayey	Clay loam	0.45	0.35	2.50	22.0	34.0	45.2	12.0
Silty clayey	Slity clay loam	0.35	0.35	2.50	21.9	35.2	46.9	13.3
Silty clayey	Silty clay loam	0.25	0.35	2.50	21.7	36.4	48.6	14.7
Silty clayey	Silty clay loam	0.15	0.35	2.50	21.6	37.6	50.3	16.0
Silty clayey	Silty clay loam	0.05	0.35	2.50	21.4	38.8	52.0	17.3
Sandy clayey	Sandy clay loam	0.75	0.25	2.50	16.7	24.2	41.6	7.6
Sandy clayey	Sandy clay loam	0.65	0.25	2.50	16.6	25.9	42.8	9.3
Loamy	Loam	0.55	0.25	2.50	16.5	27.5	44.0	11.0
Loamy	Silt loam	0.45	0.25	2.50	16.5	29.3	45.3	12.8
Loamy	Silt loam	0.35	0.25	2.50	16.4	31.0	46.6	14.6
Loamy	Silt loam	0.25	0.25	2.50	16.4	32.8	47.9	16.4
Loamy	Silt loam	0.15	0.25	2.50	16.3	34.6	49.3	18.3
Loamy	Silt loam	0.05	0.25	2.50	16.2	36.5	50.7	20.2
Loamy	Silt loam	0.05	0.15	2.50	11.0	34.2	49.4	23.2
Loamy	Silt loam	0.15	0.15	2.50	11.0	31.7	48.4	20.7
Loamy	Silt loam	0.25	0.15	2.50	11.0	29.3	47.4	18.3
Loamy	Silt loam	0.35	0.15	2.50	11.0	27.0	46.5	16.0
Loamy	Slit Ioam	0.45	0.15	2.50	10.9	24.7	45.6	13.8
Loamy	Silt loam	0.55	0.15	2.50	10.9	22.6	44.8	11.6

Sandy	Sandy loam	0.65	0.15	2.50	10.9	20.5	44.1	9.5
Sandy	Sandy loam	0.75	0.15	2.50	10.9	18.4	43.5	7.5
Sandy	Loamy sand	0.85	0.15	2.50	10.9	16.5	43.0	5.6
Loamy	Silt	0.05	0.05	2.50	5.8	32.0	48.3	26.2
Loamy	Silt	0.15	0.05	2.50	5.7	28.9	47.6	23.3
Loamy	Silt	0.25	0.05	2.50	5.6	26.0	47.0	20.4
Loamy	Silt	0.35	0.05	2.50	5.5	23.2	46.6	17.7
Loamy	Silt	0.45	0.05	2.50	5.4	20.5	46.2	15.1
Loamy	Silt loam	0.55	0.05	2.50	5.3	17.9	46.0	12.6
Sandy	Sandy loam	0.65	0.05	2.50	5.2	15.5	45.9	10.3
Sandy	Sandy loam	0.75	0.05	2.50	5.1	13.2	46.0	8.0
Sandy	Sand	0.95	0.05	2.50	5.0	8.8	46.4	3.9

# 19 APPENDIX K

Example showing the format of AQUACROP's climate (.CLI) file for quinary sub-catchment 4 696

```
acrhis_4696: 1779: 1816: 1023 (South Africa) - daily data: 1950/01/01 - 1999/12/31
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            projected (2010-2100) atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  longitude of quinary centroid (minutes of a degree)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 name of file containing historical (1902-2009) and
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       latitude of quinary centroid (minutes of a degree)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               name of daily reference evaporation file
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        start date of daily record (YYYY/MM/DD)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          mean altitude of quinary sub-catchment
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                end start of daily record (YYYY/MM/DD)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       location (or origin) of climate data
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      name of daily temperature file
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              AquaCrop model version number
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        name of daily rainfall file
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             time step of climate data
                                                                                                                                                                                                                 name of the .CLI file
                            : AquaCrop Version (June 2012)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              П
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                       П
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  П
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            П
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      II
                                                                                                                                                                                                                     Ш
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             Ш
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        П
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                Ш
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         Ш
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   Ш
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                            Ш
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      П
                                                                               acrhis_4696.ETo
                                                                                                        acrhis_4696.PLU
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     acrhis_4696.TMP
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               acrhis_4696.ETo
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         acrhis_4696.PLU
                                                     acrhis_4696.TMP
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     South Africa
                                                                                                                                                                                                                 acrhis_4696
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               Daily data
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        1950/01/01
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  1999/12/31
                                                                                                                                  A2.CO2
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    A2.C02
                                                                                                                                                                                         where
                            4.0
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         1799
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  1816
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                          1023
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              4.0
```

Example showing the format of AQUACROP's temperature climate (.TMP) file for quinary sub-catchment 4 696

acrhis\_4696: 1779: 1816: 1023 (South Africa)

- : Daily records (1=daily, 2=10-daily and 3=monthly data) Ч
- : First day of record (1, 11 or 21 for 10-day or 1 for months) Ч
- : First month of record Ч
- : First year of record (1901 if not linked to a specific year) 1950

Tmin (dC) Tmax (dC)

- 18.3 23.6 26.6 14.1 14.9
- 16.3

- 26.4 24.6 26.4 16.6 16.3 16.2

where		
acrhis_4696	П	name of the .CLI file
1799	II	latitude of quinary centroid (minutes of a degree)
1816	П	longitude of quinary centroid (minutes of a degree
1023	II	mean altitude of quinary sub-catchment
South Africa	II	Location (or origin) of climate data
1	II	time step of climate record (1=daily)
1	II	first day of record
1	II	first month of record
1950	II	first year of record

## 20 APPENDIX L

Example showing the daily climate data available in the quinary sub-catchment database for each quinary

swbhis\_xxxx.csv : input climate file for each quinary in SWB model format where:

xxxx = the quinary sub-catchment number (SUB\_CAT or SUBC)

= ranges from 2637 to 3324 (113 sub-catchments in total)

YYYY-MM-DAY, TMAX, TMIN, RMAX, RMIN, WSPD, IRSW, RAIN,FAO56 1950-01-01, 28.20, 15.50, 82.31, 37.90, 2.00,26.52, 0.0, 5.80 1999-12-31, 24.40, 13.30, 83.79, 41.87, 2.00,25.75, 0.0, 5.10

where:

YYYY = year MM = month

DD = day

TMAX = daily maximum temperature estimate in °C

TMIN = daily minimum temperature estimate in °C

RMAX = daily maximum relative humidity estimate in %

RMIN = daily minimum relative humidity estimate in %

= daily average wind speed in m/s (unknown, therefore set to 2.0 m  $\rm s^{-1})$ MSPD

= daily incoming solar (shortwave radiation) estimate in MJ  $\mathrm{m}^{-2}$ IRSW

RAIN = daily rainfall in mm

FA056 = daily FA056 (Penman-Monteith) evaporation estimate

Example showing the site information available in the quinary sub-catchment database for each quinary

swbhis\_xxxx.cli : site information per quinary for the SWB model

where swbhis\_0001.csv is the name of climate file the quinary, and 2637, swbhis\_2637.csv,-33.567, 18.950,0141,1950/01/01,1999/12/31 2637 = quinary sub-catchment number (xxxx = 2637 to 3324) -25.433 = latitude of quinary centroid in degrees decimal = longitude of quinary centroid in degrees decimal = average quinary sub-catchment altitude in masl 1950/01/01 = start date (yyyy/mm/dd) of daily record date (yyyy/mm/dd) of daily record = end 25.817 1393 1999/12/31

Example showing the soils data available in the quinary sub-catchment database for each quinary

PWPAH = Permanent wilting point or lower limit of the topsoil SUBC = the quinary sub-catchment number from 2637 to 3324 DEPAH = Average depth of the topsoil in each quinary (m) DEPBH = Average depth of the subsoil in each quinary (m) SUBC , DEPAH , DEPBH , PWPAH , PWPBH , DULAH , DULBH , TPOAH , TPOBH 2637, 0.29, 0.24 0.142,0.194,0.224,0.265,0.438,0.432 where:

PWPBH = Permanent wilting point or lower limit of the subsoil (m/m) Drained upper limit or field capacity of the topsoil (m/m) Drained upper limit or field capacity of the subsoil (m/m) (in m/m, i.e. m of soil water per m of soil depth) Total porosity of saturated topsoil (m/m) Total porosity of saturated subsoil (m/m) DULAH = DULBH = TPOAH = TPOBH =

### 21 APPENDIX M

Allen *et al.* (1998) proposed an empirical equation (**Equation 71**) to estimate the pan coefficient ( $K_p$ ) using the assumed green fetch distance (*FD* in m), wind speed (*u* in m s<sup>-1</sup> at height 2 m) and the mean relative humidity ( $RH_{ave}$ ). The latter variable ensures that  $K_p$  varies monthly and with location.

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{K}_p &= 0.108 - 0.0286u + \\ & 0.0422 \ln(FD) + 0.1434 \ln(RH_{ave}) - \\ & 0.000631 [\ln(FD)]^2 \cdot \ln(RH_{ave}) \end{split}$$

### **Equation 71**

Assuming a fetch of 200 m for a typical A-pan in South Africa (Schulze, 2014; *pers. comm.*), values of  $E_p/ET_o$  (i.e.  $1/K_p$ ) were estimated for each quinary sub-catchment using the revised temperature and evaporation database. The histogram of monthly *CORPAN* values across all quinary sub-catchments shows that 79.9% of values range from 1.23 to 1.29 (**Table 110**). However, 15.4% of all monthly *CORPAN* values exceed 1.29.

Table 110	Histogram of monthly CORPAN values across all 5 838 quinaries calculated
	for a green fetch of 200 m using an empirical equation proved by Allen et al.
	(1998)

CORPAN	Count	% of total	Accum. %
1.18	27	0.04	0.04
1.19	0	0.00	0.04
1.20	167	0.24	0.28
1.21	702	1.00	1.28
1.22	2390	3.41	4.69
1.23	5577	7.96	12.65
1.24	8319	11.87	24.53
1.25	9343	13.34	37.86
1.26	9938	14.19	52.05
1.27	9365	13.37	65.42
1.28	7806	11.14	76.56
1.29	5632	8.04	84.60
1.30	3942	5.63	90.22
1.31	2825	4.03	94.26
1.32	1526	2.18	96.44
1.33	1039	1.48	97.92
1.34	654	0.93	98.85
1.35	379	0.54	99.39
1.36	261	0.37	99.77
1.37	116	0.17	99.93
1.38	37	0.05	99.98
1.39	11	0.01	100.00
Total	70 056	100.00	